
 

By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you will save the Authority approx. £14.76 in 
printing costs 

 
 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith. 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate 
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:   
 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       
Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 
Dyddiad/Date: Wednesday, 13 July 2022 

 

Dear Councillor,  
 
CABINET 
 
A  meeting of the Cabinet will be held remotely - via Microsoft Teams on Tuesday, 19 July 2022 at 
14:30. 
 
AGENDA   
 
1.  Apologies for Absence    

 To receive apologies for absence from Members.  
 

2.  Declarations of Interest    
 To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest (if any) from Members/Officers in 

accordance with the provisions of the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council from 
1 September 2008. 
 

3.  Approval of Minutes   3 - 16 

 To receive for approval the Minutes of 14/06/22 
 

4.  Budget Monitoring 2022-23 - Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast  
 

17 - 44 

5.  Capital Programme Outturn 2021-22 and Quarter 1 Update 2022-23  
 

45 - 72 

6.  Award of Funding for Homelessness Projects Via the Housing Support Grant  
 

73 - 78 

7.  The United Kingdom Shared Prosperity Fund  
 

79 - 106 

8.  Replacement Local Development Plan Submission Document  
 

107 - 666 

9.  2020 - 2023 Carriageway Resurfacing Programme  
 

667 - 670 

10.  Allocations Under Town and Community Council Capital Grant Scheme 2022-
23  
 

671 - 676 

11.  The Conference of Parties 2022  
 

677 - 680 

12.  Appointment of Local Authority Governors  681 - 684 

Public Document Pack



 
13.  Foster Carer Allowances Uplift  

 
685 - 692 

14.  Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 Section 65 Power to 
Fix Fares For Hackney Carriages; Application to Vary the Hackney Carriage 
Fares Tariff  
 

693 - 702 

15.  Cabinet, Council and Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programmes  
 

703 - 722 

16.  Invitees on Cabinet Committee Equalities and Cabinet Committee Corporate 
Parenting  
 

723 - 726 

17.  Urgent Items    
 To consider any items of business that by reason of special circumstances the chairperson 

is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency in accordance 
with paragraph 2.4 (e) of the Cabinet Procedure Rules within the Constitution. 
 

18.  Exclusion of the Public    

 The following item is not for publication as it contains exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 14 of Part 4 and Paragraph 21 of Part 5, Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) 
Order 2007. 
 
If following the application of the public interest test Cabinet resolves pursuant to the Act to 
consider this item in private, the public will be excluded from the meeting during such 
consideration. 
 

19.  Land Transactions at Island Farm Bridgend  
 

727 - 738 

Note: Please note: Due to health and safety reasons this meeting will not be held at its usual 
location. This will be a virtual meeting and Members and Officers will be attending remotely. The 
meeting will be recorded for subsequent transmission via the Council’s internet site which will be 
available as soon as practicable after the meeting. If you have any queries regarding this, please 
contact cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk or tel. 01656 643147 / 643148. 
 
Yours faithfully 
K Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy  
 
Councillors: Councillors Councillors 
JC Spanswick 
N Farr 
W R Goode 

J Gebbie 
HJ David 
HM Williams 

JPD Blundell 



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

1 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CABINET HELD REMOTELY - VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS 
ON TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 AT 14:30 

 
Present 

 
Councillor HJ David – Chairperson  

 
JPD Blundell N Farr W R Goode JC Spanswick 
HM Williams    
 
Apologies for Absence 
 
J Gebbie 
 
Officers: 
 
Julie Ellams Democratic Services Officer - Committees 
Lindsay Harvey Corporate Director Education and Family Support 
Rachel Keepins Democratic Services Manager 
Carys Lord Chief Officer - Finance, Performance & Change 
Janine Nightingale Corporate Director - Communities 
Michael Pitman Democratic Services Officer - Committees 
Mark Shephard Chief Executive 
Kelly Watson Chief Officer Legal, HR and Regulatory Services  

 
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
Cllr JP Blundell declared a prejudicial interest in item 5, Capital Programme Update as 
he was a LEA Governor of Bryntirion Comprehensive which was mentioned in the report 
and withdrew from the meeting for consideration of this item.   
 
Cllr H Williams and Cllr N Farr declared interests in item 9, Appointment of Local 
Authority Governors as they had applied for vacancies listed in the report and both 
withdrew from the meeting for consideration of this item.   
 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED:         That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet of 8 February   2022 be 

approved as a true and accurate record.  
 

3. REVENUE BUDGET OUTTURN 2021-22 
 
The Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change presented a report giving an 
update on the Council’s revenue financial performance for the year ended 31st March 
2022 and seeking approval for budget virements between £100,000 and £500,000, as 
required by the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules.  
 
The Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change gave a summary of the financial 
position at 31st March 2022. She explained that given the changes that had occurred 
which had resulted in a better financial position at the end of 2021-22, the Council was 
able to apply some of this funding to investments to support its residents.   
 
The Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change provided a summary of the 
financial position for each main service area attached at Appendix 3 to the report and 
commented on the most significant variances. She also outlined the most significant 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

2 

variances in the Council wide budgets and summarised the movement on earmarked 
reserves. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Resources asked that his appreciation be recorded for Welsh 
Government (WG) and their support for Local Government following successful lobbying 
by the WLGA, the Leader and officers. He was pleased to note that WG had listened 
and responded. 
 
The Leader echoed the comments made that WG had been very supportive and 
acknowledged that they had been in the same position with last minute decisions from 
UK Government. He asked the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change if 
other authorities were in the same position with unexpected grants awarded late in the 
financial year. He asked, with regard to the outstanding savings identified in the 
Streetworks review, that if they did not receive approval from WG, the Corporate 
Director for Communities together with the Cabinet Member for Communities should 
write to WG to try to achieve that budget reduction proposal.  
 
The Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change confirmed that all authorities had 
received money late in year and were reporting along the same lines as Bridgend with 
regard to underspend in year and increased reserves.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities echoed the comments made. With regard to the 
savings which had been identified as part of the Streetworks review, he asked that if 
they could not get approval from WG then it could be classed as a corporate pressure 
and not a pressure on the communities budget.   
 
 RESOLVED:      Cabinet: 

• noted the revenue outturn position for 2021-22 
• recommend that Council approve the virements between £100,000 

and £500,000 as outlined in paragraph 4.1.15.  
   

4. CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 
The Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change presented a report seeking 
agreement from Cabinet to present a report to Council for approval of a revised capital 
programme for 2021-22 to 2031-32.  
 
The Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change explained that on 23 February 
2022, Council approved a capital programme covering the period 2021-22 to 2031-32 as 
part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). A review had been undertaken of 
available capital resources, taking into consideration uncommitted funding in the capital 
programme, the anticipated year end revenue position for 2021-22, the position on 
earmarked reserves and revenue budgets available for 2022-23. As a result of this, a 
number of new capital schemes had been proposed by Directorates, which had 
undergone rigorous review and challenge by members of Corporate Management 
Board, before being submitted for inclusion in the capital programme. This report was 
only seeking approval for the inclusion of new schemes within the capital programme 
that was approved by Council in February 2022.  
 
The Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change outlined the current situation and 
the proposed new capital schemes including funding. A revised Capital Programme, 
incorporating these schemes was included at Appendix A to the report. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Resources stated that as discussed in the previous report, the 
authority was now in the fortuitous position where almost £10 million pounds could be 

Page 4



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

3 

invested in the County Borough with a number of schemes in education and 
communities that would benefit from the extra investment.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities welcomed the massive investment in education 
and community facilities and in particular, children’s playground facilities taking the total 
investment to over a million pounds.   
 
The Leader said that he was particularly pleased to see the proposals for the investment 
in three schools which would enable major expansion and more classrooms allowing 
more children to attend those schools. Section 106 funding had also been secured 
totalling almost £1.3 million to support the funding committed to those schemes. There 
was also critical investment in the telecare project which would allow the analogue 
network to be switched off and a transfer made to digital to continue to provide a service 
giving independence to individuals allowing them to stay at home.  There was 
earmarked funding for Penprysg Road so that it could accommodate two-way traffic 
leading to the eventual closure of Pencoed’s railway level crossing. The infrastructure 
project required early design work and this funding would allow that to be undertaken.   
 
RESOLVED:        That Cabinet agreed that the revised Capital Programme  

(Appendix A to the report) be submitted to Council for approval.  
 

5. RECYCLING AND WASTE SERVICE POST 2024 
 
The Corporate Director Communities presented a report providing an update on the 
future direction of the recycling and waste service and seeking Cabinet approval to 
proceed to tender, for an interim contract for the recycling and waste collection / 
community recycling centre management contract, for up to a two year duration. 
Approval was also required to delegate authority to the Corporate Director of 
Communities to negotiate and finalise acquisition fees for the existing vehicles, plant and 
equipment utilised in the provision of the current service with Kier Services Limited and 
to delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Communities to negotiate terms with 
Kier to change fuel supply for the existing fleet of recycling and waste vehicles and plant 
to a hydrogenated vegetable oil (HVO) derived fuel, in the period up to the end of the 
contract in 2024. The Corporate Director Communities was seeking approval to 
commence work on the future service provision post 2026, including looking at 
decarbonisation of the waste fleet and additional material streams for  
recycling with the aim of being the best performing waste & recycling Local  
Authority in Wales. 
 
The Corporate Director Communities outlined the background to the recycling and waste 
contract which was awarded to Kier Services Limited in April 2017, due to end on 31st 
March 2024.  The current recycling & waste service overall performed very well. BCBC 
were well ahead of the recycling target with a low missed collection rate and a good rate 
of customer satisfaction. There was a great deal of uncertainty with regards to the 
methodology and targets for the future recycling and waste service model and it was 
difficult to see what a future contract should look like. For these reasons Cabinet was 
strongly recommended to make a decision to put a short-term interim contract into place, 
of no more than two years, to cover the period from 2024 to 2026. This would allow time 
for key decisions to be made re collection methodology and time to look at the fleet they 
wanted to bring forward.  
 
The Corporate Director Communities explained that no public consultation was required 
at this stage as the contract would provide virtually the same contract as the current one. 
BCBC had the right to acquire plant and equipment from Kier as this was built into the 
original contract. They would negotiate to acquire these assets and this would be subject 
to a further report. Also an interim step was being explored and discussed between  

Page 5



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

4 

Kier and Council officers, namely the introduction of Hydrogenised Vegetable Oil (HVO) 
derived fuel vehicles. Kier had undertaken investigations and confirmed that the existing 
fleet was able to be run using this fuel type.  
 
The Cabinet member for Communities explained that a lot of work had taken place to 
get to this position. Measures needed to be put in place for the short term and long term 
and all options remained on the table at this stage. He added that the success of the 
scheme was primarily down to the residents of Bridgend. 
 
The Leader referred to the success of sorting at the kerbside which had resulted in a 
recycling rate of over 72% this year, well above the statutory target. Other authorities 
were looking to change their methodology because they were struggling to meet the 
targets. He added that the introduction of Hydrogenised Vegetable Oil (HVO) derived 
fuel vehicles would not only help reduce our carbon footprint by 93% but would also 
improve overall air quality in communities across Bridgend.    
 
The Cabinet Member for Future Generations mirrored the comments made and 
supported the aim to be the best and to be as sustainable as possible. He asked if the 
fuel could be sourced with a view to allowing them to “double down” on the resource to 
make it as green as possible eg recycled vegetable oil.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Resources agreed with the comments made and added that 
the efforts made by residents were appreciated. Kier would not be in this business in 
future so this was necessary to bridge that gap and to understand the aspirations of WG.  
 
The Leader added that there would be engagement with all members via the scrutiny 
process.  
 
RESOLVED:       Cabinet: - 
 

1. Authorised officers to proceed to seek invitation of tenders for the 
provisions of the short duration waste contract from 2024 to 2026. 

2. Delegated authority to the Corporate Director of Communities in 
conjunction with the Section 151 Officer and Chief Officer Legal 
and Regulatory Services, Human Resources and Corporate Policy 
to negotiate with Kier and agree the final cost for the acquisition of 
the vehicles and plant and equipment from Kier required to 
perform the recycling and waste service. 

3. Delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Communities in 
conjunction with the Section 151 Officer and Chief Officer Legal 
and Regulatory Services, Human Resources and Corporate Policy 
to negotiate terms with Kier to change fuel supply  
for the existing fleet of recycling and waste vehicles and plant to a 
HVO - hydrogenated vegetable oil derived fuel. 

4. Noted that future financial implications would be reported back to 
Cabinet and Council in due course. 

5. Authorised officers to commence work on the future waste service 
model, commission specialist advice if required and report back to 
Cabinet on the new service model as developed.  

 
6. LEVELLING UP FUND PRIORITY PROJECTS 

 
The Corporate Director Communities presented a report providing a background on the 
UK Government Levelling Up Fund (LUF) and updating Cabinet on the development of 
projects previously endorsed by them to be developed for this and future rounds of the 

Page 6



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

5 

fund. The report also sought endorsement to submit projects in the next round of the 
fund.  
 
The Corporate Director Communities explained that the LUF would invest in local 
infrastructure and capital projects that had a visible impact on people and their 
communities. This included a range of high value local investment priorities, including 
local transport schemes, urban and economic  
regeneration projects and supporting cultural assets. Each constituency bid could be up 
to the value of £20m. However, there was also scope  
for investing in larger, high-value transport projects, allowing for bids of up to £50m, with 
each bid being encouraged to contribute a minimum of 10% funding from local and third-
party contributions. 
 
The Corporate Director Communities reported that applications for round two of funding 
must be submitted in full by midday on Wednesday 6 July 2022. Updates were provided 
on the three constituency projects which were previously reported to Cabinet, setting out 
the current position and proposals for the way forward. 
 
The Corporate Director Communities explained that for the Bridgend Constituency they 
would be proceeding with the Porthcawl Pavilion 
Redevelopment. The principal objectives of the renewal of the Grand Pavilion would 
address the issues of risk to the building fabric that existed in the condition of the 
concrete structure whilst also meeting the needs and aspirations of local people for 
extended and improved arts, heritage and library services. A number of new facilities 
were proposed including new function spaces at first floor (Esplanade) level, new rooftop 
function and cafe spaces offering elevated sea-views across the Bristol Channel and a 
new Studio theatre. The local MP supported the bid.  
 
For the Ogmore constituency, agreement had previously been sought to  
pursue a Bridgend Enterprise Development Project, which officers felt was the most 
advantageous project to meet local needs and achieve the aspirations of the Levelling 
Up programme, by delivering commercial and employment space in key locations. UK 
Government Levelling Up officials had been unsupportive of this project, and they did 
not believe that this project would be successful and would not find favour during the 
assessment process. Despite having considered other strategic opportunities within the 
constituency area, no other projects had been developed to a point where officers could 
recommend the submission of an alternative project. Officers would like to take the 
opportunity to identify an alternative strategic project and potential partners to develop a 
bid for the communities of the Llynfi, Garw and Ogmore Valleys, in anticipation of the 
next bidding round. 
 
The Transport bid was for the Penprysg Railway Bridge, a long-standing infrastructure 
project for Bridgend included in the current and replacement Local Development Plan 
(LDP) as well as predecessor land use plans.  
 
This project would result in the rebuilding of the Penprysg road bridge so that it could 
accommodate two-way traffic leading to the eventual closure of Pencoed’s railway level 
crossing, and an all-new active travel bridge for pedestrians and cyclists. The value of 
the project would place it into the ‘large transport scheme’ category and therefore there 
would be a need for a more substantial financial and economical case. 
 
The Corporate Director Communities outlined the financial implications in relation to the 
two bids to be submitted for funding in round two of the LUF programme. The LUF 
application encouraged a minimum 10% match funding requirement for each project and 
as the details of the delivery costs relating to each project emerged, both projects would 
be seeking the support of partner organisations and other external funding sources to 

Page 7



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

6 

support the total cost of the delivery of the projects. However, at this point match funding 
from external sources had not been secured. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities commended the amazing work that had been 
done resulting in the Penprysg Road Bridge Scheme coming to fruition and 
improvements to Porthcawl Pavilion. It was unfortunate that the Ogmore bid could not be 
submitted but a better scheme could be achieved with more time.      
 
The Cabinet Member for Regeneration welcomed the report and thanked the Corporate 
Director Communities and her team for their hard work and she hoped that Ogmore 
would benefit in the next round.  
 
The Leader stressed that it was important to note that the work undertaken to develop 
new enterprise hubs had not been wasted because they would look to see what other 
funding schemes were available to progress those schemes.  He added that there would 
be briefing sessions for local members on both schemes. 
 
RESOLVED:       Cabinet:  

 Noted the overview and update on the application process 
associated with the LUF.  

 Endorsed the projects proposed by officers to be submitted in 
round two of the LUF programme.  

 Delegated authority to the Director of Communities to liaise with 
the Section 151 Officer to agree the total project costs to be 
submitted within the applications 

 Approved that future financial implications would be reported back 
to Cabinet and Council in due course prior to acceptance of any 
grant funding. 

 Agreed to receive a future report on the development of a bid for 
the Ogmore Constituency. 

 
7. BRIDGEND NET ZERO CARBON - HYDROGEN TECHNOLOGY DEMONSTRATOR 

 
The Corporate Director Communities presented a report updating Cabinet on 
discussions on the opportunity to develop a Hydrogen Demonstrator Project in Wales 
providing local green hydrogen that supported decarbonisation of the Council’s assets 
and the wider region.  
 
The Corporate Director Communities outlined the background. In 2021, Welsh 
Government (WG) were approached by the Japanese Consortium Marubeni, global 
specialist in renewables and hydrogen projects, to ask if they were interested in an 
investment opportunity for a Hydrogen Demonstrator Project in Wales. The Japanese 
Government’s New Energy and Industrial Technology Development Organisation 
(NEDO) pledged some £13m to co-fund Hydrogen Power Demonstrators Projects with 
the Marubeni Corporation in the UK. The key to this project was the supply of Green 
Hydrogen power for heat and transportation using green energy sources. Bridgend was 
chosen as the most appropriate location and potential investment partner.  
 
The Corporate Director Communities outlined progress made so far and explained that 
the project would potentially bring a total of £26 million external investment funds into 
the borough through the NEDO (£13M) and Marubeni (£13M) that would develop a 
unique local energy and management system providing green low-cost energy and heat. 
The Cardiff Capital Region had in principle agreed to consider the opportunity for 
investment on receipt of a detailed proposal and were engaged with the project. WG, 
having introduced the opportunity, were also keen to see the project to fruition and to 

Page 8



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

7 

support its development. A draft Memorandum of Understanding was being prepared 
which set out a non legally binding commitment to cooperate in good faith and the 
framework under which BCBC and Marubeni Corporation would closely collaborate 
during any development stage. Funding would need to be determined during this period 
and a report would be submitted back to Cabinet.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities added that these were exciting times with a £26 
million investment and unknow opportunities and a chance to lead the way.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Resources supported the project and added that this would put 
BCBC in a good position to reduce its carbon footprint. He asked that his thanks to the 
previous Cabinet Member and the Leader, be recorded for building relationships to help 
win this project.  
 
The Leader also paid tribute to the efforts and the work of the previous Cabinet Member, 
Cllr Young who was a very enthusiastic and passionate champion for the pioneering 
work undertaken with partners. It was important to note that WG were very supportive of 
work undertaken so far and the work that would be undertaken in the future. This was 
crucial because they could provide funding to progress the scheme. They would look at 
ways of briefing all Members and provide detailed briefings for local members when 
sites were identified.  
 
RESOLVED:           Cabinet: 

 Noted the progress to develop; Bridgend Net Zero Carbon – 
Hydrogen Demonstrator Project 

 Delegated authority to the Corporate Director of Communities, 
in consultation with the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance 
and Change and Chief Officer - Legal and Regulatory 
Services, Human Resources and Corporate Policy, to work 
with the  
Marubeni Corporation to develop the Hydrogen Demonstrator 
Project and to negotiate the terms of the MoU and enter into 
the document. 

 Delegated authority to the Corporate Director of Communities, 
in consultation with the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance 
and Change and Chief Officer - Legal and Regulatory 
Services, Human Resources and Corporate Policy, to 
commission  
specialist advice utilising resources that will be made 
available from the Communities Directorate Earmarked 
Reserve (EMR) 2022-23 for implementing Bridgend 2030 
Decarbonisation Strategy from the Communities Directorate 
budget as required and to report back to Cabinet on the full 
project proposal.  

 Noted that a further report shall be received following the end 
of the MoU period to consider detailed viability of the project.    

 
8. APPOINTMENT OF LOCAL AUTHORITY GOVERNORS 

 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support presented a report seeking 
approval from Cabinet for the appointment of local authority governors to the school 
governing bodies listed at paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 of the report. He explained that for the 
15 current local authority governor vacancies at the 13 schools in the table, all 
applicants met the approved criteria for appointment as a local authority governor and 
there was no competition for these vacancies. He explained that there was competition 
for one vacancy and that the panel had noted that Cllr Neelo Farr had recently become 

Page 9



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

8 

an elected member for part of the school’s catchment area since submission of the 
application form. Therefore, in accordance with the criteria identified in the Council’s 
‘Guidance on the appointment of local education authority governors’, the recommended 
appointment was Cllr Neelo Farr. 
 
The Cabinet member for Education thanked the officer for the report and all the people 
who had put their names forward to be a school governor. There were still many 
vacancies and this was a call for volunteers to apply for these very important roles.   
 
RESOLVED:         That Cabinet approved the appointments detailed at paragraphs 4.1 

and 4.2 of the report.  
 

9. SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME - MYNYDD CYNFFIG PRIMARY SCHOOL 
OUTCOME OF PUBLISHED STATUTORY NOTICE 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support presented a report informing 
Cabinet of the outcome of the published statutory notice in respect of the proposed 
enlargement of Mynydd Cynffig Primary School, as detailed in the Objection Report 
(Appendix A); seeking approval to publish the Objection Report, as prescribed by the 
School Organisation Code 2018 (Code); seeking approval to implement the proposal 
with effect from the beginning of the autumn term 2025; and seeking approval to issue 
and publish a decision letter, as prescribed by the Code.  
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support outlined the background to the 
report. He then explained the current position and that following Cabinet approval on 8 
February 2022, the consultation report was published on the Council’s website and 
stakeholders were advised accordingly. The statutory public notice was published on 7 
March 2022 for a period of 28 days and formal written objections were invited during this 
time. The Council received one email in respect of the proposal during the statutory 
notice period. Legal advice was sought and it was recommended to consider the 
correspondence as an objection to the proposal. An Objection Report was published 
summarising the objection and the local authority’s response to the objection. Cabinet 
would now need to consider the proposal in light of the objection. Cabinet could then 
accept, reject, or modify the proposal. The attached Objection Report (Appendix A to the 
report) set out the objection received and the local authority response.  
 
The Cabinet member for Education thanked the officers for their hard work and added 
that this was an exciting project to bring a new school to the area. He hoped it would be 
delivered as quickly as possible. The objection had been dealt with and the allotments 
had been given a new home and stability for the future.  
 
RESOLVED:       That Cabinet: 
 

 Noted the outcome of the published statutory notice in respect of 
the proposed enlargement of Mynydd Cynffig Primary School as 
detailed in the Objection Report (Appendix A);  

 Gave approval to publish the Objection Report; 

 Determined to implement the proposal with effect from the 
beginning of the autumn term 2025; and 

 Gave approval to issue and publish a decision letter.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

9 

10. SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME - HERONSBRIDGE SCHOOL OUTCOME 
OF CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support presented a report informing 
Cabinet of the outcome of the consultation in respect of the proposal to make regulated 
alterations to Heronsbridge School; presenting the findings of the consultation in a 
detailed Consultation Report (Appendix A); and seeking approval to progress the 
publication of a statutory notice as prescribed in the School Organisation Code 2018 
(the Code). 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support outlined the background to the 
report. He then explained that in order to progress the proposed regulated alterations to 
Heronsbridge School, consultation exercises were carried out between 4 April and 18 
May 2022, in accordance with the statutory School Organisation Code 2018. The 
consultation document invited views and opinions to be submitted in respect of the 
proposal. A summary of the issues raised by consultees and the local authority’s 
responses were provided in the Consultation Report as detailed in Appendix A of this 
report. Cabinet would need to consider the Consultation Report and determine the 
preferred way forward. 
 
Should Cabinet wish to proceed with the proposal, the next stage of the process would 
be to publish a statutory notice outlining the proposal which would need to be published 
for a period of 28 days. Any formal written objections would be invited during this time If 
there were no objections during the statutory notice period, then the proposal could be 
implemented with Cabinet’s approval. If there were objections at this statutory notice 
stage, an Objection Report would be published summarising the objections and the local 
authority’s response to those objections. Cabinet would need to consider the proposal in 
light of any objections made. Cabinet could then accept, reject or modify the proposal. 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support outlined the financial implications.   
 
The Cabinet member for Education was really excited about this project, a purpose built 
school with the aspiration to be the best in Wales. The Head teacher, parents and pupils 
were all very excited about getting a purpose- built building to give them the facilities that 
they needed.  
 
The Leader said that it was very uplifting to read the consultation report and in particular 
the feedback received from students and the voice of the learner. Points raised early in 
the process had been addressed eg facilities for the daily mile walk, allotments and an 
orchard. The swimming pool would offer hydrotherapy and this would be a green school 
with solar panels and the highest level of insulation and heat pumps. 
 
The Cabinet member for Education confirmed that if the proposal went ahead there 
would be no damage to hut 9 which was a protected building and there would be no 
detrimental impact on that site. 
 
The Leader explained that the current building was also listed and protected by CADW.  
 
RESOLVED:        That Cabinet: 

 Noted the outcome of the consultation with prescribed consultees, 
as detailed in the attached Consultation Report and appendices;  

 Approved the Consultation Report (Appendix A) for publication; 
and  

 Authorised the publication of a statutory notice in respect of the 
proposal. 

Page 11



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

10 

11. SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME - YSGOL GYMRAEG BRO OGWR 
OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support presented a report informing 
Cabinet of the outcome of the consultation on the proposed  
enlargement of Ysgol Gymraeg (YG) Bro Ogwr; presenting the findings of the 
consultation in a detailed Consultation Report (Appendix A) and  
seeking approval to publish the Consultation Report and progress the  
publication of a statutory notice as prescribed in the School Organisation  
Code 2018 (the Code).  
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support outlined the background to the 
report. He then explained that following ministerial approval in November 2021 and 
Cabinet approval in January 2022, a statutory consultation was progressed to make a 
regulated alteration to enlarge YG Bro Ogwr to a 2.5 FE school, with a 90-place full-
time-equivalent nursery plus an 8-place observation and assessment class on land off 
Ffordd Cadfan. The proposal would come into effect at the beginning of the autumn term 
2025. In order to progress the proposed regulated alteration to YG Bro Ogwr in the form 
of an enlargement, consultation exercises were carried out between 7 February 2022 
and 21 March 2022, in accordance with the statutory School Organisation Code 2018. 
The consultation document invited views and opinions to be submitted in respect of the 
proposal. A summary of the issues raised by consultees and the local authority’s 
responses were provided in the Consultation Report as detailed in Appendix A to the 
report. Cabinet would need to consider the Consultation Report and determine the 
preferred way forward. Should Cabinet wish to proceed with the proposal, the next stage 
of the process was to publish a statutory notice outlining the proposal which would need 
to be published for a period of 28 days. Any formal written objections would be invited 
during this time. If there were no objections during the public notice period, then the 
proposal could be implemented with Cabinet’s approval. If there were objections at this 
public notice stage, an Objections Report would be published summarising the 
objections and the local authority’s response to those objections and Cabinet would 
need to consider the proposal in light of any objections made. Cabinet  
could then accept, reject or modify the proposal. 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support outlined the financial implications.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Education thanked officers for their hard work. This 
development was a very important step in developing the Welsh language in Bridgend. It 
would be the biggest Welsh medium school in Bridgend with a state of the art building 
allowing the school and the Welsh language to grow and flourish. Welsh Language was 
a key commitment of this Cabinet and local authority and this went a long way to 
demonstrating that.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities welcomed the report. This was an exciting project 
with community facilities and separate picking up/dropping off facilities. He looked 
forward to seeing the school completed and better services for the Welsh language. 
 
The Leader was pleased to see that included in the proposals there were plans for an 
observation class for children with additional learning needs in Welsh. He thanked the 
consultees for their responses. Concerns had been raised about the availability of space 
in the short term and he was pleased that WG announced additional funding for schools 
which would allow them to progress with additional classes at Bro Ogwyr to 
accommodate children pre 2025. He asked for further information to be provided 
regarding the siting of the additional classrooms, to a future meeting. 
 
 

Page 12



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

11 

RESOLVED:       That Cabinet: 

 noted the outcome of the consultation with prescribed consultees, 
as detailed in the attached Consultation Report and appendices;  

 approved the publication of the Consultation Report (Appendix A); 
and 

 approved the publication of a statutory notice in respect of the 
proposal. 

 
12. OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION TO OPEN PROVISION FOR PUPILS WITH 

ADDITIONAL LEARNING NEEDS (ALN) ESTABLISHING A LEARNING RESOURCE 
CENTRE (LRC) FOR PUPILS WITH MODERATE LEARNING DIFFICULTIES (MLD) AT 
YSGOL CYNWYD SANT 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support presented a report informing 
Cabinet of the outcome of the consultation to open provision for pupils with ALN 
establishing a LRC for pupils with MLD at Ysgol Cynwyd Sant; presenting the findings of 
the consultation in a detailed consultation report (Appendix A) and seeking approval to 
progress to the publication of a statutory notice as prescribed in the School Organisation 
Code.  
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support outlined the background to the 
report. He then explained that in order to progress the proposal, consultation exercises 
were carried out between 6 January 2022 and 17 February 2022 in accordance with the 
statutory School Organisation Code. The consultation document invited views and 
opinions to be submitted in respect of the proposal. A summary of the issues raised by 
consultees and the local authority’s responses were provided in the Consultation Report 
as detailed at Appendix A of this report. Cabinet would need to consider the 
Consultation Report and determine the preferred way forward. Should Cabinet wish to 
proceed with the proposal, the next stage of the process was to publish a statutory 
notice outlining the proposals which would need to be published for a period of 28 days 
and any formal written objections would be invited during this time. If there were no 
objections during the public notice period then the proposal could be implemented with 
Cabinet’s approval. If there were objections at this public notice stage, an Objections 
Report would be published summarising the objections and the Authority’s response to 
those objections. Cabinet would need to consider the proposal in light of objections. 
Cabinet could then accept, reject or modify the proposal.  
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support outlined the financial implications.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Education thanked all those at the school for taking part in this 
initiative. It was a great move forward and he hoped it would be as much of a success as 
they were hoping. 
 
The Leader explained that this was undoubtedly progress. This was about inclusive 
education and that was at the heart of the strategy for supporting children with additional 
learning needs. The LRC was the first in the north of the borough in the medium of 
Welsh. The whole school would benefit from this resource as there could be other 
children within the school that may not be eligible for direct support but they could 
benefit from the specialist staff.  
  
RESOLVED:       That Cabinet: 

 noted the outcome of the consultation with interested parties as 
detailed in the attached consultation report (Appendix A) and 
appendices; 

 approved the consultation report (Appendix A) for publication; and 

Page 13



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

12 

 authorised the publication of a statutory notice in respect of the 
proposal.   

 
13. OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION TO OPEN PROVISION FOR PUPILS WITH 

ADDITIONAL LEARNING NEEDS (ALN) ESTABLISHING A LEARNING RESOURCE 
CENTRE (LRC) FOR PUPILS WITH AUTISTIC SPECTRUM DISORDER (ASD) AT 
TREMAINS PRIMARY SCHOOL 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support presented a report informing 
Cabinet of the outcome of the consultation to open provision for pupils with ALN 
establishing a LRC for pupils with ASD at Tremains Primary School; presenting the 
findings of the consultation in a detailed Consultation Report (Appendix A) and seeking 
approval to progress to the publication of a statutory notice as prescribed in the School 
Organisation Code.  
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support outlined the background to the 
report. He then explained that in order to progress the proposal, consultation exercises 
were carried out between 6 January 2022 and 17 February 2022 in accordance with the 
statutory School Organisation Code. A summary of the issues raised by consultees and 
the local authority’s responses were provided in the Consultation Report as detailed at 
Appendix A of this report. Cabinet would need to consider the Consultation Report and 
determine the preferred way forward. Should Cabinet wish to proceed with the proposal, 
the next stage of the process was to publish a statutory notice outlining the proposals 
which would need to be published for a period of 28 days and any formal written 
objections would be invited during this time. If there were no objections during the public 
notice period then the proposal could be implemented with Cabinet’s approval. If there 
were objections at this public notice stage, an Objections Report would be published 
summarising the objections and the Authority’s response to those objections. Cabinet 
would need to consider the proposal in light of objections. Cabinet could then accept, 
reject or modify the proposal.  
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support outlined the financial implications.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Education agreed that this was a way of making sure every 
child received the support they needed. He wished that this level of support had been 
available for his family when they went to school.  
 
The Leader said that it was evident from the consultation process how much support 
there was from the staff, governors and pupils. The school already had a number of 
specialist classes so was already experienced in supporting children with additional 
learning needs and ensuring wherever possible they could access mainstream activities 
to make sure they were part of the whole school.  
 
RESOLVED:       That Cabinet: 

• noted the outcome of the consultation with interested parties as 
detailed in the attached consultation report (Appendix A) and 
appendices; 

• approved the consultation report (Appendix A) for publication; 
and 

• authorised the publication of a statutory notice in respect of the 
proposal.  

 
 
 
 

Page 14



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

13 

14. PROPOSED DATES FOR MEETINGS OF CABINET, CABINET COMMITTEE 
EQUALITIES AND CABINET COMMITTEE CORPORATE PARENTING 
 
The Monitoring Officer presented a report proposing for approval, the programme of 
meeting dates for Cabinet, Cabinet Committee Equalities and Cabinet Committee 
Corporate Parenting for the municipal year 2022 – 2023 as set out at 4.1 of the report. 
She added that the date of the Budget Cabinet meeting could be subject to change, 
depending on the timeline of the Welsh Government Local Government Settlement. 
Subject to the Programme of meeting dates being approved, the meetings would be  
placed in Members and Officers electronic calendars. 
 
The Monitoring Officer explained that a survey of the timings of all Committee meetings 
had taken place with Members’ feedback on this currently being collated. Therefore, 
whilst the dates of Cabinet and Cabinet Committee meetings were shown above, the 
timings of these would be added following the outcome of the survey. 
 
RESOLVED:          That Cabinet approved the Programme of meeting dates for Cabinet, 

Cabinet Committee Equalities and Cabinet Committee Corporate 
Parenting, as outlined in paragraph 4.1 of this report.    

 
15. REPRESENTATION ON OUTSIDE BODIES & JOINT COMMITTEES 

 
The Monitoring Officer presented a report seeking Cabinet’s approval for the 
appointment of Members to joint committees and the nomination of Members to outside 
bodies. A list of the joint committees and outside bodies concerned was appended to the 
report at Appendix 1. Appointments to outside bodies were an important mechanism 
within the County Borough for community leadership, partnership and joint working and 
knowledge and information sharing.  
 
The Monitoring Officer explained that this was a provisional list and when complete, it 
would be circulated to all members and published on the website.  
 
 
RESOLVED:       That Cabinet appointed the requisite number of Members to the joint 

committees and other outside bodies as listed in Appendix 1 to the 
report (names of individual representatives to be added to the list and 
when complete, the list to be circulated to all Members and published).  

 
16. URGENT ITEMS 

 
There were no urgent items.  
 

17. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED:          That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 as 

amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) (Wales) Order 2007, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following item of business as it 
contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 12 of Part 4  
and Paragraph 21 of Part 5 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 
Following the application of the public interest test it was resolved 
that pursuant to the Act referred to above, to consider the following 
item in private, with the public excluded from the meeting, as it was 
considered that in all circumstances relating to the item, the public 

Page 15



CABINET - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 

 

14 

interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing the information.  
 

18. APPROVAL OF EXEMPT MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED:         That the exempt minutes of the meeting of Cabinet of 8 February 

2022 be approved as a true and accurate record. 
 
The meeting ended at 16.36. 

Page 16



 
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 
19 JULY 2022 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE 

 
BUDGET MONITORING 2022-23 – QUARTER 1 REVENUE FORECAST 

 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an update on the Council’s 

revenue financial position as at 30th June 2022 and seek approval for any 
virements over £100,000 which require approval by Cabinet as required by the 
Council’s Financial Procedure Rules.  

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   
 

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions of all people in the county borough.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

 
2.2 The allocation of budget determines the extent to which the Council’s well-being 

objectives can be delivered.  
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 On 23rd February 2022, Council approved a net revenue budget of £319.510 million 

for 2022-23 based on the provisional local government settlement received from 
Welsh Government on 21st December 2021.  The Welsh Government announced 
its final settlement on the 1st March 2022 and as a result of a technical adjustment, 
there was an increase in the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) for the Council of 
£4,336, increasing the net revenue budget for 2022-23 to £319.514 million.  As part 
of the Performance Management Framework, budget projections are reviewed 
regularly and reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis.  The delivery of agreed 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



budget reductions is also kept under review and reported to Cabinet as part of this 
process.  

 
4.  Current situation/proposal 

 
4.1 Summary financial position at 30th June 2022 
 
4.1.1 The Council’s net revenue budget and projected outturn for 2022-23 is shown in 

Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1- Comparison of budget against projected outturn at 30th June 2022 

Directorate/Budget Area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn Q1 

Projected Over 
/ (Under) Spend  

Projected 
Over / (Under) 

Spend 
  2022-23 2022-23 2022-23 2022-23 Qtr 1 2021-22 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Directorate           
            
Education and Family Support 131,430 132,318 132,725 407 771 
Social Services and Wellbeing 78,434 82,022 83,570 1,548 (647) 
Communities  28,995 29,307 28,848 (459) 624 

Chief Executive's 21,895 22,389 21,782 (607) 156 

Total Directorate Budgets 260,754 266,036 266,925 889 904 

Council Wide Budgets           

            

Capital Financing  7,329 7,292 7,292 0 0 

Levies 8,177 8,210 8,210 0 0 

Apprenticeship Levy 650 650 650 0 0 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 16,054 16,054 15,300 (754) 0 

Insurance Premiums 1,363 1,363 1,363 0 0 

Repairs & Maintenance 670 670 670 0 0 

Pension Related Costs 430 430 430 0 0 

Other Corporate Budgets 24,087 18,809 17,929 (880) 0 

Total Council Wide Budgets 58,760 53,478 51,844 (1,634) 0 

            

Total 319,514 319,514 318,769 (745) 904 

 
 
4.1.2 The overall projected position at 30th June 2022 is a net under spend of 

£745,000 comprising £889,000 net over spend on directorates and a net under 
spend of £1.634 million on Council wide budgets.  A detailed analysis of the 
more significant projected under and over spends is set out in section 4.3. 

 
4.1.3 It is too early in the financial year to provide a realistic indication of projected 

council tax for this financial year, and whether the Council is likely to see a 
reduction in council tax income over the 2022-23 financial year as more people 
have suffered financial hardship through the pandemic, alongside the current 
cost of living crisis. Bridgend received £1.151 million from Welsh Government in 
2021-22 in recognition of the reduced collection rates experienced by councils 
as a consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic but there is no indication yet of any 
support for 2022-23.  A 1% reduction in the council tax income collection rate 
could result in an additional pressure to the Council of around £1 million.  
Council tax collection rates will be monitored continuously throughout the year 
and reported accordingly. 

Page 18



 Covid-19 
 
4.1.4 The UK was put into lockdown on 23rd March 2020 in an unprecedented step to 

attempt to limit the spread of coronavirus.  A Covid-19 Hardship fund was set up 
at an early stage by the Welsh Government which the Council was able to draw 
on for financial support.  Bridgend successfully claimed over £14.682 million in 
expenditure claims and over £1.762 million in loss of income claims in 2021-22.  
In addition, WG recognised the need for homelessness accommodation to be 
secured in advance to continue the commitment to focus on support for 
homeless individuals, providing them with accommodation, and approved £1.479 
million to cover these costs for the first six months of 2022-23. 

 
4.1.5 Covid-19 restrictions were removed in Wales from 18th April 2022 and the WG 

Hardship Fund ended on 31 March 2022.  In recognition of this a budget 
pressure of £1 million was approved by Council for 2022-23 as part of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy to meet ongoing budget pressures, both in 
respect of additional cost pressures and ongoing loss of income. This budget will 
require close monitoring during 2022-23, especially given the rise in Covid 
infections across the UK recently reported by the Office for National Statistics. 
Updates will continue to be provided to Cabinet through the quarterly revenue 
budget monitoring reports throughout 2022-23. 

 
4.1.6 Cabinet and Corporate Management Board (CCMB) agreed to establish a one-

off £1 million Covid-19 Recovery Fund in 2020-21 to provide funding for 
conscious and proactive decisions aimed at boosting recovery that were unlikely 
to be paid for by WG through the Hardship Fund.  The balance on this fund has 
been carried into 2022-23 and CCMB have approved the use of this fund to 
support the free car parking offer for town centres to the end of September.  
Further proposals will be considered by CCMB during 2022-23. 

 
4.1.7 Whilst the WG Hardship Fund ended on the 31st March 2022, local authorities 

continue to administer three elements that were paid through the Hardship Fund on 
behalf of WG – Self Isolation Payments (to end of June 2022), Statutory Sick pay 
enhancement scheme (recently extended to end of August 2022) and Free School 
Meal payments (to end of school summer holiday 2022).  Table 2 summarises the 
amounts claimed to date in 2022-23. 

 
Table 2 – Covid related claims to Welsh Government for Quarter 1 2022-23 
 

Specific Hardship fund 

Claimed 
and 

Approved  
£'000 

    

Self Isolation Payments (SIP) 403 

Statutory Sick Pay Enhancements (SSP) 55 

Free School Meals 290 

TOTAL 748 

 
 
 
 

Page 19



 Budget virements/technical adjustments 
 
4.1.8 There have been a number of budget virements and technical adjustments 

between budgets since the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) was 
approved by Council in February 2022. The budget position is reported on the 
assumption that these virements will be approved.  

 
4.1.9 The MTFS approved by Council in February included a £500,000 budget 

pressure to mitigate emerging pressures, to be allocated in line with need and 
reported through quarterly monitoring reports.  Table 3 sets out how the budget 
pressure has been allocated. 

 
 Table 3 – Allocation of £500,000 Budget Pressure 
 

Directorate  Service Area  Purpose Of Funding  £  

Education & 
Family 
Support 

MIS System 

Management Information System (MIS) Co-ordinator to provide 
support for implementation of the system and to lead on data 
integration, aggregation and reporting as well as the 
development of queries/coding.   

46,468 

Education & 
Family 
Support 

Emotional well-
being 

Education Engagement Team Co-ordinator - supporting 
learners' emotional well-being 

41,852 

Education & 
Family 
Support 

Home to School 
Transport 

Home To School Transport Contract Monitoring Officer - 
monitoring and compliance 

38,450 

Education & 
Family 
Support 

Performance 
Performance Lead - co-ordinating the directorate's operational 
self-evaluation and business planning function.   

38,450 

Social 
Services & 
Wellbeing 

External care 
home pressures 

Additional budget pressure to further mitigate cost increases 
being experienced across the care home sector 

75,000 

Social 
Services & 
Wellbeing 

Workforce 
development 

Social Care Assessor – to support an induction programme for 
new recruits from different sectors to address the recruitment of 
people from different sectors into social care roles 

30,000 

Social 
Services & 
Wellbeing 

Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding 
Hub/Information, 
Advice and 
Assistance and 
safeguarding 

Additional managerial and supervision resources 60,000 

Chief 
Executives 

Human 
Resources 

Learning and Organisational Development Advisor to support 
the ongoing well-being support of BCBC staff and to support 
the Service Delivery model going forward 

42,000 

Chief 
Executives 

Democratic 
Services 

Technical support officer – the move to hybrid meetings has 
increased the number of clerks to be at the meeting 

34,000 

Chief 
Executives 

Land charges 
Land charges – transfer to Land Registry resulting in shortfall in 
income previously generated. 

66,780 

Chief 
Executives 

ICT 
Officer to focus on national and strategic priorities of Welsh 
Community Care Information System (WCCIS) 

27,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



4.1.10 The other main virements and technical adjustments are outlined below: 
 
 Budget Virements 
 

 Service vired from / to Amount 

Transfer of funding from the Social Services Wellbeing 
Directorate to Chief Executive’s to fund the increase in Direct 
Payments Team as a result of procurement exercise to 
develop an in-house Advisor service 

£43,946 

Additional Learning Needs (ALN) budget held in schools 
delegated budget transferred to central Education and Family 
Support budget for coordinated 1:1 support 

£185,000 

Transfer of funding from Capital Financing budget to 
Communities Directorate to cover the cost of prudential 
borrowing for highways maintenance schemes 

£37,476 

Transfer of funding from Covid Pressures budget to Social 
Services and Wellbeing Directorate to fund regional Personal 
Protective Equipment (PPE) contract (See 4.1.5) 

£120,000 

Transfer of funding from the Chief Executive Directorate to the 
Social Services and Wellbeing Directorates to manage the 
annual service level agreement with BAVO 

£52,079 

Transfer of part of budget pressure approved by Council in 
February 2022 (CEX 2 - Phase 2 Business Support Review) 
from Chief Executive Directorate to Social Services and 
Wellbeing Directorate 

£106,000 

 
 Technical Adjustments 
 

 Service vired from / to Amount 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of National 
Joint Council (NJC)pay award 2021-22** 

£1,756,470 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of NJC pay 
award 2021-22 (punched hours)** 

£88,985 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of Joint 
Negotiating Committee (JNC) pay award 2021-22 for Chief 
Officers** 

£33,890 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of Soulbury 
pay award September 2021 to August 2022 

£14,520 

Transfer of funding to Levies budget for 2022-23 agreed uplifts £32,385 

Allocation of funding to Direct Payments budget for increase to 
Personal Assistant and Agency rates due to increase in Real 
Living Wage 

£600,564 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of the financial 
implications of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
Annual Report  

£150,103 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of National 
Insurance increases for Social Services and Wellbeing (SSWB) 
Directorate SWB Commissioned Services 

£135,783 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of Real Living 
Wage increases for SSWB Commissioned Services 

£1,040,480 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of other 
inflationary increases for SSWB Commissioned Services 

£804,365 

Page 21



 
** Budget virements for 2021-22 related pay awards actioned in 2022-23 due to 
timing of agreement being reached after the MTFS budget was presented to 
Council in February 2022 

 
 Pay/Price Inflation 
 
4.1.11 When the budget for 2022-23 was set, very little funding was allocated to 

directorates for pay and price inflation, as most had not been determined for the 
forthcoming year. The majority of the provision was retained centrally within 
Council wide budgets, to be allocated as further information was known about 
specific contractual price increases.  

 
4.1.12 Inflationary pressures include increases in staffing costs arising from the above 

inflation increases in the national living wage and the implementation of the real 
living wage.  In addition, there are ongoing discussions regarding pay claims for 
Teachers’ pay, National Joint Council (NJC) workers and for Joint Negotiation 
Committee (JNC) for Chief Officers.  Even a variance of 1% on the pay 
settlement of NJC staff alone can result in a swing of required funding of over £1 
million per annum. 

 
4.1.13 In addition, in recent months the Council has experienced additional costs not 

only as a result of the pandemic, but also rising costs resulting from Brexit, 
increases in inflation not seen for over a decade, and more recently the impact 
of the war in the Ukraine.   

 
4.1.14 There is a risk that there may not be sufficient funding available within these 

budgets for any unexpected major pay/price inflation increases. Inflation rates 
have also fluctuated since the budget was set - CPI was 6.2% in February 2022 
and had increased to 9.1% in May 2022.  In comparison it was 2.1% in May 
2021.  With these uncertainties the budget will need to be monitored closely 
during the remainder of the year.  

 
 Budget Reduction Proposals 
 
4.1.15 The net budget for the financial year has been set assuming full implementation 

of the current year budget reduction requirements across the Council’s budget, 
which amount to £631,000.  Where proposals to meet this requirement have 
been delayed or are not achievable directorates have been tasked with 
identifying alternative proposals to meet their requirements such as vacancy 
management, or bringing forward alternative budget reduction proposals. 

 
4.1.16 In February 2022 Council approved the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2022-

23 to 2025-26. This identified the need to develop recurrent budget reduction 
proposals, based on the most likely scenario, amounting to £21.029 million over the 
next four years.  Against that background it is essential that expenditure is kept 
within the overall approved budget and that longer term proposals continue to be 
developed so that the Council has as much flexibility as possible to meet the 
challenges which lie ahead. 

 
 
 

Page 22



4.1.17 At year end consideration will be given to requests from directors to carry forward 
any planned directorate under spends for specific purposes into the following year, 
in line with the Council’s Reserves and Balances Protocol, as long as these can be 
met from within the Council’s cash limited budget for 2022-23. This is in line with the 
reports to Cabinet and Council on the MTFS, and the Council’s Financial Procedure 
Rules. Similarly, consideration will be given to any budget over spends to determine 
whether these should be carried forward as a first call on the directorate budget for 
the following year. Finally, outstanding prudential borrowing will be repaid, where 
possible, to reduce future capital financing charges. However, a decision will not be 
made until towards the end of the financial year when the overall outturn position is 
more definite.   

 
4.2 Monitoring of Budget Reduction Proposals  
 
 Prior Year Budget Reductions 
 
4.2.1 A report was presented to Cabinet on 14th June 2022 on the Revenue Budget 

Outturn 2021-22. In the report it was highlighted that, for 2017-18 to 2020-21, there 
were £2.376 million of budget reduction proposals that were not met in full, with a 
total outstanding balance to be met of £100,000. In addition, of the 2021-22 budget 
reduction proposals of £1.760 million, it was reported that there was a total 
outstanding balance to be met of £65,000.  Directors have been asked to identify if 
any of these proposals are still not likely to be achieved in full during the 2022-23 
financial year, and to identify mitigating actions that will be undertaken to achieve 
them.  All remaining outstanding prior year budget reductions are summarised in 
Appendix 1 with a summary per directorate provided in Table 4.  

  
 
 Table 4 – Outstanding Prior Year Budget Reductions  
 
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Likely to 

be 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET 
REDUCTION AREA 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Communities 179 19 160 

 
 Note: The total budget reductions required in Table 4 represents the original budget 

reduction target of £179,000 - £14,000 of the proposal was achieved in 2021-22 leaving 
£165,000 to be achieved in 2022-23. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



4.2.2 Table 4 shows that of the £179,000 outstanding reductions, £19,000 is likely to be 
achieved in 2022-23 leaving a shortfall of £160,000. Proposals still not likely to be 
achieved include: 

 
o COM19 – Permitting Scheme (£100,000) due to delays in approval process 

with Welsh Government.  An allowance has been made within the Highway 
Network Management budget to cover the shortfall in 2022-23. A review of 
the budgets within the Communities Directorate is ongoing to identify a 
replacement saving for this budget reduction alongside attempts continuing 
to be made to make contact with the appropriate officers in WG to gain a 
formal response on the submission. 

o COM 2 – Re-location of Community Recycling Centre from Tythegston to 
Pyle (£60,000).  The new site in Pyle is anticipated to open in 2022-23, with 
both sites being maintained until the new site is fully operational, therefore 
the saving will not be achieved in full until 2023-24. The saving will therefore 
have to met through alternative one-off efficiencies in 2022-23 in order to 
deliver a balanced budget position 

   
4.2.3 As outlined in the MTFS reports to Cabinet and Council, MTFS Principle 7 states 

that “Savings proposals are fully developed and include realistic delivery timescales 
prior to inclusion in the annual budget.  An MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency 
Reserve will be maintained to mitigate against unforeseen delays”. An MTFS 
Budget Reduction Contingency reserve was established in 2016-17. This reserve 
has been used to meet specific budget reduction proposals in previous years on a 
one-off basis pending alternative measures. During the financial year, the Section 
151 Officer will consider applications from Directorates to the MTFS Budget 
Reduction Contingency reserve to mitigate some of the shortfalls. 

 
 Budget Reductions 2022-23 
 
4.2.4 The budget approved for 2022-23 included budget reduction proposals totalling 

£631,000, which is broken down in Appendix 2 and summarised in Table 5 below.  
The current position is a projected shortfall on the savings target of £273,000, or 
43.2% of the overall reduction target.  

 
 Table 5 – Monitoring of Budget Reductions 2022-23 
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Likely to 

be 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET REDUCTION 
AREA 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 68 0 68 

Schools 0 0 0 

Social Services and Wellbeing 365 255 110 

Communities 150 55 95 

Chief Executive's 48 48 0 

TOTAL 631 358 273 

Page 24



 
4.2.5 The most significant budget reduction proposals unlikely to be achieved in full are:- 
 

• EFS1 – Rationalisation of Adult Community Learning Service (£68,000 shortfall). 
WG have changed the terms and conditions of the grant for this service area which 
has impacted on the core budget and deliverability of this proposal.  The Education 
and Family Support Directorate are working on alternative budget reduction 
proposals to replace this saving which will be reported to Cabinet in the quarter 2 
Revenue Monitoring report. 

• SSWB 2/3 – remodelling of day service provision and supported living services 
(£110,000 shortfall).  Efficiencies have been identified, however work is ongoing to 
further develop the remodelling to meet the savings target in full. 

• COM 3 – change the composition of household food waste bags (£35,000 
shortfall).  Budget reduction proposal has been delayed due to ongoing national 
research and debate surrounding composition of household food waste bags, to 
ensure any potential changes in legislation do not impact on the proposal. 

• COM5 – commercially let a wing of Ravens Court to a partner organisation or 
business (£50,000 shortfall) – delay in progressing budget reduction proposal 
whilst the Future Service Delivery model is being developed. 

   
4.2.6 Appendix 2 identifies the projected amount of saving against these proposals in 

detail and action to be taken by the directorate to mitigate the shortfall. Directors 
continue to work with their staff to deliver their proposals or alternatives and this is 
reflected in the forecast outturn for the year. During the financial year the Section 
151 Officer will also consider applications from directorates to the MTFS Budget 
Reduction Contingency reserve to mitigate some of the shortfalls.  

 
4.2.7 In the longer term, these proposals must be realised or must be met through 

alternative budget reduction proposals in order to deliver a balanced budget 
position. These will continue to be closely monitored and draw down from the MTFS 
Budget Reduction Contingency reserve will be made as part of the overall review of 
earmarked reserves during quarter 2.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



4.3 Commentary on the financial position at 30th June 2022 
 

Financial position at 30th June 2022 
 
A summary of the financial position for each main service area is attached as 
Appendix 3 to this report and comments on the most significant variances are 
provided below.  

 
4.3.1 Education and Family Support Directorate 
 

The net budget for the Education and Family Support Directorate, including school 
delegated budgets, for 2022-23 is £132.318 million.  Current projections indicate an 
over spend of £407,000 at year end. The main variances are: 

 

EDUCATION & FAMILY 
SUPPORT DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Learner Support 6,345 6,609 264 4.2% 

Family Support 2,902 2,810 (92) -3.2% 

Home-to-school transport 8,040 8,294 254 3.2% 

Catering Services 1,145 1,298 153 13.4% 

Corporate health and safety 385 249 (136) -35.3% 

 
Schools’ delegated budgets 
 
Total funding delegated to schools in 2022-23 is £105.897 million. 
 
The schools’ delegated budget is reported as balanced as any under spend or over 
spend is automatically carried forward into the new financial year before being 
considered by the Corporate Director - Education and Family Support in line with 
the ‘Guidance and Procedures on Managing Surplus School Balances’.  

 
Total school balances increased by £4.004 million during 2021-22, to £12.494 
million at year end. The main reason for the significant increase was additional 
schools’ revenue grant funding of £6.041 million announced late in 2021-22 and 
successful claims to the WG Hardship fund of £737,000 in the final quarter of 2021-
22.    At the start of 2022-23, projections indicated an overall surplus balance for 
school delegated budgets of £3.473 million at year end.  There are 5 primary 
schools and 1 secondary school (10.2% of all schools) projecting a deficit balance 
at year end.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 Central Education and Family Support Directorate budgets 
 
Learner Support 

• There is a net projected over spend of £264,000 in Learner Support budgets. 

• £220,000 of this relates to the projected over spend due to the additional one-to-
one support being provided to BCBC pupils in their home schools as they await 
placements in Heronsbridge or Ysgol Bryn Castell special schools. A budget 
pressure of £200,000 was approved by Council in February 2022 as part of the 
MTFS 2022-23 to 2025-26 to address the underlying recoupment income shortfall 
which has improved the budgetary position compared with 2021-22.  

• The Adult Community Learning budget has a £68,000 MTFS budget reduction 
proposal for 2022-23 which related to the removal of the council subsidised support 
to adult learners.  Subsequent to this proposal, Welsh Government has changed 
the terms and conditions of the grant for this service area which has impacted on 
the core budget and deliverability of this proposal.  The Education and Family 
Support Directorate is working on alternative budget reduction proposals to replace 
this saving which will be reported to Cabinet in the quarter 2 budget monitoring 
report. 

 
Family Support 

• The projected under spend of £92,000 primarily relates to staff vacancy 
management and maximisation of grant funding.  The service area are looking to 
recruit to the vacant posts in 2022-23, therefore the saving will not be recurring in 
2023-24. 

 
Home-to-school transport (HtST) 

• A MTFS budget pressure of £2.472 million was approved by Council in February 
2022 to support the increased costs of HtST reported in 2021-22. These included 
the increased provision of taxis and minibuses for pupils with additional learning 
needs, transportation of nursery pupils in either dedicated minibuses or taxis, and a 
retendering exercise on home to school transport contracts, principally big buses 
and minibuses.  A further procurement exercise was also undertaken at the end of 
2021-22 for special taxis, taxis and minibus contracts which was anticipated to put 
further pressure on the HtST budget in 2022-23. 

• The HtST budget is currently projecting a £253,000 over spend primarily relating to 
increased costs for those pupils with additional learning needs. 

• It should also be noted that school transport providers are being significantly 
impacted by the fuel inflationary increases and are in discussion with the local 
authority with regard to the sharing of the risks associated with continuing to 
operate. 

• The HtST will require close monitoring for the remainder of 2022-23 given the 
pressures continuing to be faced by the service area. 

 
Catering Services  

• The projected over spend of £154,000 in Catering Services has arisen from a 
combination of an increase in the cost of food purchases due to inflationary 
pressures along with a slight increase in staffing costs.  This budget area will be 
closely monitored in 2022-23 with the potential for further support from the central 
price inflation budget as inflation continues to increase. 

 
 
 

Page 27



Corporate Health and Safety Unit 

• The projected under spend of £136,000 within the Corporate Health and Safety Unit 
primarily relates to staff vacancy management.  The vacant posts are expected to 
be filled in 2022-23 therefore this saving should not be recurring in 2023-24. 

 
4.3.2 Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate  
 

The Directorate’s net budget for 2022-23 is £82.022 million.  Current projections 
indicate an over spend of £1.548 million at year end.  Whilst this appears a 
significant shift from the 2021-22 outturn position of a £5.931 million under spend, it 
is important to note that the Directorate received a significant amount of one-off 
grant income in 2021-22, including the Social Care Recovery Fund (£2.916 million) 
and the Social Care Pressures Grant (£2.221 million). 
 
The main variances are: 
 

SOCIAL SERVICES AND 
WELLBEING 
DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Adult Social Care 55,739 56,902 1,163 2.1% 

Prevention and Wellbeing 5,299 5,152 (147) -2.8% 

Childrens Social Care 20,984 21,516 532 2.5% 

 
Adult Social Care 
There is projected net over spend of £1.163 million on the Adult Social Care budget.  
The most significant variances contributing to this projected over spend are:- 
 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 
£'000 

Older People Residential Care (178)  

Equipment & Adaptions 185 

Mental Health Residential Care (216) 

Mental Health Home Care 335 

Mental Health Supported Accommodation (229) 

Learning Disabilities Direct Payments 413  

Learning Disabilities Home Care 785  

Learning Disabilities Day Opportunities 510  

Assessment and Care Management (200) 

Administrative and Central Services (124) 

 

• Older People Residential Care – the projected under spend of £178,000 is primarily 
due to an increase to the average resident’s contribution.  All contributions are 
financially assessed in accordance with the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 
Act 2014 but the average income received each year will vary in total depending on 
the financial position of the persons needing care during the financial year – e.g. if 
there are a small number of people who have savings or assets, and are paying 

Page 28



their contribution in full or have a high contribution, then this will increase the overall 
average.  

• Equipment & Adaptions – the projected over spend of £185,000 is because of 
continuing demand for equipment due to the need to support individuals in line with 
Welsh Government’s rehabilitation and recovery model.  The outturn for 2021-22 
saw an underlying pressure in this service area of £401,000. 

• Mental Health Residential Care – the projected under spend of £216,000 is primarily 
due to a reduction in placements.  Placement numbers are similar to those reported 
in the outturn report (45) compared with 51 as at 31 March 2021.  This is primarily 
due to alternative service solutions being provided that were more suitable for 
people and adaptable to Covid-19 circumstances.  If these alternative solutions 
continue to prove beneficial then budgets could be vired within Mental Health to 
areas that are experiencing pressures as a result of the medium to long term impact 
of the pandemic on individuals.  

• Mental Health Home Care – this includes Supported Living, Short Breaks and 
Domiciliary Care.  The projected £335,000 over spend is primarily due to Supported 
Living packages of care exceeding the available budget. Whilst Supported Living 
packages of care have decreased slightly (34 compared with 40 in 2021-22) the 
Social Care Pressures Grant funding was utilised to offset a considerable element 
of the prior year over spend of £454,000.  

• Mental Health Supported Accommodation – the projected £229,000 under spend 
primarily relates to maximisation of Innovation Grant Funding. 

• Learning Disabilities Direct Payments – there is projected over spend of £413,000 
as the service area has seen a shift to clients choosing to opt for Direct Payments 
rather than utilising traditional methods of care and support.  This shift does not 
necessarily result in under spends in other service area budgets as there is 
currently significant demand for Social Services support across the directorate. In 
addition, there has also been a notable change in the complexity of cases, with a 
small number of high cost, high complexity placements.  

• Learning Disabilities Home Care – the overall over spend of £785,000 is due to a 
combination of factors.  Firstly, the number of hours of care covered by home care 
services has increased as clients have not yet returned to in-house Day Services 
Provision.   Secondly, there has been an increase in the complexity of cases 
resulting in more support required along with additional hours of care.   

• Learning Disabilities Day Opportunities – the over spend of £510,000 mainly relates 
to placement numbers exceeding the available budget for externally commissioned 
Day Services (£390,000). Placements numbers are similar to those in 2021-22, 
however the pressure was offset in the prior year by grant income of £302,000. 
Secondly, whilst the learning disabilities home care budget is projecting an over 
spend as clients have not returned to Internal Day Services new clients are taking 
up the vacant day services placements. Finally, whilst efficiencies have been 
identified in relation to the £115,000 MTFS saving relating to re-modelling of Day 
Services, work is ongoing to further develop the remodelling to meet the savings 
target and therefore it will not be met in full in 2022-23.  

• Assessment and Care Management – there is a projected under spend of £200,000 
due to a continuing challenging recruitment environment. Various recruitment 
activities and initiatives have been actioned in order to fill vacant posts but 
appointments have been affected by the acute lack of availability of staff and 
increasing demand across the Care sector. 

• Administrative & Central Services – there is a projected under spend of £124,000 
which is primarily due to staffing vacancies as the service is currently going through 

Page 29



a restructure.  The structure is anticipated to have been populated by the final 
quarter of 2022-23.   

 
Prevention and Wellbeing 

• The projected under spend of £147,000 is primarily due to the maximisation of grant 
funding opportunities (Summer of Fun, LAPA, Disability Sports).  The projection 
does not include any estimate for a contribution to the Council’s leisure provider for 
any residual financial impact of running the leisure services in 2022-23 due to 
Covid-19. Close monitoring of the impact of Covid-19 on leisure services beyond 
this point will be required and updates provided to Cabinet in future monitoring 
reports. 
 
Childrens Social Care 

 
There is projected net over spend of £532,000 on the Childrens Social Care budget.  
The most significant variances contributing to this projected over spend are:- 
 

CHILDRENS SOCIAL CARE 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 
£'000 

Care Experienced Children 475  

Family Support Services 116  

Commissioning & Social Work -194  

 

• The projected over spend of £475,000 for Care Experienced Children is due to a 
combination of factors:- 

➢ Childrens Residential Services are projecting an over spend of £326,000 mainly 
due to additional staffing requirements for complex behaviours and increased 
agency costs as a result of the challenging recruitment market. 

➢ The Out of County Residential Care budget has a projected over spend of 
£613,000.  There are currently 16 children in out of authority placements, an 
increase from 13 placements since 31st March 2022. It should be noted that this 
budget area can be volatile and small changes in demand can result in relatively 
high costs being incurred. The budget is being closely monitored to ensure that the 
projected spend is effectively managed. 

➢ There is an under spend on Independent Fostering Agency placements (£704,000) 
and Fostering (£293,000).  This is due to alternative placement options being 
utilised, including in-house residential provision and Special Guardianship Orders 
which are projecting an over spend of £326,000 and £293,000 respectively.  These 
budgets will be monitored closely in 2022-23 and budgets vired as appropriate. 

 

• The projected over spend of £116,000 within Family Support Services is primarily 
due to the projected over spend in Direct Payments. In 2021-22, the service was 
successful in claiming £50,000 from the Covid-19 Hardship fund to cover additional 
support required due to the pandemic, however the Hardship Fund is not in place in 
2022-23. If this pressure continues, then consideration will be given to a contribution 
from the Covid Budget Pressure and will be reported to Cabinet in future budget 
monitoring reports.  The remaining projected over spend is due to an increase in 
complexity in existing cases.  

Page 30



• Commissioning & Social Work – the projected under spend of £194,000 is mainly 
due to staffing vacancies due to the ongoing recruitment challenges. Agency staff 
are being utilised where possible to limit the impact on service delivery. 

 
4.3.3 Communities Directorate 

 
The net budget for the Directorate for 2022-23 is £29.307 million.  The current 
projection is an anticipated under spend of £459,000.  The main variances are: 
 

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE 
Net  

Budget 
Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Waste Disposal & Collection 9,356 9,119 (237) -2.5% 

Fleet Services 98 363 265 270.4% 

Highways Services (DSO) 2,969 2,794 (175) -5.9% 

Street Lighting 1,622 1,397 (225) -13.9% 

Engineering Services 101 1 (100) -99.0% 

Corporate Landlord 2,825 3,001 176 6.2% 

 
 Waste Disposal and Collection 

• There is a projected under spend of £237,000 on the Waste Disposal and 
Collection budget.  This is primarily due to a 3.9% reduction in the disposal fee 
of residual waste at the Material Recovery and Energy Centre (MREC) and a 
slight reduction in the tonnage figures in April and May as people started to shift 
away from home-working.  Close monitoring of this budget will be required in 
2022-23 however, as June saw an increase to the monthly tonnage collected. 

 
 Fleet Services 

• There is a projected over spend of £265,000 on Fleet services as productivity 
levels have still not returned to a break-even position.  A review of the service 
will be required in the current financial year as the over spend position has 
continued into 2022-23. 

 
Highways Services 

• The projected under spend of £175,000 within Highways Services is primarily 
due to members of staff working on, and hence charging their time to, large 
capital schemes.  This is not a recurring saving and is a reduced projection from 
the 2021-22 outturn of £364,000. 

 
Street Lighting 

• There is a projected under spend on the street lighting energy budget, which is 
comparable to the 2021-22 outturn under spend of £271,000. The LED 
replacement programme has generated savings due to reduced energy 
consumption. However, this budget area will be closely monitored throughout 
2022-23 especially in light of the high inflationary uplifts currently being 
experienced in the energy market, to determine the element of under spend that 
is recurring, with potential re-alignment to other budgets facing projected over 
spends within the Communities Directorate in 2022-23. 

 
 

Page 31



Engineering Services 

• There is a projected under spend on Engineering Services of £100,000.  This is 
primarily to an increase in the level of fee earning jobs (grant funded/non grant 
funded projects) and the differing chargeable rates allowed on the schemes. 

 
Corporate Landlord 

• There is a projected over spend of £176,000 against Corporate Landlord for 
2022-23.  As reported in the outturn report, there are shortfalls in income 
generated from properties run by the Council that are not necessarily Covid-19 
related but relate to occupancy shortfalls.  These have continued into 2022-23 
and strategies are being developed to reduce the income shortfalls in the longer 
term – Bridgend Market (£179,000), Science Park (£31,000) and the Innovation 
Centre (£230,000).  These have been offset by staffing vacancies of £157,000 – 
the service area are actively seeking to recruit to the vacancies, therefore this 
under spend is not recurring. 

 
4.3.4 Chief Executive’s  
  

The net budget for the Directorate for 2022-23 is £22.389 million.  Current 
projections anticipate an under spend against this budget of £607,000.  The main 
variances are: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S  
Net  

Budget 
Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 5,359 5,485 126 2.4% 

ICT 3,880 4,037 157 4.0% 

Housing & Homelessness 3,375 2,534 (841) -24.9% 

 
Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 

• The projected over spend of £126,000 mainly relates to projected shortfalls in 
Licensing fee income levels within Regulatory services.  For the last two 
financial years, loss of income has been supported by the WG Hardship Fund, 
however this finished at the end of March 2022. The income budgets will be 
closely monitored through the remainder of the financial year to establish 
whether income levels start to recover and increase. Legal fees continue to be a 
budget pressure as reported in the Revenue Outturn report to Cabinet on 14 
June. The current projected over spend for 2022-23 is £107,000 however this 
will be supported by draw down from an earmarked reserve created at the end 
of 2021-22 to cover the continuing pressure in this service area. 

 
ICT 

• There is a projected net over spend of £157,000 across ICT budgets.  As 
highlighted in 2021-22, due to reduced printing activity ICT have been unable to 
cover the fixed costs of printers and photocopiers through the re-charge to service 
departments.  Consequently, reduced spend will have been incurred on printing 
budgets across the service departments and included in the projections for 
individual service areas.  In quarter 2 of 2021-22 a one-off budget virement of 
£150,000 was undertaken to align budgets.  The implementation of the Future 

Page 32



Service Delivery Model will continue to be monitored as to whether another one-
off budget virement will be actioned in 2022-23.  

 
Housing & Homelessness 

• There is a projected under spend of £841,000 on Housing & Homelessness.  

• Budget growth of £2.192 million was approved by Council as part of the MTFS 
Budget setting process in February 2021 to continue the commitment to focus 
support for homeless individuals providing them with accommodation. The 
budget was approved prior to confirmation from WG that the Covid Hardship 
Fund was to be extended through 2021-22. 

• Despite the Hardship fund not being in place for 2022-23, WG recognised the 
need for homelessness accommodation to be secured in advance to continue 
the commitment to focus on support for homeless individuals and approved 
£1.479 million to cover these costs for the first six months of 2022-23.  In 
addition, the accommodation element of the Hardship Fund was replaced in 
2022-23 by a WG ‘Homelessness – No One Left Out’ grant funding of £1.046 
million. 

•  Spend on Homelessness accommodation in 2022-23 is projected to be in the 
region of £3.738 million, against the combined WG funding of £2.525 million 
referred to above.  The shortfall of £1.258 million is covered by the budget 
growth of £2.192 million, and the under spend against the core budget has 
enabled the service to propose to fund a revenue contribution to capital of 
£530,000 for a potential refurbishment programme working with Valleys to 
Coast (V2C) in order to bring properties back into use for nomination rights and 
homelessness cases – this is pending approval of the revised Capital 
Programme by Council on 20 June 2022.  

• The projected accommodation spend is based on increased numbers of 
households and individuals supported, from 188 households and 308 
individuals in June 2021 to 213 households and 371 individuals in June 2022.  
The remaining projected under spend on accommodation of £404,000 will be 
closely monitored in line with any further changes in support required for 
homelessness accommodation. 

• The remainder of the under spend in Housing and Homelessness primarily 
relates to staffing vacancies (£136,000) due to the challenging recruitment 
environment – the Housing department are actively trying to recruit to these 
vacancies.  There are also projected efficiencies on non-pay budgets of 
£62,000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 33



4.3.5 Council Wide budgets 
  
 This section includes budgets, provisions and services which are council wide, and 

not managed by an individual directorate. The net budget for 2022-23 is £53.478 
million.  Current projections anticipate an under spend against this budget of £1.634 
million.  The main variances are:- 

 

COUNCIL WIDE BUDGETS 
Net  

Budget 
Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 16,054 15,300 (754) -4.7% 

Other Corporate Budgets 18,809 17,929 (880) -4.7% 

 
 
 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

• There is a projected under spend of £754,000 on the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme.  This is a demand led budget and take-up is difficult to predict with an 
increase of £400,000 included within the budget for 2022-23 in anticipation of 
increased demand.  Take up has remained similar, at present, to 2021-22 when 
the gross spend in this budget area was £15.239 million.  The budget will be 
closely monitored in 2022-23 as there could be an additional call on the scheme 
in view of the impact of the pandemic and the cost of living crisis on personal 
financial circumstances with the potential for an increase in the number of 
benefit claimants. 

 
 Other Corporate Budgets 

• As referred to in paragraph 4.1.11 to 4.1.14, due to the ongoing discussions 
regarding pay claims, the risk of unexpected major price inflation increases 
along with rising costs resulting from Brexit and the impact of the war in 
Ukraine, at this point in the financial year, it is prudent to assume that the 
majority of Council wide budgets will be fully spent by the year end.  However it 
is anticipated that there will be a reduction in corporate support required to fund 
potential redundancy costs as, following the better than anticipated WG 
settlement for 2022-23, fewer budget reduction proposals had to be made.  In 
addition, there is currently a lower than anticipated requirement against the £1m 
MTFS Covid-19 pressure approved by Council in February 2022.  Close 
monitoring will be required of this budget especially against the backdrop of the 
recent rise in covid infection rates. 

 
 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 As required by section 3 (budgetary control) of the Financial Procedure Rules; Chief 

Officers in consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member are expected to 
manage their services within the approved cash limited budget and to provide the 
Chief Finance Officer with such information as is required to facilitate and monitor 
budgetary control. 

 
 
 

Page 34



6. Equality Act 2010 implications 
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act 2010, Socio-

economic Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been 
considered in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council 
must consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will 
be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 
 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications 
 
7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. As the report is for information it is considered that there will be no significant 
or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a 
result of this report. 

 
 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 These are reflected in the body of the report. 
 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 Cabinet is requested to: 
 

• note the projected revenue position for 2022-23 
recommend that Cabinet approve the virements over £100,000 as outlined in 
paragraph 4.1.9 and 4.1.10 

 
Carys Lord 
Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change 
July 2022 
  
Contact Officer: Joanne Norman 
   Group Manager – Financial Planning and Budget Management 
 
Telephone:  01656 643645 
 
Email:  joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address : Raven’s Court 
   Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP 

 
 
Background documents:  Individual Directorate Monitoring Reports 

     MTFS Report to Council – 23 February 2022 

Page 35

mailto:joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving likely 

to be 

achieved by 

22-23           

£000

Reason why not achievable Proposed Action in 2022-23 to achieve

RAG STATUS KEY

RED Not likely to be achieved at all in this financial year or less than 25%.

AMBER Reduction not likely to be achieved in full in financial year but greater than 25%

GREEN Reduction likely to be achieved in full

COMMUNITIES

COM19     

(2017-18)

Permitting Scheme road works net of existing income of 

£95,000
100 0

A response from Welsh Government 

is still outstanding in consideration of 

the business case for the Permitting 

Scheme. Attempts continue to be 

made to make contact with the 

appropriate officers to gain a formal 

response on the submission. 

An allowance has been made within the Highway 

Network Management budget to cover the shortfall in 

2022/23. In conjunction, a review of the budgets within 

the Communities Directorate is ongoing to identify a 

replacement saving for this budget reduction.

COM 2 

(2021-22)

Re-location of Community Recycling Centre from Tythegston 

to Pyle resulting in cessation of lease payments at existing 

site

60 0

The new site in Pyle is anticipated to 

open in 2022-23, with both sites being 

maintained until the new site is fully 

operational, therefore the saving will 

not be achieved in full until 2023-24.

The saving will be met through alternative one off 

efficiencies in 2022-23 to deliver a balanced budget 

position.

COM 7 

(2021-22)

WG National AHP Waste Programme - capital contribution 

from WG towards 7.5 tonne vehicle to collect AHP recycling
19 19

New vehicle purchased part-way 

through 2021-22 therefore only partial 

saving achieved in prior year.

No action required - saving will be made in full in 2022-

23.

Total Communities Directorate 179 19

GRAND TOTAL OUTSTANDING REDUCTIONS 179 19

REDUCTIONS SHORTFALL 160

PRIOR YEAR BUDGET REDUCTIONS CARRIED FORWARD INTO 2022-23

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



MONITORING OF 2022-23 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2022-23 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2022-23    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

CENTRAL EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS1
Rationalisation of Adult Community Learning 

Service

Remove the council subsidised support to adult learners although 

there are other providers - e.g. College.  Less opportunity for adults 

to gain new skills.

68 0

Welsh Government have changed the terms and 

conditions of the grant for this service area which 

has impacted on the core budget and deliverability of 

this proposal.  The Education and Family Support 

Directorate are working on alternative budget 

reduction proposals to replace this saving which will 

be reported to Cabinet in the quarter 2 budget 

monitoring report

Total Education and Family Support 68 0

SSW1

Across Adults and Children’s services embed 

and consolidate outcome focussed practice and 

commissioning for all services areas.  

This will support people to live their lives and will require our systems 

to be adapted to support the changes in practice. There will be a shift 

to embed outcome focussed practice which will have a focus on 

targeted prevention initiatives and by developing collaborative, long 

term relationships with providers as well as maximising the 

opportunities of the use of technology.  This will be underpinned by 

planning accommodation, care and support together and listening to 

people who are experts in their own lives and acting upon what will 

make a difference.

200 200 Full saving should be achieved in 2022-23

SSW2
Remodelling day service provision for older 

people and learning disability services

The recent experience of the pandemic has enabled the service to 

find new ways of working and the service are proposing to review 

and refine the operating model for day time opportunities.

115 30

Efficiencies have been identified, however work is 

ongoing to further develop the remodelling to meet 

the savings target in full.

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

P
age 39



MONITORING OF 2022-23 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2022-23 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2022-23    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

SSW3 Remodelling Supported Living Services
A review of the service provision and alternative delivery models 

based on the current and predicted needs of individuals
50 25

Efficiencies have been identified, however work is 

ongoing to further develop the remodelling to meet 

the savings target in full.

365 255

COMMUNITIES

COM1
Strategic Regeneration Fund - reduction to 

annual allocation 

The reduction to the Strategic Regeneration Fund will directly impact 

on the Council's ability to provide match-funding, through which to 

lever other external funding. There will be no funding for feasibility or 

development work, on which to prepare bids for funding. Also 

potential for a loss of private sector investment as a result of inability 

to engage productively with developers and present Bridgend County 

in a positive light.  

20 20 Full saving should be achieved in 2022-23

COM2

Cessation of Tourism contract with AMA 

Associates an external Public Relations 

Company who promote Bridgend with a range 

of publishers.

News coverage about Bridgend County will reduce and this 

potentially would have implications for visitor numbers and the local 

economy.

25 25 Full saving should be achieved in 2022-23

COM3
Change the composition of Household Food 

Waste bags

The current bags cause issues with bio-degrading due to the speed 

of the food waste digestion process.  Change the supply of bags to 

remove this issue.

35 0

Ongoing national  research and debate surrounding 

composition of Household Food Waste Bags.  

Budget reduction proposal delayed until outcome of 

review known to ensure any potential changes in 

legislation do not impact on the proposal.

COM4
Remove Business in Focus from running 

Enterprise Centres in Bridgend

This would be dependent on Corporate Landlord picking up the 

responsibilities and ensuring a higher rate of occupancy of the units 

to remove voids.

20 10

Staffing vacancies have delayed the implementation 

of this saving proposal, however the recent 

appointment of a Senior Portfolio Surveyor will make 

this a priority as we move forward.

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate

P
age 40



MONITORING OF 2022-23 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2022-23 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2022-23    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

COM5
Commercially let a wing of Ravens Court to a 

partner organisation or business.

Savings would be predicated on reduction in utilities from not 

occupying the space and rental income
50 0

Delay in progressing budget reduction proposal 

whilst the Future Service Delivery model is being 

developed.

Total Communities Directorate 150 55

CHIEF EXECUTIVES

CEX2

Efficiency saving targeting supplies and 

services budgets across the Chief Executive's 

Directorate

Limited impact as review has identified small historic underspends 

against this budget category
48 48 Full saving should be achieved in 2022-23

Total Chief Executive's Directorate 48 48

GRAND TOTAL REDUCTIONS 631 358

REDUCTION SHORTFALL 273

73 293

158 185

400 153

631 631

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING TO 30TH JUNE 2022

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Expenditure 

Budget
Income 

Budget 

Net 

Budget 

Projected 

Outturn 

Projected 

Variance

Over/(under)

budget 

% 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT

School Delegated Budgets 127,199         (21,302)     105,897      105,897        -                  0.0%

Learner Support 7,552             (1,207)       6,345          6,609           264                   4.2%

Family Support 8,403             (5,501)       2,902          2,810           (92)                   -3.2%

Business Support 14,794           (4,447)       10,347        10,505         158                   1.5%

Schools Support 1,485             (837)          648             634              (14)                   -2.2%

School Modernisation 3,914             (214)          3,700          3,828           128                   3.5%

Vulnerable Groups Support 709                (96)            613             603              (10)                   -1.6%

Other Eduction and Family Support 1,976             (110)          1,866          1,839           (27)                   -1.4%

TOTAL EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT 166,032         (33,714)     132,318      132,725       407                   0.3%

SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING

Adult Social Care 77,482           (21,743)     55,739        56,902         1,163                2.1%

Prevention and Wellbeing 6,129             (830)          5,299          5,152           (147)                 -2.8%

Childrens Social Care 22,150           (1,166)       20,984        21,516         532                   2.5%

TOTAL SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 105,761         (23,739)     82,022        83,570         1,548                1.9%

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE

Planning & Development Services 2,236             (1,645)       591             584              (7)                     -1.2%

Strategic Regeneration 2,922             (1,259)       1,663          1,663            -                  0.0%

Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability 6,351             (4,738)       1,613          1,568           (45)                   -2.8%

Cleaner Streets and Waste Management 12,871           (1,502)       11,369        11,079         (290)                 -2.6%

Highways and Green Spaces 22,866           (11,894)     10,972        10,679         (293)                 -2.7%

Director and Head of Operations - Communities 274                 -           274             274               -                  0.0%

Corporate Landlord 13,890           (11,065)     2,825          3,001           176                   6.2%

TOTAL COMMUNITIES 61,410           (32,103)     29,307        28,848         (459)                 -1.6%

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

Chief Executive Unit 470                 -           470             478              8                       1.7%

Finance 46,835           (42,994)     3,841          3,795           (46)                   -1.2%

HR/OD 2,400             (398)          2,002          1,982           (20)                   -1.0%

Partnerships 3,270             (1,227)       2,043          2,047           4                       0.2%

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 6,309             (950)          5,359          5,485           126                   2.4%

Elections 155                (49)            106             143              37                     34.9%

ICT 5,168             (1,288)       3,880          4,037           157                   4.0%

Housing & Homelessness 11,233           (7,858)       3,375          2,534           (841)                 -24.9%

Business Support 1,424             (111)          1,313          1,281           (32)                   -2.4%

 TOTAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 77,264           (54,875)     22,389        21,782         (607)                 -2.7%

 TOTAL DIRECTORATE BUDGETS 410,467         (144,431)   266,036      266,925       889                   0.3%

Council Wide Budgets 54,448           (970)          53,478        51,844         (1,634)              -3.1%

 NET BRIDGEND CBC          464,915    (145,401)       319,514        318,769                   (745) -0.2%

NB: Differences due to rounding of £000's

APPENDIX 3

Budget 2022-23

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

    
REPORT TO CABINET 

 
19 JULY 2022 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE 
 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME OUTTURN 2021-22 AND QUARTER 1 UPDATE 2022-23 
 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to:- 

 comply with the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) ‘The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities’ (2021 edition) 

 provide details of the capital outturn for 2021-22 (Appendix A) 

 provide an update of the capital position for 2022-23 as at 30 June 2022 
(Appendix B) 

 seek agreement from Cabinet to present a report to Council for approval 
for a revised capital programme for 2022-23 to 2031-32 (Appendix C) 

 note the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2021-22 and 2022-
23 (Appendix D) 

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate 

priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   

 
1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make 

the county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, 
study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the 
skills, qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 

 
3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, 

physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and 
efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the 
community that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



 
2.2 Capital investment in the Council’s assets is a key factor in meeting the 

Council’s well-being objectives as set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

 
3. Background  
 
3.1 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 

2003 as amended, contain detailed provisions for the capital finance and 
accounting controls, including the rules on the use of capital receipts and what 
is to be treated as capital expenditure. They modify accounting practice in 
various ways to prevent adverse impacts on authorities’ revenue resources. 

 
3.2      As well as the legislation, the Council manages its Treasury Management and 

Capital activities in accordance with the following associated guidance:- 
 

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice  
 CIPFA’s The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  
 Welsh Government (WG) revised Guidance on Local Authority Investments 

 
3.3 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires Local 

Authorities to have in place a Capital Strategy which demonstrates that the 
Authority takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service 
objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, 
prudence, sustainability and affordability. To demonstrate that the Council has 
fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets out a number of Indicators 
that must be set and monitored each year. The Council’s Capital Strategy, 
incorporating the Prudential Indicators for 2022-23, was approved by Council 
on 23 February 2022. 

3.4 On 24 February 2021 Council approved a capital budget of £62.363 million for 
2021-22 as part of a capital programme covering the period 2021-22 to 2030-
31 and Council received regular updates and approved revisions through the 
year. Although Council approved new schemes for the 2022-23 capital 
programme in June 2022, the capital programme for 2021-22 was last updated 
and approved by Council on 23 February 2022. This report provides an update 
on the following: 

• Capital Programme outturn 2021-22 
• Capital Programme monitoring quarter 1 2022-23 
• A revised Capital Programme for 2022-23 to 2031-32 
• Capital Strategy monitoring 
• Prudential and other indicators 

 
4. Current situation/proposal 

 
4.1 Capital Programme Outturn Position 2021-22 
 

4.1.1 This section of the report provides Members with an update on the Council’s 
capital programme for 2021-22. The original budget approved by Council on 24 

Page 46



February 2021 has been revised and approved by Council during the year to 
incorporate budgets brought forward from 2020-21 and any new schemes and 
grant approvals. The  programme for 2021-22, approved by Council in February 
2022, totalled £50.082 million, of which £28.800 million is met from Bridgend 
County Borough Council (BCBC) resources, including capital receipts, revenue 
contributions from earmarked reserves and borrowing, with the remaining 
£21.282 million coming from external resources. 

 
4.1.2 Appendix A provides details of the individual schemes within the capital      

programme, showing the budget available in 2021-22 compared to the actual 
spend. Since the last report presented to Council in June 2022  there have been 
a few minor amendments to the 2021-22 Programme. The main changes are: 
 

 new approvals of £2.306 million mainly as a result of new grant 
schemes from Welsh Government (WG) – these include £1.162 
million for Free Schools Meals Capital, £0.250 million Transforming 
Towns for Maesteg Town Hall, £0.159 million Transforming Towns 
for Urban Centre Property Enhancement and £0.163 million 
Integrated Care Funding (ICF) for the Children’s Residential Hub. 
There has also been a £0.441 million revenue contribution to capital 
to fund the installation of upgraded ICT infrastructure in schools.  

 £0.046 million funding brought back from 2022-23 to reflect updated 
spend profiles. 

 

WG awarded the Council with £2.880 million grant towards Band B Land 
Purchase which, whilst not changing the total cost of the scheme, the funding 
profile has been changed to reflect this additional funding. 

           This brings the revised budget for 2021-22 to £52.434 million. 

4.1.3 Total expenditure as at 31 March 2022 was £29.741 million which, after 
slippage of £21.252 million into 2022-23 and adjustments to grant funded 
schemes of £1.395 million, results in a total under spend of £0.046 million, 
which will be returned to Council funding.  During the year a number of schemes 
have commenced but not been completed or have been moved wholly into 
2022-23.  These include the Children’s Residential Accommodation Hub, Cosy 
Corner, Bridgend’s capital contribution to City Deal, and Bridgend Heat 
Scheme.  Slippage has arisen as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and also 
due to a number of other reasons, including delays in starting projects due to 
the need to undertake more detailed survey works, supply chain issues and 
ongoing discussions with funding bodies and other general programme delays.   

 
4.1.4 Slippage forecast to be spent in 2022-23 of £21.252 million is required, the main 

schemes being; 

 £2.260 million Llynfi Loan. The works were unable to be tendered 
until September 2021 following which only one tender was returned 
and this was substantially greater than envisaged and beyond that 
previously agreed by Welsh Government. A request for an extension 

Page 47



of time to allow for the retender and delivery of the works was 
therefore submitted to Welsh Government with ministerial approval 
being obtained in March 2022. Following the necessary subsequent 
revision to the engineering scope of works and to the works 
specification in order to reflect recent changes in legislation and 
ensure compliance, the works were retendered in May 2022. Welsh 
Government grants panel has now approved the revised project 
costs pending ministerial approval. 

 
 £2.092 million School Capital Maintenance. Following the Council 

being awarded a School Capital Maintenance grant of £2.436 million 
in quarter 3, there have been a number of underspends due to 
internal and external resource availability, which have meant that the 
grant has been used to fund various other schemes in the capital 
programme, as allowed in the grant terms and conditions, and the 
retrospective earmarked reserve and capital receipts funding 
displaced and slipped for use in 2022-23.  
  

 £2.028 million Land Purchase Band B. The land transactions in 
relation to the proposed new English-medium school to serve the 
traditional catchment areas of Corneli and Afon Y Felin Primary 
Schools, the replacement Ysgol y Ferch o’r Sger and the 
replacement Heronsbridge School have not yet completed.  All are 
progressing well.  Currently the agreements are in the form of Option 
Agreements which are likely to delay the timing of the capital required 
to complete the purchases.  This approach firmly aligns the 
acquisitions to the consultation processes attributed to these 
proposed school developments and reduces the financial risk profile 
considerably.  We anticipate £0.678 million to be spent during 2022-
23 with the remainder £1.350 million to be fully utilised in 2023-24. 
 

 £1.677 million of funding for minor capital works has slipped due to 
delays in completing a number of schemes. 

 
 £0.998 million Maesteg Town Hall. The scheme has slipped mainly 

due to the active realisation of the impact Covid-19 is having in the 
supply of materials and workforce. This has meant that lead in times 
for materials has been longer than anticipated and there is a 
reduction in available workforce.  
 

 £0.797 million Welsh Medium Childcare provision at Ogmore. The 
scheme has slipped as a result of a retender necessitated by the 
demise of WRW Construction Limited (who had been the appointed 
contractor for the scheme). 

 
 £0.553 million Economic Stimulus. A significant amount of resource 

was made available from Welsh Government to support the local 
economy as a result of the pandemic.  This resource, and the 
requirement to deliver it efficiently to the business community, has 
meant that the funding can be rolled forward to 2022-23 to support 

Page 48



the economy as it looks to develop resilience following the pandemic 
and grow in future years. 

 
 £0.484 million Welsh Medium Childcare provision at Bettws. The 

scheme was delayed due to additional drainage investigations and 
supply chain issues. 

 
 

4.2 Capital Programme Quarter 1 Update 2022-23  
 
4.2.1 This section of the report provides Members with an update on the Council’s 

capital programme for 2022-23 since the budget was last approved by Council 
and incorporates any new schemes and grant approvals. The revised 
programme for 2022-23 currently totals £98.134 million, of which £59.148 
million is met from Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) resources, 
including capital receipts, revenue contributions from earmarked reserves and 
borrowing, with the remaining £38.986 million coming from external resources, 
including General Capital Grant. Table 1 below shows the capital programme 
for each Directorate from the June 2022 approved Council position to quarter 
1: 
 

 
Table 1 – Capital Programme per Directorate 2022-23 
 

Directorate 
Approved 
Council  

Slippage 
Brought 
forward 

from 
2021-
22** 

New 
Approvals  

 
 
 

Virements 

Slippage 
to future 

years 

Revised 
Budget 
2022-23 

June 2022  

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £'000 £'000 

Education & 
Family Support 

11,335 7,386 383 
 
- (1,350) 17,754 

Social Services 
and Well-being 

2,857 831 98 
 

123 - 3,909 

Communities 54,858 9,910 5,125 
 
- - 69.893 

Chief Executive’s  2,720 2,402 530 
 

(123) - 5,529 

Council Wide 
 

372 677 - 
 
- 

- 1,049 

Total 72,142* 21,206 6,136 - (1,350) 98,134 
* Includes £0.184 million approved via delegated power subsequent to June Council 
** £21.252 million from 2021-22 net of £0.046 million brought forward from 2022-23  
 

4.2.2 Table 2 below summarises the current funding assumptions for the capital 
programme for 2022-23. The capital resources are managed to ensure that 
maximum financial benefit for the Council is achieved. This may include the 
realignment of funding to maximise government grants. 

  
 

Page 49



Table 2 – Capital Programme 2022-23 Resources 
 
 

CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 

£’000 
 

BCBC Resources:  

Capital Receipts 20,084 

Earmarked Reserves 21,376 
Unsupported Borrowing 7,774 

Supported Borrowing 3,953 
Other Loans 4,306 

Revenue Contribution 1,655 

Total BCBC Resources 59,148 
External Resources:  
WG General Capital 
Funding 

8,282 

Grants 30,704 

Total External Resources 38,986 
TOTAL RESOURCES 98,134 

     
 
4.2.3 Appendix B provides details of the individual schemes within the capital 

programme,  showing the budget available in 2022-23 compared to the 
projected spend at 30 June 2022. 

 
4.2.4 There are a number of amendments to the capital programme for 2022-23, such 

as new and amended schemes, since the capital programme was last approved 
including: 

 
 Levelling Up Fund - £4.500 million 

 
On 14 June 2022 Cabinet approved the request to submit two bids to the 
Levelling up Fund (LUF), part of the UK Government’s new levelling up and 
community investment suite of programmes. The two bids are for the 
redevelopment of Porthcawl Grand Pavilion and the replacement of Penprysg 
Railway Bridge. The Grand Pavilion bid is principally to address the issues of 
risk to the building fabric that exist in the condition of the structure, but also, to 
invest in a redevelopment of the building to accommodate extended and 
improved arts, hospitality and workshop spaces. With regard to Penprysg 
Railway Bridge, the bridge will be replaced and a new fully accessible active 
travel bridge will be provided at the level crossing. 

 
These are two large scale priority projects for the authority and it is 
acknowledged that the delivery of these projects will require significant financial 
and grant investment. The LUF requires a 10% match funding contribution for 
the projects. The cost and split of grant and match funding for the two schemes 
is as follows: 

Page 50



 

 
The match funding requirement for the two projects is £4,499,800, for which 
funding has been set aside in earmarked reserves, and demonstration of a 
commitment to match fund the schemes is a requirement of the funding bids. 
 
These projects have not yet been tendered, and it is only at this point that 
confirmation of total project costs and a detailed financial breakdown can be 
confirmed. It is anticipated that a decision on the application will be made in late 
Autumn 2022, so no capital funding will be spent in advance of an approval. 
The grant will only be included in the capital programme should the bids be 
approved. If they aren’t, the associated match funding will be removed from the 
programme. Only once approval for the grant contribution has been given will 
any spend on the schemes be permitted. The Council will seek to secure match 
funding towards these schemes where possible, and where opportunities arise, 
to replace the Council’s contribution.  

 
 Sustainable Communities for Learning Band B - £15.461 million  

The second wave of Welsh Government’s (WG) 21st Century Schools 
programme (recently renamed Sustainable Communities for Learning) began 
in April 2019. At that time WG produced a set of costs and size standards to 
support schemes. The WG grant intervention rates for capital schemes is 65% 
for mainstream schools, 75% for special schools and the capital costs 
associated with the revenue funded schemes (that is, Mutual Investment 
Model) funded at 65%. The remaining balances are funded by local authorities 
which will include any additional provision that is required over and above the 
size standards (for example, part-time nursery places). 
 
The 2019 cost standard rates have been fixed since that time. However, 
following Brexit and the COVID-19 pandemic, the industry has seen a 
significant increase in construction costs. WG has responded to this increase 
accordingly and has produced a set of revised cost standard rates. The revised 
rates have been applied to the local authority’s Band B schemes, which has 
resulted in the need for an increased capital contribution in order to deliver the 
planned programme. 
 
In addition, schemes will be required to demonstrate delivery of Net Zero 
Carbon in operation plus a 20% reduction on the amount of embodied carbon 
(that is, the carbon emitted through construction materials and the construction 
process). WG has advised that 100% of the additional costs to meet this 
commitment under this current wave of investment will be fully funded. 

Scheme Timescale 
Levelling Up 

Funding 
(90%) 

BCBC Match 
Funding 

(10%) 

Total Cost 
 

  £ £ £ 
Porthcawl Pavilion 2022-2025 17,998,200 1,999,800 19,998,000 
Penprysg Railway 
Bridge 

2022-2026 
22,500,000 2,500,000 25,000,000 

Total  40,498,200 4,499,800 44,998,000 
 

Page 51



However, the additional costs required to deliver on local policy (for example, 
part-time nursery places) will need to be met by the local authority. 
 
On 30 May 2022, WG confirmed the funding process in terms of the Mutual 
Investment Model Stage 1 capital design fees for the Bridgend West Primary 
Schools scheme. BCBC is required to contribute 35% of the cost of the stage 
1 design fees, in addition to its one-off contributions to ICT and fixed furniture 
and equipment. Welsh Government will fund the remaining 65%. For Bridgend 
the design fees contribution is an additional £0.172 million, out of a total fee of 
£0.491 million, which is now built into the overall capital cost.    
 
The revised capital budget for the programme is now £64.966 million, compared 
to £49.505 million previously. The increase in Welsh Government grant funding 
is £12.080 million, and approval is sought to increase the Council’s capital 
contribution to the above programme by £3.381 million, for which funding has 
been set aside in earmarked reserves. 
 
Active Travel Fund - £4.242 million 
WG has awarded the Council with £4.242 million funding in relation to the Active 
Travel fund.  The purpose of the Active Travel Fund is to increase levels of 
active travel, improve health and well-being, improve air quality, reduce carbon 
emissions, connect communities and improve active travel access to 
employment, education and key services, destinations and public transport. It 
will include an allocation for Pyle to Porthcawl (Phase1) and Bridgend to 
Pencoed (Phase 3), as well as various other smaller schemes.  
 
Community Focused Schools - £0.930 million 
WG has awarded the Council with £0.930 million funding to be used to safely 
adapt and effectively open schools outside traditional hours through a number 
of targeted small and medium scale capital investments, thus enabling 
community use of existing facilities. 
 
Homelessness and Housing £0.530 million 
To respond to increasing housing and homelessness cases it is proposed that 
the Council provides funding to Valleys to Coast (V2C) to support a 
refurbishment programme which will bring back into use 35 long term empty 
properties, or ‘voids’, which require significant investment.  V2C has secured 
£2.1 million of grant funding from Welsh Government to undertake these works 
and the Council will provide match funding of £530,000, funded from a revenue 
contribution from existing housing budgets. V2C has confirmed that the 
properties will be available to the Council for nomination rights and to support 
those individuals and families in temporary accommodation.  The properties will 
be refurbished to meet the Welsh Housing Quality Standards with increased 
energy efficiency and, in some cases, will be extended and adapted to meet 
identified housing needs. The Council has received independent legal advice 
on this arrangement which has confirmed that this action is compliant with the 
Services of Public Economic Interest (SPEI) requirements. The appropriate 
legal agreements will be put in place before funding is released. 

 
 

Page 52



20mph Default Speed - £0.580 million 
WG has awarded the Council with £0.580 million of funding to be used to 
support the roll out of a 20mph default speed limit on restricted roads across 
Wales. 

 
Coychurch Crematorium Works- £0.096 million 
The current capital budget for planned works is £0.569 million but an additional 
£0.096 million is required to meet the planned capital maintenance spending 
requirements as agreed by the Crematorium Joint Committee in their meeting 
on 4 March 2022. This will be funded by a revenue contribution from the 
crematorium budget.  
 
Brilliant Basics - £0.065 million 
WG has awarded the Council with £0.052 million of funding to enable the 
completion of the Porthcawl Cycle Scheme and for the Installation of Smart 
recycle bins. An additional £0.013 match funding is also required which will be 
met from within existing Strategic Regeneration Fund (SRF) revenue budgets. 

 
Fleet - £0.042 million 
To enable the purchase of one minibus for Coleg Cymunedol Y Dderwen 
(CCYD), funding of £0.042 million has been included in the capital programme 
in 2022-23, to be funded from a revenue contribution from the school budget.  

 
 

4.2.5 A revised Capital Programme is included as Appendix C. 
 
4.3 Prudential and Other Indicators 2022-23 Monitoring 
 
4.3.1 In February 2022, Council approved the Capital Strategy for 2022-23, which 

included the Prudential Indicators 2022-23 to 2024-25 together with some local 
indicators. 

  
4.3.2 The Capital Strategy is intended to give an overview of how capital expenditure, 

capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision 
of services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 
implications for future sustainability. To this end, a number of prudential 
indicators were included, and approved by Council. In line with the 
requirements of the Prudential Code, the Chief Finance Officer is required to 
establish procedures to monitor both performance against all forward-looking 
prudential indicators and the requirement specified. 

 
4.3.3 Appendix D details the actual indicators for 2021-22, the estimated indicators 

for 2022-23 set out in the Council’s Capital Strategy and the projected indicators 
for 2022-23 based on the revised Capital Programme. These show that the 
Council is operating in line with the approved limits. 

 
4.4 Capital Strategy Monitoring 
 
4.4.1 The Capital Strategy also requires the monitoring of non-treasury management 

investments and other long term liabilities. The Council does have an existing 

Page 53



investment portfolio which is 100% based within the County Borough and 
primarily the office and industrial sectors. The income streams are generally 
spread between the single and multi-let office investments on Bridgend Science 
Park, the multi-let industrial estates and the freehold ground rent investments. 
The total value of Investment Properties was £5.585 million at 31 March 2022. 

 
4.4.2 The Council has a number of Other Long Term Liabilities which are included 

within the Capital Strategy, the most significant being the Maesteg School 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI).  The Council has a PFI arrangement for the 
provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg.  This forms a long-term liability for 
the Council which is £13.902 million at 31 March 2022. This is a 25 year 
agreement which will end during the 2033-34 financial year.  Other long term 
liabilities totalling £0.227 million include lease arrangements for the Innovation 
Centre and the Council’s Waste Contract.  

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 As required by Financial Procedure Rule 3.5.3 within the Council’s Constitution, 

“The Chief Finance Officer shall report quarterly to Cabinet an update on the 
Capital Strategy and the Prudential Indicators.” 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered 
in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must 
consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. Projects within the capital 
programme will be subject to the preparation of Equality Impact Assessments 
before proceeding.  It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 
7.  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1       The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this 
report. Specifically the development of a 10 year capital programme, which 
reflects the Council’s affordability in terms of capital receipts and borrowing, 
supports the principle of sustainability over the long term. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 The financial implications are outlined in the body of the report. 

9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

 notes the capital outturn for 2021-22 (Appendix A) 

Page 54



 notes the Council’s Capital Programme 2022-23 Quarter 1 update to 
30 June 2022 (Appendix B) 

 agree that the revised Capital Programme (Appendix C) be submitted 
to Council for approval 

 notes the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2021-22 and 
2022-23 (Appendix D) 
 

 
 
Carys Lord 
Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change  
July 2022 
 
Contact Officer:   Eilish Thomas 

Finance Manager Financial Control, Closing and 
Systems 

 
Telephone:    01656 643359 
 
E-mail:    eilish.thomas@bridgend.gov.uk  
 
Postal Address:   Bridgend County Borough Council 
     Chief Executive’s - Finance 
     Raven’s Court 

Brewery Lane 
     Bridgend 
     CF31 4AP 
 
Background documents:   None 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Bridgend County Borough Council APPENDIX A

CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT Outurn Report

Budget 21-22 
(Council Feb 

22)

New Approvals Virement Slippage From 
2022-23

Revised Budget 
2021-22

Total Exp    
2021-22

Over / (Under) 
spend

Slippage to 
2022-23

Impact on 
Grant Funded 

Schemes

Impact on 
BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Family Support
21ST CENTURY SCHOOLS BAND B   100                   100                             -                  (100)                 100                    -                  
YSGOL BRYN CASTELL 92                     61                     153                            62                     (91)                   91                      -                  
LITCHARD PRIMARY SOLAR PANELS 43                     43                              39                     (4)                      -                  (4)                     
MYNYDD CYNFFIG PRIMARY SCHOOL 98                     98                              19                     (79)                   79                      -                  
BRYNMENYN PRIMARY 44                     44                               -                  (44)                   44                      -                  
LAND PURCHASE BAND B SCHOOLS 4,910                4,910                         2,882                (2,028)              2,028                 -                  
GATEWAY TO THE VALLEYS SECONDARY SCHOOL 135                   78                     213                            103                   (110)                 110                    -                  
GARW VALLEY PRIMARY PROVISION 139                   139                             -                  (139)                 139                    -                  
PENCOED PRIMARY SCHOOL 54                     54                              1                       (53)                   53                      -                  
GARW VALLEY PRIMARY HIGHWAYS 30                     30                               -                  (30)                   30                      -                  
PENCOED PRY SCH HIGHWAYS WORKS 56                     56                               -                  (56)                   56                      -                  
BRYNMENYN SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORK 12                     12                               -                  (12)                   12                      -                  
CCYD CLASSROOMS 30                     30                              28                     (2)                      -                  (2)                     
ABERCERDIN PRIMARY HUB 300                   300                            13                     (287)                 287                    -                  
YGG BRO OGWR  -                  3                       3                                3                        -                  
CROESTY PRIMARY SCHOOL 15                     (3)                     12                              2                       (10)                   (10)                   
CYNFFIG COMP CANOPY 42                     42                              42                      -                  
MINOR WORKS 36                     36                              16                     (20)                   20                     
HERONSBRIDGE SCHOOL 40                     40                              36                     (4)                     4                       
MAES YR HAUL SOLAR PANELS 32                     32                              29                     (3)                      -                  (3)                     
SCHOOLS TRAFFIC SAFETY 208                   127                   335                            127                   (208)                 208                   
SCHOOLS MODERNISATION 60                     60                              7                       (53)                   53                     
EDUCATION S106 SCHEMES 169                   169                             -                  (169)                 169                   
SCHOOLS CAPITAL MAINTENANCE GRANT 2,119                896                   3,015                         923                   (2,092)              2,092                
WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - BETTWS 697                   697                            213                   (484)                 484                   
WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - BRIDGEND 53                     53                               -                  (53)                   53                     
WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - OGMORE 857                   857                            60                     (797)                 797                   
WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - PORTHCAWL 53                     53                               -                  (53)                   53                     
ICT - SCHOOL EQUIPMENT 40                     40                              40                      -                  
WELSH MEDIUM - HIGHWAYS 100                   100                             -                  (100)                 100                   
BRYNTEG COMPREHENSIVE ALL WEATHER PITCH 324                   324                             -                  (324)                 324                   

TOTAL Education & Family Support 10,888              1,162                 -                   -                  12,050                       4,645                (7,405)              7,386                 -                  (19)                   

Social Services and Wellbeing
BRIDGEND RECREATION 150                   150                            150                    -                   -                   -                  
ACCESSIBILITY WORKS HALO/AWEN 150                   150                            139                   (11)                   11                     
COMMUNITY CENTRES 280                   280                            54                     (226)                 226                   
BRYNGARW PARK - ACCESS 49                     49                              26                     (23)                   23                      -                  
BRYN Y CAE-UPGRADE HFE'S 40                     40                               -                  (40)                   40                      -                  
TY CWM OGWR 340                   340                            9                       (331)                 331                   
VARIOUS MINOR WORKS 163                   163                            28                     (135)                 135                    -                  
TREM Y MOR - ACCOMODATION 175                   175                            171                   (4)                     4                        -                  
BAKERS WAY MINOR WORKS 10                     10                               -                  (10)                   10                      -                  
GLAN YR AFON CARE HOME 51                     51                               -                  (51)                   51                      -                  
CHILDRENS RESIDENTIAL HUB 114                   40                     154                            154                    -                   -                  
HARTSHORN HOUSE REFURB 68                     68                              68                      -                   -                   -                  

TOTAL Social Services & Wellbeing 1,590                40                      -                   -                  1,630                         799                   (831)                 831                    -                   -                  

P
age 57



Budget 21-22 
(Council Feb 

22)

New Approvals Virement Slippage From 
2022-23

Revised Budget 
2021-22

Total Exp    
2021-22

Over / (Under) 
spend

Slippage to 
2022-23

Impact on 
Grant Funded 

Schemes

Impact on 
BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Communities
Street Scene

COMMUNITY PLAY AREAS 100                   100                            10                     (90)                   90                     
PARKS/PAVILIONS/COMMUNITY CENTRES CAT 580                   580                            267                   (313)                 313                    -                  
ABERFIELDS PLAYFIELDS 11                     11                               -                  (11)                   11                      -                  
PORTHCAWL TOWN SEA DEFENCE 27                     27                               -                  (27)                    -                  (27)                   
COYCHURCH CREMATORIUM WORKS 350                   350                            246                   (104)                 104                    -                  
ACCESSIBILITY & ROAD SAFETY 148                   98                     246                            246                    -                  
CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT CAR 8                       8                                 -                  (8)                     8                        -                  
ULTRA LOW EMISSIONS VEHICLES TRANSFORMATION FUND 462                   462                            119                   (343)                 343                   
TRAFFIC SIGNAL REPLACEMENT 250                   250                             -                  (250)                 250                   
FLEET TRANSITION-ULTRA LOW EMISSIONS VEHICLES 300                   300                             -                  (300)                 300                   
TONDU WASTE DEPOT UPGRADE FIRE SAFETY 140                   140                             -                  (140)                 140                   
RESILIENT ROADS FUND 475                   475                            475                    -                  
ROAD SAFETY SCHEMES 200                   15                     12                     227                            227                    -                   -                  
PYLE TO PORTHCAWL ATR PHASE 1 348                   (98)                   250                            29                     (221)                 (221)                 
PENCOED TECH PARK ACT TRAVEL 1,841                1,841                         1,734                (107)                  -                  (107)                  -                  
HIGHWAYS STRUCTURAL WORKS 425                   7                       432                            432                    -                   -                   -                  
CARRIAGEWAY CAPITAL WORKS 255                   255                            255                    -                   -                   -                  
ROAD SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS 339                   339                            321                   (18)                    -                  (18)                    -                  
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 181                   38                     219                            167                   (52)                   52                      -                  
HIGHWAYS MAINTENANCE GRANT 810                   810                            810                    -                   -                   -                  
CARRIAGEWAY & FOOTWAYS RENEWAL 1,560                20                     1,580                         1,580                 -                   -                   -                  
REPLACEMENT OF STREET LIGHTING 388                   388                            372                   (16)                   16                      -                  
BRIDGE STRENGTHENING A4061 51                     51                              27                     (24)                   24                      -                  
COMMUNITIES MINOR WORKS 461                   461                            70                     (391)                 391                    -                  
RIVER PROTECTION MEASURES 80                     10                     90                              90                      -                   -                   -                  
PYLE PARK AND RIDE METRO 180                   180                            108                   (72)                    -                  (72)                    -                  
PENPRYSG ROAD BRIDGE 150                   150                            85                     (65)                   (65)                    -                  
SAFE ROUTES - COITY HIGHER 224                   224                            175                   (49)                    -                  (49)                    -                  
RESIDENTS PARKING BRIDGEND TC 28                     28                              4                       (24)                   24                      -                  
FLEET VEHICLES  -                  34                     34                              34                      -                   -                  
RELOCATE RECYCLING CENTRE 798                   8                       806                            806                    -                   -                  
AHP WASTE 207                   207                            183                   (24)                   24                      -                  
HEOL MOSTYN JUNCTION 540                   540                            371                   (169)                 169                    -                  
CORNELLY CEMETERY EXT 66                     66                              22                     (44)                   44                      -                  
PORTHCAWL CEMETERY EXT 19                     19                              16                     (3)                     3                        -                  
STREET LIGHTING ENERGY SALIX 629                   629                            370                   (259)                  -                  (259)                  -                  
S106 HIGHWAYS SMALL SCHEMES 60                     60                              15                     (45)                   45                      -                  

TOTAL Streetscene 12,691              98                      -                  46                     12,835                       9,666                (3,169)              2,351                (791)                 (27)                   

Regeneration & Development
BRIDGEND BUSSINESS SUPPORT NETWORK 135                   7                       142                            142                    -                   -                  
PORTHCAWL RESORT INVESTMENT FOCUS 70                     (8)                     62                              41                     (21)                   (21)                    -                  
COSY CORNER (PRIF) 150                   150                            124                   (26)                   26                     
EU CONVERGANCE SRF BUDGET 455                   (19)                   436                             -                  (436)                 436                    -                  
VRP - BRYNGARW PARK 164                   164                            164                    -                   -                   -                  
VRP - PARK SLIP 75                     75                              55                     (20)                    -                  (20)                    -                  
URBAN CENTRE PROPERTY ENHANCE 687                   159                   846                            846                    -                   -                  
PORTHCAWL REGENERATION PROJECT 100                   100                            6                       (94)                   94                      -                  
BERWYN CENTRE AND OGMORE VALE 183                   183                            133                   (50)                    -                  (50)                    -                  
COVID RECOVERY TOWN CENTRES 334                   334                            81                     (253)                  -                  (253)                  -                  
COMMERCIAL PROPERTY ENHANCEMENT FUND 60                     60                              16                     (44)                   44                      -                  
BRIDGEND COLLEGE RELOCATION 650                   20                     670                            670                    -                  
ECONIMIC STIMULUS GRANT (WG) 831                   831                            278                   (553)                 553                    -                  
COASTAL RISK MANAGEMENT P'CAWL 4,309                4,309                         3,931                (378)                 378                    -                  
LLYNFI DEVELOPMENT SITE 2,260                2,260                          -                  (2,260)              2,260                 -                  

P
age 58



Budget 21-22 
(Council Feb 

22)

New Approvals Virement Slippage From 
2022-23

Revised Budget 
2021-22

Total Exp    
2021-22

Over / (Under) 
spend

Slippage to 
2022-23

Impact on 
Grant Funded 

Schemes

Impact on 
BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
BRIDGEND HEAT SCHEME 390                   390                            40                     (350)                 350                    -                  
MAESTEG TOWN HALL CULTURAL HUB 2,695                250                   2,945                         1,947                (998)                 998                    -                  
TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FUND 74                     74                              32                     (42)                   42                      -                  
PORTHCAWL THI 15                     6                       21                              16                     (5)                     5                       

TOTAL Regeneration & Development 13,637              415                    -                   -                  14,052                       8,522                (5,530)              5,186                (344)                  -                  

Corporate Landlord
CORPORATE LANDLORD ENERGY EFFICIENCY SAVINGS 1,279                1,279                         889                   (390)                 390                    -                  
ENTERPRISE HUB INNOVATION CENTRE 100                   100                            47                     (53)                   53                      -                  
RAVENS COURT 447                   447                             -                  (447)                 447                    -                  
BRIDGEND MARKET 10                     10                              10                      -                   -                  
DDA WORKS 408                   408                            373                   (35)                   35                      -                  
MINOR WORKS 295                   295                            25                     (270)                 270                    -                  
FIRE PRECAUTIONS MINOR WORKS 249                   249                            125                   (124)                 124                    -                  
BRYNCETHIN DEPOT FACILITIES 531                   531                            64                     (467)                 467                    -                  
NON OPERATIONAL ASSETS 480                   480                             -                  (480)                 480                    -                  
EVERGREEN HALL 130                   130                            24                     (106)                 106                    -                  
INVESTING IN COMMUNITIES 47                     47                               -                  (47)                   47                      -                  

Total Corporate Landlord 3,976                 -                   -                   -                  3,976                         1,557                (2,419)              2,419                 -                   -                  

TOTAL Communities 30,304              513                    -                  46                     30,863                       19,745              (11,118)            9,956                (1,135)              (27)                   

Chief Executive
CORPORATE CAPITAL FUND 173                   173                             -                  (173)                 173                    -                  

TOTAL Corporate Capital Fund 173                    -                   -                   -                  173                             -                  (173)                 173                    -                  

 -                  
MANDATORY DFG RELATED EXPENDITURE 1,992                123                   (112)                 2,003                         1,680                (323)                 323                    -                  
TARGET HARDENING GRANTS 19                     10                     29                              29                      -                   -                  

HOUSING RENEWAL AREA 118                   118                             -                  (118)                 118                    -                  
EMPTY HOMES GRANTS-GRANTS ONLY 300                   300                             -                  (300)                 300                    -                  
COMFORT SAFE & SECURITY GRANTS 4                       4                       8                                8                        -                   -                  
WESTERN VALLEY EMPTY HOMES 260                   260                             -                  (260)                  -                  (260)                  -                  
DISCRETIONARY HOUSING GRANTS 200                   200                             -                  (200)                 200                   
EMERGENCY REPAIR LIFETIME GRANT 78                     98                     176                            176                    -                   -                  
ENABLE-SUPPORT FOR INDEPENDENT LIVING GRANT 198                   27                     225                            225                    -                   -                  
HEALTH & WELLBEING VILLAGE 480                   480                             -                  (480)                 480                   

TOTAL Housing/Homelessness 3,649                150                    -                   -                  3,799                         2,118                (1,681)              1,421                (260)                  -                  

ICT INFRASTRUCTURE SUPPORT 450                   450                            152                   (298)                 298                    -                  
CCTV SYSTEMS REPLACEMENT 667                   667                            240                   (427)                 427                   
HWB SCHOOLS IT 305                   441                   746                            690                   (56)                   56                     
WCCIS HARDWARE REFRESH 1,352                1,352                         1,352                 -                  
DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION 200                   200                             -                  (200)                 200                    -                  

TOTAL ICT 2,974                441                    -                   -                  3,415                         2,434                (981)                 981                    -                   -                  

UNALLOCATED 504                    -                   -                   -                  504                             -                  (504)                 504                    -                  
 -                  

TOTAL Chief Executive 7,300                591                    -                   -                  7,891                         4,552                (3,339)              3,079                (260)                  -                  

GRAND TOTAL 50,082           2,306              -                46                  52,434                    29,741           (22,693)          21,252           (1,395)            (46)                 

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Bridgend County Borough Council APPENDIX B

CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 1 TO 30 June 22

Budget 22-23 

(Council June 

22)

2021-22 

Slippage b/f

New Approvals 

and Adjustments 

Virement Slippage to 

Future Years

Revised Budget 2022-

23

Total Exp to 

date

Projected Spend Over / (Under) 

spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Family Support
HIGHWAYS SCHEMES BAND B 3,400                 -                    -                   3,400                           -                   3,400                      -                    -                   

21st CENTURY SCHOOLS BAND B 2,771                100                   (547)                       -                   2,324                           -                   2,324                      -                   

YSGOL BRYN CASTELL  -                   91                     (61)                    30                               9                       30                          

LLANGYNWYD WELSH COMP 50                      -                   50                                -                   50                          

BRYNMENYN PRIMARY 44                     44                                -                   44                          

LAND PURCHASE BAND B SCHOOLS 2,028                (1,350)               678                              -                   678                        

GATEWAY TO THE VALLEYS SEC SCH  -                   110                   (78)                    32                               (5)                      32                          

GARW VALLEY SOUTH PRY PROVIS.  -                   139                   139                             1                       139                        

PENCOED PRIMARY 53                     53                                -                   53                          

GARW VALLEY PRIMARY HIGHWAYS 30                     30                                -                   30                          

PENCOED PRY SCH HIGHWAYS WORKS 56                     56                                -                   56                          

ABERCERDIN PRIMARY HUB  -                   287                   287                             5                       287                        

BRYNTEG COMP ALL WEATHER PITCH 324                   324                              -                   324                        

BRYNMENYN SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORK 12                     12                                -                   12                          

MINOR WORKS 325                   20                      -                   345                             49                     345                         -                    -                   

SCHOOLS TRAFFIC SAFETY  -                   208                   (127)                  81                               7                       81                          

HERONSBRIDGE SCHOOL 280                   4                       284                             7                       284                        

SCHOOLS MODERNISATION 333                   53                      -                   386                              -                   386                         -                    -                   

PENCOED PRIMARY 52                     52                                -                   52                           -                    -                   

COETY PRIMARY 44                      -                   44                                -                   44                           -                    -                   

BRYNTIORION COMPREHENSIVE CLASSROOMS 650                   650                              -                   650                        

EDUCATION S106 SCHEMES 169                   169                              -                   169                        

MYNYDDCYNFFIGPRIMARYSCHOOL  -                   79                     79                               0                       79                          

CEFN CRIBWR PRIMARY ALN  -                    -                             (11)                     -                        

SCHOOLS CAPITAL MAINT GRANT 2,436                2,092                (896)                  3,632                          129                   3,632                      -                    -                   

WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - BETTWS  -                   484                   484                             101                   484                        

WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - BRIDGEND 497                   53                      -                   550                              -                   550                         -                    -                   

WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - OGMORE  -                   797                   797                             6                       797                        

WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - PORTHCAWL 497                   53                      -                   550                              -                   550                         -                    -                   

EAST HUB - BRYNTEG COMP  -                    -                    -                             0                        -                         -                    -                   

WELSH MEDIUM - HIGHWAYS 100                   100                              -                   100                        

FREE SCHOOL MEALS 1,162                1,162                           -                   1,162                     

COMMUNITY FOCUSED SCHOOLS  -                    -                   930                       930                              -                   930                        

TOTAL Learning 7,935                7,386                383                        -                   (1,350)               14,354                        301                   14,354                    -                    -                   

TOTAL Education & Family Support 11,335              7,386                383                        -                   (1,350)               17,754                        301                   17,754                    -                    -                   

Social Services and Wellbeing
BRYNGARW PARK - ACCESS  -                   23                     23                               (21)                    23                           -                    -                   

BRYN Y CAE-UPGRADE HFE'S 40                     40                                -                   40                          

P
age 61



Budget 22-23 

(Council June 

22)

2021-22 

Slippage b/f

New Approvals 

and Adjustments 

Virement Slippage to 

Future Years

Revised Budget 2022-

23

Total Exp to 

date

Projected Spend Over / (Under) 

spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

TREM Y MOR - ACCOMODATION  -                   4                       4                                 1                       4                             -                    -                   

TY CWM OGWR  -                   331                   331                             0                       331                         -                   

VARIOUS MINOR WORKS  -                   135                   135                             11                     135                         -                    -                   

BAKERS WAY MINOR WORKS 10                     10                                -                   10                          

GLAN YR AFON CARE HOME 51                     51                                -                   51                          

CHILDRENS RESIDENTIAL HUB 2,374                 -                   123                   2,497                          8                       2,497                      -                    -                   

TELECARE TRANSFORMATION 483                   483                              -                   483                        

ACCESSIBILITY WORKS HALO/AWEN 11                     11                                -                   11                          

COMMUNITY CENTRES  -                   226                   226                              -                   226                         -                   

PORTHCAWL GRAND PAVILLION  -                    -                   98                         98                                -                   98                          

TOTAL Social Services & Wellbeing 2,857                831                   98                         123                    -                   3,909                          (1)                      3,909                      -                    -                   

Communities

Street Scene

COMMUNITY PLAY AREAS 1,196                90                     1,286                           -                   1,286                      -                   

PARKS/PAVILIONS/OTHER CAT 500                   313                   813                             68                     813                         -                    -                   

ABERFIELDS PLAYFIELDS  -                   11                     11                                -                   11                          

CITY DEAL 3,138                 -                   3,138                           -                   3,138                      -                    -                   

COYCHURCH CREM WORKS 465                   104                   96                         665                              -                   665                         -                    -                   
ACCESSIBILITY & SAFETY ROAD  -                             (117)                   -                        
MINOR CROSSINGS  -                   392                       392                              -                   392                        

REMEDIAL MEASURES - CAR PARKS 135                    -                   135                              -                   135                         -                    -                   

CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT CAR 30                     8                       38                                -                   38                           -                    -                   

20 MPH DEFAULT SPEED 580                       580                              -                   580                        

ROAD SAFETY SCHEMES 136                   (12)                    124                             7                       124                         -                    -                   

PYLE TO PORTHCAWL  -                   387                       387                             2                       387                        

PENCOED TECH PARK ACT TRAVEL  -                   3,463                    3,463                          (63)                    3,463                      -                    -                   

HIGHWAYS STRUCTURAL WORKS 340                    -                   340                             (49)                    340                         -                    -                   

CARRIAGEWAY CAPITAL WORKS 250                    -                   250                             (8)                      250                         -                    -                   

HEOL MOSTYN JUNCTION  -                   169                   169                             (15)                    169                         -                   

PROW CAPITAL IMP STRUCTURES  -                   52                     52                               (12)                    52                           -                    -                   

HIGHWAYS MAINTENANCE GRANT 2,000                 -                   2,000                          (75)                    2,000                      -                    -                   

CARRIAGEWAY & FOOTWAYS RENEWAL 1,500                1,500                          (283)                  1,500                      -                    -                   

REPLACEMENT OF STREET LIGHTING 400                   16                     416                             24                     416                         -                    -                   

BRIDGE STRENGTHENING A4061  -                   24                     24                                -                   24                           -                    -                   

COMMUNITIES MINOR WORKS  -                   391                   391                              -                   391                         -                    -                   

ULEVT FUND  -                   343                   343                             5                       343                        

FLEET TRANSITION-ULEV  -                   300                   300                              -                   300                        

TRAFFIC SIGNAL REPLACEMENT  -                   250                   250                              -                   250                        

ULEV VEHICLES 320                    -                   320                              -                   320                        

PORTHCAWL BUS STATION CCRMETRO 1,900                 -                   1,900                           -                   1,900                     

PENPRYSG ROAD BRIDGE 735                    -                   735                             (12)                    735                         -                    -                   

RESIDENTS PARKING BRIDGEND TC 100                   24                     124                              -                   124                         -                    -                   

FLEET VEHICLES 1,376                (34)                    42                         1,384                          85                     1,384                      -                    -                   

AHP WASTE  -                   24                     24                               18                     24                           -                    -                   

P
age 62



Budget 22-23 

(Council June 

22)

2021-22 

Slippage b/f

New Approvals 

and Adjustments 

Virement Slippage to 

Future Years

Revised Budget 2022-

23

Total Exp to 

date

Projected Spend Over / (Under) 

spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

CORNELLY CEMETERY EXT 235                   44                     279                             4                       279                        
PORTHCAWL CEMETERY EXT 180                   3                       183                             1                       183                        
S106 HIGHWAYS SMALL SCHEMES  -                   45                     45                                -                   45                          

ROAD SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS 500                    -                   500                             (15)                    500                         -                    -                   

TONDU WASTE DEPOT UPGRADE FIRE  -                   140                   140                              -                   140                        

BRIDGEND TO BRACKLA ACT TRAVEL  -                    -                             (14)                     -                         -                    -                   

RIVER PROTECTION MEASURES  -                    -                             (49)                     -                         -                    -                   

PYLE PARK AND RIDE METRO  -                    -                    -                             2                        -                         -                    -                   

SAFE ROUTES - COITY HIGHER  -                    -                             (6)                       -                         -                    -                   

RELOCATE RECYCLING CENTRE  -                    -                    -                             (56)                     -                         -                    -                   

LEVELLING UP - PENPRYSG ROAD BRIDGE  -                    -                   100                       100                              -                   100                        

TOTAL Streetscene 15,436              2,305                5,060                     -                    -                   22,801                        (559)                  22,801                    -                    -                   

Regeneration & Development

EU CONVERGANCE SRF BUDGET  -                   436                   436                              -                   436                        

COSY CORNER (PRIF) 2,649                26                     2,675                          14                     2,675                      -                    -                   

PORTHCAWL REGENERATION PROJECT 3,398                94                     3,492                           -                   3,492                      -                    -                   

ECONOMIC STIMULUS GRANT  -                   553                   553                              -                   553                         -                    -                   

COASTAL RISK MANAGEMENT P'CAWL 2,150                378                   2,528                          593                   2,528                      -                    -                   

EWENNY ROAD INDUSTRIAL ESTATE 3,500                 -                   3,500                           -                   3,500                     

ARBED PHASE 1 CESP 3,505                 -                   3,505                           -                   3,505                     

LLYNFI DEVELOPMENT SITE 2,260                2,260                           -                   2,260                     

BRIDGEND HEAT SCHEME 3,000                350                   3,350                           -                   3,350                      -                    -                   

MAESTEG TOWN HALL CULTURAL HUB 2,976                998                   3,974                          337                   3,974                      -                    -                   

TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FUND 200                   42                     242                              -                   242                         -                    -                   

CAERAU HEAT SCHEME 5,904                 -                   5,904                           -                   5,904                      -                    -                   

PORTHCAWL THI 119                   5                       124                              -                   124                         -                    -                   

BRILLIANT BASICS  -                    -                   65                         65                                -                   65                          

COMM PROP ENHANCEMENT FUND 90                     44                     134                              -                   134                        

BRDGND BUS SUP NETWORK  -                    -                    -                             11                      -                        

TOTAL Regeneration & Development 27,491              5,186                65                          -                    -                   32,742                        954                   32,742                    -                    -                   

Corporate Landlord
CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT FUND 820                    -                   820                              -                   820                         -                    -                   

CORP LANDLORD ENERGY EFFIC SAV  -                   390                   390                             2                       390                         -                    -                   

ENTERPRISE HUB INNOVATION CENT 1,837                53                     1,890                          5                       1,890                      -                    -                   

RAVENS COURT  -                   447                   447                             0                       447                         -                    -                   

RELOCATION OF REGISTRARS  -                    -                    -                              -                    -                         -                    -                   

DDA WORKS  -                   35                     35                               7                       35                           -                    -                   

MINOR WORKS 1,130                270                   1,400                           -                   1,400                      -                    -                   

FIRE PRECAUTIONS MINOR WORKS  -                   124                   124                             22                     124                         -                    -                   

BRYNCETHIN DEPOT FACILITIES  -                   467                   467                             6                       467                         -                    -                   

NON OPERATIONAL ASSETS 480                   480                              -                   480                        

WATERTON UPGRADE 8,144                 -                   8,144                           -                   8,144                      -                    -                   

EVERGREEN HALL  -                   106                   106                             13                     106                         -                    -                   

P
age 63



Budget 22-23 

(Council June 

22)

2021-22 

Slippage b/f

New Approvals 

and Adjustments 

Virement Slippage to 

Future Years

Revised Budget 2022-

23

Total Exp to 

date

Projected Spend Over / (Under) 

spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

INVESTING IN COMMUNITIES 47                     47                                -                   47                          

Total Corporate Landlord 11,931              2,419                 -                        -                    -                   14,350                        55                     14,350                    -                    -                   

TOTAL Communities 54,858              9,910                5,125                     -                    -                   69,893                        450                   69,893                    -                    -                   

Chief Executive
 -                   

MANDATORY DFG RELATED EXPEND 1,750                323                   (123)                  1,950                          240                   1,950                      -                    -                   

TARGET HARDENING GRANTS  -                    -                              -                    -                         -                    -                   

DISCRETIONARY HOUSING GRANTS 200                   200                   400                              -                   400                        

HOUSING RENEWAL AREA 100                   118                   218                             0                       218                         -                    -                   

EMPTY HOMES GRANTS-GRANTS ONLY 300                   300                              -                   300                        

ENABL-SUP FOR IND LIVING GRANT 270                    -                   270                              -                   270                         -                    -                   

HOMELESSNESS AND HOUSING 530                       530                              -                   530                         -                    -                   

HEALTH & WELLBEING VILLAGE 480                   480                              -                   480                        

TOTAL Housing/Homelessness 2,320                1,421                530                       (123)                   -                   4,148                          240                   4,148                      -                    -                   

ICT LAPTOP REPLACEMENT         -                    -                    -                              -                    -                         -                    -                   

ICT INFRA SUPPORT 400                   298                   698                             299                   698                         -                    -                   

HWB SCHOOLS IT  -                   56                     56                               40                     56                          

DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION  -                   200                   200                              -                   200                        

CCTV SYSTEMS REPLACEMENT  -                   427                   427                             427                        

COMMUNITY CARE INFOR SYS  -                    -                    -                             1                        -                        

TOTAL ICT 400                   981                    -                        -                    -                   1,381                          340                   1,381                      -                    -                   

TOTAL Chief Executive 2,720                2,402                530                       (123)                   -                   5,529                          580                   5,529                      -                    -                   

Council Wide Capital Budgets 
CORPORATE CAPITAL FUND 200                   173                   373                              -                   373                         -                    -                   

UNALLOCATED 172                   504                    -                    -                   676                              -                   676                         -                    -                   

372                   677                    -                        -                    -                   1,049                           -                   1,049                      -                    -                   

GRAND TOTAL 72,142           21,206           6,136                 -                (1,350)            98,134                    1,331             98,134                -                 -                

P
age 64



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022-2032 APPENDIX C

CUMULATIVE

Improvement 

Priority Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council June 22 

2022-23

2021-22 

Slippage b/f New Approvals Virement Slippage Revised 2022-23 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 Total 2022 - 2032

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Education & Family Support

Highways Schemes Band B Schools IP3 3,400            3,400           -           3,400                      3,400                      3,400                   
21st Century Schools Band B IP3 64,966          19,034        45,932       2,771                      100                     (547)                    2,324                      8,830        35,187      17,188      1,437 64,966                 
Ysgol Bryn Castell Special School IP3 30                 30               91                       (61)                      30                           30                        
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Llangynwyd IP3 50                 50                -           50                           50                           50                        
Brynmenyn Primary School IP3 44                 44                -           44                       44                           44                        
Land Purchase Band B IP3 2,028            2,028           -           2,028                  (1,350)             678                         1,350 2,028                   

Gateway to the Valleys C C Y D Comprehensive School IP3 32                 32                -           110                     (78)                      32                                                                                                         32                        

Garw Valley South Primary Provision IP3 139               139              -           139                     139                         139                      

Pencoed Primary School IP3 53                 53                -           53                       53                           53                        

Garw Valley Primary Highways Works IP3 30                 30                -           30                       30                           30                        

Pencoed School Highways Works IP3 56                 56                -           56                       56                           56                        

Abercerdin Primary School Hub IP3 287               287              -           287                     287                         287                      

Brynteg Comprehensive School All Weather Pitch IP3 324               324              -           324                     324                         324                      

Brymenyn Primary Highways Works IP3 12                 12                -           12                       12                           12                        

Schools Minor Works IP3 345               345              -           325                         20                       345                         345                      

Schools Traffic Safety IP3 81                 81                -           208                     (127)                    81                           81                        

Heronsbridge Special School IP3 284               284              -           280                         4                         284                         284                      

School Modernisation IP3 386               386              -           333                         53                       386                         386                      

Pencoed Primary School IP3 900               900              -           52                           52                           450           398           900                      

Coety Primary School IP3 1,650            1,650          44                           44                           500           1,106        1,650                   

Bryntirion Comprehensive School IP3 1,800            411             1,389         650                         650                         1,102        48             1,800                   

Education S106 Schemes IP3 169                -             169            169                     169                         169                      

Mynydd Cynffig Primary School Mobiles IP3 79                 79                -           79                       79                           79                        

School's Capital Maintenance Grant IP3 3,632            3,600          32              2,436                      2,092                  (896)                    3,632                      3,632                   

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bettws IP3 484                -             484            484                     484                         484                      

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bridgend IP3 550                -             550            497                         53                       550                         550                      

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Ogmore IP3 797                -             797            797                     797                         797                      

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Porthcawl IP3 550                -             550            497                         53                       550                         550                      

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Highways Schemes IP3 100                -             100            100                     100                         100                      

Free School Meals IP3 1,162            1,162                                                            1,162                  1,162                      1,162                   

Community Focused Schools IP3 930               930            930                     930                         930                      

Total Education and Family Support 85,350          34,417        50,933       11,335                    7,386                  383                      -                     (1,350)             17,754                    12,232      36,739      17,188      1,437         -            -            -            -            -           85,350                 

Social Services and Well-being

Adult Social Care

Bryngarw Park- Access IP2 23                 23               23                       23                           23                        

Bryn Y Cae IP2 40                 40               40                       40                           40                        

Trem Y Mor IP2 4                   4                 4                         4                             4                          

Ty Cwm Ogwr Care Home IP3 331               331             331                     331                         331                      

Wellbeing Minor Works IP2 135               135             135                     135                         135                      

Bakers Way IP2 10                 10                -           10                       10                           10                        

Glan Yr Afon Care Home NONPTY 51                 51                -           51                       51                           51                        

Children's Residential Accommodation Hub IP2 2,497            2,497          2,374                      123                     2,497                      2,497                   

Telecare Transformation Project IP2 1,405            1,405          483                         483                         527           395           1,405                   

Culture  -                        

HALO and AWEN Accessibility NONPTY 11                 11               11                       11                           11                        

Community Centres NONPTY 226               226             226                     226                         226                      

Porthcawl Grand Pavilion 2,000            2,000          98 98                           537           1,365        2,000                   

Total Social Services and Well-being 6,733            6,733           -           2,857                      831                     98                       123                      -                 3,909                      1,064        1,760         -            -            -            -            -            -            -           6,733                   

Communities

Street Scene

Community Children's Play Areas IP2 1,286            1,286           -           1,196 90 1,286                      1,286                   

Parks/Pavilions/Community Centres CAT IP3 813               813              -           500                         313                     813                         813                      

Aber Playing Fields NONPTY 11                 11                -           11                       11                           11                        

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal IP1 7,691            7,691           -           3,138                      3,138                      4,451        103                                                               7,691                   

Coychurch Crem Works NONPTY 665                -             665            465                         104                     96                       665                         665                      

Minor Crossings IP2 392               392            392                     392                         392                      

Remedial Measures - Car Parks IP3 135               135              -           135                         135                         135                      

Civil Parking Enforcement IP3 38                 38                -           30                           8                         38                           38                        

Road Signs 20mph Default Speed IP2 580                -             580            580                     580                         580                      

Road Safety IP1 124               124              -           136                         (12)                      124                         124                      

Pyle to Porthcawl IP2 387                -             387            387                     387                         387                      

Active travel Bridgend to  Pencoed Phase 3 IP2 3,463             -             3,463         3,463                  3,463                      3,463                   

Highways Structural Works IP3 3,400            3,400           -           340                         340                         340           340           340           340           340           340           340           340           340           3,400                   

Carriageway Capital Works IP3 2,500            2,500           -           250                         250                         250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           2,500                   

Road Safety Improvements - Heol Mostyn IP1 169               169              -           169                     169                         169                      

Prow Capital Improvement Programme IP3 52                 52                -           52                       52                           52                        

Highways Refurbishment IP3 2,000            2,000           -           2,000                      2,000                                   2,000                   

Carriageway Resurfacing & Renewal of Footways IP3 1,500            1,500          1,500                      1,500                      1,500                   

Replacement of Street Lighting Columns/ River Bridge Protection Measures IP3 4,016            4,016           -           400                         16                       416                         400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           4,016                   

River Bridge Protection Measures IP1 24                 24                -           24                       24                           24                        

Total 2022-2032 2022 - 2023 FUTURE YEARSP
age 65



CUMULATIVE

Improvement 

Priority Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council June 22 

2022-23

2021-22 

Slippage b/f New Approvals Virement Slippage Revised 2022-23 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 Total 2022 - 2032

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Total 2022-2032 2022 - 2023 FUTURE YEARS

Communities Minor Works IP3 391               391              -           391                     391                         391                      

Ultra Low Emissions Vehicle Transformation Fund IP1 343                -             343            343                     343                         343                      

Fleet Transition Ultra Low Emmissions Vehicles IP1 300               300            300                     300                         300                      

Traffic Signal Replacement IP3 250               250             250                     250                         250                      

Net Zero Carbon Fleet NONPTY 320               320              -           320                         320                         320                      

CCR Metro Plus-Porthcawl Bus station IP1 1,900            1,900         1,900                      1,900                      1,900                   

Local Transport Fund - Penprysg Road Bridge IP1 985               582             403            735                         735                         250           985                      

Residents Parking Bridgend Town Centre IP1 124               124              -           100                         24                       124                                                                                                       124                      

Fleet Vehicles IP3 1,384            1,384           -           1,376                      (34)                      42                       1,384                                                                                                    1,384                   

AHP Waste IP3 24                 24                -           24                       24                           24                        

Extension to Cornelly Cemetery NONPTY 279               279              -           235                         44                       279                                                                                          279                      

Extension to Porthcawl Cemetery NONPTY 183               183              -           180                         3                         183                         183                      

S106 Highways Small Schemes IP3 45                  -             45              45                       45                                                                                                         45                        

Unadopted Roads IP2 500               500              -           500                         500                         500                      

Fire Suppression System Tondu Waste Depot NONPTY 140               140              -           140                     140                         140                      

Levelling Up Penprysg Road Bridge 2,500            2,500           -           100                     100                         1,800        600           2,500                   

Regeneration & Development

Special Regeneration Funding IP1 436               436              -           436                     436                         436                      

Cosy Corner (PRIF)    IP1 2,675            1,799          876            2,649                      26                       2,675                      2,675                   

Porthcawl Regeneration IP1 3,492            3,492           -           3,398                      94                       3,492                      3,492                   

Economic Stimulus Grant IP1 553               553              -           553                     553                         553                      

Coastal Risk Management Programme IP1 2,528            2,528           -           2,150                      378                     2,528                      2,528                   

Ewenny Road Industrial Estate IP1 3,500             -             3,500         3,500                      3,500                      3,500                   

CESP/Arbed Phase 1 NONPTY 3,505            855             2,650         3,505                      3,505                      3,505                   

Llynfi Valley Development Programme IP1 2,260            2,260          2,260                  2,260                      2,260                   

Bridgend Heat Scheme IP1 3,350            2,323          1,027         3,000                      350                     3,350                                                                                       3,350                   

Maesteg Town Hall Cultural Hub IP1 3,974            1,870          2,104         2,976                      998                     3,974                      3,974                   

Town & Community Council Fund IP3 692               692              -           200                         42                       242                         50             50             50             50             50             50             50             50             50             692                      

Caerau Heat Network IP1 6,293            1,168          5,125         5,904                      5,904                      389           6,293                   

Porthcawl Townscape Heritage Initiative IP1 124               124              -           119                         5                         124                                                                                                       124                      

Brilliant Basics IP1 65                 13               52              65                       65                           65                        

Commercial Property Enhancement Fund  IP1 134               134             90                           44                       134                         134                      

Corporate Landlord  

Capital Asset Management Fund IP3 820               820              -           820                         820                         820                      

Corporate Landlord - Energy Savings Strategy IP3 390               390              -           390                     390                                                                                                       390                      

Enterprise Hub - Innovation Centre IP3 1,890            642             1,248         1,837                      53                       1,890                      1,890                   

Raven's Court IP3 447               447             447                     447                         447                      

DDA Works NONPTY 35                 35                -           35                       35                           35                        

Minor Works IP3 11,570          11,570         -           1,130                      270                     1,400                      1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        11,570                 

Fire Precautions NONPTY 124               124              -           124                     124                         124                      

Bryncethin Depot Facilities IP3 467               467              -           467                     467                         467                      

Non-Operational Assets IP3 480               480              -           480                     480                         480                      

Waterton Upgrade IP3 8,144            8,144           -           8,144                      8,144                      8,144                   

Evergreen Hall IP3 106               106              -           106                     106                         106                      

Investing in Communities IP3 47                 47                -           47                       47                           47                        

Total Communities 97,015          71,955        25,060       54,858                    9,910                  5,125                   -                      -                 69,893                    9,060        2,873        2,170        2,170        2,170        2,170        2,170        2,170        2,170        97,015                 

Chief Executive's

Housing / Homelessness

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) IP2 17,700          17,700        1,750                      323                     (123)                    1,950                      1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        17,700                 

Discretionary Housing Grants IP2 2,200            2,200          200                         200                     400                         200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           2,200                   

Housing Renewal / Empty Properties IP1 1,118            1,118           -           100                         118                     218                         100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           1,118                   

Valleys Taskforce Empty Properties Grant IP1 300               105             195            300                     300                         300                      

Enable Grant IP2 810                -             810            270                         270                         270           270                                                               810                      

Homelessness and Housing IP2 530               530              -           530                     530                         530                      

Health and Wellbeing Village IP1 480                -             480            480                     480                         480                      

ICT

Investment in ICT IP3 4,298            4,298           -           400                         298                     698                         400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           4,298                   

HWB Schools IT IP3 56                 56                -           56                       56                           56                        

Digital Transformation IP3 200               200              -           200                     200                                                                                                       200                      

Replacement CCTV IP3 427               427              -           427                     427                         427                      

Total Chief Executive's 28,119          26,634        1,485         2,720                      2,402                  530                     (123)                     -                 5,529                      2,720        2,720        2,450        2,450        2,450        2,450        2,450        2,450        2,450        28,119                 

Council Wide Capital Budgets

Corporate Capital Fund NONPTY 2,173            2,173          200                         173                     373                         200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           2,173                   

Unallocated NONPTY 15,293          15,293         -           172                         504                     676                         1,679        1,679        343           1,626        1,858        1,858        1,858        1,858        1,858        15,293                 

Total Council Wide Capital budgets 17,466          17,466         -           372                         677                      -                      -                      -                 1,049                      1,879        1,879        543           1,826        2,058        2,058        2,058        2,058        2,058        17,466                 

Total  Expenditure 234,683        157,205      77,478       72,142                    21,206                6,136                   -                     (1,350)             98,134                    26,955      45,971      22,351      7,883        6,678        6,678        6,678        6,678        6,678        234,683               

Expected Capital Resources

General Capital Funding

General Capital Funding - General Capital Grant 33,896          33,896         -           5,840                      2,442                  8,282                      3,270        3,270        2,725        2,724        2,725        2,725        2,725        2,725        2,725        33,896                 

General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing 41,112          41,112         -           3,953                                             3,953                      4,744        4,744        3,953        3,953        3,953        3,953        3,953        3,953        3,953        41,112                 

P
age 66



CUMULATIVE

Improvement 

Priority Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council June 22 

2022-23

2021-22 

Slippage b/f New Approvals Virement Slippage Revised 2022-23 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 Total 2022 - 2032

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Total 2022-2032 2022 - 2023 FUTURE YEARS

Capital Receipts - Schools 2,986            2,986           -           268                         110                     378                                      1,762        846                                                  2,986                   

Capital Receipts - General 20,227          20,227         -           16,487                    3,366                  (147)                    19,706                                                           521                                     20,227                 

Earmarked Reserves 45,136          45,136         -           15,302                    7,479                  (55)                      (1,350)             21,376                    11,918      11,062      781                                                  45,136                 

Revenue Contribution 1,768            1,768           -           599                         471                     585                     1,655                      57             56                                                                 1,768                   

Prudential Borrowing (Directorate Funded) 3,474            3,474           -           3,474                      3,474                                                                                                    3,474                   

Prudential Borrowing (Corporately Funded) 4,300            4,300           -           4,300                      4,300                                                                                                    4,300                   
Local Govt Borrowing Initiative (Highways Infrastructure)  -                -              -            -                                                                                                       -                      

Local Govt Borrowing Initiative (Coastal defence) 1,559            1,559           -           1,181                      378                     1,559                                                                                                    1,559                   

SALIX Interest Free Loan - WG 487               487             487                     487                                                                                                       487                      

Llynfi Development Site Loan - WG 2,260            2,260           -           2,260                  2,260                      2,260                   

Sub-Total General Capital Funding 157,205        157,205       -           51,404                    16,993                383                      -                     (1,350)             67,430                    19,989 20,894 8,305 7,198 6,678 6,678 6,678 6,678 6,678 157,205               

External Funding Approvals

WG - Highways Grant  -                -              -                                       -                                                                             -                      

WG - Other 6,835             -             6,835         4,752                      521                     1,562                  6,835                                                                                       6,835                   

WG - 21st Century Schools 45,883           -             45,883       1,100                      (147)                    953                         5,440        24,759      14,046      685                                     45,883                 

School's Capital Maintenance Grant  -                -              -            -                         -                      

WG - Enable Grant 810                -             810            270                         270                         270           270                                                               810                      

WG - Safe Routes in Communities  -                -              -            -                                                                                                       -                      

WG - Integrated Care Fund (ICF) 480                -             480            480                     480                                                                                                       480                      

WG - Welsh Medium Capital Grant 2,481             -             2,481         994                         1,487                  2,481                                                                                                    2,481                   

WG - Infant Class Size Grant  -                -              -            -                                                                                                       -                      

WG- VRP/Transforming Towns  -                -              -            -                         -                      

WG - TRI  -                -              -            -                         -                      

Westminster 960                -             960            610                         350                     960                                                                                                       960                      

S106 1,684             -             1,684         523                         246                     769                         867           48                                                                 1,684                   

Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) 5,000             -             5,000         5,000                      5,000                      5,000                   

Transport Grant 6,070             -             6,070         803                         1,025                  4,242                  6,070                                                                                                    6,070                   

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF)  -                -              -            -                                                                                                       -                      

EU  6,373             -             6,373         5,984                      5,984                      389                                                                            6,373                   

Other 902                -             902            702                         104                     96                       902                                                                                                       902                      

Sub-Total External Funding Approvals 77,478           -             77,478       20,738                    4,213                  5,753                   -                      -                 30,704                    6,966        25,077      14,046      685            -            -            -            -            -           77,478                 

Total Funding Available 234,683        157,205      77,478       72,142                    21,206                6,136                   -                     (1,350)             98,134                    26,955      45,971      22,351      7,883        6,678        6,678        6,678        6,678        6,678        234,683               

Funding Shortfall/(Surplus)  -                -              -            -                         -                      -                      -                      -                  -                         -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -                      

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D 
 

PRUDENTIAL AND OTHER INDICATORS 2021-22 and 2022-23  
 
The Prudential Indicators are required to be set and approved by Council in accordance with 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. Table 1 shows the 2021-22 
actual capital expenditure, the capital programme approved by Council on 23 February 2022 
and the latest projection for the current financial year which has incorporated slippage of 
schemes from 2021-22 together with any new grants and contributions or changes in the profile 
of funding.  

 
Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure  
 

 2021-22 
Actual 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

(Council  

 Feb 22) 

£m 

2022-23 

Projection 

£m 

Council Fund services 29.741 69.979 97.654 

Investment Properties - - 0.480 

 

TOTAL 29.741 69.979 98.134 

 
All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants and 
other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or 
net financing requirement (borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The planned 
financing of the expenditure has been projected as follows: 
 
Table 2: Capital financing 
 

 2021-22 
Actual 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb  22) 

£m 

2022-23 

Projection 

£m 

External sources 18.152 26.078 38.986 

Own resources 1.020 30.993 43.115 

Net Financing 
Requirement  

10.569 12.908 16.033 

TOTAL 29.741 69.979 98.134 

 

The net financing requirement or ‘debt’ is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and 
leases must be repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from 
revenue which is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). As well as MRP, the 
Council makes additional voluntary revenue contributions to pay off Prudential or Unsupported 
Borrowing. The total of these are shown in Table 3 below:- 
 

Page 69



 
 
Table 3: Replacement of debt finance  
 

 2021-22 
Actual 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 22) 

£m 

2022-23 

Projection 

£m 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 2.970 3.187 3.187 

Additional Voluntary Revenue Provision 3.553 2.476 2.476 

Total MRP & VRP 6.523 5.663 5.663 

Other MRP on Long term Liabilities 0.801 0.863 0.863 

Total Own Resources 7.324 6.526 6.526 

 
The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and 
reduces by the MRP amount within the year. Based on the above figures for expenditure and 
financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is as follows based on the movement on capital 
expenditure at quarter 1: 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 
 

 2021-22 
Actual 

£m 

2022-23 
Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 
Projection 

£m 
Capital Financing Requirement    
Opening CFR excluding PFI & other 
liabilities 

 
157.404 

 
166.729 

 
161.451 

Opening PFI CFR 15.567 14.766 14.765 
Total opening CFR 172.971 181.495 176.216 
Movement in CFR excluding PFI & 
other liabilities 

 
4.046 

 
13.286 

 
10.371 

Movement in PFI CFR (0.801) (0.863) (0.863) 
Total movement in CFR 3.245 12.423 9.508 
Closing CFR 176.216 193.918 185.724 
Movement in CFR represented by:    
Net financing need for year (Table 2 
above) 

10.569 18.949 16.033 

Minimum and voluntary revenue 
provisions 

 
(6.523) 

 
(5.663) 

 
(5.662) 

MRP on PFI and other long term 
leases (Table 3) 

 
(0.801) 

 
(0.863) 

 
(0.863) 

Total movement 3.245 12.423 9.508 
 
 
The capital borrowing need (Capital Financing Requirement) has not been fully funded with 
loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used 
as a temporary measure. This is known as Internal Borrowing. Projected levels of the Council’s 

Page 70



total outstanding debt, which comprises of borrowing, PFI and Other Long Term Liabilities, are 
shown below compared with the Capital Financing Requirement:-    
 
 
Table 5: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 
 

 2021-22 
Actual 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

(Council 
Feb 22) 

£m 

2022-23 

Projection 

£m 

Debt (incl. PFI & leases) 118.864 123.052 117.835 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

176.216 193.918 185.724 

 
Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except 
in the short-term. As can be seen, the Council expects to comply with this in the medium term. 
 
The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the authorised 
limit for external debt) each year. In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational 
boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt approach the limit. 

Table 6: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m 
 

 2021-22 
Actual 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 20) 

£m 

2022-23 

Projection 

£m 

Authorised limit – 
borrowing 

Authorised limit – other 
long term liabilities 

170.000 

30.000 

170.000 

30.000 

170.000 

30.000 

Authorised Limit Total 200.00 200.000 200.000 

Operational boundary – 
borrowing 

Operational boundary – 
other long term liabilities 

120.000 

 

25.000 

130.000 

 

25.000 

130.000 

 

25.000 

Operational Boundary 
Limit Total 

145.000 155.000 155.000 

    

Total Borrowing and 
Long Term Liabilities 

118.864 123.052 117.835 

 
 

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable 
on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income receivable. The 

Page 71



net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. 
the amount funded from Council Tax, business rates and general government grants. 

 

Table 7: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 2021-22 
Actual 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 20) 

£m 

2022-23 

Projection 

£m 

Capital Financing Central 
 

6.719 7.205 6.782 

Other Financing costs  5.500 4.423 4.423 

TOTAL FINANCING COSTS 
 

12.219 11.628 11.204 

Proportion of net revenue stream 4.49% 4.26% 4.10% 

 

This shows that in 2021-22, 4.49% of our net revenue income was spent paying back the costs 
of capital expenditure. 

Page 72



 
 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

19 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE 
 

AWARD OF FUNDING FOR HOMELESSNESS PROJECTS VIA THE HOUSING 
SUPPORT GRANT 

 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Cabinet to:- 

 

 Award Welsh Government Housing Support Grant project funding to Wallich, in 
order to continue delivery of their Rough Sleepers Intervention Team and 
Solutions Centre/Worker 
 

 Award Welsh Government Housing Support Grant project funding to Llamau, in 
order to continue delivery of their Bridgend Family Mediation project.  
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 

county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study, and 

visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 

qualifications, and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the 
Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy, and 
independent lives. 

 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human, and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The Welsh Government Housing Support Grant (HSG) came into being in April 

2019, following the Welsh Government funding flexibilities pathfinder project. It 
brings together three former grants - Supporting People Programme, 
Homelessness Prevention Grant and Rent Smart Wales Enforcement Grant. 

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 6



 
 

3.2 The HSG is an early intervention grant programme to support activity which 
prevents people from becoming homeless, stabilises their housing situation, or 
helps potentially homeless people to find and keep accommodation. 

 
3.3. Historically the Homelessness Prevention Grant (HPG) has been used by Welsh 

Government to directly support statutory and third sector organisations to deliver 
front line services to prevent homelessness. This funding has been separate to any 
Local Authority grant allocations, such as the HSG or Supporting People 
Programme.  

 
3.4 The establishment of the HSG has prompted a reconsideration of the way HPG is 

administered and as such Welsh Government have decided that from 2022-23 
elements of the HPG will transfer to Local Authorities, via the HSG.  

 
3.5 Welsh Government have confirmed that as part of the transitional arrangements for 

transferring elements of the HPG to the HSG Local Authorities will be required to 
ring fence the funding for, and overseeing and monitoring, ‘main programme’ 
projects that operate in their local authority for a period of two years. This is to 
enable the continuation of existing projects and allow for these projects to be 
evaluated by Local Authorities before ongoing funding decisions are made. From a 
Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) governance perspective Cabinet 
approval is required to award funding to third party organisations.   

 
4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 On 8th March 2022 Cabinet were updated as to BCBC’s indicative HSG allocation 

from Welsh Government for 2022-23, a sum of £7,833,509.33. Cabinet endorsed a 
HSG Spend Plan for 2022-23, which was submitted following the indicative 
allocation from Welsh Government.  

 
4.2 On 17th March BCBC received a final HSG allocation from Welsh Government for 

2022-23. The allocation is £7,954,787.69, inclusive of a sum of £121,278.36 not 
included in the initial indicative award.  

 
4.3 The additional allocation of £121,278.36 relates to the transfer from Welsh 

Government central HPG to BCBC’s HSG. The award letter states that this funding 
is to be ring fenced to continue funding existing projects for a two year period. 
Historically these projects have been funded directly via Welsh Government 
following the submission of delivery plans from the support providers. From 2024-25 
the funding will be redistributed to the HSG utilsing the usual distribution formula. 

 
4.4 The funding award states: 
 

From 2022-23, local authorities will be responsible for administering ring-fenced 
funding for, and overseeing and monitoring, ‘main programme’ projects that operate 
in their local authority, over a two year transitional period.  

 
You should therefore award funding to the organisations listed at the end of 
this section 1b. to deliver the project purpose(s) specified and for at least the 
amount specified in the main body of this grant award. Each project is 
supported by an accompanying Delivery Plan, which includes performance 
indicators identified by the project provider.  

Page 74



 
 

 
During the two year transition period, project funding will be ring-fenced.  

 
4.5 The award letter states that for Bridgend there are two projects for which funding is 

being transferred. These are set out below: 
 

Project Name Bridgend Family Mediation 

Project 
Provider 

Llamau 

Project Funding 
awarded 

£29,515.00 

Project 
Purpose 
summary 

The purpose of this funding is to deliver family mediation in 
Bridgend, identifying, addressing and resolving issues that are 
causing a potential breakdown in family relationships and 
threatening a young person with homelessness. 

 

Project Name Rough Sleepers Intervention Team and Solutions 
Centre/Worker 

Project 
Provider 

The Wallich  

Project Funding 
awarded 

£91,763.36 

Project 
Purpose 
summary 

The purpose of the funding is to provide outreach services to 
rough sleepers and vulnerably housed people and the provison 
of solution centre workers as set out within the application for 
grant funding.  
 
The project also prevents homelessness by providing a 
solution to issues that may result in, or perpetuate, 
homelessness and alleviate the situation of homeless people 
sleeping rough. 
 
The whole project covers Bridgend, Cardiff, Ceredigion, 
Newport, Torfaen and Swansea.  However the funding 
amount specified above relates to Bridgend only. 

 
4.6 In line with the direction set out in the HSG funding award letter Cabinet are 

therefore requested to approve the award of funding to Llamau for the period 1st 
April 2022 to 31st March 2024 at a sum of £29,515 per annum, to allow for the 
continuation of their Bridgend Family Mediation project. 

 
4.7 Cabinet are also requested to approve the award of funding to Wallich for the period 

1st April 2022 to 31st March 2024 at a sum of £91,763.36 per annum to allow for the 
continuation of their Rough Sleepers Intervention Team and Solutions 
Centre/Worker project.  

 
4.8 Both of the projcts detailed above are already well established in Bridgend, having 

been funded directly via Welsh Government HPG for many years. The projects will 
continue to link with other statutory and non-statutory services to prevent and 
relieve homelessness in the county borough. The projects will form part of BCBC’s 

Page 75



 
 

wider HSG monitoring processes. Monitoring and review will inform funding 
decisions from 2024-25, in line with the normal commissioning cycle. Any future 
contract will be issued in line with BCBC’s Contract Procedure Rules.  

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There is no effect upon policy framework and procedure rules.  

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there 

would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected 
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. 
It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal. 

 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The report contributes to the following goals within the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 
  

 A prosperous Wales 

 A resilient Wales 

 A Wales of cohesive communities 

 A globally responsive Wales 

7.2 The five ways of working have been considered in the preparation of this report and 
are summarised below: 

 Long term – HSG funded projects will support individuals to meet their short term 

support needs, with the aim of delivering long term positive outcomes, supporting 

individuals to achieve their goals and aspirations,  

 Prevention – HSG projects are preventative in nature and are designed to reduce 

the burden on more costly interventions,  

 Integration – HSG funded projects support economic, social and cultural outcomes, 

both at an individual level and in wider communities. 

 Collaboration – BCBC effectively engages with a range of internal and external 

partners on a local and regional basis,  

 Involvement – As part of ongoing strategic planning BCBC Housing engages with a 

diverse range of stakeholders including service users and those with lived 

experience.  

 

7.3 It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the 

 achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.   

8. Financial implications 

8.1 The award of funding to Wallich and Llamau are detailed at 4.6 and 4.7. The projects 
will be funded via the HSG, in line with the conditions set out in the final HSG award 
letter.  
 

Page 76



 
 

9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

 Approve the award Welsh Government Housing Support Grant project funding to 
Wallich, in order to continue delivery of their Rough Sleepers Intervention Team 
and Solutions Centre/Worker project. 
 

 Approve the award Welsh Government Housing Support Grant project funding to 
Llamau, in order to continue delivery of their Bridgend Family Mediation project. 

 
 

Carys Lord    
Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and Change 
19 July 2022 

 
Contact officer:  Ryan Jones  

 Strategic Housing Commissioning Manager  
 

Telephone:   (01656) 643525 
 
Email:   Ryan.jones@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal address:  Ravens Court, Brewery Lane, Bridgend, CF31 4AP  

 
 
Background documents:  
 
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

22 JULY 2022 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES AND THE 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT  

 
THE UNITED KINGDOM SHARED PROSPERITY FUND 

 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to update Cabinet on the United Kingdom Shared 

Prosperity Fund (UKSPF).  The report seeks Cabinet approval to authorise 

Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council (RCTCBC) to be the ‘Lead Local 

Authority’ for the Cardiff Capital Region for the submission to UK Government of a 

Local Investment Plan for the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) for the delivery of the 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund.  The report seeks authority to submit to Rhondda 

Cynon Taff County Borough Council the Bridgend County Local Investment Plan 

information (as at July 2022) for delivering the Bridgend County UKSPF funding 

allocation to feed into the development of the CCR Local Investment Plan 

submission to UK Government.  The report also seeks authority to be delegated to 

the Corporate Director Communities, in consultation with the Chief Officer – Legal, 

and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy, Chief Officer – Finance, 

Performance and Change and the Corporate Director – Education and Family 

Support to negotiate and enter into a CCR regional funding agreement with 

RCTCBC acting as lead authority and to enter into any further deeds and 

documents which are ancillary to the agreement or that are necessary to deliver the 

UKSPF. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and 
visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, qualifications 
and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the 
Council and its services. Supporting individuals and communities to build resilience, 
and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and independent lives.  

 

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



 

3. Background 
 
3.1 Following the withdrawal of the UK from the European Union on 31 January 2020, 

the UKSPF is the UK government’s replacement for the European Structural 
Investment Funds (ESIF).  

 
3.2 The UKSPF is a key part of the UK government’s Levelling Up agenda, forming part 

of complementary funding, including the Levelling Up Fund and Community 
Ownership Fund.  

 
3.3 The UKSPF will support the UK government’s wider commitment to level up all parts 

of the UK by delivering on each of the levelling up objectives to:  
 

 Boost productivity, pay, jobs and living standards by growing the private sector, 

especially in those places where they are lagging  

 Spread opportunities and improve public services, especially in those places where 

they are weakest  

 Restore a sense of community, local pride and belonging, especially in those places 

where they have been lost  

 Empower local leaders and communities, especially in those places lacking local 

agency  

3.4 The primary aim of the fund is to build pride in place and increase life chances across 
the UK. Underpinning this aim are three investment Priorities: communities and place; 
supporting local business and people and skills.  

 

 The Communities and Place investment priority will enable places to invest to 

restore their community spaces and relationships and create the foundations for 

economic development at the neighbourhood-level. The intention of this is to 

strengthen the social fabric of communities, supporting in building pride in place. 

 The Supporting Local Business investment priority will enable places to fund 

interventions that support local businesses to thrive, innovate and grow. 

 The People and Skills investment priority will help reduce the barriers some people 

face to employment and support them to move towards employment and education. 

Places can also target funding into skills for local areas to support employment and 

local growth. 

 

As part of the People and Skills priority there is a dedicated and ringfenced element 
of the UKSPF called Multiply which seeks to improve adult numeracy skills.  

 
3.5 Within the context of the Fund’s primary aim there is the flexibility to invest across a 

range of activities that represent the right solutions to improve local pride in place, 
increase life chances, to help spread and create opportunity, and a sense of 
community and belonging. The balance of priorities should reflect local need and 
opportunity. 

 
 
 
 

Page 80



 

4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 Local authorities within the CCR have been invited to collaborate and feed into one 

regional Local Investment Plan for CCR that sets out proposals to deliver the 
UKSPF to March 2025. As part of this process there is a need to appoint one local 
authority to assume the role of the ‘Lead Local Authority’ for the region for the 
UKSPF, and it is proposed that RCTCBC performs this role. 

 
4.2 Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) is not therefore required to develop its 

own Local Investment Plan to submit to UK Government. However, it is considered 
important that BCBC develop Bridgend County Borough Local Investment Plan 
information to submit to RCTCBC to inform the region’s Local Investment Plan and 
to provide clarity at the local level on the Bridgend County specific proposals the 
Council wants to achieve through the UKSPF. 

 
4.3 Each local authority within the CCR will have flexibility over how they deliver 

UKSPF. Guidance from UK Government highlights that a mixture of options are 
available: competitions for grant funding; procurement; commissioning, and in-
house provision.  

 
4.4 Following a series of internal workshops with officers from across all Directorates 

within the Council a draft set of proposals was developed.  This set of proposals 
was then discussed with the County Borough’s Economic Partnership and the 
Public Service Board (PSB). In addition, the proposals have been shared and 
discussed with Members of the Senedd and Bridgend County’s two Members of 
Parliament, whose support is required for the proposed activity outlined in the 
Bridgend County Borough Local Investment Plan information.  Following 
engagement and feedback proposals were revised and a summary is available in 
Appendix 1.   

 
4.5 Appendix 1 is an overview of the proposals at this point in time and is based on the 

information and guidance currently available.  As information and guidance evolves 
and further detail is provided it may be the case that proposals change.    

 
4.6 Appendix 1 is set against the challenges and opportunities that have been 

evidenced through the Bridgend Economic Strategy, the Bridgend Local 
Development Plan, the (draft) Bridgend Net Zero Carbon Strategy and the  
Bridgend and Cwm Taf Wellbeing Assessment. Whilst there are clear areas of 
alignment between these documents and opportunities through UKSPF it is not the 
case that all areas are aligned, nor is it the case that UKSPF is the only source of 
funding available to deliver these key strategic documents.  

 
4.7 An overview of the current set of Bridgend County Borough Local Investment Plan 

proposals is set out below under a series of regional theme descriptions, which 
were developed by RCTCBC: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



 

Communities and Place  

 

Regional Theme Description*  Proposed Bridgend County 

delivery 

Development and resilience of communities by improving 

facilities and access to services and supporting 

community-based organisations 

Bridgend County Local Resilience 

Planning 

Action to support individuals and community-based 
organisations to deal with the challenges of the current 
economic environment and cost of living crisis  

Supporting the improvement and redevelopment of town 
centres and community places to revitalise them. 

Bridgend County Thriving 
Communities  

Improving access to and facilities for local people and 
communities in sport, culture, arts and heritage. 

Supporting action to improve services and facilities for 
young people. 

Action to support decarbonisation, energy efficiency and 
green initiatives in communities and places. 

Bridgend County Green Spaces 
Enhancement Scheme 

Other activity such as feasibility studies  Bridgend County Community 

Future Scoping Programme 

*Bridgend County Prosperity Co-Production Framework may offer an opportunity to deliver across 
all.  

 

Supporting Local Business 
 

Regional Theme Description*  Proposed Bridgend County 

delivery 

Business premises development and improvement. Bridgend County Centres of 
Enterprise  

Small business support and development including 
finance for growth and resilience. 

-Bridgend County Business 
Prosperity Programme 
-Bridgend County Local 
Enterprise Support Programme 

Small business support for key growth sectors, research 
and development and innovation. 

Action to support decarbonisation, energy efficiency and 
green economy initiatives for businesses and social 
enterprises. 

Support for the growth and development of the visitor 
economy including businesses, facilities, and events. 

- Bridgend County Tourism 
Events Support 
- Bridgend County Local 
Destination Management and 
Marketing 

Other activity such as feasibility studies  Bridgend County Business Future 
Scoping Programme 

*Bridgend County Prosperity Co-Production Framework may offer an opportunity to deliver across 
all.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



 

People and Skills 
 

Regional Theme Description* Proposed Bridgend 

County delivery 

Regional Employability and Skills Framework Package  

 People in employment and key sectors  

 Unemployed and economically inactive people  

 Young people to enter employment  

-CELT**+ Bridgend 
Inspire 2 Work / 
Achieve  
-CELT + 
Employability -
Bridgend County 
-CELT+ Regional 
Joint Commissioning 

Regional joint commissioning  
 
Jointly commission FE/HE/ training providers / specific organisations to 
provide the following type of support  

 Wrap-around support for those at risk of disengaging from FE  

 Upskilling at work  

 Upskilling to meet skill gaps in sectors i.e., green jobs, 
manufacturing, creative and digital.  

*Bridgend County Prosperity Co-Production Framework may offer an opportunity to deliver across 
all.  
**Connect Engage Listen Thrive 

 
4.8 It is currently considered that the proposals will be taken forward via a mixture of 

delivery models considered best suited to the activities involved and at a delivery 
level considered to be most suitable as outlined in Appendix 1.  

 
4.9 The Local Investment Plan for the CCR will need to be submitted to UK 

Government by 1 August 2022. The anticipated date for the first investment plans to 
be approved and payment awarded is October 2022 onward.  The current delivery 
period for the UKSPF is to March 2025.  

 
4.10 It is therefore proposed that Appendix 1 be submitted to RCTCBC as the Bridgend 

County Borough Local Investment Plan information (July 2022) for delivering the 
Bridgend County UKSPF funding to feed into the development of the CCR Local 
Investment Plan submission to UK Government. It is to be noted that these 
proposals have been developed in the absence of detailed fund guidance from UK 
Government and as such are subject to change in relation to proposed activities, 
delivery models and funding values. 

 
4.11 The lead authority will have responsibility for a single funding agreement with the 

UK government for the full South East Wales UKSPF allocation of £278.5M and will 
be accountable for all aspects of monitoring and claiming the allocation. There will 
be a requirement for appropriate agreements between the lead authority and the 
nine other South East local authorities to pass on accountability and the terms and 
conditions of the funding to deliver UKSPF.  It is currently proposed by RCTCBC 
that this be taken forward via back-to-back agreements.  These are in development 
and will require further detailed guidance from UK Government before they can be 
finalised.  It is therefore proposed that authority be delegated to the Corporate 
Director Communities, in consultation with the Chief Officer – Legal, and Regulatory 
Services, HR and Corporate Policy, Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and 
Change and the Corporate Director – Education and Family Support to negotiate 
and enter into a CCR regional funding agreement with RCTCBC acting as lead 
authority and to enter into any further deeds and documents which are ancillary to 
the agreement or that are necessary to deliver the UKSPF. 

 

Page 83



 

4.12 Whilst the development of the regional governance model and the required legal 
agreements is on-going, the governance model created at a local level through the 
Economic Strategy is in place.   

 
4.13 A two-tier governance structure has recently been implemented as the result of the 

2022 Economic Strategy, resulting in the establishment of the Bridgend Economic 
Partnership, which reports to the BCBC Economic Programme Board. Given that 
the majority of the UKSPF funded programmes address economic development 
challenges, it is proposed that the Economic Partnership and Economic Programme 
Board be involved in the governance and oversight of the UKSPF programmes 
within Bridgend County Borough. Close liaison and interaction will be required for 
oversight of the programmes that align more closely to the Public Services Board 
(PSB) agenda.  

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There is no effect upon the Council’s policy framework or procedure rules as a 

result of this report. 
 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would 

be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on 
socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. It is therefore not 
necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal at this stage. 

 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1  The proposed UKSPF Local Investment Plan for Bridgend County Borough 

demonstrates the sustainable development principle by ensuring that by meeting 
the needs of the present they do not compromise the ability of future generations to 
meet their own needs. This is evidenced through the 5 ways of working as follows: 

 
Long-term: The elements that make up the proposed Local Investment Plan have 
been identified following discussion with key stakeholders and in relation to current 
understanding of the potential long-term challenges on the County Borough. 
Building on the process of developing and creating the Economic Strategy, the 
Local Development Plan (LDP) and the Wellbeing Plan for the County Borough it 
has been possible to set out a long-term response. 
 
Prevention: BCBC has for many years worked closely with stakeholders and the 
local business community to support the local economy in a wide variety of 
proactive ways. As well as a continuation of BCBC’s ability to react to local 
situations, the development of the UKSPF Local Investment Plan builds on 
strengths to plan for the future, take proactive action and support local businesses 
and local communities.    
 
Integration: The work to develop the UKSPF Local Investment Plan is closely 
aligned with the BCBC Corporate Plan, the Local Development Plan and the Public 
Service Board’s Well-being Plan and the Bridgend County Economic Strategy.  
 

Page 84



 

Collaboration: The development of the UKSPF Local Investment Plan has been 
steered by a BCBC officer group and is being developed and will be delivered in 
partnership with key stakeholders. 

 
Involvement: For the UKSPF Local Investment Plan to successfully operate it will 
require the involvement of senior members of local public sectors organisations, 
community leaders, business leaders, representatives of business sectors and trade 
bodies and other key stakeholders.  

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 The UKSPF provides £2.6 billion of new funding for local investment by March 2025, 

with all areas of the UK receiving an allocation from the Fund via a funding formula 
rather than a competition. 

 
8.2 All places in the UK will receive a conditional allocation from the UKSPF to cover the 

period up to March 2025.  Table 1 below details the allocation per Authority for the 
CCR. 

 
 Table 1:  UKSPF allocation in CCR 

Individual 
authorities 

Core UKSPF 
£ 

Multiply 
£ 

Total 
£ 

% of regional 
allocation 

Blaenau Gwent 23,301,572 4,863,920 28,165,492 10.11 

Bridgend 19,116,296 3,990,295 23,106,591 8.30 

Caerphilly 28,272,298 5,901,499 34,173,797 12.27 

Cardiff 34,587,594 7,219,740 41,807,334 15.01 

Merthyr Tydfil 22,698,977 4,738,136 27,437,113 9.85 

Monmouthshire 5,919,533 1,235,631 7,155,164 2.57 

Newport 27,177,563 5,672,986 32,850,549 11.79 

Rhondda 
Cynon Taf 

37,320,994 7,790,305 45,111,299 16.20 

Torfaen 20,431,241 4,264,774 24,696,015 8.86 

Vale of 
Glamorgan 

11,606,505 2,422,717 14,029,222 5.04 

Total for the 
region 

230,432,573 48,100,003 278,532,576 100.00 

 
8.3 Bridgend’s allocation is 8.3% of the total allocation for the region.  Guidance from UK 

Government currently suggests that funding is broken down to a fixed yearly 
allocation for core UKSPF; 12% in Year 1 (22/23), 24% in Year 2 (23/24) and 64% in 
Year 3 (24/25).  For Multiply allocations, the breakdown is 30% in Year 1 (2022/23), 
35% in Year 2 (2023/24) and 35% in Year 3 (2024/25) as shown in table 2 below.   

 
 Table 2: Bridgend County UKSPF allocation  

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Totals 

Core UKSPF £2,293,955.52 £4,587,911.04 £12,234,429.44 £19,116,296.00 

Multiply £1,197,088.50 £1,396,603.25 £1,396,603.25 £3,990,295.00 

Totals £3,491,044.02 £5,984,514.29 £13,631,032.69 £23,106,591.00  
15% 26% 59% 100% 

 

Page 85



 

8.4 It is important to note therefore that this suggests that currently any funding not 
utilised in-year cannot be carried forward and will be lost if it is not spent in line with 
allocations. Mechanisms are being explored with other Local Authorities in the region 
and with UK Government in relation to flexibility around this.  In addition, current 
guidance suggests that up to 4% of each area’s allocation can be used for 
administration purposes, either local and/or regional associated costs. Further 
guidance is expected from UK Government in relation to this. 

 
8.5 Bridgend’s allocation through the UKSPF is currently £23,106,591 (inclusive of a 

possible 4% administration budget).  The current profiled expenditure in table 3 
below, inclusive of a possible 4% administration budget and Multiply, is £25,295,345. 
As a result, the programme is currently over-committed by £2,188,754.00.   

 
 Table 3: Bridgend County UKSPF proposals 

 Total 

Total to date 
£ 25,295,345.00  

 

Allocation 
£ 23,106,591.00  

 
Over allocation £2,188,754.00 

 
8.6 In addition, officers have been advised of a request by the Cardiff Capital Region City 

Deal Team to ‘top-slice’ an element of Bridgend’s UKSPF allocation for delivery of a 
regional proposal.  The value of the top-slice is £334,000.  This would result in table 
4 below. 

 
            Table 4: Bridgend County UKSPF proposals including regional top-slice 

  Total 
Total to date £25,295,345.00 
  
Top-slice £334,535.00 
uplifted total £25,629,880.00 
Allocation £23,106,591.00 

  

Over allocation including 
top-slice 

£2,523,289.00 

 
8.7 Once further guidance is issued and reviewed these values may change.  If, however, 

the programme remains over-allocated then it is proposed that the responsibility for 
identifying gap funds for each of the proposed areas of delivery rests with the 
respective BCBC lead directorates.  Should gap funds not be identified prior to 
delivery then available budgets for delivery will only be those available through the 
UKSPF and the scope of proposals will have to be revised accordingly as spend 
caanot exceed available budgets.   

  
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 Cabinet is recommended to:  
 

 Agree that Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council assume the role of the 

‘Lead Local Authority’ for the UKSPF for the Cardiff Capital Region. 

 Delegate authority to the Corporate Director Communities to submit to Rhondda 

Cynon Taff County Borough Council the Bridgend County Borough Local 

Page 86



 

Investment Plan information (July 2022), Appendix 1, for delivering the Bridgend 

County UKSPF funding allocation to feed into the development of the CCR Local 

Investment Plan submission to UK Government.  If amendments are required prior 

to 1 August 2022 as a result of further information and guidance from UK 

Government that impact upon finances and/or legal procedures these are to be 

agreed in consultation with the Chief Officer – Legal, and Regulatory Services, HR 

and Corporate Policy and Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change. 

 Delegate authority to the Corporate Director Communities, in consultation with the 

Chief Officer – Legal, and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy, Chief 

Officer – Finance, Performance and Change and the Corporate Director – 

Education and Family Support to negotiate and enter into a CCR regional funding 

agreement with RCTCBC acting as lead authority and to enter into any further 

deeds and documents which are ancillary to the agreement or that are necessary to 

deliver the UKSPF. 

 Subject to the internal governance requirements of the Council agree that the 

Economic Partnership and Economic Programme Board be involved in the local 

governance and oversight of the UKSPF programmes within Bridgend County 

Borough.  

 
Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director, Communities  
 
Lindsay Harvey 
Corporate Director, Education and Family Support 
 
22 July 2022  

 
 

Contact Officer: Ieuan Sherwood  
Group Manager Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability 
 

Telephone:  (01656) 815333 
 
E-mail:  Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk  
 
Postal Address Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB 
 
 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
1 

 

 

 

 

 

United Kingdom Shared 
Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 

 
Bridgend County Borough 
Local Investment Plan 
information 
Challenges, Opportunities and Proposals 
 
 
 
 
July 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Bridgend County Borough Council 

Page 89

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
2 

 

Contents 

UKSPF Programmes Overview ............................................................................................. 3 

Local Challenges and Opportunities ...................................................................................... 4 

Summary of Project Proposals .............................................................................................. 8 

1. Community and Place ................................................................................................... 8 

2. Supporting Local Business .......................................................................................... 10 

3. People and Skills ......................................................................................................... 12 

Local Governance ............................................................................................................... 13 

Risks ................................................................................................................................... 15 

Summary of UKSPF Programme Proposals ........................................................................ 16 

Community and Place ..................................................................................................... 16 

Supporting Local Business .............................................................................................. 17 

People and Skills............................................................................................................. 18 

 

  

Page 90

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
3 

 

UKSPF Programmes Overview 

The UKSPF will support the UK government’s wider commitment to level up all parts of the 
UK by delivering on each of the levelling up objectives:  

• Boost productivity, pay, jobs and living standards by growing the private sector, 
especially in those places where they are lagging Spread opportunities and improve 
public services, especially in those places where they are weakest 

• Restore a sense of community, local pride and belonging, especially in those places 
where they have been lost 

• Empower local leaders and communities, especially in those places lacking local 
agency 

 
Within the overarching objective of the UKSPF of building pride in place and increasing life 
chances, there are three key investment priorities: 

1. Community and Place 
2. Supporting Local Business 
3. People and Skills 

 
Within each of these investment priorities are the following objectives: 

Communities & Place  
• Strengthening social fabric and fostering sense of local pride and belonging 

• Building resilient, safe and healthy neighbourhoods, through targeted improvements 
to the built environment and innovative approaches to crime prevention. 

People & Skills  
• Boosting core skills and support adults to progress in work 

• Reducing levels of economic inactivity through intensive life and employment support 
Supporting people furthest from the labour market to overcome barriers to work 

• Supporting local areas to fund gaps in local skills provision to support people to 
progress in work 

Supporting Local Businesses  
• Creating jobs and boosting community cohesion, through investments that build on 

existing industries and institutions 

• Promoting networking and collaboration 

• Increasing private sector investment in growth-enhancing activities, through targeted 
support for SMEs to undertake new-to-firm innovation, adopt productivity-enhancing, 
energy efficient and low carbon technologies and techniques, and start or grow their 
exports. 

 
This document identifies the challenges and opportunities identified through a number of key 
strategic documents in Bridgend County Borough which identify potential areas of alignment 
with the UKSPF. The document also highlights some areas of opportunity that align with the 
UKSPF. Current thinking in relation to governance arrangements for programme oversight 
and fund disbursement, and programme risks are detailed, to ensure that the programmes 
are well structured, fairly administered, and deliver real outcomes to the residents, 
businesses and communities in Bridgend County Borough. 
 
It is important to note however that detailed technical guidance is yet to be published and 
therefore the information contained, whilst valid at the time of writing is subject to change.  

  

Page 91

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
4 

 

Local Challenges and Opportunities 

The Bridgend Economic Strategy, the Bridgend Local Development Plan, the (draft) 
Bridgend Net Zero Carbon Strategy and the  Bridgend and Cwm Taff Wellbeing Assessment 
set out key challenges across and within each of the three key investment priorities, 
accompanied by substantial evidence from research and from stakeholder engagement and 
consultations.  Whilst there are clear areas of alignment between these documents and 
opportunities through UKSPF it is not the case that all areas are aligned, nor is it the case 
that UKSPF is the only source of funding available to deliver these key strategic documents.  

Challenges aligned to Community and Place theme include: 

• Local resilience planning: Support for local communities to undertake local 
resilience planning, focusing on Health, Climate and Economy. Linked directly to 
future delivery of key local strategies, such as the Climate Response Programme, 
Local Development Plan, Wellbeing Plan and Economic Strategy. 

• Nature recovery and resilience: There is a pressing need for action to build resilient 
ecological networks across our whole land and seascape to safeguard species and 
habitats and the benefits they provide, addressing the root causes of biodiversity 
loss, and targeting interventions to help species recover where necessary (Economic 
Strategy, Wellbeing Assessment). 

• Decarbonisation of the economy: The need for individual, business and community 
action to live more sustainably has been identified in community engagement work, 
and detailed in the Net Zero Carbon Strategy, Wellbeing Assessment and Economic 
Strategy.  

• Transport Infrastructure: Lack of, or deficiencies in, public transport infrastructure, 
especially regarding “last mile” connectivity, particularly in the valleys (Economic 
Strategy). 

• Active Travel: The need to expand active travel infrastructure beyond current plans 
(Economic Strategy, Net Zero Carbon Strategy, Wellbeing Assessment). 

• Town Centres: Bridgend Town Centre in particular needs improvement, but all the 
town centres need attention (Economic Strategy, Local Development Plan). 

• Inequality: The Economic Strategy, Local Development Plan and the Wellbeing 
assessment all identify substantial inequalities between areas (in terms of 
wealth/income, educational attainment, access to resources and employment, 
transport and digital connectivity). 

• Community Safety: Whilst crime is generally lower in Bridgend than in many areas 
of Wales, there remain concerns for some feeling safe walking after dark, in 
particular, some worried about anti-social behaviour and gangs gathering (Wellbeing 
Assessment). 

• Feasibility Planning: Feasibility studies will provide the required data, knowledge 
and understanding leading to further funding bids and will underpin the development 
of future bids to LUF, UKSPF and other strategic funds from any other relevant 
sources. 

 
There are already 4 major projects ongoing in the County Borough which will all contribute to 
significant improvements across Bridgend:  

• the proposed plan for Bridgend Town Centre in the Bridgend Town Centre 
Masterplan; 

• the renovation of the Maesteg Town Hall; 

• the development plans for Porthcawl waterfront; 

• and the “Employment Land” plans for the industrial areas outside Bridgend Town.   
 
 
 
 

Page 92

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
5 

 

Opportunities aligned to Community and Place theme include:  

• Establishment of community resilience committees, the development of a ‘Resilience 
Hwb’ (a virtual hub as well as physical location) offering exhibition, demonstration 
space and a trader’s corner. 

• A fund for community-driven resilience response actions such as feasibility, action 
plans, options appraisals, and a scheme for community projects to include some 
capital. 

• Work with community venues, tying in cultural and heritage sites, to increase 
engagement in the community and sustainability of community groups. 

• Review, refresh and deliver the Nature Recovery Plan in Bridgend to create and 
improve green space. 

• Ensure suitable commercial premises, and flexible working spaces / co-working 
spaces. 

• Coordinating net-zero strategies across the County Borough, including 
public/private/voluntary sectors. 

• Create a long-term programme for rolling out low-carbon retrofitting solutions to the 
wider borough. 

• Support the attractions in the Valleys and Coast through improved signage and 
marketing.  

• Develop more accommodation options to increase the visitor capacity of the area 

• Working with cultural groups to increase and broaden the cultural opportunities 
across the County. 

• Coordinating the planning of public transport services into the evening to support the 
local night-time economy and to support last-mile public transport connectivity.  

Challenges aligned to Supporting Local Businesses theme 

include:  
Challenges identified though broad stakeholder engagement for the Economic Strategy in 
2021 additionally identified: 

• Visitor Attraction / Marketing: A perception of poor marketing and PR for Bridgend 
County (outside of the county) as a place to live and work (Economic Strategy) 

• Decarbonisation: Significant challenges to businesses due to climate change, and 
the imperative to move to a low-carbon economy (Economic Strategy, Net Zero 
Carbon Strategy) 

• Business Premises: A lack of available and suitable business premises prevents 
the Bridgend County business community from reaching its full potential with 
businesses required to be put on a waiting list for premises (Economic Strategy, 
Local Development Plan) 

• Recruitment: Difficulties to recruit skilled individuals, specifically in hospitality, 
tourism, care etc., but more widely too (Economic Strategy consultations) 

• Business Skills: Businesses require a skilled workforce, but they also need specific 
business skills to meet their full potential.  The 2021 business survey undertaken by 
the council indicated that marketing, social media and digital skills (ranging from 
basic knowledge of Microsoft products to more technical IT knowledge) were deemed 
particularly important for local businesses.  Industry-specific skills such as food 
hygiene were also indicated as important. 

 

Opportunities aligned to Supporting Local Business theme 
include:  

• Working across sectors to support businesses to diversify, decarbonise and grow 

Page 93

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
6 

 

• Support for the creation of development and investment plans, built on local needs 
and engagement and the creation of 'fund ready' business plan and delivery 
propositions. 

• Strategic capital interventions across the County that support adaptations to existing 
(council-owned) property to create more diverse business accommodation and 
development of new property. 

• A local enterprise support programme to provide case and account management, 
training, advice and support to existing businesses and support the development of 
new business ideas. 

• Supporting existing and developing tourism events across the County that offer 
opportunities in relation to targeted and niche markets and delivering a range of 
seasonal and targeted marketing campaigns in partnership with the local tourism 
industry. 

Challenges aligned to People and Skills theme include: 

• Skills Gaps: Bridgend County has a structural economic constraint of skill shortage 
which has caused a trend of long-term unemployment (2021 Economic Strategy).  
This has meant that over time, families and communities have become embedded in 
cycles of unemployment, exacerbating already existing issues of deprivation and 
inequality.    

• Economic Inactivity / Worklessness: The Economic Strategy and Wellbeing 
Assessment identify deep-rooted economic and social problems within some areas of 
Bridgend County Borough.  This is most clearly recognised in the labour market 
where there are issues of high economic inactivity (almost 30% in some areas) and 
significant geographical inequality. There is a large pool of jobless people who are 
potentially available to work, although a significant proportion of whom are likely to 
require varying degrees of assistance to re-enter the labour market one of the large 
drivers of the higher economic inactivity rate is a comparatively high number of 
people who are long-term sick.   

• Young People Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET): There is a 
need to reduce the number of 11 to 19-year-olds who are in education but at risk of 
becoming not in education, training, or employment (Pre-NEET), and those who are  
16 to 24-year-olds who are NEET, to bring about their sustainable integration into the 
labour market, thereby contributing to a reduction in youth unemployment (Economic 
Strategy, Wellbeing Assessment). 

 

Opportunities aligned to People and Skills theme include:  
For Bridgend County, capacity building is essential across all levels of the community, to 
develop skills and competencies to take greater control of their own lives and contribute to 
inclusive local development. 
 

• There is significant untapped economic potential to be unlocked by facilitating re-
skilling and up-skilling of the existing workforce.  

• Continued focus on basic skills is needed to ensure workforce (and potential 
workforce) with a strong and broad set of basic skills that encourages people into 
work and ensures they can succeed.  

• Bridgend County can capitalise on its strong background in the advanced 
manufacturing sector, bringing economic advantage as that sector develops and 
enabling Bridgend County to consolidate its position as a regional hub. 

• The Low Carbon economy is set to expand rapidly and create a wealth of new jobs.  
Bridgend County can capitalise on this with the right training programmes, aligned to 
national and local strategies to de-carbonise the economy. 

Page 94

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
7 

 

• Support young people to make a positive transition into education, employment or 
training when they leave school, reduce the number of 11 to 24-year-olds who are 
NEET, and address wider issues such as poor emotional/physical/sexual health and 
youth homelessness. 

• Boost learning, skills and employability in the immediate and future workforce 
especially those cohorts with barriers to establishing a secure employment situation.  

  

Page 95

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
8 

 

Summary of Project Proposals 

1. Community and Place  

Bridgend County Local Resilience Planning 

Support for local communities to undertake local resilience planning, focusing on Health, 
Climate and Economy, linked directly to future delivery of key local strategies, such as the 
Climate Response Programme, Local Development Plan, Wellbeing Plan and Economic 
Strategy. To include activities such as community resilience analysis, the establishment of 
community resilience committees, support for community-driven resilience response actions, 
the development of the ‘Resilience Hwb’ (a virtual hub as well as a physical, town centre 
location) offering exhibition, demonstration space and a traders corner. Also, Resilience Hwb 
on tour (a series of local-level talks, seminars and workshops targeted at the local level.  In 
addition to this the options for action in relation to sites identified as community challenges 
will be explored.  
This will be delivered at a local level using a mix of in-house, commissioning and 
procurement. 

Current proposed value 
£1,000,050 

Bridgend County Thriving Communities 
Part (a): Community Capacity and Development Building Programme  
The community development and building capacity programme will include a range of new 
approaches co-produced with people and communities including the delivery of some 
approaches and programmes that have previously been progressed as pilot phases of 
development. This could include a new third sector fund to replace similar previous locally 
administered grant programmes.   
 
Part (b): Transforming Bridgend County Borough/ Transforming Commercial Centres  
Transforming Bridgend will support the design, development and feasibility of projects 
already identified through local placemaking and masterplaning strategies. 
The capital element will extend funding to support commercial property grants beyond main 
town centres (outside of Transforming Towns Boundary), but also support major town centre 
infrastructure projects as match funding to the Transforming Towns programme.  
 
Thriving Communities will be delivered at a local level using a mix of in-house, 
commissioning, procurement, and grant fund. 
 

Current proposed value 
£2,080,000 

Bridgend County Green Spaces Enhancement Scheme 
Part (a): Bridgend County Local Nature Plan 
This will take forward the delivery of the Bridgend County Local Nature Plan and deliver key 
actions outlined in the Biodiversity and Ecosystems Recovery Plan.  A targeted approach will 
be adopted to carry out a wide range of locally focused biodiversity enhancement schemes 
based on local engagement and local involvement. Alongside this, a 'biodiversity' budgeting 
concept will be rolled out with resources being made available for community-led green 
space and biodiversity enhancement activities.   
This will be delivered at a local level, although it has the opportunity to operate on a Sub-
regional level, using a mix of in-house, commissioning and procurement. 
  

Page 96

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
9 

 

Part (b): The Great Glamorgan Way.  
This is a project which aims to continue to deliver a coherent 270KM network of green 
corridors within the South Wales Central region for the purposes of improving bridleway 
access and habitat connectivity. The project will also continue to develop its work on 
assessing and growing the economic impact the network will have with the varying local 
communities it passes through. 

Current proposed value 
£725,000 

Bridgend County Community Future Scoping programme 
Support the creation of development and investment plans, built on local needs and 
engagement and the creation of 'fund ready' business plans, funding bids and delivery 
propositions. 
This will be delivered at a local level using a mix of in-house, commissioning, procurement, 
and grant fund. 

Current proposed value 
£400,000 

Bridgend County Prosperity Co-Production Framework  
This cross-cutting framework will provide the opportunity to adopt a co-production approach 
to design and delivery and adaptable and responsive delivery mechanisms by specialist 
organisations with targeted local to regional delivery in response to needs as they are 
considered to be and change.  This will be delivered locally and will involve in-house, 
commissioning, procurement and grant fund. 

Current proposed value 
£1,000,000 
 

  

Page 97

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
10 

 

2. Supporting Local Business 

Bridgend County Business Prosperity programme 
This programme will work across sectors to support businesses to diversify, decarbonise 
and grow through a wide range of targeted, clustered and County-wide interventions that 
enhance the capacity of businesses to develop and support opportunity maximisation. This 
will be delivered at a local level using a mix of in-house, commissioning, procurement and 
grant fund. 

Current proposed value 
£1,100,000 

Bridgend County Business Future Scoping programme 

Support the creation of development and investment plans, built on local needs and 
engagement and the creation of 'fund ready' business plans, funding bids and delivery 
propositions. This will enable the exploration of longer-term options to diversify, decarbonise 
and grow This will be delivered at a local level using a mix of in-house, commissioning, 
procurement and grant fund. 

Current proposed value 
£425,000 

Bridgend County Centres of Enterprise 
A series of strategic capital interventions across the County that support adaptations to 
existing property to create more diverse business accommodation and development of new 
property. This could include the target to develop the ‘Net-Zero market’.  Examples, such as: 

• Bridgend carbon neutral indoor market  

• Industrial property development 

• Town centre business premises  
This will be delivered at a local level using a mix of in-house, commissioning and 
procurement. 

Current proposed value 
£ 3,500,000 

Bridgend County Local Enterprise Support Programme 
A local enterprise support programme to provide case and account management, training, 
advice and support to existing businesses and support the development of new business 
ideas. To enable a focus on ‘meanwhile’ spaces as a mechanism for businesses to test new 
products and markets and a series of meet-the-buyer-focused interventions.  This would 
work with the Bridgend Business Forum. 
This will be delivered at a local level using a mix of in-house, commissioning and 

procurement. 

Current proposed value 
£450,000 

Bridgend County Tourism Events Support 
Tourism events support will provide a tiered approach to supporting existing and developing 
tourism events across the County that offer opportunities in relation to targeted and niche 
markets.  Coordination will be through a central portal and point of contact that will enable 
local supply chain development.  Alongside these opportunities to identify suitable assets 
and event spaces will be explored and developed as is considered feasible. This will be 
delivered at a local level using a mix of in-house, commissioning, procurement, and grant 
fund. 

Page 98

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
11 

 

Current proposed value 
£450,000 

Bridgend County Local Destination Management and Marketing 
This will enable local attraction enhancement and support the delivery of a range of seasonal 
and targeted marketing campaigns in partnership with the local tourism industry.  That 
partnership approach will support the development of a new and unique range of package 
offers. 

Coordination of County wide destinations will enable the local economy to better respond to 
peak and seasonal demand placed upon it by tourism and ensure that visitor experience is 
enhanced. This will be delivered at a local level using a mix of in-house, commissioning, 
procurement and grant fund. 

Current proposed value 
£150,000 

Bridgend County Prosperity Co-Production Framework  
This cross-cutting framework will provide the opportunity to adopt a co-production approach 
to design and delivery and adaptable and responsive delivery mechanisms by specialist 
organisations with targeted local to regional delivery in response to needs as they are 
considered to be and change.  This will be delivered locally and will involve in-house, 
commissioning, procurement and grant fund. 
 

Current proposed value 
£1,000,000 

 
  

Page 99

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
12 

 

3. People and Skills 

CELT+ (as part of a regional model) 
This programme has 3 parts: 

CELT + Bridgend Inspire 2 Work /Achieve 

Preventative work with Key Stage 3 and Key Stage 4 and other young people who are 
disengaging and disengaged with education, training and employment and need support to 
secure a suitable post-16 destination. Resources for participants (homeless, poor digital 
skills) to engage with services. The programme will delivery on the CELT model of 
engagement, community based using third sector partners as the point of contact, health 
board, young people. 

This will be delivered locally and there is an aspiration for it to be co-ordinated regionally by 
a lead Local Authority. It will be delivered locally via in house, commissioning and 
procurement.  

Current proposed value 
£3,150,000 

CELT+ Employability - Bridgend County 
The programme will support a number of key intervention stages to support people within the 
County Borough: Getting involved; Becoming more employable; accessing employment; 
staying in employment; employment progression.  
The programme will delivery on the CELT model of engagement, community based using 
third sector partners as the point of contact, health board, young people. 
This will be delivered locally and there is an aspiration for it to be co-ordinated regionally by 
a lead Local Authorities will be delivered locally via in house, commissioning and 
procurement. 

Current proposed value 
£4,000,000 

CELT+ Regional Procurement Opportunities  
In order to support clients to achieve the best and most sustainable job we will work with 
regional partners, supported by the Regional Skills Partnership, to procure appropriate 
support for the CELT + cohort which will provide training and support to all age clients in 
Bridgend to access opportunities across the region. These industries which are currently 
new and niche are expecting high growth and investment and are predicted to provide 
secure sustainable employment going forward requiring skills which will be in high demand 
in the future. 

Current proposed value 
£875,000 

Multiply - Bridgend County 
Multiply is a standalone programme within the UKSPF that will seek to support adults (19+) 
by improving their functional numeracy skills through free personal tutoring, digital training, 
and flexible courses. 
 
UK Government has defined success measures under the Multiply programme as: 

1. More adults achieving maths qualifications / participating in numeracy courses (up to 
and including Level 2/ SCQF Level 5). 

2. Improved labour market outcomes e.g. fewer numeracy skills gaps reported by 
employers, and an increase in the proportion of adults that progress into sustained 
employment and / or education. 

3. Increased adult numeracy across the population. 

Page 100

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
13 

 

A range of delivery mechanisms are being explored for Multiply within the region and at a 
local level.  Therefore, it is currently considered that it will be delivered locally via in house, 
commissioning and procurement. 

Current proposed value 
£3,990,295 

Bridgend County Prosperity Co-Production Framework  
This cross-cutting framework will provide the opportunity to adopt a co-production approach 
to design and delivery and adaptable and responsive delivery mechanisms by specialist 
organisations with targeted local to regional delivery in response to needs as they are 
considered to be and change.  This will be delivered locally and will involve in-house, 
commissioning, procurement and grant fund. 

Current proposed value 
£1,000,000 
 

Local Governance 

 
A two-tier governance structure has recently been implemented at a local level as the result 
of the 2022 Economic Strategy, resulting in the establishment of the Bridgend Economic 
Partnership, which reports to the BCBC Economic Programme Board. Given that the 
majority of the potential UKSPF funded programmes address economic development 
challenges, it is proposed that the Economic Partnership and Economic Programme Boards 
are appropriate structures for governance and oversight of the UKSPF programmes within 
Bridgend County Borough. Close liaison and interaction will be required for oversight of the 
programmes that align more closely to the Public Services Board (PSB) agenda.  
 
This is represented in the following diagram: 
 

 
 
 
The focus will be on balancing requirements for business recovery/growth with community 
wellbeing, environmental imperatives and ecological health, and recommending short, 
medium and longer-term actions to address these. 
 

Page 101

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
14 

 

The council already has well-established governance models for programme execution in 
the existing Programme Board model. This model, along with the existing Council, Cabinet 
and Committee structures is employed to ensure democratic oversight, decision making and 
accountability for decisions that affect the communities, businesses and the natural 
environment. The Economic Programme Board is comprised of representatives from key 
departments, is chaired by the relevant cabinet member or director, and reports into the 
Cabinet and Corporate Management Board (CCMB). 

 

  

Page 102

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
15 

 

Risks 

 

UKSPF funded proposals face a number of key risk areas that could impact their success in 
achieving the target outcomes. General risks include: 

• Mobilisation and scale-up of delivery capacity: there is a significant amount of 
delivery expected within a two-year period. A key risk relates to a failure to recruit 
sufficient project delivery staff, to ensure capacity to deliver (this applies equally to 
BCBC staff and staff within delivery partners). 

• Insufficient funds to complete target objectives: In preparing the UKSPF 
proposals, informed assumptions have had to be made regarding the cost of delivery. 
Given ongoing inflationary pressures, there is a risk that funding falls short of the 
actual cost to deliver. 

• Stakeholder Engagement: All of the proposals will require on-going engagement 
with local residents, businesses and stakeholders in order to deliver true co-
production of programmes. Insufficient engagement with stakeholders will lead to 
poor take up of opportunities provided by UKSPF, resulting in likely shortfalls in 
target outcomes.  

• Poor collaboration / alignment across delivery partners and within the council: 
Effective collaboration across council departments and delivery partners will be vital 
to ensure effective and integrated delivery planning and delivery. 

• Council Processes: The ability of participating local authorities to process all the 
required actions within a timely manner will be vital to delivery success.  

• Unknown support landscape from March 2023: There exists a risk of planning a 
programme without full knowledge of the support landscape post March 2023, which 
may subsequently turn out to be insufficient to sustain the programme. 

• Significant external events: large scale, disruptive external events or developments 
(e.g. Covid, International Conflict) beyond the influence of BCBC or delivery partners 
could cause significant disruption / delay to delivery programmes. 

• Poor quality of contractors: Where contractors are required to deliver works or 
elements of a programme, it is essential that appropriate minimum quality standards 
are maintained. 

• Alignment of UKSPF with Welsh Government Programmes and funding: It will 
be important to ensure alignment between UKSPF and WG programmes and funding 
streams, to maximise the benefits from both. 

• Timing of UKSPF funding: Delays in the decision-making timetable of UKSPF could 
have knock-on impacts in relation to the delivery timetable of UKSPF.  

 

 
  

Page 103

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
16 

 

Summary of UKSPF Programme Proposals 

Community and Place 
Proposals Activities Delivery model Delivery level Current proposed 

value 
 

Bridgend County 
Local Resilience 

Planning 

Health; Economy; 
Climate 

In-house; commission; 
procurement 

Local; sub-regional £1,000,050 

Bridgend County 
Thriving 

Communities 

Capital/revenue grant 
fund for community 

group access 

In-house/commission; 
grant fund 

Local £2,080,000 

Bridgend County 
Green Spaces 
Enhancement 

Scheme 

Targeted green space 
and biodiversity 
enhancement 

programme, including 
Great Glamorgan Way 

In-house; commission; 
procurement 

Local; sub-regional £725,000 

Bridgend County 
Community Future 

Scoping programme 

Fund to test the 
feasibility of longer 
term community-led 

ideas 

In-house/commission; 
grant fund 

Local £400,000 

Bridgend County 
Prosperity Co-

Production 
Framework 

Core fund to support 
deliverability across all 

themes 

In-house; grant fund Local £1,000,000 

    £5,205,050 

 
 

Page 104

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
17 

 

Supporting Local Business 
Proposals  Activities Delivery model Delivery level Current proposed 

value 
 

Bridgend County 
Business Prosperity 

programme 

Grant fund to support 
business 

diversification, 
decarbonise and 

growth 

In-house; grant fund Local; sub-regional £1,100,000 

Bridgend County 
Business Future 

Scoping programme 

Grant fund to support 
feasibility of longer-

term options for 
diversification, 

decarbonise and 
growth 

In-house; grant fund Local; sub-regional £425,000 

Bridgend County 
Centres of Enterprise 

Capital support to 
create more diverse 

business 
accommodation 

In-house; commission; 
procurement 

Local £3,500,000 

Bridgend County 
Local Enterprise 

Support Programme 

Networking, training 
and development for 

local businesses 

In-house; commission; 
procurement 

Local £450,000 

Bridgend County 
Tourism Events 

Support 

Tiered grant fund to 
support events across 

the County 

In-house; grant fund Local £450,000 

Bridgend County 
Local Destination 

Management & 
Marketing 

Product-led marketing 
campaigns 

In-house; commission; 
procurement 

Local £150,000 

Bridgend County 
Prosperity Co-

Production 
Framework 

Core fund to support 
deliverability across all 

themes 

In-house; grant fund Local £1,000,000 

    £7,075,000 

 

  

Page 105

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
 
 www.bridgend.gov.uk 

 
18 

 

People and Skills 
Proposals Activities Delivery model Delivery level Current proposed 

value 
 

CELT+ Bridgend 
Inspire 2 Work / 

Achieve 

Support for NEETS In-house; Commission; 
procurement 

Local £3,150,000 

CELT + Employability 
-Bridgend County 

Employability support 
for employees to 

improve labour market 
position 

In-house; Commission; 
procurement 

Local and regional co-
ordination 

£4,000,000 

CELT+ Regional 
Joint Commissioning 

Support for local 
employers to improve 

the skills of their 
workforce 

Commission; 
procurement; grant 

fund 

Sub-regional; regional £875,000 

Multiply – Bridgend 
County 

Adult numeracy 
support programme 

In-house; Commission; 
procurement 

Local; sub-regional; 
regional 

£3,990,295 

Bridgend County 
Prosperity Co-

production 
Framework (cross-

cutting) 

Core fund to support 
deliverability across all 

themes 

In-house; grant fund Local £1,000,000 

    £13,015,295 

 

Page 106

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

REPORT TO CABINET 

 

19 JULY 2022 

 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES 

 

REPLACEMENT LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN  

SUBMISSION DOCUMENT 

 

1. Purpose of report  

 

1.1 For Cabinet to consider the Deposit Plan Consultation Report Summary Document 

(Appendix 1) and the proposed submission version of the Replacement Local 

Development Plan (RLDP) as amended following public consultation (Appendices 

2&3) and to agree the amended RLDP and to recommend to Council that the RLDP 

as amended be submitted to Welsh Government and Planning and Environment 

Decisions Wales (PEDW) for independent examination. The appendices 

accompanying the report can be viewed by clicking on the link below:  

 

https://bridgendcountycouncil.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/ReplacementLocalDevelopmentP

lan/EhJGe61nNYFEuKyYqB19oLUB6_GQDYSIT-JRiqgo8xXCvA?e=43D1Lc  

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 

 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 

under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   

 

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 

county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 

and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 

qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

3. Background 

 

3.1 An up-to-date Local Development Plan (LDP) is an essential part of a plan-led 

planning system in Wales. It sets the framework to ensure that the planning system 

contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development in a co-ordinated 

manner, enabling a wider, problem-solving outlook than would be possible by dealing 

with local issues in isolation. Without an up-to-date LDP, it would become 

progressively difficult for the Council to focus on integrating and addressing multiple 

land use concerns and the local planning process would become fragmented, un-

coordinated and reactive.  

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 8

https://bridgendcountycouncil.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/ReplacementLocalDevelopmentPlan/EhJGe61nNYFEuKyYqB19oLUB6_GQDYSIT-JRiqgo8xXCvA?e=43D1Lc
https://bridgendcountycouncil.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/ReplacementLocalDevelopmentPlan/EhJGe61nNYFEuKyYqB19oLUB6_GQDYSIT-JRiqgo8xXCvA?e=43D1Lc


 

3.2 The first release of data from the 2021 Census has shown that towns and cities on 

the M4 corridor in South East Wales are growing rapidly, with Bridgend's population 

growth (4.5%) being the third highest in Wales after Newport (9.5%) and Cardiff 

(4.7%). The population of Bridgend has increased from 139,178 at the time of the 

2011 Census, to 145,500 at the time of the 2021 Census. These demographic 

pressures drive the need for housing growth across the County Borough and the 

RLDP is the fundamental tool to accommodate this growth by planning for sustainable 

development.  Throughout the life of the Plan, people will continue to have children, 

students will continue to graduate, new households will continue to form, and some 

existing family units will continue to breakdown. These housing supply pressures will 

not pause for housing delivery to catch up. The key means of addressing this issue 

is to ensure the RLDP contains sufficient deliverable sites, otherwise the gap between 

housing delivery and population growth will continue to widen and more housing sites 

will be needed in the future.  

 

3.3 Position on Existing Adopted LDP (2006 – 2021) 

 

3.4 The existing Bridgend LDP (adopted on 18th September 2013) sets out the priorities 

and objectives of the Corporate Plan in land-use terms and was designed to cover 

the period 2006–2021. In September 2020, the (then) Minister for Housing and Local 

Government confirmed that LDPs adopted prior to 4th January 2016 will remain the 

basis for determining planning applications until replaced by a further LDP. Whilst the 

existing LDP will remain extant, the material weight attached to the existing LDP and 

its evidence base will progressively diminish now that the original plan period has 

concluded. The existing LDP evidence base was prepared over a decade ago, is out 

of date and cannot be relied upon to justify planning decisions to the same extent as 

it once was. Therefore, inaction will place the Council in an increasingly tenuous 

position, open to challenge from the development industry, and there will be ongoing 

implications for rational, co-ordinated and consistent planning decisions across the 

County Borough.  

 

3.5 Moreover, the Council is statutorily required, under Section 69 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to undertake a full review of the adopted LDP at 

intervals not longer than every 4 years from the date of adoption. As such, a review 

was triggered and a Review Report was published in 2018. That report recognised 

an urgent need to address the shortfall in the housing land supply through the 

identification of additional housing sites, whilst identifying other significant contextual 

changes in circumstances and policy at a national, regional and local level.  

 

3.6 Monitoring of the Existing Adopted LDP (2006 – 2021) 

 

3.7 The Council has a statutory obligation to keep all matters under review that are 

expected to affect the development of its area and to produce information on these 

matters in the form of an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR, under sections 61 and 76 

of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, respectively).  

 

Page 108



 

3.8 The 2021 AMR noted that the strategically planned developments completed since 

adoption of the existing LDP have collectively levied significant investment into the 

County Borough and delivered new homes and jobs for our communities. Evidence 

collected through the monitoring process clearly shows that good progress has been 

made in the delivery of the majority of LDP targets, which must be seen as a positive. 

However, the AMR reaffirmed that several key housing provision policy targets are 

now not being met, thereby indicating that these policies are no longer functioning as 

intended. 

 

3.9 Shortfall in housing delivery 

 

3.10 This issue has been highlighted by the new housing delivery monitoring system 

prescribed by Welsh Government. The Council is required to use the Annual Average 

Requirement (AAR) method as the primary indicator to measure housing delivery, 

and to include a housing trajectory within the AMR. This new process has established 

two new monitoring indicators. The first is the annual level of housing completions 

monitored against the AAR set out in the plan (i.e. housing requirement / 15 years = 

AAR). The second is the total cumulative housing completions monitored against the 

cumulative AAR set out in the plan. The Council must include commentary on the 

results, implications, and set out clearly what action is being undertaken to address 

any housing shortfall/under delivery on the plan strategy. The 2021 AMR showed 

that: 

 

 There has been an annual shortfall in housing delivery against the AAR. In 

2020/21, completions were 300 dwellings below what was anticipated (there 

were 346 actual dwelling completions compared to an AAR of 646 dwellings, 

a shortfall of -46%). 

 The cumulative average annual housing requirement from the start of the plan 

period to 31st March 2021 was 9,690 units. Actual cumulative completions 

have been 6,770 dwellings. This represents a 2,920 dwelling shortfall in 

housing delivery over the plan period to date (-30%). 

 

3.11 These two indicators clearly demonstrate an even more pressing need to adopt the 

RLDP since the Review Report was published in 2018. Dwelling completions are 

ultimately failing to keep pace with the housing requirement. Whilst the existing LDP 

has been successful in bringing forward several (primarily brownfield) residential and 

mixed-use allocations, other brownfield allocations have not come forward as 

anticipated. This has meant that the number of remaining deliverable sites has 

progressively dwindled at the end of the existing plan period, resulting in lower annual 

dwelling completions. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 109



 

3.12 Combatting Ad Hoc Development 

 

3.13 This is an issue that the development industry is critically aware of and monitors 

closely, whilst also exploring potential development opportunities out of accord with 

the existing LDP’s strategy. If left unaddressed, this situation could act as a catalyst 

for speculative planning applications to come forward on sites in unsustainable 

locations. The Council would then have to increasingly exercise its planning function 

on a piecemeal basis rather than in a co-ordinated, strategic manner. This would not 

only provide less certainty to the public but also minimise the planning system’s ability 

to secure wider strategic infrastructure improvements (i.e. schools, highways, 

recreation and affordable housing) for the benefit of our communities.  

 

3.14 This has become a growing issue for other Local Planning Authorities in Wales that 

exhibit similar housing land supply shortages. Indeed, initial decisions to not grant 

planning consent for unsustainable housing developments have been overturned at 

appeal elsewhere due to a lack of local housing land supply. Bridgend County 

Borough has always had up-to-date development plan coverage and it is imperative 

that this is not compromised if the Council is to continue to deliver the most 

sustainable local planning outcomes.   

 

3.15 The key means of addressing this issue is to not only ensure the RLDP is adopted, 

but that it contains sufficient deliverable sites, whilst balancing all other cross-cutting 

issues and drivers, otherwise the gap between housing delivery and the housing 

requirement will continue to widen and even more housing sites will be needed in the 

future to offset the shortfall.  

 

3.16 An up-to-date RLDP, with a refreshed evidence base, will ensure the Council 

continues to have a sound basis for rational and consistent decisions. This is the 

single most effective means of combating ad hoc ‘planning by appeal’ and ensuring 

multiple land use planning concerns can be addressed in an integrated, co-ordinated 

and sustainable manner.  The RLDP will not only address the shortfall in the housing 

delivery by facilitating the allocation of additional housing land but also enable a co-

ordinated response to local land use issues and contribute to a range of wider 

strategic infrastructure improvements.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 110



 

 

3.17 Local Development Plan preparation process 

 

3.18 The preparation of LDPs is strictly controlled by Welsh Government’s national 

planning policy (Planning Policy Wales) and Development Plans Manual. A broad 

overview of the RLDP process is depicted in the flow diagram below, with the current 

Submission Stage highlighted in orange. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 111



 

4. Current situation/proposal 

 

4.1 The Replacement Local Development Plan (RLDP)  

4.2 The RLDP consists of a Written Statement and Proposals Map. The Written 

Statement as amended following consultation is attached as Appendix 2. The 

Proposals Map as amended following consultation is attached as Appendix 3. The 

Written Statement outlines local planning policies, land use allocations and 

associated justification based on the supporting evidence. The Proposals Map 

illustrates the land use allocations, settlement boundaries and planning designations 

proposed in the Plan, which are key to delivery of the Spatial Strategy. The Plan is 

also accompanied by a separate Constraints Map, which illustrates existing identified 

environmental designations and other physical constraints. A succinct overview of the 

Plans chapters is set out below: 

4.3 Chapter 1 – Introduction: sets out the background and purpose of the RLDP. 

4.4 Chapter 2 - Spatial /Strategic Context: this chapter provides an area profile and 

overview and policy context. 

4.5 Chapter 3 - Key Issues and Drivers: sets out the key issues and drivers identified 

through the RLDP preparation process that have directly informed the development 

of the vision and objectives.  

4.6 Chapter 4 – Strategic Framework: this section of the document sets out the 

overarching Vision to ultimately define what the RLDP is working towards. The RLDP 

Vision has been developed to take into account the Bridgend Local Well-being Plan 

with the specific characteristics and key issues affecting the County Borough. A 

summary of chapter 4 is set out below: 

4.7 Vision and Objectives 

4.8 The RLDP Vision will be delivered through the achievement of 4 Strategic Objectives, 

which will be underpinned by 35 Specific Objectives. These seek to reflect updated 

national policy and legislation and address the issues facing the County Borough. 

The development of the Objectives has also been informed by the Sustainability 

Appraisal (SA) incorporating the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 

process, particularly the key sustainability issues which should be addressed in the 

RLDP. These identified issues have been carried forward to underpin the SA process, 

thereby shaping the following four Strategic Objectives, which are central to the 

RLDP:  

 SOBJ1: To Create High Quality Sustainable Places (Placemaking) 

 SOBJ2: To Create Active, Healthy, Cohesive and Social Communities 

 SOBJ3: To Create Productive and Enterprising Places 

 SOBJ4: To Protect and Enhance Distinctive and Natural Places  

Page 112



 

4.9 The Strategic Objectives have been defined to reflect identified key issues, align with 

national policy and ensure an appropriate balance between the different elements of 

sustainability. They are cross-cutting in their nature and also cross-reference the 

goals and objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and 

Bridgend Local Well-being Plan (LWBP). Acting together, the Vision and Strategic 

Objectives provide an overarching framework to underpin all other components of the 

RLDP.  

4.10 In turn, the Vision and 4 Strategic Objectives are supported by 35 Specific Objectives. 

These have been devised to create the right conditions to address the various social, 

cultural, environmental and economic well-being outcomes. The objectives will also 

form part of the basis for monitoring the implementation of the Plan, once adopted 

and operational. 

4.11 Growth and Spatial Strategy (Placemaking) 

4.12 Development will ultimately be directed towards environs conducive to 

sustainable placemaking that facilitate a balance of environmentally friendly, 

economically vibrant, and socially inclusive characteristics, aiming to benefit current 

inhabitants and future generations alike. Sustainable placemaking is therefore an 

overarching concept that underpins the RLDP. 

4.13 Correspondingly, and in order to achieve the Vision and Objectives of the LDP, 

the Council will follow a Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Strategy. This will 

provide the framework to help realise the regeneration priorities of the Council, 

whilst also apportioning sustainable growth towards existing settlements that 

demonstrate strong employment, service and transportation functions (foundation 

economy). This dual faceted approach seeks to broadly balance housing, 

economic development, connectivity, social needs and environmental protection 

and enhancement to allow the County Borough to prosper, whilst contributing to 

the success of the Cardiff Capital Region and Swansea Bay Region. This has 

directly informed and resulted in the formulation of Strategic Policy (SP1), which 

outlines how the RLDP will make provision to deliver the Regeneration and 

Sustainable Growth Strategy between 2018- 2033.  

4.14 The proposed growth level of 505 dwellings per annum is derived from a demographic 

scenario that calibrates its assumptions from a 6-year historical period (2013/14–

2018/19). This period (post-Great Recession, yet pre-pandemic) witnessed 

sustainable population growth. As such, the RLDP makes provision for 8,590 new 

homes to meet a housing requirement of 7,575 dwellings (based on a 13% Flexibility 

Allowance (a requirement of Welsh Government)), including 1,646 affordable homes. 

4.15 This trajectory will lead to more established households (particularly around the 35-

44 age group) both remaining within and moving into the County Borough, coupled 

with less outward migration across other economically active age groups. This will 

encourage a more youthful, skilled population base to counter-balance and support 

the ageing population, seeking to sustainably manage an overall population increase 

Page 113



 

of 13,681 people over the plan period (2018-2033). This Growth Strategy is deemed 

the most appropriate, sustainable means to deliver the RLDP Vision and Objectives. 

It also conforms with national policy, as Future Wales identifies Bridgend County 

Borough as a Growth Area, and Welsh Government support this level of growth for 

the County Borough.  

4.16 Employment Land Strategy 

4.17 The projected increase in the working age population and the linked dwelling 

requirement will provide significant scope for residents to live and work in the area, 

supporting up to 500 new jobs per annum. Hence, 71.7 hectares of available land is 

allocated for employment development to meet the needs of the employment market 

and accommodate the new jobs identified. Achieving a wide and balanced portfolio 

of employment uses is central to the RLDP’s Strategy. This will allow the local 

economy to attract higher value-added employment uses (including life sciences, 

construction, energy, decarbonisation and telecommunications) as well as supporting 

the significant manufacturing base that continues to be an important facet and driver 

of growth for the local economy. This approach will help minimise the need for out-

commuting and promote more self-contained, inter-connected communities, thereby 

achieving an equilibrium between the number of homes provided and the job 

opportunities expected. The Growth Strategy can be succinctly explained by the 

acronym ‘CARM’, which summarises the Strategy’s intentions to Counter-balance 

the ageing population by Attracting skilled, economically active households, 

Retaining skilled, economically active households and rendering the County Borough 

a Magnet for employers to expand within or move into.  

4.18 Prejudicing the County Borough’s future economic resilience   

4.19 Failure to progress with the RLDP would have severe implications for the future 

resilience of the County Borough’s economy. Dwelling completions would become 

more erratic and the regular annual build rate could drop to a level that’s insufficient 

to provide enough new housing for newly forming households. This would risk a 

decline in the number of economically active households both remaining within and 

being attracted to Bridgend County Borough. Many newly forming households would 

have to move out of the County Borough to meet their housing needs and 

demographic trends show that depopulation would be most likely amongst the 

established 35-44 age group. This would simultaneously lead to a proportionate 

increase in households aged 60+ and therefore a growing number of economically 

inactive people residing within the County Borough. 

4.20 Without a younger population to counter-balance and support this older population, 

the County Borough’s ability to attract and retain employers would be severely 

hampered. In the medium term, the area could become increasingly unattractive to 

new employers and major employers may also be inclined to leave Bridgend over 

time due to the lack of an active, skilled labour force within the local population base. 

Already established households that previously lived and worked in the County 

Borough may also have to begin commuting out of the area for work purposes, 

Page 114



 

thereby encouraging unsustainable transport patterns and generating long-term 

impacts for local economic growth and resilience. The County Borough’s ability to 

attract inward investment, deliver sustainable economic growth and diversify the 

employment sector would be considerably impeded. This could equally affect 

Bridgend’s ability to continue performing a sub-regional employment and service 

centre role that promotes sustainable forms of travel.  

4.21 Wider Strategic Infrastructure Improvements and Community Investment 

4.22 Adequate and efficient infrastructure is crucial for economic, social and environmental 

sustainability.  It underpins economic competitiveness and opportunities for 

households and businesses to achieve socially and environmentally desirable ways 

of living and working.   

4.23 Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) has collaborated with key partners and 

providers to ensure that development identified in the RLDP is located so that it can 

be well served by infrastructure. In the first instance, consideration has been made of 

capacity and identifying opportunities to maximise the use of existing 

infrastructure.  Where the provision of new infrastructure is required, efforts have 

focussed on ensuring its delivery is sustainable and can be co-ordinated and timed 

to support the place making aspirations of the RLDP.  This simply wouldn’t be 

possible if the Council abandoned production of the RLDP and had to resort to dealing 

with speculative planning applications in isolation. 

4.24 In all cases, infrastructure choices have and will be informed by the need to support 

decarbonisation, create socially and economically connected places and ensure the 

sustainable use of natural resources.  

4.25 The RLDP enables holistic opportunities to secure accompanying infrastructure such 

as improved education provision, affordable housing, leisure facilities and 

transportation provision. For example: 

4.26 Population growth will give rise to demand for school places in the future. The RLDP 

has considered the collective impacts of all future developments together to forecast 

future scenarios and ensure they can be effectively planned for. If there is limited or 

no spare capacity in the existing school(s), this will be mitigated through developer 

contributions to avoid developments placing a burden on communities. Sustainable 

growth at a strategic scale will have to be supported by new school provision and the 

other necessary education infrastructure to be acceptable in planning terms. The 

RLDP will deliver 5 new primary schools and significant contributions towards 

secondary school contributions. Without a RLDP, future planning for education 

provision would be more reactive to isolated developments and necessarily 

conducted in a more disjointed manner.  

4.27 A Strategic Transport Assessment has been completed, which tests the combined 

impact of proposed developments far more accurately than individual transport 

assessments can do.  This has quantified the collective impact of proposals upon the 

Page 115



 

transport network and recommended the appropriate package of interventions 

necessary to mitigate development. Capacity issues at major road junctions will be 

addressed by requiring new traffic management provision, key junction upgrades, 

new roads, improved public transport links and Active Travel enhancements. 

4.28 The delivery of new homes helps to ease housing market pressure by boosting supply 

and enabling delivery of additional, complementary affordable housing to offer safety 

and security for local families unable to meet their needs in the housing market. This 

can include social rent, where rents are typically set at benchmark levels, and 

intermediate housing for first time buyers struggling to get onto the property ladder. 

The Replacement LDP has considered how far it can contribute to the delivery of 

affordable housing in a comprehensive way and has tested the level of developer 

contributions viable to provide integrated affordable housing within new 

developments. This provides more certainty on the level of contributions expected to 

better foster sustainable, mixed tenure communities from the outset.  

4.29 All new housing developments will be expected to include an appropriate level of 

outdoor recreation for public amenity purposes in the interest of Good Design, based 

on the benchmark standards endorsed by Fields in Trust, the National Society of 

Allotment and Leisure Gardeners Policies and Natural Resources Wales’ Green 

Space Toolkit. The Replacement LDP will provide a mechanism for the Council to 

work with developers to maintain an optimal level and balance of good quality outdoor 

recreation space for all its residents.  

4.30 Health Care: The Council acknowledges that the new homes required to help manage 

population growth places pressure on the provision of health care facilities. 

Therefore, when the Council started the review process one of the first actions of 

Officers was to engage with the Head of Primary Care and Locality Manager for the 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg  Primary Care Team and other relevant stakeholders.  Through 

engagement at all stages of the RLDP, Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board 

(CTMUHB) have been made aware of the housing development (both approved and 

proposed) within the Bridgend area and have been able to take the necessary steps 

to account for this in its primary care and community estates and sustainability plans. 

Future housing numbers and the location of sustainable urban extensions have been 

mapped against current and future demand and capacity.   

4.31 CTMUHB has been fully engaged in the RLDP process and contributed towards the 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) that supports the RLDP.  CTMUHB have confirmed 

that they are confident that it has identified the additional pressures created by the 

RLDP and that its own estates and sustainability plans articulate the action required 

to respond to this. CTMUHB’s comments are summarised in Appendix 5.  

4.32 Bridgend County Borough Council will continue to engage with CTMUHB to ensure 

the delivery of health care infrastructure and secure the best outcomes for all our 

residents.  Specifically the strategic planning team will continue to revisit this matter 

with CTMUHB, although it is important to reiterate that in their current responses the 

Health Board have indicated that they are cognisant of the likely additional population 

Page 116



 

growth and demand in the County Brough and have accounted for it in their primary 

care, community estates and sustainability plans. 

4.33 Residential Allocations and their new supporting infrastructure 

4.34 To enable the implementation of the Growth and Spatial Strategy, Policy SP2 defines 

a suite of strategic residential allocations where growth will be focused.  

 

4.35 SP2 therefore builds upon Policy SP1 by directing growth to Regeneration Sites and 

Sustainable Urban Extensions within the identified Regeneration Growth Areas and 

Sustainable Growth Areas. The combined development of these sites will result in 

Page 117



 

the provision of comprehensive residential, employment and commercial 

development whilst providing new transportation, affordable housing, community, 

education and recreation facilities to serve the respective sites and existing 

communities. These sites (together with all other candidate sites) have been subject 

to a proportionate SA, incorporating SEA, and Habitats Regulations Assessment 

(HRA) to identify the likely environmental and wider sustainability effects from their 

delivery, thereby informing the site allocations. 

4.36 All proposed sites have undertaken detailed viability assessments to demonstrate 

they are capable of funding all necessary infrastructure requirements. This has, in 

turn, ensured that the LDP’s infrastructure and affordable housing policies are robust 

and can be delivered.  

4.37 In total, all proposed sites combined will lever in approximately £120,500,000 of 

private sector infrastructure investment within the County Borough and will also 

provide 1,002 affordable homes over the life of the Plan (to contribute to the wider 

LDP target of 1,646 affordable homes. 

4.38 This approach is strategic in nature and has considered overall mitigation across all 

collective sites; an approach that would not be possible without a RLDP. This 

vigorous process has provided a high degree of confidence that the sites included 

within this RLDP are deliverable, considering the full plethora of associated 

infrastructure requirements and placemaking principles to deliver high quality 

communities. 

4.39 Chapter 5 – Implementation and Delivery: this Chapter sets out the Strategic and 

Development Management Policies, which are derived from the Strategic Framework 

and form the basis to implement and deliver the Vision and Strategic Objectives. As 

with all other components of the LDP, all strategic policies are complementary in 

terms of supporting the achievement of the national Wellbeing Goals, local Wellbeing 

Objectives and sustainable development. Linkages between each strategic policy 

and relevant wellbeing goals have therefore been identified and all strategic policies 

have been subject to SA, incorporating SEA. 

4.40 All polices are inter-related in their nature and need to be read in conjunction with one 

another in order to gain an understanding of the overall policy direction of the RLDP. 

Each section highlights the relevant strategic policy, supporting justification and 

cross-references with the LDP’s Objectives. A ‘delivery and monitoring section’ is also 

included at the end of each policy. The Strategic Policies, and the more detailed 

Development Management policies, are intended to ensure that development 

proposals can achieve positive economic, social, environmental and cultural outcomes, 

and can minimise adverse ones. They will form the basis of all planning decisions, and 

indicators have been developed as part of the Plan’s monitoring framework to show 

the effectiveness of the policies. A ‘delivery and monitoring section’ is also included at 

the end of each policy to this end. 

Page 118



 

4.41 A suite of Strategic Policies was identified in the Preferred Strategy and Deposit 

versions of the plan. These Strategic Policies have been modified to take account of 

representations received and extended to provide a more comprehensive Strategic 

Policy Framework. The updated suite of 18 Strategic Policies is also now supported 

by 56 accompanying Development Management Policies which address a range of 

detailed thematic issues as follows: 

Good Design and Sustainable Placemaking 

 

SP3: Good Design and Sustainable Place Making 

PLA1: Porthcawl Waterfront, Porthcawl Regeneration Growth Area 

PLA2: Land South of Bridgend (Island Farm), Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

PLA3: Land West of Bridgend, Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

PLA4: Land East of Pencoed, Pencoed Sustainable Growth Area 

PLA5: Land East of Pyle, Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly Sustainable Growth 

Area 

SP4: Mitigating the Impact of Climate Change  

SP5: Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 

PLA6: Development in Transport Corridors 

PLA7: Development West of the Railway Line, Pencoed 

PLA8: Transportation Proposals 

PLA9: Development Affecting Public Rights of Way 

PLA10: Safeguarding of Disused Railway Infrastructure 

PLA11: Parking Standards 

PLA12: Active Travel 

 

To Create Active, Healthy, Cohesive, Inclusive and Social Communities  

 

SP6: Sustainable Housing Strategy 

COM1: Housing Allocations 

COM2: Affordable Housing 

COM3: On-Site Provision of Affordable Housing 

COM4: Off-Site Provision of Affordable Housing 

COM5: Affordable Housing Exception Sites 

COM6: Residential Density  

COM7: Houses in Multiple Occupation 

SP7: Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople Sites  

COM8: Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople Accommodation 

SP8: Health and Well-being  

SP9: Social and Community Infrastructure 

COM9: Protection of Social and Community Facilities 

COM10: Provision of Outdoor Recreation Facilities 

COM11: Provision of Accessible Natural Greenspace (including Amenity 

Greenspace) 

COM12: Provision of Allotments and Community Food Networks 

COM13: Provision of Cemeteries 

Page 119



 

SP10: Infrastructure 

COM14: Telecommunications and Digital Technology Infrastructure 

 

To Create Productive and Enterprising Places 

 

SP11: Employment Land Strategy 

ENT1: Employment Allocations 

ENT2: Protection of Employment Sites 

ENT3: Non-B Uses on Allocated Employment Sites 

ENT4: Rural Economy 

ENT5: Former Ford Site, Bridgend 

SP12: Retailing, Commercial and Service Centres 

ENT6: Retail and Commercial Development 

ENT7: Development in Commercial Centres 

ENT8: Non A1, A2 and A3 Uses Outside of Primary Shopping Areas 

ENT9: Retail Development Outside of Retailing and Commercial Centres 

SP13: Decarbonisation and Renewable Energy 

ENT10: Low Carbon Heating Technologies for New Development 

ENT11: Energy Efficiency Provision Within the Design of Buildings 

ENT12: Parc Stormy  

SP14: Sustainable Development of Mineral Resources 

ENT13: Development in Mineral Safeguarding Zones 

ENT14: Development in Mineral Buffer Zones 

SP15: Sustainable Waste Management  

ENT15: Inert Waste 

ENT16: Waste Movement in New Development 

SP16: Tourism 

ENT17: New or Extended Tourist Facilities, Accommodation and Attractions 

ENT18: Protection of Existing Tourist Accommodation 

 

To Protect and Enhance Distinctive and Natural Places 

 

SP17: Conservation and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 

DNP1: Development in the Countryside 

DNP2: Conversion of Rural Buildings 

DNP3: Replacement Dwellings in the Countryside  

DNP4: Special Landscape Areas 

DNP5: Local and Regional Nature Conservation Sites 

DNP6: Biodiversity, Ecological Networks, Habitats and Species  

DNP7: Trees, Hedgerows and Development 

DNP8: Green Infrastructure 

DNP9: Natural Resource Protection and Public Health 

SP18: Conservation of the Historic Environment 

DNP10: Built Historic Environment and Listed Buildings 

DNP11: Conservation Areas 

 

Page 120



 

4.42 These policies are aimed at facilitating the achievement of the RLDP vision and 

suite of objectives, including supporting the delivery of a range of Well-Being 

Goals. 

 

4.43 Chapter 6 - Monitoring Framework: contains a monitoring framework, which sets out 

how the Plan’s Strategy, Objectives, Policies and Proposals will be monitored against 

appropriate indicators and trigger points for action (linked to plan review/revision). 

 

4.44 Supporting Documents 

 

4.45 In line with statutory requirements the preparation of the emerging RLDP is being 

informed by a suite of impact assessments:  

 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment 

(SEA) – assessment of likely significant environmental and wider sustainability 

effects. The SA Framework which underpins this assessment includes a strong 

focus on wellbeing issues linked to the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 

Act 2015.  

 Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) – assessment of likely significant effects 

on sites designated at European level (‘European Sites’) for reasons of ecological 

importance. 

 Health Impact Assessment – to assess the likely impacts of the Plan on health 

and equality considerations, particularly those which may impact upon the health 

of the County Borough’s residents. 

 Equality Impact Assessment - to review and identify the likely impact of the Plan 

on existing and future communities, considering relevant evidence to understand 

the likely or actual effect of policies and practices on protected groups. 

 

4.46 These impact assessments have been undertaken in an integrated manner and used 

as plan-making tools to inform the RLDP, rather than simply being statutory reporting 

exercises. This has allowed the environmental, social and economic implications of all 

plan components to be tested at the earliest opportunity and for any uncertainties, 

issues or mitigation requirements identified during the impact assessment processes 

to be addressed during plan preparation. In addition to meeting statutory requirements, 

this iterative process has helped to maximise the performance of and more generally 

improve the quality of the emerging RLDP.  

 

4.47 Evidence Base Documents & Background Papers 

 

4.48 The supporting technical documents that have been produced to inform the RLDP 

are listed in below along with their role and purpose and should be read alongside 

the RLDP. The supporting technical documents can be viewed by clicking on the link 

below: 

 

Page 121



 

https://bridgendcountycouncil.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/ReplacementLocalDevelopmentP

lan/EhOBV9suImxNqQQZDeVc7tQBSQQ5U5uATio4UKGWhdnQow?e=Cq0D74 

 

Supporting Document 

 

 

Purpose 

 

Existing LDP (2013) Review 

Report 

To set out the proposed extent of likely 

changes to the existing LDP (2006-2021) 

and to confirm the revision procedure to be 

followed in preparing the Replacement 

LDP. 

Replacement LDP Delivery 

Agreement 

To provide a project plan for preparing the 

LDP and to set out the measures within the 

Community Involvement Scheme in terms 

of consultation and engagement. 

Sustainability Appraisal 

(SA) and Strategic 

Environmental Assessment 

(SEA) Scoping Report 

To outline the proposed approach to the 

LDP’s Sustainability Appraisal, 

incorporating the Strategic Environmental 

Assessment. This report is the first stage of 

a SA process to identify, assess and 

address any likely significant effects on the 

environment from the emerging Bridgend 

LDP Review. 

SA/SEA Scoping Report Initial 

Report 

To identify, from an assessment of 

reasonable alternatives, whether the LDP 

will have any significant impacts on the 

environment and also determine whether 

the Plan will deliver sustainable 

development. The Initial Report includes a 

proportionate assessment of candidate 

sites. The SA and Habitats Regulations 

Assessment Reports are being consulted 

on in tandem with the LDP. 

Preferred Strategy To identify the type and scale of spatial 

change required to achieve the proposed 

new LDP Vision and Objectives. 

Initial Consultation Report To outline how the Local Planning Authority 

(LPA) has undertaken public participation 

and consultation on the Preferred Strategy 

in accordance with LDP Regulation 16a. 

The Report identifies the steps taken to 

publicise plan preparation, in accordance 

with the CIS, before outlining the specific 

bodies engaged, summarising the main 

issued raised and identifying how the 

responses have been or will be addressed. 

Page 122

https://bridgendcountycouncil.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/ReplacementLocalDevelopmentPlan/EhOBV9suImxNqQQZDeVc7tQBSQQ5U5uATio4UKGWhdnQow?e=Cq0D74
https://bridgendcountycouncil.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/ReplacementLocalDevelopmentPlan/EhOBV9suImxNqQQZDeVc7tQBSQQ5U5uATio4UKGWhdnQow?e=Cq0D74


 

The Report provides significant detail on 

how this key period of consultation 

influenced development of the Deposit 

LDP.  

 

Deposit Consultation Report To comprehensively document how the 

LPA has considered all representations 

made on the Deposit Plan. 

It summarises the key issues raised 

throughout the process, including the 

representations made and 

recommendations as to how the LPA 

considers each representation should be 

addressed.  It represents a key pre-requite 

to submission of the Replacement LDP in 

accordance with the latest Replacement 

DA. 

The Full Sustainability Appraisal 

of the Deposit Plan and Non-

technical Summary 

To identify any likely significant economic, 

environmental and social effects of the LDP, 

and to suggest relevant mitigation 

measures. This process integrates 

sustainability considerations into all stages 

of LDP preparation, and promotes 

sustainable development. 

Habitat Regulations Assessment Regulation 63 of the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

requires that a HRA must be undertaken to 

demonstrate compliance with statutory 

duties set out in the Habitats Directive and 

the Habitats Regulations where a plan or 

project is considered likely to have 

significant effects on European Sites and is 

not directly connected with or necessary for 

the management of the site. The purpose of 

this report is to document the first formal 

stage of this HRA process, namely, to 

ascertain whether there would be any LSE 

on relevant European Sites from the LDP. 

The Full Sustainability Appraisal 

of the Preferred Strategy 

The full Sustainability Appraisal of the 

Preferred Strategy is provided in a separate 

document accompanying the Preferred 

Strategy consultation document. 

Candidate Site Register A record of sites submitted by landowners, 

developers and the public, which will be 

used as a reference point to assess each 

Page 123



 

site against the Strategy for possible 

inclusion within the LDP. 

Candidate Sites Assessment 

Report (2022) 

The LDP is supported by a Candidate Site 

Assessment, which has identified the 

potential sites that are suitable for allocation 

within the Replacement LDP. All candidate 

sites have been subject to a sequential four-

stage assessment. This has firstly 

considered the potential of each site to 

support the Preferred Strategy before 

scrutinising detailed site assessments (in 

terms of deliverability, sustainability and 

suitability) and consulting with appropriate 

specific consultation bodies. The fourth 

stage of this assessment has sought 

additional information from site promoters, 

where appropriate, to support sites for 

inclusion and subsequent allocation in this 

LDP. 

Economic Evidence Base Study 

(2019) 

To provide evidence-based 

recommendations on the scale and 

distribution of employment need and the 

land best suited to meet that need, whilst 

also making policy / land allocation 

recommendations to inform emerging 

policies and site allocations. 

Economic Evidence Base 

Update (2021) 

To review the new household data, 

identifying the changes from the previous 

projections and considering how this 

impacts on the economic forecast and the 

need for jobs and land. 

Retail Study (2019) To set out evidence-based 

recommendations on retail need, the 

distribution of need and the definition of 

primary shopping areas to inform emerging 

policies and site allocations.  

Retail Study Update (2022) To re-analyse trends affecting the retail 

sector which may impact and influence local 

retailing within the county borough and how 

this may change over time. Also, to assess 

future needs for comparison and 

convenience retail floorspace to 2033, 

based on existing market shares. 

Renewable Energy Assessment 

(2019) 

To provide a robust renewable energy 

evidence base which will inform LDP 

Page 124



 

production and set out a baseline for future 

monitoring of renewable energy in the 

County Borough. 

Bridgend Smart Energy Plan 

(2019) 

To provide a roadmap of projects and 

activities that will enable Bridgend County 

Borough to respond to the challenge of 

decarbonising heat within the wider energy 

system. 

Settlement Assessment Study 

(2019, revised 2021) 

To establish a sustainable settlement 

hierarchy that can inform the Replacement 

LDP. This will identify the most appropriate 

locations to accommodate future 

development in order to achieve a 

sustainable pattern of growth, minimise 

unsustainable patterns of movement and 

support local services and facilities. 

Demographic Analysis and 

Forecasts Report (2019) 

To provide a summary of demographic 

evidence, including a suite of population, 

housing and economic growth outcomes to 

inform the Strategic Growth Options paper 

for consideration in the formulation of the 

LDP.  

LDP Demographics Update 

Addendum (2020) 

To update the Demographic Analysis and 

Forecasts Report (2019) with a refreshed 

analysis of the latest demographic statistics 

and forecasts. 

Outdoor Sport and Children’s 

Play Space Audit (2021) 

To provide an audit of existing outdoor sport 

and playing space provision in the County 

Borough, compared to Fields in Trust 

Standards, to identify shortfalls in provision 

and inform related strategies and LDP 

policies. 

Allotment Audit (2022) To provide an audit of existing allotment 

provision in the County Borough. 

Green Infrastructure 

Assessment (2022) 

To provide a holistic spatial analysis of 

green infrastructure and Active Travel 

Networks across the County Borough.  

Local Housing Market 

Assessment (2021) 

To provide detailed insights into the 

mechanics of the local residential property 

markets across the County Borough. The 

Assessment includes a quantitative 

assessment of housing need that will be 

used to inform the housing policies of the 

LDP in terms of affordable housing 

provision, tenures and types of 

Page 125



 

accommodation required across the County 

Borough.  

Special Landscape 

Designations (2010) 

To carry out a review of the Special 

Landscape Areas designation within the 

County Borough. The methodology uses a 

structured, iterative approach to identify 

areas considered worthy of being retained 

as a Special Landscape Area designations 

in the LDP. 

Landscape Character 

Assessment for Bridgend 

County Borough (2013) 

This document provides a sound evidence 

base for developers to consider the 

character and sensitivity of the different 

landscapes of the County Borough when 

considering new developments.  It also 

promotes an understanding of how the 

landscapes of the County Borough are 

changing (as a result of a combination of 

natural, economic and human factors), and 

how they can be strengthened in response. 

Carmarthen Bay, Gower & 

Swansea Bay Local Seascape 

Character Assessment (2017) 

A tool for the management of change in the 

coastal and marine environment, covering 

four coastal local planning authorities. It is 

equivalent to, and overlaps, existing 

landscape information including LANDMAP 

and landscape character assessments. 

Health and Equalities 

Impact Assessments 

To assess the likely impacts of the 

Replacement LDP on health and equality 

considerations. 

Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation Assessment 

(2020) 

To assess the future accommodation needs 

of the Gypsy Traveller and Travelling Show 

People Communities and determine 

whether there is a requirement for additional 

site provision within Bridgend County 

Borough. This will inform any related site 

allocations and criteria based policies in the 

LDP.  

Bridgend’s Active Travel 

Integrated Network Map 

This document details plans for a network of 

Active Travel routes and facilities over the 

next 15 years. These are found in the 

Integrated Network Maps (INMs). The 

proposals aim to: enhance access to key 

services and facilities including town 

centres, transport hubs, as well as 

employment and retail areas; develop 

access to education facilities such as 

Page 126



 

schools and colleges; and improve and 

expand the existing strategic network in 

Bridgend County Borough. 

Bridgend Destination 

Management Plan 2018-2022 

A statement of intent to manage the County 

Borough in the interests of tourism, taking 

account of the needs of visitors, local 

residents, businesses and the environment. 

It is a systematic and holistic approach to 

making Bridgend County Borough work as 

a visitor destination. It embrace s the idea 

of sustainability, focusing on tourism which 

brings economic benefit, whilst setting out 

the ways in which different stakeholders 

may work together to achieve a positive 

impact.  

Bridgend Strategic Flood 

Consequences Assessment 

(2020 and 2022)  

The updated SFCA creates a strategic 
framework for the consideration of flood risk 
when making planning decisions. It has 
been developed in accordance with 
Technical Advice Note 15 – Development & 
Flood Risk (TAN15), as well as additional 
guidance provided by Natural Resources 
Wales (NRW). The Study has been updated 
in light of the new draft TAN 15 and new 
Flood Map for Planning. The 2022 update is 
to be finalised. 

Plan-Wide Viability Assessment 

(2021) 

To understand how different market areas 
can affect the viability of delivering private 
and affordable housing as well as 
associated infrastructure to inform policy 
formulation, spatial expression and 
application. 

Bridgend Local Biodiversity Plan 

(2014) 

To map and quantify the biodiversity and 

the underlying ecosystem services (that is 

the valuable functions our environment 

provides) of Bridgend. This LBAP is 

specifically designed to work in conjunction 

with other key policies that support planning 

policy in the Borough. 

Green Wedge Review (2021) To review the existing green wedge 

designations in the adopted Bridgend LDP 

2006-2021 and considers the need for their 

continuation in the Replacement LDP 2018-

2033.  

SINC Review (2020) To conduct a focussed analysis on existing 

SINCs that could be affected by proposed 

allocations.  

Page 127



 

Strategic Transport Assessment 

(2022) 

To analyse the strategic road network, 

assess the impact of potential strategic 

allocations and consider the mitigation 

requirements.  

Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

(2022) 

To identify the County Borough’s 

infrastructure requirements over the plan 

period.  

Urban Capacity Study (2022) To provide analysis of the potential urban 

capacity of the County Boroughs’ 

settlements for housing to evidence the 

expected small and windfall site allowance 

rate. 

Tests of Soundness (2022) To assess how and why the Council 
considers the Plan to have satisfied the 
Tests of Soundness, specified by Welsh 
Government. 

Background Technical, Topic 

Reports and Papers 

 

 Background Paper 1: Vision 

and Objectives 

 Background Paper 2: 

Strategic Growth Options 

 Background Paper 3: Spatial 

Strategy Options 

 Background Paper 4: 

Trajectory 

 Background Paper 5: 

Affordable Housing 

 Background Paper 6: Retail 

 Background Paper 7: 

Employment 

 Background Paper 8: M4 

Junction 36 

 Background Paper 9: 

Compatibility of the 

Replacement LDP Objectives 

against the Bridgend Local 

Well-Being Plan 

 Background Paper 10: 

Compatibility Assessment of 

LDP Vision, Objectives & 

Strategic Policies against 

Well Being of Future 

Generations 

These provide supporting information and a 
rationale for the RLDP. These focus in more 
detail on the main issues relevant to 
Bridgend County Borough and the RLDP. 

Page 128



 

 Background Paper 11: Covid-

19 Policy Review 

 Background Paper 12: 

Aggregate Safeguarding 

Assessment of Site 

Allocations 

 Background Paper 13: Rail 

Commuter Trips and 

Infrastructure 

 Background Paper 14: 

Minerals 

 Background Paper 15: Best 

and Most Versatile 

Agricultural Land 

 Background Paper 16: 

Development West of 

Pencoed Railway Line 

 Background Paper 17: NDF 

Conformity Assessment 

 Background Paper 18: Gypsy 

and Traveller Site Options 

 Background Paper 19: 20-

Minute Neighbourhood 

 Background Paper 20: 

Biodiversity Net Benefit & 

New Development - A Case 

Study of Two Scales 

 Background Paper 21: 

Education Capacity 

 Background Paper 22: RLDP 

Conformity with the 

Placemaking Charter 

 Background Paper 23: RLDP 

Conformity with the National 

Sustainable Placemaking 

Outcomes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 129



 

4.49 Consultation 

 

4.50 One of the key aims of the RLDP is to ensure plan production is based on effective 

community involvement. This is to ensure a range of views can be considered as part 

of a process of building a wide consensus on the RLDP’s strategy and policies. The 

Delivery Agreement includes a Community Involvement Scheme (CIS) which sets out 

how and when stakeholders and the community can contribute to the plan preparation 

process. The two key stages of public consultation are summarised below. 

 

4.51 Preferred Strategy Consultation 

 

4.52 The Preferred Strategy sets out the Council’s Vision, Strategic Objectives and Spatial 

Strategy to guide the level of future development and growth in Bridgend County 

Borough and was consulted on between 30th September 2019 and 8th November 

2019 and reported to Council on 22nd January 2020. The 70 representations received 

mostly focused on the provision of supporting infrastructure and the pressure new 

growth will place on existing settlements. 

 

4.53 Deposit Plan Consultation 

 

4.54 In accordance with the Replacement Delivery Agreement and Local Development 

Plan (LDP) Regulation 17, the Deposit RLDP was published and subject to public 

consultation from 1st June 2021 to 27th July 2021. A Summary Report has been 

prepared to provide an overview of the key issues raised in response to the specific 

questions on the consultation form attached as Appendix 1. Detailed responses to all 

representations received during the public consultation period are provided in the full 

RLDP Deposit Consultation Report. The full RLDP Deposit Consultation Report is a 

‘live’ document and will be continuously refined up to the point of formal submission 

to PEDW. The main refinements required to the text in this document are: 

 

 Removal of Parc Afon Ewenni as an allocation 

 Reference to the Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy 

 Updated narrative regarding the successful Flood Map Challenge for 

Porthcawl  

 Housing Trajectory updates  

 

4.55 A separate Representations Register has also been published, which provides a copy 

of the duly made representations that were received by the Council during the 

consultation period. That Register has been published in accordance with Regulation 

19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 

2005 and can be viewed on the BCBC website: 

 

4.56 https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-

planning/replacement-bridgend-local-development-plan-2018-to-2033/replacement-

local-development-plan-consultation-deposit-plan-2018-2033/ 

Page 130

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-planning/replacement-bridgend-local-development-plan-2018-to-2033/replacement-local-development-plan-consultation-deposit-plan-2018-2033/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-planning/replacement-bridgend-local-development-plan-2018-to-2033/replacement-local-development-plan-consultation-deposit-plan-2018-2033/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-planning/replacement-bridgend-local-development-plan-2018-to-2033/replacement-local-development-plan-consultation-deposit-plan-2018-2033/


 

 

4.57 A total of 1,221 representation were received with most of the concerns raised relating 

to the proposed strategic housing allocations. These included:  

a) The impact of development on primary healthcare facilities; 

b) An increase in traffic levels; 

c) The impact of proposed development on existing infrastructure (i.e. schools, 

roads and utilities); 

d) The timing of delivery of new infrastructure to support new development; and 

e) The need for greater protection for green spaces and provision of allotment 

space relative to demand. 

 

4.58 Focussed Changes Consultation 

 

4.59 Since the publication of the RLDP Deposit Plan for Consultation, new information, 

changes to legislation, updated national planning guidance and the completion of 

supporting technical information has necessitated a review of the LDP evidence base. 

This, together with some of the matters raised in the consultation representations 

means a number of changes to the Deposit RLDP are considered necessary. The 

main changes are as follows:  

 

a) Removal of Housing Allocation at Parc Afon Ewenni, Bridgend – this is as a 

result of the recently published Flood Map for Planning identifying the site at 

being at risk of flooding; 

b) Inclusion of a housing allocation at Heol Fach, North Cornelly. 

c) Inclusion of site masterplans; 

d) Removal of Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople Site at Land adjacent to 

Bryncethin Depot; 

e) Completed Strategic Transport Assessment; and 

f) Updated Strategic Flood Consequence Assessment. 

 

4.60 The amended RLDP is attached as Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 (with the proposed               

Changes shown as tracked changes.  

 

4.61 These Focussed Changes will be subject to a further period of public consultation 

which will commence once the RLDP has been submitted to the Welsh Government 

and PEDW. The consultation will be advertised in accordance with the CIS and all 

representations will be received by the Independent Inspector appointed by PEDW 

and considered as part of the public examination of the RLDP.  

 

4.62 Next Steps 

 

4.63 September 2022 - seek authorisation from Council to submit the RLDP to PEDW for 

public examination (anticipated in early 2023). 

 

 

Page 131



 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 

 

5.1 Town and Country Planning Act (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005 

(Regulation 22) as amended requires the Council to publish a formal notice of 

submission of an LDP.   

 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 

 

6.1 There are no direct equalities implications associated with this report. However, the 

policies and allocations contained within the RLDP are subject to equalities impact 

assessment and the social economic duty. An initial Equalities Impact Assessment 

Screening of the RLDP was carried out on 30th October 2020. This identified that the 

RLDP could have a high to medium impact on people from the following protected 

characteristics: Age, Disability, Race and Welsh Language. As such, it was 

determined that a full EIA was required to support the Deposit Plan prior to it being 

published for public inspection and consultation. This is attached as Appendix 4. The 

recommendation of the full EIA is to continue with the Deposit Plan in its current form 

as no negative impacts are identified. 

 

6.2 Social Economic Duty: the RLDP is intended to help to eliminate inequality and 

disadvantage in people’s lives and that the consultation should inform the process in 

this respect. The evidence gathered during the preparation of the RLDP has been 

used to ensure that it’s policies have a positive impact on people living in socio-

economic disadvantage or contain measures to ensure that any negative impact is 

mitigated.  

 

6.4 The RLDP places a focus on directing growth to accessible locations, whilst also 

supporting community-based regeneration in the Valleys, this will provide a range of 

opportunities to safeguard and improve physical and mental health and wellbeing. 

Simultaneously, development of Sustainable Growth Areas and Regeneration 

Growth Areas will help to meet existing community needs and unlock new 

opportunities (e.g. through appropriate infrastructure provision and community 

facilities) whilst accommodating population growth. This will ensure new development 

is integrated with its surroundings, helping to tackle area-based deprivation and 

catalyse socio-economic renewal. 

 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 

 

7.1 The RLDP has full regard to the provisions of the Well-being of Future Generations 

Act 2015 and to the well-being goals. The promotion and recognition of well-being 

was interwoven into the early conversations held regarding Plan preparation with a 

range of stakeholders via the Public Service Board (PSB). The theme of well-being 

and the provisions of the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 is considered 

through the SA process and reflected in the use of the local well-being goals in 

framing the strategic objectives and the strategic policies. Background Paper 9 

assess each policy in respect of its compatibility with the Local Well-being Goals.  

Page 132



 

 

8. Financial implications 

 

8.1 The RLDP preparation process has been funded through the LDP budget.  

 

9. Recommendations 

 

9.1 That Cabinet: 

 

a) Note the Deposit Plan Consultation Report Summary Document (Appendix 1) 

and agree the submission version of the Replacement Local Development 

Plan (RLDP) and recommend to Council that the RLDP as set out in 

Appendices 2&3 be submitted to Welsh Government and PEDW for 

independent examination. 

 

b) Authorise the Corporate Director Communities and Group Manager - 

Planning & Development Services Development to make any refinements to 

the RLDP, supporting background papers and technical evidence required 

prior to reporting to Council.  

 

Janine Nightingale 

Corporate Director - Communities 

19 July 2022 

 

Contact officer:  Richard Matthams 

 Strategic Planning and Transportation Manager 

 

 Jonathan Parsons 

 Group Manager – Planning and Development Services 

 

Telephone:   (01656) 643166 

 

Email:   Richard.Matthams@bridgend.gov.uk  

 

Postal address:   Development Planning  

Communities Directorate  

Civic Offices, Angel Street  

Bridgend 

CF31 4WB  

 

Background documents:  

 

Appendix 1:  Deposit Replacement Local Development Plan Consultation Report 

Summary Document 

Appendix 2:  Replacement Local Development Plan – Written Statements 

Page 133

mailto:Richard.Matthams@bridgend.gov.uk


 

Appendix 3:  Replacement Local Development Plan – Proposals Map 

Appendix 4:  Equalities Impact Assessment of the Replacement Local Development Plan 

Appendix 5:  Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board (CTMUHB) Response to the 

Replacement Local Development Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 134



i 

Bridgend Replacement 

Local Development Plan 2018-2033

Deposit Consultation  

Summary Report 2022 

Bridgend Replacement 

Local Development Plan 2018-2033

Page 135



ii 

Chapter Page No 

1. Introduction 1 

2.
Summary of Deposit Consultation Representations  

(LDP Regulation 17) 
2 

1. Do you have any comments to make on the Key Issues and Drivers, 

Vision and Objectives of the Deposit Replacement LDP? 

2 

2. Do you have any comments to make on the growth strategy? 3 

3. Do you have any comments to make on the spatial strategy? 5 

4. Do you have any comments to make on design and sustainable 

placemaking policies?

9 

5. Do you have any comments to make on the active, health, cohesive 

and social communities policies?

10 

6. Do you have any comments to make on the employment strategy? 15 

7. Do you have any comments to make on retail centres and 

development policies?

18 

8. Do you have any comments to make on the renewable energy, 

mineral resources and waste management policies?

20 

9. Do you have any comments to make on the natural and built 

environment policies?

21 

10. Key proposals for Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley 22 

11. Key proposals for Porthcawl, Pyle, North Cornelly and Kenfig Hill  22 

12.  Key proposals for the Ogmore and Garw valleys 23 

13. Key proposals for Bridgend and Pencoed    24 

14.  Do you have any other comments to make on the Deposit 

Replacement LDP? 

28 

Page 136



1 

1.  Introduction 

1.1 In accordance with the Replacement Delivery Agreement and Local 

Development Plan (LDP) Regulation 17, the Deposit Replacement LDP was 

published and subject to public consultation from 1st June 2021 to 27th July 2021. 

This Summary Report has been prepared to provide an overview of the key 

issues raised in response to the specific questions on the consultation form. 

Detailed responses to all representations received during the public consultation 

period are provided in the full Replacement LDP Deposit Consultation Report. 

1.2 A separate Representations Register has also been published, which provides a 

copy of the duly made representations (1,221 in total) that were received by the 

Council during the Deposit public consultation. That Register has been published 

in accordance with Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005 and can be viewed here. Please 

note that every effort has been made to redact personal information such as 

addresses, signatures and other private contact details. Individual names of 

members of the public have also been redacted. 

1.3 While the Replacement LDP is being prepared, the existing LDP (adopted 

September 2013) remains extant and will continue to provide the policy 

framework by which planning applications will be determined. This will remain 

the case until the point at which the Replacement LDP 2018-2033 is formally 

adopted by the Council. Once adopted, the Replacement LDP will express, in 

land-use terms, the wellbeing objectives and priorities of the Bridgend Public 

Services Board’s Well-being Plan. 

Page 137



2 

2 Summary of Deposit Consultation Representations  

(LDP Regulation 17) 

2.1 This section provides an overview of the main findings of the public consultation 

exercise on the Replacement Deposit LDP. It is not intended to be a 

comprehensive report on each comment received, rather a summary of the key 

issues raised in response to the specific questions on the consultation form. This 

section is structured around each consultation question, sets out the main 

corresponding points received under thematic headings, together with the 

Council’s subsequent responses. 

1. Do you have any comments to make on the Key Issues and Drivers, 

Vision and Objectives of the Deposit Replacement LDP? 

2.2 Numerous representors commented that the Key Issues, Drivers, Vision and 

Objectives appear to be positive, appropriate and accurately reflect local issues 

that have strategic land-use implications for the County Borough. Certain 

representors felt the objectives had been robustly prepared to set out the land 

use planning commitments needed to accommodate growth and development 

needs over the plan period in line with national policy, guidance and legislation. 

Other commentators emphasised that the Key Issues, Drivers, Vision and 

Objectives clearly identify the relevant evidence base used to formulate the 

emerging plan, whilst acknowledging the progression since development of the 

Preferred Strategy. Support was also cited for certain settlements being identified 

as the key or main settlements, in recognition of the fact that they act as hubs for 

services, employment, housing and retail. It was stressed that the Key Issues, 

Drivers, Vision and Objectives clearly recognise the pivotal role that these 

settlements have in spreading prosperity to the surrounding communities. 

2.3 However, several members of the public felt there was a mismatch between 

Strategic Objective 4 ‘To Protect and Enhance Distinctive and Natural Places’ 

and several proposed housing developments, particularly in relation to specific 

sites within or at the edge of existing settlements. Concerns were raised that the 

Replacement LDP placed too much emphasis on development and not enough 

on protecting the countryside, green spaces and existing habitats, thereby 

rendering the objectives incompatible. However, the Strategic Objectives have 

been defined to reflect identified key issues, align with national policy and ensure 

an appropriate balance between the different elements of sustainability. They are 

cross-cutting in their nature and cross-reference the goals and objectives of the 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and Bridgend Local Well-

being Plan. Acting together, the Vision and Strategic Objectives provide an 

overarching framework to underpin all other components of the Replacement 

LDP. 

Page 138



3 

2.4 Conversely, other representors felt Specific Objective 2c (to deliver the level and 

type of residential development to meet the identified needs of the County 

Borough ensuring that a significant proportion is affordable and accessible to all) 

lacked ambition. It was argued that this objective reflected the ‘minimum 

requirement’ in terms of meeting national policy and suggested that the Plan 

should identify the role new housing has to play in supporting economic growth, 

locally and regionally. However, this view is not supported by the Council. As 

documented within the Strategic Growth Options Background Paper, a range of 

growth scenarios were analysed and subsequently refreshed to determine the 

most appropriate level of growth to deliver the Replacement LDP’s Vision, Key 

Issues, Aims and Objectives.  

2. Do you have any comments to make on the growth strategy? 

Over-Development and Out-Commuting 

2.5 Numerous members of the public opposed the level of growth in the 

Replacement LDP, citing concerns that the growth strategy seeks to transform 

Bridgend into a commuter belt for Cardiff and the M4 corridor. The same 

representors were generally opposed to growth in Bridgend County Borough per 

se, suggesting it was not necessary or desirable for the locality to grow any 

further.  

2.6 However, the first release of data from the 2021 Census has shown that towns 

and cities on the M4 corridor in south east Wales are growing rapidly, with 

Bridgend's population growth (4.5%) being the third highest in Wales after 

Newport (9.5%) and Cardiff (4.7%). The population of Bridgend has increased 

from 139,178 at the time of the 2011 Census, to 145,500 at the time of the 2021 

Census. These demographic pressures drive the need for housing growth across 

the County Borough and the Replacement LDP is the fundamental tool to 

accommodate this growth by planning for sustainable development. If the 

Replacement LDP did not plan for growth, this would result in lack of investment 

in infrastructure, insufficient affordable housing provision, out-migration of 

economically active households and an increasingly ageing local population. In 

turn, this could impair the County Borough’s ability to attract and retain employers 

and risk economic decline. The Replacement LDP’s Growth Strategy is 

considered the most appropriate to achieve a balanced and sustainable level of 

economic growth that will facilitate the continued transformation of the County 

Borough into a network of safe, healthy and inclusive communities that connect 

more widely with the region. This will support economic growth, enable the 

delivery of key infrastructure, secure affordable housing and improve connectivity 

without resulting in over-development. One of the key aims of the Plan is to 

minimise the need for out-commuting and promote sustainable development 

grounded in placemaking principles. The relationship between household 

formation, housing requirements and employment provision has been very 

carefully considered to this end. The level of growth proposed is considered the 

Page 139



4 

most appropriate to achieve an equilibrium between new homes and 

employment provision, balanced against other key infrastructure requirements, 

and connected through enhanced active travel opportunities. Therefore, the 

Replacement LDP does not seek to transform Bridgend County Borough into a 

commuter area for Cardiff and the M4 corridor, indeed, this would completely 

oppose what the strategy is seeking to achieve. Refer to the Strategic Growth 

Options Background Paper and Employment Background Paper. 

Growth Level 

2.7 Similarly, other representors cited the level of housing completions in recent 

years, outlined how this has changed the identify of Bridgend and considered it 

disproportionate to add further homes to the area during the next plan period. In 

order to substantiate these points, these representors quoted ONS data, derived 

from 2011-baed principal projections, to suggest that only 2,000 houses are 

needed to meet housing needs from 2018-2033. It was also suggested that this 

level of development could be solely accommodated on the proposed brownfield 

sites in the Replacement LDP. It must firstly be noted that 2011-based 

projections have now been updated several times, and, as documented within 

the Strategic Growth Options Background Paper, the Replacement LDP has 

considered the full suite of 2018-based household projections along with a range 

of variants in arriving at an appropriate dwelling requirement. Moreover, pursuit 

of a 2,000-home dwelling requirement would necessitate a three times reduction 

in dwelling completions compared to that witnessed over the existing LDP period. 

It would also require pursuit of a growth strategy that is 65% lower than the 2018-

based principal household projection. This approach would categorically fail to 

address the Vision, Aims and Objectives that the Replacement LDP is seeking 

to address and therefore would represent a high-risk strategy that is likely to be 

found unsound at examination. It would also fail to align with Bridgend’s 

designation as a National Growth Area within Future Wales. The proposal to 

reduce the housing requirement to 2,000 homes over the plan period is therefore 

not supported. 

2.8 There were few representations that stated the proposed housing requirement 

was too low, with many other representors considering the level of homes and 

jobs proposed to be well justified to inform the housing requirement. Notably, 

Welsh Government commented that,  

“the level of household growth proposed in the Deposit LDP is 7,575 

dwellings over the plan period, an uplift of 1,905, or 33% over the 2018 

principal projections. This degree of aspiration aligns with Bridgend being 

within a national growth area. This is supported by 71.9ha of employment, 

looking to deliver 7,500 jobs, thereby retaining the younger cohort of 

employees. Collectively, these approaches support Bridgend as having a key 

role in the national growth area, aligning with the NDF”.  

Page 140



5 

These comments are noted and only further serve to evidence the 

appropriateness of the proposed growth strategy. 

2.9 Nevertheless, and conversely, some commentators felt the Plan lacked ambition 

or aspiration. Several representors stated that a minimal level of growth was 

being planned for, although these comments seemingly overlooked the fact that 

the level of growth proposed is 33% higher than the 2018-based principal 

projection. In practice, a range of growth options were considered during plan 

preparation, as detailed within the Strategic Growth Options Background Paper. 

The Replacement LDP identifies an appropriate plan requirement to enable a 

balanced level of housing and employment provision that will achieve sustainable 

patterns of growth, support existing settlements and maximise viable affordable 

housing delivery. Such comments that the Plan lacks ambition or aspiration are 

therefore considered unfounded and are not supported. 

Flexibility Allowance 

2.10 Whilst most representors were supportive of a significant flexibility allowance, 

some recommended setting a dwelling requirement that includes both the 

proposed housing requirement and the flexibility allowance as a minimum. 

However, the flexibility allowance has been set to ensure there is sufficient 

flexibility above the housing requirement to account for non-delivery and 

unforeseen issues in accordance with the Development Plans Manual. The 

allowance itself does not form part of the ‘minimum requirement’, it has been set 

in recognition of the fact that there may be certain specific circumstances, 

unknown at the plan making stage, that delay the delivery of sites, 

notwithstanding the robust frontloading of site delivery evidence. 

2.11 Post Deposit Stage, the Replacement LDP has been refined to incorporate a 

significant 13% flexibility allowance. This will ensure the Anticipated Annual Build 

Rate (AABR) will remain deliverable throughout the plan period even if a 

significant unforeseen scenario, such as non-delivery of a strategic site, should 

occur. The Council considers that the total level of housing provision is set 

appropriately within the Replacement LDP, as set out in the Housing Trajectory 

Background Paper, and agreed with the Housing Trajectory Stakeholder Group. 

3. Do you have any comments to make on the spatial strategy? 

Overall Spatial Strategy 

2.12 Numerous representors were broadly supportive of the spatial strategy, although 

some suggested a slightly different spatial weighting of growth. Other 

representors suggested expanding certain growth areas (to include nearby local 

settlements) and some felt that options for growth were limited with the Plan only 

identifying 1 Primary Settlement and 4 Main Settlements.  

2.13 Such suggestions were primarily intended to justify inclusion of alternative sites 

being promoted by the respective representors. However, these proposals and 

Page 141



6 

concerns are not supported by the Council. The Spatial Strategy is justified in the 

Spatial Strategy Options Background Paper, the final selection of proposed 

allocations is detailed within the Candidate Site Assessment and the 

Replacement LDP identifies the level of growth attributable to Local Settlements 

outside of Growth Areas. Indeed, Welsh Government concluded that,  

“The LDP has undertaken a settlement hierarchy analysis, concluding that 

Bridgend is the primary settlement, identifying secondary settlements, as 

well as directing regeneration to Porthcawl and Maesteg. The Valleys 

(including Maesteg) are identified in Policy 1 (NDF). The approach of 

focusing growth in the relevant tiers of settlements, according to service and 

facility provision is in direct alignment with Policy 2 (NDF) assisting the 

regeneration of underperforming settlements. This urban focussed 

approach, based on strategic place making, whilst also seeking to redress 

regeneration issues compliments the approach set out in the NDF”.  

‘Roll Over’ Allocations 

2.14 Several rerpresentors also raised concerns regarding the number of significant 

brownfield sites that have been ‘rolled over’ from previous plans, with references 

made to site deliverbility history. These concerns extended to sites within 

Porthcawl, Bridgend, and Maesteg. Such representors suggested that the 

Council should conisder allocating an alternative mix of sites, including more 

greenfield sites, to ensure delivery rates can be sustained over the plan period. 

2.15 However, these views are not supported by the Council. Before being ‘rolled over’ 

into the Replacement LDP, all existing allocations were subject to robust re-

assessment of their sustainability, deliverability and viability credentials in the 

same manner as all other candidate sites. While flood risk issues have now 

necessitated removal of one ‘rollover site’ from the housing trajectory (Parc Afon 

Ewenni, Bridgend), the Porthcawl Waterfront allocation is still considered 

deliverable based on detailed technical evidence. There has been a substantial 

change in circumstances to demonstrate Porthcawl Waterfront can be delivered 

over the Replacement LDP period and the site is therefore included as a 

component of housing supply within the housing trajectory. 

2.16 In contrast, there are also three brownfield regeneration allocations within the 

existing LDP that the Council intends to re-allocate as Long-Term Regeneration 

Sites. These include Maesteg Washery, Coegnant Reclamation Site (Caerau) 

and the Former Cooper Standard Site, Ewenny Road (Maesteg). The retention 

of such sites represents a necessary degree of continuity with the first adopted 

LDP, although the Plan’s housing trajectory will not be dependent on delivery of 

these Long-Term Regeneration Sites. This approach recognises that they 

require longer lead-in times, preparatory remediation-based enabling works 

and/or more detailed strategic master plans before they can come forward.  

Page 142



7 

2.17 Given the existing LDP’s success in delivering development on brownfield land, 

it is recognised that there are limited, viable brownfield development 

opportunities remaining. Some additional viable and deliverable greenfield sites 

will be required to ensure the County Borough’s future housing requirements can 

be realised. Indeed, post Deposit Stage, an alternative greenfield, developer-led 

site (Heol Fach, North Cornelly) has now been proposed for incorporation within 

the housing trajectory to bolster delivery in the short-term. However, proposals 

to overlook the remaining viable brownfield opportunities in favour of additional 

greenfield allocations is not supported, is out of accord with the Spatial Strategy 

and contradicts national policy. Refer to the Housing Trajectory Background 

Paper, Spatial Strategy Options Background Paper, Candidate Site Assessment 

and Minimising the Loss of the BMV Agricultural Land Background Paper 

Porthcawl 

2.18 In addition to the above, some representors objected to the regeneration-led only 

strategy for Porthcawl on the basis that reliance on Porthcawl Waterfront is 

'exceptionally high risk' and there are no fall-back options to allow for additional 

housing provision in the settlement. Other representors similarly referenced the 

fact that the Porthcawl Waterfront site has not been delivered hitherto and yet 

accounts for a significant proportion of Replacement LDP’s total housing 

requirement. Several of these representors therefore suggested amending the 

spatial strategy to enable allocation of several additional greenfield sites on the 

periphery of Porthcawl instead. However, these objections are not supported by 

the Council and are out of accord with the Plan’s Spatial Strategy.  

2.19 Porthcawl has been identified as a Regeneration Growth Area as it demonstrates 

capacity to accommodate growth in a sustainable manner, via the significant 

brownfield redevelopment opportunity remaining within the existing settlement 

boundary. This represents considerable potential to attract regeneration-based 

inward investment that will address a broad range of socio-economic issues and 

complement community-based regeneration initiatives within Porthcawl. As 

aforementioned, a detailed body of evidence has been gathered to demonstrate 

there has been a substantial change in circumstances with regards to the 

deliverability of Porthcawl Waterfront. This evidence clearly demonstrates the 

site is a viable, deliverable allocation. The Strategy will enable the site to come 

forward, maximise affordable housing delivery in a high housing need area and 

enable delivery of mixed-use development on brownfield land. This approach 

accords with the site search sequence outlined in national policy, seeks to 

minimise pressure on BMV agricultural land and contributes to the full plethora 

of sustainable placemaking principles detailed in PPW. As such, and as justified 

in the Spatial Strategy Options Background Paper, the Strategy for Porthcawl is 

considered sound and the proposal to overlook the regeneration of a viable 

brownfield site in favour of greenfield sites at the edge of Porthcawl is not 

supported.  

Page 143



8 

Site Typologies 

2.20 Several representors cited concerns that the Plan is over-dependent on strategic 

sites, whilst simultaneously advocating a spatial strategy comprising of a broader 

range of smaller, edge of settlement housing allocations. It was suggested that 

this approach would enable growth to be delivered earlier in the plan period as 

smaller sites can come forward more quickly than larger, strategic sites. It must 

be acknowledged that such comments were typically made by representors 

promoting sites that had not been proposed for allocation within the Deposit Plan. 

However, the proposal to place a greater reliance on small to medium sized 

greenfield sites per se is not supported. A Plan with too many smaller sites is 

more likely to have an adverse impact on local communities. It is often more 

difficult for such sites to provide their own supporting infrastructure until they 

reach sufficient critical mass and this approach could risk exacerbating local 

infratructure problems.  

2.21 The Replacement LDP primarily seeks to deliver several large-scale Sustainable 

Urban Extensions that will incorporate a mix of complementary uses and deliver 

improvements to existing infrastructure and/or provide new supporting 

infrastructure. This latter factor is particularly notable given the school capacity 

issues across the County Borough and the need for new strategic sites to be 

significant enough in scale to support provision of a new primary school as a 

minimum. A limited number of smaller site allocations were proposed at Deposit 

Stage (refer to Policies COM1(2)-COM1(5)), although only where capacity was 

clearly demonstrated to accommodate the respective level of growth and/or 

infrastructure improvements could be provided in support of the developments.  

2.22 Post Deposit Stage, a suitable opportunity was identified to bring forward an 

additional, smaller, developer-led site (255 dwellings at Heol Fach, North 

Cornelly) in accordance with the Replacement LDP’s Strategy. The site will 

bolster housing delivery in the short-term, thereby addressing some of the 

concerns cited by representors. However, this site’s impact on the local 

community has been carefully considered in terms of supporting infrastructure 

(refer to the Infrastructure Delivery Plan), education capacity (refer to the 

Education Background Paper) and affordable housing provision (refer to the 

Affordable Housing Background Paper). Incorporation of this site plus the four 

sites included at Deposit Stage will ensure the plan is not over-dependent on 

strategic sites and delivery can come forward in the shorter term. The final 

selection of proposed allocations is detailed within the Candidate Site 

Assessment. The housing trajectory is considered deliverable, as detailed within 

the Housing Trajectory Background Paper.  

Page 144



9 

4. Do you have any comments to make on design and sustainable 

placemaking policies? 

Good Design and Density 

2.23  Some representors argued that the the term ‘Good Design’, as used within SP3, 

needs to be more clearly defined. Reference was made to the fact that the level 

of placemaking achievable by a development will depend on its scale and 

location, and, that it would be unlikely for all sites to be able to meet all criteria 

within this policy. However, the Replacement LDP seeks to maximise its 

contribution to well-being through Sustainable Placemaking and Good Design, 

in accordance with PPW and the definitions therein. Whilst these comments are 

noted, the policy is considered appropriate in its current form. 

2.24 Similarly, other representors stated that Policy COM6 is too vague as it fails to 

define what are higher and lower densities for new housing development. It was 

argued that the policy should provide a clearer understanding of the densities 

appropriate within different parts of the County Borough and what constitutes ‘an 

efficient and appropriate density’. However, rather than specifying a numeric 

requirement, COM6 sets the framework to make the most efficient use of land 

based on the site-specific context. This seeks to ensure an appropriate balance 

of uses can be pursued in a manner that maximises the density of developments 

without compromising the quality of the living conditions provided. The policy 

wording is therefore considered appropriate in its current form.  

Masterplans 

2.25 Reference was made to the fact that many of the allocations are well advanced 

in the master planning / pre-application process and Welsh Government 

commented that a visual element would enhance PLA1-5, through masterplans, 

concept and/or schematic frameworks. It was felt that “this will enable all parties 

to understand how the sites will be developed in broad terms, such as proposed 

land uses, access, infrastructure requirements, constraints and areas of 

protection”. These comments are noted and accepted. Illustrative masterplans 

will be appended to the Replacement LDP to enhance clarity in these respects. 

The final masterplans will be refined as part of future planning applications in 

accordance with the respective masterplan development principles detailed in 

Polices PLA1-5. 

Energy Efficiecy and Zero Carbon 

2.26  Certain representors called for all new buildings (enabled under the Replacement 

LDP) to be examples of high sustainable design and construction practices. 

Indeed, SP3 states that development must contribute to creating high quality, 

attractive, sustainable places that support active and healthy lives and enhance 

the community in which they are located, whilst having full regard to the natural, 

historic and built environment. Development proposals must maximise 

Page 145



10 

opportunities for renewable or low carbon energy generation, incorporating 

resource efficient/adaptable buildings and layouts using sustainable design and 

construction techniques. SP4 also requires all development proposals to make a 

positive contribution towards tackling the causes of, and adapting to the impacts 

of Climate Change. However, some representors cited concerns with the 

requirements of this policy in terms of how it will be measured and also the 

associated financial implications. While these comments are noted, as specified 

within SP4, all applications for development proposals must clearly demonstrate 

how they contribute to climate change mitigation and adaption through 

application of the criteria-based policies. The policy wording is considered 

appropriate in its current form. 

2.27 Other representors emphasised the importance of ensuring ‘green technolgoies’ 

are utilised in development, to maximise scope for a zero carbon footprint. The 

Council has an aspiration for all new homes to be net zero carbon. The Bridgend 

Local Area Energy Strategy and Renewable Energy Assessment (REA) 

identifies those areas considered to be suitable for development for district heat, 

hybrid and electric-heating solutions in combination with different levels of 

targeted fabric retrofit. Policy ENT10 outlines a sequential approach that requires 

new major development to demonstrate sustainable heating and cooling 

systems have been selected in the first instance, where technically feasible and 

financially viable. 

2.28 Conversely, some private developers were opposed to certain requirements of 

ENT10, particularly the requirement for an energy masterplan on all major 

development (10 dwellings or more). It was instead suggested that a higher 

threshold should be used as it is not viable to incorporate low carbon heating 

technologies on small sites. However, the requirement for new major 

development to be accompanied by an energy masterplan follows the advice 

contained within Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) and is considered 

appropriate. 

5. Do you have any comments to make on the active, health, cohesive 

and social communities policies?  

Affordable Housing 

2.29 Several representors queired if the affordable housing to be secured through the 

Replcaement LDP will be built in high need areas and whether it will be truly 

affordable for local people. In response, the LHMA has directly informed the 

Spatial Strategy, which seeks to maximise affordable housing delivery in high-

need areas (refer to the Strategic Growth Options Background Paper). Affordable 

housing contributions will be sought on residential developments as set out by 

COM3. New housing developments must incorporate an appropriate mix of 

house types, sizes and tenures to cater for the range of locally identified housing 

needs. All affordable housing provision delivered via the Replacement LDP will 

Page 146



11 

comply with the definition outlined in Technical Advice Note 2 and be secured 

through an appropriate s106 agreement to ensure the resultant products are 

usefully affordable. 

2.30 Several representors cited support for the affordable housing targets detailed 

within COM3. However, other representors queired why the proposed affordable 

housing requirements are higher for some strategic sites than in the respective 

housing market areas more generally. The rationale for the area-based and site-

specific policies is clearly set out within the Affordable Housing Background 

Paper. Within any broad housing market area, there will inevitably be pockets of 

higher or lower viability. Hence, in addition to the area-wide affordable housing 

requirements within COM3, there are also site-specific affordable housing 

requirements. The former are based on the Plan-Wide Viability Assessment, the 

latter are based on site-specific viability testing, which has involved analysis of 

more specific costs, constraints and site requirements. This dual-faceted 

approach is paramount to ensure Council’s aspirations for delivering high-quality 

new communities are both realistic and deliverable.  

2.31 Other representors supported inclusion of the Affordable Housing Exception Site 

Policy (COM5), although objected to the ten dwelling ‘limit’ detailed within the 

policy wording. These representors considered it necessary for a more flexible 

policy to ‘meet the identified affordable housing need’, whilst referring to 

purposely selected policies from some other local plans as further justification. 

However, the Council considers that these representors have misinterpreted the 

purpose of proposed COM5. The Replacement LDP will seek to deliver the 

identified affordable housing target within the designated settlement boundaries 

in accordance with placemaking principles. COM5 does not seek to promote 

significant levels of affordable housing development outside of settlement 

boundaries to contribute to this target, rather provide a mechanism to meet 

pressing housing need in limited, exceptional circumstances. Any resultant 

development will still need to have reasonable access to local community 

services and facilities in nearby settlements and meet the specified criteria. A 

10-unit cluster is considered the maximum appropriate size for a sustainable 

cluster of affordable housing on larger housing developments and is equally 

applicable to an exception site. Affordable housing clusters of more than 10 units 

can otherwise become increasingly unconducive to the delivery and 

maintenance of balanced, mixed tenure communities, particularly in a 

countryside setting. Whilst some exception policies in alternative local plans may 

indeed prescribe a different threshold, they are not directly applicable to the 

Bridgend context. Proposed Policy COM5 will provide a means of meeting very 

specific identified housing need, small in scale and exceptional in circumstance. 

No sound justification has been provided to remove the 10 affordable unit limit 

within Policy COM5 and this proposal is therefore not supported. Refer to the 

Affordable Housing Background Paper.  

Page 147



12 

2.32 Other representors (primarily private developers) challenged the detailed policy 

requirements for affordable housing clusters of no more than 10 units on mixed-

tenure strategic sites. It was argued that this figure should be more flexible to 

allow for site-specific circumstances and to avoid potential RSL management 

issues with ‘smaller’ clusters. However, this suggestion is not supported and 

clusters of up to 10 units are not considered ‘small’ in this context. Indeed, 

clusters of this nature are actually designed to assist with management of 

affordable housing in a more sustinable manner than ‘pepper potitng’ single units 

throughout developments. Equally, discrete clusters of more than 10 affordable 

units can otherwise become increasingly unconducive to the delivery and 

maintenance of balanced, mixed tenure communities. Large concentrations of 

affordable housing within certain parts of residential sites can lead to 

stigmatisation, social disintegration and unstable communities. As such, the 

proposed approach is already considered flexible enough and adaptable to site-

specific circumstances, having been devised considering routine discussions 

with RSL housing managers that operate across the region. Refer to the 

Affordable Housing Background Paper. 

Windfall Allowance 

2.33 Some representors raised concerns over the Plan’s windfall allowance (for both 

small and large windfall sites), on the basis that it is subject to unallocated sites 

becoming available, market fluctuations and land availability. However, the 

future windfall extrapolation rate has been carefully considered and is based on 

robust evidence. Firstly, A fifteen-year average was calculated over the whole 

existing LDP period (2006/07 to 2020/21), which encompasses the recession, 

the subsequent repercussions and the following years of economic recovery. 

Secondly, the Replacement LDP seeks to broadly continue with the existing 

LDP’s Regeneration-Led Strategy (along with some additional sustainable 

growth), and maintain similar settlement boundaries, thereby rendering past 

windfall completion trends a robust reference point. Thirdly, an Urban Capacity 

Study (UCS, 2020) was published alongside the Deposit Plan to provide further 

analysis of the potential urban capacity of the County Boroughs’ settlements for 

housing to evidence the expected small and windfall site allowance rate. This 

was updated in 2022 and identifies more than sufficient capacity within the 

proposed settlement boundaries to accommodate this component of housing 

supply. The small and windfall site allowance rate is therefore considered both 

realistic and deliverable. It also serves as a useful resource to developers and 

SMEs who are seeking to identify potential development opportunities not 

specifically allocated in the Replacement LDP. The concerns raised are 

therefore unsubstantiated and not supported. Refer to the Housing Trajectory 

Background Paper and UCS (2022).  

Page 148



13 

Recreation Space 

2.34 Several concerns were raised regarding new development per se and the loss of 

public open space, particularly in relation to the negative impact this could have 

on the wellbeing of residents. However, the Council has undertaken an updated 

Outdoor Sport and Children’s Play Space Audit (2021), which is a quantitative 

analysis of existing formal and informal provision compared with the benchmark 

standards endorsed by Fields in Trust (FiT). The Audit has a dual purpose and 

can be used as a means of safeguarding or enhancing existing facilities, whilst 

also providing evidence to justify the provision of new facilities and/or remedy 

local deficiencies in provision as appropriate. Proposed Policy COM10 requires 

provision of a satisfactory standard of outdoor recreation space on all new 

housing developments. Equally, the proposed Thematic Policies (PLA1-PLA5) 

detail site-specific requirements for the mixed-use Strategic Development Sites 

in this respect. On-site provision must comply with the accessibility benchmark 

standards set out in the Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing 

Development SPG.  

2.35 The Council has also undertaken a Green Infrastructure Assessment to guide 

and shape the planning and delivery of green infrastructure throughout the 

County Borough. The assessment summaries the findings of the aforementioned 

Audit, whilst also adopting a holistic approach to include green infrastructure 

assets (such as allotments, cemeteries, woodlands, broad habitats) and the 

Integrated Network Maps. As such, the assessment will provide a mechanism to 

ensure green infrastructure forms an integral and significant part of development 

and wider infrastructure proposals. Development proposals, including strategic 

site allocations, will be expected to maintain, protect and enhance Bridgend’s 

green infrastructure network and ensure that individual green assets are retained 

wherever possible and integrated into any new development. 

Supporting Infrastructure 

2.36 Lack of existing infrastructure was commonly mentioned by representors as a 

reason to resist any further growth within the County Borough. Many members 

of the public raised concerns with the impacts additional housing could have on 

school capacities, primary healthcare, traffic congestion, utility provision and 

other community infrastructure. However, the provision of supporting 

infrastructure to accompany growth has been a primary consideration throughout 

preparation of the Replacement LDP. Infrastrucutre providers have been 

engaged at key stages and an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) has been 

produced, which provides a single schedule of all infrastructure necessary to 

render development acceptable in planning terms. All allocations will need to 

deliver appropriate supporting infrastructure, as referenced within the IDP, to 

enable the quantum of proposed development within the plan period to proceed. 

Without exception, all proposed residential allocations are supported by a large 

Page 149



14 

body of technical and viability evidence to demonstrate their deliverability and 

show that they can fund necessary supporting infrastructure.  

Gypsy and Traveller Provision 

2.37 Several representors queried why the Plan needed to accommodate Gypsy and 

Traveller sites, although the Council has a statutory duty to carry out an 

assessment of the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers under Part 

3 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 and to meet any identified need for additional 

pitches under section 56 of the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013. Another 

representor was in support of the Plan accommodating Gypsy and Traveller 

needs on the basis that ‘everybody needs somewhere to live’. 

2.38 In terms of the Court Colman (SP7(1)) proposal, concerns were raised regarding 

the impact this development may have on the ward and immediate area, 

particularly in a rural area of natural beauty, which is considered to have high 

ecological value. However, the proposed allocation has been subject to a SA 

along with Policy COM8, which provides associated development management 

criteria, and is considered to provide adequate policy level mitigation in this 

respect. Representors also requested that the Council consider an alternative 

site outside of the ward, although a search sequence has already been 

conducted and is documented in the Gypsy and Traveller Site Options 

Background Paper.  Conversely, one representor felt that the Gypsy and 

Traveller allocation is suited to this location on the basis that there are less 

homes surrounding the immediate site and any development will not directly 

impact residents.  

2.39 In terms of the Bryncethin (SP7(2)) proposal, several residents stated that the 

development would be ‘unwelcome’ and not of any benefit to the local area. A 

range of reasons were provided in objection to the allocation, including: the area 

is already busy enough without more residents, crime rates may increase, anti-

social behaviour may increase, properties may be de-valued, the area may be 

stigmatised, dogs could attack nearby livestock, animals could be abused at the 

site, the occupants may not be in employment, the elderly could be made to feel 

vulnerable, and people may want to move away. However, these issues are not 

planning matters. Other representors stated that the proposal would result in a 

loss of recreation space, as the site was once earmarked for sports fields. 

However, the recent planning application (P/21/494/FUL) for provision of 3 rugby 

fields is to the east of and divorced from the site in question. Other objectors 

referenced the lack of sewerage connections, potential impacts on highway 

safety and the lack of a suitable access. However, the Council has maintained 

ongoing dialogue with Welsh Water regarding sewerage provision and COM8 

requires proposals for new or extended sites to be supported by necessary 

physical, transport and social infrastructure to ensure they do not have an 

adverse impact on the transport network. 

Page 150



15 

2.40 When the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) was 

completed, the total estimated pitch provision was for 7 pitches up until 2033. 

Since then, one family has met their accommodation needs, leaving a remaining 

need for six pitches over the Plan period. This need stems from two families (i.e., 

three pitches per family). One of these families has recently received planning 

consent to intensify their existing site and meet their accommodation needs 

(planning application P/21/677/FUL refers). This leaves a remaining need for 3 

pitches, which the Council considers can be appropriately accommodated by the 

original proposed allocation at Court Colman (SP7(1)), which is already in the 

family’s ownership. As such, the other proposed allocation at Bryncethin (SP7(2)) 

is no longer considered necessary and will be removed from the Replacement 

LDP.  

2.41 Welsh Government also commented that, to ensure compliance with legislation 

and planning policy, the GTAA should be formally agreed by the relevant Welsh 

Government Minister prior to the examination. In addition, the Council will need 

to demonstrate at the examination that the sites can be delivered in the identified 

timescales. The Council submitted the GTAA to Welsh Government in December 

2020, has liaised with Welsh Government on this matter and remain committed 

to progressing the GTAA to formal approval in the near future. The Council has 

also liaised with the respective family to ensure the SP7(1) allocation is 

deliverable. 

6. Do you have any comments to make on the employment strategy?  

2.42 Several representors cited broad support for the overall employment strategy, 

stating that it expounds the Plan’s contribution to sustainable economic growth 

by detailing how the employment requirement will be met over the plan period. 

These comments are noted.  

Out-Commuting 

2.43 A few representors cited concerns that the number of homes proposed in the 

County Borough would transform the character of the area, no jobs would 

accompany the growth and the locality would effectively become a commuter 

belt for Cardiff and Swansea. On this basis, it was argued that the County 

Borough should not accommodate any further growth as adding more housing 

would ‘take the town feel out of the area’. In response, the Replacement LDP 

evidence base has evaluated a comprehensive range of growth options and 

analysed the link between different levels of population change and the size and 

profile of the resultant resident labour force. This has ensured development of a 

Growth Strategy that is most appropriate to achieve an equilibrium between the 

number of economically active people remaining within and moving into the 

Page 151



16 

County Borough plus the number of employers relocating and/or expanding 

within the same vicinity. A key aim of the Plan is to minimise the need for out-

commuting. Therefore, the Replacement LDP does not seek to transform 

Bridgend County Borough into a commuter area for Cardiff and Swansea; this 

is the opposite aim of what the strategy is seeking to achieve. The level of growth 

proposed is considered the most appropriate to achieve an equilibrium between 

new homes and employment provision, balanced against other key 

infrastructure requirements, and connected through enhanced active travel 

opportunities. This is detailed further within the Employment Background Paper. 

Repurposing of Employment Sites 

2.44 Some representors referenced recent trends and suggested that Policies ENT2 

and ENT3 should maximise flexibility for the repurposing of employment sites, 

allowing development to respond to market conditions and market signals if 

necessary. It was argued that restricting development on employment sites to B 

Use Classes only ‘may be counterproductive in making the most efficient use of 

land and driving economic prosperity’. Instead, it was claimed that greater 

flexibility could be achieved by including other employment generating uses, 

including non-B-class uses.  

2.45 The Council is aware that there is significant pressure for certain uses of this 

nature on employment sites, notably those falling within Class D2, such as 

cinemas, children’s soft play centres, indoor/outdoor activity centres and 

fitness/sports centres, which by their very nature, require a large space, often 

with significant headroom. In order to maintain a sustainable level of employment 

land, and based upon the recommendations of the EEBS, the Council will protect 

the sites detailed in ENT2 for employment purposes. The safeguarding of 

existing sites and premises, where appropriate and necessary, will help to meet 

the employment needs of the local and wider economy by providing accessible 

sources of employment (refer to the Employment Background Paper). The 

intensification and refurbishment of sites and premises identified within ENT2 will 

also be acceptable in principle, subject to proposals satisfying other policies in 

the Plan.  

2.46 ENT3 outlines criteria to determine applications for non-B uses on such sites. 

However, to deliver the ‘Town Centre First’ approach outlined within PPW and 

Future Wales, the Replacement LDP seeks to direct facilities and services to 

town centres in the first instance. Therefore, before any non-B uses are permitted 

on allocated employment sites, applicants must demonstrate that other sites 

within town centres, and the sequential hierarchy detailed in SP12, have been 

investigated and found to be unsuitable. Proposals for non-B uses will also need 

to demonstrate that either the existing use is inappropriate or that the land or 

Page 152



17 

premises is surplus to the requirements of the employment market. As such, the 

Plan is considered flexible enough to respond to the market accordingly.  

Ty Draw Farm, North Cornelly 

2.47 Arguments were also put forward to de-allocate Ty Draw Farm, North Cornelly 

ENT1(11) as an employment site and either re-allocate it as a residential site or 

re-designate it as ‘white land’ within the settlement boundary. Representors 

argued that the site is undeliverable as an employment allocation because it has 

been unsuccessfully marketed for this use and not taken up despite being 

allocated for employment for ‘over 40 years’. However, the remaining 

employment portion (2.23ha) of the site is now considered to be materially 

different proposition to the entire greenfield site (6.1ha) that had been marketed 

unsuccessfully for development over the period mentioned. The site was re-

allocated from a 100% employment site to a Regeneration and Mixed-Use 

Development Scheme within the existing adopted LDP (2006-2021). Planning 

consent for a ‘hybrid’ scheme was granted in 2014, including full consent for 

residential use to the south of the site and outline consent for employment use 

to the north. An access off the main estate road was also required to be provided 

to enable the employment development to be completed.  

2.48 The residential element of the site was complete by the end of 2016/17, although 

the site owner did not submit a re-profiling scheme for the employment part of 

the site within the time limits specified by the Section 106 agreement. As such, 

while the representor has cited extensive marketing of the remaining 2.23ha, the 

Council’s view is that the site has yet to be marketed to its full potential as more 

modest, yet accessible, serviced employment opportunity. It is therefore 

considered that the findings of the Economic Evidence Base Study (EEBS, 2019) 

and Update (2021) are still entirely relevant, and it is reasonable to give the site 

more time to come forward before concluding that it should be released as an 

employment allocation. Refer also to the Employment Background Paper.   

Brackla Industrial Estate 

2.49 Proposals were also put forward for the Replacement LDP to consider a more 

flexible mix of uses at Brackla Industrial Estate. However, the site was identified 

in the EEBS as a site that would contribute to future employment land supply, 

hence the site is allocated within ENT1 for new employment land development 

of B1, B2 and B8 use classes. Whilst the comments are noted, any alternative 

proposal would need to clearly justify the loss of employment land in accordance 

with the LDP policy framework.  

Page 153



18 

Former Ford Site, Bridgend 

2.50 A representation was also submitted advocating flexibility regarding land uses at 

the former Ford Site, Bridgend. However, ENT5 already recognises a unique 

approach is required to enable redevelopment of the site and it will be necessary 

to enable a flexible mix of economic uses, not necessarily akin to the type and 

density of uses previously accommodated on the site. The policy is therefore 

considered appropriate and the Council will work collaboratively with Welsh 

Government and the landowners to secure the best outcome for Bridgend.  

Porthcawl Employment 

2.51 Several members of the public raised concerns about the employment strategy 

for Porthcawl, specifically that the residential development will not be 

accompanied with any new jobs. However, the Replacement LDP recognises 

that Porthcawl has an important role in the settlement hierarchy of the County 

Borough, given that it is a principal centre of services, jobs and community 

facilities (refer to the Settlement Assessment). The Plan (see Table 6) 

acknowledges the imbalance between housing and employment at Porthcawl 

due to a lack of ‘B space’ employment land. However, the Replacement LDP 

seeks to reinforce employment in the town through planned growth in the 

commercial, leisure and tourism sectors. The development will help boost the 

local economy of this existing Main Settlement by increasing the pool of local 

labour and rendering the centre more attractive for development by closely 

linking new residential development to employment, recreation and education 

uses through active travel principles. This is designed to combat potential decline 

in the town, which may otherwise occur without a lack of economic growth over 

the plan period.  

7. Do you have any comments to make on retail centres and development 

policies?  

‘Town Centre First’ 

2.52 Several comments were made in support of the Plan’s ‘Town Centre First’ 

approach and general principle of regenerating town centres. Many representors 

were concerned about the decline of the high street and emphasised the 

importance of ‘improving the town centre offer’, stimulating town centre footfall 

and ‘reimagining’ the town centre experience. Support was also cited for the retail 

hierarchy and identification of key/main settlements.  

2.53 A further representation was submitted in relation to the Bridgend Shopping 

Centre, which referenced that a large part of the centre is within the proposed 

Primary Shopping Area. It was stressed that the Replacement LDP should 

provide sufficient flexibility to ensure the centre remains successful, without 

tempering its ability to attract new uses and maintain a low vacancy rate. 

Page 154



19 

2.54 As recognised in the Retail Background Paper and Covid-19 Policy Review 

Background Paper, high streets will continue to change, especially in the short-

term, due to the increase in online shopping associated with the pandemic. The 

Replacement LDP already acknowledges that town centres need to diversify if 

they are to retain their vitality and viability. The range and variety of shops and 

services has changed over time and will continue to evolve. However, there is a 

need to ensure that commercial centres do not lose their ‘critical mass’ of retail 

units to the extent that they can no longer function as viable shopping centres. 

Accordingly, there is a need to strike a balance between retailing and non-

retailing uses in commercial centres to ensure the optimum mix, and thus 

enhance the vitality and viability of those centres. Policy ENT7 recognises that 

the Primary Shopping Areas of the County Borough’s town centres need 

protection from competing uses. Primary shopping frontages can complement 

ongoing public realm pedestrianisation and town centre regeneration objectives, 

which seek to increase the retail offer of the centres in a pleasant, attractive 

environment. As such, the policy framework is already considered flexible 

enough in this respect.  

Retail Floorspace 

2.55 One representor sought allocation of significant (2,900m² net) out of town retail 

floorspace at Parc Afon Ewenni, although this proposal is not supported. The 

level of space proposed is above this threshold set in PPW, not based on any 

identified need and not supported by a retail impact assessment. Therefore, the 

representor’s proposal is not supported and would be of detriment to the Town 

Centre First principle enshrined in national policy and promoted by the 

Replacement LDP Strategy.  

2.56 Another representor sought specific retail floorspace allocations on strategic 

sites. However, this is not considered necessary and the position is outlined 

within the Retail Background Paper, informed by the Retail Study (2019) and 

Retail Study Update (2022). The retail need identified will be met by allocating 

regeneration sites in or adjacent to Bridgend and Porthcawl Town Centres, the 

re-use and regeneration of vacant units within commercial centres and via local 

service centres on new strategic sites. This will be complemented by policies in 

the Replacement LDP which clearly highlight the circumstances where new retail 

developments will be acceptable outside the centres in the hierarchy. i.e. where 

they can demonstrate they will complement existing facilities and can be 

accessed by sustainable forms of transport. 

Porthcawl Food Store 

2.57 Numerous representors submitted comments in opposition of the proposed food 

store at Porthcawl Waterfront, primarily due to its prominent location on the 

seafront, commenting that it will have a negative visual impact on the gateway 

into Porthcawl. Conversely, several representors were in support of the proposed 

Page 155



20 

food store on the basis that it will provide ‘a little employment’ and attract more 

people into the town with the accompanying travel links. 

2.58 As outlined within the Retail Study (2019), Porthcawl Town Centre has a limited 

convenience offer, which is significantly below the UK average. The food store 

site forms a key element of the wider masterplan that has been developed for 

Porthcawl Waterfront. A robust tender process was utilised to enable 

development of the food store, whereby each bid was carefully assessed against 

a planning development brief. The brief required bidders to submit high-quality, 

bespoke designs for premises that could act as ‘gateway buildings’ as well as 

incorporating appropriate access and active travel arrangements. Planning 

consent has since been issued for this development (Ref:P/21/835/FUL). 

2.59 The food store is intended to act as a precursor to, and catalyst for, future phases 

of development across the wider site. As well as providing residents with greater 

choice and more flexibility, the development is intended to unlock funds that will 

be reinvested into local infrastructure improvements within Porthcawl and further 

stages of the regeneration plans.   

8. Do you have any comments to make on the renewable energy, mineral 

resources and waste management policies?  

Minerals 

2.60 Welsh Government highlighted the need for an agreed Statement of Sub-

Regional Collaboration regarding the production of crushed rock or sand and 

gravel and the Council will seek to resolve this issue prior to examination. 

2.61 In addition, Welsh Government recommended that a list should be included in 

Policy ENT14 to clearly identify the location of the mineral operations and their 

buffer zones. A corresponding list will be added within Policy ENT14 in the 

submission version of the Plan.  

Renewable Energy 

2.62 One representor argued for greater reference to Future Wales’ Pre-Assessed 

Areas (PAA), whilst highlighting that Councils should take the PAAs directly into 

their new development plans without amendment. In response, enhanced 

references will be made within the Local Issues and Drivers (LS3), although 

further changes are not considered necessary as the Replacement LDP will 

identify the PAAs and does not seek to make any amendments to the PAAs 

identified.  

2.63 Some representors cited concerns regarding the financial constraints of 

renewable energy requirements. However, no changes are considered 

necessary to the policy framework in this respect. The Council has an aspiration 

for all new homes to be net zero carbon. Policy ENT10 will ensure that new major 

development is accompanied by an ‘Energy Masterplan that demonstrates that 

Page 156



21 

the most sustainable heating and cooling systems have been selected. Any 

proposed development will be required demonstrate how the proposal will 

facilitate a connection to a low carbon heat network, or robustly justify why the 

connection is not technically and/or economically viable and suggest an 

alternative approach.  

2.64 Other representors proposed setting a higher dwelling threshold for an energy 

masterplan within Policy ENT10 and ENT11. However, these proposals are also 

not supported. The requirement for new major development to be accompanied 

by an Energy Masterplan follows the advice contained within PPW (Edition 11). 

9. Do you have any comments to make on the natural and built 

environment policies?  

Natural and Built Environment 

2.65 Numerous representors cited concerns about the negative effects of 

development and perceived urbanisation of the County Borough. Arguments 

were put forward to suggest that development of certain sites would have a 

detrimental effect on local wildlife, habitats, biodiversity, natural resources, air 

quality, green spaces and the general rurality of certain areas. However, the 

Replacement LDP acknowledges that the County Borough has a rich and varied 

biodiversity with a broad range of species, habitats and unique landscapes. 

Policies have been refreshed and updated from the existing LDP and will 

continue to protect the County Borough’s environment in line with national 

planning policy and the Environment Act 2016. Development proposals 

including strategic site allocations will be expected to maintain, protect and 

enhance Bridgend’s green infrastructure network and ensure that individual 

green assets are retained and integrated wherever possible. 

2.66 Similar concerns were also raised in relation to the potential impacts’ 

development may have on historic buildings, local heritage, archaeological 

remains and other historic assets. However, the Replacement LDP recognises 

the importance of the historic environment and its fundamental role in distinctive 

and natural placemaking. The impact of any development proposal will be 

required to be fully considered by applicants through the preparation of a 

heritage impact assessment and statement (refer to SP18).  

2.67 The Deposit Plan SA Report demonstrates how the SA, incorporating SEA, 

process has informed the development of the Deposit Plan, including the 

incorporation of recommended changes within the document. As a result, the 

SA Report concludes that there is good coverage of all key sustainability issues 

in Deposit Plan, with plan components performing well against the SA 

Framework. It also identifies strong compatibility between the LDP 

Vision/Objectives and the SA Framework, plus no likely significant adverse 

effects (taking account of mitigation in all its forms). 

Page 157



22 

2.68 In accordance with statutory requirements, PPW sets out multiple requirements 

for development to avoid direct adverse effects on nationally important heritage 

assets and for the need for any development resulting in adverse effects on the 

historic environment to be robustly justified.  

10. Key proposals for Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley  

2.69 Several representors were supportive of the approach to allocating Long-Term 

Regeneration Sites in the Maesteg and Llynfi Valley, whereas others shared 

concerns regarding market demand and deliverability. However, the retention 

of such sites represents a necessary degree of continuity with the first adopted 

LDP. The Replacement LDP recognises that will require longer lead-in times, 

preparatory remediation-based enabling works and/or more detailed strategic 

master plans before they can come forward. The Council remains committed to 

delivering these sites, although, in accordance with national policy, the Plan’s 

housing trajectory will not be dependent on their delivery. Refer to the Housing 

Trajectory Background Paper, Spatial Strategy Options Background Paper, 

Candidate Site Assessment and Minimising the Loss of the BMV Agricultural 

Land Background Paper. 

2.70 Several other representations were submitted in support of the three sites 

proposed for allocation at Pont Rhyd-y-Cyff (COM1(3-5)). The representors 

confirmed that the sites are considered deliverable in the short-term and are 

anticipated to come forward within the early stages of the Replacement LDP 

period.  These comments are duly noted.  

11. Key proposals for Porthcawl, Pyle, North Cornelly and Kenfig Hill   

Land East of Pyle (SP2(5)) 

2.71 Some representors raised concerns about the deliverability of Land East of Pyle 

due to the involvement of several landowners, viability considerations and the 

lack of significant recent housing delivery in Pyle. However, a detailed plethora 

of evidence has been provided to the Council to support its delivery, including 

numerous site investigations and appraisals, masterplans, a viability 

assessment, a transport assessment and due consideration of s106 

requirements, infrastructure and costs. This process has provided a high 

degree of confidence that the site is realistically deliverable, considering the full 

plethora of associated development requirements, infrastructure provision and 

placemaking principles necessary to deliver high-quality development.  

2.72 Other representors argued that Land East of Pyle should be re-considered for 

allocation within the forthcoming Strategic Development Plan (SDP) due to its 

scale. Nevertheless, work on the SDP has not yet commenced and site 

thresholds have not yet been defined through this process. The Bridgend 

Replacement LDP is being prepared in advance of the forthcoming SDP and 

the site promoter has clearly demonstrated that Land East of Pyle is both viable 

Page 158



23 

and deliverable during the Replacement LDP period, in accordance with the 

Growth and Spatial Strategy. In terms of cross boundary implications, Neath 

Port Talbot County Borough Council has submitted formal representations on 

the Bridgend Deposit Plan and cite no objections to this proposed allocation 

and support the Replacement LDP.  

Porthcawl Waterfront SP2(1) 

2.73 Several representors raised concerns about the deliverability of Porthcawl 

Waterfront, with some proposing its re-allocation as a Long-Term Regeneration 

Site and others recommending postponement to the site’s housing trajectory. 

However, these proposals are not supported. Porthcawl Waterfront was subject 

to robust re-assessment of its sustainability, deliverability and viability 

credentials in the same manner as all other candidate sites. There has been a 

substantial change in circumstances to demonstrate this site can be delivered 

over the Replacement LDP period, as indicated within the housing trajectory 

(refer to the Housing Trajectory Background Paper, Spatial Strategy Options 

Background Paper and Candidate Site Assessment).  

2.74 Numerous members of the public opposed the re-allocation of Porthcawl 

Waterfront for a range of reasons, including potential negative impacts on 

wellbeing, infrastructure, the street scene, the seascape/landscape, the 

environment, flooding, traffic, parking provision, tourism provision, leisure 

provision and job creation. However, development will be subject to site-specific 

requirements including masterplan development principles and placemaking 

principles (refer to PLA1). The provision of new residential units, including 

affordable dwellings, will enable the delivery of other vital regeneration 

requirements comprising public open space, leisure, enhanced active travel 

links plus education, retail and community facility provision. The Replacement 

LDP is also accompanied by a SA Report (incorporating SEA) to assess the 

likely sustainability and significant environmental effects of all substantive 

components of the Plan, with appropriate mitigation measures incorporated. A 

Placemaking Strategy has been developed and produced, which provides the 

framework to deliver the broader vision for Porthcawl. This aims to create a 

premier seaside resort of regional significance through the comprehensive 

regeneration of this key waterfront site. It proposes a sustainable distribution 

and variety of complementary land uses across the area. Physical development 

of the waterfront in this manner will improve the attractiveness of the town as a 

place to live and work, enhance the vibrancy of the Town Centre and deliver 

wider socio-economic benefits that allow the broader settlement of Porthcawl 

to thrive and prosper.    

12.  Key proposals for the Ogmore and Garw valleys  

2.75 Some concerns were raised regarding lack of investment in the Ogmore and 

Garw Valleys. However, these localities are identified as Local Settlements. 

Page 159



24 

Therefore, whilst these areas will not be earmarked to accommodate significant 

growth, the Replacement LDP seeks to create sustainable communities linked 

to wider opportunities in a manner that protects their high-quality environment. 

It is recognised that alternative forms of development would help deliver 

smaller-scale growth, such as (but not limited to) co-operative housing, self-

build and custom build opportunities alongside other forms of development. 

Such community investment opportunities will enable development of a scale 

and nature that is tailored to community needs, whilst diversifying and 

strengthening the local economies, connecting communities to wider 

opportunities and protecting the high-quality environments. 

13. Key proposals for Bridgend and Pencoed    

Parc Afon Ewenni, Bridgend COM1(1) 

2.76 Several representors raised concerns about the deliverability of Parc Afon 

Ewenni, Bridgend, with some proposing its re-allocation as a Long-Term 

Regeneration Site and others recommending postponement to the site’s 

housing trajectory. Parc Afon Ewenni was subject to robust re-assessment of 

its sustainability, deliverability and viability credentials in the same manner as 

all other candidate sites and was considered deliverable at Deposit Stage. 

However, the draft revised Technical Advice Note 15, supported by the new 

Flood Map for Planning, has revealed substantial flood risk issues across the 

Parc Afon Ewenni site. While the Flood Map for Planning has no official status 

for planning purposes until June 2023, additional site-specific modelling work 

has failed to demonstrate that this constraint can be overcome in the short term. 

As such, Parc Afon Ewenni can no longer be relied on to contribute to delivery 

of the housing requirement and has been removed from the housing trajectory. 

Land South of Bridgend (Island Farm) SP2(2) and Craig y Parcau COM1(2) 

2.77 Numerous representors opposed the allocation of Land South of Bridgend 

(Island Farm) and Craig y Parcau, Bridgend for a range of reasons. These 

included potential pressure on infrastructure, air quality concerns, highway 

safety concerns, loss of landscape and potential detriment to visual amenity, 

history, archaeology, woodland and biodiversity.  

2.78 The rationale for allocation of these sites is detailed in the Candidate Site 

Assessment. Craig y Parcau is located on the periphery of Bridgend 

Sustainable Growth Area. The site is well serviced by the Active Travel network 

which will help foster and promote transit-oriented development. The site is 

considered to be free of any significant constraints and is considered 

appropriate for residential allocation. Equally, Land South of Bridgend (Island 

Farm) is located on the periphery on Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area, has 

the potential to provide a new primary school and accommodate the relocation 

Page 160



25 

of Heronsbridge Special Educational Needs School in addition to providing 788 

homes. The site could also provide significant new green infrastructure 

(including ecological mitigation) by fostering a multi-functional green lung 

between the site and Bridgend in addition to access improvements. In addition, 

the site is well serviced by active travel routes of which will help foster and 

promote transit-oriented development.  

2.79 Proposed Policy PLA2 prescribes a number of placemaking principles for Land 

South of Bridgend (Island Farm), which are considered instrumental to 

achieving sustainable places, delivering socially inclusive developments and 

promoting cohesive communities. A final masterplan must be prepared and 

agreed with the Council prior to the sites development to demonstrate how 

these principles will be delivered in an appropriately phased manner. This will 

need to demonstrate how the development will create a well-connected, 

sustainable mixed-use urban extension to Bridgend, comprising a number of 

character areas that integrate positively with the existing landscape, SINC, 

adjacent Grade II* listed Merthyr Mawr House, existing housing clusters, 

community facilities, Active Travel Networks and public transport facilities. The 

provision of new residential units, including affordable dwellings, will be 

incorporated alongside a new primary school with co-located nursery, the re-

location of Heronsbridge Special School, leisure facilities, recreation facilities, 

public open space, plus appropriate community facilities, employment and 

commercial uses.  

2.80 The Replacement LDP is also accompanied by a SA Report (incorporating 

SEA) to assess the likely sustainability and significant environmental effects of 

all substantive component within the Plan (strategy, policies, site allocations, 

etc.) and any identified reasonable alternatives. For Land South of Bridgend 

(Island Farm), the SA identified the potential for adverse impacts due to the 

proximity of the site to scheduled monuments and listed buildings. However, 

the requirements under SP2 (for each strategic site allocation to be supported 

by a detailed masterplan) and PLA2 (for the proposed strategic site allocation 

to implement specific masterplan development principles) represent forms of 

mitigation to help address the identified likely significant effects.  

Merthyr Mawr 

2.81 Correspondingly, many representors were opposed to development near 

Merthyr Mawr and proposed that the Replacement LDP should seek to protect 

the area. However, the land surrounding Merthyr Mawr is recognised within the 

Replacement LDP and is very much protected by various designations and 

policies (see Appendix 25 – Special Landscape Designations and Appendix 26 

– Landscape Character Assessment). As highlighted by Policy SP17, the 

historic landscape of Merthyr Mawr Warren is a National Nature Reserve. These 

are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended by the 

Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000, the Natural Environment 

Page 161



26 

and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 and the Environment (Wales) Act 

2016. Policy SP17 specifically seeks to protect statutorily designated sites of 

national importance and any development proposal which affects such sites will 

be subject to special scrutiny to establish any potential or indirect effects. 

2.82 Merthyr Mawr Warren is also designated as a Special Landscape Area, in 

recognition of the surrounding character and quality of the landscape. Policy 

DNP4 protects such designations from inappropriate development.  

2.83 Merthyr Mawr Village is also designated as a Conservation Area in recognition 

of the area’s special architectural or historic interest, the character or 

appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance. In considering 

development proposals, the Council will seek to resist new development or the 

demolition of existing buildings unless it would preserve or enhance the 

character and appearance of the conservation area (refer to Policy DNP11). 

Land West of Bridgend SP2(3) 

2.84 Several other representors also opposed the allocation of Land West of 

Bridgend due to potential coalescence of communities, pressure on 

infrastructure, air quality concerns, highway safety concerns, potential loss of 

landscape and detriment to visual amenity, history, archaeology, woodland and 

biodiversity. However, the rationale for allocation of the site is detailed in the 

Candidate Site Assessment. Land West of Bridgend is located on the periphery 

of Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area. The site has the potential to provide a 

new primary school and residential growth in Bridgend, which possesses a wide 

range of services and facilities in addition to sustainable transport links. In 

addition, the site will also provide significant new green infrastructure in addition 

to capitalising on and further adding to existing active travel routes of which will 

foster and promote transit-oriented development.  

2.85 As part of the proposed allocation of Land West of Bridgend, development will 

be subject to site-specific requirements including masterplan development 

principles and placemaking principles (refer to Policy PLA3). The provision of 

new residential dwellings, including affordable units, will be incorporated 

alongside a new primary school, recreation facilities, public open space, plus 

appropriate community facilities all set within distinct character areas. The 

Replacement LDP is also accompanied by a SA Report (incorporating SEA) to 

assess the likely sustainability and significant environmental effects of all 

substantive components of the Plan, with appropriate mitigation measures 

incorporated. For Land West of Bridgend, the SA identified the potential for 

adverse impacts due to the proximity of the site to scheduled monuments and 

important archaeological sites. However, the requirements under SP2 (for each 

strategic site allocation to be supported by a detailed masterplan) and PLA3 (for 

the proposed strategic site allocation to implement specific masterplan 

development principles) represent forms of mitigation to help address the 

Page 162



27 

identified likely significant effects. These requirements also enhance the 

sustainability performance of the strategic site allocation more generally. 

2.86 It is considered that the masterplan framework proposed for the site has been 

sensitively designed through a landscape and ecology-led approach. 

Appropriate mitigation measures have been incorporated to address concerns 

relation to landscape and visual matters. As such, the promotion of this site for 

residential development should be considered an acceptable extension to the 

existing settlement of Bryntirion, which would not cause significant or wide-

ranging adverse effects upon its surrounding landscape context. 

2.87 Proposed Policy PLA3 will require development to incorporate the Laleston Trail 

within the central part of the site, providing access to the Bridgend Circular Walk 

and realigned Public Right of Way. Additionally, PLA3 requires significant 

retained green infrastructure and new areas of public open space across the 

site. This will comprise of seven key areas of formal open space (including 

0.5ha of equipped play provision), informal spaces and linkages, green streets, 

and sensitive public access to part of Laleston Meadows SINC and woodland. 

2.88 Proposed Policy PLA3 also prescribes a number of placemaking principles for 

Land West of Bridgend, which are considered instrumental to achieving 

sustainable places, delivering socially inclusive developments and promoting 

cohesive communities. Such requirements include pursuing transit-orientated 

development that prioritises walking, cycling and public transport use, whilst 

reducing private motor vehicle dependency. Well-designed, safe walking and 

cycling routes must be incorporated throughout the site to foster community 

orientated, healthy walkable neighbourhoods. There will be a clear emphasis 

on providing safe pedestrian and cycling linkages along the A473, with 

Bryntirion Comprehensive School and Bridgend Town Centre (including the bus 

station and train station). PLA3 will also require development to provide a new 

shared cycle / footway on the northern side of the A473, connecting the site with 

active travel route INM-BR-57 linking to the shops at Bryntirion to the east, and 

a widened footway to the west of the site to provide a connection to the 

eastbound bus stop on the A473.  

Land East of Pencoed SP2(4) 

2.89 Some representors cited reservations about the number of units proposed at 

Land East of Pencoed, given site constraints, whilst also referencing 

deliverability concerns due to there being no developer on board, hitherto. 

However, as documented in the Candidate Site Assessment, the Land East of 

Pencoed site promoter has robustly demonstrated delivery in accordance with 

the requirements set out in the Development Plans Manual. A detailed plethora 

of evidence has been provided to the Council to support its delivery, including 

numerous site investigations and appraisals, masterplans, a viability 

assessment, a transport assessment and due consideration of s106 

Page 163



28 

requirements, infrastructure and costs. This process has provided a high 

degree of confidence that the site is realistically deliverable, considering the full 

plethora of associated development requirements, infrastructure provision and 

placemaking principles necessary to deliver high-quality new communities. 

Density analysing and proofing layouts have been prepared to evidence the 

number of dwellings deliverable on the site, taking all constraints into account. 

The related housing trajectory was prepared initially through close dialogue 

with the respective site-promoters, followed by effective collaboration and 

involvement with a range of stakeholders at several Stakeholder Group 

Meetings. As documented within the Housing Trajectory Background Paper, 

there were no outstanding matters of disagreement on the completion figures 

or the timing and phasing of sites in the plan period (including those sites with 

planning permission and new housing allocations) following conclusion of the 

latest Stakeholder Group Meeting. As such, the concerns raised regarding 

Land East of Pencoed are considered unsubstantiated and are not supported. 

14.  Do you have any other comments to make on the Deposit 

Replacement LDP? 

2.90 Several representors commented that the overall document is long, complex 

and technical, thereby affecting its ‘readability’. However, the Replacement 

LDP is, by its very nature, a comprehensive spatial planning strategy, 

underpinned by a wide-ranging evidence base. It must be prepared in the 

context of current national policy and legislation to ensure the plan is effective, 

deliverable and contributes to placemaking, as set out in PPW.  

2.91 Several representors also submitted comments stating the consultation on the 

Deposit Plan was insufficient and too short. However, the Council went above 

and beyond legislative requirements in undertaking consultation on the Deposit 

Plan, in accordance with the Replacement Delivery Agreement and Community 

Involvement Scheme. When still in a period where Covid restrictions were 

continually evolving, there was need to make greater use of virtual meetings, 

social media, digital communication, web-based consultation tools, one to one 

telephone appointments, dissemination of hard copies to individuals and use of 

external agencies to assist with remote engagement. In addition, a longer 

consultation period (8 weeks, rather than the statutory 6-week period) was 

approved for these reasons. This range of consultation methods maximised 

public engagement and proved highly effective, evidenced by the number of 

representations received on the Deposit Plan (over 1,200).

Page 164



i 
 

ENT2(1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bridgend County Borough 

Local Development Plan  

2018-2033 
 

Written Statement 
Submission Document 
 

Page 165



ii 
 

 Chapter Page 

   

1. Introduction 1 

1.1 Local Development Plans 1 

1.2 Replacement LDP Background and Purpose 3 

1.3 Statutory Assessments 3 

1.4 The Delivery Agreement 5 

1.5 Supporting Documents 5 

1.6 Next Steps 11 

   

2. The Spatial Context  12 

2.1 Area Profile and Overview  12 

2.2 Settlement Pattern 12 

2.3 Population 15 

2.4 Economy 15 

2.5 Legislative Context 17 

2.6 Policy Context 18 

   

3. Key Issues and Drivers 24 

3.1 Key Issues and Drivers  24 

   

4. LDP Strategic Framework 32 

4.1 LDP Vision (2018-2033) 32 

4.2 Strategic Objectives and Specific Objectives 33 

4.3 LDP Growth and Spatial Strategy 37 

 SF1: Settlement Hierarchy and Urban Management 38 

 SP1: Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Strategy 45 

 
SP2: Regeneration Growth Area and Sustainable Growth Area 
Strategic Allocations 

56 

   

5. Implementation and Delivery 58 

5.1 Introduction 58 

Page 166



iii 
 

5.2 Good Design and Sustainable Placemaking 59 

 SP3: Good Design and Sustainable Place Making 60 

 PLA1: Porthcawl Waterfront, Porthcawl Regeneration Growth Area 63 

 
PLA2: Land South of Bridgend (Island Farm), Bridgend 
Sustainable Growth Area 

68 

 PLA3: Land West of Bridgend, Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 73 

 PLA4: Land East of Pencoed, Pencoed Sustainable Growth Area 77 

 
PLA5: Land East of Pyle, Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly 
Sustainable Growth Area 

80 

 SP4: Mitigating the Impact of Climate Change  84 

 SP5: Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 87 

 PLA6: Development in Transport Corridors 89 

 PLA7: Development West of the Railway Line, Pencoed 91 

 PLA8: Transportation Proposals 91 

 PLA9: Development Affecting Public Rights of Way 94 

 PLA10: Safeguarding of Disused Railway Infrastructure 95 

 PLA11: Parking Standards 95 

 PLA12: Active Travel 96 

5.3 
To Create Active, Healthy, Cohesive, Inclusive and Social 
Communities  

99 

 SP6: Sustainable Housing Strategy 101 

 COM1: Housing Allocations 106 

 COM2: Affordable Housing 108 

 COM3: On-Site Provision of Affordable Housing 110 

 COM4: Off-Site Provision of Affordable Housing 112 

 COM5: Affordable Housing Exception Sites 113 

 COM6: Residential Density  115 

 COM7: Houses in Multiple Occupation 116 

 SP7: Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople Sites  119 

 COM8: Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople Accommodation 120 

 SP8: Health and Well-being  121 

 SP9: Social and Community Infrastructure 124 

Page 167



iv 
 

 COM9: Protection of Social and Community Facilities 126 

 COM10: Provision of Outdoor Recreation Facilities 126 

 
COM11: Provision of Accessible Natural Greenspace (including 
Amenity Greenspace) 

128 

 COM12: Provision of Allotments and Community Food Networks 129 

 COM13: Provision of Cemeteries 129 

 SP10: Infrastructure 130 

 
COM14: Telecommunications and Digital Technology 
Infrastructure 

132 

5.4 To Create Productive and Enterprising Places 133 

 SP11: Employment Land Strategy 136 

 ENT1: Employment Allocations 137 

 ENT2: Protection of Employment Sites 141 

 ENT3: Non-B Uses on Allocated Employment Sites 143 

 ENT4: Rural Economy 145 

 ENT5: Former Ford Site, Bridgend 146 

 SP12: Retailing, Commercial and Service Centres 147 

 ENT6: Retail and Commercial Development 151 

 ENT7: Development in Commercial Centres 154 

 
ENT8: Non A1, A2 and A3 Uses Outside of Primary Shopping 
Areas 

155 

 
ENT9: Retail Development Outside of Retailing and Commercial 
Centres 

157 

 SP13: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Development 161 

 ENT10: Low Carbon Heating Technologies for New Development 166 

 ENT11: Energy Efficiency Provision Within the Design of Buildings 169 

 ENT12: Parc Stormy  170 

 SP14: Sustainable Development of Mineral Resources 171 

 ENT13: Development in Mineral Safeguarding Zones 174 

 ENT14: Development in Mineral Buffer Zones 174 

 SP15: Sustainable Waste Management  175 

 ENT15: Inert Waste 178 

Page 168



v 
 

 ENT16: Waste Movement in New Development 179 

 SP16: Tourism 181 

 
ENT17: New or Extended Tourist Facilities, Accommodation and 
Attractions 

183 

 ENT18: Protection of Existing Tourist Accommodation 184 

5.5 To Protect and Enhance Distinctive and Natural Places 185 

 
SP17: Conservation and Enhancement of the Natural 
Environment 

187 

 DNP1: Development in the Countryside 190 

 DNP2: Conversion of Rural Buildings 192 

 DNP3: Replacement Dwellings in the Countryside  190 

 DNP4: Special Landscape Areas 196 

 DNP5: Local and Regional Nature Conservation Sites 197 

 DNP6: Biodiversity, Ecological Networks, Habitats and Species  199 

 DNP7: Trees, Hedgerows and Development 201 

 DNP8: Green Infrastructure 206 

 DNP9: Natural Resource Protection and Public Health 208 

 SP 18: Conservation of the Historic Environment 214 

 DNP10: Built Historic Environment and Listed Buildings 215 

 DNP11: Conservation Areas 218 

   

 Appendices  

 Appendix 1: Housing Trajectory  

 Appendix 2: Employment Land Schedule  

 Appendix 3: Details of the Transport Corridors identified in PLA6  

 Appendix 4: Monitoring and Review  

 
Appendix 5: Implementation and Delivery 

Appendix 6: Sustainability Appraisal Policy Level Mitigation 
 

 
Appendix 7: Illustrative Strategic Site Masterplans 

Appendix 8: Proposals Map 
 

 

 

Page 169



vi 
 

         List of Tables, Figures and Maps                                              Page 

Table 1:       Supporting Documents  

Table 2:       The Key National and Regional Issues  

Table 3:       Environmental Issues  

Table 4:       Social Issues  

Table 5:       Economic Issues  

Table 6:       Spatial Distribution of Housing and Employment 

Table 7:       Summary of Spatial Distribution of Housing 

Table 8:       Affordable Housing Supply Components 

Table 9:       Gypsy and Traveller Need over the Plan Period 

Table 10:     Targets for Area-Based Resource Use 

Table 11:     Suggested High and Low Targets for Low Carbon 

Domestic Heating 

Table 12:     Woodland Types 

 

Figure 1:      Replacement LDP Process 

Figure 2:      Strategic Diagram 

Figure 3:       Areas Suitable for Development for District Heat, Hybrid  

and Electric-Heating 

 

 

5 

25 

27 

28 

30 

53 

104 

109 

119 

164 

165 

 

205 

 

  2 

 49 

          168 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 170



 

1 
 

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 Local Development Plans (LDPs)  
 

1.1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires Bridgend County Borough 

Council to prepare an LDP, setting out its objectives for the development and use of land 

in Bridgend County Borough over the plan period to 2033, and its policies to implement 

them.  

1.1.2 This Replacement LDP has been prepared by Bridgend County Borough Council in 

accordance with Regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development 

Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005. Once finalised and adopted, the Replacement LDP will 

replace the existing LDP (2006-2021) as the statutory Development Plan for the County 

Borough. In accordance with statutory requirements, policy and guidance, the 

Replacement LDP will be required to: 

• deliver sustainable, transit-orientated development; 

• maximising well-being and creating sustainable places through placemaking; 

• build upon, and add value to the National Development Framework and national 

planning policies and guidance produced by the Welsh Government; 

• reflect local aspirations for the County Borough, based on a vision agreed by the 

Council and other stakeholders; 

• express in land-use terms the objectives of the Well-Being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015 and priorities of the Bridgend Public Services Board’s Well-being 

Plan. This will be enabled by demonstrating the Five Ways of Working 

(involvement, collaboration, integration, prevention and long term balancing 

factors) in the Plan’s development; 

• provide a basis for rational and consistent development management decisions;  

• guide growth and change, while protecting local diversity, character, and sensitive 

environments;  

• ensure the social and economic resilience of settlements and their ability to adapt 

to change over the long term; and 

• show why, how and where change will occur over the plan period. 

 

1.1.3 The Replacement LDP builds upon the Deposit Plan, which was consulted on between 

1st June 2021 and 27th July 2021 in accordance with Regulation 17 of the Town and 

Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005. In doing so, this 

Replacement LDP provides an updated strategic framework and: 

• enhanced spatial definition; 

• a full suite of site allocations to meet identified needs; 

• an enhanced policy framework (including development management policies); 

and,  

 

• delivery and monitoring mechanisms.  

 

Page 171



 

2 
 

1.1.4 The Replacement LDP, which should be read as a whole, will be used by the Council to 

guide and manage development, providing a basis for consistent and appropriate 

decision-making. A broad overview of the Replacement LDP process is depicted in the 

flow diagram below, with the current Stage highlighted in orange. 

 

 

Figure 1: Replacement LDP Process  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Update Evidence Base & SA/SEA Baseline 
Framework & Assessments 

Delivery Agreement  

Preferred Strategy 
Participation & Consultation 

Deposit LDP 

Submission 

Examination  

Inspectors Report 

Adoption  

Page 172

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwiF-vGRkMjjAhVDURoKHfYxDnYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/images/search/tick/&psig=AOvVaw1u7CWjVEbcTdYjWxwVpOtS&ust=1563871127294419
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwiF-vGRkMjjAhVDURoKHfYxDnYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/images/search/tick/&psig=AOvVaw1u7CWjVEbcTdYjWxwVpOtS&ust=1563871127294419
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwiF-vGRkMjjAhVDURoKHfYxDnYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/images/search/tick/&psig=AOvVaw1u7CWjVEbcTdYjWxwVpOtS&ust=1563871127294419
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwiF-vGRkMjjAhVDURoKHfYxDnYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/images/search/tick/&psig=AOvVaw1u7CWjVEbcTdYjWxwVpOtS&ust=1563871127294419


 

3 
 

1.2 Replacement LDP Background and Purpose 

 

1.2.1 In order to outline how Bridgend County Borough Council undertook public participation 

and consultation on the Deposit Plan, a Consultation Report was prepared in 

accordance with Regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development 

Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005. The Consultation Report identifies the steps taken to 

publicise plan preparation, in accordance with the Community Involvement Scheme, 

before outlining the specific bodies engaged, summarising the main issued raised and 

identifying how the responses have been addressed. This key period of consultation, 

involving a wide range of bodies and individuals, has significantly influenced 

development of this Plan. 

 

1.2.2 The Plan consists of a Written Statement and Proposals Map. The Written Statement 

outlines local planning policies, land use allocations and associated justification based 

on the supporting evidence. It also contains a monitoring framework, which sets out how 

the Plan’s Strategy, Objectives, Policies and Proposals will be monitored against 

appropriate indicators and trigger points for action (linked to plan review/revision). The 

Proposals Map illustrates the land use allocations, settlement boundaries and planning 

designations proposed in the Plan, which are key to delivery of the Spatial Strategy.  

 

1.2.3 The Proposals Map also illustrates existing identified environmental designations and 

other physical constraints. It should be noted that the Map is correct at the time of 

publication and may be updated in the future. It is for indicative purposes only and 

detailed development proposals should be informed by up-to-date constraints 

information from the responsible designating authority such as Welsh Government, 

Natural Resources Wales and/or CADW.  

 

1.2.4 All objectives and policies of the Plan are inter-related in their nature and need to be 

read in conjunction with one another in order to gain an understanding of the overall 

policy direction of the Replacement LDP. A series of detailed Development Management 

policies have also been developed to support the Strategic Policies.   

 

1.2.5 The Plan is supported by a Candidate Site Assessment, which has identified the 

potential sites that are suitable for allocation within the Replacement LDP. All candidate 

sites have been subject to a sequential four-stage assessment. This has firstly 

considered the potential of each site to support the Preferred Strategy before scrutinising 

detailed site assessments (in terms of deliverability, sustainability and suitability) and 

consulting with appropriate specific consultation bodies. The fourth stage of this 

assessment has sought additional information from site promoters, where appropriate, 

to support sites for inclusion and subsequent allocation in this Plan. 

 

1.3 Statutory Assessments 

 

1.3.1 In line with statutory requirements the preparation of the Replacement LDP is informed 

by a suite of impact assessments:  

• Sustainability Appraisal (SA) incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment 

(SEA) – assessment of likely significant environmental and wider sustainability 

effects. The SA Framework which underpins this assessment includes a strong 

Page 173



 

4 
 

focus on wellbeing issues linked to the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 

Act 2015.  

• Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) – assessment of likely significant effects 

on sites designated at European level (‘European Sites’) for reasons of ecological 

importance. 

• Health Impact Assessment – to assess the likely impacts of the Plan on health and 

equality considerations, particularly those which may impact upon the health of the 

County Borough’s residents. 

• Equality Impact Assessment - to review and identify the likely impact of the Plan 

on existing and future communities, considering relevant evidence in order to 

understand the likely or actual effect of policies and practices on protected groups. 

 

1.3.2 These impact assessments have been undertaken in an integrated manner and used as 

plan-making tools to inform the Replacement LDP, rather than simply being statutory 

reporting exercises. This has allowed the environmental, social and economic 

implications of all plan components to be tested at the earliest opportunity and for any 

uncertainties, issues or mitigation requirements identified during the impact assessment 

processes to be addressed during plan preparation. In addition to meeting statutory 

requirements, this iterative process has helped to maximise the performance of and 

more generally improve the quality of the Replacement LDP.  

 

1.3.3 The LDP is accompanied by: 

 

• SA Report (incorporating SEA): Assessment of the likely sustainability and 

significant environmental effects of all substantive component within the Plan 

(strategy, policies, site allocations, etc.) and any identified reasonable alternatives. 

This builds directly upon previous SA reporting including an SA Scoping Report 

(2018) and an Interim SA Scoping Report (2019) which accompanied the 

Replacement LDP Preferred Strategy. The Deposit Plan SA Report demonstrates 

how the SA, incorporating SEA, process has informed the development of the 

Plan, including the incorporation of recommended changes within the document. 

As a result, the SA Report concludes that there is good coverage of all key 

sustainability issues in the Plan, with plan components performing well against the 

SA Framework. It also identifies strong compatibility between the LDP 

Vision/Objectives and the SA Framework, plus no likely significant adverse effects 

(taking account of mitigation in all its forms). 

 

• HRA Appropriate Assessment Report: The Bridgend LDP Preferred Strategy HRA 

Screening Report (2019) indicated that, without taking account of potential 

mitigation, some elements of the Replacement LDP are likely to have significant 

effects (LSE) on relevant European Sites1. In accordance with statutory 

requirements and case law, it was therefore be necessary to progress to the 

second stage of the HRA process and undertake an Appropriate Assessment of 

the Plan. The HRA Appropriate Assessment Report therefore considers whether 

the implementation of the Plan, together with other relevant plans and projects, 

would have an adverse effect on the integrity and conservation objectives of 

 
1 As identified in an Initial HRA Screening Report which accompanied the Bridgend LDP Review SA 
Scoping Report (2018). 

Page 174



 

5 
 

European Sites, taking account of their qualifying features. Taking account of 

mitigation relating to site allocations and policy wording, the HRA Appropriate 

Assessment Report concludes that the implementation of the Plan would not result 

in adverse effects on any European Sites. 

 

1.4 The Delivery Agreement 

 

1.4.1 The Replacement Delivery Agreement (approved by Welsh Government on10th 

December 2021) provides details of the various stages involved in the Plan-making 

process and the time each part of the process is likely to take, as well as the resources 

that the Council will commit to Plan preparation. It also sets out the way in which the 

Council proposes to involve the local community and other stakeholders in the 

preparation of the Replacement LDP. The Delivery Agreement is divided into two key 

sections: 

 

1. The Timetable for producing the revised LDP. This provides a clear indication of 

when each of the different stages of plan preparation will take place. Definitive 

dates are provided up to the deposit stage and indicative dates for later stages. 

This is an example of a project management approach to ensure that the plan is 

adequately resourced and delivered on time. The timetable is included in ‘Section 

2’ of the Delivery Agreement; and  

2. The Community Involvement Scheme – this outlines the Authority’s principles of 

community engagement; its approach in relation to who, how and when it intends 

to engage with the community and stakeholders, how it will respond to 

representations and how these representations will inform later stages of plan  

preparation. This is included in ‘Section 3’ of the Delivery Agreement. 
 

The Delivery Agreement can be viewed via this link:  
 

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-

planning/replacement-bridgend-local-development-plan-2018-to-2033/replacement-

delivery-agreement/ 

 

1.5 Supporting Documents 

 

1.5.1 There are a number of supporting technical documents that have been produced to 

inform the Plan. These are listed in Table 1 overleaf along with their role and purpose, 

and should be read alongside the Replacement LDP. 

 

Table 1: Supporting Documents 

 

 

Supporting Document 

 

 

Purpose 

 

Existing LDP (2013) Review Report To set out the proposed extent of likely changes 

to the existing LDP (2006-2021) and to confirm 

the revision procedure to be followed in 

preparing the Replacement LDP. 

Replacement LDP Delivery 

Agreement 

To provide a project plan for preparing the LDP 

and to set out the measures within the 

Page 175

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-planning/replacement-bridgend-local-development-plan-2018-to-2033/replacement-delivery-agreement/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-planning/replacement-bridgend-local-development-plan-2018-to-2033/replacement-delivery-agreement/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-planning/replacement-bridgend-local-development-plan-2018-to-2033/replacement-delivery-agreement/


 

6 
 

Community Involvement Scheme in terms of 

consultation and engagement. 

Sustainability Appraisal 

(SA) and Strategic 

Environmental Assessment 

(SEA) Scoping Report 

To outline the proposed approach to the LDP’s 

Sustainability Appraisal, incorporating the 

Strategic Environmental Assessment. This 

report is the first stage of a SA process to 

identify, assess and address any likely 

significant effects on the environment from the 

emerging Bridgend LDP Review. 

SA/SEA Scoping Report Initial 

Report 

To identify, from an assessment of reasonable 

alternatives, whether the LDP will have any 

significant impacts on the environment and also 

determine whether the Plan will deliver 

sustainable development. The Initial Report 

includes a proportionate assessment of 

candidate sites. The SA and Habitats 

Regulations Assessment Reports are being 

consulted on in tandem with the LDP. 

Preferred Strategy To identify the type and scale of spatial change 

required to achieve the proposed new LDP 

Vision and Objectives. 

Initial Consultation Report To outline how the Local Planning Authority 

(LPA) has undertaken public participation and 

consultation on the Preferred Strategy in 

accordance with LDP Regulation 16a. The 

Report identifies the steps taken to publicise 

plan preparation, in accordance with the CIS, 

before outlining the specific bodies engaged, 

summarising the main issued raised and 

identifying how the responses have been or will 

be addressed. The Report provides significant 

detail on how this key period of consultation 

influenced development of the Deposit LDP.  

 

Deposit Consultation Report To comprehensively document how the LPA 

has considered all representations made on 

the Deposit Plan. 

It summarises the key issues raised 

throughout the process, including the 

representations made and 

recommendations as to how the LPA 

considers each representation should be 

addressed.  It represents a key pre-requite 

to submission of the Replacement LDP in 

accordance with the latest Replacement 

DA. 

Page 176



 

7 
 

The Full Sustainability Appraisal of 

the Deposit Plan and Non-technical 

Summary 

To identify any likely significant economic, 

environmental and social effects of the LDP, 

and to suggest relevant mitigation measures. 

This process integrates sustainability 

considerations into all stages of LDP 

preparation, and promotes sustainable 

development. 

Habitat Regulations Assessment Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats 

and Species Regulations 2017 requires that a 

HRA must be undertaken to demonstrate 

compliance with statutory duties set out in the 

Habitats Directive and the Habitats Regulations 

where a plan or project is considered likely to 

have significant effects on European Sites and 

is not directly connected with or necessary for 

the management of the site. The purpose of this 

report is to document the first formal stage of 

this HRA process, namely, to ascertain whether 

there would be any LSE on relevant European 

Sites from the LDP. 

The Full Sustainability Appraisal of 

the Preferred Strategy 

The full Sustainability Appraisal of the Preferred 

Strategy is provided in a separate document 

accompanying the Preferred Strategy 

consultation document. 

Candidate Site Register A record of sites submitted by landowners, 

developers and the public, which will be used as 

a reference point to assess each site against 

the Strategy for possible inclusion within the 

LDP. 

Candidate Sites Assessment 

Report (2022) 

The LDP is supported by a Candidate Site 

Assessment, which has identified the potential 

sites that are suitable for allocation within the 

Replacement LDP. All candidate sites have 

been subject to a sequential four-stage 

assessment. This has firstly considered the 

potential of each site to support the Preferred 

Strategy before scrutinising detailed site 

assessments (in terms of deliverability, 

sustainability and suitability) and consulting with 

appropriate specific consultation bodies. The 

fourth stage of this assessment has sought 

additional information from site promoters, 

where appropriate, to support sites for inclusion 

and subsequent allocation in this LDP. 

Economic Evidence Base Study 

(2019) 

To provide evidence-based recommendations 

on the scale and distribution of employment 

need and the land best suited to meet that need, 

whilst also making policy / land allocation 

Page 177



 

8 
 

recommendations to inform emerging policies 

and site allocations. 

Economic Evidence Base Update 

(2021) 

To review the new household data, identifying 

the changes from the previous projections and 

considering how this impacts on the economic 

forecast and the need for jobs and land. 

Retail Study (2019) To set out evidence-based recommendations 

on retail need, the distribution of need and the 

definition of primary shopping areas to inform 

emerging policies and site allocations.  

Retail Study Update (2022) To re-analyse trends affecting the retail sector 

which may impact and influence local retailing 

within the county borough and how this may 

change over time. Also, to assess future needs 

for comparison and convenience retail 

floorspace to 2033, based on existing market 

shares. 

Renewable Energy Assessment 

(2019) 

To provide a robust renewable energy evidence 

base which will inform LDP production and set 

out a baseline for future monitoring of 

renewable energy in the County Borough. 

Bridgend Smart Energy Plan 

(2019) 

To provide a roadmap of projects and activities 

that will enable Bridgend County Borough to 

respond to the challenge of decarbonising heat 

within the wider energy system. 

Settlement Assessment Study 

(2019, revised 2021) 

To establish a sustainable settlement hierarchy 

that can inform the Replacement LDP. This will 

identify the most appropriate locations to 

accommodate future development in order to 

achieve a sustainable pattern of growth, 

minimise unsustainable patterns of movement 

and support local services and facilities. 

Demographic Analysis and 

Forecasts Report (2019) 

To provide a summary of demographic 

evidence, including a suite of population, 

housing and economic growth outcomes to 

inform the Strategic Growth Options paper for 

consideration in the formulation of the LDP.  

LDP Demographics Update 

Addendum (2020) 

To update the Demographic Analysis and 

Forecasts Report (2019) with a refreshed 

analysis of the latest demographic statistics and 

forecasts. 

Outdoor Sport and Children’s Play 

Space Audit (2021) 

To provide an audit of existing outdoor sport 

and playing space provision in the County 

Borough, compared to Fields in Trust 

Standards, to identify shortfalls in provision and 

inform related strategies and LDP policies. 

Allotment Audit (2022) To provide an audit of existing allotment 

provision in the County Borough. 

Page 178



 

9 
 

Green Infrastructure Assessment 

(2022) 

To provide a holistic spatial analysis of green 

infrastructure and Active Travel Networks 

across the County Borough.  

Local Housing Market Assessment 

(2021) 

To provide detailed insights into the mechanics 

of the local residential property markets across 

the County Borough. The Assessment includes 

a quantitative assessment of housing need that 

will be used to inform the housing policies of the 

LDP in terms of affordable housing provision, 

tenures and types of accommodation required 

across the County Borough.  

Special Landscape Designations 

(2010) 

To carry out a review of the Special Landscape 

Areas designation within the County Borough. 

The methodology uses a structured, iterative 

approach to identify areas considered worthy of 

being retained as a Special Landscape Area 

designations in the LDP. 

Landscape Character Assessment 

for Bridgend County Borough 

(2013) 

This document provides a sound evidence base 

for developers to consider the character and 

sensitivity of the different landscapes of the 

County Borough when considering new 

developments.  It also promotes an 

understanding of how the landscapes of the 

County Borough are changing (as a result of a 

combination of natural, economic and human 

factors), and how they can be strengthened in 

response. 

Carmarthen Bay, Gower & 

Swansea Bay Local Seascape 

Character Assessment (2017) 

A tool for the management of change in the 

coastal and marine environment, covering four 

coastal local planning authorities. It is 

equivalent to, and overlaps, existing landscape 

information including LANDMAP and landscape 

character assessments. 

Background Technical, Topic 

Reports and Papers 

These provide supporting information and a 

rationale for the Replacement LDP. These 

focus in more detail on the main issues relevant 

to Bridgend County Borough and the LDP. 

Health and Equalities 

Impact Assessments 

To assess the likely impacts of the 

Replacement LDP on health and equality 

considerations. 

Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation Assessment 

(2020) 

To assess the future accommodation needs of 

the Gypsy Traveller and Travelling Show 

People Communities and determine whether 

there is a requirement for additional site 

provision within Bridgend County Borough. This 

will inform any related site allocations and 

criteria based policies in the LDP.  

Bridgend’s Active Travel Integrated 

Network Map 

This document details plans for a network of 

Active Travel routes and facilities over the next 

Page 179



 

10 
 

15 years. These are found in the Integrated 

Network Maps (INMs). The proposals aim to: 

enhance access to key services and facilities 

including town centres, transport hubs, as well 

as employment and retail areas; develop 

access to education facilities such as schools 

and colleges; and improve and expand the 

existing strategic network in Bridgend County 

Borough. 

Bridgend Destination Management 

Plan 2018-2022 

A statement of intent to manage the County 

Borough in the interests of tourism, taking 

account of the needs of visitors, local residents, 

businesses and the environment. It is a 

systematic and holistic approach to making 

Bridgend County Borough work as a visitor 

destination. It embrace s the idea of 

sustainability, focusing on tourism which brings 

economic benefit, whilst setting out the ways in 

which different stakeholders may work together 

to achieve a positive impact.  

Bridgend Strategic Flood 

Consequences Assessment (2020 

and 2022)  

The updated SFCA creates a strategic 
framework for the consideration of flood risk 
when making planning decisions. It has been 
developed in accordance with Technical Advice 
Note 15 – Development & Flood Risk (TAN15), 
as well as additional guidance provided by 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW). The Study 
has been updated in light of the new draft TAN 
15 and new Flood Map for Planning.  

Plan-Wide Viability Assessment 

(2021) 

To understand how different market areas can 
affect the viability of delivering private and 
affordable housing as well as associated 
infrastructure to inform policy formulation, 
spatial expression and application. 

Bridgend Local Biodiversity Plan 

(2014) 

To map and quantify the biodiversity and the 

underlying ecosystem services (that is the 

valuable functions our environment provides) of 

Bridgend. This LBAP is specifically designed to 

work in conjunction with other key policies that 

support planning policy in the Borough. 

Green Wedge Review (2022) To review the existing green wedge 

designations in the adopted Bridgend LDP 

2006-2021 and considers the need for their 

continuation in the Replacement LDP 2018-

2033.  

SINC Review (2020) To conduct a focussed analysis on existing 

SINCs that could be affected by proposed 

allocations.  

Strategic Transport Assessment 

(2022) 

To analyse the strategic road network, assess 

the impact of potential strategic allocations and 

consider the mitigation requirements.  

Page 180



 

11 
 

  

Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2022) To identify the County Borough’s infrastructure 

requirements over the plan period.  

Urban Capacity Study (2022) To provide analysis of the potential urban 

capacity of the County Boroughs’ settlements 

for housing to evidence the expected small and 

windfall site allowance rate. 

Tests of Soundness (2022) To assess how and why the Council considers 
the Plan to have satisfied the Tests of 
Soundness, specified by Welsh Government. 

 

 

1.6 Next Steps 

 

1.6.1 Pursuant to Regulation 22, the Plan will be submitted to the Welsh Government who will 

appoint an independent Inspector to examine the plan. At this point, there may also be 

need for a further consultation on Focussed Changes and all relevant details will be 

published at the time should this be necessary. Further to this, having regard to the 

evidence submitted with the Plan and the representations received during the deposit 

consultation, the Inspector must determine whether the LDP meets the ‘soundness test’ 

set out in Development Plans Manual prepared by Welsh Government. 

1.6.2 Following the examination, the Inspector will issue a report recommending required 

changes to the LDP. If the Inspector considers the Plan is fundamentally unsound it will 

not be recommended for adoption. The conclusions reached by the Inspector will be 

binding and unless the Welsh Government intervenes, the Council must accept the 

changes and adopt the LDP as amended. Once adopted, the Replacement LDP will 

replace the existing LDP adopted in 2013 and will become the framework against which 

decisions on planning applications are made. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 181



 

12 
 

2. The Spatial Context  

2.1 Area Profile and Overview  

2.1.1 The County Borough of Bridgend lies at the geographical heart of South Wales, 

equidistant between Cardiff and Swansea and covering an area of approximately 25,500 

hectares. It is directly bordered by Neath Port Talbot County Borough to the west and 

north, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough to the north and north east, and the Vale of 

Glamorgan to the east. Bridgend owes its origins to its strategic location at the lowest 

bridging point on the River Ogmore, which led to its initial establishment as a market 

town that expanded when the coal mining industry flourished to the north. The local road 

and rail network was developed to provide access to communities from the rest of South 

Wales, taking advantage of the County Borough’s strategic location. The locality’s 

position within the Cardiff Capital Region, and the historical transport links that facilitate 

key connections to Cardiff and Swansea, have proved critical to the County Borough 

developing as a major regional employment hub, with specific strengths in advanced 

manufacturing.  

2.1.2 Bridgend County Borough is in a unique position as the gateway to both the Swansea 

Bay Region and the Cardiff Capital Region. The interdependencies and relationships 

between the two regions are of particular importance the County Borough, and indeed, 

the success of the wider regions more broadly. The pivotal position of Bridgend County 

Borough will prove key in driving forward collaborative, inter-regional strategic planning 

through the co-ordination of housing, economic growth and connectivity infrastructure.  

2.1.3 The County Borough extends from the River Kenfig in the west to the River Ewenny in 

the east, taking in the Llynfi, Garw and Ogmore Valleys from their sources in the north 

to the Bristol Channel in the south. The area’s physical character can therefore be 

categorised into three broad zones; Upland, Lowland and Coastal. The Upland Zone is 

dominated by the pennant sandstone plateau, which is cut through by a number of rivers 

running generally south or south westwards to form a series of deep valleys. The 

Lowland Zone is characterised by its undulating terrain, of generally higher quality 

agricultural land, that forms a swath through the central and south eastern parts of the 

County Borough. The Coastal Zone constitutes a generally flat plain, which extends 

inland from the Bristol Channel where it meets the Lowland Zone. It includes the sand 

dune systems of Kenfig Burrows in the west and Merthyr Mawr Burrows in the south, 

terminating in the south east at the River Ogmore estuary.  

2.1.4 The County Borough has a rich and varied biodiversity with a broad range of species, 

habitats and unique, rich landscapes. In particular, these include the nationally important 

Glamorgan Heritage Coast, Merthyr Mawr, Kenfig and Margam Burrows Landscape of 

Outstanding Historic Interest in Wales and other regionally and locally important areas 

designated as Special Landscape Areas. The County Borough also has a rich Built 

Heritage and Historic Environment as reflected by its 16 Conservation Areas, 373 listed 

buildings, 60 Scheduled Ancient Monuments of national importance and 6 Historic Parks 

and Gardens.  

2.2  Settlement Pattern 

2.2.1 The settlement structure of the County Borough still broadly reflects its agricultural and 

industrial heritage. Bridgend is the pivotal town, linking up with the three Valleys, the 

Page 182



 

13 
 

former port of Porthcawl and the growth areas around the Valleys Gateway, Pyle and 

Pencoed. Each broad settlement will now be outlined in turn.  

Bridgend 

2.2.2 Bridgend is the largest settlement, which is made up of a number distinctive residential 

neighbourhoods that are served by small local centres. These neighbourhoods cluster 

around Bridgend Town, which is the County Borough’s principal administrative centre. 

Bridgend is highly accessible, served by Junction 36 of the M4, the A48/A473 corridor 

and an inter-city high speed rail service from London (Paddington) to Swansea. 

Bridgend is a major employment centre serving the whole of the County Borough and 

the wider region, with a number of large-scale industrial estates. The transport 

infrastructure has been and continues to be a primary reason for inward investment 

projects into Bridgend, rendering the area attractive for house builders, retailers and 

employers. Localised congestion can hinder car accessibility via the main routes, 

especially during peak periods, although there has been significant recent investment in 

dedicated walking and cycling routes into the town centre.  

Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley 

2.2.3 The second largest town in the County Borough is Maesteg, which is the main 

commercial and shopping centre for the Llynfi Valley, located in the north-western part 

of the County Borough.  The area is served by the A4063, which links the area to 

Bridgend to the south, and eastwards via the Sarn Link to Junction 36 of the M4. There 

is also an established rail link, which connects Maesteg to Bridgend. The Llynfi Valley 

has several significant employment and manufacturing centres and industrial estates. 

There are a number of large, regeneration sites that could accommodate mixed used 

development in this area, although several constraints need to be overcome in the first 

instance (notably contamination and viability of sites).  

Porthcawl 

2.2.4 Porthcawl is located in the south-westerly part of the County Borough and comprises 

the seaside town of Porthcawl and its hinterlands. It is situated between the sub area of 

Bridgend to the east and Pyle, Kenfig and Cornelly to the north-west. In accessibility 

terms, it is located within one mile of Junction 37 on the M4 and is connected to it by the 

A4229. There are no rail links to Porthcawl. Porthcawl is the third largest settlement in 

the County Borough after Bridgend and Maesteg, comprising a number of distinct 

neighbourhoods focusing on the town centre; Newton, Nottage and Rest Bay. The 

seaside resort lies approximately midway between Cardiff and Swansea, and, as well 

as being a popular tourist destination, it has become a primary location for retirement 

and this is reflected in its population profile. Outside of the settlement of Porthcawl, the 

countryside is highly sensitive, with significant areas protected for their landscape 

quality. 

 The Valleys Gateway 

2.2.5 The Valleys Gateway sub-area occupies a central location within the County Borough, 

which forms an almost continuous urban area north of the M4 at the mouth of the 

Ogmore, Garw and Llynfi Valleys.  It includes the settlements of Aberkenfig, Bryncethin, 

Brynmenyn, Coytrahen, Sarn, Tondu and Ynysawdre.  The Valleys Gateway is served 

by two railway stations and park and ride facilities at Sarn and Tondu, from which regular 

train services operate between Maesteg and Bridgend, with connections to Cardiff, 

Page 183



 

14 
 

Swansea and beyond. The sub-area is also well served by the local and strategic 

highway network, with links to Junction 36 of the M4, Bryncethin, the main local industrial 

estates (at Tondu, Brynmenyn and Abergarw) plus the Garw Valley to the north. From a 

retailing perspective, the area is primarily served by Aberkenfig, which is a thriving 

commercial centre, along with some other local centres that benefit from commercial 

and community facilities. Bridgend Designer Outlet Village is also in close proximity, 

which provides a retail offer drawing from a wide catchment area throughout South 

Wales and beyond. The Valleys Gateway has successfully been a major focus for new 

residential development in recent years, although there are now capacity issues running 

north to south at Junction 36 of the M4, which would constrain further significant 

residential development in this vicinity. 

Pyle, Kenfig Hill and Cornelly 

2.2.6 The western settlements of Pyle, Kenfig Hill and Cornelly are situated adjacent to Neath 

Porth Talbot, with access to Junction 37 of the M4 motorway. The A48 also dissects the 

broad area, providing links to Bridgend and Margam. There is a railway station at Pyle 

with services on the Swansea to Cardiff line. There are also a number of different 

employment sites in this vicinity, which capitalise on the area’s excellent location along 

the strategic highway network.  

2.2.7 Most of the County Borough’s actively quarried mineral reserves are also located within 

this sub-area. Cornelly, Grove and Gaens Quarries produce high quality limestone and 

sandstone is intermittently quarried at Cefn Cribwr. In addition, coal is extracted at Parc 

Slip/Margam, north of Kenfig Hill and Cefn Cribwr by extensive opencast operations 

which extend into the adjacent Neath Port Talbot County Borough.  

2.2.8 The sub-area also contains the Kenfig National Nature Reserve which is also a Special 

Area of Conservation, Local Nature Reserve and Site of Special Scientific Interest. It 

also forms part of a designated outstanding Historic Landscape. 

Pencoed and Heol-y-Cyw 

2.2.9 Pencoed is located in the east of the County Borough and includes the settlement of 

Pencoed and the village of Heol-y-Cyw. It shares its eastern boundary with the 

administrative area of Rhondda Cynon Taf. This sub-area is served by Junction 35 of 

the M4 motorway, which links Pencoed directly to Cardiff, Swansea and London. The 

A473 by-passes Pencoed to access the M4, and links Bridgend with Pontypridd. Heol-

y-Cyw is accessed from the A473 by the B4280 which runs through the village, 

connecting it with Bryncethin to the west. Pencoed is served by a railway station on the 

main South Wales Railway Line with services to Bridgend and Maesteg, westwards and 

eastwards to Cardiff, Newport and Cheltenham. The level crossing is, however, a 

significant constraint and the Council is currently operating a moratorium on any new 

development west of the crossing.  

2.2.10 The Pencoed sub-area contains notable employment areas, with a mix of local, regional 

and national occupiers across a range of sectors at Bocam Park. In addition, Pencoed 

Technology Park is a highly attractive site with capacity to accommodate high 

technology business and manufacturing, research and development and related offices. 

The main shopping destination in the sub-area is Pencoed District Centre. The centre 

has a relatively low vacancy rate but a higher than average provision of service 

businesses.  

Page 184



 

15 
 

2.2.11 The countryside in the sub-area is highly sensitive, with significant areas protected for 

their landscape quality, biodiversity interest or common land status. These interests 

overlap in many cases and they represent significant constraints for future development. 

Coincidentally, an environmentally sensitive area north of Pencoed also has significant 

coal reserves.  

The Garw and Ogmore Valleys 

2.2.12 The Garw and Ogmore Valleys are located to the east of the Llynfi Valley, comprising 

numerous former coal-mining villages, linked to the Valleys Gateway by the A4064 and 

A4061, respectively. Neither settlement operates a passenger rail service, although, the 

Garw Valley Railway Line is maintained and has potential for tourism purposes. Both 

areas benefit from existing commercial centres with a range of retail, leisure and 

commercial uses to serve their local populations. Much of the housing stock in the upper 

valley settlements consists of traditional mining terraces, some of which have fallen into 

disrepair. Housing choice is therefore a significant issue for these areas and 

regeneration led development would be of great benefit. However, as with the Llynfi 

Valley, issues with contamination, topography and viability have proved impediments to 

development in recent years. Future sustainable growth could be facilitated at a smaller 

scale through initiatives such as self and custom build. Much of the landscape is 

dominated by dramatic steep-sided mountains, which offer spectacular views and 

considerable scope for informal hill walking and more extreme outdoor pursuits.   

2.3 Population 

2.3.1 The County Borough had a population of 139,178 at the time of the 2011 Census, which 

increased to 145,500 at the time of the 2021 Census . This represents growth of 4.5% 

during this period. Just over a third of the total population resides within the settlement 

of Bridgend and the other most significantly populated settlements are Porthcawl (11% 

of the total population), the Valleys Gateway (9%), Maesteg (7%) and Pencoed and 

Heol-y-Cyw (7%). The overall estimated County Borough age structure comprises 18% 

aged 0-15, 62% aged 16-64 and 20% aged 65 plus, which is broadly in line with the 

average structure for Wales as a whole.  

2.3.2 However, specific settlements across the County Borough differ from this average. 

Bettws for example has a predominately young population and settlements such as 

Porthcawl and Laleston / Merthyr Mawr have a relatively high proportion of older 

residents. There is a need to maintain a healthy balance between younger people, those 

of working age and those who are retired across each settlement. This will help catalyse 

sustainable communities, ensure there are enough current and future economically 

active residents to support local employers and help maintain infrastructure, services 

and facilities. A range of growth scenarios across the whole Replacement LDP period 

have been analysed and discussed within the Strategic Growth Options Background 

Paper. This has considered how the County Borough’s demographic situation is like to 

change from 2018-2033 and informed the most appropriate response for the 

Replacement LDP. 

2.4 Economy 

2.4.1 Bridgend County Borough is at the heart of the South Wales economy and is a significant 

regional employment hub. The Annual Population Survey identified that 75% of the 

County Borough’s population were economically active year ending 30th June 2019, of 

Page 185



 

16 
 

which 72% were in employment. This is broadly in line with the Welsh average. 

Comparatively, the 2018 Business Register and Employment Survey identified 58,000 

employees in work (full time or part time) in Bridgend County Borough, notably occupied 

in health (15.5%), manufacturing (15.5%), and retail (10%). The percentage of Bridgend 

employees working in the manufacturing sector is over 4% higher than the average for 

Wales as a whole and the County Borough has specific strengths in advanced 

manufacturing. Whilst Ford closed its Bridgend engine plant in September 2020, this 

provides an opportunity for the Plan to provide a framework for longer term re-

development to the benefit of the County Borough and wider regions.  

2.4.2 Travel to work patterns from the 2011 Census show that there is a relatively balanced 

level of commuting into and out of the County Borough. The main locations people 

commute in from are Rhondda Cynon Taf (23% of all in-commuting), Neath Port Talbot 

(21%) and the Vale of Glamorgan (14%). Conversely, the main destinations of County 

Borough residents commuting out for work are Cardiff (27% of all out-commuting), Neath 

Port Talbot (18%) and Rhondda Cynon Taf (15%). It is also important to emphasise that 

68% of residents both live and work in Bridgend County Borough. 

2.4.3       The number of enterprises (defined as the overall businesses, made up of each of their 

individual sites or workplaces) in the County Borough has increased from 3,175 in 2014 

to 3,770 in 2019 based on the UK Business Count. This represents a 15.8% increase, 

which is just above the Welsh average increase of 14.9% over the same period. Much 

of the local growth has been in the £100-199,000 turnover band, although the number 

of enterprises turning over £5,000,000+ has increased in both absolute (55 to 90) and 

relative terms (64%) from 2014-2019. In terms of industry, the change in number of 

enterprises across the County Borough are largely accounted for by manufacturing (45% 

of overall growth) and professional, scientific and technical professions (31% of overall 

growth).  

2.4.4 In 2018/19, 689 hectares (ha) of employment land was identified for Class B1, B2 and 

B8 Uses within the County Borough, of which 36 hectares are deemed available for 

immediate development and a further 15 ha are deemed likely to be available within the 

next 12 months. The rate of recent industrial land take-up has been approximately 2 ha 

per annum and this needs to be balanced with both economic forecasts of potential 

labour demand and demographic projections of potential labour supply to inform future 

employment land requirements.  

2.4.5 In spatial terms, the existing employment base is concentrated in the south-east of the 

County Borough (approximately 70% of the total area identified), which is unsurprising 

due to the proximity of the M4 corridor. This does represent a mismatch between the 

geographical location of employment land within the County Borough and the areas of 

deprivation, which are predominantly in the north. It is undoubtedly important that future 

growth is directed towards the most efficient and sustainable locations with 

accompanying transport infrastructure to promote accessible employment sites that 

capitalise on active travel opportunities. However, the Replacement LDP will also 

support the socio-economic renewal of deprived communities across the whole 

administrative area. 

 

 

Page 186



 

17 
 

2.5 Legislative Context 

2.5.1 The Replacement LDP has been prepared in the context of several key pieces of 

legislation, a summary is provided below for reference.  

Well-Being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 

2.5.2 The Well-Being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 is a key piece of legislation 

which aims to further improve the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-

being of Wales now and in the longer term. The Act puts in place a ‘sustainable 

development principle’ which is a duty for public bodies to “act in a manner which seeks 

to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 

generations to meet their own needs”. The Act is underpinned by seven well-being goals, 

which public bodies must work to achieve (a prosperous Wales, a resilient Wales, a 

healthier Wales, a more equal Wales, a Wales of cohesive communities, a Wales of 

vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language and a globally responsible Wales). The Act 

therefore has a major influence on all aspects of the Replacement LDP, which will 

integrally link with each well-being goal and provide a policy context that allows them to 

be met.  

2.5.3 Each stage of Plan preparation has duly considered these goals and the broader 

Sustainable Development Principle through the ‘Five Ways of Working’ contained in the 

Act. These require consideration of involvement, collaboration, integration, prevention 

and long term balancing factors in the decision making process, all of which have formed 

and will continue to form an intrinsic part of the Replacement LDP. Each strategic policy 

closely links with and references the goal(s) which relate most to its purpose and 

implementation, with emphasis on maximising social, economic, environmental and 

cultural benefits to ensure that the Council has carried out its sustainable development 

duty. The vision and objectives have been refined during the review process based on 

stakeholder engagement and the outcomes of a refreshed evidence base.  

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 

2.5.4 The Planning (Wales) Act sets out a series of legislative changes to deliver reform of the 

planning system in Wales, to ensure that it is fair, resilient and enables development. The 

Act addresses 5 key objectives including strengthening the plan led approach to planning 

by introducing a legal basis for the preparation of a National Development Framework 

(NDF) and Strategic Development Plan (SDP), discussed in further detail in the Policy 

Context section below.  

 

Environment (Wales) Act, 2016 

2.5.5      The Environment (Wales) Act puts in place the legislation needed to plan and manage 

Wales’ natural resources in a more proactive, sustainable and joined-up way. It requires 

Natural Resources Wales (NRW) to report on the principality's natural resources and 

detail their ability to respond to pressures and adapt to climate change. Therefore, NRW 

published the State of Natural Resources Report (SoNaRR) in 2016. 

 

2.5.6     Similarly, the Welsh Government published the National Natural Resources Policy 

(NNRP) in 2017; the focus of which is the sustainable management of Wales’ natural 

resources, to maximise their contribution to achieving goals within the Well Being of 

Future Generations Act. The NRP sets out three National Priorities of delivering 

nature based solutions; increasing renewable energy and resource efficiency; and 

Page 187



 

18 
 

taking a place based approach. NRW’s seven Area Statements represent a 

collaborative response to the NRP, which sets out the key challenges and opportunities 

for the sustainable management of Wales' natural resources into the future and informs 

local delivery. The SoNaRR, NNRP and South Central Wales Area Statement have been 

considered in the review of the LDP. 

 

Active Travel (Wales) Act, 2013 

2.5.7     The Active Travel (Wales) Act aims to promote walking and cycling as an attractive mode 

of transport for purposeful journeys (i.e. to access work, school or shops and services). 

It seeks to instil a lasting transformation of how developments are planned to incorporate 

walking and cycling infrastructure from the outset as well as encouraging long-term 

behaviour change.  

2.5.8     The Act makes provisions for the mapping of active travel routes and related facilities in 

connection with integrated network maps. It also requires year on year improvements in 

such routes and facilities to enhance opportunities for pedestrians and cyclists to make 

more meaningful journeys without relying on the car. The principles of Active Travel are 

well intertwined with PPW, which stresses the need for the planning system to create 

the right environments and infrastructure for people to walk and cycle.  

2.5.9    The planning system has a key role to play in facilitating active travel by considering the 

inter-relationships of settlements, channelling growth towards sustainable areas and 

delivering new developments that promote active travel journeys through sustainable 

design. Equally, the needs of pedestrians and cyclists are to be considered in all new 

road schemes and other highway authority functions. Increasing rates of active travel in 

Bridgend County Borough will directly support the achievement of every one of all seven 

well-being goals in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  

2.6 Policy Context 

2.6.1 The Replacement LDP has been prepared in the context of a wide range of plans, 

programmes and strategies at a range of spatial scales. Some of the key documents are 

summarised below for ease of reference.  

Planning Policy Wales Edition 11 

2.6.2  Edition 11 of Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) sets out the land use planning policies 

and overarching sustainable development goals for Wales, revised to contribute towards 

the statutory well-being goals of the Well-being of Future Generations Act. PPW secures 

a presumption in favour of sustainable development and considers a plan-led approach 

to be the most effective means of securing sustainable development through the 

planning system. PPW has a strong focus on promoting placemaking, which is 

considered instrumental to achieving sustainable places, delivering socially inclusive 

development and promoting more cohesive communities. Placemaking is deemed a 

holistic approach that “considers the context, function and relationships between a 

development site and its wider surroundings” (PPW, 2021, p.14). 

2.6.3 In order to inform the spatial strategy, PPW requires development plans to “include a 

spatial strategy covering the lifetime of the plan which establishes a pattern of 

development improving social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being” (PPW, 

2021, para 3.42). The link between the number of homes due to be provided and the 

Page 188



 

19 
 

expected job opportunities is clearly emphasised, as is the location of any new 

development in relation to existing or planned infrastructure. This is held important to 

minimise the need to travel, reduce private car reliance and increase opportunities for 

cycling, walking and the use of public transport. Development plans are deemed to 

“provide the main means for achieving integration between land use and transport 

planning” (PPW, 2021, para. 4.1.5). 

 

2.6.4 PPW specifies a well-defined search process to identify development land. Sustainable 

previously developed land and/or underutilised sites within existing settlements should 

be reviewed first before suitable, sustainable greenfield sites within or on the edge of 

settlements are considered. In either case, “a broad balance between housing, 

community facilities, services and employment opportunities in both urban and rural 

areas should be promoted to minimise the need for long distance commuting” (PPW, 

2021, para. 3.50). Significant weight is attached to developing active and social places 

in the form of well-connected cohesive communities.   

Future Wales: The National Development Framework 

2.6.5 The National Development Framework (NDF) considers the issues significant to Wales’s 

prosperity and well-being, such as the economy, housing, transport, energy, and the 

environment. It identifies where national developments should take place, where the key 

growth areas are and what infrastructure and services are needed. The NDF is set in 

the context of a vision that will help deliver sustainable places across Wales by 2040, by 

supporting placemaking and ensuring our choices direct development to the right places, 

making the best use of resources, creating and sustaining accessible healthy 

communities, protecting our environment and supporting prosperity for all. 

Strategic Development Plan for South East Wales 

2.6.6 The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 sets out the process for establishing and preparing a 

Strategic Development Plan (SDP). Welsh Government invited all Local Planning 

Authorities to submit proposals for SDPs, stating that the ability to plan strategically to 

support the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) is essential to ensure that key economic, social 

and environmental outcomes are achieved in a cohesive and evidence based approach, 

across the wider region. 

2.6.7 On 29th January 2018, the Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet agreed that work should 

commence on a Strategic Development Plan for the area and advised the then Welsh 

Government Cabinet Secretary, Lesley Griffiths, that there was consensus amongst all 

10 Leaders in the Cardiff Capital Region to support the principle of a Strategic 

Development Plan for the region, whilst recognising that this required approval from all 

10 Councils to proceed. Regional Corporate Joint Committees (CJCs) will undertake 

strategic development and regional transport planning in the future, including 

preparing SDPs. Although Bridgend County Borough Council is proceeding with a 

Replacement LDP, simultaneous collaborative working will be undertaken with 

neighbouring authorities and the broader region to prepare an SDP. A joint evidence 

base will also be shared wherever possible to this end. 

Cardiff Capital Region and Metro Plan 

2.6.8 The Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet, comprising the ten Leaders of Blaenau Gwent; 

Bridgend; Caerphilly; Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Monmouthshire, Newport, Rhondda Cynon 

Taff; Torfaen; and Vale of Glamorgan was established in 2017 to oversee the delivery 

Page 189



 

20 
 

of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal. The City Deal provides local partners with the 

powers and the resources to unlock significant economic growth across the Cardiff 

Capital Region. The City Deal also provides an opportunity to continue tackling the 

area’s barriers to economic growth by: improving transport connectivity; increasing skill 

levels; supporting people into work; and giving businesses the support they need to 

innovate and grow. The deal will also develop stronger and more effective leadership 

across the Cardiff Capital Region. 

2.6.9  One of the key aims of the Cardiff Capital Region is to deliver the South Wales Metro, 

which is an ambitious project linking people and jobs across South East Wales in a fast, 

efficient and environmentally positive way.  It will provide a fantastic platform to deliver 

sustainable economic development, in line with the 'Our Valleys, Our Future' initiative, 

by connecting people, communities and business to employment, services, facilities and 

markets through reliable, resilient infrastructure. South Wales Metro will deliver real 

benefits to passengers, linking communities together and helping to transform the 

economy. 

Prosperity for All: A Low Carbon Wales, 2019 

2.6.10 This Plan sets the foundations for Wales to transition to a low carbon nation; setting out 

the Welsh Government’s approach to increasing efficiency and cutting emissions of 

greenhouse gasses by at least 80% by 2050. This is vital to meet the requirements of 

the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, thereby contributing to a fairer and healthier society. 

The five ways of working of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 guide 

Wales’s decarbonisation action, ensuring effective collaboration and involvement with 

stakeholders to integrate decarbonisation, limit further effects of climate change and 

maximise all 7 national well-being goals.  

2.6.11 The planning system has an important role in facilitating decarbonisation. Planning 

Policy Wales’ focus on placemaking encourages well-designed development that 

ensures communities have all the services they need within easy reach. A wide plethora 

of other planning related priorities also encourage lower carbon emissions whilst 

simultaneously creating places where people can live well. These include promoting 

renewable energy developments, restricting the use of fossil fuels and incorporating 

active travel principles (walk and cycling) into new developments. Low carbon 

infrastructure can ultimately help increase efficiency through the way energy is produced 

and transmitted, the design and construction of buildings and the transportation of 

people and goods. All development plans must ultimately support these strategic 

decarbonisation goals to facilitate clean grown and build resilience to the impacts of 

climate change.  

Bridgend County Borough Council Corporate Plan 2018-2023 

2.6.12 The Plan has a clear and simple vision that is to act as ‘One Council working together 

to improve lives’. This vision is framed around three clear priorities, which are intended 

to improve the quality of life of people in the County Borough while significantly changing 

the nature of the Council: 

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy  

2. Helping people and community to be more healthy and resilient 

3. Smarter use of resources 

Page 190



 

21 
 

2.6.13 The LDP will contribute significantly to all three priorities, particularly helping to promote 

a successful, sustainable and inclusive economy that will be supported by a skilful, 

ambitious workforce. 

Bridgend Public Services Board Local Well-being Plan 2018 - 2023 

2.6.14 The Well-being Plan outlines how Bridgend Public Service Board will work together over 

the next five years to deliver the seven wellbeing goals for Wales as referenced in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act. The Plan is framed around the sustainable 

development principle and focusses on addressing the underlying causes of problems 

and helping to prevent them worsening or occurring in the future. Four well-being 

objectives have therefore been developed, which are:  

1. Best Start in life 

2. Support communities in Bridgend County to be safe and cohesive  

3. Reduce social and economic inequalities 

4. Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

 

2.6.15 A well-functioning planning system is fundamental for sustainable development and 

achieving sustainable places. The Replacement LDP will be an integral means of 

maximising the well-being of Bridgend County Borough’s residents and its communities, 

thereby ensuring that these four objectives are balanced and integrated into the core of 

the Plan, whilst shaping each stage of plan preparation. 

Bridgend County Borough Local Transport Plan 2015-2030 

2.6.16 The Local Transport Plan (LTP) covers the Bridgend County Borough geographical area 

and sets out the Council’s priorities for transport investment over the next 15 years. The 

LTP’s primary focus is to address issues relating to local transport, enable economic 

growth and change travel behaviour, whilst recognising the significance of Bridgend’s 

role as a link between the two South Wales City Regions. In order to reduce the 

environmental impact of transport, the LTP includes measures and interventions that will 

increase opportunities for active travel, encourage the use of public transport and 

promote modal integration. The specific key priorities are to: 

 

1. Support economic growth and safeguard jobs with a particular focus on City 

Regions, Enterprise Zones and local growth zones 

2. Reduce economic inactivity by delivering safe and affordable access to 

employment sites 

3. Maximise the contribution that effective and affordable transport services can 

make to transport poverty and target investment to support improvements in 

accessibility for the most disadvantaged communities 

4. Encourage safer, healthier and sustainable travel 

 

2.6.17 Transport has always had an integral relationship with sustainable spatial planning and 

the Replacement LDP will continue to link transport with the full plethora of strategic 

planning themes. These include the economy, employment, the environment, health and 

social care, education and physical activity. In addressing these links, transport can be 

used as a tool to promote equality, improve welfare and deliver an inclusive, fairer 

society.  

Page 191



 

22 
 

  

Active Travel and Active Travel Network Maps 

2.6.18 The Replacement LDP will seek to promote connectivity for all by maximising 

opportunities for active travel routes, including those contained within Existing Route 

Maps and future proposals detailed within the Active Travel Network Maps (ATNM). Well 

connected developments will assist in promoting the improvement of health and well-

being by encouraging people to adopt healthier and active lifestyles, whilst also 

contributing to the creation of a successful place.  

Vale of Glamorgan 

2.6.19 The Vale of Glamorgan Council adopted an LDP on 28th June 2017, covering the period 

2011-2026. The Plan focusses on re-using previously developed land and minimising 

the need to develop on greenfield sites. This is particularly apparent in Barry, where 

there is significant emphasis on the continued regeneration of the Waterfront. Other 

significant growth areas are towards the South East of the Vale along with Rhoose, 

St.Athan and Cowbridge. Sustainable development is also earmarked for other 

communities thereby ensuring their long term sustainability and vitality. The Plan seeks 

to grasp the opportunities offered by the St Athan - Cardiff Airport Enterprise Zone and 

demonstrates the essential role that the Vale of Glamorgan plays in the success of the 

wider City-Region Area.  

2.6.20 With this Strategy, it is clear that Bridgend Town will remain the principal retail, 

employment and service centre serving the western communities of the Vale of 

Glamorgan.  

Rhondda Cynon Taf 

2.6.21 The Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) LDP 2006-2021, was adopted on the 2nd March 2011. 

The LDP Core Strategy advocates a hybrid approach to development in the north and 

south of the County Borough. The emphasis in the north is on building sustainable 

communities and halting the process of depopulation and decline caused by multiple 

deprivation. In the south, the emphasis is on sustainable, managed growth that will 

consolidate existing settlement patterns and benefit RCT as a whole. A clear settlement 

strategy is identified with new development opportunities being focused in the principal 

towns and key settlements. Significant plan-led growth has occurred along the South of 

the County Borough, along the M4 corridor, adjoining the A473 and to the West in 

Tonyrefail.  

2.6.22 RCT have commenced LDP revision and the Pencoed-Llanharan corridor is key to the 

relationship between RCT and Bridgend County Boroughs. In particular, Pencoed 

Technology Park straddles the boundary and, as aforementioned, there are significant 

levels of in-commuting from RCT into Bridgend County Borough for work purposes. 

These factors would need to be taken into due consideration during plan revision as any 

planned growth close to the boundary would have a regional impact on employment 

provision and commuting patterns.  

Neath Port Talbot  

2.6.23 The Neath Port Talbot (NPT) LDP was adopted on 27th January 2016, covering the 

period 2011-2026. Broadly, the strategy aims to realise sustainable economic 

development opportunities along the coastal corridor to foster economic growth. Coed 

Page 192



 

23 
 

Darcy, Swansea University Science and Innovation Campus, Baglan Bay and 

Harbourside are the key anchors for growth. There are mutually reinforcing aims to 

reinvigorate the valley areas and improve economic prospects, recognising the role of 

Glynneath and Pontardawe in delivering sustainable growth. 

2.6.24 For Bridgend County Borough, this means that Maesteg will continue to be a major 

service centre serving the Upper Afan Valley, particularly in terms of retailing and 

employment. There is also a key strategic linkage between the Afan Forest Park in NPT 

and the successful regeneration of Maesteg and the Upper Llynfi Valley, in terms of 

cycling and other tourism related projects. 

2.6.25 There are also employment linkages with Kenfig Industrial Estate and Tata Steel acting 

as employment hubs for Bridgend County Borough residents as evidenced through the 

previously discussed travel to work patterns. Improved accessibility to the M4 at North 

Cornelly / Pyle would help enhance these linkages and help reduce traffic congestion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 193



 

24 
 

3. Key Issues and Drivers 

 
3.1 Key Issues and Drivers  

 

3.1.1 The key issues and drivers identified through the Replacement LDP preparation process 

have directly informed the development of the LDP Vision, Objectives and Plan as a 

whole. For ease of reference, the key issues identified in the previous Strategic Context 

Section are summarised below:  

  

• Bridgend, Porthcawl, Pyle and Pencoed demonstrate capacity for sustainable 

growth based on their accessibility, availability of amenities and employment 

provision in the context of their existing population bases. However, a 

moratorium is currently in place on any new development west of the level 

crossing in Pencoed (refer to Western Pencoed Moratorium Background 

Paper).  

 

• The Llynfi Valley demonstrates most significant scope for growth across the 

three Valleys through several mixed use regeneration sites, subject to specific 

constraints on these sites being overcome. Similar issues with contamination, 

topography and viability have proved to be impediments to development in the 

Ogmore and Garw Valleys in recent years, although sustainable growth could 

be facilitated through initiatives such as self and custom build.  

 

• The Valleys Gateway has successfully been a major focus for new residential 

development in recent years, although further significant development would 

be constrained in this vicinity due to the capacity issues running north to south 

at Junction 36 of the M4 (refer to M4 Junction 36 Background Paper).  

 

•  Bridgend is a significant employer, with strengths in advanced manufacturing. 

Despite Ford closing its Bridgend engine plant in September 2020, there is 

need for the strong manufacturing base of the area to be maintained within 

sustainable locations whilst supporting the socio-economic renewal of deprived 

communities.  

  

• The County Borough would benefit from an influx of younger, economically 

active households to counter-balance the ageing local population. This would 

also boost the skilled labour force present locally to encourage employers to 

relocate or expand within Bridgend. 

 

• Regionally, the County Borough has significant employment links with 

neighbouring authorities, with Bridgend serving the western communities of the 

Vale of Glamorgan, Pencoed straddling the boundary between Bridgend and 

RCT and Kenfig Industrial Estate drawing from the NPT catchment. 

 

3.1.2 The key issues and drivers set out in this section have been identified from this Strategic 

Context and following a review of baseline social, economic and environmental 

information; the results of consultation; and the Sustainability Appraisal (Strategic 

Environmental Assessment). This analysis provides a clear picture of the social, 

Page 194



 

25 
 

economic and environmental issues which need to be addressed through the LDP 

process. The key issues and drivers identified are detailed below.  

 

The Key National and Regional Issues and Drivers 

  

3.1.3 Having taken into account the relevant national and regional policy context, the following 

issues and drivers (prefixed by NR) have been identified which have strategic land-use 

implications for the Bridgend LDP: 

 

Table 2: The Key National and Regional Issues 

 Key National and Regional Issues Evidence that has informed 

the key issues and drivers 

NR1 Recognition that Bridgend, Maesteg, 

Pencoed, Porthcawl and Pyle/North 

Cornelly/Kenfig Hill act as hubs for services, 

employment, housing and retail 

developments. Their pivotal positions will 

prove crucial in spreading prosperity to their 

surrounding communities, whilst contributing 

to the interdependent successes of both the 

Cardiff Capital Region and the Swansea Bay 

Region. 

• Settlement Assessment 

(2019, revised 2021) 

• Local Housing Market 

Assessment (2021) 

• Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) and Economic 

Evidence Base Update 

(2021) 

NR2 Bridgend in particular, building on its existing 

status as the major service centre for the 

Llynfi, Ogmore and Garw Valleys, should 

continue to perform as a greater sub-

regional role as an employment and service 

centre to reduce the overall need to travel. 

• Settlement Assessment 

Study (2019, revised 2021) 

• Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) and Economic 

Evidence Base Update 

(2021) 

• Our Valleys, Our Future: 

Delivery Plan (2018) 

NR3 Porthcawl, in its pivotal position on the 

Swansea Bay waterfront, should maintain 

and enhance its role as a vibrant and 

distinctive tourism and leisure destination. 

There is a need to re-develop the Waterfront 

Regeneration Area in particular in order to 

improve the attractiveness of the town as a 

place to live and work, whilst benefitting the 

vibrancy of the Town Centre itself. 

• Bridgend County 

Destination Management 

Plan (2018-2022) 

• Carmarthen Bay, Gower & 

Swansea Bay Local 

Seascape Character 

Assessment 

• Porthcawl Waterfront 

Regeneration Masterplan 

• Our Valleys, Our Future: 

Delivery Plan (2018) 

• LANDMAP – the Welsh 

Landscape Baseline 

NR4 The valleys, whilst facing economic and 

social challenges should aim to become 

attractive yet affordable places containing a 

mix and balance of housing with sustainable 

• Settlement Assessment 

Study (2019, revised 2021) 

• Local Housing Market 

Assessment (2021) 

Page 195



 

26 
 

transport links to the larger settlements to 

access jobs and services. 

• Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) and Economic 

Evidence Base Update 

(2021) 

• Our Valleys, Our Future: 

Delivery Plan (2018) 

NR5 The need to tackle the climate emergency 

and contribute towards meeting national 

renewable and low carbon energy 

generation targets, taking advantage of the 

County Borough’s topography. The Council 

has an aspiration for all new homes to be net 

zero carbon in the first instance. The 

Replacement LDP needs to identify 

appropriate locations to support 

opportunities for district heating, local 

renewable and low carbon energy projects, 

as well as to encourage an element of local 

ownership. 

• Future Wales: The 

National Development 

Framework Planning 

Policy Wales Bridgend 

Smart Energy Plan (2019) 

• Renewable Energy 

Assessment (2020)  

• Bridgend County Borough 

Climate Emergency Action 

Plan 

NR6 In the context of the both the Cardiff Capital 

Region and the Swansea Bay Region, 

Bridgend County Borough should support 

less prosperous environs by maintaining a 

long term local supply of land for 

employment which is well located and 

accessible, realistic and deliverable and 

offers sufficient diversity of choice. 

• Settlement Assessment 

Study (2019, revised 2021) 

• Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) and Economic 

Evidence Base Update 

(2021) 

NR7 The need to maximise socio-economic 

benefits from the implementation of the 

South Wales Metro and the Cardiff Capital 

Region City Deal. 

• Rolling Out Our Metro 

• Cardiff Capital Region City 

Deal 

NR8 The LDP should identify and safeguard the 

appropriate amount of aggregates and coal 

reserves. 

• Regional Technical 

Statement (2nd Review, 

2020) 

NR9 Promote the efficient use of resources, 

including transitioning to a low carbon 

economy, use of waste as a resource, 

energy efficient buildings, and appropriate 

renewable and low carbon energy. 

• Bridgend Smart Energy 

Plan (2019) 

• Renewable Energy 

Assessment (2020) 

• Building Regulations 

NR10 The need to align with the National 

Development Framework and the 

preparation of a Strategic Development Plan 

for the Cardiff City Region. 

• Future Wales: The National 

Development Framework 

Planning Policy Wales 

NR11 The need to resolve localised junction 

capacity issues at Junction 36 of the M4 and 

the Penprysg Road Railway Bridge, 

Pencoed to improve extant traffic flow issues 

and enhance future sustainable growth 

• M4 Junction 36 Background 

Paper 

• WelTAG Stage 1 

Page 196



 

27 
 

opportunities within the respective 

settlements.  

NR12 The need to protect and enhance the 

wellbeing of all people in the County 

Borough and for the Replacement LDP to 

support the implementation of the Well-being 

of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

• Bridgend Local Well-being 

Plan. 

• WBFG Act 

 

3.1.4 The Key Local Issues and Drivers 

 

3.1.5 Having taken into account the Local Spatial and Policy Context, and a general review of 

baseline information, the following key local issues and drivers (prefixed with LS) have 

been identified as having strategic land-use implications for the Bridgend LDP.  

 

Table 3: Environmental Issues 

 Environmental Issues Evidence that has informed 

the Key Issues and Drivers 

LS1 The County Borough contains nationally, 

regionally and locally important landscapes 

and coastal scenery and a wide range of 

biodiversity and nature conservation 

interests which require identification and 

protection in the LDP. 

• Carmarthen Bay, Gower & 

Swansea Bay Local 

Seascape Character 

Assessment 

• Local Biodiversity Action 

Plan (2014) 

• Heritage Coast Borough 

Landscape Character 

Assessment 

• Special Landscape Areas 

• LANDMAP – the Welsh 

Landscape Baseline 

• Bridgend Biodiversity and 

Ecosystems Resilience 

Forward Plan 2018-22 

• Green Infrastructure 

Assessment (2022) 

LS2 The need to identify, protect and enhance 

the rich built heritage and historic 

environment of the County Borough within 

the Replacement LDP. 

• Historic Environment 

(Wales) Act 2016 

• Planning Policy Wales 

• Register of Landscapes of 

Historic Interest in Wales 

(and accompanying Historic 

Landscape Character 

Assessments) 

LS3 Future Wales identifies Pre-Assessed Areas 

for Wind Energy to help meet future energy 

needs. Whilst the principle of developing 

renewable and low carbon energy from all 

technologies is supported, there is a need to 

• Our Valleys, Our Future: 

Delivery Plan (2018) 

• Renewable Energy 

Assessment (2020) 

Page 197



 

28 
 

consider the increasing development 

pressure for wind farms in Valleys areas in 

the context of appropriate siting and design 

to minimise visual impacts on scenic 

landscapes. 

• Future Wales: The National 

Development Framework 

Planning Policy Wales  

LS4 Significant areas along all the main rivers 

and watercourses of the County Borough are 

identified as being at risk of flooding. The 

existing urban areas of Aberkenfig and 

Pencoed are highly constrained by flood 

plains. There is also a risk of tidal flooding 

and storm surges in parts of Porthcawl and 

along the coast. 

• Bridgend Strategic Flood 

Consequences Assessment 

• TAN15 – Development & 

Flood Risk 

• Development Advice Maps - 

NRW 

LS5 Many of the County Borough’s stretches of 

river are at risk of having poor water quality 

through ‘point source pollution’. 

• NRW – Water Framework 

Directive (2018) 

LS6 There is a risk of poor air quality along the 

M4 corridor and other areas with known poor 

air quality across the County Borough. 

• Planning Policy Wales 

• WBFG Act 

• Local Air Quality 

Management in Wales – 

Guidance (2017) 

LS7 Parts of the highway network experience 

congestion especially at peak times with 

corresponding impact on road safety. The 

Replacement LDP will seek to reduce car 

dependencies and improve active travel 

infrastructure; deliver improved and 

expanded transport links, public transport 

and enhanced communications 

infrastructure, both to communities within the 

Council area and to key destinations in 

neighbouring authorities. 

• Planning Policy Wales 

• Bridgend Strategic Transport 

Assessment (To be 

completed – 2020) 

• Active Travel Act 

LS8 No significant landfill capacity currently 

exists for waste disposal in the County 

Borough. Appropriate sites for new waste 

processing facilities to meet both local and 

regional needs for the future will require 

identification in the LDP. 

• Planning Policy Wales 

• Technical Advice Note 21 

(2014) 

• Waste Planning Monitoring 

Report (2016) 

• Annual Monitoring Reports 

 

Table 4: Social Issues 

 Social Issues Evidence that has informed 

the key issues and drivers 

LS9 Housing choice in the Garw and Ogmore 

Valleys is limited which presents an 

opportunity to promote initiatives such as co-

operative housing, self-build plots and custom 

• Settlement Assessment 

Study (2019, revised 2021) 

• Local Housing Market 

Assessment (2021) 

Page 198



 

29 
 

build opportunities alongside more 

conventional forms of development. 

LS10 Local evidence has identified a current 

shortfall in affordable housing provision 

across the County Borough. The scale of 

housing need identified needs to be met with 

an appropriate policy response. Allocating a 

sufficient quantum and range of housing sites 

in the Replacement LDP is one significant 

means of addressing this issue, although must 

not be considered the only mechanism to 

deliver affordable housing. 

 

• Settlement Assessment 

Study (2019, revised 2021) 

• Local Housing Market 

Assessment (2021) 

• Plan-Wide Viability 

Assessment (2021) 

LS11 There is a shortage in the provision of smaller 

dwellings; in particular one bedroom 

properties in the social rented sector and 2 

bedroom entry level properties in the general 

housing markets. There is a need to increase 

affordable housing provision across the 

County Borough. 

• Settlement Assessment 

Study (2019, revised 2021) 

• Local Housing Market 

Assessment (2021) 

LS12 Many parts of the County Borough, especially 

in the Valley communities, are among the 

most deprived areas of Wales, with low levels 

of access to facilities and services particularly 

for children, young and older people. 

• Settlement Assessment 

Study (2019, revised 2021) 

• Local Housing Market 

Assessment (2021) 

LS13 The Valleys Gateway is geographically central 

to the County Borough and easily accessible, 

and is therefore the preferred location for 

many facilities that can serve a much wider 

catchment. However identified capacity issues 

at Junction 36 may prevent additional growth 

in this area. 

• Settlement Assessment 

Study (2019, revised 2021) 

• M4 Junction 36 Background 

Paper 

LS14 There are deficiencies in outdoor sport, 

children’s playing space, accessible natural 

open space and allotment provision within the 

County Borough, particularly in the large 

urban centres. There is a need to maximise 

multi-functional green infrastructure coverage 

and ensure they provide a network of linked 

wildlife corridors (across a wide range of 

scales and increase ecosystems services 

including biodiversity; and maximise the 

health benefits of green infrastructure). 

• Green Infrastructure 

Assessment (2020) 

• Bridgend Biodiversity and 

Ecosystems Resilience 

Forward Plan 2018-22 

• Bridgend’s Active Travel 

Integrated Network Map 

• Outdoor Sports and 

Children’s Play space 

Audits (2022) 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 199



 

30 
 

Table 5: Economic Issues 

 Economic Issues Evidence that has informed 

the key issues and drivers 

LS15 The need to pursue a decarbonised, digitally 

connected, smart County Borough. This will 

simultaneously enable a transition to low 

carbon, decentralised energy systems for the 

benefit of individuals, communities and 

businesses. 

• Bridgend Smart Energy 

Plan (2019) 

• Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) and 

Economic Evidence Base 

Update (2021) 

• Renewable Energy 

Assessment (2020) 

LS16 The Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Site 

will need to be delivered to revitalise the town 

as a premier seaside resort. 

• Porthcawl Waterfront 

Regeneration Masterplan 

LS17 The economy of Bridgend County Borough is 

more relatively reliant on the manufacturing 

sector than Wales as a whole. There is a need 

to safeguard and support the existing 

economic and employment base across the 

County Borough. Equally, there is a need to 

attract inward investment, secure sustainable 

economic growth and enable diversification of 

the employment sector. The Replacement 

LDP will need to respond by allocating suitable 

sites for development, whilst enabling delivery 

of the infrastructure required to increase 

connectivity, improve community / social 

infrastructure and enhance access to high 

quality employment and economic 

opportunities. 

• Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) and 

Economic Evidence Base 

Update (2021) 

• Infrastructure and Delivery 

Plan (currently being 

prepared) 

LS18 Many of the existing industrial estates require 

modernisation and refurbishment to cater for 

the SME sector. 

• Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) and 

Economic Evidence Base 

Update (2021) 

LS19 There is a mismatch in the current location of 

employment sites in the County Borough and 

the areas of higher deprivation especially in 

the Valleys.  

• Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) and 

Economic Evidence Base 

Update (2021) 

LS19 There is a shortage of general employment 

land in Porthcawl and the Valleys. 

• Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) and 

Economic Evidence Base 

Update (2021) 

LS20 Bridgend town centre is fulfilling its potential as 

a sub-regional centre, but has a lower 

proportion of comparison units and higher rate 

of vacant units than the UK average. There is 

also a need for additional convenience 

shopping facilities in Porthcawl to reduce 

• Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) and 

Economic Evidence Base 

Update (2021) 

• Retail Study (2019) 

Page 200



 

31 
 

expenditure leakage and promote sustainable 

shopping patterns. 

LS21 Ogmore Vale, Kenfig Hill and Pontycymmer 

district centres are dispersed over a wide area 

containing a high percentage of residential 

units with sometimes no identifiable core area 

of activity which is leading them to show signs 

of decline. 

• Settlement Assessment 

Study (2019, revised 2021) 

• Local Housing Market 

Assessment (2021) 

• Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) and Economic 

Evidence Base Update 

(2021) 

• Retail Study (2019) 

• Retail Study Update (2022) 

LS22 There is a need to build on the success of 

smaller retail areas at the neighbourhood or 

community level of provision especially where 

these can be co-ordinated with co-located 

social, educational and community facilities 

• Settlement Assessment 

Study (2019, revised 2021) 

• Retail Study (2019) 

• Retail Study Update (2022) 

LS23 There is a need to grow and diversify the 

County Borough’s visitor economy beyond the 

predominant ‘one day visit’ by capitalising on 

the area’s natural, historic and built 

environment to enable tourism related 

developments. 

• Bridgend County 

Destination Management 

Plan (2018-2022) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 201



 

32 
 

4. LDP Strategic Framework 

 
4.1 LDP Vision (2018-2033) 

 

4.1.1 This section of the document sets out the overarching Vision to ultimately define what 

the LDP is working towards. The LDP Vision has been developed to take into account 

the Bridgend Local Well-being Plan with the specific characteristics and key issues 

affecting the County Borough.  

   

4.1.2 Vision for 2033 

 

Since the turn of the millennium, Bridgend and the wider County Borough has been on 

a journey to expand access to key services, enhance physical environmental quality and 

improve quality of life for residents, workers and visitors. This transformation will 

continue throughout the LDP period, resulting in the continued development of a safe, 

healthy and inclusive network of communities that connect more widely with the regions 

to enable sustainable economic growth.  

 

Council Priorities 

 

The County Borough is already a major regional employment hub, with specific strengths 

in advanced manufacturing. These socio-economic assets will be enhanced to 

progressively improve the County Borough’s economic competitiveness whilst 

significantly contributing to the success of the Cardiff Capital Region and Swansea Bay 

Region. Encouraging inward investment to improve infrastructure, employment 

provision and lifelong learning opportunities will attract and retain skilled workers that 

will in turn encourage businesses to bring further skilled employment into the area. 

Bridgend County Borough Council also has a vision to make Bridgend a decarbonised, 

digitally connected smart County Borough. In doing so it will transition to a low carbon, 

decentralised energy system that works for its individuals, communities and businesses. 

In achieving its vision of a decarbonised, digitally connected smart county borough, the 

Council aims to:  
 

• decarbonise the energy sector and seek to deliver net zero carbon homes,   

• stimulate economic growth,  

• provide new job opportunities, and 

• attract new and existing businesses to trial initiatives and grow within the 

county borough 

 

Spatial Vision 

 

Bridgend will remain the principal town, and supplementary growth will build on its 

success as a regional employment, commercial and service centre. Additional 

employment, commercial and residential development will be focussed around other 

established towns to achieve sustainable patterns of growth that support existing local 

services and facilities. Regeneration-led growth will also be channelled towards 

Porthcawl through redevelopment of its waterfront to capitalise on the town’s role as a 

premier seaside and tourist destination. In addition, the valley settlements will be 

earmarked for sustainable regeneration, with a recognition that Maesteg and the Llynfi 

Page 202



 

33 
 

Valley has the largest potential capacity and infrastructure to accommodate future 

growth. This vision will be achieved through maintaining and developing strong, 

interdependent, connected and cohesive settlements, whilst also protecting and 

enhancing the County Borough's environmental and heritage assets. This will offer 

people: 

  

• the best start in life by providing effective learning environments to secure 

the best possible outcomes for learners;  

• opportunities to reduce social and economic inequalities; and  

• an improved quality of life and a healthy environment for all people living, 

working, visiting and relaxing in the area. 

  

4.2 Strategic Objectives and Specific Objectives 

 
4.2.1 The LDP Vision will be delivered through the achievement of 4 Strategic Objectives, 

which will be underpinned by 35 Specific Objectives. These seek to reflect updated 

national policy and legislation and address the issues facing the County Borough. The 

development of the Objectives has also been informed by the SA/SEA process, 

particularly the succinct set of key sustainability issues which should be addressed in 

the Replacement LDP. These identified issues have been carried forward to underpin 

the SA process, thereby shaping the following four Strategic Objectives, which are 

central to the LDP:  

 

• SOBJ1: To Create High Quality Sustainable Places (Placemaking) 

• SOBJ2: To Create Active, Healthy, Cohesive, Inclusive and Social 

Communities 

• SOBJ3: To Create Productive and Enterprising Places 

• SOBJ4: To Protect and Enhance Distinctive and Natural Places 

   

4.2.2 The Strategic Objectives have been defined to reflect identified key issues, align with 

national policy and ensure an appropriate balance between the different elements of 

sustainability. They are cross-cutting in their nature and also cross-reference the goals 

and objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and Bridgend 

Local Well-being Plan (LWBP). Acting together, the Vision and Strategic Objectives 

provide an overarching framework to underpin all other components of the Replacement 

LDP. Reflecting their importance, the Strategic Objectives have been subject to iterative 

testing and refinement through the SA process in tandem with preparing the LDP. Whilst 

necessarily high level, the resulting Strategic Objectives provide good coverage of all 

key sustainability issues which the Replacement LDP needs to address. 

 

4.2.3 In turn, the Vision and 4 Strategic Objectives are supported by 35 Specific Objectives. 

These have been devised to create the right conditions to address the various social, 

cultural, environmental and economic well-being outcomes. The objectives will also form 

part of the basis for monitoring the implementation of the Plan, once adopted and 

operational.  

 

 
  

Page 203



 

34 
 

SOBJ 1 
 

To Create High Quality Sustainable Places (Placemaking) 
 

OBJ 1a 

 

To promote Bridgend as the Primary Key Settlement of the County 

Borough where major employment, commercial and residential 

development is focused. 
 

OBJ 1b 

 

Develop a strategic hub in the northern part of the County Borough 

of Bridgend, focusing on employments sites, energy projects, 

residential developments, tourism and culture. 
 

OBJ 1c 

 

To revitalise Maesteg by recognising its role as the principal 

settlement serving the Llynfi Valley which has the potential capacity 

and infrastructure to accommodate future growth. 
 

OBJ 1d 

 

To realise the potential of Porthcawl as a premier seaside and tourist 

destination by prioritising the regeneration of its waterfront and 

investing in key infrastructure. This will also improve the 

attractiveness of the town as a place to live and work, whilst 

enhancing the vibrancy of the Town Centre 

OBJ 1e 

 

To promote sustainable and attractive valley settlements with 

improved access to jobs and services. 
 

OBJ 1f 

 

To recognise the strategic potential of Pencoed within the wider 

Cardiff Capital Region. 
 

 

 

SOBJ 2 
To Create Active, Healthy, Cohesive, Inclusive and Social 

Communities 

OBJ 2a 

 

To provide a land use framework that recognises the needs of 

deprived areas within the County Borough, which affords those 

communities the opportunities to tackle the sources of their 

deprivation. 
 

OBJ 2b 

 

To ensure that there is equality of access to community services for 

all sectors of the community, addressing the particular needs of 

younger people, families, older people and those with disabilities. 
  

OBJ 2c 

 

To deliver the level and type of residential development to meet the 

identified needs of the County Borough ensuring that a significant 

proportion is affordable and accessible to all. 
 

OBJ 2d 

 

To enable Bridgend Town to become an attractive and successful 

regional retail and commercial destination within the Cardiff Capital 

Region which also meets the needs of its catchment, supported by 

a network of viable town, district and local centres that serve their 

local communities. 

Page 204



 

35 
 

OBJ 2e 

 

To provide for the required quantity and range of accessible 

education, leisure, recreational, health, social and community 

facilities throughout the County Borough. 
 

OBJ 2f 

 

Promote accessibility for all by supporting the transport hierarchy 

(set out in PPW) that prioritises walking and cycling (active travel), 

then public transport and finally motor vehicles. New development 

should be located and designed in accordance with this hierarchy to 

prioritise the use of sustainable transport, reduce related airborne 

pollution, reduce the need to travel and reduce the dependency on 

private vehicles. 
 

OBJ 2g 

 

To ensure that new development helps deliver active travel routes in 

the County Borough.  
 

OBJ 2h 

 

Create walkable neighbourhoods, where a range of facilities are 

within walking distance of most residents, and the streets are safe, 

comfortable and enjoyable to walk and cycle. 
 

OBJ 2i 

 

Resolve localised junction capacity issues at Junction 36 of the M4 

and the Penprysg Road Railway Bridge, Pencoed to improve extant 

traffic flow issues and enhance sustainable growth opportunities 

within the respective settlements in the future.  
 

OBJ 2j 

 

Promote new development that is designed to minimise the impact 

of transport emissions.   
 

 

 

SOBJ 3 To Create Productive and Enterprising Places 
 

OBJ 3a 

 

To build a more diverse, dynamic and self-reliant economy and 

business environment. 

 

OBJ 3b 

 

To provide a realistic level and variety of employment land to 

facilitate the delivery of high quality workspaces and job 

opportunities. 

OBJ 3c 

Deliver a balanced portfolio of new and modern employment 

buildings with a focus on small to medium enterprises and start-up 

businesses. 
 

OBJ 3d 

 

Provide effective learning environments to secure the best possible 

outcomes for learners. 
 

OBJ 3e 

 

Promote and support the refurbishment of existing employment floor 

space. 
 

Page 205



 

36 
 

OBJ 3f 

 

Develop a commercial and education cluster around Bridgend train 

station with a focus on commerce and education. 
 

OBJ 3g 

 

To bring the benefits of regeneration to the valley communities by 

directing new development to those areas at a scale which 

acknowledges their geographical constraints and infrastructure 

capacity. 
 

OBJ 3h 

 

Develop a strong rural economy to support sustainable and vibrant 

rural communities, recognising the role of leisure and tourism. 
 

OBJ 3i 

 

Support transport infrastructure and fast communication networks to 

facilitate necessary improvements and development to support the 

growth aspirations of the Cardiff Capital Region. 
 

OBJ 3j 

 

Promote developments that are well located and designed to assist 

in meeting energy demand with renewable and low carbon sources 

in accordance with the energy hierarchy for planning’ (set out in 

PPW), including delivery of net zero carbon homes in the first 

instance, thereby helping to both mitigate the causes of climate 

change and tackle the ‘climate emergency’ declared by Welsh 

Government and the Council. 
 

OBJ 3k 

 

To meet the Council’s regional and local commitments for mineral 

resources, waste management and waste disposal. 
 

OBJ 3l 

 

Promote the circular economy and make the best use of material 

resources for the benefit of both the built and natural environments. 
 

OBJ 3m 

 

Follow the priority order of the waste hierarchy in waste prevention 

and management – prevention, re-use, recycling, treatment, 

recovery and disposal. 
 

OBJ 3n 

 

To counter-balance the locally ageing population by accommodating 

sustainable levels of growth to attract and retain economically active 

households, ensuring the County Borough remains an attractive 

prospect for employers to expand within and move into. 
 

 

 

Page 206



 

37 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.3 LDP Growth and Spatial Strategy  

4.3.1 Settlement Hierarchy   

4.3.2 The Replacement LDP identifies and differentiates between the sustainability of 

places by defining a settlement hierarchy. This is informed by the conclusions of the 

Bridgend County Borough Settlement Assessment (2019, updated in 2021), which 

reflects Bridgend’s historical and functional settlement pattern and seeks to achieve 

more sustainable places in a number of ways. The scale and type of growth 

apportioned to settlements is dependent upon their individual roles, functions and 

positions within the Settlement Hierarchy. This is to ensure the Replacement LDP directs 

the majority of growth towards areas that already benefit from good infrastructure, 

services and facilities, or where additional capacity can be provided.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SOBJ 4 
 

 

To Protect and Enhance Distinctive and Natural Places 
 

OBJ 4a 

 

To promote, conserve and enhance the natural, historic and built 

environment of the County Borough. 
 

OBJ 4b 

 

To safeguard the quality of water, air and soil and tackle all sources 

of pollution, including noise pollution. 
 

OBJ 4c 

 

Ensure adequate water supply, sewerage and drainage 

infrastructure (including sustainable drainage systems). 
 

OBJ 4d 

 

Promote multi-functional green infrastructure with an emphasis on 

its integration with existing and new development. 
 

OBJ 4e 

 

To manage development in order to avoid or minimise the risk and 

fear of flooding and enable and improve the functionality of 

floodplains. 
 

Page 207



 

38 
 

SF1: Settlement Hierarchy and Urban Management 

 

Development will be permitted within settlement boundaries at a scale commensurate 

with the role and function of settlements as set out in the hierarchy below: 

Primary Key Settlement 

• Bridgend (including Brackla, Broadlands, Bryntirion and Cefn Glas, Central 

Bridgend, Coity / Parc Derwen, Coychurch and North Bridgend / Litchard) 

Main Settlements 

• Maesteg 

• Pencoed  

• Porthcawl 

• Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly  

• Valleys Gateway (including Aberkenfig, Bryncethin, Brynmenyn, Coytrahen, Sarn, 

Tondu and Ynysawdre)*  

* This area faces significant constraints and is therefore currently much less 

suitable for sustainable development than the other Main Settlements, as 

detailed in the Settlement Assessment, Spatial Options Background Paper and 

M4 Junction 36 Background Paper.  

Local Settlements 

• Bettws 

• Blaengarw 

• Caerau 

• Cefn Cribwr 

• Evanstown and Glynogwr 

• Heol-y-Cyw 

• Laleston and Merthyr Mawr 

• Lewiston, Blackmill and Pantyrawel 

• Llangeinor, Lluest and Pontyrhyl 

• Nanttyffyllon 

• Nantymoel 

• Ogmore Vale 

• Pen-y-fai 

• Pontryhydycyff, Llangynwyd and Cwmfelin 

• Pontycymmer 

• South Cornelly, Maudlam and Kenfig 

 

4.3.3 Bridgend is classified as the Primary Key Settlement, along with five additional Main 

Settlements, which include the Valleys Gateway, Porthcawl, Maesteg, Pencoed and 

the grouped settlement of Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly. All six of these 

settlements are relatively well self-contained, demonstrating a strong employment 

function with an existing concentration of businesses plus a notable variety of shopping 

and community services. The facilities they contain meet the individual needs of these 

settlements and those of their wider surrounding environs, further bolstered by a range 

Page 208



 

39 
 

of sustainable travel opportunities that connect to neighbouring areas and the wider 

regions. Bridgend performs this role most significantly. Hence, Bridgend is distinguished 

as the Primary Key Settlement on the basis that it accommodates just over a third of the 

County Borough’s population and is the focus of employment, services and retail serving 

the whole of the County Borough. Bridgend therefore demonstrates the highest 

propensity to accommodate sustainable growth in a manner that will both support and 

build on its success as a regional employment, commercial and service centre. The 

other Main Settlements accommodate 34% of the population combined, and perform 

similar roles at a smaller yet significant scale. These inter-related factors justify the 

respective classification of these settlements as Main Settlements, which can be 

maintained and progressed through sustainable growth (refer to the Settlement 

Assessment).  

  

4.3.4 The only notable exception to this general deduction is the Valleys Gateway. This 

settlement was justifiably ranked highly by the Settlement Assessment owing to the 

inter-connectedness of its sub settlements, high accessibility (including two railway 

stations plus links to the M4), prominent retail facilities and industrial estates. However, 

this area has accommodated substantial growth in recent years and there are now 

capacity issues running north to south at Junction 36 of the M4 (refer to M4 Junction 36 

Background Paper). The constraints present within this settlement therefore render it far 

less suitable to accommodate sustainable development than others, notwithstanding its 

classification as a Main Settlement and broader role within the County Borough. Hence, 

planned growth will not be channelled towards this area over the Replacement Plan 

period (2018-2033) and will instead be directed towards the other four Main Settlements 

and the Primary Key Settlement.  

  

4.3.5 The Local Settlements perform a more limited retail and community facility function, 

primarily serving their local residents. Whilst all services and facilities are important to 

their respective hinterlands, those on offer in these settlements draw from a smaller 

catchment area and are primarily confined to serving the more immediate population 

base. As such, the scope for Local Settlements to accommodate significant 

development is more limited, yet there are still opportunities to support smaller scale 

regeneration led growth to facilitate local economic development. 

  

4.3.6 All settlements have boundaries, which have been reviewed and amended where 

appropriate to accurately demarcate the urban area from the countryside, assist with the 

prevention of the coalescence of settlements and provide certainty in terms of where 

appropriate development will be permitted. Indeed, the LDP will prioritise the re-use and 

redevelopment of previously developed land whenever and wherever possible. A more 

detailed geographic overview is summarised below.  

Bridgend 

 

4.3.7 Bridgend’s categorisation as the Primary Key Settlement of the County Borough 

recognises the settlement’s sub-regional sphere of influence and pre-eminent role as a 

highly accessible, major employment and retail centre. Bridgend Town Centre is also 

positioned at the top of the retail and commercial hierarchy of the County Borough and 

is defined as a Sub-Regional Centre, the only centre in the County Borough 

demonstrating this wider geographical function. Bridgend’s classification correlates with 

Page 209



 

40 
 

the National Development Framework, which cites its strategically important location on 

the South East Metro system and enhanced potential and opportunity to function as a 

key regional centre.  

 

4.3.8 The Replacement LDP will enable the ongoing enhancement of the town centre through 

continued conservation-led environmental improvements. It will also seek to consolidate 

retail uses along primary frontages, expand the range of uses within the town centre 

(notably increasing commercial leisure facilities) and facilitate redevelopment of 

prominent vacant buildings. This will be achieved by extending the primary shopping 

area boundary to include the redeveloped Bridgend Shopping Centre, whilst re-

designating the adopted primary shopping area along Nolton Street and Wyndham 

Street as a secondary shopping area to reflect the current distribution of uses. This 

combination of objectives seek to improve environmental quality, enhance the evening 

economy and increase footfall to ultimately improve the vitality and retail-led 

performance of the town centre. A Town Centre Masterplan will be also published to 

support the Replacement LDP in this respect, by outlining a vision for a liveable and 

vibrant place that brings together enterprise, employment, education, in-town living, 

shopping, culture, tourism and well-being within a historic setting. 

 

4.3.9 Bridgend also exhibits a number of existing residential commitments and significant 

development opportunities within walking distance of the town and within the broader 

settlement. There are several remaining large-scale brownfield and under-utilised sites 

within the wider urban area of Bridgend plus scope for sustainable urban extensions. 

These commitments and opportunities will allow the area to grow sustainably in terms 

of future housing and employment provision, whilst simultaneously protecting the 

environment, the countryside setting, and the individual identities of the smaller sub-

settlements within Bridgend. This diverse range of sites will enable the market to 

respond flexibly to existing need and future requirements. The Replacement LDP also 

recognises the potential to further increase accessibility throughout this inter-connected 

area by means of enhanced walking and cycling routes plus green infrastructure 

networks that connect the sub-settlements to the town centre, bus and railway stations 

(refer to the County Borough’s Active Travel Integrated Network Map). This pattern of 

growth will enhance Bridgend’s position as a highly sustainable and accessible 

destination that benefits both the County Borough and the wider regions. 

 

4.3.10 In terms of employment, the Replacement LDP will utilise Bridgend’s strategic location 

along the M4 corridor to maintain and enhance the settlement’s role as a major regional 

employment hub, with specific strengths in advanced manufacturing. There is need for 

the strong manufacturing base of the area to be maintained within sustainable locations 

whilst supporting the socio-economic renewal of deprived communities. The existing 

significant Industrial Estates of Bridgend, Waterton, Brackla and Litchfield will continue 

to fulfil this wider employment function and thus be protected from alternative uses. 

Further opportunities exist for promoting strategic employment sites, notably at 

Brocastle Estate and the former Ford Site, which will enable further consolidation and 

enhancement of Bridgend’s role as a major focus for employment and new inward 

investment. These two sites combined with the significant, mixed-use brownfield 

regeneration opportunity at Parc Afon Ewenni collectively represent the Southern 

Bridgend Gateway: a trio of development opportunities that will allow for sustainable, 

placemaking-led developmental synergy. This holistic opportunity will be enabled 

Page 210



 

41 
 

through subsequent master planning and Supplementary Planning Guidance 

development to contribute to delivery of the Replacement LDP’s Regeneration and 

Sustainable Growth Strategy. 

 

Pencoed 

 

4.3.11 Pencoed is defined as a Main Settlement in the hierarchy, with important retail, 

community service and employment provision that meets the needs of its population and 

the surrounding area. There is currently a moratorium in place on further development 

to the west of the railway line due to restrictions around the level crossing. However, 

some sites within Pencoed could both accommodate and benefit from sustainable urban 

growth to support the existing district centre and take advantage of its highly accessible 

location. Indeed, Pencoed will continue to capitalise on the growth and opportunities 

identified within nearby Bridgend, especially in terms of access to jobs and higher level 

services, enabled by its transportation links via rail, the M4 and the A473. Pencoed will 

also benefit from smaller scale proposals and projects being progressed, recognising 

the potential to improve the environment, accessibility and social wellbeing of the 

community.  

 

4.3.12 Building on Pencoed’s direct access to the M4 at Junction 35, the Replacement LDP 

continues to identify Pencoed Technology Park as a Strategic Employment Site, where 

a significant redevelopment opportunity exists to create a high quality B1 Business Park 

within part of the under-utilised former Sony factory site. The Economic Evidence Base 

Study deemed this site to be ‘the Borough’s most attractive location for out of centre 

office’ owing to the existing neighbouring uses, availability of serviced plots and 

motorway access. The geographical position of this Site is also well placed to benefit 

the wider region as a whole.  

 

Porthcawl  

 

4.3.13 The Replacement LDP will maintain Porthcawl‘s role as a Main Settlement in the County 

Borough and will allow it to redefine itself as a premier tourist destination. Porthcawl’s 

environment is of high scenic beauty and biodiversity, enhanced by its coastal location, 

characterful town centre and seafront. It offers accessible sandy beaches and surf for 

active pursuits and a base for touring South Wales. The key to the area’s success is to 

balance the nature of development proposed with the interests of tourism and that of the 

environment. 

 

4.3.14 The delivery of new flood defences (in addition to the existing defences) and re-

designation of Porthcawl as a Defended Zone will provide a coincidental opportunity to 

enable the Porthcawl Waterfront site to come forward and provide residential-led growth 

that maximises the benefits of this unique location. The provision of new residential 

units, including affordable dwellings, will enable the delivery of other vital regeneration 

requirements comprising enhanced active travel links plus education, retail and 

community facility provision. Several sensitive development projects could also be 

promoted and brought forward by means of broad tourism-related regeneration. The 

project area is closely linked to the town centre, which will continue to benefit from 

environmental improvements. Indeed, Porthcawl Town Centre is seen as an integral 

element in the retail hierarchy, benefitting from a range of leisure uses and a good 

Page 211



 

42 
 

comparison retail offer that provides an important focus for residents. Links between the 

waterfront area and the town centre will be secured by improved accessibility to properly 

integrate the new development into the surrounding urban area and also enhance the 

convenience retail offer. However, proper protection will be given to those highly 

sensitive areas of international importance, ensuring due consideration is given to 

landscape and biodiversity interests in the context of local urban capacity. 

 

Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly  

 

4.3.15 The western settlements of Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly are designated 

collectively as a Main Settlement. This is in recognition of the fact that the grouped 

settlement demonstrates a strong employment function along with a good variety of 

shopping and community services that cater for its hinterland and surrounding environs. 

The settlement is already the focus of more traditional employment at Village Farm and 

South Cornelly, serving the western part of the County Borough, and the Replacement 

LDP will maintain and enhance this function, offering scope for further employment 

provision. The area also benefits from excellent accessibility to Junction 37 of the M4 

motorway, the A48 and Pyle Railway Station, with services on the Swansea to Cardiff 

line.  

 

4.3.16 The Replacement LDP will therefore capitalise on this existing functionality and urban 

capacity by delivering sustainable growth to support the community, whilst enhancing 

the viability of local business and services. Channelling growth into this settlement will 

maximise economic development and incite job creation, given the growing employment 

base and availability of skilled labour. This will not only help develop a more sustainable 

local community that can better serve its immediate catchment, but also further enhance 

the multiplier effect of regeneration-led growth from nearby Porthcawl. Indeed, the 

relationship and benefits of growth between the two closely linked settlements are seen 

as being reciprocal and complementary. 

 

Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley 

 

4.3.17 Maesteg is the second largest town in the County Borough, defined as a Main 

Settlement. The Replacement LDP seeks to enable Maesteg to fulfil its potential as an 

important service and cultural centre for the whole of the Llynfi Valley by providing new 

homes, retail provision and local job opportunities, including those related to tourism. 

Ensuing regeneration-led development will therefore equally benefit surrounding valley 

communities and smaller settlements nearby. 

 

4.3.18 One important means of fulfilling this role is through the continued protection and 

promotion of the town centre as an important retail, service and cultural hub. The town 

centre performs well against most indicators of vitality and viability, with a good level of 

consumer choice, and has been the focus of recent regeneration efforts evidenced in its 

improved bus station and outdoor markets. The Replacement LDP will therefore 

capitalise on these improvements by further enabling enhancements to the town centre 

environment, expansion of the commercial leisure offer and redevelopment of vacant 

sites for retail or other complementary uses over the LDP period. This will be facilitated 

by condensing the primary shopping area in Maesteg to reflect the current distribution 

of uses and re-designating the primary shopping area along Commercial Street as a 

Page 212



 

43 
 

secondary shopping area. This will help improve the town’s image, diversify the uses on 

offer and promote private sector confidence, encouraging further investment and helping 

to realise the area’s wider tourism potential. 

 

4.3.19 Whilst Maesteg and some surrounding parts of the Llynfi Valley would benefit from 

regeneration-led growth, it is acknowledged that some residential sites in this vicinity will 

require longer lead in times than others for delivery to take place. Therefore, the housing 

land supply will not be dependent on delivery of all regeneration sites in this area. 

Instead, it will be important to provide flexibility to explore a number of options to bring 

these sites forward over the life of the LDP, recognising the importance of facilitating 

development of new mixed use communities on brownfield land. This area of growth 

builds on the ongoing and future regeneration initiatives for Maesteg Town Centre, 

complementing the recent investments in new schools in the valley (linking the new 

Maesteg Comprehensive School at the Maesteg Washery Site with the new primary 

school at Caerau). As well as promoting Maesteg as a focus of future regeneration 

growth, the Replacement LDP recognises the importance of diversifying the local 

economy. There is significant potential to capitalise on its rural, upland character to grow 

the tourism industry, promote active lifestyles and promote renewable energy (beyond 

the built-up areas on the valley floor).  

  

Ogmore and Garw Valleys 

 

4.3.20 The Ogmore and Garw Valleys are identified as Local Settlements. Therefore, whilst 

these areas will not be earmarked to accommodate significant growth, the Replacement 

LDP seeks to create sustainable communities linked to wider opportunities in a manner 

that protects their high quality environment. The Valleys Gateway and Bridgend act as 

service ‘hubs’ for the Ogmore and Garw Valleys and have an important roles to play in 

their overall success. Both valleys, which are essentially rural in character, have good 

main road connections with these areas and the M4, providing access to many higher-

level services, facilities and job opportunities. The Replacement LDP seeks to further 

enhance these connections by promoting walking and cycling links, public transport and 

improvements to the local highway network throughout the valley areas. The more 

significant growth to the south will undoubtedly benefit and serve these vicinities, 

although it is equally important to foster sustainable communities within the Ogmore and 

Garw Valleys directly. It is recognised that alternative forms of development would help 

deliver smaller-scale growth, such as (but not limited to) co-operative housing, self-build 

and custom build opportunities alongside other forms of development. Such community 

investment opportunities will enable development of a scale and nature that is tailored 

to community needs, whilst diversifying and strengthening the local economies, 

connecting communities to wider opportunities and protecting the high quality 

environments.  

 

The Valleys Gateway 

 

4.3.21 The Valleys Gateway is located at the geographical heart of the County Borough and 

comprises several different communities that comprise almost one continuous urban 

area immediately north of the M4. Although the settlement pattern of the Valleys 

Gateway shares some similarities with Bridgend, the poly-centric nature of the urban 

form mitigates against as strong a retail centre role. In many ways, the Valleys Gateway 

Page 213



 

44 
 

has been a victim of its own success in recent years as it has accommodated substantial 

new development and there are now capacity issues running north to south at junction 

36 of the M4. This constraints present within this settlement hamper the potential for 

further significant growth over the life of the Replacement LDP and the Valleys Gateway 

is therefore considered less suitable for sustainable growth than the other Main 

Settlements. For further information refer to the M4 - Junction 36 Capacity Background 

Paper and Strategic Transport Assessment.  

 

4.3.22 Growth and Spatial Strategy 

 

4.3.23 Development will ultimately be directed towards environs conducive to sustainable 

placemaking that facilitate a balance of environmentally friendly, economically vibrant, and 

socially inclusive characteristics, aiming to benefit current inhabitants and future 

generations alike. Sustainable placemaking is therefore an overarching concept that 

underpins the Replacement LDP, specifically seeking to create places that: 

   

• Meet the needs of all members of the community; 

• Promote balanced economic growth that provides access to employment 

opportunities; 

• Provide for active travel and integrated Green Infrastructure networks; 

• Provide appropriate infrastructure and services; 

• Provide a range of high quality private and affordable housing; and 

• Are resilient and adaptable to change and support the Councils vision to make 

Bridgend a decarbonised, digitally connected smart County Borough. 

 

4.3.24 Correspondingly, and in order to achieve the Vision and Objectives of the LDP, the 

Council will follow a Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Strategy. This will 

provide the framework to help realise the regeneration priorities of the Council, whilst 

also apportioning sustainable growth towards existing settlements that demonstrate 

strong employment, service and transportation functions. This dual faceted approach 

seeks to broadly balance housing, economic development, connectivity, social needs 

and environmental protection and enhancement to allow the County Borough to 

prosper, whilst contributing to the success of the Cardiff Capital Region and Swansea 

Bay Region. This has directly informed and resulted in the formulation of Strategic 

Policy (SP) 1 below, which outlines how the LDP will make provision to deliver the 

Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Strategy between 2018- 2033.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 214



 

45 
 

SP1: Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Strategy 

In order to deliver Bridgend’s Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Strategy 

between 2018- 2033, the Plan will make provision for: 

 

1) 71.7 hectares of employment land to accommodate up to 7,500  

additional jobs; and 

2) 8,590 new homes to meet a housing requirement of 7,575 dwellings (based 

on a 13% Flexibility Allowance), including 1,646 affordable homes. 

 

Regeneration and Sustainable Development in the County Borough will be focused in 

the following Growth Areas: 

 

a) Maesteg and Llynfi Valley Regeneration Growth Area 

b) Porthcawl Regeneration Growth Area 

c) Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

d) Pencoed Sustainable Growth Area 

e) Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly Sustainable Growth Area 

 

Local, community based development will be enabled in the following Regeneration 

Areas: 

 

f) Garw Valley Regeneration Area 

g) Ogmore Valley Regeneration Area 

 

This Strategy will be enabled through allocation of Mixed-Use Strategic Development 

Sites (SP2), Housing Sites (COM1) and Employment Sites (ENT1). In accordance 

with the SA and HRA carried out for the Plan, proposals for development on allocated 

sites must, as a minimum, accord with relevant policy requirements listed in the 

Schedules in Appendix 6. Depending on the locational, physical, construction and 

operational characteristics of development proposals (on both allocated and other 

sites), other relevant policies will also be engaged. Applicants are encouraged to 

engage with the Council at the earliest opportunity to discuss the likely impacts of 

development proposals and associated design and information requirements for 

planning applications.   

 

LDP Objectives SOBJ: 1, 2, 3, 4 

All Objectives 

Future Wales Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration – Strategic 

Placemaking 

Delivering Affordable Homes 

PPW Housing 

Economic Development 

Strategic Placemaking 

WBFG Act A prosperous Wales  

A resilient Wales 

LWBP Reduce social and economic inequalities 

Page 215



 

46 
 

Key Evidence Economic Evidence Base Study (2019) and Economic Evidence 

Base Update (2021) 

Demographic Analysis and Forecasts Report (2019) and LDP 

Demographics Update Addendum (2020) 

Local Housing Market Assessment (2021) 

Spatial Strategy Options Background Paper 

Strategic Growth Options Background Paper  

Plan-Wide Viability Study (2021) 

Settlement Assessment (2019, updated in 2021) 

Minimising the loss of BMV Agricultural Land Background Paper 

(2022) 

 

4.3.25 The Growth Strategy 

   

4.3.26 This LDP is based on a balanced and sustainable level of economic growth that will 

facilitate the continued transformation of the County Borough into a network of safe, 

healthy and inclusive communities that connect more widely with the Cardiff Capital 

Region and Swansea Bay Region. The proposed growth level of 505 dwellings per 

annum is derived from a POPGROUP Scenario that Uses an ONS 2019 Mid-Year 

Estimate base year and calibrates its migration assumptions from a 6-year historical 

period (2013/14–2018/19). This period witnessed sustainable population growth, in part 

linked to the number of dwelling completions across the County Borough, which the 

Replacement LDP seeks to continue. 

 

4.3.27 Maintaining this trajectory will lead to more established households (particularly around 

the 35-44 age group) both remaining within and moving into the County Borough, 

coupled with less outward migration across other economically active age groups. This 

will encourage a more youthful, skilled population base to counter-balance the ageing 

population, resulting in an overall population increase of 9.4% or 13,681 people over 

the plan period. This level of growth will also enable delivery of 1,646 affordable homes, 

thereby maximising delivery in combination with other sources of affordable housing 

supply in the context of plan-wide viability. This Growth Strategy is deemed the most 

appropriate, sustainable means to deliver the LDP Vision and Objectives as justified 

within the Strategic Growth Options Background Paper. All reasonable alternatives have 

also been duly assessed under the SA process. 

  

4.3.28 The projected increase in the working age population and the linked dwelling 

requirement underpinning this LDP will provide significant scope for residents to live and 

work in the area, supporting growth of up to 500 jobs per annum. The planned level of 

housing growth is neither constrained in a manner that could frustrate economic 

development or promoted in such a way as to encourage inward commuting. Rather, 

the underlying projection promotes sustainable forms of growth that will help minimise 

the need for out-commuting and promote more self-contained, inter-connected 

communities in accordance with the LDP Vision. This level of growth is considered most 

conducive to achieving an equilibrium between the number of homes provided and the 

job opportunities expected, a balance that is required by PPW.  

  

4.3.29 The Growth Strategy can be succinctly explained by the acronym ‘CARM’, which 

summarises the Strategy’s intentions to Counter-balance the ageing population by 

Attracting skilled, economically active households, Retaining skilled, economically 

Page 216



 

47 
 

active households and rendering the County Borough a Magnet for employers to expand 

within or move into.  

4.3.30  The Spatial Strategy 

    

4.3.31 SP1 also sets out a clear spatial strategy to help realise the regeneration aspirations 

and priorities of the Council, whilst balancing the need to deliver future housing 

requirements up to 2033. The Strategy prioritises the development of land within or on 

the periphery of sustainable urban areas, primarily on previously developed brownfield 

sites. It continues to focus on the delivery of the brownfield regeneration allocations 

identified in the existing LDP, hence, Porthcawl, Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley are still 

denoted as regeneration priorities through their designation as Regeneration Growth 

Areas. The ongoing commitment to brownfield development opportunities within these 

settlements accords with the site-search sequence outlined in Planning Policy Wales 

and seeks to minimise developmental pressure on Best and Most Versatile (BMV) 

agricultural land. However, given the existing LDP’s success in delivering development 

on brownfield land in other settlements (notably Bridgend and the Valleys Gateway), 

there are limited further brownfield regeneration opportunities remaining. Additional 

viable and deliverable sites (including some greenfield sites) are therefore required to 

implement SP1, deliver affordable housing in high need areas and ensure the County 

Borough’s future housing requirements can be realised. 

 

4.3.32 Therefore, SP1 also apportions sustainable growth towards settlements that already 

benefit from significant services, facilities and employment opportunities and are most 

conducive to enabling transit orientated development; Sustainable Growth Areas. These 

include the Main Settlements of Bridgend and Pencoed along with the grouped Main 

Settlement of Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly. This Strategy seeks to ensure new 

development can come forward with necessary infrastructure improvements, including 

transport networks, utilities, green infrastructure, health, education, affordable housing 

and social facilities.  

 

4.3.33 The scale and location of growth identified by SP1 has been influenced by the findings 

of the LHMA and Plan-Wide Viability Assessment. The LHMA revealed significant 

shortfalls of affordable housing provision within Bridgend, Porthcawl, Pencoed, and 

Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly. Moderate housing need was also identified in 

Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley, as was the need to diversify the dwelling stock within 

Valleys Settlements. This Strategy provides the optimal means to address these 

shortfalls in affordable housing provision, whilst helping to counter-balance the 

mismatch between supply and demand. Indeed, the Plan-Wide Viability Assessment 

and site-specific viability testing demonstrated that sites within these areas could 

support significant nil-grant affordable housing contributions (refer to COM2). The 

Strategy is therefore considered most appropriate to maximise delivery of affordable 

housing in high-need areas as identified by the LHMA, whilst enabling sustainable forms 

of development that meet the LDP Objectives, minimise pressure on BMV agricultural 

land and provide scope to address existing infrastructure capacity issues. The Spatial 

Strategy Options Background Paper justifies this Strategy through evaluating a range of 

spatial options, each of which have also been considered as a reasonable alternative 

and assessed further under the SA process. 

 

Page 217



 

48 
 

4.3.34 In order to enable existing brownfield regeneration sites to come forward whilst 

facilitating supplementary growth on sustainable sites elsewhere, SP1 defines two 

respective types of Growth Area; Regeneration Growth Areas and Sustainable Growth 

Areas. Regeneration Growth Areas have been identified as they demonstrate capacity 

to accommodate growth in a sustainable manner, primarily via the significant brownfield 

redevelopment opportunities within their environs. They are localities which demonstrate 

the highest potential to attract regeneration-based inward investment that will address a 

broad range of socio-economic issues and complement community based regeneration 

initiatives. Equally, Sustainable Growth Areas have been identified as areas most 

conducive to sustainable urban growth and appropriate urban expansion in a manner 

that will ensure the County Borough’s housing requirements can be met. Sustainable 

Growth Areas have been be prioritised for growth based on their identified local housing 

need, accessibility, availability of amenities and employment provision in the context of 

their existing population bases and position in the settlement hierarchy. These two 

distinct, yet mutually reinforcing types of Growth Area seek to direct the majority of 

inward investment, sustainable development and regeneration activities to the most 

appropriate places. A review of sustainability constraints and opportunities affecting the 

Regeneration Growth and Sustainable Growth Areas (and potential Strategic Sites 

therein) was undertaken through the SA. This validated the broad suitability of these 

Growth Areas for such designation and is included as an appendix to the SA Report. 

 

4.3.35 SP1 also identifies Regeneration Areas, which are distinct to the two types of Growth 

Area and have not been identified as environs suitable to accommodate significant 

growth through expansion. This designation instead recognises the need for distinctive 

approaches to bring forward development in these areas, enabled at a scale and nature 

tailored to community needs, whilst diversifying and strengthening local economies, 

connecting communities to wider opportunities and protecting their high quality 

environments.  
 

 

4.3.36 The Strategic Diagram overleaf visually illustrates the forms of growth proposed across 

the County Borough, broadly summarised as: 

 

• Regeneration Growth Areas, which primarily seek to deliver sites that are in 

need of redevelopment and investment to widely benefit the community, 

acknowledging that longer lead-in times may sometimes be required;  

 

• Regeneration Areas, which include settlements that would benefit from 

community based regeneration and recognise that a range of localised 

approaches are required to incite community investment opportunities; and 

 

• Sustainable Growth Areas, which include those settlements that are most 

conducive to logical expansion through delivery of under-utilised sites within their 

functional area and/or on their periphery to encourage transit orientated 

development.  

 

4.3.37 Although the Regeneration Growth Areas and Sustainable Growth Areas will be the 

main focus of planned development, the settlements detailed in SF1 will also provide 

opportunities for development within their respective settlement boundaries. This is 

considered within the Urban Capacity Study. However, it has to be acknowledged that 

some places have more potential than others to facilitate sustainable placemaking 

Page 218



 

49 
 

and the scope for settlements to accommodate growth is also dependent on their 

individual role, function and capacity. 

 

Figure 2: Strategic Diagram 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.3.38 Regeneration Growth Areas 
 

4.3.39 Regeneration is broadly defined as ‘an overarching process that delivers community 

based investment and opportunity to areas in order to improve their physical, economic 

and social fabric’. The existing regeneration-related activities in the County Borough are 

widespread, although the deliverability of some of these activities would be enhanced 

and secured (in whole or in part) by directing new development to specific areas, namely 

Regeneration Growth Areas and Regeneration Areas.  

   

Page 219



 

50 
 

4.3.40 Regeneration Growth Areas are localities that demonstrate significant capacity to 

accommodate regeneration-led growth in a sustainable manner. A number of 

(primarily brownfield) sites in need of redevelopment and investment will be 

earmarked within these Areas as part of a drive to address a broad range of socio-

economic issues and complement community based regeneration.   

  

4.3.41 Allocations within Regeneration Growth Areas will aim to enable growth in a manner that 

attracts inward investment, stimulates town centre footfall, enhances community 

cohesion and boosts the profile of the locality in the longer term. The resultant multiplier 

effect will also help to attract skilled people, visitors and businesses to Regeneration 

Growth Areas in support of further growth, thereby maximising the benefits of 

sustainable development. This can only be achieved through a One Council Approach, 

with the LDP providing an overarching framework for delivery that incites long lasting 

change.  

    

4.3.42 The Regeneration Growth Areas have been formulated based on the level of 

development that would be required to have a significant regenerative effect, the 

availability of brownfield sites for development in an area, existing settlement patterns, 

the socio-economic function and identity of settlements along with relevant 

environmental considerations. Regeneration-led growth will be explicitly directed to 

parts of the County Borough that will benefit the most and also those that exhibit 

opportunities to deliver the greatest positive impacts of such growth.  

 

4.3.43 Specifically, Porthcawl is allocated as a Regeneration Growth Area. The flood defence 

works and re-classification of the area as a Defended Zone has provided a coincidental 

opportunity for the redevelopment of the waterfront. This designation seeks to balance 

the interests of tourism with those of economic development and environmental 

considerations to promote sustainable, placemaking-led development. The significant 

regeneration of Porthcawl’s waterfront will capitalise on the town’s role as a premier 

seaside and tourist destination, whilst improving the attractiveness of the town as a 

place to live and work and enhancing the vibrancy of the Town Centre. Detailed viability, 

deliverability and master planning work has been completed to demonstrate that this 

site can come forward and contribute to the housing land supply over the Replacement 

LDP period.  

 

4.3.44 There is also a clear recognition of the need to deliver wider regenerative benefits to 

Valleys communities at a scale which acknowledges their infrastructure capacity, 

topography and geographical constraints. Therefore, Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley is 

also allocated as a Regeneration Growth Area, reflecting the fact that it demonstrates 

the largest capacity to accommodate regeneration-led growth within the Valleys 

communities. There are individual sites within this area that already have the benefit of 

planning permission or are the subject of development briefs or master planning 

exercises to facilitate their delivery and regeneration. A substantial number of these 

sites are also brownfield or are under-utilised, whilst also being aligned to transport 

hubs, thereby demonstrating high credentials in terms of sustainable development and 

placemaking. However, it is acknowledged that some of these sites will prove more 

immediately deliverable and viable than others due to site specific constraints. 

Therefore, the housing land supply will not be dependent on all sites within this 

Regeneration Growth Area, as some will require longer lead-in times, preparatory 

Page 220



 

51 
 

remediation-based enabling works and more detailed strategies to facilitate delivery 

(refer to COM1).  

  

4.3.45 The Ogmore and Garw Valleys are not identified as areas that will accommodate 

significant growth in recognition of their topographical and viability based constraints. 

However, these areas would benefit from community based regeneration and are 

therefore designated as Regeneration Areas in recognition of the fact that a range of 

approaches are required to incite community investment opportunities. Regeneration 

Areas aim to enable development of a scale and nature that is tailored to 

community needs, whilst diversifying and strengthening local economies, 

connecting communities to wider opportunities and protecting their high quality 

environments. Regeneration Areas therefore aim to capitalise on their rural 

surroundings to promote active lifestyles, grow the tourism industry and facilitate 

smaller-scale development on primarily brownfield sites. This latter element recognises 

that distinctive approaches are required to bring forward development in these areas, 

which could include initiatives such as co-operative housing, self-build plots and custom 

build opportunities alongside other forms of development.  

 

4.4.46  Sustainable Growth Areas 
 

4.3.47 The Regeneration-Led Spatial Strategy that underpinned the previous LDP has been 

broadly successful, especially in bringing forward a number of residential and mixed-use 

allocated sites (primarily on brownfield land) within the County Borough. However, there 

is now less scope to deliver an entirely regeneration-led strategy as there are few 

undeveloped brownfield sites remaining in Bridgend and the other Main Settlements 

deemed capable of accommodating sustainable growth (i.e. Pencoed and Pyle, Kenfig 

Hill and North Cornelly). This approach therefore needs to be complemented with 

additional sustainable urban growth in order to accommodate the housing requirement 

that underpins the LDP.  

 

4.3.48 The Spatial Strategy Options Background Paper has therefore evaluated how different 

spatial distributions of growth can minimise the loss of predicted BMV agricultural land, 

whilst recognising the need to balance other supply and demand factors. These include 

the findings of the Settlement Assessment, LHMA and Plan-Wide Viability Study. In 

addition, the Minimising the Loss of BMV Agricultural Land Background Paper has 

informed the most suitable allocations within Sustainable Growth Areas in a manner that 

minimises the loss of BMV agricultural land.  

 

4.3.49 This process has informed the designation of Sustainable Growth Areas, which 

constitute those settlements most conducive to logical expansion through 

delivery of under-utilised sites within their functional area and/or on their 

periphery. The Sustainable Growth Areas have been identified based on their 

accessibility, availability of amenities and employment provision (range and quantity) in 

the context of their existing population bases and places in the settlement hierarchy. 

Growth is apportioned to these settlements based on these factors, their potential to 

contribute to affordable housing delivery in areas of high need and their urban capacities 

to facilitate sustainable levels and patterns of development, recognising that 

accompanying infrastructure will also need to be provided. Site allocation has stringently 

followed the Site Search Sequence outlined in Planning Policy Wales, meaning that 

some greenfield sites have been allocated for development given the distinct lack of 

Page 221



 

52 
 

remaining undeveloped brownfield sites within these vicinities. The broad aim is to 

facilitate new housing delivery that is accessible to a range of jobs and services via multi-

modal forms of transport; rendering public transport, walking and cycling practical for 

meaningful journeys. This Strategy will also maximise potential for regional connectivity 

and ensure the County Borough will continue to perform a greater sub-regional 

employment role as the growing, skilled labour force will act as a magnet to employers.  

 

Spatial Distribution 
 

4.3.50 Table 6 illustrates the amount and proportion of housing supply (including completions, 

units with planning permission, new housing allocations, large windfall sites and small 

windfall sites) compared to vacant employment land allocated in the LDP by area. The 

table demonstrates how new employment and residential development is being directed 

to certain areas to address the issues and objectives contained in the Plan. This spatial 

distribution reflects the Settlement Hierarchy (SF1) and Spatial Strategy to ensure the 

development of sustainable places, whilst reinforcing placemaking principles. The 

majority of growth will be accommodated within the Regeneration Growth Areas and 

Sustainable Growth Areas, although it is recognised that other settlements in the County 

Borough will be required to accommodate smaller scales of future development and 

growth in accordance with the Settlement Hierarchy. This is important in order to 

maintain sustainable communities, in line with their role and function, to achieve the 

LDP‘s Vision and Objectives.   

 

4.3.51 Bridgend continues to be the main area of growth to reflect its status as a sub-regional 

settlement being a focus for commercial, service and employment development to meet 

the needs of a wide area beyond the County Borough boundaries. Hence, the proportion 

of vacant employment land is purposely higher than housing growth in relative terms. 

There is of proportionate alignment in housing and jobs within Pencoed, and, to a slightly 

lesser extent, Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly, although residents of these 

settlements also benefit from numerous sustainable travel options to access 

employment in Bridgend and further afield regionally. In Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley, 

employment development is proportionately aligned with residential development to help 

provide a sustainable and realistic level of growth. The imbalance in Porthcawl is 

acknowledged, although it is likely that the majority of employment in the town will 

continue to be provided through planned growth in the commercial, leisure and tourism 

sectors. Outside of the Growth Areas, the Valleys Gateway will be maintained as an 

important employment location, which serves its hinterlands in addition to the Ogmore 

and Garw Valleys. However, transport capacity issues currently preclude additional 

significant development within this area at present (refer to M4 Junction 36 Background 

Paper).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 222



 

53 
 

Table 6: Spatial Distribution of Housing and Employment, 2018-2033 

Settlement 
Housing 

(Units) 
% 

Vacant 

Employment 

Land 

(Hectares/Jobs) 

% 

Regeneration Growth Areas 

Maesteg 

(Main Settlement – Tier 2) 
742 9% 3.5 ha 5% 

Porthcawl 

(Main Settlement – Tier 2) 
1,056 12% 0 ha 0% 

Sustainable Growth Areas 

Bridgend 

(Primary Key Settlement – 

Tier 1) 

3,489 41% 50.2 ha 70% 

Pencoed 

(Main Settlement – Tier 2) 
891 10% 6.4 ha 9% 

Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North 

Cornelly 

(Main Settlement – Tier 2) 

1,361 16% 4.83 ha 6% 

Outside Regeneration Growth Areas and Sustainable Growth Areas 

Valleys Gateway  

(Main Settlement – Tier 3) 
686 8% 6.4 ha 9% 

Local Settlements 

(Tier 3) 
365 4% 0.4 ha 1% 

Total 8,590 100% 
71.7 ha  

/ 7,500 jobs 
100% 

 

 

4.3.52 Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Strategy by Site Typology 
 

4.3.53 In addition to the broad scale and range of growth areas set out by SP1, it is important 

to clarify the different types of sites that will collectively meet the identified growth 

requirements. A combination of different site typologies is necessary to deliver the 

growth requirements of the LDP. These include a limited number of Sustainable 

Urban Extensions, supported by Edge of Settlement Allocations and Local 

Settlement Sites. This Strategy will enable the Council to achieve the most 

sustainable form of development, meet LDP Objectives and address existing capacity 

issues. The different site typologies are described further below to add further context 

to the spatial distribution of growth. This is predicated on maximising development of 

appropriate brownfield land in accordance with PPW, whilst also accommodating a 

limited number of sustainable additional sites for development (including some 

greenfield sites) to accommodate the projected growth identified in SP1.  

  

 

 

Page 223



 

54 
 

 Regeneration Sites 

 

4.3.54 Regeneration Sites are major, brownfield sites that are highly conducive to sustainable 

development and delivery of the full range of placemaking principles outlined in PPW. 

They represent a necessary degree of continuity with the first adopted LDP and are 

essential to implement the long term regeneration strategy embodied within the 

Replacement LDP Vision. Regeneration Sites will be allocated in parts of the County 

Borough that will benefit the most from regeneration-led growth; where significant 

opportunities exist to address contamination, constraints and/or industrial legacies 

whilst encouraging economic growth. However, the housing land supply will not be 

dependent on all of these Regeneration Sites, in recognition of the fact that some 

require longer lead-in times, preparatory remediation-based enabling works and/or 

more detailed strategic master plans before they can be delivered. 

  

4.3.55 Regeneration Sites are, by their very nature, located within existing settlements and 

be closely aligned to existing transport hubs, services and facilities. However, the 

individual siting and scale of such allocations are paramount considerations in terms 

of their scope to deliver sustainable development through placemaking. Regeneration 

Sites are therefore well serviced by existing infrastructure, large enough to contribute 

towards necessary infrastructural improvements and/or to support delivery of new 

accompanying infrastructure.  

 

Sustainable Urban Extensions. 

 

4.3.56 Sustainable Urban Extensions comprise a minority of strategic sites that are allocated 

to deliver up to 2,000 homes and associated facilities and infrastructure, depending on 

site suitability and development requirements. This is necessary to create sustainable 

communities that will incorporate a mix of complementary uses and deliver 

improvements to existing infrastructure and/or provide new supporting infrastructure. 

Indeed, this latter factor is particularly notable given the school capacity issues across 

the County Borough and the need for new strategic sites to be significant enough in 

scale to support provision of a new primary school as a minimum. Sustainable Urban 

Extension sites are allocated where they can best support the Replacement LDP Vision 

and Objectives and are capable of delivering mixed use development at a scale that 

will enhance communities. Identification of appropriate Sustainable Urban Extensions 

has been undertaken fully in line with the Site Search Sequence and other 

requirements set out in Planning Policy Wales, as documented in supporting evidence 

to the Plan. This includes the Candidate Site Assessment, Spatial Strategy Options 

Background Paper and Minimising the Loss of BMV Agricultural Land Background 

Paper. 

 

 Edge of Settlement  

 

4.3.57 Edge of Settlement allocations consist of sites primarily for residential development 

(typically several hundred homes) that serve to extend the settlement boundary at a 

limited number of established communities. These sites are only be allocated where it 

is considered that additional growth can come forward without the need to necessarily 

deliver significant additional facilities or infrastructure within the site. Where need is 

identified for additional facilities and/or infrastructure to support and complement a 

Page 224



 

55 
 

proposed Edge of Settlement site, it may be more appropriate for this to be delivered 

‘off-site’ in association with the development proposals. Edge of Settlement sites will 

result in the minor extension of existing settlement boundaries where considered 

appropriate in line with SP1 and to deliver the Vision and Objectives of the 

Replacement LDP. Such extensions comprise of a single large scale site or a number 

of sites in close proximity that in combination deliver this quantum of housing. 

 

4.3.58 Sites were only allocated where capacity was clearly demonstrated to accommodate 

the respective level of growth within the settlement and/or necessary facilities and 

infrastructure improvements were provided in support of the development. This was 

considered paramount to avoid impacting negatively on local communities by 

otherwise exacerbating localised problems. 

 

Local Settlement Sites, including limited rural/semi-rural locations  

  

4.3.59 Suitable sites in rural/semi-rural areas are limited to small-scale settlement boundary 

amendments at appropriate village and urban fringe locations, in instances where the 

existing character of the village or settlement would be maintained or improved. In all 

cases, the sites identified or allocated are reflective of the settlement hierarchy. 

 

Affordable Housing Exception Sites  

   

4.3.60 In accordance with Planning Policy Wales, Affordable Housing Exception Sites will 

facilitate delivery of small affordable housing schemes by Registered Social Landlords 

within or adjoining existing settlements in the countryside. Whilst the Council’s 

preference is for development to take place within the defined settlement boundaries, 

exception sites recognise that certain area specific factors (such as limited developable 

land and high land prices) may be prohibitive to affordable housing delivery in this 

manner. Exception sites will not be specifically allocated in the LDP, hence why they 

are considered as exceptions to general housing provision. Instead, they will be 

assessed under criteria based policy COM5 and provide a means of delivering 

affordable housing in areas where it may otherwise prove difficult to meet housing 

need.  

 

4.3.61 Affordable housing in the countryside will be permitted only where there is a local need 

identified through the LHMA, the site is within or directly adjoins an existing settlement 

boundary and is managed by a Registered Social Landlord to ensure affordability in 

perpetuity. Proposals of this nature will also need to accord with relevant Replacement 

LDP policies and the Replacement LDP when read as a whole. Due consideration will 

be given to the siting, scale and design of such developments to ensure they can be 

sustainably accommodated in terms of infrastructure, access, habitat and landscape 

conservation. Development should also be well located to take advantage of existing 

public transport provision and active travel routes. However, new development in the 

open countryside away from existing settlements will continue to be strictly controlled.   

 

4.3.62 Affordable Housing Exception Sites will comprise of no more than 10 units, which is 

the appropriate size for a sustainable cluster of affordable units. Larger sites can 

become increasingly unconducive to the delivery and maintenance of a balanced, 

mixed tenure community and will therefore not meet the definition of this site typology. 

Page 225



 

56 
 

The Replacement LDP seek to deliver the identified affordable housing target within 

the designated settlement boundaries in accordance with placemaking principles. 

COM5 does not seek to promote significant levels of affordable housing development 

outside of settlement boundaries to contribute to this target, rather provide a 

mechanism to meet specific, pressing, yet limited housing need that is small in scale 

and exceptional in circumstance.  

   

4.3.63 Strategic Allocations 

 

4.3.64 In order to enable the implementation of the Growth and Spatial Strategy, SP2 defines 

a suite of Strategic Allocations where growth will be focused. SP2 therefore builds upon 

SP1 and Table 6 by directing growth to Regeneration Sites and Sustainable Urban 

Extensions within the identified Regeneration Growth Areas and Sustainable Growth 

Areas. The location and scale of these sites present opportunities for significant new 

development to take place over the plan period to help meet the LDP Vision and 

Objectives and ensure implementation of the Regeneration and Sustainable Growth 

Strategy. The combined development of these sites will result in the provision of 

comprehensive residential, employment and commercial development whilst providing 

new transportation, affordable housing, community, education and recreation facilities 

to serve the respective sites and existing communities. Descriptions of the sites 

allocated under Policy SP2 are contained in PLA1-5 and their individual land-use 

components are contained in subsequent LDP Policies and on the Proposals Map. 

These sites (together with all other candidate sites) have been subject to a 

proportionate SA, incorporating SEA, and Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to 

identify the likely environmental and wider sustainability effects from their delivery, 

thereby informing the site allocations. 

 

SP2: Regeneration Growth Area and 

Sustainable Growth Area Strategic Allocations 

 

The regeneration of brownfield and under-utilised sites within defined settlements 

that provide an appropriate mix of land uses will be permitted. 

 

The following Regeneration Sites are specifically allocated within Regeneration and 

Growth Areas as mixed use (leisure, retail and residential) strategic sites:  

 

Porthcawl Regeneration Growth Area 

SP2 (1) Porthcawl Waterfront 

 

Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley Regeneration Growth Area 

Refer to Policy COM1 for Housing Allocations 

 

 

The following Sustainable Urban Extensions are specifically allocated within 

Sustainable Growth Areas as mixed use (leisure, retail and residential) strategic 

sites: 

 

Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

Page 226



 

57 
 

SP2 (2) Land South of Bridgend (Island Farm) 

SP2 (3) Land West of Bridgend 

 

Pencoed Sustainable Growth Area 

SP2 (4) Land East of Pencoed 

 

Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly Sustainable Growth Area 

SP2 (5) Land East of Pyle 

 

Each of the above Strategic Allocations must be developed in line with site specific 

policies and associated masterplan development principles set out within the 

Replacement LDP (PLA1-5). A detailed masterplan will need to be developed in line 

with this and agreed with the Council prior to development commencing.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.3.65 The sites within SP2 are considered essential to delivery of the LDP and have been 

subject to rigorous viability and deliverability testing in collaboration with specific site 

promoters. This process has certified that the costs of the development requirements 

and placemaking principles set out in site specific policies coupled with the Council’s 

aspirations for delivering high-quality new communities are realistic and deliverable on 

each site within the plan period. Concept masterplans are provided in Appendix 7 for 

illustration purposes only, although further consultation will be undertaken as part of the 

Pre-Application Consultation process and these masterplans will also be refined as part 

of future planning applications. 

 

 

 

 

 

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 1, 2, 3, 4 

OBJ: 1a, 1c, 1d, 1e, 1f, 2b, 2c, 2d, 2e, 2f 

Future Wales Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration – Strategic 

Placemaking 

Delivering Affordable Homes 

PPW Housing 

Economic Development 

Strategic Placemaking 

WBFG Act A prosperous Wales  

A resilient Wales  

LWBP Reduce social and economic inequalities 

Key Evidence Local Housing Market Assessment (2021) 

Spatial Strategy Options Background Paper 

Plan-Wide Viability Study (2021) 

Minimising the loss of BMV Agricultural Land Background Paper 

Settlement Assessment 

Candidate Site Assessment 

Page 227



 

58 
 

5. Implementation and Delivery 
 

5.1 Introduction 
 

5.1.1 The Vision and Strategic Objectives provide an overarching framework to underpin all 

other components of the Replacement LDP, devised to create the right conditions to 

address the various social, cultural, environmental and economic well-being outcomes. 

The following Chapter sets out the remaining Strategic and Development Management 

Policies, which are derived from the Strategic Framework and form the basis to 

implement and deliver the Vision and Strategic Objectives. As with all other components 

of the LDP, all strategic policies are complementary in terms of supporting the 

achievement of the national Wellbeing Goals, local Wellbeing Objectives and 

sustainable development. Linkages between each strategic policy and relevant 

wellbeing goals have therefore been identified and all strategic policies have been 

subject to SA, incorporating SEA. 

5.1.2 All polices are inter-related in their nature and need to be read in conjunction with one 

another in order to gain an understanding of the overall policy direction of the 

Replacement LDP. Each section highlights the relevant strategic policy, supporting 

justification and cross-references with the LDP’s Objectives. A ‘delivery and monitoring 

section’ is also included at the end of each policy. The Strategic Policies, and the more 

detailed Development Management policies, are intended to ensure that development 

proposals can achieve positive economic, social, environmental and cultural outcomes, 

and can minimise adverse ones. They will form the basis of all planning decisions, and 

indicators have been developed as part of the Plan’s monitoring framework to show the 

effectiveness of the policies. A ‘delivery and monitoring section’ is also included at the 

end of each policy to this end. 

 

5.1.3 A suite of Strategic Policies were identified in the Replacement LDP Preferred Strategy. 

These Strategic Policies have been modified to take account of representations received 

and extended to provide a more comprehensive Strategic Policy Framework. The 

updated suite of 18 Strategic Policies is also now supported by 55 accompanying 

Development Management Policies which address a range of detailed thematic issues.  

 

5.1.4 These policies are aimed at facilitating the achievement of the Replacement LDP 

Vision and suite of Objectives, including supporting the delivery of a range of Well-

Being Goals.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 228



 

59 
 

5.2 Good Design and Sustainable Placemaking 

 

5.2.1 Good design is fundamental to creating sustainable places where people want to live, 

work and socialise. As emphasised in PPW, ‘design is not just about the architecture of 

a building but the relationship between all elements of the natural and built environment 

and between people and places’. In achieving sustainable development, the 

Replacement LDP seeks to ensure design that goes beyond aesthetics to include the 

social, economic, environmental and cultural aspects of development. Therefore, in 

order to achieve Good Design, development must consider how space is utilised, how 

buildings and the public realm can support this use and the relationship with the 

surrounding area. Development proposals will be assessed for their design and 

placemaking compatibility. Poor design can have adverse impacts on the character and 

appearance of an area, in addition to harming the collective street scene. Various 

elements (e.g. visual impact, loss of light, overlooking, traffic constraints) will be 

assessed to ensure there are no potential adverse impacts. Where appropriate, the LDP 

contains more detailed policies on some aspects of SP3 and the Council will produce 

updated Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) to assist developers in producing 

schemes which reflect the local characteristics of the County Borough.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.2.2 Good Design is intrinsic to the process of Sustainable Placemaking, defined by PPW as 

‘a holistic approach to the planning and design of development and spaces, focused on 

positive outcomes. It draws upon an area’s potential to create high quality development 

and public spaces that promote people’s prosperity, health, happiness, and well-being 

in the widest sense’. It is important that people live in places which are attractive and 

distinctive, and capable of incorporating the changing requirements of those living there. 

Placemaking is an overarching concept which relates to the design and context of a 

development. It seeks to ensure that the design process, layout structure and form provide 

development that is appropriate to the local context and supports a sustainable community 

Cheapside, Bridgend Town Centre 

Page 229

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.williamsassociates.org.uk%2Fland-bryn-glas-farm-coychurch-bridgend-cf35-6ae-2%2F&psig=AOvVaw3oTZyiQGOImp5AUvaQOQf5&ust=1598620716383000&source=images&cd=vfe&ved=0CAIQjRxqFwoTCIiNorG8u-sCFQAAAAAdAAAAABAE


 

60 
 

creating an environment within which people can identify with and use easily; whilst 

respecting the natural and built environment.  This means that high quality, well thought 

out and sustainable design which improves the environment and people’s health and 

well-being is essential. All development must be underpinned by the application of Good 

Design (see above comment) and a Sustainable Placemaking approach to siting, 

design, construction and operation.  

  

5.2.3 One important element of Sustainable Placemaking involves taking steps to safeguard 

and grow the use of the Welsh Language. Local level data does not identify any 

particular settlement with a notable concentration of Welsh speakers and therefore a 

specific Welsh language policy is not deemed necessary as part of the Plan. However, 

consideration of and appropriate provision for facilitates to support the Welsh Language 

has been factored into different thematic policies relating to tourism, conservation and 

social and community infrastructure. 

 

SP3: Good Design and Sustainable Place Making 
 

All development must contribute to creating high quality, attractive, sustainable 
places that support active and healthy lives  and enhance the community in which 
they are located, whilst having full regard to the natural, historic and built 
environment, by: 

 
1) Demonstrating alignment with the principles of Good Design; and 

 

2) Demonstrating a Sustainable Placemaking approach to their siting, design, 

construction and operation.  

 
Planning applications must be supported through the submission of appropriate 

design and technical information to demonstrate compliance with criteria a) to o). All 

development must: 

 

a) Have a design of the highest quality possible, whilst respecting and 

enhancing local distinctiveness and landscape character;  

b) Be appropriate to its local context in terms of size, scale, height, massing, 

elevational treatment, materials and detailing, layout, form, mix and density; 

c) Use land efficiently by being of a density which maximises the development 

potential of the land whilst respecting that of the surrounding development;  

d) Provide for an appropriate mix of land uses to promote compact, walkable 

urban neighbourhoods;  

e) Maximise opportunities for active travel and increased public transport use 

and promote  connections within and outside the site to ensure efficient and 

equality of access for all;  

f) Minimise opportunities for crime to be generated or increased, whilst 

promoting community safety in accordance with Secured by Design 

principles;  

g) Avoid or minimise noise, air, and soil and water pollution;  

h) Incorporate methods to ensure the site is free from contamination (including 

invasive species);  

i) Safeguard and enhance biodiversity and integrated multi-functional green 

infrastructure networks;  

Page 230



 

61 
 

j) Make sustainable use of natural resources, including land and water, and 

adopt circular economy principles that: 

i. prioritise locally sourced construction materials to help reduce 

transport emissions 

ii. Demonstrate that consideration has been given to the use of 

secondary recycled aggregates or materials before using primary 

materials to help ensure the availability of materials in the long term; 

k) Ensure that the viability and amenity of neighbouring   uses   and   their   

users/occupiers will not be adversely affected;  

l) Incorporate appropriate   arrangements   for   the disposal of foul sewage, 

waste and water; 

m) Respond to the climate emergency by: 

i. Reducing energy demands and maximising opportunities for 

renewable or low carbon energy generation, incorporating resource 

efficient/adaptable buildings and layouts using sustainable design 

and construction techniques 

ii.  Protecting and increasing the resilience of both ecosystems and 

communities to address the inevitable effects of climate change;  

n) Include the provision of high-speed digital infrastructure from the outset; and 

o) Appropriately contribute towards local, physical, social and community 

infrastructure which is affected by the development. 

 

Strategic Allocations must be developed in line with site specific policies and 
associated masterplan development principles set out within the Replacement LDP. 
A detailed masterplan will need to be developed in line with this and agreed with the 
Council prior to development commencing. A Landscape Visual Impact Assessment 
must accompany development proposals on allocated sites with identified likely 
significant adverse effects (pre-mitigation) in relation to SA Objective 14 
(Landscape). 

LDP 
Objectives 

SOBJ: 1, 2, 3, 4 
OBJ: 1a, 1b, 1c, 1d, 1e, 1f 

Future Wales Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration – Strategic 
Placemaking 
Delivering Affordable Homes 

PPW Living in a Place 
Strategic Placemaking 
Maximising Wellbeing and Sustainable Placemaking 
Placemaking in Action 

WBFG Act A globally responsible Wales  

A healthier Wales  

A Wales of cohesive communities  

A more equal Wales 

LWBP Best start in life  

Support communities in Bridgend County to be safe and cohesive 

Reduce social and economic inequalities  

Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

Key Evidence  PPW 

TAN 12: Design 

Good Design and the LDP Process, DCfW 2014 

Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 

Placemaking Wales Charter  

Page 231



 

62 
 

 

5.2.4 Sustainable Placemaking is fundamental to the successful delivery of both the Replacement 

LDP and the aspirations of Future Wales. Implementation of Future Wales’ strategic 

placemaking approach, and its principles, will ensure development contributes positively 

towards building sustainable places that support active and healthy lifestyles, with urban 

neighbourhoods that are compact and walkable, organised around mixed‑use centres and 

public transport, and integrated with green infrastructure. The Council is equally committed 

to the Placemaking Wales Charter and the development of high-quality places for the 

benefit of communities. The Charter outlines six placemaking principles (people and 

community, movement, public realm, location, mix of uses and identity) that cover the 

range of considerations that contribute to establishing and maintaining good places. 

These principles have both informed and are embedded within the Replacement LDP. 

SP3 includes two overarching policy criteria to ensure the principles of Good Design and 

Sustainable Placemaking are enshrined within all development proposals across the 

County Borough, enabled through application of 14 more detailed criteria. This Policy 

represents the starting point for the assessment of all planning applications which are 

received by the LPA. Each of the criterion relate to detailed issues which are addressed 

further in other Strategic and Development Management Policies. 

 

5.2.5 All future development proposals will be assessed to ensure that they will make a 

positive contribution towards strengthening local identity, achieve sustainable 

communities, encourage a more sustainable way of living, and promote community 

cohesion and engagement. SP3 also seeks to ensure that the viability and amenity of 

neighbouring uses and their users/occupiers is not compromised by new development. 

This Policy seeks to promote connectivity for all by maximising opportunities for active 

travel. Well connected developments will assist in promoting the improvement of health 

and well-being by encouraging people to adopt healthier and active lifestyles, whilst also 

contributing to the creation of successful places. A green infrastructure network also 

provides important amenity value in addition to health and well-being benefits. The 

Replacement LDP will therefore seek to integrate both active travel routes and green 

infrastructure networks, where appropriate, to incite creation of high quality 

environments that encourage active lifestyles. The design and functionality of streets is 

considered a fundamental aspect in achieving sustainable placemaking to this end. A 

sense of place is recognised in the policy protecting the historic and cultural heritage 

assets in the County Borough.  

 

Mixed-Use Strategic Development Sites  

 

5.2.6 The following Thematic Policies (PLA1-PLA5) detail the site-specific requirements for 

the mixed-use Strategic Development Sites in Regeneration Growth Areas and 

Sustainable Growth Areas. These detailed Thematic Policies are set within the context 

of SP3 and will enable its implementation, in accordance with the Growth and Spatial 

Strategy identified within SP1 and Strategic Allocations identified within SP2. Delivery 

of these Strategic Sites will prove fundamental in achieving the Replacement LDP’s 

Vision and Objectives for the County Borough. Concept masterplans are provided in 

Appendix 7 for illustration purposes only, although further consultation will be 

undertaken as part of the Pre-Application Consultation process and these masterplans 

will also be refined as part of future planning applications. 

 

Page 232



 

63 
 

 

PLA1: Porthcawl Waterfront, 
             Porthcawl Regeneration Growth Area 
 

Site Size: 32ha 

Allocation Type: Strategic Mixed-use Regeneration Site 

Land Uses: • 1,100 residential units 

• 30% affordable housing 

• 1.8ha 1 Form Entry Welsh Medium 
Primary School & 4 classroom block 
extension at existing English Medium 
Primary School 

• Approx. 2,000sqm food store 

• Outdoor Recreation Facilities and 
Public Open Space 

• Active Travel Routes 

Phasing Tranche:  Refer to trajectory  
2018-2022: 0 
2023-2027: 180 
2028-2033: 600 

 
Land at Porthcawl Waterfront, as shown on the Proposals Map, is allocated for a 
comprehensive, regeneration-led, mixed-use development. The site will deliver circa 
1,100 homes (including 30% / 330 units of affordable housing), incorporating a new 
one form entry Welsh medium primary school, a four classroom block extension at 
the existing English medium primary school, a new food store, leisure facilities, a 
bus terminus, recreation facilities, public open space, plus appropriate community 
facilities and commercial uses. 

 
PLACEMAKING PRINCIPLES 
 
This development must accord with the following principles, which are considered 
instrumental to achieving sustainable places, delivering socially inclusive 
developments and promoting more cohesive communities. These principles should 
be delivered in an appropriately phased manner and be formally tied into planning 
consent: 
 

a) Create a well-connected, sustainable mixed-use development that will 
regenerate Porthcawl, comprising a number of character areas that integrate 
positively with the waterfront, existing housing clusters, neighbouring uses 
community facilities, Active Travel Networks and public transport facilities; 
 

b) Pursue transit-orientated development that prioritises walking, cycling and 
public transport use, whilst reducing private motor vehicle dependency. Well-
designed, safe walking and cycling routes must be incorporated throughout 
the site to foster community orientated, healthy, walkable neighbourhoods; 
 

c) Create a multi-functional green infrastructure network within the site that 
facilitates active travel, enhances biodiversity, provides sustainable drainage 
and fosters healthy communities. There must be particular emphasis on 
incorporating appropriate landscaping, protecting biodiversity, providing 
habitats for local species and supporting a range of opportunities for formal 
and informal play in addition to community-led food growing; 
 

d) Ensure the design and layout of the site has regard to the landscape in which 
it sits, considering the interface between the site, the waterfront and the 

Page 233



 

64 
 

broader settlement of Porthcawl. Visual impacts must be minimised through 
the inclusion of mitigation measures that provide links with the existing 
landscape and access features to safeguard landscape character whilst 
creating a sense of place; 
 

e) Orientate buildings to face open spaces and streets to enhance 
cohesiveness, foster a strong sense of place and ensure community safety; 
 

f) Provide a mix of higher densities at key points in the layout and lower 
densities on the sensitive edges; and 
 

g) Comply with the principles outlined within the Porthcawl Placemaking 
Strategy and future development briefs published by the Council. 

 
MASTERPLAN DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES 
This development must accord with the following principles, which are considered 
instrumental to achieving sustainable places, delivering socially inclusive 
developments and promoting cohesive communities. A masterplan must be 
prepared and agreed with the Council prior to the sites development to demonstrate 
how these principles will be delivered in an appropriately phased manner: 
 

1) 1,100 homes, incorporating an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes and types 
to meet local housing needs, including 30% affordable housing units to be 
integrated throughout the development in sustainable clusters of no more 
than ten units as per the Council’s requirements;   
 

2) 1.8 hectares of land to accommodate a minimum one form entry Welsh 
medium primary school, the expansion of the existing Newton Primary 
School (with co-located nursery facility) and a financial contribution to 
nursery and primary school provision as required by the Local Education 
Authority. The financial contribution (including timing and phasing thereof) 
must be secured through Section 106 Planning Obligations in accordance 
with the Education Facilities and Residential Development SPG. The school 
must be accessible to new and existing residents by all travel modes, 
enabled by the development; 
 

3) Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in 
accordance with Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New 
Housing Development Supplementary Planning Guidance; 
 

4) Circa 1 hectare of land for leisure and a further 1 hectare of land for 
commercial uses including a foodstore;  
 

5) Highway improvements to ensure the principal point of vehicular access for 
a foodstore is off The Portway roundabout; 
 

6) A new roundabout and link road to enable access to the Sandy Bay 
development parcels;  

 
 

7) Off-site highway improvements with regard to the requirements arising from 
the Transport Assessment and as identified in the Transport Measures 
Priority Schedule; 
 

8)  0.17 hectares of land to deliver a Metro-Link consisting of a bus terminus; 
 

Page 234



 

65 
 

9) On-site and off-site measures to provide good quality, attractive, legible, safe 
and accessible pedestrian and cycle linkages in accordance with Active 
Travel design. Improved linkages must be provided along the waterfront, to 
connect with the Eastern Promenade, Porthcawl Town Centre and Porthcawl 
Comprehensive School. Connections must be made to the existing active 
travel route  4084and new routes should be provided to accord with the 
proposed routes within the Council’s ATNM:  INM-POR-01, INM-POR-12, 
INM-POR-13, INM-POR-14, INM-POR-15, INM-POR-17, INM-POR-18, 
INM-POR-22, INM-POR-23, INM-POR-24, INM-POR-25, INM-POR-26 and 
INM-POR-28 
 

10) Suitable buffers to habitats, particularly the relict dunes to the rear of Sandy 
Bay; 
 

11) Positive integration between the development and the historic core of the 
town by preserving and enhancing the character and setting of Porthcawl 
Conservation Areas and associated Grade II Listed Buildings; 

 
12) On and off-site measures including any appropriate upgrades to the clean 

water supply or public sewerage networks; 
 
13) Follow the sequential approach to identify low carbon heating technologies 

in accordance with ENT10.  

 
 

5.2.7 Porthcawl Waterfront is an underutilised, 32 hectare brownfield site occupying a 

prominent seafront position. Extending from Trecco Bay caravan site and Rhych Point 

in the east to the existing harbour and town centre to the west, it is currently occupied 

by a variety of land uses including the former Council owned Sandy Bay Caravan Site, 

the fairground, harbour, open space/recreation facilities and Salt Lake Car Park. The 

site is located within 6.4km (4 miles) of junction 37 of the M4 and is connected by the 

A4229. The A4106 links Porthcawl to Bridgend (via the A48) which is approximately 11-

12km (7-8 miles) to the east. The Trecco Bay Holiday Park is immediately adjacent to 

the eastern boundary of the site, and cements Porthcawl as a strategically significant 

tourist destination in South Wales. Rest Bay, to the west of the site, is considered one 

of the premier surfing beaches in South Wales, with Blue Flag status. 

 

5.2.8 The regeneration site is allocated for a residential-led, mixed use scheme that will deliver 

up to 1,100 dwellings with associated facilities, including tourism, leisure, retail, a bus 

terminus and community provision. This will include a financial contribution to expand 

the existing Newtown Primary School (with co-located nursery facility) and further 

financial contribution to enable delivery of a new minimum one form entry Welsh medium 

primary school on-site. The latter contribution will necessitate 1.8ha of land being set 

aside for construction of the new school, inclusive of a land buffer to enable future 

expansion.   

 

5.2.9 The coastal setting of this site makes it particularly important to consider the impacts of 

climate change on tidal flood risk as the majority of the site is susceptible to tidal flooding. 

The draft of the forthcoming revised TAN15 acknowledges that there are some large 

urban communities already located in areas at risk of flooding and investment in flood 

defence infrastructure will be required to keep such existing populations safe. Following 

dialogue with Welsh Government, Coastal Risk Management Programme funding was 

Page 235



 

66 
 

secured for major flood defence works at Porthcawl. Phase 1 (Eastern Promenade) is 

designed to protect the Salt Lake area and existing development to the north. Phase 2 

(Coney Beach) encompasses flood and coastal erosion measures along the Coney 

Beach frontage to safeguard and enhance the existing flood protection to the frontage 

provided by the existing ad-hoc revetment. Implementation of these works will better 

protect the existing community from flooding and the effects of flooding. However, they 

also have significant potential to achieve wider social, economic and environmental 

benefits to contribute towards the statutory well-being goals of the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The greatest overall value can be achieved by combining 

these investments in flood defence infrastructure with other investment in active travel 

infrastructure, public realm improvements and regeneration-led development.  

 

5.2.10 The existing flood defences combined with completion of the new flood defence works 

has rendered the site within a Defended Zone and will provide a coincidental opportunity 

to realise wider regeneration and placemaking benefits for the area through the delivery 

of Porthcawl Waterfront. On this basis, it is considered that the Porthcawl Waterfront site 

can be developed in full compliance with the requirements of the future revised TAN15. 

The defences are expected to provide a high standard of protection; significantly 

reducing the risk of flooding in areas within Zone 3 and respective areas in Zone 2. 

Nevertheless, all development in the area will necessarily be accompanied by a Flood 

Consequence Assessment to ensure the new development incorporates resilience to 

remain dry and safe as per the tolerable conditions set out in the future revised TAN15. 

The Replacement LDP’s housing trajectory has factored in appropriate timescales for 

the completion of coastal flood defence works before forecasting dwelling completions. 

This presents a practical example of how to deliver a high priority brownfield 

regeneration scheme in a Defended Zone in the context of the forthcoming revised 

TAN15. The site will be delivered in accordance with the Porthcawl Placemaking 

Strategy developed by the Council. The site will complement the recent successful 

implementation of the Harbour refurbishment, the listed Jennings Building and the 

proposed leisure proposals at Cosy Corner.  

 

5.2.11 The nearest bus stops are approximately 30m from the northern boundary of the site on 

New Road adjacent to Griffin Park, providing onward connections to Porthcawl and 

Bridgend (including the rail station). A feasibility study has been prepared to examine 

the potential for Pyle Railway Station (approximately 4.5 miles to the north of the site) to 

be redeveloped as a transport hub. This would entail relocating the existing railway 

station to Land East of Pyle (PLA5) and incorporating extended park and ride facilities 

to improve links to Porthcawl as a pivotal terminus. The development will therefore not 

prejudice these plans, by reserving 0.17 hectares of land for a future Metro-Link 

consisting of a new four bay bus terminus, which would serve to further enhance 

Porthcawl Waterfront’s sustainable location and maximise for active travel opportunities. 

This will complement the improvements to existing and proposed active travel routes 

that will render walking, cycling and use of public transport viable alternatives to private 

vehicle use. 

 

5.2.12 Ecological constraints will be mitigated by retaining and providing suitable buffers to 

habitats, particularly the relict dunes to the rear of Sandy Bay, which are a nationally 

protected habitat for which Bridgend CBC are obliged to protect and enhance. The site’s 

masterplan will also seek to preserve and complement Porthcawl Conservation Area 

Page 236



 

67 
 

and associated Grade II Listed Buildings, including the listed buildings in the harbour, 

immediately adjacent to the south of the site. The development will therefore positively 

integrate with the setting of this historic core of the town.  

 

5.2.13 A future planning application must be accompanied by an ‘Energy Masterplan’ that 

demonstrates that the most sustainable heating and cooling systems have been 

selected. This should include consideration of the proposed system as a whole, 

including the impact of its component materials on greenhouse gas emissions.  The 

Renewable Energy Assessment recommends considering installation of a new District 

Heat Network on this site. If this development requirement is proven to be financially or 

technically unviable then development proposals must follow the sequential approach 

to identify low carbon heating technologies in accordance with ENT10.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 237



 

68 
 

PLA2: Land South of Bridgend (Island Farm),  
           Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 
 

Site Size: 49.95 ha 

Allocation Type: Strategic Mixed-use Sustainable Urban 
Extension 

Land Uses: • 788 residential units 

• 20% Affordable Housing 

• 1.8ha to accommodate a 1 Form 
Entry Primary School plus Co-
located Nursery 

• 4ha to relocate Heronsbridge Special 
Education Needs School 

• Outdoor Recreation Facilities 

• Leisure and ancillary commercial 
uses (B1) 

• Active Travel Routes 

Phasing Tranche  Refer to trajectory  
2018-2022: 0 
2023-2027: 188 
2028-2033: 600 

 
Land south of Bridgend (Island Farm), shown on the Proposals Map, is allocated for 
a comprehensive green infrastructure-led mixed-use development. The site will 
deliver circa 788 homes (including 20% / 158 affordable homes), incorporating a new 
one form entry primary school with co-located nursery, the re-location of 
Heronsbridge Special School, leisure facilities, recreation facilities, public open 
space, plus appropriate community facilities, employment and commercial uses. 

 
MASTERPLAN DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES 
 
This development must accord with the following principles, which are considered 
instrumental to achieving sustainable places, delivering socially inclusive 
developments and promoting cohesive communities. A masterplan must be 
prepared and agreed with the Council prior to the sites development to demonstrate 
how these principles will be delivered in an appropriately phased manner: 
 

a) Create a well-connected, sustainable mixed-use urban extension to 
Bridgend, comprising a number of character areas that integrate positively 
with the existing landscape, SINC, adjacent Grade II* listed Merthyr Mawr 
House, existing housing clusters, community facilities, Active Travel 
Networks and public transport facilities; 
 

b) Pursue transit-orientated development that prioritises walking, cycling and 
public transport use, whilst reducing private motor vehicle dependency. Well-
designed, safe walking and cycling routes must be incorporated throughout 
the site to foster community orientated, healthy, walkable neighbourhoods; 
 

c) Create a multi-functional green infrastructure network within the site that 
facilitates active travel, enhances biodiversity, provides sustainable drainage 
and fosters healthy communities. There must be particular emphasis on 
retaining existing trees and hedgerows within the public realm, incorporating 
appropriate landscaping, protecting biodiversity, providing habitats for local 
species and supporting a range of opportunities for formal and informal play 
in addition to community-led food growing; 
 

Page 238



 

69 
 

d) Pursue high quality, well-planned development in the vicinity of the overhead 
power lines, ensuring the land beneath and adjacent to the overhead line 
route is used to make a significant, positive contribution to the development’s 
green infrastructure network. This must be achieved by creating a linear park 
that incorporates landscaping areas, nature conservation and pedestrian 
linkages to avoid the unnecessary sterilisation of land near the overhead 
lines; 

 
e) Extend the site’s green infrastructure network to Newbridge Fields, 

capitalising on proposed active travel route INM-BR-49 and establishing a 
‘green lung’ that connects the site to both Bridgend Town Centre and Merthyr 
Mawr. This will facilitate a key multi-functional network of integrated spaces 
and features south of Bridgend, pproviding a plethora of economic, health 
and wellbeing benefits for new and existing residents; 

 
f) Ensure the design and layout of the site has regard to the surrounding 

landscape, minimising visual impacts through the inclusion of mitigation 
measures that provide links with the existing landscape and access features. 
Appropriate landscaping treatments must be utilised along the southern 
fringes of the site in order to minimise visual impacts on adjacent uses; 
 

g) Orientate buildings to face open spaces and streets to enhance 
cohesiveness, foster a strong sense of place and ensure community safety; 
and 
 

h) Provide a mix of higher densities at key points in the layout and lower 
densities on the rural/sensitive edges. 

 
DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS 
 
The development must provide the following requirements: 
 

1) Deliver 788 homes, incorporating an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes and 
types to meet local housing needs, including 20% affordable housing units to 
be integrated throughout the development in sustainable clusters of no more 
than ten units as per the Council’s requirements; 
 

2) 1.8 hectares of land to accommodate a minimum one form entry primary 
school and a financial contribution to nursery and primary school provision 
as required by the Local Education Authority. The financial contribution 
(including timing and phasing thereof) must be secured through Section 106 
Planning Obligations in accordance with the Education Facilities and 
Residential Development SPG. The school must be accessible to new and 
existing residents by all travel modes, enabled by the development; 
 

3) 4 hectares of land for the relocation of Heronsbridge Special Education 
Needs School; 
 

4) Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in 
accordance with Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New 
Housing Development Supplementary Planning Guidance; 
 

5) 4.3 hectares of land for leisure and ancillary commercial uses, which could 
include a Community Indoor Tennis Centre;  
 

Page 239



 

70 
 

6) Highway improvement to ensure the principal point of vehicular access is off 
the A48 in a manner that integrates the SINC and adjacent Hut 9 heritage 
facility;  
 

7) An access through Bridgend Technology Park that serves as the primary 
access for the relocated Heronsbridge SEN school and the Community 
Indoor Tennis Centre, as well as an emergency access for the residential 
element of the scheme; 
 

8) Off-site highway improvements with regard to the requirements arising from 
the Strategic Transport Assessment and as identified in the Transport 
Measures Priority Schedule; 
 

9) On-site and off-site measures to provide good quality, attractive, legible, safe 
and accessible pedestrian and cycle linkages in accordance with Active 
Travel design. Improved linkages must be provided along the A48, with 
Brynteg Comprehensive School, Bridgend Industrial Estate and Bridgend 
Town Centre (including the bus station and train station). Green infrastructure 
linkages must also be provided with Newbridge Fields. Connections must 
therefore be made to existing active travel routes and new routes should be 
provided to accord with the proposed routes within the Council’s ATNM:  INM-
POR-15, INM-BR-45, INM-BR-46, INM-BR-48, INM-BR-49, INM-BR-75, 
INM-BR-132 and 2374. 
 

10) Retain and provide suitable buffers to habitats, particularly hedgerows, trees 
(including Ancient and/or Semi-Ancient Woodland), and SINCs; 
 

11) Submit and agree ecological management plans including proposals for 
mitigation, enhancement and maintenance for retained habitats and 
protected species (including for bats and dormouse) and provide appropriate 
compensatory and replacement habitat; 
 

12) On and off-site measures including any appropriate upgrades to the clean 
water supply or public sewerage networks; 
 

13) A new on-site heat network in accordance with ENT10; and 
 

14)  A new local ‘hub’ with a concentration of appropriate mixed uses and local 
services. The ‘hub’ should have active frontages around a pivotal, focal point 
of the development where it is easily accessible to new and existing residents 
through Active Travel, thereby limiting the need for private vehicular trips. 

 

 
 

5.2.14 The site is located 1.5km (0.9 miles) to the south-west of Bridgend Town Centre, south 

of the A48, and close to the boundary with Vale of Glamorgan Council. It comprises 

approximately 49.95 hectares of tree and scrub land to the north, arable farmland to the 

south and east and grazing land to the north east. The site is bordered to the north east 

by the Bridgend Science Park, and to the east by a nursing home. The Bridgend - Barry 

rail line, runs south from Bridgend and marks the south east boundary of the site. New 

Inn Road provides the southern boundary to the site, beyond which lies agricultural land 

uses as far as the Ogmore-by-Sea road. Merthyr Mawr Road and the flood plain of the 

Ogmore River borders the western boundary, beyond which lie small to medium fields 

interspersed by woodland and farms, Merthyr Mawr House (Grade II*) and the small 

picturesque village of Merthyr Mawr, which lie 600m and 1.2km from the site 

Page 240



 

71 
 

respectively. The boundaries of the site mark a physical constraint to further expansion 

and provide a logical maximum extent of development. 

5.2.15 The site was allocated within the existing LDP as a Strategic Employment Site (11ha) 

and the wider site has outline planning consent for a mixed sport, leisure and office 

development with appropriate access improvements. The outline permission included 

the standard time limit conditions for the submission of reserved matters and the 

commencement of development and the final approval of reserved matters was issued 

in 2015. Enabling works have been undertaken at this site and constitute a material 

operation, meaning that respective reserved matters permissions are extant. Hence, re-

allocation of this site as a mixed use scheme (including residential) will not result in the 

loss of any additional BMV agricultural land as detailed further within the BMV 

Agricultural Land Background Paper. Moreover, re-allocation of this site will enable 

delivery of sustainable growth enshrined in placemaking principles, deliver affordable 

housing in the highest need part of the County Borough and enable delivery of two 

schools on the site. It will also enrich active travel and green infrastructure networks 

within Bridgend through creation of a ‘green lung’ that will connect the site to the Town 

Centre via Newbridge Fields. On this basis, there is considered to be an overriding need 

for the development.  

 

5.2.16 The site is now allocated for mixed use development and will deliver approximately 788 

new houses, an indoor tennis centre (with associated outdoor courts and other ancillary 

uses), public open space, appropriate community facilities, employment and 

commercial uses combined with access improvements. In addition, the site will provide 

a new special school to replace the existing Heronsbridge School and incorporate a new 

1-form entry Primary School to provide for the needs of the associated residential 

development. Provision of both schools will provide key community facilities in a central 

location for use by the existing and new community. The latter contribution will 

necessitate 1.8ha of land being set aside for construction of the new school, inclusive 

of a land buffer to enable future expansion.   

 

5.2.17 A future planning application must be accompanied by an ‘Energy Masterplan’ that 

demonstrates that the most sustainable heating and cooling systems have been 

selected. This should include consideration of the proposed system as a whole, 

including the impact of its component materials on greenhouse gas emissions.  The 

Renewable Energy Assessment identifies this site as suitable for installing a new District 

Heat Network. If this development requirement is proven to be financially or technically 

unviable then development proposals must follow the sequential approach to identify 

low carbon heating technologies in accordance with ENT10.  

 

5.2.18 The site is located within the 'Merthyr Mawr Farmland, Warren and Coastline' which runs 

north-eastwards up from the coast to the southwestern fringe of Bridgend. Much of the 

wider landscape is designated as of Outstanding Historic Importance and all of the 

coastal area lies within the Glamorgan Heritage Coast. The Replacement LDP has 

carefully considered key landscape sensitivities to development-led change. The 

importance of this landscape, and the need for landscape mitigation measures for any 

local development proposal, is clearly recognised within the Replacement LDP’s 

evidence base. Policy PLA2 stresses the importance of protecting the nationally 

important archaeological and cultural heritage of the landscape as an integral part of the 

Page 241



 

72 
 

wider Landscape of Outstanding Historic Importance, including prehistoric and medieval 

remains, the dunes’ ancient buried archaeology and the Grade II* Merthyr Mawr Estate. 

In particular, the southern boundary of the Land South of Bridgend (Island Farm) 

allocation is important as it lies adjacent to an historic landscape as identified by the 

Landscape Character Assessment. The Replacement LDP seeks to protect and 

conserve this landscape’s character and features by appropriate development mitigation 

measures. Policy PLA2 will ensure the design and layout of the site has regard to the 

surrounding landscape, with appropriate mitigation measures and landscaping 

treatments order to minimise visual impacts on adjacent uses. It should also be noted 

that the proposed mixed-use development at Land South of Bridgend (Island Farm) will 

result in significantly reduced building heights and a reduced feeling of massing when 

compared to the previously permitted sports village scheme. A detailed, updated 

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment will be required to inform and accompany 

further masterplanning work (as part of a future planning application). This more detailed 

assessment will include finer details relating to roofscapes and landscaping. Elements 

of the existing planning consent will be incorporated into new proposals for the use of 

the site, and development will take into account known biodiversity interests and the 

listed building, ensuring the design and layout is sensitive to these factors. Specifically, 

the development will protect and incorporate both the SINC and Hut 9 (former prisoner 

of war camp) within the site layout.  

 

5.2.19 The development will be green infrastructure led and will require high quality 

landscaping and architectural design to capitalise on accessibility to Bridgend Town 

Centre. A carefully designed green infrastructure network will run through and extend 

beyond the site to link with Newbridge Fields, thereby providing a continuous ‘green 

lung’ that connects the site with both Bridgend Town Centre and Merthyr Mawr. This will 

complement the improvements to existing and proposed active travel routes that will 

render walking, cycling and use of public transport viable alternatives to private vehicle 

use. Linked to this will be the protection and enhancement of the existing biodiversity 

value of the site, ensuring appropriate provision for, and protection of, existing wildlife in 

the area. This green infrastructure-led development will therefore provide multi-

functional benefits relating to recreation, biodiversity, sustainable drainage and the use 

of non-car routes to address public health and quality of life issues.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 242



 

73 
 

PLA3: Land West of Bridgend, Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 
 

Site Size: 36.86 Ha 

Allocation Type: Strategic Mixed-use Sustainable Urban 
Extension 

Land Uses: 1) 850 residential units 
2) 20% Affordable Housing 
3) 2.3ha 1.5 Form Entry Primary School 
4) Outdoor Recreation Facilities and Public 

Open Space 
5) Active Travel Routes 

Phasing Tranche  Refer to trajectory  
2018-2022: 0 
2023-2027: 330 
2028-2033: 500 

 
Land west of Bridgend, as shown on the Proposals Map, is allocated for a 
comprehensive green infrastructure led residential development. The site will deliver 
circa 850 homes (including 20% / 170 affordable housing units), incorporating a new 
one and a half form entry Primary School, recreation facilities, public open space, plus 
appropriate community facilities all set within distinct character areas.  

 
MASTERPLAN DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES 
 
This development must accord with the following principles, which are considered 
instrumental to achieving sustainable places, delivering socially inclusive 
developments and promoting cohesive communities. A masterplan must be prepared 
and agreed with the Council prior to the sites development to demonstrate how these 
principles will be delivered in an appropriately phased manner: 
 
a) Create a well-connected, sustainable mixed-use urban extension to Bridgend, 

comprising a number of character areas that integrate positively with the 
existing landscape, SINC, Scheduled Ancient Monument, existing housing 
clusters, community facilities, Active Travel Networks and public transport 
facilities; 
 

b) Pursue transit-orientated development that prioritises walking, cycling and 
public transport use, whilst reducing private motor vehicle dependency. Well-
designed, safe walking and cycling routes must be incorporated throughout 
the site to foster community orientated, healthy, walkable neighbourhoods;  
 

c) Create a multi-functional green infrastructure network within the site that 
facilitates active travel, enhances biodiversity, provides sustainable drainage 
and fosters healthy communities. There must be particular emphasis on 
retaining existing trees and hedgerows within the public realm, incorporating 
appropriate landscaping, protecting biodiversity, providing habitats for local 
species and supporting a range of opportunities for formal and informal play in 
addition to community-led food growing; 
 

d) Ensure the design and layout of the site has regard to the landscape in which 
it sits, considering the interface between the site, Bridgend and Laleston. 
Visual impacts must be minimised through the inclusion of mitigation 
measures that provide links with the existing landscape and access features 
to safeguard landscape character whilst creating a sense of place. The 
development must not be to the detriment of the Special Landscape Area and 

Page 243



 

74 
 

any development proposal must incorporate measures to reduce adverse 
effects and/or visual intrusion on the wider landscape; 
 

e) Maintain a strategic green corridor between the site and Laleston to retain the 
separate identities and character of these settlements whilst preventing 
coalescence; 
 

f) Orientate buildings to face open spaces and create active street frontages to 
enhance cohesiveness, foster a strong sense of place and ensure community 
safety; and 
 

g) Provide a mix of higher densities at key points in the layout and lower densities 
on the rural/sensitive edges. 

 
DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS 
 
The development must provide the following requirements: 
 
1) 850 homes, incorporating an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes and types to 

meet local housing needs, including 20% affordable housing units to be 
integrated throughout the development in sustainable clusters of no more than 
ten units as per the Council’s requirements;  
 

2) 2.3 hectares of land to accommodate a 1.5 form entry primary school with co-
located nursery facility and a financial contribution to nursery, primary, 
secondary and post-16 education provision as required by the Local Education 
Authority. The financial contribution (including timing and phasing thereof) 
must be secured through Section 106 Planning Obligations in accordance with 
the Education Facilities and Residential Development SPG. The school must 
be accessible to new and existing residents by all travel modes, enabled by 
the development; 

 
3) Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in 

accordance with Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New 
Housing Development Supplementary Planning Guidance and explore the 
provision of enabling sensitive public access to part of Laleston Meadows 
SINC and woodland; 
 

4) On-site highway improvement to ensure the principal point of vehicular access 
is achieved from a new signalised junction with the A473 at the southern 
boundary; the junction will accommodate a new-shared use crossing to 
connect the internal cycleway/footway with the existing active travel route 
BRC9b on the southern side of the A473;  

 
5) A primary street, accommodating a shared foot/cycle path and street planting, 

to provide access to the development area, the new Primary School and 
Community Green.  
 

6) A Green Travel Corridor by closing Llangewydd Road to motor vehicles 
(except emergency) between Bryntirion to where it joins the lane running north 
to south.  
 

7) Off-site highway improvements with regard to the requirements arising from 
the Transport Assessment and as identified in the Transport Measures Priority 
Schedule / Infrastructure Development Plan. 
 

Page 244



 

75 
 

8) Provide on-site and off-site measures to provide good quality, attractive, 
legible, safe and accessible pedestrian and cycle linkages in accordance with 
Active Travel design. Improved linkages must be provided along the A473, 
with Bryntirion Comprehensive School and Bridgend Town Centre (including 
the bus station and train station). New routes should be provided to accord 
with the proposed routes within the Council’s ATNM:  INM-BR-52, INM-BR-55, 
INM-BR-57, INM-BR-58, INM-BR-127 and 2120 
 

9) Provide a new shared cycle / footway on the northern side of the A473, 
connecting the site with active travel route INM-BR57 linking to the shops at 
Bryntirion to the east, and a widened footway to the west of the site to provide 
a connection to the eastbound bus stop on the A473. 
 

10) Retain and provide suitable buffers to habitats, particularly hedgerows, trees 
(including Ancient and/or Semi-Ancient Woodland) and Laleston Meadows 
SINC, which includes the green space bordering the northern and north-
western boundaries of the site. Also seek to maintain a green buffer at the front 
of the site, known locally as the ‘Circus Field’. 
 

11) Submit and agree ecological management plans including proposals for 
mitigation, enhancement and maintenance for retained habitats and protected 
species (including for bats and dormouse) and provide appropriate 
compensatory and replacement habitat. 
 

12) Positively integrate the remains of LLangewydd Church and Churchyard 
Scheduled Ancient Monument in a manner that preserves and enhances the 
remains as part of the wider site.  
 

13) Incorporate the Laleston Trail within the central part of the site, providing 
access to the Bridgend Circular Walk and realigned Public Right of Way; 
 

14) On and off-site measures including any appropriate upgrades to the clean 
water supply or public sewerage networks; 
 

15) A new on-site heat network in accordance with ENT10;  
  

16) A Community focal space in the southern part of the site by means of a 
concentration of appropriate mixed uses with active frontages around a central 
hub including the school and formal play areas and easily accessible to new 
and existing residents; and 
 

17) Locate new pitches as an accessible focal point within the new neighbourhood 
and provide strategic links to Bryntirion Playing Fields, Penybont Football Club 
and Cylch Methrin Gwdihwed Community Centre.  

 
 

5.2.20 The site is located to the west of Bryntirion and east of the small settlement of Laleston. 
The site is located to the north of the A473, and is approximately 2.2km to the west of 
Bridgend Town Centre. The site comprises just over 36 hectares. The A473 is an arterial 
route into Bridgend from the west, providing connections to Junction 37 of the M4 (5.7km 
to the west) and Porthcawl. The wider area comprises a mix of land uses, predominately 
residential associated with Laleston to the west and Bridgend to the east. Land to the 
north is mainly comprised of farmland and the main Swansea-London railway line 
(2.5km east). Land to the south is comprised of a residential estate and farmland further 
beyond.  

Page 245



 

76 
 

5.2.21 The site is allocated for residential led development and will deliver 850 units to ensure 

a well-connected, socially inclusive, sustainable development is pursued in a holistic 

manner, incorporating provision of a new school on site. A western linear park will be 

created to form a natural green buffer to prevent the coalescence of Bridgend and 

Laleston, thereby protecting the identity and character of both settlements. This will 

serve the dual purpose of softening views between the site and Laleston and 

creating/maintaining wildlife corridors. There are multiple schools in the immediate area 

in addition to various local services and community facilities, although existing capacities 

are limited and the site must provide a 1.5 form entry primary school on-site together 

with a contribution towards secondary school provision in the area. The former 

contribution will necessitate 2.3ha of land being set aside for construction of the new 

school, inclusive of a land buffer to enable future expansion.  A green buffer will form 

the site’s western boundary to prevent any further encroachment, which can be further 

safeguarded by a legal agreement to transfer this part of the site to the Council.  

 

5.2.22 Along the southern side of the A473, there is a shared cycleway/footway which provides 

cyclists a continuous cycle lane allowing connectivity to Laleston and Bridgend. This site 

will connect to existing active travel routes and facilitate delivery of the proposed routes 

within the Council’s ATNM: INM-BR-57 and INM-BR-58. The site is also located within 

400m of a bus stop and benefits from a number of local community facilities. Nearby 

Bridgend Town Centre provides access to wider public transport options (including 

Bridgend Railway and Bus Stations) together with other community services. New 

vehicular access points will principally be achieved on the southern boundary of the site 

through a new signal controlled junction with the A473. There is potential to form an 

emergency access from the unnamed lane on the western boundary of the site, and 

from Llangewydd Road to the north, respectively. Llangewydd Road forms part of the 

residential estate road network and will provide a secondary, alternative route into 

Bridgend. 

 

5.2.23 The site’s masterplan will mitigate ecological constraints by retaining and providing 

suitable buffers to habitats, particularly Laleston Meadows SINC, which includes the 

green space bordering the northern and north-western boundaries of the site. The site 

also lies within a Special Landscape Area and the development will seek to reduce 

adverse effects and/or visual intrusion on the wider landscape through appropriate 

measures. In addition, the remains of LLangewydd Church and Churchyard Scheduled 

Ancient Monument are located within the site, which will be preserved and enhanced 

within the masterplan.  

 

5.2.24 A future planning application must be accompanied by an ‘Energy Masterplan’ that 

demonstrates that the most sustainable heating and cooling systems have been 

selected. This should include consideration of the proposed system as a whole, 

including the impact of its component materials on greenhouse gas emissions.  The 

Renewable Energy Assessment identifies this site as suitable for installing a new District 

Heat Network. If this development requirement is proven to be financially or technically 

unviable then development proposals must follow the sequential approach to identify 

low carbon heating technologies in accordance with ENT10. 

 
 
 

Page 246



 

77 
 

PLA4: Land East of Pencoed, Pencoed Sustainable Growth Area 
 

Site Size: 44.27 ha 

Allocation Type: Strategic Mixed-use Sustainable Urban 
Extension 

Land Uses: • 804 residential units 

• 20% Affordable units 

• 2.3ha 1.5 FE Primary School 

• Outdoor Recreation Facilities 

• Active Travel routes 

Phasing Tranche  Refer to trajectory  
2018-2022: 0 
2023-2027: 204 
2028-2033: 600 

 
Land East of Pencoed, as shown on the Proposals Map, is allocated for a 
comprehensive mixed-use development. The site will deliver circa 804 homes during 
the Plan period (20% / 161 of which will be affordable housing units), incorporating a 
new 1.5 form entry primary school, recreation facilities, public open space, plus 
appropriate community facilities and commercial uses. 

 
MASTERPLAN DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES 
 
This development must accord with the following principles, which are considered 
instrumental to achieving sustainable places, delivering socially inclusive 
developments and promoting more cohesive communities. These principles should 
be delivered in an appropriately phased manner and be formally tied into planning 
consent: 
 

a) Create a well-connected sustainable urban extension to Pencoed, comprising 
a number of character areas that integrate positively with the existing Town 
Centre, existing housing clusters, community facilities, Active Travel 
networks, Pencoed Technology Park, Pencoed Comprehensive School and 
public transport facilities; 
 

b) Create a multi-functional green infrastructure network within the site that 
facilitates active travel, taking account of the need to create healthy 
communities. There must be particular emphasis on: creating a linear park or 
road network along the route of the high pressure gas main, retaining existing 
trees and hedgerows within the public realm, incorporating appropriate 
landscaping, protecting biodiversity, facilitating habitat creation and 
supporting a range of opportunities for formal and informal play in addition to 
community-led food growing; 
 

c) Pursue transit-orientated development that prioritises walking, cycling and 
public transport use, whilst reducing private motor vehicle dependency. Well-
designed, safe walking and cycling routes must be incorporated throughout 
the site to foster community orientated, healthy, walkable neighbourhoods; 
 

d) Orientate buildings to face open spaces and streets to enhance 
cohesiveness, foster a strong sense of place and ensure community safety; 
and 
 

e) Provide a mix of higher densities at key points in the layout and lower densities 
on the rural/sensitive edges.  

 

Page 247



 

78 
 

 
DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS 
 
The development must provide the following requirements: 
 

1) 804 homes, incorporating an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes and types to 
meet local housing needs, including 20% affordable housing units to be 
integrated throughout the development in sustainable clusters of no more than 
ten units as per the Council’s requirements; 
 

2) 2.3 hectares of land to accommodate a 1.5 form entry primary school with co-
located nursery facility and a financial contribution to nursery, primary, 
secondary and post-16 education provision as required by the Local 
Education Authority. The financial contribution (including timing and phasing 
thereof) must be secured through Section 106 Planning Obligations in 
accordance with the Education Facilities and Residential Development SPG. 
The school must be accessible to new and existing residents by all travel 
modes, enabled by the development; 
 

3) Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in 
accordance with Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New 
Housing Development Supplementary Planning Guidance; 
 

4) Deliver highway improvement to ensure the principal point of vehicular access 
is from the south of the site (off Felindre Road), with secondary access from 
the north of the site (off the A473);  
 

5) Provide off-site highway improvements with regard to the requirements 
arising from the Transport Assessment and as identified in the Transport 
Measures Priority Schedule. 
 

6) Provide on-site and off-site measures to provide good quality, attractive, 
legible, safe and accessible pedestrian and cycle linkages in accordance with 
Active Travel design. Improved linkages must be provided along the A473, 
with Pencoed Comprehensive School, Pencoed Technology Park and 
Pencoed Town Centre (including the train station and bus stops). Connections 
must therefore be made to existing active travel routes and new routes should 
be provided to accord with the proposed routes within the Council’s ATNM:  
INM-PE-2, INM-PE-8, INM-PE-12, INM-PE-13, INM-PE-20 and INM-PE-26 
 

7) Retain and provide suitable buffers to habitats, particularly hedgerows, trees 
(including Ancient and/or Semi-Ancient Woodland), and SINCs; 
 

8) Submit and agree ecological management plans including proposals for 
mitigation, enhancement and maintenance for retained habitats and protected 
species (including for bats and dormouse) and provide appropriate 
compensatory and replacement habitat; 
 

9) On and off-site measures including any appropriate upgrades to the clean 
water supply or public sewerage networks; and 
 

10) Follow the sequential approach to identify low carbon heating technologies in 
accordance with ENT10. 

 
5.2.25 The site is located to the north-east of Bridgend, to the north of the M4 motorway 

(Junction 35), directly adjacent to the boundary with Rhondda Cynon Taff County 

Page 248



 

79 
 

Borough Council, although within the administrative boundary of Bridgend County 

Borough. The site comprises approximately 50 hectares and is arranged in two parts: 

the main site (land and buildings to the east of the A473) comprising 46 hectares and 

additional land of 6 hectares (14 acres) to the west of the A473. Bridgend College also 

own a parcel of land to the south west of the main site, known locally as the ‘Cabbage 

Patch’. The main site is bound to the north and west by the A473, to the south by Felindre 

Road, to the east by the Ewenni Fach brook and to the south east by farmland. The land 

west of the A473 is bound by Felindre Road to the south and by the Ewenny River to its 

west and the north. Beyond the river is residential development. The wider area 

comprises a mix of land uses, predominately residential and commercial to the west 

associated with Pencoed. The Sony Factory (and wider employment land allocation) is 

located to the south of the site. Land to the north and east is mostly farmland. There is 

a hotel and restaurant located to the south east of the site.  

5.2.26 The site is allocated for mixed use development and will deliver approximately 804 new 

homes, a significant area of public open space, a small commercial element and a new 

one form entry primary school. The latter contribution will necessitate 2.3ha of land being 

set aside for construction of the new school, inclusive of a land buffer to enable future 

expansion.  A buffer to the eastern and southern edges of the existing campus will also 

be retained, to allow for future flexibility for the expansion of the college. This will allow 

the potential relocation of the playing fields, either to locations to the east of the main 

site or, to land west of the A473. 

5.2.27 New access points will be achieved on the northern and southern boundaries of the site, 

to the A473 and Felindre Road respectively. Improvements to proposed active travel 

routes will capitalise on the site’s close proximity to Pencoed Town Centre and render 

walking, cycling and public transport viable alternatives to private vehicle use. This will 

enhance the site’s sustainable location on the edge of Pencoed in order to provide safe 

active travel linkages to public transport (including a Pencoed Train Station and bus 

routes), Pencoed Technology Park, Pencoed Comprehensive School and other 

community services.  

 

5.2.28 The site is crossed by a high pressure gas main which runs north to south across the 

site and a 10m buffer zone must be retained either side of the pipeline. This area will be 

used to make a significant, positive contribution to the development’s green 

infrastructure network by creating a linear park that incorporates landscaping areas, 

nature conservation and pedestrian linkages to avoid unnecessary sterilisation of land. 

Equally, there are two Listed Buildings within the main college campus (Tregroes House 

and the bridge located on the driveway leading to the House), which will be protected 

and incorporated within the site. These factors will ensure delivery of a high quality public 

realm, with public spaces and streets that are well defined, safe, inclusive, high quality 

and ecologically diverse making them pleasant places to be. The site will be well 

connected and integrated into the existing settlement of Pencoed, help promote more 

active lifestyles, combat social isolation and provide close, sustainable linkages to the 

key places residents will need to travel to.  

5.2.29 A future planning application must be accompanied by an ‘Energy Masterplan’ that 

demonstrates that the most sustainable heating and cooling systems have been 

selected, following the sequential approach to identify low carbon heating technologies 

in accordance with ENT10. 

Page 249



 

80 
 

PLA5: Land East of Pyle, 
           Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly Sustainable Growth Area 
 

Site Size: 99.86 ha 

Allocation Type: Strategic Mixed-use Sustainable Urban 
Extension 

Land Uses: • 2,003 residential units 

• 15% Affordable Housing  

• 5.7ha to accommodate 2 x Two Form 
Entry Primary Schools 

• Outdoor Recreation Facilities 

• New Active Travel routes 

Phasing Tranche  Refer to trajectory  
2018-2022: 0 units 
2023-2027: 220 units 
2028-2033: 750 units 

 
Land East of Pyle, as shown on the Proposals Map, is allocated for a comprehensive, 
residential led mixed-use development. The site will deliver circa 2,003 homes (15% 
/ 300 of which will be affordable housing units), incorporating 2 two form entry primary 
schools, leisure and recreation facilities, public open space, plus appropriate 
community facilities and commercial uses. 
 
MASTERPLAN DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES 
 
This development must accord with the following principles, which are considered 
instrumental to achieving sustainable places, delivering socially inclusive 
developments and promoting cohesive communities. A masterplan must be prepared 
and agreed with the Council prior to the sites development to demonstrate how these 
principles will be delivered in an appropriately phased manner: 
 

a) Create a well-connected sustainable urban extension to Pyle, North Cornelly 
and Kenfig Hill, comprising a number of character areas that integrate 
positively with the existing Town Centres, existing housing clusters, 
community facilities, Active Travel networks and public transport facilities; 

 
b) Create a multi-functional green infrastructure network within the site that 

facilitates active travel, taking account of the need to create healthy 
communities. There must be particular emphasis on: retaining existing trees 
and hedgerows within the public realm, incorporating appropriate landscaping, 
protecting biodiversity, facilitating habitat creation and supporting a range of 
opportunities for formal and informal play in addition to community-led food 
growing; 
 

c) Ensure the design and layout of the site has regard to the landscape in which 
it sits, considering the interface between the site and the broader grouped 
settlement of Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly. Visual impacts must be 
minimised through the inclusion of mitigation measures that provide links with 
the existing landscape and access features to safeguard landscape character 
whilst creating a sense of place. The development must not be to the detriment 
of the Special Landscape Area and any development proposal must 
incorporate measures to reduce adverse effects and/or visual intrusion on the 
wider landscape; 
 

d) Pursue transit-orientated development that prioritises walking, cycling and 
public transport use, whilst reducing private motor vehicle dependency. Well-

Page 250



 

81 
 

designed, safe walking and cycling routes must be incorporated throughout 
the site to foster community orientated, healthy, walkable neighbourhoods. 
Connections must also be made to the wider active travel and public transport 
network to ensure safe connectivity with Pyle and Kenfig Hill District Centres, 
North Cornelly Local Centre, Pyle Railway Station, Village Farm Industrial 
Estate and Cynffig Comprehensive School; 
 

e) Orientate buildings to face open spaces and streets to enhance cohesiveness, 
foster a strong sense of place and ensure community safety; and 
 

f) Provide a mix of higher densities at key points in the layout and lower densities 
on the rural/sensitive edges. 
 

 
DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS 
 
The development must provide the following: 
 

1) 2,003 homes, incorporating an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes and types to 
meet local housing needs, including 15% affordable housing to be integrated 
throughout the development in sustainable clusters of no more than ten units 
as per the Council’s requirements; 
 

2) 5.7 hectares of land to accommodate 2 two form entry primary schools with 
co-located nursery facilities and a financial contribution to nursery, primary, 
secondary and post-16 education provision as required by the Local Education 
Authority. The financial contribution (including timing and phasing thereof) 
must be secured through Section 106 Planning Obligations in accordance with 
the Education Facilities and Residential Development SPG. Both schools must 
be accessible to new and existing residents by all travel modes, enabled by 
the development; 
 

3) Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in 
accordance with Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New 
Housing Development Supplementary Planning Guidance; 
 

4) 1.5 hectares of land for commercial uses, including a new local ‘hub’ with a 
concentration of appropriate mixed uses and local services. The ‘hub’ should 
have active frontages around a pivotal, focal point of the development where 
it is easily accessible to new and existing residents through Active Travel, 
thereby limiting the need for private vehicular trips; 
 

5) Highway improvements to ensure the principal points of vehicular access are 
off the A48 and A4229. Appropriate adjustments must also be made to the 
roundabout between the A48 and A4229 to improve traffic flow and highway 
safety;  
 

6) New shared footways, cycleways and improved crossing facilities along the 
A48 and A4229 and highway improvement to enhance pedestrian safety in the 
vicinity of the site; 
 

7) A new pedestrian and cycle bridge over the existing railway line and along 
A48/Pyle Road to provide safe pedestrian and cycle linkages between the site 
and Pyle. The bridge must be constructed to Council adoptable standards prior 
to the occupation of any homes on the development; 
 

Page 251



 

82 
 

8) Off-site highway improvements with regard to the requirements arising from 
the Transport Assessment and as identified in the Transport Measures Priority 
Schedule; 
 

9) On-site and off-site measures to provide good quality, attractive, legible, safe 
and accessible pedestrian and cycle linkages in accordance with Active Travel 
design. Improved linkages must be provided along the A48 and A4229, with 
Cynffig Comprehensive School, Village Farm Industrial Estate Pyle and Kenfig 
Hill District Centres, existing bus routes and Pyle Railway Station (including 
safe pedestrian linkages across the railway bridge). Connections must 
therefore be made to existing active travel routes and new routes should be 
provided to accord with the proposed routes within the Council’s ATNM:  INM-
PY-12, INM-PY-13, INM-PY-16, INM-PY-18, INM-PY-27 and INM-PY-34. 
 

10) Suitable buffers to habitats, particularly hedgerows, trees (including Ancient 
and/or Semi-Ancient Woodland), and SINCs; 
 

11) Ecological management plans including proposals for mitigation, 
enhancement and maintenance for retained habitats and protected species 
(including for bats and dormouse) and appropriate compensatory and 
replacement habitat; 
 

12) On and off-site measures including any appropriate upgrades to the clean 
water supply or public sewerage networks; 
 

13) Follow the sequential approach to identify low carbon heating technologies in 
accordance with ENT10; and 
 

14) Ensure that the development does not prejudice the proposed future 
relocation of Pyle Railway Station plus accompanying park and ride facility.  

 

 
5.2.30 The site is located to the east of Pyle, bounded by the (Swansea to London Mainline) 

railway to the north, common land to the East, the M4 motorway to the South and the 

A4229 to the west. Village Farm Industrial Estate is also located immediately to the 

north, beyond the railway line. The site comprises approximately 100 hectares in total 

and is divided into 2 parcels by the alignment of the A48; Parcel A (to the south of the 

A48) consists of 60 ha and Parcel B (to the north of the A48), 40ha. The site rises 

gradually upwards away from the A48 roundabout and is currently used as farmland.  

5.2.31 The wider area comprises a mix of land uses with residential development and an 

employment allocation to the west of the site (Ty Draw Farm, North Cornelly). Pyle 

Railway station is located in close proximity to the north west of the site. Pyle and Kenfig 

Hill District Centres are approximately 1km and 1.5km to the north of the site, 

respectively. Bridgend Town Centre is located approximately 7.4km away to the east of 

the site, which can be accessed by both public transport and the A48 leading onto the 

A473.  

5.2.32 The site is allocated for a comprehensive residential-led mixed use scheme, including a 

local commercial centre, appropriate supporting infrastructure and the provision of two 

new primary schools. The latter contribution will necessitate 5.7ha of land being set 

aside for construction of the new schools, inclusive of a land buffer to enable future 

expansion.  The proposal would seek to deliver new pedestrian and active travel links 

from the site to Pyle/Kenfig Hill to improve connectivity.  Particular emphasis will be 

placed on improving the pedestrian links to Pyle Railway Station and facilitating safe 

Page 252



 

83 
 

pedestrian and cycle passage between the site and Pyle through delivery of a new 

bridge over the railway line.  

 

5.2.33 There is an existing access via the roundabout off the A4229 and the A48 to the existing 

dwellings at Ty Draw Farm. New access points will be achieved on the northern and 

western boundaries of the site, to the A48 and A4229, respectively. 

5.2.34 Improvements to proposed active travel routes will capitalise on the site’s close proximity 

to Pyle and Kenfig Hill District Centres, rendering walking, cycling and public transport 

viable alternatives to private vehicle use. This will enhance the site’s sustainable location 

on the edge of this Main Settlement in order to provide safe active travel linkages to 

public transport (including Pyle Railway Station and bus routes), Village Farm Industrial 

Estate, Cynffig Comprehensive School and other community services.  

5.2.35 A feasibility study is currently being undertaken to examine the potential for Pyle Railway 

Station to be redeveloped as a transport hub. This would entail relocating the existing 

railway station to the north of the site and incorporating extended park and ride facilities 

to improve links to Porthcawl and Village Farm Industrial Estate. The development will 

therefore not prejudice any future station relocation plans, which would serve to further 

enhance the site’s sustainable location and maximise active travel opportunities.  

5.2.36 Visually the site is open and exposed to views from the north, west and locally to the 

east as well as views from the M4 to the south. The most sensitive parts are the three 

high points, upper slopes and associated minor ridges, and the steep slope to the west 

on the southern edge. The least sensitive area lies to the north and west on the lower 

slopes/flat areas, which lends itself to be the most appropriate location for the bulk of 

higher density development. The southern part of Parcel B is within a Special Landscape 

Area and the development will need to be planned sensitively to take account of this 

designation. 

 

5.2.37 The site itself is not subject to any ecological designations, although further wildlife and 

habitat surveys will need to be carried out to inform the site’s potential development. 

Additionally, there are two SSSI’s located in close proximity to the boundary of the site; 

the Penycastell SSSI is located to the north east and the Stormy Down SSSI is located 

to the south east of the site. Both are physically separated from the site by the route of 

the trainline and the M4 respectively. Given the need to maintain a landscape buffer 

between major transport routes and any proposed development, neither are considered 

to be a constraint to development.  

 

5.2.38 Archaeology Wales have undertaken a Desktop study which highlights standing and 

buried remains of potential archaeological interest. A WWII pillbox exists at the north 

west area of the site and there is believed to be an area of earthworks related to a 19th 

century (or possibly older) farmstead at the north east of the site. A 19th century tramline 

is also located along the northern portion of the site. The development will ensure that 

these remains are preserved or adequately investigated and recorded if they are 

disturbed or revealed as a direct result of development activities.  

 

5.2.39 The site neighbours Stormy Castle, a medieval settlement, which could extend into the 

site. Further work will need to be conducted to fully investigate any potential impacts 

and a geophysical survey of the site will need to be carried out to supplement the 

planning application.  

 

5.2.40 A future planning application must be accompanied by an ‘Energy Masterplan’ that 

demonstrates that the most sustainable heating and cooling systems have been 

Page 253



 

84 
 

selected, following the sequential approach to identify low carbon heating technologies 

in accordance with ENT10. 

 

Mitigating the Impact of Climate Change 

5.2.41 Welsh Government declared a Climate Emergency in April 2019 and set out its priorities 

to address change for Wales to build resilience. Following this, the Welsh Government 

has now committed to achieving a carbon-neutral public sector by 2030. Bridgend 

County Borough Council supports this approach and has proposed its adoption into the 

updated 2018-23 Corporate Plan. In addition, the Council is committed to coordinating 

action to help other areas of the economy to make a decisive shift away from fossil fuels, 

by engaging in public sector collaboration, academia, industry and the third sector and 

helping create sustainable jobs. The particular areas of focus for decarbonisation are 

energy, transport, buildings and open spaces. The energy focus is to reduce the amount 

used and shift energy production to clean sources, including utilising buildings better, 

designing new ones to be energy efficient, using open spaces to provide carbon offset 

and maximising renewable power opportunities. 

5.2.42 The Council has a role in influencing, driving and facilitating change when tackling 

Bridgend County Borough’s community-based emissions. This includes, for example, 

community and business transport, sustainable energy and heat for homes. Therefore 

aligning low carbon strategies and sharing best practice with Local Partnership Boards, 

regional neighbours, communities, developers and business is essential to joining up 

benefits and tackling all indirect emissions (inside and outside of the Council’s control). 

National planning policy requires local authorities to facilitate all forms of renewable and 

low carbon energy development, which the Council will seek to enable. 

 

SP4: Mitigating the Impact of Climate Change  

All development proposals must make a positive contribution towards tackling the 

causes of, and adapting to the impacts of Climate Change. Means of achieving this 

may include: 

 

1) Having a location and layout which reflects sustainable transport and access 

principles, thereby reducing the overall need to travel (active travel); 

2) Having low / zero carbon energy requirements by reducing energy demand, 

and promoting energy efficiency; 

3) Utilising low carbon, local materials and supplies (adopting circular economy 

principles); 

4) Encouraging  the  development  of  renewable and low/zero carbon energy 

generation; 

5) Having a design, layout and landscaping which: (i)  helps wildlife and habitats 

to adapt to the changing climate; (ii) assists cooling of the urban environment, 

including the   use   of   passive   building   techniques where appropriate; 

6) Using resources more efficiently, including averting waste generated from 

demolition and minimising waste water use and pollution; 

7) Directing development away from flood risk areas, and avoiding development 

that increases the risk of flood and coastal erosion, including through the 

deployment of sustainable urban drainage systems where relevant.  

 

Page 254



 

85 
 

All applications for development proposals must clearly demonstrate how they 

contribute to climate change mitigation and adaption. 

LDP Objectives SOBJ: 1, 2, 3, 4  

OBJ: 4b, 4c, 4e 

Future Wales Heat Networks 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and Associated Infrastructure 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Developments of National 

Significance 

SE Metro 

Flooding 

PPW Productive and Enterprising Places 

Energy  

Reduce Energy Demand and Use of Energy Efficiency – 

Sustainable Buildings 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

Energy Minerals 

Making Best Use of Material Resources and Promoting the Circular 

Economy 

Active and Social Places: Transport  

Distinctive and Natural Places: Recognising the Environmental 

Quality of Places 

WBFG Act A globally responsible Wales 

A healthier Wales 

A resilient Wales 

LWBP Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

Key Evidence TAN15 Development and Flood Risk  

Development Advice Maps (TAN15) 

Renewable Energy Assessment 

Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment 

 

5.2.43 The Council is the process of producing a roadmap to Carbon Neutral Bridgend County 

Borough by 2030 and will work jointly with the Public Services Board to produce a 

Decarbonisation Strategy to co-ordinate efforts on decarbonisation across the County 

Borough. The strategy will bring together a plethora of environmental projects and 

ensure alignment with the aspirations set out in the Council’s Climate Emergency 

Response Programme. The planning system has a key role to play in setting the land 

use framework for this broader response. As recognised in PPW, development 

proposals should, “mitigate the causes of climate change, by minimising carbon and 

other greenhouse gas emissions associated with the development’s location, design, 

construction, use and eventual demolition; and include features that provide effective 

adaptation to, and resilience against, the current and predicted future effects of climate 

change”.  

5.2.44 SP4 therefore specifies criteria that require development to both mitigate and adapt to 

climate change, thereby minimising its underlying causes and planning for its 

consequences. A key role of the LDP is to put in place resource efficient and climate 

change resilient settlement patterns that minimise land take and urban sprawl. Put 

simply, this means locating development in settlements which are accessible to a range 

Page 255



 

86 
 

of services and facilities whereby people can reduce private car usage and thereby 

reduce the harmful effects of carbon emissions.  

5.2.45 SP4 also recognises the risk of flooding as a key effect of climate change. The Policy 

seeks to steer highly vulnerable development away from flood risk areas, to assess the 

implications of development in areas at risk of flooding and to ensure that new 

development does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.  The Flood Map for 

Planning accompanying TAN 15 includes climate change information to show how this 

will affect flood risk extents over the next century, along with the potential extent of 

flooding assuming no defences are in place. The Flood Map for Planning has been 

supplemented by a Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment for Bridgend County 

Borough. This information has influenced the siting and type of development allocations 

within the Replacement LDP, and will also inform policies on flood risk whereby 

subsequent development proposals can be assessed. A new SPG will also be prepared 

to set the framework for a local approach to flood risk management within Bridgend 

Town Centre. 

 

5.2.46 SP4 equally has regard to the whole water environment as an important resource. 

Ensuring a reliable water supply is an important component of everyday life but needs 

to be balanced with effects on ground water and surface water in terms of levels and 

quality and any associated ecological effects. In locating and designing new 

development it is also necessary to ensure that the waste water network and treatment 

capacity is adequate to serve development and to ensure that surface water run-off from 

new development is adequately managed. As highlighted by the Welsh National Marine 

Plan (2019), coastal erosion and flooding can directly affect human and economic 

activity. SP4 therefore seeks to avoid development that may increase the risk of flood 

and coastal erosion, which can otherwise change coastal landscapes, weaken sea 

defences, and put at risk coastal buildings (including built heritage), infrastructure 

networks (including ports, marinas, roads, rail and energy) and people. 

 

5.2.47 The principles of energy efficiency measures and renewable energy are now 

incorporated into Building Regulations. However, the LDP needs to ensure that new 

development has regard to broader principles of sustainable design in order to 

significantly reduce energy usage and carbon emissions. Passive building techniques 

can help achieve these principles through design that makes best use of insulation, 

orientation and shading to facilitate solar gain and passive cooling to optimise thermal 

comfort. SP4 seeks to encourage renewable and low/zero carbon energy generation 

technology, subject to a range of material planning considerations. Such policy 

approaches can also help ensure that new development is designed to be resilient to 

future climate change effects. 

 

Sustainable Transport and Accessibility  

 

5.2.48 A placemaking approach must be adopted in the identification, design and delivery of all 

transport measures in order to maximise the sustainability of developments. The 

location, scale, density, mix of uses and design of all developments should be carefully 

considered in a manner that reduces transport demand and enhances the scope for 

sustainable transport choices. The ‘transport network’ refers to the links and services 

Page 256



 

87 
 

that help people move across the County Borough, including the highway, public 

transport, pedestrian routes, cycle routes, public rights of way and bridle routes. 

 

SP5: Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 

 

Development must be located and designed in a way that minimises the need to travel, 

reduces dependency on the private car and enables sustainable access to 

employment, education, local services and community facilities. Development must 

also be supported by appropriate transport measures and infrastructure, and 

depending on the nature, scale and siting of the proposal will be required to:  

 

1) Accord with the sustainable transport hierarchy for planning (as set out in 

PPW);  

 

2) Be designed to provide safe and efficient access to the transport network, 

which includes the active travel, public transport and street networks;  

 

3) Safeguard, enhance and expand the active travel networks identified in the 

Council’s Existing Routes Map and ATNM, including links to those networks 

as a means of improving connectivity;  

 

4) Prioritise the delivery of the key transport measures and schemes identified in 

the Bridgend Local Transport Plan, which must be delivered in an efficient and 

timely manner in accordance with land use development. This includes 

resolving localised junction capacity issues where they restrain growth;   

 

5) Reduce reliance on private car use by maximising the potential of movement 

to/from the development by public transport, including for the urban area 

ensuring developments are served by walking route to public transport 

networks; 

 
6) Adopt a placemaking approach in the identification, design and delivery of all 

transport measures in order to maximise their contribution to sustainable 

development;  

 

7) Provide new transport infrastructure and improvement measures to mitigate 

the impact of the development and demonstrate the level and acceptability of 

impacts on the surrounding road network;  

 

8) Help to reduce transport related airborne pollution by enabling more 

sustainable travel choices and reducing the demand for travel by car;  and 

 

9) Ensure that developments are served by appropriate parking provision, in 

accordance with the Council’s parking guidance, including infrastructure which 

caters for future technological developments such as electric vehicle charging 

points, and circulation areas, including adequate road widths to allow access 

for service vehicles. 

 

Page 257



 

88 
 

Development that would have a negative impact on the safe and efficient operation of 

the transport network will not be permitted. 

 

LDP Objectives SOBJ: 1, 2 

OBJ: 1e, 2f, 2g, 2h 

Future Wales Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration: Strategic Placemaking 

Regional Connectivity 

SE Metro 

PPW Strategic and Spatial Choices 

Strategic Placemaking  

Accessibility  

Active and Social Places 

Moving within and between Places: Transport  

Productive and Enterprising Places 

Economic Infrastructure, Transportation Infrastructure 

WBFG Act • A healthier Wales 

• A Wales of cohesive communities  

• A more equal Wales 

LWBP • Support communities in Bridgend County to be safe and 

cohesive 

• Reduce social and economic inequalities 

Key Evidence • Welsh Government Transport Plan and Strategy  

• Welsh Government Transport Strategy  

• Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 

• Bridgend Strategic Transport Assessment 

• Active Travel and ATNM 

• Bridgend County Borough Local Transport Plan 2015-2030 

 

5.2.49 SP5 emphasises that movement, connectivity and legibility of transport links are critical 

components in the creation of a successful, sustainable place. An efficient, integrated 

transport network that prioritises sustainable transport is critical to making a contribution 

to decarbonisation and supporting economic growth. SP5 requires all development 

proposals to consider improving and/or expanding corresponding active travel and 

public transport networks. This will prove fundamental in ensuring the increasing 

attractiveness of active travel as a credible alternative to the private car, thereby 

encouraging modal shifts away from unsustainable forms of transportation, helping to 

promote physical activity and reducing the impact of transport based emissions.  

 

5.2.50 The existing highway network experiences traffic congestion along certain main routes 

and junctions, which can have a negative impact on amenity, health and well-being and 

economic competitiveness. Poor air quality is a key issue in some parts of the County, 

with Air Quality Management Areas having been designated. Enhanced sustainable 

transport opportunities such as coherent active travel networks, improved traffic 

measures and increased overall connectivity can help improve air quality by preventing 

the proliferation of car based traffic due to new development. 

 

5.2.51 In more rural environments, a lack of public transport access needs to be balanced 

against the contribution the proposal would make towards the rural economy of that 

Page 258



 

89 
 

area. Development in rural locations should preferably be sited within and adjoining 

settlements that benefit from key services and facilities, rather than at sporadic 

countryside locations. 

 

5.2.52 All transport measures must be positively integrated into the places which they serve or 

pass through. They must also adhere to the user hierarchy rather than continuing to 

design infrastructure which supports motorised transport. Developments will also be 

expected, where the Council deems the potential transport implications significant, to 

produce a comprehensive Transport Assessment and Travel Plan. These must consider 

all modes of transport in line with the transport hierarchy, and develop a strategy to 

reduce traffic demand and mitigate transportation impacts caused by the proposal. 

 

5.2.53 The available capacity of existing networks also needs to be evaluated and supported 

by targeted new infrastructure where appropriate. Development will therefore be 

required to deliver, or contribute towards the provision of, active travel schemes, public 

transport measures, road infrastructure, and other transport measures, in accordance 

with the Bridgend Local Transport Plan and the Bridgend Integrated Network Plan. 

Transport measures and infrastructure will need to be delivered in a timely manner to 

meet the needs of existing and planned communities, with priority given to the provision 

of active travel connections at the earliest possible opportunity. Where necessary, 

planning obligations will be sought to ensure that the effects of developments are fully 

addressed in order to make the development acceptable. 

 

5.2.54 Whilst developments should be encouraged in locations which reduce the need to travel 

and promote the use of sustainable transport, the Council recognises that any 

development growth will likely result in greater travel demand, and that increased traffic 

levels and congestion is likely to occur if appropriate mitigating transport measures and 

infrastructure are not delivered. The Strategic Transport Assessment has been prepared 

to consider the impact of plan proposals and help guide and inform the process of 

delivering land allocations by means of modelling and quantifying the transport impact 

of these proposals. 

 

PLA6: Development in Transport Corridors 

 

The following transport corridors are identified as the main routes in the County 

Borough for the movement of people and goods: 

 

PLA6(1) M4  

PLA6(2) Llynfi  

PLA6(3) Garw  

PLA6(4) Ogmore  

PLA6(5) Aberkenfig-Brynmenyn  

PLA6(6) Pyle-Aberkenfig  

PLA6(7) Pencoed-Pyle  

PLA6(8) Porthcawl-Cornelly 

 

Development must: 

 

Page 259



 

90 
 

1) be directed to appropriate locations served by the identified transport 

corridors; and.  

2) not result in adverse impacts on the functioning of the identified transport 

corridors. Any predicted adverse impacts must be appropriately mitigated, 

including through local or strategic improvements to specific transport 

corridors where required.    

 

New development proposals must be located in areas which can be effectively 

accessed so that the impact of road freight movement on the environment is 

minimised. 

 

 
5.2.55 Bridgend County Borough’s main urban settlements and communities have developed 

along the main transport corridors towards Bridgend town centre, following the natural 

topography of the County Borough. The geographical nature of the County Borough has 

resulted in a concentration of development primarily along linear corridors, therefore, 

when considering all forms of movement, transportation links and infrastructure, it is 

necessary to undertake this  on a ‘corridor basis’.    

 

5.2.56 There is a need to consider all forms of movement, transportation links and infrastructure 

along transport routes in the context of the topographic characteristics of the County 

Borough through which they pass. Therefore, PLA6 incorporates the ‘corridors concept’, 

which establishes corridors of interest, encompassing land-use and associated 

accessibility requirements (including all forms of transport) in order to aid transport 

investment decisions and land-use planning. The ‘corridor’ approach also allows the 

management and allocation of the existing road network to be carried out more 

effectively. For example, the location of development proposals can be assessed, and 

their demand on transportation and environmental standards can be considered, as 

affected by transportation issues along the length of the corridor. This is of particular 

importance when development proposals are assessed in the valley corridors, where 

the quality of the transportation network varies greatly along its respective corridor and 

alternative transport routes are limited. 

 

5.2.57 The standards to be considered will not only be limited to traffic capacity, which is 

determined by the width and alignment of the carriageway and junctions. Factors such 

as the degree of priority to be accorded to pedestrians, cyclists and public transport, 

frontage activity, conservation area designation, residential areas, on-street parking, 

location of schools and hospitals, noise, air quality, and risk of accident will also be 

considered. These factors will assist in assessing the maximum capacity and the nature 

of vehicles compatible with acceptable environmental standards associated with 

transportation issues. 

 

5.2.58 The corridors will be managed to encourage walking, cycling and use of public transport, 

especially for journeys to work. It is also recognised that the efficient and reliable 

movement of freight is vitally important to the economy of the County Borough. As such, 

development which generates lorry movement will be required to locate in areas which 

can be effectively accessed so that the impact of road freight movement on the 

environment is minimised. This is particularly significant to the valleys’ corridors for the 

Page 260



 

91 
 

reasons previously stated above. The corridors identified in PLA6 are identified on the 

Proposals Map. 

 

PLA7: Development West of the Railway Line, Pencoed 

Development that will generate a net increase in vehicular traffic movement in 

Pencoed to the west of the railway line, in the area shown on the proposals map, will 

not be permitted.  

 

5.2.59 The existing highway network in Pencoed, which forms part of the Pencoed-Pyle 

Transport Corridor, is severely constrained by the mainline railway between London and 

South Wales. This long-running issue is related to the Penprysg Road Bridge and 

Hendre Road level crossing, with significant congestion already resulting from existing 

development in Pencoed as discussed in the West Pencoed Development Moratorium 

Background Paper. Given the complex nature of this constraint, there is no prospect of 

mitigation within the Plan period.  In recognition of this, Policy PLA7 maintains a 

moratorium on further development which generates a net increase in vehicular 

movement to the west of the railway line. For clarity and certainty the specific area to 

which Policy PLA7 applies has been designated on the Proposals Map. 

 

5.2.60 New development that generates a net increase in vehicular movement will exacerbate 

congestion either side of the level-crossing and at the complex over-bridge junction 

between the eastern end of the relief road and Penybont Road. Given the scale of 

infrastructure needed to address identified issues at Penprysg Road Bridge and Hendre 

Road, any final solution is likely to depend upon future investment from partners 

including the Welsh Government and Network Rail. In the absence of a final solution yet 

being designed and funded, it is necessary to impose this interim area-specific 

development intensification moratorium to protect the functioning of the transport 

network in Pencoed and the wider Pencoed – Pyle transport corridor. 

 

PLA8: Transportation Proposals 

 

The following transportation proposals are allocated and safeguarded from 

development that would prevent their implementation: 

 

PLA8 (1) Bus improvements along the Llynfi, Garw, Ogmore, Aberkenfig – Bryncethin, 

Pyle – Aberkenfig, Pencoed – Pyle and Porthcawl – Cornelly Corridor, including a new 

bus interchange at Porthcawl 

PLA8 (2) New transport interchange at Porthcawl 

PLA8 (3) Improvements to the capacity of the Maesteg – Bridgend railway line 

PLA8 (4) New railway station with park and ride facility at Brackla, Bridgend 

PLA8 (5) Expand existing park and ride facility at Pencoed  

PLA8 (6) Expand/relocate existing railway station including strategic park and ride 

facilities at Pyle 

PLA8 (7) New transport interchange at Ewenny Road) 

PLA8 (8) Improvements at Ewenny and Broadland roundabouts, A48, Bridgend 

PLA8 (9) Capacity enhancements between Waterton and Laleston, A48 / A473, 

Bridgend  

Page 261



 

92 
 

PLA8 (10) Improvements to A4063 between Sarn and Maesteg 

PLA8 (11) Improvements to Penprysg Road Bridge, Pencoed 

PLA8 (12) Highway improvement works in the form of corridor or junction 

improvement schemes will be required to mitigate the impact of development on the 

highway network 

 

 

5.2.61 PLA8 identifies (and where necessary), safeguards land for strategic transport schemes 

that will provide improvements to the public transport network, make better use of the 

existing highway network to permit appropriate reallocation of road space, which will 

deliver more sustainable travel within the County Borough. The majority of the proposals 

have been identified in the Bridgend Local Transport Plan (LTP) and are therefore Welsh 

Government-approved schemes. The proposals identified in this policy are at differing 

stages of development and while definitive route alignments and details are available 

for some proposals, others may only have indicative alignments. All routes and areas to 

be protected are illustrated on the Proposals Map.  

 

Public Transport 

 

5.2.62 In line with national policy, the Council places an emphasis on improvements to the 

County Borough’s public transport network.  The availability of efficient and effective 

public transport is an important part of ensuring a place is sustainable. The 

improvements to the public transport network, promoted under policies  PLA8 (1) to (7) 

will encourage more residents and visitors to undertake journeys by bus or train, which 

will help to reduce the number of car-borne journeys, and facilitate access to 

employment opportunities, health and education facilities for those without access to a 

car.   

 

5.2.63 The provision of high quality bus corridors is a priority of the Cardiff Capital Region, and 

fundamental to efforts to encourage more people to use public transport. PLA8 (1) 

safeguards the provision of improvements to the Llynfi, Garw, Ogmore, Aberkenfig – 

Bryncethin, Pyle – Aberkenfig, Pencoed – Pyle and Porthcawl – Cornelly Corridors. 

These improvements will include bus stop enhancements, which may include new 

shelters, raised kerbs and carriageway enhancements. Bus priority measures may be 

included where feasible. Such improvements will encourage a switch of transport mode 

from car to public transport. 

 

5.2.64 The Maesteg railway line is an integral part of the Llynfi transport corridor, providing a 

sustainable travel option for those living and working in the Valley Gateway and Llynfi 

Valley. The Maesteg-Bridgend railway line capacity improvements safeguarded by 

policy PLA8 (3) propose to increase the frequency of trains from one per hour to one 

every 30 minutes. This will include the introduction of a passing loop and introduce 

opportunities for additional freight opportunities. The enhancement of the Maesteg Line 

is included in TfW’s proposals for delivery during Phase 2 of the Cardiff Capital Region 

Metro improvements and the Welsh Government’s National Transport Finance Plan, and 

is key to the delivery of sustainable economic development, linking communities 

together and connecting people to employment opportunities.  

 

Page 262



 

93 
 

5.2.65 Policy PLA8 (4) supports the development of a new Railway Station at Brackla. The 

proposed station will be situated on the South Wales Railway line from London to 

Fishguard. The station will provide facilities for interchange, comprising two platforms, a 

pedestrian/cyclist footbridge along with wider improvements for active travel access, and 

provision for park and ride. These facilities will enable sustainable travel journeys for 

residents of one of Bridgend’s largest residential areas to employment opportunities in 

Neath Port Talbot/Swansea, and the wider Cardiff Capital Region.  

 

5.2.66 PLA8 (5) promotes the expansion of the existing park and ride facilities at Pencoed rail 

station. PLA8 (6) supports the expansion of the existing park and ride facilities at Pyle 

rail station. This policy also supports the potential relocation of Pyle Railway Station and 

a new strategic park and ride facility. In addition, PLA8 (7) safeguards the provision of 

new park and ride provision at Ewenny Road, Maesteg. These policies will provide 

opportunities for effective interchange between active travel, public transport and cars 

to facilitate a reduction in the length and number of car-borne journeys, especially for 

the journey to work. Providing for convenient and efficient interchange between transport 

modes is vital for making sustainable travel options more attractive and practical to 

residents. 

 

Highway Network 

 

5.2.67 The County Borough’s highway network is under significant traffic pressure with 

congestion occurring during peak periods and at local hotspots. Highway improvements 

must be focused on making better use of the existing highway network, with an emphasis 

on improving journey time reliability and traffic flows, reducing congestion, improving air 

quality and road safety on the strategic network.   

 

5.2.68 Maintaining a resilient highway network is essential for the economic and environmental 

wellbeing of the County Borough. Policy PLA8 (8) includes provision for improvements 

at the Ewenny and Broadland roundabouts on the A48, while PLA8 (9) safeguards land 

for capacity enhancement of the A48/A473 between Waterton and Laleston. Measures 

that improve the capacity, efficiency and safety of these transport corridors and their 

associated junctions will benefit all road users and developments along them. There are 

significant constraints along the A4063 between Sarn and Maesteg which generate 

capacity and safety concerns. Appropriate improvements along this route will be 

promoted through policy PLA8 (10). Policy PLA8 (11) safeguards the provision of 

improvements to the complex over-bridge junction at Penprysg Road, Pencoed. This 

junction has severe capacity issues, poor active travel provision and along with the 

railway line, is a significant severance factor in the community.  

 

5.2.69 A Strategic Transport Assessment has been undertaken to consider the capacity issues 

as a result of the growth being promoted through the Plan. The Study has identified 

junctions and corridors where improvements will be required. As a consequence, Policy 

PLA8 (12) outlines the need for a number of interventions required to mitigate against 

the impacts of development on the transport network. The delivery of these interventions 

will be sought via developer contributions such as s106, or any other funding mechanism 

that the Council adopts. 

 

5.2.70 The list of corridor and junction improvement required by Policy PLA8 (12) to mitigate 

against the impact of development on the highway network are identified in the 

Page 263



 

94 
 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan and through site-specific policies. The Corridor Improvement 

Schemes may include active travel schemes, bus priority measures, signage 

improvements and new roads etc. The Junction Improvement Schemes may include 

upgrading to signals or improvements to signal controller equipment and timings, new 

junctions and capacity improvements. 

 

 

PLA9: Development Affecting Public Rights of Way 

 

As part of adopting a sustainable placemaking approach, development must link with 

and seek to minimise impacts on the PROW network. Any predicted adverse impacts 

on the character, safety, enjoyment and convenient use of a PROW must to be 

mitigated. 

 

 

5.2.71 ‘Public Rights of Way’ as referred to in PLA9 relate to non-carriageway highways. They 

include existing and proposed footpaths, bridleways, restricted byways, byways open to 

all traffic, and cycle tracks, all of which are statutory highways. 

 

5.2.72 Footpaths and bridleways were originally a vital means of getting to work, visiting 

relatives and friends, and accessing many other activities. Today, many of these 

journeys are undertaken using a motor car or alternative forms of transport, and 

therefore PROW are now often used for recreational journeys. This ready access helps 

promote health and well-being in the community, by providing an opportunity for all 

sectors of the population to access the countryside for recreational purposes. Within the 

context of fostering more sustainable development and communities it is important that 

walking and cycling, as a means of travel, is encouraged. The Council will therefore 

protect public rights of way to favour walking, cycling and, where appropriate, horse 

riding.  

5.2.73 Development must cater for existing rights of way by either protecting the right of way, 

or providing an equally effective and attractive alternative route. In either case, the right 

of way affected by the development must provide a safe and pleasant environment for 

all pedestrians to encourage its future use. Cycling, like walking, does not create 

pollution and is a sustainable mode of transport to be encouraged. Development must 

also cater for cycle tracks either by protecting the existing tracks, or by providing an 

equally effective alternative route, which is safe and pleasant to use. 

 

5.2.74 The design layout for residential, employment, retail, leisure and other developments 

must incorporate provision for walking and cycling and contribute towards links or 

access to the adopted active travel network.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 264



 

95 
 

PLA10: Safeguarding of Disused Railway Infrastructure 

 

Development which prevents the potential re-opening of disused or redundant railway 

infrastructure or their re-use for alternative transport or active travel purposes, will not 

be permitted.  

 

 

5.2.75 In accordance with national policy, the County Borough’s disused railways will be 

safeguarded from development that could prevent them being brought back to rail use 

in the future. It may be deemed appropriate to use disused rail alignments for active 

travel use as an interim measure. A number of active travel routes have already been 

implemented through the re-development of disused railway infrastructure. There are 

still a number of disused railway lines in the County Borough which have potential for 

transport related development and the remaining sections will be assessed in terms of 

their suitability for redevelopment as sustainable transport routes. The Council’s Active 

Travel Network Map includes a number of active travel proposals within disused railway 

line corridors. PLA10 therefore safeguards all disused railway infrastructure from non-

transport development, until an assessment has been made of their suitability for future 

transportation schemes. 

 

PLA11: Parking Standards 

 

All development must be served by appropriate levels of parking in accordance with 

the adopted SPG on parking standards. Consideration must be given to electric and 

Ultra Low Emission Vehicles.. 

 

 

5.2.76 The availability of car parking has a major influence on how people choose to travel. For 

this reason developments that generate a high level of trips must be located in areas 

well served by public transport and active travel infrastructure.   

5.2.77 The adopted Parking Standards SPG seeks to ensure a transparent and consistent 

approach to the provision of parking, travel plans and sustainability considerations that 

will inform developers, designers and builders of what is expected of them at an early 

stage of the development process. 

5.2.78 On-street car parking can cause problems by reducing road width, thereby affecting the 

free flow of traffic and adding to hazards for pedestrians, cyclists and other road users. 

Therefore, applications will be refused where the likelihood of on-street parking 

occurring will give rise to these concerns.  In some instances this can also impact on the 

amenity of residents who have to compete for a car parking space. 

 

 

 

 

Page 265



 

96 
 

Active Travel 

PLA12: Active Travel 

Development must maximise walking and cycling access by prioritising the provision 

within the site, and providing or making financial contributions towards the delivery 

offsite, of the following measures as appropriate:  

1) Permeable, legible, direct, convenient, attractive and safe walking and cycling 

routes that connect the proposed development to: 

a) surrounding settlements;  

b) public transport nodes;  

c) community facilities;  

d) commercial and employment areas;  

e) educational facilities; 

f) tourism facilities and destinations; and  

g) leisure opportunities;  

2) Delivery of proposals identified within the Council’s Active Travel Network 

Map; 

 

3) Improvements, connections, and/or extensions to:  

a) Routes and proposals identified on the Existing Routes Map and Active 

Travel Network Map; 

b) The National Cycle Network; 

c) Existing Public Rights of Way;  

d) Existing and proposed Safe Routes to School; and 

e) routes forming part of the green infrastructure network. 

 

4) The delivery of infrastructure designed in accordance with the Welsh 

Government’s Active Travel Act Design Standards, or its replacement, and 

any appropriate supporting standards; and  

 

5) Facilities that encourage the uptake of walking and cycling, including but not 

limited to: appropriate signage; secure and convenient cycle parking; seating; 

on-street cycle maintenance facilities; and changing and shower facilities.  

  

 

5.2.79 PLA12 supports new developments that incorporate well-designed safe features and 

facilities that will be accessible to all people to walk and cycle for everyday journeys, 

reducing existing heavy reliance placed upon the private car. The Replacement LDP 

aims to reduce private car reliance and help the County Borough achieve the principles 

set out by the Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013, with the ultimate aim of improving and 

expanding upon the current active travel routes as identified in the Existing Route Maps.  

 

5.2.80 Bridgend County Borough Council has produced ATNM to identify the walking and 

cycling routes required to create fully integrated networks for walking and cycling to 

access work, education, services and facilities. The Council’s ATNM set out detailed 

plans for a network of active travel routes and facilities in the County Borough over the 

Page 266



 

97 
 

next 15 years. Further information is contained in the ATNM which can be viewed on the 

Council’s website. The ATNM aim to improve access to key services and facilities 

including town centres, employment sites, retail areas and transport hubs, improved 

access to education facilities such as schools and colleges and improvements to, and 

expansion of, the existing strategic cycle network in the County Borough. The ATNM 

focusses on the following designated settlements in the County Borough: 
 

• Bettws • Pencoed 

• Bridgend  • Pontycymer  

• Gilfach Goch  • Porthcawl 

• Maesteg  • Pyle 

• Ogmore Vale   
 

5.2.81 The routes and proposals shown on the ATNM are indicative alignments that may be 

subject to change as routes are developed. Opportunities should be maximised to 

further improve upon these routes, providing connections which will allow integration 

between new developments and existing communities.  

 

5.2.82 Implementation of this policy will be facilitated through the development process. When 

considering development proposals, the design layout will be considered and priority will 

be given to the proposals that incorporate walking and cycling. A high quality design 

which makes a positive contribution to the distinctiveness of communities and places 

will be essential in ensuring walking and cycling is an attractive and popular option of 

travel. Developers should therefore ensure the key principles of design are employed to 

deliver active travel. Adherence to the Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 Design Guidance 

and other relevant guidance aids the delivery of high quality infrastructure.  

 

5.2.83 Developments should also seek to enhance green infrastructure as part of active travel 

proposals, recognising the potential to combine natural planting, greenery and/or water 

systems to create attractive, green and safe routes for cyclists and pedestrians. The 

addition of green infrastructure to active travel routes can provide numerous benefits 

including flood mitigation, climate change adaptation, enhanced biodiversity, improved 

connectivity and positive wellbeing impacts. Accompanying new development with such 

routes will help to promote more active lifestyles, combat social isolation and provide 

close linkages to the key places (i.e. employment, education or recreation) that residents 

in the County Borough will likely access.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cycle Path Network, Bridgend County Borough 

Page 267



 

98 
 

5.2.84 Consideration of active travel will be key during the master planning of strategic sites in 

the County Borough. PLA12 should be considered essential in the delivery of any 

strategic site or any proposal, ensuring that development is contributing to the promotion 

of a sustainable and healthy lifestyle. Provision of active travel and green infrastructure 

will be secured through planning conditions, planning obligations and Section 106 

agreements. Implementation of this Policy will help tackle air borne pollution emitted 

from road traffic, contributing to the decarbonisation of the County Borough. 

 

5.2.85 Bridgend County Borough plays an important role in the development and economic 

growth of the South East Wales region. The Council is working alongside local 

authorities of the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) to tackle issues such as worklessness 

and poor transportation links. The ‘Cardiff Capital Region City Deal’ aims to build on the 

region’s sectoral strengths and will provide opportunities to tackle barriers to economic 

growth by: improving transport connectivity; increasing skill levels still further; supporting 

people into work; and giving businesses the support they need to innovate and grow. 

Key projects include the delivery of the South East Wales Metro and modernisation of 

the Valleys lines.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 268



 

99 
 

5.3 To Create Active, Healthy, Cohesive, Inclusive and Social Communities 

 

5.3.1 This section of the Plan focusses on delivering well-connected, cohesive communities 

that are active, healthy and social. In addressing wider community needs, there is a 

particular emphasis on providing a mix of complementary uses that are accessible and 

will meet the needs of all members of society. This broad notion extends beyond 

ensuring there is sufficient housing land available to meet the need for new housing 

(market and affordable), it requires sustainable placemaking to be embraced in an 

integrated manner. Hence, there is a mutual need to ensure there is a range and choice 

of housing provision to respond to changing household needs over the Replacement 

LDP period, to deliver services and jobs closer to where people live and to recognise 

the role of the wider environment for good health and well-being. The Replacement LDP 

seeks to tackle inequalities between communities and support people to adopt healthy, 

culturally fulfilled lifestyles by improving access to services, cultural opportunities and 

recreation facilitates.  

 

5.3.2 Meeting housing need is fundamental to the Replacement LDP, both as a need in itself, 

generated from changing population characteristics, and also because housing is an 

important part of the support infrastructure necessary to achieve the Council’s 

placemaking agenda. It is essential that the County Borough’s residents’ quality of life is 

sustained and adequately catered for. Community services and social facilities must 

continue to address their needs, whilst not being hampered or undermined by planned 

growth. As well as delivering new homes to meet the needs of newly forming 

households, the LDP will therefore provide the scale of growth needed to secure 

investment in infrastructure, facilities and additional benefits for local communities. The 

planned increase in housing supply will also act as a key driver of economic growth 

across Bridgend and the wider regions.  

 

5.3.3 In order to create mixed and balanced communities, housing choice will be maximised 

to provide for a range of sizes, types and tenures of accommodation that can increase 

access to quality new homes, including market and affordable housing. Delivery of new 

homes helps to ease housing market pressure by boosting supply and preventing house 

prices rising uncontrollably in an otherwise constrained housing market. This helps to 

improve general market affordability and provide sufficient properties for future 

generations to live in Bridgend County Borough through provision of mixed-tenure 

developments. Sustainable housing growth therefore enables delivery of additional, 

complementary affordable housing to offer safety and security for local families unable 

to meet their needs in the housing market. This can include social rent, where rents are 

typically set at benchmark levels, and intermediate housing for first time buyers 

struggling to get onto the property ladder. Planning for growth therefore plays an 

important role in securing developer contributions to provide integrated affordable 

housing within new developments to foster sustainable, mixed tenure communities.  

 
5.3.4 Sustainable growth also has a huge impact on the labour market by generating new 

employment opportunities. Residential development initially creates jobs for 

construction workers along with those in associated occupations and supplier 

companies. This induces a multiplier effect, as new residents move into the vicinity and 

local business and services benefit from increased revenue. Longer term economic 

growth then becomes sustainable as a skilled workforce, investors and major employers 

Page 269



 

100 
 

are attracted into the area, leading to further revenue being recycled within the local 

economy. This can improve community job prospects and minimise the need for 

residents to commute out of the County Borough for employment purposes.  

 

5.3.5 Appropriate levels of sustainable growth also generates new opportunities to secure 

accompanying infrastructure such as improved education provision, leisure facilities 

and transport links. The occupiers of new homes ultimately place more demand on 

existing infrastructure, which is already at capacity in some areas. Planning for growth 

therefore provides a key opportunity to appraise the impacts on existing infrastructure, 

identify delivery requirements and then address deficiencies through planning 

obligations. For example, significant housing growth will give rise to demand for school 

places in the future. If there is limited or no spare capacity in the existing school(s), the 

proposed development places a burden on the community which can be resolved 

through developer contributions. Small levels of growth may only support interim 

solutions such as extensions, although sustainable growth at a strategic scale will be 

supported by new school provision and the other necessary infrastructure.  

 

5.3.6 Equally, capacity issues at major road junctions (that may be further exacerbated by 

new development) can be addressed by requiring new traffic management provision, 

new roads, and improved public transport links to accommodate the levels of growth 

required. The scale of the improvements are necessarily dictated by the scale of any 

new development within the vicinity and comprehensively planned developments 

provide greater opportunities for major infrastructure upgrades including Active Travel 

routes. Sustainable levels of growth are therefore be planned for in a manner that will 

enable significant improvements to physical and social infrastructure to increase the 

functionality and attractiveness of Bridgend County Borough for residents, investors and 

businesses. 

  

Sustainable Housing Strategy 

 

5.3.7 PPW considers good quality, affordable homes to be the ‘foundation of living well which 

brings a wide range of benefits to health, learning and prosperity’. This is essential for 

improving community well-being, both now and for future generations. A key function of 

SP6 is therefore to provide an appropriate and sustainable supply of housing land to 

deliver inter-connected, balanced communities that form the basis for individuals and 

families to prosper in all aspects of their lives. This will be monitored through a housing 

trajectory, which is a key tool to illustrate the expected rate of housing delivery for both 

market and affordable housing over the Replacement LDP period (see Appendix 1). This 

will ensure a deliverable supply of land is secured and maintained to meet the housing 

requirement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 270



 

101 
 

 

SP6: Sustainable Housing Strategy 

 

The plan makes provision for 8,590 homes to promote the creation and enhancement 

of sustainable communities and meet the housing requirement of 7,575 homes for the 

Plan period, of which, 1,646 of these homes will be affordable. Development will be 

distributed in accordance with Strategic Policy SP1, based on the Sustainable 

Housing Strategy that will:  

 
 

1) Prioritise the re-use of previously developed (Brownfield) land; 

 

2) Enable delivery of Strategic Sites, including Regeneration Sites within existing 

settlement boundaries and Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs) on the edge 

of established settlements;  

 

3) Enable Edge of Settlement Sites within, and on the edge of, established 

settlements;  

 

4) Support windfall residential development at appropriate sites within the 

settlement, focussing on the re-use of previously developed land;  

 

5) Enable exception sites within or adjoining settlement boundaries to deliver 

affordable housing and homes that provide for an identified local need; and 

 
6) Support use of Place Plans to identify small, local development sites that 

reflect local distinctiveness and address local, specific community scale issues 

and promote self and custom build opportunities. 

   

There will be a presumption against housing development in all areas outside defined 

settlement boundaries, unless the proposal is considered an appropriate exceptional 

case as detailed in Development Management Policy COM5. 

 

Delivery of the housing requirement is fundamental to effectiveness of the LDP and 

will be monitored on an annual basis through the Annual Monitoring Report. 
 

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 1, 2 

OBJ: 2c 

Future 

Wales 

Shaping Urban Growth and Strategic Placemaking: Regeneration 

Delivering Affordable Homes 

PPW Strategic and Spatial Choices: Strategic Placemaking 

Spatial Strategy and Site Search Sequence  

Accessibility, Previously Development Land, Best and Most Versatile 

Agricultural Land 

Active and Social Places, Living in a Place: Housing  

Supporting Infrastructure 

WBFG Act A prosperous Wales 

A resilient Wales 

LWBP Healthy choices in a healthy environment  

Key 

Evidence 

Demographic Analysis and Forecasts Report (2019) and LDP 

Demographics Update Addendum (2020) 

Page 271



 

102 
 

Local Housing Market Assessment (2021) 

Spatial Strategy Options Background Paper 

Strategic Growth Options Background Paper  

Plan-Wide Viability Study (2021) 

Settlement Assessment (2019, updated in 2021) 

Minimising the loss of BMV Agricultural Land Background Paper 

(2021) 

Candidate Site Assessment 

 

5.3.8 The Plan makes provision for 8,590 new dwellings in Bridgend County Borough 

(incorporating a 1,015 dwelling over allocation / 13% flexibility allowance) to 

accommodate a housing requirement of 7,575 dwellings during the 15 year LDP period 

from 2018 to 2033. As evidenced through the Housing Trajectory (Appendix 1), this level 

of flexibility comfortably demonstrates delivery of the Anticipated Annual Build Rate 

(AABR) throughout the plan period. The flexibility allowance has been included to ensure 

the Plan will remain effective in the event of changing circumstances such as non-

delivery of key sites and/or other unforeseen issues. This will allow for the plan and 

trajectory to be resilient and sufficiently adaptable to deal with any unforeseen changes, 

whilst still enabling the housing requirement to be delivered.  

 

5.3.9 The housing requirement will be met in practice through numerous strands of housing 

supply, including: 

 

• Land Bank Commitments, including completions to date, units under 

construction and sites that have planning permission and are capable of being 

delivered over the plan period; 

 

• Windfall Sites that are expected to come forward during the Plan period, based 

on an analysis of past trends and the Urban Capacity Study 2022, including small 

sites (less than 10 units) and large windfall sites (10 or more units); and 

 

• New Housing Allocations, including key strategic allocations along with smaller 

housing allocations, which are identified in COM1 and are supported by robust 

evidence from site promoters to demonstrate their viability and deliverability. This 

strand of supply also includes allocations rolled forward from the previous Plan, 

supported by clear evidence that circumstances have changed and the sites are 

both viable and can be delivered over the Replacement LDP period. 

 

5.3.10 The delivery of affordable housing is an integral part of the LDP’s overall housing 

requirement, which incorporates 1,646 affordable housing units. An integrated balance 

of tenures is a crucial means of fostering sustainable communities and the Replacement 

LDP plays an important role in securing suitable accommodation for households both 

able and unable to meet their needs in the market. Affordable housing is defined by 

National Planning Policy and Guidance as,  

‘housing where there are secure mechanisms in place to ensure that it is accessible 

to those who cannot afford market housing, both on first occupation and for 

subsequent occupiers. However, it is recognised that some schemes may provide 

for staircasing to full ownership and where this is the case there must be secure 

Page 272



 

103 
 

arrangements in place to ensure the recycling of capital receipts to provide 

replacement affordable housing’.   

Affordable housing includes:  

•  Social Rented Housing, which is provided by local authorities and registered 

social landlords where rent levels have regard to the Welsh Government 

guideline rents and benchmark rents; and  

•  Intermediate Housing: where prices or rents are above those of social rented 

housing but below market housing prices or rents. This differs to low cost market 

housing, which is not considered to be affordable housing for the purpose of the 

land use planning system. 

 

5.3.11 The Council has prepared an updated Local Housing Market Assessment (2021) for the 

County Borough. This LHMA identified an annual need for 451 affordable dwellings 

during the conventional five year assessment period (62% social rent and 38% 

intermediate), based on the assumption that the existing backlog will be cleared during 

these five years. A further annual need of 288 affordable dwellings has also been 

identified over the remaining 10 years of the LDP period (50% social rent and 50% 

intermediate), stemming from newly arising need from newly forming households plus 

existing households falling into need. The total need for affordable housing extrapolated 

over the whole Replacement LDP period (2018-2033) is 5,134 affordable housing 

units, comprising 2,839 social rented dwellings and 2,295 intermediate dwellings. 

This has informed Replacement LDP development to ensure the Plan will provide an 

appropriate contribution to affordable housing provision, through viable thresholds and 

proportions. However, it must be recognised the need identified in the LHMA represents 

the scale of the affordability gap in the market and the LDP itself is not the only affordable 

housing delivery mechanism to help address it. The Plan’s contribution will therefore 

form part of several streams of affordable housing supply to meet this identified need, 

including Social Housing Grant and other capital/revenue grant funded schemes, 

Registered Social Landlord self-funded schemes, reconfiguration of existing stock, private 

sector leasing schemes, discharge of homelessness duties into the private rented sector 

and re-utilisation of empty properties.  

 

5.3.12 The Strategy equally recognises the role that Place Plans can have in assisting with 

identifying small, local development sites that reflect local distinctiveness and address 

local, specific community scale issues. Place Plans are to cover a community area and 

their preparation should ideally, although not exclusively, be led by Town and 

Community Councils and/or related steering groups. This will allow local groups to take 

the initiative and help promote (i.e. via development briefs) small, locally distinctive 

developments at a scale commensurate with the respective settlement and in 

accordance with the Replacement LDP. 

 

5.3.13 A summary of the spatial distribution of housing is set out in Table 7 overleaf, which 

identifies how the Plan’s housing requirement figure is to be met through the full range 

of housing supply strands. Additional supporting information on each component of 

housing supply is detailed in the Housing Trajectory Background Paper. The spatial 

distribution of large and small windfall sites has been estimated based on the 

proportionate level of urban capacity documented in the Urban Capacity Study 2022.  

Page 273



 

104 
 

Table 7: Summary of Spatial Distribution of Housing 

Housing Requirement (2018-2033): 7,575 Dwellings 

Total Housing Provision (2018-2033): 8,590 Dwellings (inclusive of 1,015 dwelling (13%) flexibility allowance) 

 

Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 

Bridgend 

Sustainable 

Growth 

Area 

Maesteg and 

the Llynfi 

Valley 

Regeneration 

Growth Area 

Porthcawl 

Regeneration 

Growth Area 

Pencoed 

Sustainable 

Growth 

Area 

Pyle, Kenfig 

Hill and North 

Cornelly 

Sustainable 

Growth Area 

Valleys 

Gateway 

Local 

Settlements 

(Outside of 

Growth 

Areas) 

A 
Total Completions 

(large and small) 
1,131 56 155 48 44 145 71 

B 
Units under 

construction 
146 0 37 0 0 8 17 

C 

Units with planning 

permission  

(large sites) 

192 36 41 37 21 416 4 

D 
New Housing 

Allocations 
1,726 372 780 804 1,225 0 0 

E 
Large windfall sites 

(10+ units) 
108 102 16 1 26 43 100 

F 
Small windfall sites 

(<10 units) 
186 176 27 1 45 74 173 

G 
Total Housing 

Provision 
3,489 742 1,056 891 1,361 686 365 

P
age 274



 

105 
 
 

5.3.14 The housing requirement has been distributed to sustainable locations in accordance 

with the Settlement Hierarchy and Spatial Strategy. Due regard has been had to 

settlement accessibility, services, facilities and employment opportunities in order to 

promote sustainable forms of growth and patterns of movement. The Strategy has 

stringently followed the site search sequence in line with PPW. Previously developed 

land and/or underutilised sites located within existing settlements have been considered 

in the first instance, followed by suitable and sustainable sites on the edge of the Primary 

Key Settlement and Main Settlements. This has ensured that the new proposed housing 

allocations are geographically balanced with community facilitates, services and 

employment opportunities within existing settlements. Grouping major generators of 

travel demand together in this manner will help minimise the need for long journeys, 

reduce reliance on the private car and increase the propensity for residents to walk, 

cycle and utilise public transport.  

 

5.3.15 The overall spatial distribution of housing (as identified in Table 7) is provided to 

demonstrate how the Replacement LDP can be delivered spatially, directed by the 

Settlement Assessment and Spatial Strategy. The small and large windfall site 

contribution (rows E and F) is evidenced through a trend based analysis of past 

completions and a detailed study of urban capacity (refer to the Housing Background 

Paper and Urban Capacity Study 2022). Such sites make an important contribution to 

the overall housing land supply, introducing an element of choice and flexibility into the 

housing market. 
 

5.3.16 Additional long-term Regeneration Sites are also proposed for allocation, located within 

parts of the County Borough that will benefit the most and also those that exhibit 

opportunities to deliver the greatest positive impacts of such growth. However, as 

referenced in PPW, the housing land supply will not be dependent on these additional 

long-term Regeneration Sites, as they require longer lead-in times, preparatory 

remediation-based enabling works and more detailed strategies to enable their delivery. 

These sites will therefore be considered ‘bonus sites’ in addition to the provision 

identified in Table 7. Specifically, Coegnant Reclamation Site (COM1 (R1)), the Former 

Cooper Standard Site, Ewenny Road (COM1 (R2)) and Maesteg Washery (COM1 (R3)), 

will not be counted as part of the immediate housing land supply, although the Council 

remains committed to their redevelopment through their allocation as long-term 

Regeneration Sites. This recognises the fact that the deliverability timescales of these 

sites are more difficult to specify, despite their high credentials in terms of sustainable 

development and placemaking. 

 

5.3.17 The new housing allocations (row D) include sites rolled over from the existing LDP and 

land derived from the Candidate Sites Assessment Process. All sites included within row 

D have been subject to detailed site assessment work including: 

 

• An infrastructure assessment to ensure the sites are capable of delivering the 

level of supporting infrastructure required; 

• A masterplanning process to ensure they create sustainable, cohesive, well-

designed places delivered through a strong placemaking approach; and 

• A financial viability assessment to ensure the sites are deliverable within the 

Plan period. 

 

Page 275



 

106 
 
 

5.3.17 This vigorous process has provided a high degree of confidence that the sites included 

within this Replacement LDP are deliverable, considering the full plethora of associated 

infrastructure requirements and placemaking principles to deliver high quality 

communities. For further information, refer to the Candidate Site Assessment Report. 

The overarching Sustainable Housing Strategy (SP6) and total spatial provision (Table 

7) is further supplemented by COM1 below, which details the new specific site 

allocations.  

 

 

COM1: Housing Allocations 

 

In order to deliver the housing requirement identified in SP6, the following sites are 

allocated for residential development in the period up to 2033: 
 

Site Ref Site Name 
Growth 

Area 

Total 

Units in 

Plan 

Period 

Total 

Affordable 

Units in 

Plan 

Period 

Delivery 

Timescale 

 

Units 

Beyond 

LDP 

Period 

Strategic Sites 

SP2(1) 
Porthcawl 

Waterfront  
Porthcawl 780 234 Year 6-15 320 

SP2(2) 
Land South 

of Bridgend  
Bridgend 788 158 Year 6-15 0 

SP2(3) 
Land West 

of Bridgend  
Bridgend 830 170 Year 6-15 20 

SP2(4) 
Land East 

of Pencoed 
Pencoed 804 161 Year 6-15 0 

SP2(5) 
Land East 

of Pyle 

Pyle, 

Kenfig 

Hill and 

North 

Cornelly 

970 150 Year 6-15 1033 

Housing Allocations 

COM1(1) Heol Fach 

 Pyle, 

Kenfig 

Hill and 

North 

Cornelly 

255 51 Year 6-15 0 

COM1(2) 
Craig y 

Parcau 
Bridgend 108 22 Year 6-10 0 

COM1(3) 

Land South 

East of Pont 

Rhyd-y-cyff 

Maesteg 

and the 

Llynfi 

Valley 

140 21 Year 6-15 0 

COM1(4) 

Land South 

of Pont 

Rhyd-y-cyff 

Maesteg 

and the 
102 15 Year 6-15 0 

Page 276



 

107 
 
 

Llynfi 

Valley 

COM1(5) 

Land South 

West of 

Pont Rhyd-

y-cyff 

Maesteg 

and the 

Llynfi 

Valley 

130 20 Year 6-10 0 

Long-Term Regeneration Sites 

(not counted as part of the immediate housing land supply) 

COM1 

(R1) 

Coegnant 

Reclamation 

Site 

Maesteg 

and the 

Llynfi 

Valley 

100 Delivery timescales unspecified 

COM1 

(R2) 

Former 

Cooper 

Standard 

Site, 

Ewenny 

Road 

Maesteg 

and the 

Llynfi 

Valley 

138 Delivery timescales unspecified 

COM1 

(R3) 

Maesteg 

Washery 

Maesteg 

and the 

Llynfi 

Valley 

135 Delivery timescales unspecified 

 

5.3.18 The economically viable and deliverable allocations identified within COM1 will facilitate 

placemaking-led, sustainable development and foster communities that have access to 

sufficient, good quality, affordable housing to meet a range of needs. The accompanying 

Housing Trajectory (see Appendix 1) summarises annual phasing information for all 

allocated sites within the Plan, whilst also identifying how they will be delivered in order 

to determine the expected rate of housing delivery for both market and affordable 

dwellings. This will enable effective monitoring of the Plan and demonstrate that a 

deliverable housing land supply is maintainable throughout the entirety of the Plan 

period. 

Affordable Housing 

5.3.19 New housing developments must incorporate an appropriate mix of house types, sizes 

and tenures to cater for the range of locally identified housing needs. This will ensure 

sustainable, balanced and cohesive communities are planned for whilst delivering the 

housing requirement through the related land supply. During the LDP period, 

development proposals are expected to deliver 1,646 affordable dwellings across the 

County Borough in order to contribute to the identified level of housing need. This not 

only reflects the quantum of housing need across the County Borough (as identified 

through the LHMA) but also the viability of delivering affordable housing through 

planning contributions (as assessed in the Plan-Wide Viability Assessment and site-

specific testing).  

 

 

Page 277



 

108 
 
 

 

COM2: Affordable Housing 

 

 

 

 

Provision will be made to deliver 1,646 affordable homes over the Plan period through 

the following measures: 

 

1) Setting targets for on-site provision of affordable housing to be delivered as 

part of residential proposals where appropriate and viable; 

 

2) Enabling off-site provision of affordable housing in exceptional circumstances;  

 

3) Enabling Registered Social Landlord schemes to come forward as small and 

windfall sites; and 

 

4) Providing a policy framework to determine Affordable Housing Exception 

Sites. 
 

 

5.3.20 While additional affordable housing is needed throughout the County Borough, this 

varies by Housing Market Area in terms of quantity and type, with Bridgend having been 

identified as the highest housing need area. This evidence, combined with the 

Settlement Assessment and Spatial Strategy Options Background Paper, informed the 

classification of Bridgend as the Primary Key Settlement within the Settlement Hierarchy 

and the primary focus for sustainable growth. Equally, the LHMA identified high need 

within and informed classification of the other Main Settlements in the Strategy (including 

Pencoed, Porthcawl and the grouped settlement of Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly), 

along with moderate need in Maesteg. The Spatial Strategy has therefore been 

developed to maximise affordable housing delivery in high housing need areas. 

However, the housing need identified within the LHMA does not directly translate into 

an outright affordable housing delivery target for the LDP or even represent the solution 

to the affordability issues within the locality. It instead indicates the scale of housing 

need within Bridgend County Borough, which the Council will seek to address as far as 

practically possible.  

 

5.3.21 The LDP is one significant means of addressing this shortfall, although it must be 

recognised that its policies and allocations are not the only mechanism to deliver 

affordable housing. The Plan-Wide Viability Assessment (2021) was therefore prepared 

to determine the extent to which the LDP can contribute to the need identified for 

affordable housing across the County Borough over the plan period. The Assessment 

considered the broad levels of development viability across the County Borough’s seven 

Housing Market Areas as identified within the LHMA and was supplemented with site-

specific viability testing for those sites key to delivery of the Plan. This process informed 

the contribution that sites (within different market areas) can make to the delivery of 

infrastructure, affordable housing and other policy requirements. These requirements 

are reflected in Development Management Policy COM3.  

 

5.3.22 During the plan period, development proposals within the LDP are expected to deliver a 

total of 1,646 affordable dwellings across the County Borough in order to contribute to 

Page 278



 

109 
 
 

the level of housing need identified by the LHMA. This overall affordable housing target 

has been derived by applying the site-specific contributions within COM1 and the 

percentage targets within COM3 to the individual components of housing supply. 

Therefore, the overall affordable housing target only relates to sources of supply that 

are funded and delivered through the planning system as outlined in Table 8 below. The 

Plan has made provision to deliver the affordable housing target within the 

designated settlement boundaries.  

 

Table 8: Affordable Housing Supply Components 2018-33 
 

Components 
Number of Affordable 

Housing Units 

Total Completions (large and small) 367 

Units under construction 65 

Units with planning permission (large sites) 172 

New Housing Allocations 1,002 

Large windfall sites (10+ units) 40 

Small windfall sites (<10 units) 0 

Total LDP Affordable Supply 1,646 

 

 

5.3.23 The remaining need for affordable housing (identified in the LHMA) will need to be 

delivered through a range of other mechanisms. These mechanisms include capital 

grant funding (Social Housing Grant or otherwise), self-funded Registered Social 

Landlord developments, private sector leasing schemes, re-utilisation of empty homes 

and re-configuration of existing stock. However, these mechanisms are outside the 

scope of the LDP itself, especially considering that past availability of capital funding 

(notably Social Housing Grant) does not provide a robust indication of the future 

availability of funding over the life of the LDP. On this basis, no further allowance has 

been made in Table 8 to factor in such alternative affordable housing delivery 

mechanisms. Equally, whilst there is a framework to enable affordable housing exception 

sites, these developments are intended to be small in scale, exceptional in circumstance 

and only to meet an identified, pressing, local need. The LDP’s affordable housing target 

does not factor in an allowance for affordable housing delivered on exception sites for 

this reason. 

 

5.3.24 COM3 seeks to secure appropriate on-site affordable housing provision from new 

residential developments in order to contribute to the affordable housing requirement 

set out in SP6 and COM2. The Council considers on-site provision to be the optimal 

means of delivering affordable housing in order to foster sustainable, balanced, mixed-

tenure communities across the County Borough. The thresholds for and percentages of 

affordable housing provision have been set with regard to the housing need identified 

within the LHMA, the Plan-Wide Viability Assessment and site-specific viability testing.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 279



 

110 
 
 

 

COM3: On-Site Provision of Affordable Housing 

 

Affordable housing contributions will be sought on residential developments with 

capacity for 10 or more dwellings at the following target percentages: 

 

Housing Market Area(s) 
Target Affordable Housing 

Percentage 

• Porthcawl 30% affordable housing contribution 

• Pencoed 

• Bridgend 
15% affordable housing contribution 

• Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly 0% affordable housing contribution 

• Valleys Gateway 10% affordable housing contribution 

• Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley 

• Ogmore and Garw Valleys 
0% affordable housing contribution 

 

The five Mixed-Use, Strategic Development Sites are subject to individual, site-

specific affordable housing policies as outlined in Policies PLA1-5 and reiterated 

below. In addition, the following COM1 Housing Allocations are also subject to site-

specific affordable housing policies as outlined below and evidenced through site-

specific viability testing: 
 

Housing Allocation 
Target Affordable 

Housing Percentage 

• SP2(1) – Porthcawl Waterfront 
30% affordable 

housing contribution 

• SP2(2) – Land South of Bridgend 

• SP2(3) – Land West of Bridgend 

• SP2(4) – Land East of Pencoed 

• COM1(1) – Heol Fach, North Cornelly 

• COM1(2) – Craig y Parcau, Bridgend 

20% affordable 

housing contribution 

• SP2(5) – Land East of Pyle 

• COM1(3) – Land South East of Pont Rhyd-y-cyff 

• COM1(4) – Land South of Pont Rhyd-y-cyff 

• COM1(5) - Land South West of Pont Rhyd-y-cyff 

15% affordable 

housing contribution 

 

Affordable housing will be expected to be delivered on-site in the first instance 

and off-site provision and/or financial contributions will only be accepted in lieu of on-

site provision in exceptional circumstances. In the event that the target percentage 

produces a requirement for a partial affordable housing unit, the contribution will be 

rounded up to the nearest whole number. 

 

Planning applications that comply with this Policy will be assumed to be viable and it 

should not be necessary for viability issues to be considered further at planning 

application stage. Deviation from the affordable housing percentages specified will 

only be acceptable if the applicant can clearly demonstrate that particular exceptional 

circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the point of application. In 

such rare instances, the applicant must provide all information, evidence and 

justification to the Council on an ‘open book’ basis.  

Page 280



 

111 
 
 

  

5.3.25 The delivery of both social rented and intermediate housing on residential sites through 

the LDP will provide a valuable contribution towards the overall level of housing need 

identified within the County Borough. Residential proposals will need to have regard to 

the level, type and size of affordable dwellings needed, as detailed in the LHMA, to 

ensure that appropriate forms of affordable housing are delivered in the respective 

market areas. This will ensure communities have access to sufficient, good quality and 

appropriate affordable housing to meet a range of locally identified needs. Where viable, 

maximisation of affordable housing delivery within private developer schemes will also 

facilitate the creation of sustainable, balanced communities, which is fundamental to 

delivering the LDP’s Key Strategic Objectives, especially to Create Active, Healthy, 

Cohesive, Inclusive and Social Communities in accordance with the Well-Being of 

Future Generations Act. 

 

5.3.26 COM3 outlines the total number of dwellings required to be delivered as affordable 

housing units on sites across the County Borough based on area and site-specific 

percentages and thresholds. COM3 applies to all proposed residential developments 

(C3 use class) located within settlement boundaries, with a capacity to deliver a net gain 

of 10 or more dwellings. Where related, adjacent residential proposals produce 

combined dwelling numbers that meet or exceed the specified thresholds, they will be 

treated as a single proposal and the relevant affordable housing target percentage will 

then be applied. COM3 seeks to maximise the LDP’s contribution to affordable housing 

provision, particularly on non-allocated sites within high housing need areas. 

Independently verified, site-specific viability appraisals have also informed the site-

specific affordable housing policies as detailed within COM3. 

 

5.3.27 The most recent LHMA should be used as the primary source of housing need in order 

to inform an appropriate mix of affordable dwellings on-site, alongside any other relevant 

local information provided by the Council. Where affordable housing is provided, it 

should be constructed to Development Quality Requirement Standards and integrated 

into the overall development through separate clusters of no more than ten affordable 

units. Affordable housing should not be obviously segregated through layout, location or 

design. This is fundamental to ensure delivery of balanced, mixed-tenure, sustainable 

communities.  

 

5.3.28 Where a bespoke need has been identified, and on appropriate sites, new development 

may also be required to provide for more specialist affordable housing provision 

including accessible accommodation. However, it would not be appropriate for such 

provision to be required on every site as this will depend on the location of the site, the 

type of development, viability considerations and the level of housing need identified for 

that area. 

 

5.3.29 Deviation from the requirements set out in COM3 should not be necessary and will only 

be acceptable in exceptional circumstances if it can be robustly demonstrated that site-

specific constraints, abnormal costs and/or other viability challenges necessitate a 

reduction. The Council will require robust supporting evidence to warrant any proposed 

reduction in affordable housing provision on specific sites, although will work 

collaboratively with developers in such instances to agree an appropriate percentage of 

Page 281



 

112 
 
 

on-site affordable housing provision. A range of development variables will be 

considered to ensure the level of affordable housing provision sought will not render the 

particular scheme unviable, including:  

• The total cost of planning obligations required; 

• Any site-specific constraints that produce abnormal costs; 

• Any variations to build or other development costs that are otherwise typically 

associated with the type of scheme proposed; 

• The proportionate split between affordable housing tenures required; 

• Evidence about land and property values; and  

• The level of return required by both landowner and developer. 

5.3.30 The Council will require full disclosure of all relevant viability evidence relating to the site 

in order to enable negotiations to be undertaken in an open and transparent manner. In 

the event that an agreement cannot be reached, an independent assessment will be 

commissioned by the Council, the costs of which must be met by the developer.  

5.3.31 In the interests of achieving balanced, mixed and sustainable communities, the full 

percentage of affordable housing provision will be sought on-site in the first instance. 

However, COM4 recognises that there may be exceptional circumstances where on-site 

provision is considered unfeasible and the Council may therefore consider an alternative 

form of provision including off-site provision and/or the payment of commuted sums. 

Proposals that seek to justify off-site provision and/or commuted sums in lieu of on-site 

affordable housing provision will be assessed against COM4.  

 
 

COM4: Off-Site Provision of Affordable Housing 

 

In exceptional circumstances, the provision of affordable housing off-site may be 

considered an acceptable alternative to on-site provision and permitted where: 

 

1) Robust evidence is provided to satisfactorily demonstrate that it is not feasible 

for the target affordable housing percentage to be delivered on-site owing to 

the nature of the development or other site-specific considerations; and 

 

2) The overall number of affordable homes that will be delivered by the 

development will be at least the same number, type and quality as that which 

would have been achieved on-site if the target percentage had been achieved; 

and  

 

3) If the affordable dwellings are to be delivered off-site, a suitable and available 

alternative site will need to be identified within the same Housing Market Area 

as the development site, funding for the provision of the off-site affordable 

dwellings must be demonstrated and the affordable dwellings must be 

delivered before completion of the on-site dwellings; and 

 

Page 282



 

113 
 
 

4) If a financial contribution is agreed, the commuted sum payable to the Council 

must be of an equivalent value to the developer’s financial contribution that 

would otherwise be expected to deliver the affordable housing on-site.  

 

In all instances, the housing provided both on and off-site must foster creation of 

sustainable and balanced communities that accord with the principles of Good Design 

and Sustainable Placemaking as per the policy requirements of SP3. 
 

 

 

5.3.32 Off-site provision and/or commuted sums will only be considered in exceptional 

circumstances. These circumstances could include, for example, where no Registered 

Social Landlord partner has expressed an interest in acquiring the on-site affordable 

units or where it may prove unfeasible to incorporate affordable units within a small 

development based on its site-specific context. In such instances, the Council will adopt 

a pragmatic approach to determine whether off-site provision or commuted sums would 

be most appropriate to deliver the affordable housing contribution, ensuring that the 

affordable homes are ultimately delivered as close as possible to the original 

development site within the same Housing Market Area. The value of the contribution 

must equate to what would otherwise have been secured on-site, thereby enabling no 

fewer units to be delivered off-site. 

 
 

COM5: Affordable Housing Exception Sites 

 

 

 

 

Proposals to develop affordable housing on sites within or adjoining settlement 
boundaries will only be permitted where: 
 

1) The proposal meets an identified local need that cannot be satisfied on 
alternative sites within the locality’s identified settlement boundary; 
 

2) The proposal represents a logical extension to the existing settlement, 
does not exceed ten affordable dwellings and is of a scale appropriate to 
and in keeping with the character of the settlement; 
 

3) The site is in a sustainable location, within or adjoining an existing 
settlement boundary with reasonable access to at least a basic range of 
local community services and facilities; 

 
4) The proposed dwelling(s) are of a size, tenure and design which is 

commensurate with the affordable housing need identified for the locality;  
 

5) There are secure mechanisms in place to ensure the dwellings are 
accessible to those who cannot afford market housing, both on first 
occupation and for subsequent occupiers; and 

 
6) There is no loss of land of important recreational, amenity or natural 

heritage value. 
 

Page 283



 

114 
 
 

Market housing will not be permitted on 100% affordable housing exception sites. The 
proposed affordable housing must meet the needs of local people in perpetuity, which 
will be secured through the planning consent by means of a S106 legal agreement. 
 
 

 
5.3.33 The LDP Strategy directs the majority of growth towards areas that already benefit from 

good infrastructure, services and facilities, or where additional capacity can be provided, 

in order to facilitate sustainable placemaking in accordance with the Settlement 

Hierarchy. Development of land within or on the periphery of urban areas is therefore 

prioritised, especially on previously developed ‘brownfield’ sites. The Replacement LDP 

has also made provision to deliver the affordable housing target specified within COM2 

within the designated settlement boundaries. However, it is acknowledged that there 

may be some instances where it is not always possible to meet locally identified need 

for affordable housing within existing settlements. Whilst the Council expects the 

majority of development to take place within the defined settlement boundaries, COM5 

recognises that certain area specific factors (such as limited developable land and high 

land prices) may be prohibitive to affordable housing delivery in this manner. COM5 is 

therefore an exception to the general housing provision policies of the LDP, which do 

not otherwise permit new housing outside settlement boundaries. However, 

development will still need to have reasonable access to local community services and 

facilities in nearby settlements and meet the specified criteria and other relevant policies 

of the LDP, especially DNP1. Development will also need to respond to a pressing local 

need identified by the LHMA and/or Local Housing Authority.  

 

5.3.34 COM5 will facilitate delivery of small affordable housing schemes within or adjoining 

existing settlements where it can be clearly demonstrated that there is a pressing local 

need and this need cannot otherwise be accommodated within the respective settlement 

boundary. Affordable Housing Exception Sites must comprise of no more than 10 units, 

which is the appropriate size for a sustainable cluster of affordable housing. Sites larger 

than 10 units can become increasingly unconducive to the delivery and maintenance of 

balanced, mixed tenure communities and will therefore not be in accordance with COM5. 

Proposals must be designed based on the latest affordable housing need evidence 

detailed within the LHMA, or more recent evidence confirmed by the Local Housing 

Authority, and respond to the tenures, property sizes and dwelling types identified.  

 

5.3.35 All Affordable Housing Exception Sites must provide affordable housing to meet locally 

identified need in perpetuity. For the purposes of providing affordable housing in rural 

areas, ‘local need’ constitutes any household who has been confirmed by the Council 

as being in need of affordable housing within the respective Housing Market Area 

(defined by the latest LHMA). This household must be registered on the Common 

Housing Register or any waiting list held by the Council for housing need, have a life or 

work connection to the Housing Market Area and be able to demonstrate that they are 

unable to meet their housing needs within the market. The Council will normally require 

the affordable housing to be delivered and managed by a Registered Social Landlord, 

although in all cases, the dwelling(s) must remain affordable in perpetuity, secured 

through a planning condition or legal agreement. The only exception to this will be in 

instances where the mortgagee is in possession. 

 

Page 284



 

115 
 
 

5.3.36 All Affordable Housing Exception Sites must be of a scale proportionate to the size of 

the existing settlement and comply with SP3 to ensure the appropriate integration of new 

affordable housing within existing settlements. Due consideration will be given to the 

siting, scale and design of Affordable Housing Exception Sites to ensure they can be 

sustainably accommodated in terms of infrastructure, access, habitat and landscape 

conservation. Development should also be well located to take advantage of existing 

public transport provision and active travel routes. However, new development in the 

open countryside away from existing settlements will continue to be strictly controlled. 

All proposals outside settlement boundaries, within the area defined as countryside, will 

be determined against DNP1, Development in the Countryside, which restricts 

development as set out in TAN 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010). 

Furthermore, proposals must have regard to their ecological, landscape, cultural and 

amenity impact in accordance with SP17, SP18 and DNP1-10. COM5 does not seek to 

enable large scale affordable housing developments in countryside locations as the LDP 

has made sufficient provision to deliver the affordable housing target within the 

designated settlement boundaries.  

 

 

Housing Density 

 

COM6: Residential Density  
 

Development must seek to create mixed, socially inclusive, sustainable communities 

by providing a range of house types and sizes to meet the needs of residents at an 

efficient and appropriate density. Higher residential densities and mixed uses must be 

achieved along public and mass transport hubs to maximise the opportunities for 

transit orientated development. A lower density of development will only be permitted 

where:  

1) Design, physical or infrastructure constraints prevent the minimum density 

from being  achieved; or  

2) The minimum density would harm the character and appearance of the site’s 

surroundings; or 

3) Where it can be demonstrated there is a particular lack of choice of housing 

types within a local community. 

 

In all cases, housing developments must make the most efficient use of land in 

accordance with sustainable, placemaking principles. Good Design must be utilised 

to maximise the density of development without compromising the quality of the living 

conditions provided, whilst making adequate provision for privacy and space about 

dwellings. 

 

Residential development on allocated sites must be delivered in accordance with the 

capacities specified in COM1 or otherwise robustly demonstrate why variance is 

necessary. 
 

 

 

 

Page 285



 

116 
 
 

5.3.37 All land utilised for development must be used as efficiently as possible and brought 

forward at a density which maximises the development potential of the land and the level 

of affordable housing provision in accordance with COM6. Higher density developments 

can help to lessen the quantity of land needed to meet future housing needs, although 

a balance has to be achieved to ensure a quality living environment enshrined in 

placemaking principles. 

  

5.3.38 Housing developments must pursue the objectives of Good Design to achieve this 

density whilst still making adequate provisions for space about dwellings, SuDS and a 

pleasant living environment. However, it is acknowledged that individual circumstances 

will vary according to the site location and the character of the surrounding area. 

Therefore, lower densities may be accepted where proposals address other Policy 

considerations, where development would have an unacceptable impact on design or 

highway safety or where there are acknowledged physical or infrastructural constraints 

on the site. Lower density development may also be acceptable where it addresses a 

lack of housing choice. In particular, some valley communities are dominated by high-

density terraced housing and a lower form of density may provide greater range of house 

types than available in local markets, especially where this is delivered by self-build and 

custom-build initiatives. 

 

5.3.39 In order to foster sustainable, mixed and balanced communities, the Council will expect 

developers to provide an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes and types to meet local 

housing needs, with reference to the evidence within the latest LHMA. A preponderance 

of larger dwelling types with four or more bedrooms should be avoided and 

developments must seek to provide a suitable range of housing types to meet the needs 

of households in the County Borough. Careful designs and layouts should be utilised to 

avoid a visual distinction between different types of housing and tenures. 

 

COM7: Houses in Multiple Occupation 

 

Proposals to convert an existing building into a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO), 

bedsits or other forms of shared housing will only be permitted within defined 

settlement boundaries if: 

 

1) The cumulative impact of the development would not lead to an over 

concentration of HMOs in the locality to the detriment of community cohesion 

or residential living standards;  

 

2) Conversion is possible without major extensions or alterations to the building 

which would significantly alter the character and appearance of the street 

scene and the broader locality;  

 

3) The scale and intensity of use would be compatible with the existing building 

and adjoining and nearby uses;  

 

4) the proposal incorporates on-site parking provision or demonstrates that it will 

not have an adverse effect on local parking provision;  

Page 286



 

117 
 
 

 

5) the proposal includes adequate storage for recycling/refuse, cycles and a 

clothes drying area; and 

 

6) The proposal does not result in any residential property being directly between 

two HMOs or more than two HMO’s being side by side. 

 

In all other respects development will be expected to meet the relevant requirements 

set out in other LDP policies. 
 

 

 

5.3.40 In planning terms, a house is considered to be in multiple occupation when occupied by 

between three and six unrelated residents, sharing basic amenities such as a kitchen or 

bathroom. The LHMA identified a significant need for accommodation to house smaller 

households across the County Borough. While self-contained accommodation often 

presents the most sustainable option to meet this need, HMOs can form an important 

part of the housing stock to ensure a broad range of housing options are available. 

HMOs can indeed provide accommodation for small households who may otherwise be 

unable to meet their needs in the market and/or require flexibility to move home. 

 

5.3.41 However, residents of HMOs can often remain in situ for relatively less time than 

residents of other dwelling houses, meaning areas with significant concentrations of 

HMOs can witness greater population turnover. Equally, multiple occupation of a house 

can involve intensification of its residential use, due to a greater number of independent 

adults residing within the property. In certain instances, this can lead to increased levels 

of activity in and around the house, greater noise levels, additional demand for car 

parking spaces and waste disposal issues. Nevertheless, conversion of a single dwelling 

house into a HMO may not necessarily constitute intensification. For example, a single 

dwelling house could accommodate an adult couple plus several additional adult 

children who are set to remain in the parental home for an unspecified period. On this 

basis, it is normally difficult to demonstrate the degree of impact that an individual 

property converted to a HMO may have on the character and amenity of its 

surroundings. However, a high proportion of HMOs can have a much more significant 

cumulative impact on the character of an area, its residential amenity and also local 

community cohesion. These factors combined with a reduction in the number of family 

homes within an area can inhibit the maintenance of sustainable, mixed and balanced 

communities.  

 

5.3.42 COM7 therefore seeks to ensure proposals to convert dwellings into HMO’s are 

assessed as to their appropriateness in order to avoid over intensification of the use 

within the locality. The building itself must be suitable for conversion without extensions 

or alterations that would change its character and appearance, thereby avoiding 

insensitive, unneighbourly infilling. Equally, the proposal must be compatible with both 

the building itself and the broader locality in terms of intensity and scale, in order to 

prevent cumulative harmful impacts. Proposals should consider provision of on-site car 

parking or otherwise demonstrate that conversion to a HMO would not adversely impact 

upon local parking provision. Therefore, applicants should consider the sustainability of 

the location in terms of whether walking, cycling and public transport use are attractive 

Page 287



 

118 
 
 

and viable alternatives to private car use. Proposals should also make on-site provision 

for sufficient recycling/refuse storage, clothes drying area(s), and cycle parking as well 

as appropriate amenity space for residents. 

 

Gypsies,Travellers and Showpeople  

 

5.3.43 The Council is committed to ensuring equality of opportunity for all sections of the 

community. Accommodation is a fundamental issue that affects the lives of all people 

across the County Borough, including the Gypsy and Traveller community. Therefore, 

in addition to ‘bricks and mortar’ housing provision, the LDP recognises the specific 

accommodation needs of Gypsies, Travellers and Showpeople as part of a holistic 

approach to delivering well-connected, cohesive communities. The LDP seeks to ensure 

Gypsies, Travellers and Showpeople (as defined by Section 108, Housing (Wales) Act 

2014) will have equal access to culturally appropriate accommodation as all other 

members of the community. 

 

5.3.44 PPW requires the Council to assess the accommodation needs of Gypsy, Traveller and 

Showperson families and have policies for the provision of appropriate sites in the LDP. 

This position is reinforced by Circular 005/2018, which provides guidance on the 

planning aspects of identifying sustainable sites. The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 also 

places a legal duty on the Council to ensure the accommodation needs of Gypsies, 

Travellers and Showpeople are properly assessed and the identified need for additional 

pitches is met.  

 

5.3.45 In order to meet this duty, the Council commissioned a refreshed Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) in 2020, which was completed in 2021. The GTAA 

covers the period 2018-2033 and identifies the additional pitch provision needed for 

Gypsies, Travellers and Showpeople in the County Borough. For the first 5 years of the 

GTAA period, a need for 5 additional pitches was identified, and for the remainder of the 

GTAA plan period, a need for 2 additional pitches was identified. This equates to a total 

need of 7 additional pitches over the entirety of the LDP period. All identified need was 

for permanent pitches and there was no need identified for local transit site provision. 

 

5.3.46 Table 9 clearly sets out the different categories of need over the LDP period, whilst 

clarifying how the situation has changed since the GTAA was published. In particular, 

one household has now permanently relocated onto an existing authorised site in the 

County Borough and no longer requires assistance from the Council. Another household 

has received planning consent to reconfigure an existing authorised site to 

accommodate three further pitches. The remaining three pitch need arises from one 

family, most appropriately met through provision of one private three pitch site.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 288



 

119 
 
 

Table 9: Gypsy and Traveller Need over the Plan Period 

Type / 
Location of 

Need 

2020-2025 2025-2033 Total Need LDP 
Plan Period 

Allocation Required in 
LDP? 

Residential 
(Pencoed) 

0 pitches 1 pitch 1 pitch 
No – relocated to an existing 
authorised private site and no 

longer requires assistance. 

Residential 
(Pen-Y-Fai) 

3 pitches 0 pitches 3 pitches 
Yes – land is allocated via 

SP7(1) for 3 pitches 

Residential 
(Coytrahen) 

2 pitches 1 pitch 3 pitches 

No – consent has been 
granted to intensify an existing 

authorised private site and 
accommodate the 3 pitches. 

Total 
Pitches LDP 
Plan Period 

5 pitches 
immediate 

need 

2 pitches  
(2025-2033) 

7 pitches 

 

 

5.3.47 Based on this evidence of need, the Council has made site specific provision for one 

permanent three pitch site (SP7), which is intended for private development. The 

identified site has been selected based on the guidance contained in Circular 005/2018 

as detailed within the Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Background Paper. The site 

allocation has also been informed by and been subject to close consultation with the 

respective members of the Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople community.  

 
 

SP7: Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople Sites  
 

 

Gypsy, Traveller and Showperson Sites are allocated in the following locations, as 

shown on the Proposals Map, to meet the identified needs of the community over the 

LDP period as detailed in the GTAA: 

 

SP7 (1) Land off Old Coachman’s Lane (permanent, 3 pitch site) 

 

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 2 

OBJ: 2c 

Future Wales Strategic Polices for Regional Planning 

PPW Living in a Place, Active and Social Places, Gypsies and Travellers 

WBFG Act A more equal Wales 

LWBP Support communities in Bridgend County to be safe and cohesive  

Reduce social and economic inequalities  

Key 

Evidence 

Housing (Wales) Act 2014 

Welsh Government Circular 005/2018 – Planning for Gypsy, 

Traveller and Showpeople Sites  

Bridgend Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 2020 

Gypsy and Traveller Site Selection Background Paper 

 

 

5.3.48 In addition to the permanent site identified by SP7, it is equally important for the LDP to 

incorporate a detailed criteria based policy in order to meet any future or unexpected 

Page 289



 

120 
 
 

need. Hence, COM8 outlines criteria to assess any Gypsy, Traveller or Showperson site 

proposals that may arise over LDP Plan period, providing a fair, reasonable, realistic 

and effective means of determining planning applications to enable delivery of 

appropriate sites.  

 

5.3.49 COM8 will be applicable to proposals submitted to meet the need identified in the GTAA 

(2020) plus any additional need that may arise throughout the plan period. Sites 

proposals must be in accordance with advice in Welsh Government Circular 005/2018: 

Planning for Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople Sites, which will be a material 

consideration as appropriate in the determination of any planning applications. In 

addition, sites being developed by a public body, such as a Local Authority, should be 

designed in accordance with the Welsh Government Guidance: Designing Gypsy and 

Traveller Sites.  

 

 

COM8: Gypsy,Traveller and Showpeople Accommodation 

Proposals for new Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople sites, and extensions to existing 

authorised sites, will be permitted within or adjacent to settlement boundaries where: 

1) Necessary physical, transport and social infrastructure is accessible or will be 

readily provided; 

 
2) The site is designed in accordance with appropriate Welsh Government 

Guidance and Circulars if proposed by a public body; 

 

3) The scale of the proposal is appropriate with regard to the site’s surroundings 

and setting, ensuring it is in proportion to local settled communities; 

 

4) The development will have no significant adverse impacts on people’s 

amenity; and 

 

5) In the case of a transit or touring site, it has good access to the primary 

highway network. 

Proposals for Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople sites in the countryside, away from 

existing settlements, will be permitted where: 

a) There are a lack of suitable sustainable locations for sites within or 
adjacent to existing settlement boundaries;  
 

b) Necessary physical, transport and social infrastructure is accessible or will 
be readily provided;  

c) The scale of the proposal is appropriate with regard to the site’s surroundings 

and setting, ensuring it is in proportion to local settled communities; and 

 

Page 290



 

121 
 
 

d) There would be no loss of important recreational, amenity or natural heritage 

value.   

 
 

5.3.50 Proposals must demonstrate that they are of an appropriate standard and design to 

allow residents of the site to have access to appropriate facilities and live in safe, 

cohesive and sustainable communities. The development must not have a significant 

adverse impact on people’s amenity. Where business uses are proposed, the site will 

be required to be able to accommodate home-based business uses without detracting 

from the amenity, appearance, character and environment of the area or neighbouring 

occupiers. This may include the provision of adequate facilities and space for such 

activities. 

 

5.3.51 Proposals will be required to demonstrate that through the siting, layout and access of 

the site, there would be no detriment to pedestrian or highway safety. Furthermore, 

proposals must demonstrate the site is able to provide a sufficient standard of physical 

infrastructure facilities and access to utilities, including an adequate water supply, 

power, drainage, waste disposal and sewage disposal to ensure the development of the 

site will not pose risks to human health and well-being of residents. The site should also 

have adequate accessibility, including by walking and cycling, to necessary social 

infrastructure including education and health. Consideration will be given to 

environmental factors including flood risk, ground stability, land contamination and 

proximity of hazardous installations to ensure the site is appropriate for development. 

 

5.3.52 Proposals outside or immediately adjacent to the identified settlement limits will be 

permitted where all of the policy criteria are satisfactorily met. 

 

5.3.53 The future requirements for, and take-up of, pitches will be closely monitored, using the 

Monitoring Framework and Annual Monitoring Report. In accordance with the Housing 

(Wales) Act 2014, the Council will also undertake a new GTAA every five years and so 

a new GTAA is expected to be published in 2025. Any newly arising need identified 

within refreshed GTAA will be assessed against COM8.  

 

Health and Well-being 

 

SP8: Health and Well-being  

 

Health inequalities will be reduced and healthy lifestyles and choices encouraged by 

ensuring that development proposals: 

  

1) Reflect the spatial distribution of need for healthcare provision, ensuring such 

proposals are accessible by non-car modes and have the potential to be 

shared by different service providers; 

 

2) Create sustainable places that accord with the principles of placemaking (refer 

to SP3) to support climate change mitigation and adaptation;  

Page 291



 

122 
 
 

 

3) Are supported by appropriate social infrastructure and community facilities 

(refer to SP9 & SP10); 

 
4) Are supported by a Health Impact Assessment where appropriate (major 

developments must be supported by a HIA, which demonstrates how the 

proposal will result in beneficial effects (and avoid adverse impacts) on the key 

determinants of health in the County Borough);  

 

5) Promote a healthy lifestyle through the utilisation of the physical and built 

environment, in particular maintaining and/or enhancing the extent, quality and 

connectivity of the Active Travel and Green Infrastructure Networks; and 

 

6) Protect (and where possible enhance) safety, security and resilience and do 

not result in significant risk to life, human health or well-being, particularly in 

respect of air, noise, light, water or land pollution. 

 

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 1, 2, 3, 4 

OBJ: all objectives  

Future Wales Supporting Urban Growth and Regeneration: Public Sector 

Leadership 

Regional Connectivity 

Strategic Policies for Regional Planning 

PPW Promoting Healthier Places 

WBFG Act A Healthier Wales 

A More Equal Wales 

A Wales of Cohesive Communities 

LWBP Best start in Life 

Support communities in Bridgend County to be safe and cohesive  

Reduce social and economic inequalities   

Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

Key 

Evidence 

Bridgend Public Services Board – Assessment of Local Well-being 

(April 2017) 

Compatibility Assessment of the Replacement LDP Vision, 

Objectives and Strategic Policies against the Bridgend Public Service 

Board Well-being Plan 

Health Impact Assessment 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

Sustainability Appraisal 

 

5.3.54 SP8 reflects the direction in National Planning Policy and Guidance that health can be 

a material consideration in determining planning applications for new developments, and 

is increasingly recognised as an essential element of delivering sustainable 

development. 

 

5.3.55 Implementation of this Policy supports the WBFG Act and also contributes to the delivery 

of a number of National objectives relating to healthy lifestyles including physical activity 

Page 292



 

123 
 
 

and recreation (Our Healthy Futures). The Policy also supports the objectives set out in 

the Bridgend Well-being Plan (LWBP): 

 

• Best start in life. 

• Support communities in Bridgend County to be safe and cohesive.  

• Reduce social and economic inequalities.  

• Healthy choices in a healthy environment. 

 

5.3.56 It is important to recognise that the LDP cannot deliver all of the objectives outlined by 

the LWBP. Many issues extend beyond the direct influence of ‘land-use planning’. 

However, the LDP contributes towards creating the right conditions by ensuring that new 

development enables and supports their delivery. 

 

5.3.57 Specifically, this policy reflects the Plan’s overarching placemaking approach, by 

recognising that sustainable development is important in helping to encourage people 

to adopt an active and healthy lifestyle. This includes allowing equality of access to the 

development of new healthcare facilities, in addition to other social infrastructure and 

community facilities. New development can also encourage a healthy lifestyle by 

providing access to a high quality natural environment, through maximising Active Travel 

opportunities; ensuring integrated green infrastructure networks, enhancing and 

maintaining open spaces for physical activity and providing space for the opportunity of 

food growing through allotments.  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 293



 

124 
 
 

Social and Community Infrastructure 

SP9: Social and Community Infrastructure 

 

In order to maintain and improve the quality of life of residents the following social and 

community uses and/ or facilities will be retained or enhanced: 

 

1) Educational and training facilities;  

2) Health and well-being facilities; 

3) Facilities that support the Welsh language;  

4) Libraries;  

5) Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation (including parks, playing fields, 

equipped playing areas, informal recreation areas, open spaces, woodlands, 

wetlands and road verges); 

6) Indoor leisure facilities;  

7) Community buildings;  

8) Allotments; and  

9) Cemeteries. 

 

In the interest of improved service provision, all proposals for new or replacement 

social and community facilities must demonstrate that every reasonable attempt has 

been made to consider the co-location with another social and community facility 

before a stand-alone facility is considered.  

 

All residential development proposals must demonstrate the accessibility of education 

infrastructure to accommodate a proposed residential development. 

 

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ:1, 2 

OBJ: 2b, 2e 

Future 

Wales 

Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration – Strategic 
Placemaking 

PPW Community Facilities  

Recreational Spaces 

WBFG Act A Healthier Wales  

A Wales of cohesive communities 

A more equal Wales  

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language   

LWBP Best start in life 

Support communities in Bridgend County to be safe and cohesive  

Reduce social and economic inequalities  

Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

Key 

Evidence 

TAN 16 – Sport, recreation and open space 

Green Infrastructure Assessment 

Outdoor Sport and Children’s Playspace Audit 

Allotment Audit 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

 

Page 294



 

125 
 
 

5.3.58 The term ‘social and community facilities’ covers a broad range of activities and services, 

some of which are in the ownership of the Council, and others that are privately owned. 

Local social and community facilities are important to the health and well-being of local 

communities. Their existence is often the key determinant in creating viable and 

sustainable local communities if such facilities are in easy walking and cycling distance 

for local residents. SP9 therefore seeks to retain or enhance facilities to ensure no 

section of the community is excluded from having access to basic services, with the 

overall aim of creating sustainable and inclusive communities. 

5.3.59 PPW emphasises the planning system’s role in providing a framework for well-located, 

good quality sport, recreational and leisure facilities. Development Management Policies 

COM9-13, therefore clearly outline the Plan’s policy requirements for the provision, 

protection and enhancement of sport, recreation and leisure facilities. These are key to 

facilitating well-being of children and adults alike, and for the social, environmental, 

cultural and economic life of the County Borough’s communities. 

5.3.60 It is essential that the quality of life of all of the County Borough’s residents is sustained 

and adequately catered for, and that community services and social facilities continue 

to address their needs, and are not diminished or undermined by planned growth. Social 

and community uses and/or facilities include schools, sport, recreation, leisure and 

cultural facilities, health services, libraries, community learning facilities, training 

enterprises, cemeteries, and all types of community buildings including places of 

worship.  

5.3.61 For the purposes of the LDP a ‘community building’, as referred to in SP9, is defined as 

a facility used by local communities for leisure and social purposes, often on a non-profit 

basis. In some cases, this definition can extend to privately owned community buildings 

such as crèches, indoor leisure facilities, gymnasiums, and public houses, especially 

where the latter is the only communal building in a small settlement. However, 

increasingly, such buildings should have a dual purpose and incorporate necessary 

ancillary commercial elements in order to make them sustainable in the longer term. The 

co-location of multiple uses in close proximity or in one building is important in providing 

a range of activities to meet the communities’ diverse needs. Co-location provides the 

opportunity for sustainable linked activities and has potential to create a greater sense 

of ownership and community. This model of provision also provides better value for 

money in terms of operating costs. Therefore, the Council will, wherever practicable, 

seek to combine social and community uses in one location or a single building. An 

opportunity exists to realise this with respect to the Council’s aspirations for community 

focussed schools as part of the School Modernisation Programme. 

5.3.62 It is recognised that opportunities for new social and community facilities may often be 

limited, especially where these are not commercially funded but subsidised by the 

Council; therefore the LDP sets out a basic principle of retaining existing facilities where 

these provide a vital and sustainable role within their communities. SP10 also seeks to 

provide new facilities where they are needed and justified. 

 

 

 

 

Page 295



 

126 
 
 

 

COM9: Protection of Social and Community Facilities 

 

 

Proposals which would adversely affect or result in the loss of existing or proposed 

social and community facilities will not be permitted unless justified on one of the 

following grounds: 

 

1) A sustainable, easily accessible alternative location is available and a facility 

of equivalent community benefit is provided by the developer on the site or off 

site within the community; or   

 

2) In the view of the LPA the existing facility is no longer required for the current 

use, or any other social and community uses, or there is already an excess of 

such provision in the area. 
 

 

 

 

 

5.3.63 COM9 aims to protect all existing and proposed social and community facilities that 

 provide a valuable role in their communities. Development that would result in the loss 

 of such facilities and would have an adverse impact on the community within which they 

 are intended to serve will not be permitted unless the COM9 criteria are met.  

5.3.64 The LDP Strategy acknowledges that good access to social and community facilities 

 is fundamental to address social inequalities within and between different 

 communities in the County Borough, providing the opportunity for people to lead 

 healthy, safe, and well balanced lives. Where a need is identified, the LDP seeks to 

 ensure that facilities are delivered in an appropriate manner at appropriate locations 

 through the relevant LDP Policies and associated SPGs. 

5.3.65 When locating new or replacement facilities, the Council and other partner organisations 

will play a vital role in supporting and developing the model of provision. An innovative 

and joined-up approach to service delivery will be prioritised, especially through the co-

location of social and community facilities.   
 

COM10: Provision of Outdoor Recreation Facilities 

 

 

Provision of a satisfactory standard of outdoor recreation space is required on all new 

housing developments, based on following standards: 

 

1) 1.2 hectares per 1,000 population for Playing Pitches; 

 

2) 1.6 hectares per 1,000 population for Other Outdoor Sports (non-pitch); 

 

3) 0.25 hectares per 1,000 population for Equipped/Designated Play Areas; 

 
4) 0.3 hectares per 1,000 population for Other Outdoor Provision;  

 
5) 0.2 hectares per 1,000 population for Allotment provision; 

 

Page 296



 

127 
 
 

The nature and type of provision will be informed by the findings of the latest Outdoor 

Sport and Children’s Playspace Audit and Allotment Audit. On-site provision must 

comply with the accessibility benchmark standards set out in the Outdoor Recreation 

Facilities and New Housing Development SPG.  

 

Financial contributions, equivalent to the same value that would otherwise be 

expected on-site, may be acceptable in lieu of on-site provision for larger scale play 

spaces, or where existing play space lies within walking distance of a proposed 

development. These contributions will be used to improve existing provision by: 

 

a) making an area more accessible to the community;  

b) better  management  for  biodiversity  and/or  for passive enjoyment;  

c) enhancements  through  more  usable  equipment, or better space or ancillary 

facilities;  

d) increase in playing capacity; or 

e) a combination of the above. 
 

 

 

5.3.66 PPW considers recreational spaces to be vital for the health, well-being and amenity of 

communities, whilst recognising the significant contribution that outdoor recreation can 

make to an area’s green infrastructure. All new housing developments will be expected 

to include an appropriate level of outdoor recreation for public amenity purposes in the 

interest of Good Design. This is an integral means of delivering several Local Wellbeing 

Objectives, including to reduce social and economic equalities and ensure healthy 

choice in a healthy environment. COM10 is based on the benchmark standards 

endorsed by Fields in Trust, the National Society of Allotment and Leisure Gardeners 

Policies and Natural Resources Wales’ Green Space Toolkit, for the provision of 

Accessible Natural Green Space. The Council will work with developers to maintain an 

optimal level and balance of good quality outdoor recreation space for all its residents. 

The standards required by COM10 are supported by the Outdoor Sport and Children’s 

Playspace Audit 2022 and the Allotment Audit 2022, which have equally informed and 

developed the holistic Green Space Infrastructure Assessment (2022). Further guidance 

is provided within the Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing Development 

SPG. Provision of outdoor recreation, in accordance with COM10, will also support the 

wider green infrastructure network in accordance with DNP8.  

5.3.67 For the purposes of the LDP, Outdoor Recreation Facilities are defined as follows: 

• Playing Pitches - areas marked for formal, pitch-based recreation activities, 

including (but not limited to) association football, rugby union, rugby league, 

hockey, lacrosse and cricket. This category also includes facilities ancillary to the 

purposes of outdoor sports such as changing rooms, toilets, pavilions, 

clubhouses, and, where appropriate for the level of sport played, stands, spectator 

areas, lighting and training facilities.  

 

• Other Outdoor Sports - areas for non-pitch based recreation activity, including 

courts and greens comprising natural or artificial surfaces, such as tennis courts, 

bowling greens, athletics tracks and other outdoor sports areas. 

 

Page 297



 

128 
 
 

• Equipped/Designated Play Areas - areas designated for children and young 

people, containing a range of facilities and an environment that has been designed 

to provide focused opportunities for outdoor play comprising casual or informal 

playing space within housing areas. These can include areas containing 

recreational equipment and grassy areas for small children or older  children to 

enjoy recreational activities, along with equipped playing areas. This category 

includes Local Areas for Play (LAPs), Local Equipped Areas for Play (LEAPs) and 

Neighbourhood Equipped Areas for Play (NEAPs). 

 

• Other Outdoor Provision - Multi-Use Games Areas, skateboard parks and other 

outdoor provision. 

 

• Allotments – areas of open space within and accessible to the urban environment 

that can provide moderate exercise, relaxation and the production of fresh fruit 

and vegetables. They are recognised as areas that provide multi-functional 

benefits to communities in terms of sustainability, leisure and biodiversity.  They 

also provide community, health and social benefits, encouraging interaction 

between users of all ages, providing the opportunity to teach and learn, and 

enhancing local biodiversity. 

  

COM11: Provision of Natural and Semi-Natural Greenspace (including Amenity 

Greenspace) 

 

The Council will promote the provision of accessible, Natural and Semi-Natural 

Greenspace (including Amenity Green Space) wherever suitable opportunities arise. 

In this respect, the following areas are specifically allocated: 

 

COM11(1) Blaengarw and Pontycymmer Linear Park  

COM11(2) Part of former Central Washery Site, Ogmore Vale  

COM11(3) Heol Wastad Waun, Pencoed  

COM11(4) Pwll-y-Waun, Porthcawl 

COM11(5) Brackla Ridge and Associated Areas, Bridgend  

COM11(6) Parc Tyn y Coed, Bryncethin  

COM11(7) Land off Waunscil Avenue, Bridgend  

COM11(8) Land South West of City Road, Bettws  

COM11(9) The Former Maesteg Washery, Maesteg 

COM11(10) Newbridge Fields, Bridgend 
 

 

 

5.3.68 In addition to the benefits of formal recreation provision, PPW highlights how informal, 

yet high quality and accessible green spaces can promote nature conservation, 

biodiversity and better air quality to enhance the quality of life of individuals and 

communities. Such spaces also have a role in climate protection and in enabling the 

adaptation of urban areas to the impacts of climate change, for example by contributing 

to flood management and helping to reduce the effects of urban heat islands. Natural 

and Semi-Natural Greenspace and Amenity Green Space are less formal in character 

than Outdoor Recreation Facilities and provide the opportunity for a mixture of activities 

to be enjoyed by all ages of the community. COM11 promotes the provision of such 

Page 298



 

129 
 
 

spaces, which include informal recreation spaces and communal green spaces in and 

around housing areas. Such areas are important components of the wider green 

infrastructure network to protect and enhance biodiversity and ecological resilience, 

whilst improving well-being outcomes in accordance with DNP8. 

 
 

COM12: Provision of Allotments and Community Food Networks 

 

The Council will promote the provision of allotments and community food networks 

wherever suitable opportunities arise. In this respect, the following areas are 

specifically allocated: 

COM12(1) Caerau and Brynglas Market Garden  

COM12(2) Land to South of Llangeinor Football Club 
 

 

5.3.69 Allotments and community growing spaces have many social, environmental, economic 

and health benefits. They can contribute to a place’s identity and its sense of community, 

and can help to regenerate open spaces. SP9 seeks to retain, protect and enhance 

existing allotment sites and COM12 aims to promote the provision of additional 

allotments gardens throughout the County Borough. This sets the land use planning 

framework for the Council’s Allotment Strategy and is a key means of delivering the 

Local Wellbeing Plan objective of healthy choices in a healthy environment.  

5.3.70 COM12 also supports the creation of ‘community food networks’, which are a means of 

 bringing together food producing, consumer and community groups to work together, 

 with the overall objective of making locally grown and surplus food available to local 

 communities. This is particularly important for the County Borough’s most 

 disadvantaged communities, especially in the valleys where local shops may not stock 

 a large amount of fresh produce at affordable prices. The LDP supports such an 

 approach, which reduces ‘food miles’ and a community’s need to travel. This contributes 

 to combating the effects of climate change, delivering the Local Wellbeing Objective of 

 reducing social and economic equality, and promoting biodiversity and habitat creation 

 as part of the County Borough’s green infrastructure network. 

 
 

COM13: Provision of Cemeteries 

 

The following sites are allocated and safeguarded for the provision of cemeteries: 

COM13(1) Porthcawl Cemetery, Porthcawl  

COM13(2) Cornelly Cemetery, North Cornelly  

COM13(3) Gelliron Cemetery, Pontycymmer  

COM13(4) Pencoed Cemetery, Pencoed  

COM13(5) Sarn Cemetery, Sarn 
 

 

5.3.71 Cemeteries are recognised as being multi-functional in nature, not only providing burial 

ground, but important places of peace and tranquillity. Cemeteries equally have an 

informal recreation role, which enhance biodiversity as key component of the green 

infrastructure network. Based on identified need, COM13 allocates and safeguards 

Page 299



 

130 
 
 

specific areas of land alongside existing provision to maintain an adequate supply of 

burial ground. 

 

SP10: Infrastructure 

 

All development proposals must be supported by sufficient existing or new 

infrastructure. In order to mitigate likely adverse impacts and/or to integrate a 

development proposal with its surroundings, reasonable infrastructure provision or 

financial contributions to such infrastructure must be provided by developers where 

necessary. This will be secured by means of planning agreements/obligations where 

appropriate. 

 

The requirements for such agreements will include consideration of and appropriate 

provision for: 

1) Affordable housing; 

2) Economic Infrastructure – Telecommunications / broadband infrastructure; 

3) Utilities; 

4) Educational facilities and/or their upgrades;  

5) Green infrastructure and outdoor recreation;  

6) Renewable energy and low carbon technologies;  

7) Transportation Infrastructure - Improvements to the highway network, 

including walking and cycling routes (Active Travel) and public transport; 

8) Protection, enhancement and management of the natural, historic and built 

environment; 

9) Community facilities and/or their upgrades;  

10) Waste management and recycling facilities;  

11) Initiatives to manage and mitigate the impact of climate change; and 

Improvements to the public realm; 

12) Welsh Language. 

 

Infrastructure providers will be consulted on relevant planning applications. 

 

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 1, 2, 3, 4 

All objectives 

Future 

Wales 

Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration – Strategic Placemaking 
Renewable  
Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and Associated 
Infrastructure 
Strategic Policies for Regional Planning 

PPW Strategic and Spatial Choices: Supporting Infrastructure  

Transport  

Housing  

Economic Infrastructure 

Productive and Enterprising Places 

Energy 

Distinctive and Natural Places, Green Infrastructure 

WBFG Act A Healthier Wales 

A Wales of cohesive communities  

Page 300



 

131 
 
 

A more equal Wales 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language 

LWBP Best start in life  

Support communities in Bridgend County to be safe and cohesive  

Reduce social and economic inequalities  

Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

Key 

Evidence 

PPW  

TAN 2 Planning and Affordable Housing 

TAN 4 Retail and Commercial Development 

TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning 

TAN 16 Sport Recreation and Open Space 

TAN 18 Transport 

TAN 20 Planning and Welsh Language 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

Candidate Site Assessment 

Local Housing Market Assessment 

Green Infrastructure Assessment 

Outdoor Sport and Childrens’ Playspace Audit 

Renewable Energy Assessment 

 

5.3.72 PPW advises that adequate and efficient infrastructure, including services such as 

education facilities, health facilities, water supply, sewers, waste management, utilities and 

telecommunications, is crucial for the economic, social and environmental sustainability of 

all parts of Wales. SP10 therefore outlines that infrastructure must be provided as part of 

development proposals, where necessary, to enable sustainable placemaking. SP10 

also indicates the broad types of infrastructure that may need to be addressed to 

enhance the well-being of communities. It is fundamental for all of the County Borough’s 

residents to have good access to a range of services and facilities within their local area. 

 

5.3.73 The physical infrastructure, social infrastructure and services needed to make places 

function efficiently and sustainably have been considered as part of the Replacement 

LDP. Infrastructure providers have been consulted during the Replacement LDP 

preparation process in order to identify any capacity issues arising from development 

proposals. The Council will work in partnership with public and private investors, and 

strategically with the Welsh Government to enable the provision of necessary 

infrastructure improvements.  

 

5.3.74 Development will only be permitted where there is adequate existing physical and social 

infrastructure in place, or where there are suitable proposals to increase provision to 

accommodate any additional demand from the proposed development. Any such 

deficiencies must be addressed, where reasonable, by those undertaking the 

development through planning obligations (via a S106 legal agreement). Any 

requirements must be reasonable and comply with the tests of necessity set out in Welsh 

Office Circular 13/97 ‘Planning Obligations’. Developers will only need to address the 

needs arising from their specific development and are encouraged to make use of pre 

application discussions to identify likely requirements at an early stage.  

 

 

Page 301



 

132 
 
 

 

COM14: Telecommunications and Digital Technology Infrastructure 

 

Proposals for telecommunications and digital technology infrastructure will be 

considered in light of technical and operational requirements and permitted where: 

 

1) The development contributes towards the objectives of future proofing 

development and regeneration proposals or forms part of the planned 

development of a wider network; and 

 

2) The development incorporates all reasonable measures to minimise any 

significant adverse impact due to the siting and external appearance of the 

apparatus, and the design minimises impact caused by its visual appearance; 

and 

 
3)  There would be no significant adverse effect on natural heritage, the historic 

environment, or amenity of neighbouring residents; and 

 

4) The application is accompanied by evidence of compliance with Government 

guidelines on health impacts of telecommunications infrastructure. 
 

 

5.3.75 Adequate and efficient telecommunications and digital technology infrastructure is 

increasingly crucial for economic, social and environmental sustainability. Future Wales 

outlines how digital communications infrastructure is vital to the future success and 

economic competitiveness of businesses, whilst supporting community and individual 

needs. Hence, Future Wales supports the provision of digital communications 

infrastructure and services across Wales and requires new developments to include the 

provision of high-speed broadband infrastructure from the outset. PPW outlines that 

affordable, secure electronic communications underpin economic competitiveness and 

can provide opportunities for households and businesses to achieve socially and 

environmentally desirable ways of living and working. COM14 supports 

telecommunications infrastructure where it is required, whilst safeguarding against any 

adverse impacts on residential amenity, natural and built heritage assets, sensitive 

landscapes and other environmental designations. Developers should proactively 

engage with owners or operators of sensitive uses (such as hospitals, childcare facilities 

or educational establishments) early on in the development process to discuss any 

technical or other amenity issues that may arise as a result of the development. COM14 

seeks to enable the County Borough to respond positively and flexibly to technological 

advances over the Replacement LDP period, whilst minimising impacts on amenity and 

the local environment.  

 

 

 

 

Page 302



 

133 
 
 

5.4 To Create Productive and Enterprising Places 

 

5.4.1 The national strategy ‘Prosperity for All: economic action plan’, prepared by Welsh 

Government, sets out a clear statement of intent to build an economy on strong 

foundations, to supercharge Wales’ industries of the future and empower all the regions 

to become more productive. 

 

5.4.2 In seeking to support the national strategy, PPW requires local planning authorities to 

encourage and support developments which generate economic prosperity and 

regeneration. This is to be enabled through development proposals that contribute 

toward building a strong, responsive and competitive economy, as such local planning 

authorities must ensure that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places 

and at the right time to support growth and innovation.  

  

5.4.3 In a regional context, Bridgend County Borough Council forms part of the Cardiff Capital 

Region City Deal (CCRCD). This is a 20 year / £1.28 billion investment programme which 

aims to achieve a 5% uplift in the Region’s GVA (‘Gross Value Added’ - a measure of the 

value of the goods produced and services delivered in the area) by delivering a range of 

programmes to increase connectivity, improve physical and digital infrastructure, as well 

as regional business governance. The Industrial and Economic Plan has been 

developed by CCR Economic Growth Partnership to address the priorities facing the 

region. The Plan promotes global connectivity through investment in best in class 

transport systems, housing, digital infrastructure, and employable skills in order to fulfil 

its objectives of job creation, improved productivity and the leveraging of evergreen 

investment. Alongside the South Wales Metro, which is the “back bone” for the CCR 

Economic Plan, local partners expect the CCRCD to deliver up to 25,000 new jobs and 

leverage an additional £4 billion of private sector investment by 2036. The CCRCD has 

6 Objectives: 

  

1. Connecting the Cardiff Capital Region;  

2. Investing in innovation and the digital network;  

3. Developing a skilled workforce and tackling unemployment;  

4. Supporting enterprise and business growth; 

5. Housing development and regeneration; and  

6. Developing greater city-region governance across the Cardiff Capital Region.  

  

5.4.4 Building on the region’s competitive advantage and opportunity within the economy the 

CCR will strategically target sectors for support, enabling them to grow and flourish. 

These will include but will not be limited to the following: 

 

• Compound Semi-conductors, its supply chain and applications;  

• FinTech; 

• Cyber Security Analytics;  

• Artificial Intelligence and Data Science;  

• Creative Economy;  

• Life sciences and more specifically the medical devices and diagnostics sub-

sectors;  

• Transport Engineering; and  

Page 303



 

134 
 
 

• Automotive, trains and aircraft. 

  

5.4.5 Connectivity is critical both physically and digitally. The CCR needs reliable infrastructure 

that facilitates inter and intra-regional connections to boost productivity and prosperity. 

The current Metro plans are a significant step in this direction and further proposals will 

be brought forward to maximise and unlock future potential offered by its development. 

The CCR will continue to work closely with the UK and Welsh Governments to further 

develop, enhance and implement the transport network to improve links within the region, 

reduce congestion and connect people. A future Strategic Development Plan for South-

East Wales will provide a region wide strategic focus and will enable key centres across 

the region to be connected ensuring that the growth of the economy is balanced and 

inclusive. 

 

5.4.6 Bridgend’s role in this wider ambition 

is significant both in terms of its 

strategic location as an economic hub 

and in the strength of its economic 

base and sectoral mix. Future Wales 

highlights the potential and 

opportunity for Bridgend to function a 

key centre, capitalising on its 

strategic important location on the 

South East Metro System. Bridgend’s 

economy is closely linked to the manufacturing sector, although it has a diverse 

economy with employment across a range of activities including emerging sectors such 

as ‘life sciences’. Growth in large sectors such as warehousing/retail, 

professional/private services and construction has increased more rapidly in Bridgend 

than the national benchmarks, rendering the County Borough a significant generator of 

GVA, locally, regionally and nationally. In this context, the LDP will provide the framework 

for the County Borough to both contribute towards and capitalise on the success of City 

Deal plus the interdependencies of the Swansea Bay Region. 

 

5.4.7 Bridgend County Borough Council also has a vision to make Bridgend a decarbonised, 

digitally connected smart County Borough. In doing so it will transition to a low 

carbon, decentralised energy system that works for its individuals, communities and 

businesses. In achieving this vision the Council aims to: decarbonise the energy sector; 

stimulate economic growth; provide new job opportunities; and attract new and existing 

businesses to trial initiatives and grow within the County Borough. 

 

5.4.8 Consultation with local residents and businesses has identified that delivery of a strong 

and balanced economy, that provides more jobs for local people, is a high priority. 

However, the pursuit of economic growth must also align comfortably with other 

objectives, such as protecting and enhancing the environment and planning to meet the 

social needs of local communities. Therefore, the thrust of the Replacement LDP’s 

economic strategy is to ‘create productive and enterprising places’ by providing sufficient 

employment land and a variety of sites to support a diversity of employment 

opportunities, achieving: 

 

Pencoed Technology Park 

 

Page 304

https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjnnK3BnY7iAhXNz4UKHdvGB9oQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.coark.com/news/uks-fourth-radiology-academy-opens-in-wales/&psig=AOvVaw0KtYT7YX62gmn_SET7SbYn&ust=1557483815327325


 

135 
 
 

• new and better-paid jobs for existing and future generations of residents; and 

• a better balance between the location of jobs and housing, which will reduce 

the need to travel and promote sustainable growth. 

 

5.4.9 Over 30% of the County Borough’s population is projected to be aged 60+ by 2033. With 

absolute and relative growth across this age group, there is likely to be a broad reduction 

in local economic activity rates if the Plan does not facilitate sustainable levels of 

economic growth to offset this phenomenon. The Replacement LDP therefore seeks to 

deliver sustainable forms of growth that will attract and retain economically active 

households within the County Borough. As justified within the Strategic Growth Options 

Background Paper, the Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Strategy is largely driven 

by households within the 35-44 age group. This growth is projected to support an 

increase in people in workplace based employment over the Plan period, to be 

accommodated through provision of up to 7,500 additional jobs. 

 

5.4.10 This level of growth exceeds the Welsh Government’s Principal Projection, which is 

necessary for the Plan to support established, economically active households in the 

County Borough by pursuing a sustainable balance between employment opportunities 

and homes provided. Close alignment of these inter-related forms of growth will help 

incite economic prosperity, promote more sustainable patterns of movement and reduce 

the need for local people to travel long distances to work. This will counter-balance the 

ageing population and help combat out-migration of working households that would 

otherwise occur by planning for insufficient growth. A sustained and enhanced labour 

force, comprising skilled, established households, will ensure that Bridgend County 

Borough continues to be a desirable prospect for employers to move into or expand 

within, thereby stimulating economic growth and enhancing employment opportunities 

for local people. This can be succinctly explained by the acronym ‘CARM’, which 

summarises the Plan’s intentions to Counter-balance the ageing population by 

Attracting skilled, economically active households, Retaining skilled, economically 

active households and rendering the County Borough a Magnet for employers to move 

into or expand within. 

   

5.4.11 A positive employment land response is necessary to achieve an equilibrium between 

new homes, a growing skilled labour force and job opportunities in order to stimulate the 

local to regional economy. The 2019 Economic Evidence Base Study (EEBS) and 2021 

Update have analysed this projected labour force boost alongside other employment 

trends including past take up of employment land and sector based economic forecasts. 

The resulting evidence base has informed the scale and distribution of employment need 

and the land best suited to meet that need over the plan period in the context of PPW 

and TAN 23, justified further in the Employment Background Paper, and set out in SP11.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 305



 

136 
 
 

Employment Land Provision 

SP11: Employment Land Strategy 

Opportunities for economic growth will be facilitated by directing employment 

generating development to the most appropriate and sustainable locations, supporting 

expansion of existing businesses and ensuring strong spatial alignment between 

housing and employment growth. This holistic employment land strategy will allocate 

71.7 hectares of new employment land to be brought forward and accommodate up 

to 7,500 additional jobs over the Plan period by: 

1) Allocating the following Strategic Employment Sites with available land for high 

quality employment purposes (B1, B2 & B8 uses):  

a) Brocastle (20.4ha); and 

b) Pencoed Technology Park (5.4ha). 

   

These two key employment sites have been specifically identified as 

prominent employment assets to attract high quality businesses and 

investment to the County Borough in a manner that will contribute to the local 

and wider regional economy;   

2) Allocating a portfolio of Employment Sites (refer to ENT1) with a combined 

45.9ha of available land for employment purposes (B1, B2 & B8 uses). These 

allocations will provide flexibility and choice to deliver new employment on a 

range of sites across the County Borough; 

 

3) Retaining and safeguarding established sustainable and viable employment 

sites for employment generating uses (refer to ENT2); and 

 

4) Allowing small-scale sustainable employment developments within local 

service settlements, plus appropriate rural enterprises within the countryside 

to help enhance and diversify the rural economy. 

Re-development of the former Bridgend Ford Site (45ha) will also be enabled through 

this Strategy, thereby capitalising on this key economic opportunity, whilst providing 

further flexibility and choice to the immediate 71ha employment land supply (refer to 

ENT5).  

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 1, 2, 3 

OBJ: 1a-f, 2a, 3a, 3b, 3c, 3e, 3f, 3h, 3i,3n 

Future 

Wales 

Supporting Rural Communities 

Supporting the Rural Economy 

Strategic Policies for Regional Planning 

Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration – Strategic 
Placemaking 

PPW Productive and Enterprising Places, Economic Infrastructure 

Economic Development 

The Rural Economy   

WBFG Act A prosperous Wales  

Page 306



 

137 
 
 

A resilient Wales  

LWBP Reduce social and economic inequalities  

Key 

Evidence 

Economic Evidence Base Study (2019) and Economic Evidence Base 

Update (2021) 

Demographic Analysis and Forecasts Report (2019) and LDP 

Demographics Update Addendum (2020) 

Employment Background Paper 

TAN 6 – Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010)  

TAN 23 – Economic Development (2014) 

Building an Economic Development Evidence Base (2015) – Prepared 

by Welsh Government. 

 

 

5.4.12 PPW requires local authorities to support the provision of sufficient land to meet the 

needs of the employment market at both a strategic and local level. SP11 sets the 

framework to enable delivery of a balanced level of employment land to accommodate 

the new jobs identified through the Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Strategy. This 

approach is vital to help combat significant levels of out-commuting or shifts to migration 

profiles, which may otherwise be caused by the lack of a sufficient economic driver to 

incite and accommodate further job creation. This is considered an unrestrictive and 

positive approach to ensure that a range and mix of site types are available across the 

County Borough up until 2033, providing plentiful scope for continued investment without 

frustrating housing supply. Based on the recommendations of the 2019 EEBS and 2021 

Update the employment sites identified in SP11, and their roles in delivering the 

Strategy, are set out below. ENT1 supports SP11 by allocating new employment land 

for development. ENT2 supports SP11 by safeguarding the employment function of 

existing business and employment sites. 

 

ENT1: Employment Allocations 

 To support the Council’s Employment Land Strategy, 71.7 hectares of available 
employment land is allocated for employment development at the following locations 
for the uses specified: 
 

Employment Site 
Available 
Land (ha) 

Uses 

Strategic Employment Sites 

1) Brocastle, Waterton, Bridgend 20.4 B1, B2, B8 

2) Pencoed Technology Park 5.4 B1, B2, B8 

Employment Sites: Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

3) Brackla Industrial Estate 7.7 B1, B2, B8 

4) Bridgend Industrial Estate 9.2 B1, B2, B8 

5) Coychurch Yard, Bridgend 0.1 B1, B2, B8 

6) Crosby Yard, Bridgend 0.8 B1, B2, B8 

7) Parc Afon Ewenni 2.0 B1, B2, B8 

8) Waterton Industrial Estate 10.0 B1, B2, B8 

Page 307



 

138 
 
 

Employment Sites: Pyle, Kenfig Hill and N Cornelly Sustainable Growth Area 

9) Land at Gibbons Way, North Cornelly 0.0 B1 

10) Village Farm Industrial Estate, Pyle 2.6 B1, B2, B8 

11) Ty Draw Farm, Pyle 2.23 B1, B2, B8 

Employment Sites: Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley Regeneration Growth Area 

12) Ewenny Road, Maesteg 3.5 B1, B2, B8 

Employment Sites: Pencoed Sustainable Growth Area 

13) The Triangle Site, Bocam Park, Pencoed 1.0 B1 

Employment Sites: Other Locations 

14) Brynmenyn Industrial Estate 2.0 B1, B2, B8 

15) Land adjacent to Sarn Park Services 2.7 B1 

16) Land west of Maesteg Road, Tondu 0.3 B1 

17) Isfryn Industrial Estate, Blackmill 0.4 B1, B2, B8 

18) Abergarw Industrial Estate, Brynmenyn 1.4 B1, B2, B8 

Total 71.7 hectares 
 

 

5.4.13 Achieving a wide and balanced portfolio of employment uses is central to the economic 

strategy. This will allow the local economy to attract higher value-added intensive 

employment uses including, life sciences, construction, energy and decarbonisation, 

and telecommunications sectors. This is in addition to supporting and maintaining the 

significant manufacturing base and traditional B class uses that are an important facet 

and driver of growth for the local economy, now and in the future.  

 

5.4.14 To ensure future resilience of the local economy the Council will also encourage and 

support the redevelopment, refurbishment and rationalisation of the existing stock of 

larger industrial buildings to improve the quality of employment floorspace suited to 

modern day needs in particular for Small Medium Enterprises (SMEs) that are so 

important to the Welsh and Bridgend economy.  

Strategic Employment Sites 

5.4.15 The strategic sites are distinguished from other employment sites on the basis of their 

physical and locational characteristics, particularly their prominent locations adjacent to 

areas of countryside, and their proximity to the strategic road network. They represent 

the greatest assets to the area in terms of their propensity to attract high quality 

businesses plus investment and therefore generate high levels of jobs in a manner that 

will contribute to the local and wider economy. Given the sensitive locations of these 

sites, the requirement for consistently high design and environmental standards within 

an overall concept framework is a prerequisite for development, including access by 

means other than the car. This will create a mix of employment opportunities for the local 

labour force in a high quality environment, meeting the employment objectives of the 

LDP. The Strategic Employment Sites (25ha in total) are all being progressed 

Page 308



 

139 
 
 

individually by the Council and the Welsh Government. The public ownership of these 

sites provides greater control as to when and how the sites are brought forward.  

Brocastle, Waterton, Bridgend (SP11 (1a)) 
 

5.4.16 Brocastle is one of the most important greenfield inward investment sites within the 

South Wales M4 corridor. The site is in a highly accessible and desirable location on the 

outskirts of Bridgend, on the A48 towards Cowbridge. 

 

5.4.17 The site is located immediately adjacent to Bridgend’s focussed area of growth, closely 

linked to the Waterton Industrial Estate and south of the former Ford Site. There is an 

opportunity for synergy with re-development of 

the former Ford Site and further integration with 

Parc Afon Ewenni, which is also located within 

relatively close proximity and represents the 

County Borough’s most significant mixed-use 

development and brownfield regeneration 

opportunity.  

 

5.4.18 Vehicle access for Brocastle is gained off the 

A48, approximately 4km from Junction 35 of the 

M4 motorway. A new road access (roundabout)   

with   realignment   of   the   A48   is   now   in   

place. The site is almost entirely undeveloped, measuring 46 ha in total, although the 

topography limits the developable area to 20.4ha. Welsh Government, as owner, is 

actively promoting a scheme for 71,000 sq m of employment space within the 20.4ha. 

Planning permission has been granted for a development of up to 71,441sq.m of B1, B2 

and B8 employment floorspace, including access, car parking, diversion of public rights 

of way, site remediation, drainage, landscaping and associated engineering operations. 

Brocastle is considered to be the County Borough’s greatest asset in terms of attracting 

large scale employment investment to the area. In addition, the synergies between 

Brocastle, Parc Afon Ewenni and the former Ford Site represent a more holistic 

development opportunity, collectively known as the Southern Bridgend Gateway, that 

will be enabled through subsequent masterplanning and SPG development to contribute 

to delivery of the Replacement LDP’s Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Strategy. 

 

Pencoed Technology Park, Pencoed (SP11 (1b)) 

 

5.4.19 Pencoed Technology Park is also owned by Welsh Government. The site straddles the 

eastern administrative boundary of Bridgend and Rhondda Cynon Taf. The site is 

located next to Junction 35 of the M4 east of Bridgend, with good proximity to public 

transport facilities, particularly at Pencoed Railway Station. It is identified as the focus 

of High Quality Life Sciences and manufacturing and is already the home of a number 

of high profile investments.  

 

Page 309



 

140 
 
 

5.4.20 Substantial infrastructure is in place, including 

‘road stubs’ to undeveloped parcels, including 

the land within Bridgend’s administrative area, 

and the site is considered to be immediately 

available for development. Planning 

permission was granted in January 2017 to 

NHS Wales for a change of use of the former 

Sanken Power Systems building to create a 

National Imaging Academy offering a state of 

the art facility to train Consultant Radiologists 

and ancillary office work space. This site was 

chosen by the NHS for its strategic location in 

the heart of ‘South Wales’ and proximity to the strategic road network. The creation of a 

National Academy is extremely positive as it demonstrates that the Technology Park is 

in the right location to attract new business but also has the potential to become a hub 

for office headquarters for both the public and private sectors. A total of 5.4ha of 

employment land currently remain at the Technology Park, representing a highly 

attractive proposition for development.  

 

Other Allocated Employment Sites  

5.4.21 In order for Bridgend County Borough is to retain its competitive employment base, it is 

imperative for the area to offer a broad portfolio of sites. Therefore, in addition to the 

Strategic Employment Sites, the plan also identifies a variety of allocated Employment 

Sites suitable for all types of employment uses of varying size and type.  

5.4.22 The Employment Sites identified in ENT1 are those that have a realistic prospect of 

contributing to future employment land supply. They account for 45.9 hectares of vacant 

employment land, which is distributed across the County Borough and will help deliver 

the Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Strategy by ‘creating Productive and 

Enterprising Places’.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Bridgend Industrial Estate 

 

5.4.23 In order to deliver the ‘Town Centre First’ approach outlined within PPW and Future 

Wales, the Council recognises that B1 office uses are best located within the town 

centres of the County Borough. This reflects the fact that town centres are the most 

Page 310



 

141 
 
 

accessible parts of the County Borough, and are adapting to become increasingly multi-

functional. The allocated Strategic Employment Sites and Employment Sites also 

provide opportunities for office development, although applicants must demonstrate that 

other sites within town centres, and the sequential hierarchy detailed in SP12, have been 

investigated and found to be unsuitable.  

5.4.24 Whilst there is no identified regional land requirement for future waste management 

facilities, existing and allocated employment sites (where B2/B8 class uses would be 

acceptable) are identified as potentially suitable locations for waste management 

facilities. 

5.4.25 In order to maintain a sustainable level of employment land, and based upon the 

recommendations of the EEBS, the Council will protect the sites shown in ENT2 for 

employment purposes. The safeguarding of existing sites and premises, where 

appropriate and necessary, will to help meet the employment needs of the local and 

wider economy by providing accessible sources of employment. The intensification and 

refurbishment of sites and premises identified within ENT2 will be acceptable in 

principle, subject to proposals satisfying other policies in the Plan. This is especially the 

case for any such sites or premises which are underutilised, vacant, or in decline. ENT2 

acknowledges the existence of these employment areas and seeks, along with other 

policies, to maintain their use in the future for employment purposes. 

 

ENT2: Protection of Employment Sites 

 
In order to protect the employment function of existing business and employment 
sites, development will be permitted at the following sites where: 
 

a) it falls within Use Class B1, B2 or B8;   
 
b) in appropriate locations, it provides an ancillary facility or service that 

supports the primary employment use; or 
 
c) It is an appropriate waste management facility compatible with existing 

industrial and commercial activities.  

 

Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area Uses 

1) Brackla Industrial Estate 

2) Bridgend Industrial Estate 

3) Coity Road Sidings, Bridgend 

4) Coychurch Yard, Bridgend 

5) Litchard Industrial Estate 

6) Parc Afon Ewenni 

7) Penybont Industrial Estate 

8) Waterton Industrial Estate 

9) Bridgend Science Park 

10) Trews Field, Bridgend 

11) Crosby Yard, Bridgend 

B1, B2 & B8 

Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley Regeneration Growth Area Uses 

Page 311



 

142 
 
 

12) Coegnant, Caerau 

13) Ewenny Road, Maesteg 

14) Forge Industrial Estate, Maesteg 

15) Heol Ty Gwyn, Maesteg 

16) Spelter Industrial Estate, Maesteg 

B1, B2 & B8 

Pencoed Sustainable Growth Area Uses 

17) Pencoed Business Park B1, B2 & B8 

Porthcawl Strategic Regeneration Growth Area Uses 

18) Glan Road, Porthcawl 

19) Pwll y Waun, Porthcawl 
B1, B2 & B8 

Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly Sustainable Growth Area Uses 

20) Dunraven House, near Pyle 

21) Land at Gibbons Way, North Cornelly 

22) Penllwyngwent, Ogmore Vale 

23) South Cornelly Industrial Estate 

24) Village Farm Industrial Estate 

25) Ty Draw Farm 

B1, B2 & B8 

Other Areas Uses 

26) Abergarw Industrial Estate 

27) Bryncethin Depot 

28) Brynmenyn Industrial Estate 

29) Wern Tarw 

30) Enterprise Centre, Tondu 

31) Land west of Maesteg Rd, Tondu 

32) Land adjacent to Sarn Park Services 

33) Ffaldau Industrial Estate 

34) Georgia Pacific 

35) Green Meadow, Llangeinor 

36) Isfryn Industrial Estate 

 

B1, B2 & B8 

 

 

5.4.26 Existing business and industrial parks are ingrained in the existing urban form and 

contribute substantially to the County Borough’s economic base. Their employment 

characteristics have evolved over many years to meet specific economic demands and 

the Replacement LDP seeks their protection from development, which would otherwise 

erode these characteristics. The incremental loss of employment land and premises can 

lead to a gradual erosion of an employment area. Without careful management, 

fragmentation and pressure for alternative uses could result in a cumulative loss of 

employment land and premises to the detriment of the local and regional economies. 

 

5.4.27 ENT2 allows for the development of ancillary services or facilities that support the 

primary employment uses of sites. Due to their ancillary purpose, these services or 

facilities must be appropriate in nature and scale to the existing employment use and 

provide an obvious and clear benefit to the existing site. Such uses must be secondary 

in nature to the main employment use. They could include, for example, a small shop or 

Page 312



 

143 
 
 

trade counter selling produce from the unit, or services such as snack bars, cafés, 

childcare facilities, gyms or training centres, which provide a service to the local 

employees or users of the existing employment site. Appropriate ancillary facilities, will 

be supported in established industrial and commercial areas only where the proposal: 

 

• Is of an appropriate nature and scale to serve just the employment area and is 

not likely to generate unrelated trips by car;  

• Will not cause any adverse impacts on the overall function of the employment 

area and neighbouring commercial and residential properties;  

• Will not be detrimental in terms of highway congestion or safety; and 

• Will not impact upon the vitality or viability of designated Centres. 

 

5.4.28 ENT2 also allows for waste management facilities on sites where B2/B8 class uses 

would be acceptable provided these are compatible with existing industrial and 

commercial activities. Such development proposals would also need to satisfy SP15: 

Sustainable Waste Management and the Plan’s other design and environmental 

protection policies.  

 

ENT3: Non-B Uses on Allocated Employment Sites 

The change of use of allocated industrial and commercial land and premises 
(including vacant land on employment sites) from Use Classes B1, B2 and B8 to 
residential uses will not be permitted. The change of use from Classes B1, B2 and B8 
to other uses will also not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that: 

 
1) There are no other suitable sites available with reference to the retail hierarchy 

detailed within SP12 and other policies in this Plan; 
 

2) A building on an allocated employment site is required to accommodate the 
use; 
 

3) The property or site has been vacant for a period of at least 12 months and 
has been marketed throughout that time at a fair market value for the area and 
the condition of the property or site;  
 

4) The proposed new development will have no unacceptable impact on 
neighbouring existing occupiers or allocated uses; and 
 

5) The site is accessible by a choice of means of transport other than the car and 
promotes use of Active Travel opportunities. 
 
 

 

5.4.29 The Replacement LDP generally applies strict controls to uses on the County Borough’s 

employment allocations, although ENT3 outlines criteria to determine applications for 

non-B uses on such sites. The Council is aware that there significant pressure for certain 

uses of this nature on employment sites, notably those falling within Class D2, such as 

cinemas, children’s soft play centres, indoor/outdoor activity centres and fitness/sports 

centres, which by their very nature, require a large space, often with significant 

headroom. 

 

Page 313



 

144 
 
 

5.4.30 However, in order to deliver the ‘Town Centre First’ approach outlined within PPW and 

Future Wales, the Replacement LDP prioritises town centres as multi-functional focal 

points for communities. The Plan seeks to direct facilities and services to town centres 

in the first instance, to capitalise on their health and vibrancy, whilst ensuring intended 

users can easily walk, cycle and/or use public transport to access them. Therefore, 

before any non-B uses are permitted on allocated employment sites, applicants must 

demonstrate that other sites within town centres, and the sequential hierarchy detailed 

in SP12, have been investigated and found to be unsuitable. For the avoidance of doubt, 

SP11 sets the framework to enable delivery of a balanced level of employment land, 

without frustrating housing supply, and therefore, residential uses will not be permitted 

on allocated employment sites.  

 

5.4.31 It is also important that the proposed development does not prejudice the use of the 

area for employment purposes. Therefore, the building or site in question must be 

vacant, and have been vacant at least 12 months, whilst having been actively marketed 

during that time. This evidence must be submitted with any application. Likewise, the 

development, in the opinion of the LPA, should not be of a size and scale so as to 

undermine the character and identity of the wider area for traditional employment 

purposes. 

 

5.4.32 Proposals for non-B uses will also need to demonstrate that either the existing use is 

inappropriate or that the land or premises is surplus to the requirements of the 

employment market. Where existing uses are surplus to the requirements of the 

employment market, viability and marketing evidence must be provided to justify the loss 

of the employment land or premises. The type of evidence required will vary depending 

on individual circumstances, but may include details of why the land or premises is no 

longer in use and evidence to show that appropriate and reasonable efforts have been 

made to market it for sale or lease for its existing use. Information from the agent or 

applicant regarding demand could take the form of a marketing report or 

correspondence from a suitably qualified property agent or surveyor. The type of 

information must include the following: 

 

 

• Details of existing occupiers, if any; 

• The length of time a property or site has been vacant; 

• The type of use which the property/site has been marketed for, what the 

marketing strategy involved and its duration (there must have been a minimum 

of 12 months appropriate marketing); 

• The amount of interest in the site during the marketing period. This should detail 

the number of queries, the type(s) of use(s) sought and the reason(s) for non-

pursuit; 

• Whether the relocation of existing occupiers to other suitable accommodation 

will be facilitated; 

• Evidence that the land has been marketed for redevelopment for a new 

employment unit (where the property has not been re-let); and 

• Where re-letting the property has not proved feasible by way of its layout, then 

consideration has been given to splitting, dividing or combining units to better 

meet local demand. 

Page 314



 

145 
 
 

ENT4: Rural Economy 

In locations outside of the settlement boundary, positive weight will be afforded to new 

applications for ‘expansion’ or re-location of firms who have operated within the 

settlement for at least 3 years, and where: 

 
1) It is demonstrated that there are no suitable buildings or sites within the 

settlement or nearby; 
 

2) The site is previously developed land or it can be demonstrated that there are 
no suitable previously developed sites available; 

 
3) The proposal is justified by a business case, demonstrating that the business 

is viable; 
 

4) There is a named user for the development, who shall be the first occupant 
secured by a planning condition; and 

 
5) The proposal is well related to the built form of the settlement and of an 

appropriate scale to the settlement.   
 

 

5.4.33 National Planning Policy and Guidance recognises that local employment opportunities 

within rural settlements are important to sustain and improve communities. The plan 

therefore supports appropriate small-scale sustainable enterprises within the settlement 

boundary, such as restaurants, craft businesses and knowledge intensive business 

services within local settlements. Outside of these settlements, within the open 

countryside, the Plan will also support the diversification of the rural economy away from 

a focus on agriculture. Rural enterprises are land related businesses and include 

traditional operations relating to agriculture and forestry, as well as other rural 

businesses that obtain their primary inputs from the site. Examples of these include the 

processing of agricultural products, land management activities and tourism enterprises.  

 

5.4.34 ENT4 allows existing rural businesses to expand, providing the new development is in 

accordance with the policy requirements to conserve and enhance the quality of the 

countryside setting. Equally new employment uses will be permitted as rural exception 

sites. Employment uses in and adjoining an existing settlement boundary must be 

compatible to the location and neighbouring uses. Employment uses beyond the existing 

settlement must demonstrate that the nature of the business necessitates a rural 

location and mitigates against any harmful impacts on local amenity.  

 

5.4.35 Where home working business operations are of a scale or intensity likely to require 

planning permission, in assessing applications, particular regard will be had to access 

and parking arrangements and the effect that the working practice would have on 

surrounding properties.  

 

5.4.36 In instances where a countryside location is not considered acceptable for a proposed 

enterprise, developers should consider existing employment areas on the outer edge of 

the urban area, as in many instances such sites could reasonably serve the rural area. 

This recognises the strong interdependence between the urban and rural areas of the 

County Borough. 

 

Page 315



 

146 
 
 

Former Ford Site, Bridgend 

 

5.4.37 Prior to the closure of the Ford Manufacturing Plant in 2020, the site employed 1,700 

highly skilled workers and was a key employment allocation within the County Borough. 

ENT5 therefore supports SP11 in seeking to address this major economic loss within 

Bridgend’s economy, providing further flexibility to the employment land supply and 

enabling revitalisation of the site as a key economic opportunity that can offer space to 

existing and new business. This large regular serviced site, extending to 45ha, is within 

one of the County Borough’s premier industrial estates, with plentiful opportunities for 

supply chain linkages, proximity to other businesses, access to a highly skilled labour 

force and excellent transport links. The Waterton Estate is attractive to industrial and 

warehouse occupiers, and has consistently achieved very low vacancy rates (of 2% or 

lower since 2015), half the average Bridgend rate.   

 

ENT5: Former Ford Site, Bridgend 

 
The Council will prioritise the re-development of the former Ford Site as a key 

economic opportunity and will work collaboratively with Welsh Government and the 

landowners to secure the best outcome for Bridgend, whilst seeking to replace the 

jobs that have been lost. The former Ford Site constitutes a pivotal economic land 

allocation within the successful Waterton Industrial Estate and will be promoted as a 

means of economic stimulus for Bridgend County Borough and the wider regions.  

 

 

5.4.38 The former Ford Site therefore remains an important part of the employment land 

portfolio, and, as a development opportunity, has scope to make a much larger 

economic impact (in terms of jobs supported) than the previous use. It is acknowledged 

that re-development of the site will be a challenge and extensive enabling work will be 

required to bring the site forward in partnership with key stakeholders. ENT5 recognises 

that a unique approach is required in this respect and it will be necessary to enable a 

flexible mix of economic uses, not necessarily akin to the type and density of uses 

previously accommodated on the site. This will simultaneously provide a greater degree 

of flexibility and choice to the employment land supply. The exact nature, type and mix 

of uses will be subject to refinement through future Supplementary Planning Guidance, 

although the re-development of the site will be primarily driven through economic use(s). 

As such, whilst the criteria within Policies ENT2 and ENT3 will generally apply to this 

site, a flexible approach will be adopted, acknowledging that a mixed-use development 

may be necessary to maximise this economic opportunity. This could include a minority 

of residential uses for purposes of cross-subsidisation, which would not otherwise be 

acceptable on other Employment Sites under the criteria detailed within Policies ENT2 

and ENT3.   

 

5.4.39 In addition, the synergies between Brocastle, Parc Afon Ewenni and the Former Ford 

Site represent a more holistic development opportunity, collectively known as the 

Southern Bridgend Gateway, that will be enabled through subsequent master planning 

and SPG development to contribute to delivery of the Replacement LDP’s Regeneration 

and Sustainable Growth Strategy. 

Page 316



 

147 
 
 

Retailing, Commercial Uses and Services 

SP12: Retailing, Commercial and Service Centres 

New retail, commercial, leisure, education, health, community, public service facilities 

and appropriate employment developments (B1) will be focused according to the 

following hierarchy within the County Borough, having regard to the nature, scale and 

location of the proposed development: 

 

1) Sub regional Centre - Bridgend Town Centre 

2) Town Centres - Maesteg and Porthcawl 

3) District Centres - Aberkenfig (Valleys Gateway); Kenfig Hill, Ogmore Vale; 

Pencoed; Pontycymmer; and Pyle; 

4) Local Centres - Bettws North; Bettws South; Blackmill; Blaengarw; Brackla; 

Broadlands; Bryntirion; Caerau; Laleston; Nantymoel; North Cornelly; 

Nottage; Pontrhydycyff; Sarn; Verlands Court (Pencoed); Wildmill; and Five 

Bells Road (Bridgend) 

 

New developments must maintain or enhance the vibrancy, vitality and attractiveness 

of that centre, supporting the delivery of appropriate comparison and convenience 

retail, office, leisure, entertainment, cultural and community facilities. 

 

All new development proposals within retailing and commercial centres must provide 

retail, community or commercial floorspace on the ground floor. Opportunities will be 

sought to regenerate and improve the retail environment and improve access to, and 

within, retail and commercial centres by all modes of transport, prioritising walking, 

cycling (active travel) and public transport. 

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 1, 2 

OBJ: 1a, 1c, 1d, 2b, 2d, 2e 

Future 

Wales 

Town Centre First 

Strategic Policies for Regional Planning 

PPW Active and Social Places: Retail and Commercial Development 

Assessing Designated Centres 

Retail Hierarchy 

Meeting retails needs and allocating retail sites 

Defining Centres 

Managing Decline in Centres 

WBFG Act A prosperous Wales 

A resilient Wales 

Well-being 

Goals 

Reduce social and economic inequalities 

Key 

Evidence 

Bridgend Retail Study 2019 

Bridgend Retail Study Update 2022 

Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan 

PPW 

Building Better Places: The Planning System delivering Resilient and 

Brighter Futures - placemaking and the Covid-19 recovery (2020) 

TAN 4: Retail and Commercial Development 

TAN 23: Economic Development 

Page 317



 

148 
 
 

 

5.4.40 Policy SP12 promotes the Town, District and Local Centres as hubs of socio-economic 

activity and the focal points for a diverse range of services which support the needs of 

the communities they serve. They act as the most appropriate and sustainable locations 

for new retail, leisure and supporting commercial development. The co-location of 

facilities and services at such locations will help support their long-term health and vitality 

as convenient and attractive places to live, work, shop, socialise, study, access services 

for health and well-being and to conduct business. This approach will also encourage 

linked trips and a reduction in travel demand, recognising that they are more than the 

extent of designated retail areas. Major development must comply with the ‘Town Centre 

First’ policy contained within PPW and Future Wales, to help build resilient communities, 

and respond to the long-term impacts of Covid-19, which have not only re-focused the 

lives of people and communities, but acted as a further driver towards making centres 

multi-functional places.  

 

5.4.41 In recognising that Town, District and Local Centres are moving away from their 

traditional retail roles, SP12, and its supporting policies, seeks to ensure they become 

the focus of a wider variety of services and facilities. The ‘Town Centre First’ approach 

is key to enabling such centres to increasingly become multi-functional places and 

community focal points, thereby rendering them more viable as go-to destinations. This 

will complement efforts to regenerate retail and commercial centres through the creation 

of more outside space, the re-use of underutilised areas, the start-up of remote co-

working hubs, and the focus of more accessible public services. 

 

5.4.42 Despite competition from out-of-centre retail developments, the established hierarchy 

has continued to evolve over many years. All existing retailing and commercial centres 

fulfil an important role in meeting residents’ shopping and service needs plus their 

cultural and leisure requirements. SP12 therefore seeks to protect the established retail 

hierarchy of the area by focussing development in these centres and by only permitting 

out-of-centre retail development where a need and sequential test has been undertaken, 

in accordance with national policy, to protect the vitality, viability and attractiveness of 

retail centres. 

5.4.43 This policy also requires new development in retail and commercial centres to offer retail 

 and/or commercial floorspace. It is imperative that new development or redevelopment 

 proposals acknowledge the fact that they are located within a retail / commercial area 

 and provide appropriate floorspace on the ground floor. The provision of new, modern 

 retailing and commercial floorspace within a centre can attract higher quality occupants, 

 thereby increasing the vitality, attractiveness and overall viability of the retailing area. 

 Equally, mixed uses, with, for example, residential provision above ground floors, are 

 encouraged (refer to ENT8).  

 

5.4.44 SP12 also seeks to ensure that, as far as possible, new development will be to the long-

term benefit of existing commercial centres. Whilst recognising that the position of 

centres in the hierarchy may change over time, new development should be broadly in 

keeping with the character of the existing centre. Developers are expected to be flexible 

and innovative about the format, design and scale of proposed development, in order to 

achieve new development in harmony with existing centres.  

 

Page 318



 

149 
 
 

5.4.45 SP12 recognises the traditional role and function of the established retail hierarchy, in 

addition to the need for centres to progressively evolve into multi-functional, community 

focal points. The hierarchy will be used positively to ensure Town, District and Local 

centres continue to be the principal locations for new retail, office, leisure and community 

facilities. This will both capitalise on and enhance the vitality and viability of centres, 

whilst generating increased social and economic activity. 

 

Bridgend Town Centre  

5.4.46 At the top of the hierarchy, Bridgend Town Centre is centrally located within the County 

Borough and is the only centre that fulfils a sub-regional function, acting as the principal 

shopping centre for residents in the County Borough and for communities in 

neighbouring authorities. The centre is highly accessible and is equipped with pivotal 

bus and rail stations, with regular services to and from surrounding district and local 

centres. The centre has a diverse convenience offer with various national multiple 

supermarket operators alongside a range of independent and specialist food store 

operators. The centre provides a good range of retail shops and complementary 

services. The food and drink offer comprise mostly independent cafes, restaurants, 

public houses and takeaways with several national operators. Other leisure uses in the 

centre include gyms, an amusement arcade and nightclubs.  

 

5.4.47 The Retail Study identifies that the centre has a higher proportion of vacancy rates and 

a lower proportion of comparison units than the UK average, whilst highlighting a limited 

fashion offer and gaps in the range of leisure uses. This is partly attributable to 

competition from out-of-centre comparison shopping destinations (including 

McArthurGlen Designer Outlet), although these patterns are likely to have become more 

entrenched by Covid-19 at a time when more people became accustomed to doing non-

essential shopping online.  The LDP seeks to improve the performance of the centre by 

enabling measures identified in the Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan (2022). This will 

seek to improve the quality of the town centre environment and promote more flexibility 

by increasing the range of community, leisure, and social facilities on offer. Encouraging 

a greater range of uses will help to reduce vacancy rates, which exceed UK average 

levels. In the long term (post-2028), emerging capacity for additional comparison 

floorspace will be focused in Bridgend Town Centre. 

 

5.4.48 Bridgend is supported by the smaller town centres of Maesteg and Porthcawl, both of 

which offer a wide range of shops and facilities including medium sized convenience 

stores to meet the needs of their immediate catchment areas. 

 

Maesteg Town Centre 

 

5.4.49 Maesteg has been the focus of regeneration efforts evidenced in its recently improved 

bus station, outdoor markets and the ongoing repair, restoration and extension of 

Maesteg Town Hall. This has helped to reduce vacancy rates and achieve an associated 

increase in the number of convenience, comparison and service units. Evidence 

confirms that Maesteg fulfils its function as a town centre serving the residents of its 

immediate catchment area and performs well against most indicators of vitality and 

viability. The convenience offer provides a good level of consumer choice with national 

Page 319



 

150 
 
 

multiple supermarket operators as well as a range of independent operators. Maesteg 

also has a good comparison offer for a centre of its size, which predominantly serves its 

immediate catchment area. The LDP seeks to enable opportunities to improve the 

quality of the town centre environment, redevelop prominent vacant units for retail or 

other complementary uses and expand the range of commercial leisure uses to improve 

the performance of the centre, diversify the range of services and enhance the night 

time economy in Maesteg by expanding the food and drink offer. 

 

 Porthcawl Town Centre 

 

5.4.50 Porthcawl has been the focus of long-established plans for tourism-led regeneration 

focused along the waterfront. Evidence confirms that the centre fulfils its function as a 

town centre and performs well against most indicators of vitality and viability. However, 

the centre has a limited convenience offer which is significantly below the UK average. 

Although the centre contains a range of smaller food stores suitable for top-up shopping, 

there is only one large supermarket suitable for main food shopping. This provides 

limited consumer choice and means that most residents must travel to other centres to 

meet their needs. The LDP seeks to address this by identifying capacity for additional 

convenience floorspace in Porthcawl to increase consumer choice, promote sustainable 

access to main food shopping facilities and reduce the need to travel by car. Porthcawl 

has a good comparison offer which serves its immediate catchment area. As a tourist 

destination, Porthcawl benefits from a wider range of leisure uses than either Bridgend 

or Maesteg. The Retail Study identifies an opportunity to develop additional tourist 

facilities to attract increased levels of visitor spending in the town centre and secure 

improvements to the public realm, enhancing the vitality and viability of the centre.  The 

proposed regeneration of Porthcawl waterfront and existing interest from retailers means 

there is an opportunity to secure further investment in public realm improvements in 

Porthcawl. New visitor facilities along Porthcawl Waterfront will improve the overall 

leisure offer and have the potential to increase retail spending elsewhere in the centre 

by enhancing the attraction of Porthcawl to visitors and residents.  

 

District and Local Centres 

5.4.51 At a level below in the hierarchy, there are a number of District and Local Centres 

distributed throughout the County Borough.  The District Centres vary in size, reflecting 

their varying role and function as well as other factors including: the proximity to other 

centres; visibility on main arterial routes; the level of residential population locally; and 

limitations of the built environment due to the historic layout and configuration of the 

shop units. These usually contain a small supermarket and offer a range of convenience 

and comparison goods as well as services such as sub-branches of banks, newsagents, 

sub-post offices etc. Their immediate catchment areas tend to be more limited, with a 

restricted range of convenience and comparison goods. Their role is primarily that of 

‘top-up’ or ‘walk-in’ centres, often providing essential goods on a daily basis as a 

supplement to those provided in centres further up the hierarchy. Some smaller centres 

also provide many community facilities either within their boundaries or adjacent to them. 

Any new convenience floorspace proposals in designated centres will be determined 

based on their merits.  

 

Page 320



 

151 
 
 

5.4.52 Development opportunities within the District and Local Centres are generally more 

limited due to their proximity to established residential areas. Most opportunities are for 

the redevelopment of areas within the centre rather than potential expansion. Due to the 

lack of interest in some centres there is likely to be further contraction to avoid the 

possibility of long term-vacant units. In such instances there may be the opportunity to 

redevelop flexible mixed-use or residential units which would still allow for future retail 

conversion. The LDP will seek to enhance the attractiveness of District and Local 

Centres, which may have seen increased footfall during the pandemic because of 

increased patterns of working from home. This will be achieved through using planning 

obligations to secure environmental public realm improvements (including the creation 

of new public spaces) and by applying the ‘Town Centre First’ approach to promote all 

centres identified in the hierarchy for a wider range of social and community uses that 

increase local service provision.  

 

ENT6: Retail and Commercial Development 

 

The regeneration of retail and commercial centres, through the refurbishment or 
redevelopment of key sites and buildings for retail, commercial, leisure, education 
and other complementary uses, will be favoured. The following sites are identified 
as key sites: 
 

1) Southside – Land at the Bridgend Shopping Centre, Cheapside, Police 
Station and Brackla Street, Bridgend – 2.31ha (including 9,990m² of retail 
and food and drink) 

2) Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area, Porthcawl – 2,500m² 
 

Outside of the above, retail, leisure and appropriate complementary commercial 
proposals will be supported within allocated mixed use Strategic sites only where:  
 

a)  It is specifically identified as an opportunity as part of a site specific proposal 
and included within the masterplan as an integral element of a planned new 
neighbourhood to reinforce a sense of place;  
 

b) It is sited in an appropriate, central location within the community that it is to 
serve, and within close proximity to a public transport corridor; 
 

c) It is of an appropriate scale to meet an identified evidenced need; and 
 

d) It would not negatively impact upon the vitality, viability and attractiveness 
of a designated Centre. 

 

 

 

5.4.53 The Bridgend Retail Study (2018) has calculated comparison and convenience retail 

needs based on the constant market shares approach, which assumes that existing 

shopping patterns will remain stable over the LDP period (2018 – 2033). The Study 

identifies limited quantitative needs across the County Borough and qualitative retail 

needs in Bridgend (to improve comparison fashion, leisure and the general shopping 

environment) and Porthcawl (to improve main food shopping offer). This reflects market 

trends which are likely to influence demand for new retail and commercial leisure 

floorspace across the LDP period including the following:  

Page 321



 

152 
 
 

• Polarisation to higher-order centres - National comparison retailers are 

increasingly rationalising their property portfolios with fewer large stores 

concentrated in in shopping malls and regional centres; 

• Restructuring of the convenience sector - Major retailers have increased their 

network of small in-centre stores and invested in online shopping while discount 

food operators such as Aldi and Lidl have increased their market share; 

• Growth of commercial leisure sector - Commercial leisure uses constitute a 

growing share of town centre floorspace driven in part by the increase in 

household leisure expenditure and reduced demand for retail space; and 

• Effects of digital technology - Digital technologies facilitating online sales have 

altered the ways in which retailers operate physical floorspace. 

5.4.54 These trends are likely to have become more pronounced as a result of the pandemic, 

with all but non-essential retail closing and online shopping becoming the norm. 

5.4.55 In terms of location, as existing town centres, Bridgend and Porthcawl represent the 

most sustainable locations for new retail development from both an  environmental and 

social perspective. Policy ENT6 allocates retail floorspace to sites in town centres which 

are well served by existing public transport networks meaning they are best placed to 

serve residents (including those without access to a car). This strategy has clear social 

and environmental benefits in terms of reducing car dependency and making use of 

existing infrastructure. PPW acknowledges centres as the best location for retail/leisure 

uses.  

 

5.4.56 In terms of form and scale, the Study confirms that the Policy ENT6 site designations in 

Bridgend provide sufficient capacity to meet long-term comparison needs (9,890 sqm 

net). The Study also confirms that long-term convenience needs (810 sqm net) could be 

delivered early in the plan period to provide a new main food shopping facility in 

Porthcawl to meet evidenced qualitative needs. The forecasts that have informed the 

assessment of need include the following:  

 

• Retail Spending Growth – Experian forecasts that comparison spending will grow 

on average by 3.4% per annum between 2018 and 2033. Convenience spending 

is expected to grow extremely modestly over the study period by 0.2% per 

annum.  

• Growth in e-commerce – Experian forecast that growth in non-store retailing will 

exceed traditional retailing. The internet’s share of total retail sales is forecast to 

increase from 12.1% to 17.3% between 2018 and 2033. Internet sales growth 

will be sustained by the increasing uptake of new technologies, such as 

purchasing through mobile devices.  

5.4.57 In terms of economic benefits, the Porthcawl allocation seeks to improve the economic 

performance of the town by alleviating the current lack of convenience goods provision 

and reducing convenience expenditure leakage outside the town. It will also increase 

consumer choice. The Bridgend allocations seek to consolidate the County Borough’s 

comparison shopping offer in Bridgend in order to reduce comparison expenditure 

leakage outside the County Borough, whilst introducing complementary uses to increase 

footfall/expenditure in the town.  

 

Page 322



 

153 
 
 

5.4.58 The mixed-use regeneration of Southside is one of the projects in the Bridgend 

Masterplan, which together account for the provision of 23,000m² of reconfigured, 

refurbished and new retail and food & drink proposals. This includes 21,000m² of 

‘reconfigured’ and refurbished existing space at: 

• Bridgend Shopping Centre (9,990m²) 

• The Rhiw (9,272m²) 

• Wyndham St (1,500m²) 

• Queen St (170m²) 

• Cambrian House (430m²) 

• Bridgend Station redevelopment (1,810m²) 

 
These are complemented by other mixed-use regeneration proposals to stimulate 

footfall in the town centre, improve existing buildings and the redevelopment of 

underutilised sites. Alongside this the masterplan identifies town centre wide 

environmental improvements including green and blue infrastructure improvements, 

active travel links, new public spaces to facilitate social distancing, tree planting, heritage 

trails and building character and street art improvements.  

5.4.59 A refreshed Retail Study Update was undertaken in 2022 to re-examine retail need 

within the county borough, trends affecting the retail sector and how this may change 

over time. It also assessed future needs for comparison and convenience retail 

floorspace to 2033, based on a range of updated technical inputs.  

i)  The 2022 Study now evidences capacity for 12,790 sq.m of additional 

comparison retail sales area floorspace over the whole plan period (up to 2033) 

of which there is medium-term capacity for 6,291 sq.m sales area (by 2028). 

The main reason for additional capacity in the comparison goods sector is 

higher population growth (an additional 12,709 persons) when compared with 

the 2018 position. The Study recommends that the comparison need identified 

should be met within existing town centres in the first instance in accordance 

with Planning Policy Wales’ ‘Town Centre First’ principle. Accompanying 

primary survey work has demonstrated more than sufficient capacity to 

accommodate the comparison retail sales area floorspace identified.  

ii) Conversely, the 2022 Study evidences less capacity in the convenience goods 

sector due to existing commitments. This leaves capacity for just 403 sq.m of 

additional convenience retail sales area floorspace over the whole plan period 

(up to 2033), of which, there is no capacity for additional convenience retail 

floorspace in the short and medium term. The 2022 Study concludes that the 

strategic sites offer the best opportunity to deliver the shortfall in convenience 

through local service centres. The illustrative masterplans collectively 

demonstrate more than sufficient provision to accommodate the small quantum 

of additional convenience retail sales needed over the plan period. 

5.4.60 The Council recognises the important role that local shopping facilities play in serving 

their communities and appreciates that their provision can mean a vital service is 

provided to local people. In areas of new housing growth this may result in the need to 

provide new local convenience goods retailing either within, or close to, the new 

development to meet the everyday needs of the residents. This is likely to occur outside 

Page 323



 

154 
 
 

of the retailing and commercial centres identified in SP12. Policy ENT6 therefore seeks 

to facilitate the provision of new locally scaled convenience goods retailing provision 

where the need can be identified. In the case of large-scale residential or mixed-use 

developments incorporating a significant element of residential development, there is a 

case for providing a new retailing centre incorporating other retailing, leisure and 

commercial uses at a scale and size proportionate to the site as a whole. In summary, 

the retail need identified will be met by allocating regeneration sites in or adjacent to 

Bridgend and Porthcawl Town Centres, the re-use and regeneration of vacant units 

within commercial centres and via local service centres on new strategic sites (refer to 

the Retail Background Paper). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.4.61 Town centres need to maintain their diversity if they are to retain their vitality and 

 viability, but the range and variety of shops and services has changed over time and 

 will continue to evolve. However, there is a need to ensure that commercial 

 centres do not lose their ‘critical mass’ of retail units to the extent that they can no 

 longer function as viable shopping centres. There is a danger that retail uses could 

 be ‘outbid’ by other uses to the possible detriment of the commercial centre. 

ENT7: Development in Commercial Centres 

 

Within Primary Shopping Areas, development proposals on the ground floor must be 

for A1 floorspace to maintain a critical mass of retail units. Unless: 

 

1) The development would not, by virtue of its nature, design and scale, 
materially dilute the continuity of the primary shopping frontage; 
 

2) The development would not exacerbate an existing, nor create a new, undue 
concentration of non-A1 uses; 
 

3) The development would not create a dead frontage, but would rather 
stimulate passing trade and maintain public interest; 
 

4) Individually or cumulatively the proposal would not adversely affect the 
vitality, viability and character of the centre; 
 

5) The development would not give rise to new, nor materially exacerbate 
existing, local problems due to traffic generation, congestion, highway safety, 
noise, smell, crime, anti-social behaviour or other amenity considerations. 

 

Within Secondary Shopping Areas, greater flexibility exists to promote a wider range 

of retail uses to help address long-term vacancy rates. Development proposals must 

be for A1, A2 and A3 uses unless: 

 

a) Individually or cumulatively the proposal would not adversely affect the vitality, 

viability and character of the centre; 

 

b) The development would not give rise to new, nor materially exacerbate 

existing, local problems due to traffic generation, congestion, highway safety, 

noise, smell, crime, anti-social behaviour or other amenity considerations. 

 

Page 324



 

155 
 
 

 Accordingly, there is a need to strike a balance between retailing and non-retailing 

 uses in commercial centres to ensure the optimum mix, and thus enhance the 

 vitality and viability of those centres. 

5.4.62 ENT7 recognises that the Primary Shopping Areas of the County Borough’s town 

centres are in need of particular protection from competing uses. The Policy enforces 

strict criteria to protect their viability and vitality. Primary shopping frontages can also 

complement ongoing public realm pedestrianisation and town centre regeneration 

objectives, which seek to increase the retail offer of the centres in a pleasant, attractive 

environment. Within Primary Shopping Areas, non-A1 development proposals on the 

ground floor must be actively marketed prior to submission of an application. A marketing 

strategy should be submitted to and agreed by the LPA in advance of it being 

undertaken. Providing the LPA has approved the marketing strategy in advance and is 

satisfied that the strategy has been executed appropriately, one year of marketing will 

be considered acceptable. Otherwise, the LPA will need to be satisfied that marketing 

has been undertaken on reasonable terms for at least two years prior to the submission 

of an application. As a minimum, the LPA will require sales particulars and information 

from sales / letting agents to be submitted as part of an application. A more flexible 

approach is adopted outside of Primary Shopping Areas in accordance with ENT7. 

5.4.63 The Primary Shopping Area boundaries for Bridgend, Maesteg and Porthcawl have 

been reviewed against the existing distribution of uses and likely future requirements. In 

Bridgend and Maesteg, the Primary Shopping Areas has been condensed to create a 

consolidated retail core. Additional Secondary Shopping Areas have been identified on 

the proposals map for Bridgend, Maesteg and Porthcawl to create greater flexibility and 

promote the potential for a wider range of uses. 
 

5.4.64 Health checks of each of the Local and District Centres have identified that frontages on 

the periphery of Kenfig Hill, Ogmore Vale and Pontycymmer district centre all show signs 

of decline. However, these frontages still contain a high proportion of units in commercial 

use at present. The Council will continue to monitor the health of these frontages closely 

over the plan period and consider changing the boundaries if they experience further 

decline.   

ENT8: Non A1, A2 and A3 Uses Outside of Primary Shopping Areas 

Residential development on the first and upper floors in Retail and Commercial 

Centres will be encouraged subject to other policies in the plan. 

 
Changes of use to non-A1, A2 or A3 premises on the ground floor outside of primary 
shopping areas and outside of Bridgend, Maesteg and Porthcawl but within a retailing 
and commercial centre will only be permitted: 
 

1) If for residential purposes: 
 

a) The premises/floorspace has been vacant for at least two years and has 
been actively marketed over that time; and 
 

b) The premises/floorspace does not form part of a purpose-built retail 
environment or a continuous frontage of three or more existing commercial 
units. 

Page 325



 

156 
 
 

 
2) If for other purposes: 

 
a) The proposal does not involve the loss of existing A1 floorspace 

 
Wherever possible, proposals for a change of use of existing floorspace must be 
designed so as not to prejudice a future conversion back to a retail or commercial use. 
 
 

5.4.65 A s expressed above, the Council’s aim is to increase the vitality and viability of the 

retailing and commercial centres in the County Borough. ENT8 therefore actively 

encourages residential developments on the first and upper floors in Retail and 

Commercial Centres, as part of mixed use developments. Incorporation of residential 

uses can incite a greater sense of community with more people living in commercial 

centres, reduce private vehicle reliance, enhance civic pride, promote safer centres, 

increase local commuter spending and attract more businesses into centres via the 

locally resident, skilled workforce.  

 

5.4.66 ENT8 also recognises that, in some older centres, the prospects of attracting new 

commercial development (A1, A2 and A3 uses) are limited. This is particularly so in 

some of the valley settlements. Under these circumstances, there is a need to adopt a 

more flexible and pragmatic approach whilst also promoting the benefit of bringing empty 

units and upper floors back into active use. In most of the valley settlements, the 

commercial centres are interspersed with residential development, and indeed, many of 

the shops were once private dwelling houses that have been converted. The Council 

would be concerned if, under these circumstances, shops remained vacant for a 

considerable length of time, leading to a deterioration of their condition and to the 

detriment of the local environment. It is therefore considered appropriate to develop 

criteria by which retail units outside of the primary shopping areas can be converted to 

more viable uses such as residential. In these circumstances, it would need to be 

demonstrated that the property has been actively marketed prior to the submission of 

an application. A marketing strategy should be submitted to and agreed by the LPA in 

advance of it being undertaken. Providing the LPA has approved the marketing strategy 

in advance and is satisfied that the strategy has been executed appropriately, one year 

of marketing will be considered acceptable. Otherwise, the LPA will need to be satisfied 

that marketing has been undertaken on reasonable terms for at least two years prior to 

the submission of an application. As a minimum, the LPA will require sales particulars 

and information from sales / letting agents to be submitted as part of an application. 

 
5.6.67 The conversion of retail units often leads to the fragmentation of commercial frontages 

but this is considered preferable to long term vacancies and voids. Nonetheless, these 

have to be kept in balance so that the very purpose of retailing and commercial centres 

is not diluted unduly. Although activities falling within Class B1 are by definition 

acceptable in residential areas in terms of their environmental standards, the Council 

will not permit such uses which would result in the loss of existing retail A1. Such uses 

may be successfully accommodated above ground floor level in primary shopping 

frontages and in non-retail premises elsewhere in established commercial centres. 

 

Page 326



 

157 
 
 

ENT9: Retail Development Outside of Retail and Commercial Centres 

Development proposals outside of Retail and Commercial Centres that result in the 

loss of retail and commercial floorspace will only be permitted where there is proven 

to be other sufficient provision locally or where the premises/floorspace has been 

vacant for at least 12 months and has been actively marketed over that time. 

 

Retail development outside of Retail and Commercial Centres will be concentrated at 

the following existing locations: 

 

Location Acceptable Uses Type 

Bridgend Retail Park 
Bulky Comparison & 

Convenience 
Out-Of-Centre 

 

Waterton Retail Park 
Bulky Comparison & 

Convenience 
Out-Of-Centre 

Sainsbury, Cefn Hirgoed Convenience Out-Of-Centre 

Tesco, Brewery Lane Convenience Edge-Of-Centre 

Tesco, Llynfi Lane, Maesteg Convenience Edge-Of-Centre 

Bridgend Designer Outlet Village Controlled by s106 Out-Of-Centre 

Small scale retail and food and drink uses will be permitted as part of Strategic 

Allocations where the proposals are in accordance with Policies PLA1-5 

 

5.4.68 The loss of a single retail store to another use could lead to a deficit in provision locally. 

Policy ENT9 seeks to ensure that, when planning consent is granted in such 

circumstances, there will not be an under-provision of such retailing in the area. 

Evidence to this effect must accompany any planning application and applicants must 

demonstrate that the property has been actively marketed for at least 12 months prior 

to the submission of the application. A marketing strategy should be submitted to and 

agreed by the LPA in advance of it being undertaken. The Council will need to be 

satisfied that marketing has been undertaken on reasonable terms and, as a minimum, 

would require sales particulars and information from sales / letting agents to be 

submitted as part of an application. 

 

5.4.69 New proposals for retail development should be focused on locations within the retail 

hierarchy. Whilst proposals for new out-of-centre retail development will not be 

encouraged, the LDP acknowledges the presence of existing retail developments 

outside of Town, District and Local centres. It should be stressed that extensions within 

the boundaries of these sites, increases to the allocated floorspace or 

relaxations/changes to the types of goods sold, may require a needs test, sequential 

test and retail impact assessment, as advocated by national policy, depending on the 

nature of the proposal and the potential impacts. This will also apply to applications 

which seek to vary conditions to change the types of goods sold from these sites or the 

subdivision of units, both of which could potentially undermine the vitality and viability of 

Town and District centres if not properly controlled. 

 

Page 327



 

158 
 
 

5.4.70 As established retailing sites, the Council expect the sites listed in Policy ENT9 to be 

considered as part of the sequential test of sites for new retail development proposals 

on sites not allocated within the plan. The sites are well integrated into the urban fabric 

and are served by public transport and are accessible by means other than the car. 

Therefore, to ensure the sustainable use of land, existing sites must be examined in 

terms of their appropriateness, before new edge and out-of-centre sites are considered. 

The sequential test must be followed (i.e. existing edge of centre sites before new edge 

of centre sites, then existing out of centre sites before new out of centre sites). If existing 

sites cannot accommodate additional development, or the proposer’s site performs 

better in terms of sustainability issues, then evidence to this effect must be included in 

an accompanying Retail Statement and would be a material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications. 

 

5.4.71 The development of the Bridgend 

Designer Outlet Village at Junction 36 

of the M4 added a new dimension to 

out-of-centre retailing in the County 

Borough, attracting over 2 million 

visitors per annum. The outlet functions 

as a regional retailing and leisure 

destination and is considered as a form 

of shopping activity that is separate 

from the retail hierarchy.  

 

5.4.72 The nature of the retailing permitted is controlled by a Section 106 agreement which 

makes it a very particular form of out-of-town retail centre. This will continue to be the 

case in respect of new development proposals at this location, in order to protect the 

vitality and viability of the town centres of the County Borough, whilst acknowledging the 

role the outlet plays in attracting visitors. The LDP will continue to acknowledge the 

presence of the Designer Outlet by allocating it for its own specific purpose.  
 

Bridgend Designer Outlet Village 

Land at Junction 36 of the M4 is allocated for the Bridgend Designer Outlet Village. 

Further expansion within this allocation will be subject to compliance with the uses 

specified by the Section 106 agreement. 

  

 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

5.4.73 The planning system plays a key role in delivering clean growth and the decarbonisation 

of energy, as well as being crucial in building resilience to the impacts of climate change. 

The transition to a low carbon economy not only brings opportunities for clean growth 

and quality jobs, but also has wider benefits of enhanced places to live and work, with 

clean air, clean water and improved health outcomes. In accordance with national 

planning policy, the Council has an aspiration for all new housing development to be net 

zero carbon in the first instance, while continuing to promote a range of low and zero 

carbon technologies as a means to achieve this. 

 

McArthurGlen, Bridgend Designer Outlet Village 

 

Page 328



 

159 
 
 

5.4.74 Both Future Wales and PPW set out the requirements for clean growth and the 

decarbonisation of energy, which relates to wider legal obligations, needs and policies 

at an international, UK, Wales, and local level.  

 

5.4.75 The UK was the first country to set legally binding carbon targets (an 80% reduction in 

carbon emissions by 2050 against a 1990 baseline) through the Climate Change Act 

(2008). These targets were later reflected in the Environment (Wales) Act (2016). 

Understanding of the urgency and importance of tackling climate change has grown 

since the Climate Change Act was enacted. In 2015, parties to the United Nations 

Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) agreed to accelerate and 

intensify efforts to tackle climate change, aiming to keep global temperature rise below 

2°C (UNFCCC, 2019). In 2019, the Climate Change Committee (Climate Change 

Committee, 2019) recommended that the UK should increase their carbon targets to 

net-zero by 2050 and the Welsh Government declared a climate emergency and 

committed to setting new net zero carbon targets for 2050. 

 

5.4.76 Under the Environment (Wales) Act (2016), Wales is required to reduce net 

greenhouse gas emissions by at least 80% by 2050 (against a baseline set in 

legislation), with interim targets and carbon budgets established to ensure this target is 

met. In March 2019, Welsh Government published Prosperity for All: A Low Carbon 

Wales that sets priorities for: 

 

• reducing the amount of energy we use in Wales;  

• reducing our reliance on energy generated from fossil fuels; and  

• actively managing the transition to a low carbon economy. 

5.4.77 In addition to requirements set out in the Environment (Wales) Act (2016), Welsh 

Government has introduced the following targets specifically related to local energy 

generation and ownership, to be achieved by 2030:  

• 70% of Wales’ electricity consumption to be generated from renewable sources;  

• 1 GW of locally owned renewable electricity capacity in Wales; and 

• Renewable energy projects in Wales to include an element of local ownership.  

5.4.78 To achieve the targets above, the Council will need to work with renewable energy 

developers and ensure that renewable energy generation within their authorities is 

maximised. In order to ensure that this role is fulfilled, PPW places a requirement on 

planning authorities to develop an evidence base to inform the development of 

renewable energy and low carbon energy policies. The Welsh Government’s Practice 

Guidance: Planning for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy – A Toolkit for Planners, 

September 2015, “the Toolkit” (Welsh Government, 2015) is identified within PPW as it 

provides a methodology for developing an evidence base to inform spatially based 

renewable energy policies for inclusion within LDPs.  

5.4.79 The Council recognises that it has a significant role to play. Previous work that the 

Council and the Energy Systems Catapult (ESC) undertook forms an integral part of the 

evidence base, along with the Renewable Energy Assessment. This Assessment has 

been informed and guided by the Toolkit, although the methods have been updated to 

account for the local and temporal context of the Bridgend LDP 2018-2033, where 

appropriate. The Assessment estimates the current and future energy demands of the 

Page 329



 

160 
 
 

County Borough, along with the progress in meeting these demands from local low 

carbon energy generation assets. Against this backdrop, land within the County Borough 

boundary has been subject to a resource assessment to identify the potential for 

renewable and low carbon energy project deployment from a resource perspective. The 

following technologies have been considered: 

• Wind energy; 

• Ground mounted solar PV; 

• Biomass energy; 

• Energy from waste; 

• Hydropower energy; and 

• Buildings integrated solar PV. 

5.4.80 Previous work was undertaken with the Council under the Smart Systems and Heat 

programme (ETI, 2018b, ESC, 2018b) relating to the potential for low carbon heating 

within the County Borough. This was drawn on to inform the low carbon heating potential 

and opportunities. The potential resource available has been compared with projected 

future energy demands and it is considered unlikely that all of Bridgend County 

Borough’s future energy needs will be able to be generated from renewable and low 

carbon sources within the County Borough. This is due to the impracticalities of 

deploying the level of ground mounted solar PV potential identified within the 

Assessment. Therefore additional energy generated in other parts of the country and 

offshore will also be relied upon.  

5.4.81 With this in mind, the Council has set ambitious renewable energy deployment targets 

to maximise the use of the local resources available within the County Borough. In order 

to reduce future energy demand, strict policies have been introduced that seek to 

maximise the energy efficiency of new development, integrate energy generation into 

wider development proposals, and ensure that low carbon heating systems are installed. 

5.4.82 The Council has been at the forefront of energy systems innovation, through 

involvement in the Smart Systems and Heat programme, the FREEDOM project and 

separate innovative energy projects. In addition to the planning policy recommendations 

provided in this section, therefore, the Council will continue to lead the decarbonisation 

agenda by: 

• Continuing to pursue our own innovation projects and enabling others to deliver 

innovation projects within the County Borough, through delivery of the Smart Energy 

Plan (ESC, 2018b); 

 

• Supporting new additional energy system infrastructure including electric vehicle 

charging infrastructure and battery storage; 

 

• Sharing learning from decarbonisation projects with others (private and public sector),  

Supporting energy systems that are developed for the benefit of the community; 

 

• Requiring green infrastructure and biodiversity enhancements to be included in all new 

developments; 

 

Page 330



 

161 
 
 

• Developing and investing in additional renewable energy generation and energy 

efficiency projects on the Council’s (or other stakeholders’) own estate; and 

 

• Ensuring that climate change impact and sustainable development is considered 

throughout all the Council’s procurement and operational activities through the 

development of its Decarbonisation Strategy. Undertaking these action points will 

assist the Council in achieving our aim of making “…Bridgend a decarbonised, digitally 

connected smart County Borough”. 

SP13: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Development  

 

1) Renewable and low carbon development proposals which contribute to 

meeting national and local renewable and low carbon energy and energy 

efficiency targets will be permitted where: 

a) it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable impacts on 

the natural and historic environment or local communities (such as 

noise and air pollution) and that no other unacceptable cumulative 

impacts will arise; 

b) the proposal (inclusive of its associated infrastructure) has sought to 

minimise the landscape and visual impact through its design and 

micro-siting, particularly where in close proximity to homes and 

tourism receptors; and 

c) Proposals make provision for the appropriate restoration and after-

care of the land for its beneficial future re-use. 

 

2) The following Local Search Areas (LSAs) are identified as areas considered 
suitable for wind and solar energy development: 

  
a) LCA1: Llangynwyd Rolling Uplands & Forestry (Suitable for Wind 

Energy); 
b) LCA8: Ogmore Forest and Surrounding Uplands (Suitable for Wind 

Energy); and 
c) LCA 12: Newton Down Limestone Plateau (Suitable for Solar 

Energy). 
 
Within the Local Search Areas (LSA), proposals for wind and solar energy 

generation will be permitted subject to criteria 1a), 1b) and 1c) and other 

relevant policies in this plan. Proposals for other development within these 

areas will only be permitted where they can demonstrate that they would not 

unacceptably prejudice the renewable energy generation potential of the 

LSA or the Future Wales’ Pre-Assessed Areas for Wind Energy. 

 

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 1, 2,  

OBJ: 1b, 2j, 3j, 3l, 4b, 4c 

Future 

Wales 

Heat Networks 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and Associated Infrastructure 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Development of National 

Significance 

PPW Productive and Enterprising Places 

Page 331



 

162 
 
 

Energy  

Reduce Energy Demand and Energy Efficiency 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

Energy, Minerals 

Making best use of Material Resources and Promoting the Circular 

Economy 

WBFG Act A globally responsible Wales 

A healthier Wales 

A resilient Wales 

Well-being 

Goals 

Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

Key 

Evidence 

Renewable Energy Assessment 

Local Area Energy Strategy 

Future Wales 

 

5.4.83 Proposals for large scale energy development are classed as Developments of National 

Significance and are determined by Welsh Ministers. Proposals below the threshold for 

Developments of National Significance are determined by local planning authorities. 

Large scale energy developments include: 

• All on-shore wind generation over 10 megawatts; and 

• Other renewable energy generation sites with generating power between 10 

megawatts and 350 megawatts. 

 

5.4.84 Future Wales’ spatial priority is for large scale wind energy and solar developments to 

be directed towards Pre-Assessed Areas for Wind Energy (as shown on associated Map 

within Future Wales). There is a presumption in favour of large scale on-shore wind and 

solar energy development in these areas, an acceptance of landscape change and a 

focus on maximising benefits and minimising impacts. Future Wales also states that 

communities will be protected from significant cumulative impacts to avoid unacceptable 

situations whereby, for example, smaller settlements could be potentially surrounded by 

large wind schemes. The development of Priority Areas will assist in co-ordinating 

strategic action, bringing a critical mass of new renewables developments together to 

build the case for new or reinforced grid infrastructure. Future Wales also emphasises 

that renewable energy technologies other than wind and solar are supported in principle.  

5.4.85 SP13 (and supporting development management policies) will assist the County 

Borough transition to a low carbon, decentralised energy system that works for its 

individuals, communities and businesses by encouraging renewable and low and zero 

carbon energy projects. SP13 outlines the criteria against which proposals up to Local 

Authority-wide scale will be assessed. Proposals outside the Pre-Assessed Areas which 

are likely to have a significant impact on the landscape and/or visual amenity will be 

required to undertake a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment and other relevant 

technical assessments to identify likely significant effects and demonstrate that 

adequate mitigation has been incorporated into the development. However, both within 

and outside Pre-Assessed Areas, the landscape and visual impact must be minimised 

through appropriate design and micro-siting. 

 

Page 332



 

163 
 
 

Renewable Energy Targets 

5.4.86 The Renewable Energy Assessment identifies the contribution that the County Borough 

is potentially able to make towards meeting the national renewable energy targets 

mentioned above (see Tables below). These targets have informed the Plan’s 

renewable energy targets set out in the monitoring framework. The uptake of renewable 

energy will be monitored to help demonstrate how the LDP is assisting to deliver the 

contribution identified in the Renewable Energy Assessment with the technology 

breakdown provided below.  

Page 333



 

164 
 
 

Table 10: Targets for Area-Based Resource Use 

 

Energy Technology 

Estimated maximum 

accessible resource 
Current installed capacity LDP Targets 

MW MWh p.a MW MWh p.a MW MWh p.a 

Wind 176 MWe¹  416 GWhe 64 MWe 151 GWhe 81 MWe 191 GWhe 

Ground Mounted 

Solar PV 
3,835 MWe¹ 

3,359 

GWhe 
13 MWe 11 GWhe 218 MWe 191 GWhe 

Building Integrated 

Solar PV 
212 MWe 186 GWhe 8MWe 7 GWhe 41 MWe 36 GWhe 

Hydro 1MWe 3GWhe 0.05MWe 0.2GWhe No target due to the low level of resource identified. 

Biomass 19MWth 51GWhth 7MW 17 GWhth No target 

Energy from Waste 

(Power) 
0.2 MWe 2 GWhe 

None – waste is transported out of 

the county 

No target. Due to the small amount of resource 

available, a specific energy from waste target is not 

suggested. However, a policy to ensure that waste 

management at new development sites and all 

waste management operations/contracts (that the 

Council engage with) comply with the Waste 

Hierarchy (Welsh Government, 2010) is suggested 

to ensure waste is used for energy generation where 

it cannot be prevented, reused or recycled. 

Energy from Waste 

(Thermal) 
0.4 MWth 2 GWhth 

None – waste is transported out of 

the county 

Anaerobic digestion 

(Power) 
0.6 MWth 3 GWhth 

n/a (heat generated is understood to 

be currently used for plant’s parasitic 

load only) 

Anaerobic digestion 

(Thermal) 
0.6 MWth 3 GWhth 

n/a (heat generated is understood to 

be currently used for plant’s parasitic 

load only) 

Total Power 

Generation 
4,225 MWe 

3,970 

GWhe 
88 MWe 193 GWhe 340 MWe 418 GWhe 

Total Heat 

Generation 
20 MWth 55 GWhth 7 MWth 17 GWhth 

No target. The REA recommends to base these on 

the proportion of buildings in an area to have low 

carbon heating systems installed rather than the 

number of connections or capacity. 

¹ Includes installed

P
age 334



 

165 
 
 

5.4.87 The Power Generation target contained with Table 10 reflects the findings of the 

Renewable Energy Assessment. The predominant renewable energy resources in the 

County Borough are wind and solar. The wind generation target is based on a 

combination of the current installed capacity and an estimation of the remaining potential 

within the Landscape Character Areas identified as having moderate sensitivity to large 

wind turbine developments of 76-110 m tip height (as opposed to high sensitivity). The 

Ground mounted solar target is based upon transferring the majority of the wind energy 

generation potential to solar PV, given the existing heavy concentration of wind turbines 

in the north of the County Borough. The building integrated solar PV target is based on 

a combination of the current installed capacity and the desire to prioritise the 

incorporation of the technology into new build housing proposals. 

Table 11: Suggested High and Low Targets for Low Carbon Domestic Heating 

Energy 

Technology 

Low (No. of 

dwellings) 

High (No. of 

dwellings) 
LDP Target 

ASHP 4,400 9,600 30% of dwellings in Bridgend County 

Borough fitted with low carbon heating 

systems 

 

During the Stakeholder Workshop it 

was discussed that a policy providing a 

hierarchy of lower carbon heating 

systems should be introduced. Whilst 

the Strategy map should be referred to 

it should be up to 

developers/homeowners to decide on 

the most appropriate heating system. It 

was also decided that targets should 

be based on a proportion of dwellings 

that have low carbon heating installed 

rather than a target consisting of the 

number of connections/capacities. The 

suggested target is based on the 

values provided in section 6 (i.e. low 

heat pump targets and high district 

heating target) but as a percentage of 

the current housing stock in Bridgend 

County Borough. This cannot be met 

by new build housing alone, therefore, 

to maximise the likelihood of meeting 

this target all new build developments 

should be fitted with low carbon 

heating systems. 

 

GSHP 3,100 3,400 

Hybrid HP 2,500 3,100 

District heat 

network 

connections 

8,000 9,700 

Page 335



 

166 
 
 

Biomass 

boilers 

700 

(additional 

dwellings) 

4,700 

No target  

 

5.4.88 The target for low carbon domestic heating in Table 11 above is based on a percentage 

of the housing stock to have low carbon heating installed rather than the number of 

connections or capacities. This cannot be met by new build housing alone, therefore, to 

maximise the likelihood of meeting this target all new build developments should be fitted 

with low carbon heating systems. 

 Local Search Areas (LSAs) 

5.4.89 The Renewable Energy Assessment undertook a high-level constraints assessment of 

the County Borough to identify areas that are considered more suitable for the location 

of wind energy and ground mounted solar PV developments. The locations identified 

have been overlaid alongside the 15 Landscape Character Areas defined as part of the 

landscape sensitivity assessment set out in SPG20: Renewables in the Landscape 

(2016).  

5.4.90 Whilst this assessment finds that all the Council’s landscapes are particularly sensitive 

to large-scale wind and solar developments, it identifies two Landscape Character Areas 

(1: Llangynwyd Rolling Uplands & Forestry and 8: Ogmore Forest and Surrounding 

Uplands) as having the least sensitivity to wind turbine development. Landscape 

Character Area 8: Ogmore Forest and Surrounding Uplands is located within Future 

Wales’ Pre-Assessed Areas for Wind Energy, and in accordance with SP13, any 

proposal in this area will need to ensure that the intention of the Priority Area designation 

is not compromised. 

5.4.91 For solar PV developments, the entire County Borough is considered to have high 

sensitivity to solar schemes greater than 15 hectares (~8.5 MW). However, LCA 12: 

Newton Down Limestone Plateau is considered to be the least sensitive and is identified 

in SP13 as a suitable location for solar PV developments in the County Borough. 

5.4.92 Whilst the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment provides an indication of landscape 

sensitivities, the document states that it should not be considered as a definitive 

statement of the suitability of a certain location for development. As such, there may be 

sites found to be suitable for development within areas considered to have high 

sensitivity. 

ENT10 : Low Carbon Heating Technologies for New Development  

The Council has an aspiration for all new homes to be net zero carbon in the first 

instance. New major development must: 

 

1) Be accompanied by an ‘Energy Masterplan’ that demonstrates that the most 

sustainable heating and cooling systems have been selected. This must 

include consideration of the proposed system as a whole, including the impact 

of its component materials on greenhouse gas emissions. 

 

Page 336



 

167 
 
 

2) Demonstrate that heating systems have been selected in accordance with the 

following sequential approach:  

 

a) Connection to an existing heat network or installation of a new heat 

network or connection from the point of occupation (If installation or 

connection is not feasible or financially viable, then development must be 

designed so as not to prejudice any future installation or connection to a 

District Heat Network); 

 

b) If criterion 2a) is not technically feasible or financially viable, employing 

sustainable alternatives to heat networks such as individual renewable or 

communal renewable or low carbon installations must be considered; 

 

c) If criteria 2a) and 2b) are not technically feasible or financially viable, 

installation of Hybrid heat pumps must be considered;  

 
d) If criteria 2a), 2b) and 2c) are not technically feasible or financially viable, 

installation of electric only heating systems must be considered;  

 

e) If none of the above are technically feasible or financially viable, 

development can then seek to connect to the gas network. 

 

5.4.93 Heat Networks are a method of delivering heating and hot water to multiple buildings 

from a central heat source and, particularly in urban areas, can be the most effective 

way to provide low carbon heat. Heat networks can vary in size from a single block of 

flats, two buildings sharing a single heat source or wider areas of multiple buildings 

forming a District Heat Network.  

5.4.94 Domestic heating is a major contributor to Bridgend County Borough’s carbon emissions 

therefore decarbonising heat is critical to achieving a low carbon energy system and is 

a national and local challenge. Future Wales identifies Bridgend as a ‘Priority Area for 

District Heat Networks’ and requires planning authorities to identify opportunities for 

District Heat Networks and plan positively for their implementation. The Bridgend Local 

Area Energy Strategy and Renewable Energy Assessment identifies those areas 

considered to be suitable for development for district heat, hybrid and electric-heating 

solutions in combination with different levels of targeted fabric retrofit as shown in Figure 

3 below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 337



 

168 
 
 

Figure 3: Areas Suitable for Development for District Heat, Hybrid and Electric-

Heating 

 

 

 

5.4.95 The Bridgend Renewable Energy Assessment identifies the most appropriate low-

carbon heating solution for the LDPs Strategic Sites (refer to PLA1-5). As part of the 

Council’s holistic approach to the decarbonisation of heat, ENT10 seeks to ensure that 

low carbon heating technologies are installed as part of all new major development (heat 

networks below this threshold will also be encouraged). This policy will also help ensure 

that development is designed in such a way to not prejudice the future development of 

a potentially Countywide District Heating Network, and enable development to connect 

to it at a later date once it becomes operational. The precise alignment of the Network 

will only be finalised following detailed ground investigations and feasibility 

assessments. Developers are encouraged to discuss the alignment with the Council at 

an early stage to ascertain whether their proposals are likely to be affected. Proposed 

developments must demonstrate how the proposal will facilitate a connection to a District 

Heating Network, or robustly justify why the connection is not technically and/or 

economically viable and suggest an alternative approach. This robust policy position is 

justified on the basis of development longevity. Schemes should be able to demonstrate 

that they are suitable for a net-zero carbon energy system, otherwise costly retrofits will 

be required in the future to ensure that carbon targets are met. 

 

 

Page 338



 

169 
 
 

ENT11: Energy Efficiency Provision Within the Design of Buildings 

 

Development proposals must demonstrate that sustainable design standards are 

integral to the proposal through construction and operation, ensuring that they are 

considered at the beginning of the design process. New major development must be 

accompanied by an ‘Energy Masterplan’ that demonstrates that the following 

principles have been incorporated: 

 
1) Buildings are sited and orientated to achieve maximum passive solar gain; 

2) High quality, thermally efficient building materials are used; 

3) Energy efficiency measures such as loft/wall insulation, triple glazing are 

installed; 

4) Non-residential developments must aim to meet BREEAM standard 

“Excellent”; 

5) Renewable energy generation technologies are integrated into the design to 

meet the energy needs of the development (to include consideration of roof 

top solar PV, solar canopies and smaller ground arrays); 

6) Reduce energy demand by maximising energy efficiency in fabric design;  

7) Water reuse and recycling and rainwater harvesting must also be 

incorporated wherever feasible to reduce demand on mains water supply, 

subject to viability; 

8) Explore opportunities to integrate energy storage to provide load flexibility. 

 

 

5.4.96 ENT11 seeks to ensure that the design and standard of any new development is 

optimised to achieve energy efficiency and zero carbon emissions. Development 

proposals must demonstrate that sustainable design standards are integral to the 

proposal through construction and operation, ensuring that they are considered at the 

beginning of the design process.  

5.4.97 There is an increasingly urgent need to deliver carbon savings from new buildings and 

ensure that the gap between the designed and as-built energy performance of new 

buildings is as little as possible. There is growing evidence that this energy performance 

gap is quite significant and that new buildings can be as much as 200% less energy 

efficient than their design would suggest. Major developments should undertake post-

construction testing in order to improve our understanding of this issue and also to 

ensure that performance standards for low carbon buildings are linked to as-built 

performance. 

5.4.98 The whole life cycle of a building from construction, through occupation and renovation, 

to eventual demolition can result in major resource inputs. By optimising the design of 

buildings, using the principles set out in this policy, there is considerable potential to 

reduce the need for inputs and the ecological and carbon footprint of development, and 

can potentially enhance the environment whilst reducing costs for developers and 

occupants. 

 

Page 339



 

170 
 
 

5.4.99 ENT11 continues the Council's current approach to seeking more energy efficient and 

lower carbon housing, and development that is environmentally sustainable in a wider 

sense in order to achieve the Vision and Objectives for the County Borough. Further 

guidance on implementing the principles and requirements set out in ENT11 will be 

contained within a Sustainable Construction and Design SPG. 

 

ENT12: Parc Stormy  

 

Notwithstanding the consideration of material planning matters concerning mineral 

safeguarding, access, landscape, pollution and design, further development and 

extension of the former Stormy Down Airfield will be permitted where it relates to 

and/or facilitates the creation of a cluster of innovative green industries. 

 

This includes the continuation of processing food waste for renewable energy 

generation at the Anaerobic Digestion Plant 

 

 

5.4.100 Parc Stormy is located on the former Stormy Down airfield, which is located 

approximately 6.5km (4 miles) west of Bridgend Town Centre. The site has excellent 

access to the Strategic Highway Network with close links to the A48 and M4 Junction 

37. The site is currently used for a range of low carbon energy generating technologies 

including an anaerobic digestion plant, an onshore wind turbine, solar array, Tesla 

battery, Solcer House. Most recently, consent was granted for a biomethane gas-to-grid 

facility to upgrade biogas generated at the AD plant and inject it into the gas network. 

5.4.101 Food waste in Bridgend is currently processed at the Anaerobic Digestion facility. This 

processes approximately 50,000 tonnes of food waste per year (including waste that is 

imported from outside the County Borough) and has a capacity of 3 MWe. If the ambition 

to reduce food waste generated is realised over the LDP period, it could be offset if the 

existing plant is able to diversify and accept organic farm waste. The biogas produced 

at Stormy Down is currently combusted in a CHP engine, with some of the heat used for 

the anaerobic digestion processes but the remaining heat is wasted. Severn Trent (the 

facility owners) are currently investigating the possibility of upgrading the biogas to 

biomethane and injecting this into the gas network (BCBC, 2019). 

5.4.102 ENT12 seeks to continue the existing operation of innovative renewable energy 

generation at Parc Stormy and encourages future development proposals that seek to 

extend that role. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 340



 

171 
 
 

Mineral Resources 

SP14: Sustainable Development of Mineral Resources 

The efficient and appropriate use of minerals within the County will be encouraged, 

including the re-use and recycling of suitable minerals as an alternative to primary 

won aggregates. The extraction of mineral resources will be permitted where they 

satisfy the following criteria:  

1) It can be demonstrated that there is a requirement for the mineral to meet the 

need of society either nationally, regionally or locally, and the need cannot be 

met from secondary or recycled materials or existing reserves. As a minimum, 

a 10 year landbank of crushed rock will be maintained throughout the Plan 

period; 

  

2) The proposed end use of the mineral resource is appropriate and represents 

an efficient and sustainable use of the resource; 

 

3) The development would not cause demonstrable harm to the amenities of local 

communities, in particular with regard to access, traffic generation, noise, 

vibration, dust, air quality and odour;  

 

4) The proposal would not result in any significant adverse impacts on public 

health and well-being;  

 

5) There would be no significant adverse impact, including visual impact, on the 

landscape, natural heritage, cultural and historic environments;  

 

6) There would be no significant adverse impact on the quality and quantity of 

controlled waters and no additional flood risk from land drainage; 

 

7) It can be demonstrated that no significant danger, damage or disruption would 

arise from subsidence or ground instability;  

 

8) The proposal would not adversely impact agricultural interests, particularly on 

high quality agricultural land; 

 

9) Opportunities for the re-use and/or recycling of mineral waste are maximised; 

 

10) The proposal has duly considered the location of any existing water and 

sewerage infrastructure; 

 

11) The minerals will be transported by rail wherever feasible; and,  

 

Page 341



 

172 
 
 

12) Appropriate and progressive restoration and aftercare measures have been 

submitted, including post closure management of the site and the provision of 

other appropriate compensatory enhancements. 

The Council will not support the development of land based unconventional oil or gas 

operations, including the exploration, appraisal and extraction of oil and gas by 

unconventional methods (including the  drilling of exploratory boreholes). 

  

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 3, 4 

OBJ:  3K, 3L, 3M, 4B, 4C 

Future 

Wales 

Strategic Policies for Regional Planning 

PPW Productive and Enterprising Places  

Energy Minerals 

Minerals 

Protecting Special Characteristics and Qualities of Places 

Safeguarding Mineral Resources and Infrastructure    

Ensuring Supply  

Aggregates  

Reducing the Impacts of Mineral Extraction and Related Operations  

WBFG Act A globally responsible Wales 

A healthier Wales 

A resilient Wales 

LWBP Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

Key 

Evidence 

BGS Mineral Resource Maps 

BGS Aggregate Safeguarding Maps 

Coal Authority Maps 

Regional Technical Statement 2nd Review 

Safeguarding Assessment of Sites 

 

5.4.103 SP14 sets out criteria against which all proposals for mineral development will be 

assessed. Given the variety and diverse nature of such applications, however, other 

factors such as the need for planning agreements/obligations in accordance with SP10, 

may also need to be considered for major development. Some mineral sites, because 

of their scale, provide an ideal opportunity for habitat creation to help meet objectives in 

the Local Biodiversity Action Plan and the proposed Green Infrastructure Plan. In order 

to sustain such new habitat, it will normally be necessary to secure funding from the 

developer to ensure the long term integrity of the site. 

   

5.4.104 The mineral industry is still active in the County Borough with limestone and sand and 

gravel still being worked at a number of different sites. Minerals are an important 

resource which should be protected for future generations by locating non-mineral 

development away from areas which are underlain by minerals of economic importance, 

where feasible. 

    

5.4.105 Given the distribution of minerals within the County Borough, and the location of existing 

settlements, it is considered inevitable that there will be some loss of mineral, although 

Page 342



 

173 
 
 

this will be minimised through careful site selection. A detailed safeguarding policy will 

be included to ensure that the need to protect the mineral resource is considered prior 

to any non-mineral development outside allocated sites or identified development 

boundaries. Within development boundaries the need to undertake prior extraction to 

address issues of instability will also be addressed. 

 

5.4.106 Mineral TAN 1, and the Regional Technical Statement (RTS) 2nd Review for Aggregates, 

set out guidance/advice on how development plans should address mineral issues. They 

support a strong and sustainable approach to mineral planning, while ensuring valuable 

finite resources are safeguarded for possible future extraction. In terms of the supply of 

aggregates the maximum use of secondary and recycled aggregates from commercial 

and demolition sources in preference to primary aggregates is promoted. Strategic 

Policy 14 therefore supports these national and regional policy requirements.  

 

5.4.107 This Second Review of the RTS introduces a new requirement for all Local Planning 

Authorities (LPA) to agree Statements of Sub-Regional Collaboration (SSRCs) in 

respect of their contributions to the future provision of land-won primary aggregates. 

SSRCs are required to be prepared, collaboratively, by all constituent LPA within each 

RTS sub-region (as defined by the RTS 2nd Review) as part of the evidence base needed 

to support each LDP. Bridgend has been grouped within the Cardiff City sub-region 

whereby a SSRC has been agreed upon by all LPAs including Cardiff, the Vale of 

Glamorgan, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Merthyr Tydfil, Caerphilly and the Brecon Beacons 

National Park. The purpose of the SSRC is to confirm that all constituent LPAs within a 

particular RTS sub-region accept the individual apportionments for aggregates for their 

individual Authority areas, as set in the latest review of the RTS. 

   

5.4.108 The County Borough is required to meet the apportionments set out in the RTS through 

the LDP process in order to contribute towards meeting the regional demand for 

aggregates (both hard crushed rock, and sand and gravel). The total requirement is for 

17.471 MT of crushed rock over the next 25 years. The County Borough has a surplus 

of existing permitted crushed rock reserves in the region of 27.27 MT to put towards this 

requirement. Therefore, the County’s landbank figures for crushed rock is notably in 

excess of the minimum requirements set out in MTAN1. MTAN 1 requires LPAs to 

maintain a minimum 10 year supply of aggregates (landbank) throughout the Plan period 

to ensure that national, regional and local demand are met. The limestone quarries 

within the County Borough contribute approximately 8.7% of the South Wales region’s 

total crushed rock sales for the aggregates market. At present, the total aggregate 

reserves (landbank) figure is approximately 42 years. 

 

5.4.109 There is no requirement set out in the RTS for sand & gravel. At present, there is 

currently no land-based sand & gravel extraction within the Cardiff City sub-region, and 

this has generally been the case for decades. This is due in part to the ready availability 

of marine dredged sand from both the Severn Estuary and the Bristol Channel, but also 

reflects the environmental sensitivity of many of the inland areas which might contain 

potentially suitable resources.  

 

Page 343



 

174 
 
 

5.4.110 In accordance with the recommendations contained within the RTS 2nd Review, no future 

provision for land-won primary aggregates, including allocations for future workings have 

been identified within the Plan. 

ENT13: Development in Mineral Safeguarding Zones 

Development proposals within mineral safeguarding areas, either permanent or 
temporary, must demonstrate that: 
 
1) If permanent development, the mineral can be extracted prior to the development, 
and/or the mineral is present in such limited quantity or quality to make extraction of 
no or little value as a finite resource; and 
 
2) In the case of residential development, the scale and location of the development 
e.g. limited infill/house extensions, would have no significant impact on the possible 
working of the resource; and 
 
3) In the case of temporary development, it can be implemented and the site restored 
within the timescale the mineral is likely to be required. 

 

5.4.111 As set out in national planning guidance, the safeguarding of finite minerals resources 

is a means of preserving natural resources for future generations. This does not infer 

these will ever be worked and in most cases only very limited use will be made of them. 

It is also important to remember safeguarding also does not confer any 

permission/allocation for extraction/exploitation. The safeguarded areas shown on the 

Proposals Map relate to the British Geological Survey (BGS) Aggregate Safeguarding 

Map for South East Wales. 

 

5.4.112 In most instances, development may proceed within safeguarding areas as long as 

developers demonstrate the resource in question is either of poor quality/quantity and 

would not be economical to exploit, or the nature of the development in question would 

not prejudice exploitation of the resource. Such consideration will normally be made at 

the planning application stage and should form part of any submission for approval. 

 

5.4.113 With regard to aggregates (hard rock, and sand and gravel) identified and safeguarded 

on the proposals map, the extraction of mineral resources will generally not be 

acceptable within 200 metres of identified settlements in the LDP (for hard rock) and 

within 100 metres (for sand and gravel).  

ENT14: Development in Mineral Buffer Zones 

The following mineral buffer zones are identified around existing quarries and mineral 
operations: 
 

1) Cefn Cribwr Mineral Buffer Zone 
2) Stormy Down Mineral Buffer Zone 

 
Proposed development within buffer zones must demonstrate that: 
 
a) The mineral resource will not be sterilised; and 
 
b) The proposals will not be adversely affected to an unacceptable degree by 
mineral operations. 

Page 344



 

175 
 
 

5.4.114 Mineral Buffer zones are shown on the Proposals Map around all quarries and mineral 
operations, including dormant sites. The purpose of buffer zones is to protect both 
mineral reserves (resources with planning permission) and mineral resources from 
development which may sterilise them, but also to ensure the environmental effects of 
quarrying/mining do not adversely affect sensitive development such as housing. 
Consequently, development such as extensions to existing properties and small infill 
development within settlement boundaries would normally be permitted. For the 
purposes of the LDP, mineral buffer zones have only been identified on the Proposals 
Map around sites with ‘Mineral Reserves’. 

 
5.4.115 In accordance with MTAN(1) the buffer zones have been defined by a 200 metre (for 

limestone/sandstone quarries) distance from the boundary of the mineral site. These 

issues have been further amplified in the Mineral Background Paper. 

 

5.4.116 Certain land uses such as office, industrial and commercial uses may be permissible 

within buffer zones as they are less sensitive to any adverse effects such as noise, dust 

and blasting. Other uses such as schools and health premises would be less tolerant 

and generally would not be permitted. 

 

Waste Management 

SP15: Sustainable Waste Management  

The sustainable management of waste will be facilitated by: 

1) securing opportunities to minimise the production of waste in all development 

and ensuring the sustainable management of waste once it has been 

produced;  

 

2) Supporting proposals for waste management which move the management of 

waste up the waste hierarchy (identified in national policy);  

 

3) Supporting proposals which reduce the impacts of existing waste 

management on communities and the environment;  

 

4) In order to manage waste within the County Borough in a sustainable manner, 

the development of in-building sustainable waste management facilities 

involving the transfer, treatment, re-use, recycling, in-vessel composting or 

energy recovery from waste, will be permitted within the following areas: 

• Land at Heol-y-Splott, South Cornelly;  

• Brynmenyn Industrial Estate, Brynmenyn;  

• Village Farm Industrial Estate, Pyle;  

• Brackla/Litchard Industrial Estate, Bridgend;  

• Waterton Industrial Estate, Bridgend; and 

• Parc Stormy. 

Other waste management facilities may be permitted at appropriate locations primarily 

within allocated employment sites with specified B2 employment use class allocations, 

Page 345



 

176 
 
 

providing they are supported with an agreed programme of site management for the 

duration of the development and they do not have a detrimental impact upon: 

a) Adjoining land uses;  

b) Amenity of neighbouring land uses or individual properties, including the 

effects of traffic movement and the generation of noise, dust, fumes, vibration 

and odour;  

c) The highway network;  

d) Visual impact;  

e) Natural heritage, cultural and historic environment;  

f) The type, quality and source of waste;  

g) Controlled waters, including water quantity and quality;  

h) Air Quality; and  

i) Public health and well-being.  

Development of sustainable waste management facilities in appropriate rural 

locations, including composting and anaerobic digestion, may also be supported 

subject to the above criteria.  

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 3, 4 

OBJ: 3K, 3I, 3M, 4B, 4C 

Future 

Wales 

Strategic Policies for Regional Planning 

PPW Making Best Use of Material Resources and Promoting the Circular 

Economy  

Design Choices to prevent Waste  

Sustainable Waste Management Facilities 

WBFG Act A globally responsible Wales  

LWBP Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

Key 

Evidence 

TAN 21 – Waste  

Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan 

South West Wales Regional Waste Plan 

 

5.4.117 Waste reduction is a cross cutting issue and opportunities to prevent or reduce the 

generation of waste should be made in all development, in line with PPW.  

5.4.118 When assessing proposals for all types of waste management facilities, the extent to 

which the development contributes to the objectives and principles set out in the National 

Waste Strategy (Towards Zero Waste (2010)) and the relevant Sector Plans, in 

environmental, economic, and social terms, will be a material planning consideration. 

Planning issues which must be taken into account when preparing applications are set 

out within Annex C of TAN21. Developers must clearly justify why a proposal is 

necessary and that it meets a regional or locally identified need. A Waste Planning 

Assessment (WPA) will be required to support all applications for a waste facility 

classified as a disposal, recovery or recycling facility. The WPA must contain sufficient 

information to enable an assessment of the application and its contribution to meeting 

the requirements set out in the Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plans. 

Page 346



 

177 
 
 

Advice regarding the information to be included within a WPA can be found in Annex B 

of TAN21. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Community Recycling 

5.4.119 The waste hierarchy is used to advise on waste management options. Development 

proposals must demonstrate that the treatment process reflects the priority order of the 

waste hierarchy as far as possible, notably how the management of waste is being 

driven up the hierarchy. Proposals must have regard to the nearest appropriate 

installation concept and self-sufficiency principles where necessary. Departure from the 

hierarchy should be justified through the use of a Life Cycle Assessment and be 

contained within the WPA. In accordance with national policy, particular regard will be 

given to how proposals for waste covered by Article 16 of the revised Waste Framework 

Directive fit with the Nearest Appropriate Installation concept and Self-Sufficiency 

Principles.  

5.4.120 Proposals for in-building waste management facilities will be directed to the employment 

sites identified in SP15. . The co-location of waste management facilities to enable the 

development of heat networks will be supported, subject to the criteria detailed within 

SP15. Other areas having the benefit of lawful B2 use (as classified under the Town and 

Country Planning (Use Classes) Order) may also be considered, subject to meeting the 

criteria set out above in SP15. Some waste operations such as windrow composting and 

anaerobic digestion may, however, need to be located outside of settlement boundaries 

where emissions such as bioaerosols will not harm the public. Each application will 

therefore need to be determined on its merits in accordance with normal development 

control criteria and other relevant countryside policies, guided by the areas of search 

maps produced as part of the Regional Waste Plan evidence base. 

 

5.4.121 Commercial and industrial waste comprises approximately 60% of the total waste 

generated in any given area. Such waste takes a number of different forms such as 

Page 347



 

178 
 
 

business food waste, green horticultural waste, plastics, wood, glass, paper, metal and 

construction and demolition waste such as soil, bricks, concrete and stone etc. 

 

5.4.122 The number of facilities to deal with the recycling of such waste has grown dramatically 

in recent years as a result of national and regional targets to reduce disposal to landfill. 

This trend is likely to continue throughout the plan period and as most waste processing 

has elements of B1/B2/B8 use, capacity on existing industrial estates has been 

assessed to accommodate demand for such facilities in line with TAN 21 and the 

Regional Waste Plan. Hence, such facilities are encouraged to locate on existing sites 

which generally have suitable infrastructure to support facilities of this nature. This also 

enables, where appropriate, the sharing of energy produced from waste management 

processes to adjoining industrial users or to appropriate receptors within the wider urban 

area. 

  

ENT15: Inert Waste 

Proposals for the deposit of locally generated inert waste on sites in the countryside 

will only be permitted where it is necessary for the facilitation of acceptable 

development as defined in Policy SP15 and where all of the following criteria are 

satisfied: 

 

1) The waste satisfies the definition of inert waste as defined by current legislation; 

2) The nature of the waste is such that it cannot be reused or recycled other than for 

basic fill use; 

3) The proposed final landform is compatible with the existing surrounding ground 

levels; 

4) The natural drainage of the site or adjoining land would not be impeded; 

5) Arrangements can be made to prevent the pollution of surface or underground 

water; 

6) The landform is appropriately landscaped unless compacted areas are required for 

built development; and 

7) There are no significant adverse impacts on natural heritage. 

 

 

5.4.123 A significant number of proposals for the tipping of inert waste (soils, bricks, concrete, 

stone etc) are received on land which forms part of farms for the purposes of land 

reclamation and/or to facilitate a base for built development. In many cases, the 

proposals include material which can be segregated and recycled and used for 

beneficial use rather than a basic fill material. ENT15 seeks to set out a sustainable 

approach to the proper control of such activities to ensure the protection of the 

countryside and the re-use of waste materials other than for tipping. Such use of material 

reduces the demand for primary aggregate and makes the best use of limited resources. 

 

 

 

Page 348



 

179 
 
 

ENT16: Waste Movement in New Development 

 
All proposals for new built development must include provision for the proper design, 
location, storage and management of waste generated by the development both 
during construction and operation of the site. 
 
Development must incorporate, as appropriate, adequate and effective provision for 
the storage, recycling and other sustainable management of waste, and allow for 
appropriate access arrangements for recycling and refuse collection vehicles and 
personnel. 
 

 

5.4.124 ENT16 sets out the need for an integrated approach to providing waste facilities for all 

built development. Such provision covers residential, industrial, commercial, retail and 

other development. Early consideration of waste management needs for flats, terraced 

housing etc. is essential to ensure planning for waste is not an afterthought. This 

includes considerations such as bin/bag enclosures, design layouts for easy waste 

handling, segregated stores and path gradients. Larger sites may be required to produce 

an environment management plan, which would state how waste arising and other 

environmental control measures would reduce the impact of construction. 

 

5.4.125 The following information must be provided in support of developments, as appropriate, 

to demonstrate how sustainable waste management will be provided for: 

 

• Plans demonstrating an adequate footprint for the internal and external on-site 

waste,  recycling, composting, separation and storage facilities. Communal 

facilities are unfavourable however these may be appropriate for larger 

developments should  sufficient consideration be afforded to recyclate 

separation and residual waste minimisation/restriction; and 

 

• Details of proposed access routes for 26 tonne recycling and refuse collection 

vehicles, including adequately sized access pathways and service roads with 

suitable dropped kerbs and crossovers. These requirements will need to be 

considered in  accordance with the User Hierarchy as featured in Manual for 

Streets. 

 

5.4.126 The views of the Council’s Waste Management Section will be taken into account on all 

types of development to ascertain the extent and nature of facilities needed to deal with 

any potential municipal waste arising associated with the proposed development.  

 
Tourism 

 

5.4.127  Future Wales emphasises the importance of tourism as part of the foundational economy, 

which is considered ‘integral to the well-being of places, communities and people and 

which deliver people’s everyday needs’. Whilst making an important contribution to the 

economy, there is a positive link between tourism and the physical and mental well-being 

of communities. This is especially enabled through active, green and cultural forms of 

Page 349



 

180 
 
 

tourism. The Replacement LDP recognises the significance of tourism in these multi-

facetted respects, whilst appreciating how central the tourist industry is to the economy of 

the County Borough. This has been confirmed in regional strategies, which identify the key 

market propositions where the County Borough has a crucial facilitating role to play, 

especially through the promotion of the strategically important tourist resort of Porthcawl. A 

key objective of the Welsh National Marine Plan is to ‘recognise the significant value of 

coastal tourism and recreation to the Welsh economy and well-being and ensure such 

activity and potential for future growth are appropriately safeguarded’. 

 

5.4.128 Tourism has the potential to increase economic activity, assist regeneration and 

conservation, and raise general health and well-being. There can also be some negative 

impacts of tourism, as a result of visitor pressure, in terms of traffic congestion, harm to 

sensitive natural environments (for example in undeveloped coastal areas and protected 

areas), and to local communities. Policies in the Replacement LDP aim to direct tourism 

development to locations to avoid such impacts or seek to control development to 

reduce negative impacts. 

 

5.4.129 The LDP will provide the framework for the provision and protection of well-located, good 

quality, tourism, sport, recreation and leisure facilities and to diversify tourism in the 

County, thereby contributing to the Aims and Prioritises of the Bridgend County 

Destination Management Plan (2018-22).  The LDP will seek to ensure that proposals 

for new tourism related development are located in sustainable and accessible locations 

and that local communities are not adversely affected. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Porthcawl Sea Front 

 

Page 350



 

181 
 
 

5.4.130 Any proposed development for tourism, sport and recreation uses located on previously 

used land will be encouraged where appropriate. All proposed development must be 

appropriate to its location and surrounding environment and not have negative landscape 

or environmental impact. Development which is likely to generate high levels of traffic and 

which is more akin to retail development, should be located within town centres where 

possible. Unlike housing or employment uses, it is more difficult to allocate land for specific 

tourism /leisure uses as the industry is more trend based and footloose. The Plan adopts a 

flexible policy based approach, which supports the strategic framework set out in SP16 with 

more detailed criteria based policies. 

 

SP16: Tourism 

  

Appropriate sustainable tourism developments which promote high quality 

accommodation, upgrade facilities and foster activity based, business, events and 

cultural tourism will be permitted providing developments avoid unacceptable, 

adverse environmental or amenity impacts and are supported by adequate existing or 

new infrastructure provision.  

  

Tourism development linked to regeneration initiatives will be promoted at: 

  

1) The strategically important resort of Porthcawl; 

2) Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley by means of maximised opportunities linked 

to Afan Parc and Maesteg Town Hall; 

3) Local Nature Reserves (where this doesn’t conflict with Conservation 

Objectives of  related designations), Country parks and the Coast Path; 

and, 

4) Other local hubs.  

 

In order to support planning applications for new, or the extension of existing, tourism 

facilities or accommodation, developers must submit a Tourism Needs and 

Development Impact Assessment (TNDIA) alongside their planning application. The 

information required within a TNDIA will be proportionate to the nature of the proposal, 

its scale and location.  

 

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 1,  

OBJ: 1b, 1d, 2d, 3h, 4a 

Future 

Wales 

Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure 
National Forest 
Supporting the Rural Economy 

PPW Economic Development  

Tourism   

The Rural Economy   

Distinctive and Natural Places 

Historic Environment and Coastal Areas 

WBFG Act A Prosperous Wales  

A More Equal Wales  

Page 351



 

182 
 
 

A Wales of cohesive communities  

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language 

LWBP Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

Key 

Evidence 

TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning 

TAN 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities  

TAN 13 Tourism 

Bridgend County Destination Management Plan (2018-22) 

 

5.4.131 The land-use planning system has a key role in ensuring that tourism related 

development maximises the economic and employment benefits that tourism can bring 

in a sustainable manner and protects those qualities in the natural and built environment 

upon which tourism depends. The Replacement LDP seeks to encourage high quality 

sustainable tourism based on the County Borough’s distinctive and valued natural 

environment, its historic features, the individual identity of its settlements and its cultural 

heritage, including the Welsh language. This includes enhancing biodiversity and 

protecting and enhancing ecological connectivity, where appropriate.  

 

5.4.132 It also seeks to protect and enhance existing tourist facilities and support proposals for 

new tourism-related development that widens the range of attractions and facilities to 

attract more visitors to the County Borough. SP16 encourages sustainable tourism 

initiatives which support and promote high quality activity based tourism, business, 

events and cultural tourism. In particular, the expansion of sustainable tourism in the 

Llynfi Valley will build on the links to the Valleys Regional Park and the Afan Parc 

development in Neath & Port Talbot, by promoting complementary infrastructure and 

facilities which can benefit the Llynfi Valley as a whole. Also the strategically important 

resort of Porthcawl. 

 

5.4.133 The information required within a TNDIA will be proportionate to the nature of the 

proposal, its scale and location. The types of information required as part of a TNDIA 

include:  

 

• Evidence to support why a development of this type is needed, referencing 

whether any existing facilities or sites exist within the locality, and/or if there is a 

list of people waiting to use any existing facilities or sites;  

• Evidence to show that the proposal is viable and sustainable as a tourism 

business;  

• Evidence to illustrate the impact on the local community. For example, how the 

development will support the economy, the number of jobs that would be created, 

the increased revenue/visitor spend in local economy;  

• If appropriate, evidence to document how the impact on the agricultural business 

will be mitigated, for example, loss of grazing;  

• Evidence of vacancy rates within a reasonable geographical area, as agreed with 

the Council, in order to demonstrate any significant unmet need;  

• Any other evidence of demand; 

• Assessment of the anticipated levels of vehicular traffic, parking space demand 

and highway safety impact; 

Page 352



 

183 
 
 

• Demonstration that the development is of high quality, including sustainable 

buildings which extend the existing tourism offer; and 

• Where appropriate, all types of development will require a Landscape and Visual 

Impact Assessment, including details of appropriate mitigation. 

 

ENT17: New or Extended Tourist Facilities, Accommodation and Attractions 

  

New or extended tourist facilities, accommodation and attractions in the countryside 

will only be permitted where: 

 

1) The activity is compatible with and complimentary to the countryside location, 

including nature conservation interests; 

2) The proposed development is part of an appropriate rural enterprise/farm 

diversification scheme; 

3) The proposal assists in the promotion, and is compatible with the role of 

Bryngarw Country Park and Pontycymmer, Blaengarw, Llangeinor, Blackmill, 

Nantymoel and Caerau as destination hubs; and/or 

4) The proposed development is compatible with the enhancement of its context 

in terms of its form, materials and details. 

 

 
5.4.134 Opportunities exist for further improving and co-ordinating the range of tourist 

accommodation, facilities and attractions. The purpose of Policy ENT17 is to encourage 

tourism development which increases the range of activities available to visitors in 

appropriate locations. 

 

5.4.135 Tourism development projects are an important part of regeneration. In the case of major 

new tourism developments it is acknowledged that they can make a very significant 

contribution to urban regeneration. Such attractions will be expected, wherever possible 

to be located in sustainable locations within, or adjacent to urban areas.  

 

5.4.136 ENT17 ensures that those proposals for tourist facilities and attractions, which seek 

appropriate countryside locations will be related to and in keeping with the surrounding 

countryside. The kind of tourism proposals which may be acceptable in the countryside 

relates to those activities which by their very nature require a countryside location such 

as golf, walking, cycling, fishing, appropriate equestrian activities, appropriate extreme 

activities whose environmental impact is usually minimal. However, increased visitors 

numbers can sometimes result in erosion, damage, litter, the spread of disease and 

other management issues. Proposals should therefore contain appropriate measures to 

mitigate such impacts. 

 

5.4.137 The LDP has the opportunity to shape tourism development around existing leisure and 

recreation facilities such as areas with good opportunities for walking, cycling, horse 

riding, nature watching or passive enjoyment of the Countryside. Developments which 

demonstrate an improved linkage to sport and leisure opportunities (e.g. walking and 

Page 353



 

184 
 
 

cycling trails, fishing lakes, golf courses) should be viewed as an opportunity to improve 

resources for tourists in the County Borough. 

 

ENT18: Protection of Existing Tourist Accommodation 

  

The loss of serviced and self-catering tourist accommodation will be permitted only if: 
 

1. Its loss would not adversely affect the range and quality of tourist accommodation 

available within the locality and/or the County Borough; 

2. It can be demonstrated that there is no long term demand for the property to be 

used for tourist accommodation; 

3. It can be demonstrated that the building is no longer suitable or viable for tourist 

accommodation. 

 

 
5.4.138 The Council’s concern is to ensure that any decline in the level of tourist accommodation, 

by changes to alternative uses, is properly controlled. Therefore, the purpose of ENT18 

is to resist the loss of tourist accommodation to other uses, as this can seriously weaken 

the County Borough’s tourism offer. This is supported by advice contained in TAN13 

Tourism which acknowledges that the availability of a wide range of tourist 

accommodation benefits the economy in general and gives choice to visitors. 

 

5.4.139 TAN13, however, advises that the planning system should not be used to perpetuate 

outdated accommodation for which there is no demand. The Council therefore accepts 

that instances may arise where conversion may be justified for one of the reasons stated 

under ENT18. In assessing applications for conversion to alternative uses, the LPA will 

take into account the length of time a property has been vacant for and on the market, 

trends in occupancy rates and customer preferences, and the suitability of the building 

in terms of size and floor layout for the provision of modern serviced accommodation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 354



 

185 
 
 

5.5 To Protect and Enhance Distinctive and Natural Places 

 

5.5.1 The County Borough’s natural and built environment is of high quality and represents 

one of its primary assets. The diversity of landscapes, habitats, species and geology, 

and their relationship with the urban area, contribute enormously to the County 

Borough’s distinctive and attractive character. The special and unique characteristics of 

the natural and built environment help attract investment, promote the County Borough 

as a tourist location and provide cultural experiences and healthy lifestyles for its 

communities. Conserving and enhancing the natural and historic environment is 

therefore a key function of the LDP, although this needs to be balanced with the 

facilitation of sustainable economic growth in order to contribute to the national 

placemaking objectives of PPW.  

 

5.5.2 Future Wales’ strategic focus on urban 

growth requires an increased emphasis 

on biodiversity enhancement (net 

benefit) in order to ensure that growth 

is sustainable. The County Borough 

contains significant areas of 

international and national statutory 

environmental designations, as well as 

many sites of local wildlife importance, 

which the plan will identify to ensure 

their protection, and, where possible, 

enhancement. As well as making the 

locality a special place to live and visit, 

the natural environment adds to regional and local distinctiveness and is an important 

economic and social asset. Appropriate development will need to conserve and enhance 

valued countryside, landscapes, seascapes and significant geological sites, minimise 

impacts on biodiversity and provide biodiversity enhancement (net benefit), where 

possible, whilst protecting or enhancing green infrastructure provision in recognition of 

its wide ranging benefits. 

 

5.5.3 The historic environment is an important 

cultural asset and a finite, irreplaceable 

source of information about the past.  It 

forms a central part of the national and 

local character, contributes to a sense 

of place and identity and plays a key 

role in education, leisure and tourism.  

The term ‘historic environment’ includes 

those parts of the environment where 

the interaction of people and places 

over time has left traceable evidence in 

the modern landscape. This includes not only archaeological sites and historic buildings 

New Bridge, Merthyr Mawr, Bridgend 

Coity Castle 

Page 355



 

186 
 
 

with statutory designations, but also the wider historic landscape and locally distinctive, 

valued and important buildings and features.  

   

 Conservation and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 

 

5.5.4 The County Borough has a rich and varied biodiversity, in terms of species and habitats, 

which the Replacement LDP seeks to maintain and enhance (to provide a net benefit). 

. For development to be sustainable, it needs to be soundly based on good 

environmental assessments, and to be well planned and controlled with regard to its 

environmental impact. In accordance with Future Wales Policy 9, the resilience of 

ecosystems and green infrastructure assets must be demonstrated as part of 

development proposals through innovative, nature‑based approaches to site planning 

and the design of the built environment.  

 

5.5.5 There is clear national guidance and legislation with regard to maintaining and 

enhancing biodiversity and taking account of ecosystem resilience . The most relevant 

statutory requirements are set out in Section 61 of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004, the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, 

Environment (Wales) Act 2016 Section 6 Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems 

Duty and Section 7 Priority Habitats and Species, Section 11 of the Countryside Act 

1981 and Section 28G of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Annex 1 of TAN5 lists 

all the other relevant legislation. PPW11 responds to the Section 6 Duty of the 

Environment Act by setting a framework to maintain and enhance biodiversity (providing 

a net benefit), whilst calling for a proactive approach towards facilitating the delivery of 

biodiversity and resilience outcomes. 

 

5.5.6 To comply with the Environment 

(Wales) Act 2016 (Section 6 Duty) the 

LDP Strategy will seek to maintain and 

enhance the biodiversity and 

resilience of the County Borough’s 

ecosystems to provide a net benefit 

for biodiversity through a proactive 

and resilient approach. This includes 

native species landscaping, careful 

location of development, the creation 

of green corridors, open space 

management and adopting best practice 

site design and green infrastructure principles. Only in exceptional circumstances, where 

it is in the public interest, will new development be located where it may have an adverse 

impact on sites designated for their importance for nature conservation. Robust 

mitigation and compensation will be provided wherever this situation is unavoidable, in 

line with considered advice from statutory and advisory organisations.  

 

 

Kenfig National Nature Reserve 

Page 356

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwj8kYCv39nhAhUJzIUKHQRvC8YQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://www.tytanglwystholidaycottages.co.uk/locale&psig=AOvVaw2FeW9G-AvHUmFs_jhCXs4S&ust=1555680426770842


 

187 
 
 

SP17: Conservation and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 

The County Borough has a rich and varied biodiversity with a broad range of species, 

habitats and unique, rich landscapes. In particular, these include the nationally 

important Glamorgan Heritage Coast, the outstanding historic landscapes of Kenfig 

and Merthyr Mawr Warren, and other regionally and locally important areas. 

Development which will maintain and, wherever possible, enhance the natural 

environment of the County Borough will be favoured. Development proposals will not 

be permitted where they will have an adverse impact upon: 

   

1) The integrity of the County Borough's countryside;  

2) The character of its landscape;  

3) Its biodiversity and habitats; and  

4) The quality of its natural resources including water, air and soil. 

 

Areas having a high and/or unique environmental quality will be protected and the 

following strategically important areas within the County Borough will specifically be 

protected from inappropriate development which directly or indirectly impacts upon 

them: 

 

SP17(1) Natura 2000 Network Sites (including Special Areas of Conservation (SACs);  

SP17(2) Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs);   

SP17(3) Kenfig  and  Merthyr  Mawr  National  Nature Reserves (NNRs);  

SP17(4) The Glamorgan Heritage Coast. 

SP17(5) Mynydd Margam Registered Historic Landscape. 

 

The weight to be afforded to environmental designations in the determination of 

relevant planning applications will be based on their statutory or non-statutory status 

and geographical scale of designation.  

 

Proposals likely to have direct or indirect adverse effects on Special Areas of 

Conservation (SACs), Special Protection Areas (SPAs) or Ramsar sites, must be 

subject to Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). This includes development 

proposals on allocated sites where this plan indicates a project level HRA is required 

and any other development proposals likely to have adverse effects on 

SACs/SPAs/Ramsar sites. In addition, any proposals that could affect the habitat of 

marsh fritillary butterfly within 2km of Cefn Cribwr Grasslands SAC, as illustrated on 

the Policies Map, must be subject to HRA.   

 

Development requiring HRA will only be allowed where it can be determined through 

HRA that:  

 

a) taking into account mitigation, the proposal would not result in adverse 

effects on the integrity of the SACs/SPAs/Ramsar sites, either alone or in 

combination with other plans or projects; or 

Page 357



 

188 
 
 

b) HRA proves there are no alternatives and that the development is of 

overriding public interest and appropriate compensatory measures are 

provided 

 

Proposals within or affecting a SSSI must demonstrate how they safeguard, support 

or where possible enhance identified special features of the designation. 

 

The importance and features of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs) 

and local wildlife sites must also be considered as appropriate in the determination of 

relevant planning applications (refer to DNP5).  

 

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 4 

OBJ: 4a. 4b, 4c, 4d, 4e 

Future Wales Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure 
National Forest 
Supporting the Rural Economy 

PPW Distinctive and Natural Places 

Biodiversity and Ecological Networks 

Landscape 

WBFG Act A healthier Wales 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language  

A globally responsible Wales 

LWBP Best start in life  

Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

Key 

Evidence 

Water Framework Directive (WFD) 

Bridgend Local Biodiversity Action Plan (2014) 

Landscape Character Assessment 

Carmarthen Bay, Gower and Swansea Bay Local Seascape 

Character Assessment Study (2019) 

LANDMAP 

Marine National Plan 

 

5.5.7 SP17 seeks to maintain, and, wherever possible, enhance the landscape quality as part 

of the natural environment within the County Borough. A high level of protection is 

afforded to all areas identified as having high and/or unique landscape importance, 

particularly the nationally important Glamorgan Heritage Coast and the outstanding 

historic landscapes of Kenfig and Merthyr Mawr Warren, and other regionally and locally 

important areas designated as ‘Special Landscape Areas’ (refer to DNP4). Major 

development proposals within a Special Landscape Areas should be accompanied by a 

Landscape Impact Assessment (LIA) which takes into account the effect of the 

development, including the cumulative impact where appropriate, on the key landscape 

features, landscape character and qualities and set out proposals to mitigate any 

adverse effects and enhance positive attributes. The LIA must follow the LANDMAP 

approach and include the landscape baseline information from all five LANDMAP layers. 

It should focus on the relevant aspect areas, their descriptions and evaluations. Where 

landscaping schemes are required they should generally be implemented prior to part 

or the entire site coming into beneficial use. Other features in the landscape which 

Page 358



 

189 
 
 

contribute to its distinctive local character, such as agricultural land quality and Common 

Land, will also be taken into account and afforded the appropriate level of protection.  

 

5.5.8 SP17 seeks specifically to protect statutorily designated sites of international or national 

importance. Sites of international importance are Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), 

Special Protection Areas (SPAs), and Ramsar sites. Only development which 

demonstrates compliance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 

2017 (and subsequent amendments) will be permitted. 

 

5.5.9 Sites of national importance are National Nature Reserves (NNRs) and Sites of Special 

Scientific Interest (SSSIs). These are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981, as amended by the Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000, the Natural 

Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 and the Environment (Wales) 

Act 2016. 

 

5.5.10 Future development management decisions must therefore reflect the relative 

significance of the proposal for nature conservation, placing particular emphasis on the 

protection of internationally important sites. SAC designations are shown on the 

Proposals Map, and represent the ‘highest tier’ of Sites of Importance for Nature 

Conservation in the County Borough. Development proposals will be rigorously 

examined to assess their potential impact (directly and indirectly) on SACs, SPAs and 

Ramsar sites. Assessment must take into account the effects on water quality, water 

quantity, air quality, coastal change and human impact amongst other factors. HRAs will 

be required by the LPA to determine whether a proposal is likely to have a significant 

direct or indirect impact (on its own or cumulatively with other proposals) on 

internationally important sites, and the comments of NRW, as the statutory advisor on 

nature conservation matters, will be material to its consideration. Legislation provides 

that where it appears that development would have an adverse effect upon those sites, 

the Council is not able to grant planning consent for such a proposal, but must either 

refer it to the Welsh Government, or refuse it. 

 

5.5.11 Development which affects a site of national importance for nature conservation, (a Site 

of Special Scientific Interest or a National Nature Reserve), will be subject to special 

scrutiny to establish any potential or indirect effects upon those sites. Where potential 

impacts remain unknown, a ‘precautionary approach’ will be followed by the Council 

weighted in favour of the preservation of those sites. Full regard will be given to 

Government advice and policies relevant to a site’s status, its intrinsic value, and its 

value to the national network of such sites. Where an overriding need for a proposed 

development is claimed, the onus is firmly placed on any potential developer and/or 

owner to clearly demonstrate the case for the site’s development, and why development 

should not be located elsewhere on a site of less significance to nature conservation. 

Sensitive design in conjunction with appropriate planning conditions and/or planning 

obligations/agreements will be pursued by the LPA with a view to overcoming potential 

adverse impacts on the environmental resource, and to ensure protection and 

enhancement of a site’s nature conservation interest. 

 

Page 359



 

190 
 
 

5.5.12 The Carmarthen Bay, Gower and 

Swansea Bay Local Seascape 

Character Assessment Study (2019) 

identifies that The Glamorgan 

Heritage Coast covers one of the 

finest stretches of undeveloped 

coast in England and Wales and its 

landscape is important within the 

national context. As such, it occupies 

the highest tier of landscapes of 

importance in the County Borough. It 

merits a very high degree of 

protection in planning policy. Development which is likely to have a detrimental impact 

on the landscape of the area will only be permissible under the most exceptional of 

planning circumstances, and then only if it is of such importance to the national interest 

that the preservation of the undeveloped natural beauty of these areas are outweighed. 

There must also be indisputable evidence that there are no alternative sites elsewhere 

which can accommodate the proposal. 

 The Countryside and Landscape 

 

DNP1: Development in the Countryside 

 

All development outside defined settlement boundaries must ensure that the integrity 

of the countryside is conserved and enhanced. There is a presumption against 

development in the countryside, except where it is for: 

 

1) Agriculture and/or forestry purposes;  

2) The winning and working of minerals;  

3) Appropriate  rural  enterprises  where  a  countryside location is necessary for 

the development;  

4) The  implementation of   an  appropriate rural  enterprise/ farm diversification 

project; 

5) The expansion of an existing business (subject to other relevant policies in the 

plan); 

6) Land reclamation purposes;  

7) Transportation and/or utilities infrastructure to enable implementation of LDP 

allocations; 

8) Renewable energy projects; 

9) Affordable housing to meet locally identified need in accordance with COM5; 

10) The suitable conversion of, and limited extension to, existing structurally sound 

rural buildings where the development is modest in scale and clearly 

subordinate to the original structure;  

11) The direct replacement of an existing dwelling;  

12) Outdoor recreational and sporting activities;   

13) The provision of Gypsy, Traveller and Showperson sites in accordance with 

COM8; or 

Rest Bay, Porthcawl 

Page 360

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjb7Zj1koziAhUizYUKHe3lCmMQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.peteralan.co.uk/properties/11944057/sales&psig=AOvVaw3u4tVSKfoWnUodzdpHpn1B&ust=1557412222193316


 

191 
 
 

14) Education provision where a need has been identified by the Local Education 

Authority. 

 

Countryside development must be of a sustainable form with prudent management of 

natural resources and respect for the cultural heritage of the area. 

 

Where development is acceptable in principle in the countryside it must, in the first 

instance and where possible, utilise existing buildings and previously developed land. 

Where such an opportunity to re-use a rural building does exist, development must be 

in accord with DNP2. 

 

 

5.5.13 The Plan will ensure protection of the countryside for the economic, social and 

environmental benefits provided. This is in-line with National Planning Policy and 

Guidance and will be achieved through the promotion of sustainable development within 

environmental limits. This means supporting development that does not conflict with the 

need to maintain and where possible, enhance the countryside for future generations. 

 

5.5.14 Policy DNP1 therefore represents the starting point for the assessment of all future 

development proposals for development in ‘the countryside’ of the County Borough. The 

policy will not be set aside lightly, in the interests of maintaining the integrity of the 

countryside. DNP1 will protect the countryside from inappropriate development and 

ensure that only in exceptional circumstances will development be acceptable. The 

acceptable exceptions are listed in the policy and must be implemented in strict 

accordance with SP3 and the overarching principle of creating more sustainable rural 

communities. 

 

5.5.15 The countryside, for the purposes of the LDP, is defined as land lying outside of the 

designated settlement boundaries. A number of site specific proposals in the LDP are 

located outside of these boundaries. Although these allocations are located in the 

countryside, there would be a general presumption in favour of their development for the 

specific purposes of their designation, subject to satisfying other policies in the plan. 

 

5.5.16 The countryside must be protected for its own sake (i.e. for its beauty, landscape quality, 

natural resources, and its agricultural, ecological, geological, physiographic, historical, 

archaeological and recreational value). Development in the countryside should benefit 

the rural economy, whilst maintaining or enhancing the environment. Therefore, new 

building in the countryside outside defined settlements or areas allocated for 

development in the LDP will be strictly managed. 

 

5.5.17 The Council recognises the value that people place on the countryside of the County 

Borough. Due to the increasing pressures for rural development, a robust planning policy 

framework is essential to reconcile such development with the need to protect the 

countryside. It is accepted that certain developments may be appropriate in the 

countryside, provided that they will encourage rural enterprise and bring wider 

Page 361



 

192 
 
 

community benefits to the County Borough or region. However, these developments will 

still need to meet other policies in the Plan, particularly those in relation to nature and 

environmental protection. 

 

5.5.18 Rural enterprises comprise land related businesses, including agriculture, forestry and 

other activities that obtain their primary inputs from the site. Examples are the processing 

of agricultural, forestry and mineral products, together with land management activities 

and support services including agricultural contracting, tourism and leisure enterprises. 

They do not include renewable energy schemes that are covered by separate National 

Planning Policy and Guidance. In addition, development for the purposes of a rural 

enterprise includes provision of essential residential accommodation, referred to as a 

rural enterprise dwelling. Extensive guidance on this form of development is provided in 

TAN 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010). DNP1 seeks to achieve an 

important balance between the need to support rural enterprise and the need to promote 

sustainable development whilst protecting the local distinctiveness and character of the 

countryside. In order to achieve this, sustainable rural enterprises must demonstrate 

minimum impact on the local environment and community and a positive impact on the 

local economy to be acceptable. 

 

5.5.19 DNP1 allows existing rural businesses to expand, providing the new development is in 

accordance with the policy requirements to conserve and enhance the quality of the 

countryside setting. Employment uses in and adjoining an existing settlement boundary 

will need to be compatible to the location and neighbouring uses. Employment uses 

beyond the existing settlement will need to demonstrate that the nature of the business 

necessitates a rural location and mitigates against any harmful impacts on local amenity. 

 

5.5.20 Where development is permitted in accordance with DNP1, every effort should be made 

to reuse existing buildings in order to limit the amount of new development in the 

countryside and to maximise the use of existing under-utilised or vacant buildings. 

National Planning Policy advises that the re-use and adaption of such buildings can play 

an important role in meeting the needs of the rural area.  

DNP2: Conversion of Rural Buildings 

Proposals for the conversion or renovation of existing rural buildings for rural 
enterprise, commercial, tourism, community or residential use will be acceptable 
where: 
 

1) The building is largely intact, has a form, bulk and general design in keeping 

with its surroundings, and is capable of conversion (or extension) without 

prejudicing the original character of the building or the rural character of the 

locality; 

 

2) The design and scale of the proposal, including new window and door 

openings, extensions, means of access, service provision and curtilage, 

respects the rural character and design of the building and integrates with the 

surrounding landscape. In protected landscapes, the design and scale of the 

proposal must also conserve and enhance the quality of the landscape; 

Page 362



 

193 
 
 

 

3) Any ancillary works associated with the conversion (or extension) do not 

unacceptably adversely affect the rural character of the locality; 

 

4) The building is structurally suitable for conversion (or extension) without a 

major or complete reconstruction, as verified by a structural stability report; 

 

5) Safe access for pedestrians and vehicles can be provided without prejudicing 

the character and appearance of the area; 

 

6) In the case of buildings extended or constructed with the benefit of agricultural 

permitted development rights, these buildings have genuinely been used for 

the agricultural purposes they were constructed; and 

 

7) There would be no significant adverse effect on natural heritage. 

 

Proposals for conversions to residential use will only be permitted where it is 
demonstrated that:  
 

a) The building has been appropriately marketed for other alternative uses such 

as farm diversification, business, community, tourism, or recreational uses and 

it has been demonstrated that such alternative uses are not viable; and  

 
b) The location of the building is sustainable in terms of access to local services, 

public transport and community facilities. 

 

 

5.5.21 With changes in farming practice, many rural buildings are no longer needed. In the rural 

parts of the County Borough, some of these buildings add greatly to the character of the 

countryside and to local distinctiveness. Where possible, the Council wishes to see rural 

buildings, particularly those of architectural or historic interest, retained. The Council’s 

preference is for these buildings to be developed for alternative uses that contribute 

positively to the County Borough’s rural economy. 

 

5.5.22 Many of the County Borough’s rural buildings are either traditional stone or brick built 

barns of architectural merit. However, there are also a number of modern rural buildings 

which are often prefabricated and utilitarian in style. For both traditional and modern 

rural buildings, the Council will favour re-use which can make a positive contribution to 

the rural economy, such as rural enterprises, small scale commercial and light industrial 

enterprises, or tourism and recreation facilities. In order to ensure that conversions make 

a positive contribution to the rural economy, DNP2 a) requires proposals for residential 

use to be supported by appropriate marketing evidence to demonstrate that the building 

has been appropriately marketed for other alternative uses. An appropriate marketing 

period is considered to a minimum of 12 months. Information from the agent or applicant 

regarding demand for alternative uses could take the form of a marketing report or 

correspondence from the relevant property agent. The type of information could include 

the following: 

Page 363



 

194 
 
 

• The length of time the rural building has not been used for agricultural purposes; 

• The types of uses which the rural building has been marketed for, what the 

marketing strategy involved and its duration; and 

• The amount of interest in the rural building during the marketing period. This 

should detail the number of queries, the type of uses sought and the reason(s) 

for non-pursuit of any initial enquiries, if known. 

 

5.5.23 Notwithstanding this strategic direction, the most common proposals in the County 

Borough are for the conversion of traditional rural buildings to residential use. Such 

proposals can lead to a dispersed pattern of dwellings, which generates new and longer 

trips to settlements and services and also places additional pressure on the Council to 

provide essential services and facilities in (often) isolated locations. DNP 2b) therefore 

states that residential use will only be acceptable in locations which are sustainable, 

thereby, minimising occupier reliance on the private motor vehicle. In more isolated rural 

locations, where residential development would otherwise not be acceptable, proposals 

for residential conversions will be limited to tourist accommodation and occupancy 

conditions will be imposed to prevent long term residential occupation. 

 

5.5.24 The conversion of both traditional and modern rural buildings must be sympathetic to 

their location and not require any extensions or alterations which would materially alter 

the character of the building, including its setting in the rural landscape. Any proposed 

major remodelling of a building or its setting in a manner that would not maintain or 

enhance its existing rural character is unlikely to be considered favourably in planning 

terms. 

 

5.5.25 Traditional rural buildings can provide important habitats for valuable species including 

bats and barn owls. Proposals for the conversion of such buildings must ensure there 

would be no significant adverse effects on protected species, the ecological network and 

features of biological importance, in accordance with DNP6.  

  

5.5.26 Development proposals that fail to satisfy the policy criteria of DNP2 will be judged as 

development in the countryside and therefore considered against Policy DNP1 and 

national planning guidance. Only very modest extensions will be allowed and normal 

permitted development rights to extend further or to construct ancillary buildings may be 

withdrawn. 

DNP3: Replacement Dwellings in the Countryside  

 

The direct replacement of an existing dwelling in the countryside will be permitted only 

where all of the following criteria are satisfied: 

 

1) It can be proved that the residential use of the dwelling has not been 

abandoned; 

 

2) The existing dwellings has no archaeological, architectural or historic merit; 

 

3) The proposal satisfies the sustainable placemaking criteria set out in SP3; 

Page 364



 

195 
 
 

 

4) The siting, scale, form, materials and details of the proposed dwelling would 

preserve or enhance the landscape setting and rural character of the area; 

 

5) The replacement dwelling is designed to be resource efficient and climate 

responsive; 

 

6) Any features of archaeological interest are properly safeguarded; and 

 

7) Habitats and species of importance to biodiversity are safeguarded. 

 

 

5.5.27 Policy DNP3 seeks to retain rural dwellings that make a positive contribution to the 

County Borough’s rural character and allows for the replacement of nondescript or 

poorly designed rural dwellings with better designed dwellings that enhance the 

appearance and character of the countryside. In order for a replacement dwelling 

proposal to be acceptable it must satisfy the placemaking criteria as set out in SP3, in 

particular be of high quality in terms of sustainability principles and good design, and 

respect and/or enhance its countryside location. 

 

5.5.28 Replacement dwellings must be of high quality design that may be traditional or 

contemporary and innovative. Larger replacement dwellings may be considered 

favourably only where the new building fully respects or enhances the landscape quality. 

In all cases the siting of the replacement dwelling must be similar to the existing house 

in order to maintain the overall landscape character. Replacement dwellings should 

strive to be exemplars of sustainability, exceeding building regulations requirements 

wherever feasible, whilst also respecting the qualities of the surrounding countryside. 

 

5.5.29 Proposals for the replacement of dwellings that have been demolished or abandoned 

will be treated as new development in the countryside. Whilst there is no statutory 

definition of abandonment of a dwelling, the courts have held that four criteria should be 

examined in determining whether the use of a building has been abandoned: 

1. The physical condition of the building; 

2. The period of non-use; 

3. Whether there has been any other use; 

4. Evidence regarding the owner’s intentions. 

 

5.5.30 Questions of abandonment in any particular instance will be determined on the basis of 

a balanced consideration of the facts against these criteria. It may be necessary to 

submit an application for a Certificate of Existing Lawful Use in order to establish 

certainty. 

 

 

 

 

Page 365



 

196 
 
 

DNP4: Special Landscape Areas 

 

The following areas are designated as Special Landscape Areas (SLAs): 

 

DNP4(1) Foel y Dyffryn  

DNP4(2) Northern Uplands  

DNP4(3) Western Uplands  

DNP4(4) Bryngarw Country Park  

DNP4(5) Mynydd y Gaer  

DNP4(6) Kenfig Burrows  

DNP4(7) Laleston  

DNP4(8) Porthcawl Coast  

DNP4(9) Merthyr Mawr Warren 

 

Development in SLAs will only be permitted where: 

 

1) It     retains     or     enhances     the     character     and distinctiveness of the 

SLA; 

 

2) The design of the development reflects the building traditions  of  the  locality  

in  its  form,  materials  and details,   and/or   assimilates   itself   into   the   

wider landscape;  and 

 

3) The proposed development is accompanied by a Landscape Impact 

Assessment (LIA), which takes into account the impact of the development 

and sets out proposals to mitigate any adverse effects.  

 
 

Where development is necessary, and could result in a significant landscape impact, 

a landscaping scheme will also be required and appropriate mitigation and 

enhancement measures must be provided. 

 

The settings of SLAs will be protected with consideration of the views from those areas 

to the settlements of the County Borough. New development within settlements must 

be designed to provide an attractive transition between the urban area and the 

countryside. 

 

 

5.5.31 DNP4 seeks to ensure that the character and quality of the County’s landscape is 

protected from inappropriate development. Landscape management, enhancement and 

the creation of key landscape features is encouraged wherever possible, and may be 

required. The Policy is not intended to unduly restrict acceptable development in the 

countryside, rather ensure that such development is compatible with the surrounding 

landscape.  

 

Page 366



 

197 
 
 

5.5.32 The SLAs were identified following a formal assessment in 2010 utilising the NRW 

“Landmap” methodology to classify landscapes of significant local importance. The 

Bridgend SLA Assessment (2010) establishes the key features for each SLA, referred 

to in DNP4. This work has been reviewed against NRWs current LANDMAP Guidance 

Note (2017) for consistency purposes. The existing SLA designations identified are still 

considered sound and have therefore been carried forward in this plan.  

 

5.5.33 In order to be acceptable, wherever possible, development within a SLA should retain 

and enhance the positive attributes of its landscape and seek to remove or mitigate any 

negative influences. In order to achieve this, the design, scale and location of 

development should respect the special landscape context. In particular, design should 

reflect the building traditions of the locality in its form, materials and details and aim to 

assimilate the development into the wider landscape. 

 

5.5.34 For most development to integrate successfully into its surroundings, implementation of 

a landscaping scheme will be required. In exceptional circumstances, where 

development of an incompatible design or scale, or in a location not respecting of the 

landscape context, is necessary and acceptable, suitable mitigation measures will be 

required. 

 

5.5.35 In order to fully assess the impact on the landscape, major development proposals within 

a SLA must be accompanied by a LIA. This must take into account the effect of the 

development on key landscape features, landscape character and qualities, including 

the cumulative impact, where appropriate, and set out proposals to mitigate any adverse 

effects, while enhancing positive attributes. The LIA must follow the LANDMAP 

approach and include the landscape baseline information from all LANDMAP layers. It 

should focus on the relevant aspect areas, their descriptions and evaluations (refer to 

LANDMAP Guidance Note 1: LANDMAP and Special Areas 2017 and earlier versions). 

 Biodiversity and Nature Conservation  

 

DNP5: Local And Regional Nature Conservation Sites 

 

Development within or adjacent to a: 

 

DNP5(1) Local Nature Reserve (LNR);  

DNP5(2) Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC); or  

DNP5(3) Regionally Important Geodiversity Site (RIGS); 

 

must be compatible with the nature conservation or scientific interest of the area, 

whilst promoting their educational role. 

 

Developments which would have an adverse impact on these sites will not be 

permitted unless the benefits associated with the development can be demonstrated 

to outweigh the harm and/or the harm can be reduced or removed by appropriate 

mitigation and/or compensation measures. 

  

Page 367



 

198 
 
 

 

5.5.36 In order for a holistic approach to be taken towards nature conservation and/or areas of 

scientific interest in the County Borough, DNP5 builds on SP17 and provides a second 

tier of protection above that afforded by national policy. This is necessary to protect 

those sites defined in the LDP as being of regional or local importance. The regionally 

and locally important sites identified in DNP5 (which include all designated Local Nature 

Reserves, Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation, and identified Regionally 

Important Geodiversity Sites) are important to biodiversity and the conservation of 

scientific interest in the County Borough. 

 

5.5.37 Where development is considered to outweigh protection of these regionally and locally 

important sites, developers must demonstrate that every attempt has been made to 

minimise impact on the site and/or provide compensatory or mitigation measures for any 

loss of the site, its biodiversity or its scientific interest. Proposals must also include 

measures for the longer term maintenance of the site (including any habitats) to ensure 

that they remain sustainable. In respect of biodiversity, the Bridgend County Borough 

Local Biodiversity Action Plan (Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services Assessment and 

Revision 2014) will be considered in determining the propriety of impact mitigation or 

replacement of any site. All existing LNRs and RIGS are shown on the Proposals Map 

of the LDP, however, in the interests of clarity, and in view of their number and variety 

in terms of scale, SINCs are excluded from the Proposals Map.  

 

5.5.38 'Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Soil' is a Key Objective within the SA Framework, aiming 

to conserve, protect and enhance all biodiversity and geodiversity interests, including 

through safeguarding important sites, species and important soil resources, whilst 

improving green infrastructure provision. Full SA site assessments were undertaken to 

identify the potential effects on sites designated at international, national and local levels 

for reasons of biodiversity conservation, ecological importance or geological importance. 

This included assessing each site in terms of its proximity to designated woodlands and 

important trees or hedgerows, evidence of valued habitats or species and the potential 

impacts on habitat fragmentation and connectivity. DNP6 and DNP7 set out criteria 

which directly support the protection of habitats and species, including woodland and 

hedgerows, which will have positive effects on biodiversity. Acting together, these 

policies are therefore expected to result in a Major Positive effect on this SA Objective, 

whilst providing a net benefit for biodiversity and improved ecosystem resilience. A 

Green Infrastructure Assessment has also been prepared to guide and shape the 

planning and delivery of green infrastructure in the County Borough. It forms the baseline 

for a holistic, positive and proactive approach to the management and enhancement of 

Bridgend’s natural assets, in tandem with LDP's Growth and Spatial Strategy. The 

Assessment will also provide a mechanism to support the implementation of local 

planning policies on green infrastructure, with the aim of promoting a green infrastructure 

approach to land-use planning, design and management. This will help ensure green 

infrastructure forms an integral and significant part of development and wider 

infrastructure proposals. 

 

Page 368



 

199 
 
 

DNP6: Biodiversity, Ecological Networks, Habitats and Species  

 

All development proposals must provide a net benefit for biodiversity and improved 

ecosystem resilience, as demonstrated through planning application submissions. 

Features and elements of biodiversity or green infrastructure value should be retained 

on site, and enhanced or created where ever possible, by adopting best practice site 

design and green infrastructure principles. Development proposals must maintain, 

protect and enhance biodiversity and ecological networks / services. Particular 

importance must be given to maintaining and enhancing the connectivity of ecological 

networks which enable the dispersal and functioning of protected and priority species  

Development proposals that result in an adverse effect on the connectivity of 

biodiversity and ecological networks and/or have a significant adverse effect on the 

resilience of protected habitats and species will only be permitted where: 

1) The need for development outweighs the nature conservation importance of 

the site; 

2) It can be demonstrated that there is no satisfactory alternative location for the 

development which avoids damage to biodiversity and ecosystem functioning;  

3) A functional connected element of the natural resource is retained as part of 

the design of the development to maintain and enhance biodiversity and build 

resilient ecological networks; and 

4) Any unavoidable harm is minimised by effective mitigation to ensure that there 

is no reduction in the overall biodiversity value of the area.  Where this is not 

feasible, compensation measures must be provided to enable habitat creation, 

or the provision of long-term management arrangements to enhance existing 

habitats and deliver a net benefit for biodiversity. Compensatory provision 

must be of comparable or greater ecological value to that lost as a result of the 

development. 

 

A Project Level Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) must accompany development 

proposals on allocated sites with any identified likely significant adverse effects (pre-

mitigation) in relation to SA Objective 9 (Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Soil).  

 

 

5.5.39 Under the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, the Council is required to maintain and 

enhance biodiversity and promote the resilience of ecosystems to provide a net benefit 

for biodiversity. It is therefore essential that a balance is achieved between the need for 

development and the need to protect existing habitats and species which contribute to 

the general biodiversity of the County Borough. It is the aim of Policy DNP6 to achieve 

that balance between the location, design, and layout of development or redevelopment, 

and the need to conserve that site’s biodiversity interest, whilst also taking into account 

the interests of any adjacent nature conservation resources.  

5.5.40 The Bridgend County Borough Local Biodiversity Action Plan (Biodiversity and 

Ecosystem Services Assessment and Revision 2014) maps the existing ecological 

network and also identifies locations where ecological connectivity has the potential to 

be enhanced. Development proposals must provide a net benefit for biodiversity and 

Page 369



 

200 
 
 

promote the resilience of ecosystems through implementing a range of opportunities as 

identified within the Action Plan, including:  

• Increasing and maintaining habitat connectivity to maintain flows and mobility of 

species; 

• Improving networks of hedgerows and field margins, whilst supporting flowering 

plants and therefore pollinators; 

• Promoting recreation linkages, allowing interactions between the population and 

the open areas; 

• Planting native species of flowers and trees to increase the pollination resource, 

promote wildlife diversity, increase vegetation carbon storage and cool and purify 

the air; 

• Maintaining gardens with natural soil and vegetation and incorporating green 

space to help maintain water infiltration and reduce flood risks; and 

• Promoting recreation and enjoyment of nature through green infrastructure 

networks, active travel, signage and raising awareness of local biodiversity. 

 

5.5.41 A full ecological assessment must be taken to record important biodiversity features 

within a site prior to their displacement and ongoing management, or in the worst case 

scenarios, before such features may be permanently lost. The latter situation will, 

however, be avoided wherever possible by the Council adopting a step-wise approach 

to maintain and enhance biodiversity and build resilient ecological networks. DNP6 

seeks to ensure any adverse environmental effects are firstly avoided, then minimised, 

mitigated, and as a last resort compensated for. Appropriate mitigation, compensatory 

and enhancement measures will be secured by means of planning conditions and/or 

planning obligations or agreements with developers to deliver a net benefit for 

biodiversity. Any proposed compensation should take account of the Section 6 Duty 

(Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty), and the five key ecosystem resilience 

attributes that it outlines. It should also be accompanied by a long term management 

plan of agreed and appropriate mitigation and compensation measures. 

  

 

5.5.42 The protection and enhancement of wildlife corridors and networks is considered to be 

essential to secure the longer-term protection of biodiversity in the County Borough. 

Development proposals must therefore take into account, and should not adversely 

affect (but seek to restore and enhance), the integrity or continuity of existing landscape 

features, landforms and habitats of importance to local fauna and flora. The Council will 

therefore expect potential developers to provide for the necessary ongoing conservation 

and management of wildlife corridors in their development proposals, and, as a last 

resort, provide for the local replacement of those features which support and provide 

corridors for wildlife. 

 

5.5.43 Development proposals must aim to minimise detrimental impacts on protected habitats 

and species and ecosystem resilience. This policy should be implemented in conjunction 

with other policies in this plan to ensure  development does not cause any significant 

loss of habitats or populations of species and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity. 

 

Page 370



 

201 
 
 

5.5.44 The list of habitats and species of principal importance for Wales is published under 

Section 7 of the Environmental (Wales) Act 2016. Factors to be taken into consideration 

in assessing the significant adverse effect development proposals are likely to have on 

habitats and species are: 

• The current distribution and status of the protected habitat or species within the 

County; 

• All likely effects, including cumulative effects and impacts during construction; 

• The role of the habitats as connectivity pathways; and 

• Whether effective mitigation and/or compensatory measures have been 

provided; and 

• Maintaining and enhancing ecosystem resilience. 

 

5.5.45 Where habitats and species are likely to be disturbed or harmed, development proposals 

will be assessed in accordance with National Planning Policy and Guidance. Developers 

will be expected to provide: an ecological survey; an assessment of the likely impact of 

the proposal on the protected species/ habitats; and, where necessary, make 

appropriate provision for their safeguarding, mitigation and/or compensatory measures. 

In addition, measures to enhance biodiversity, such as through habitat creation, will be 

expected. 

 

5.5.46 Invasive Non-Native Species are alien animals, plants or other organisms that have the 

ability to spread, causing damage to the environment, the economy, our health and the 

way we live. They are addressed by existing legislation. If invasive non-native species 

are present in and around a development site appropriate action should be taken to 

control or remove them prior to the commencement of any approved development. 

Where planning permission is granted it will be subject to appropriate planning 

conditions and obligations to secure control, monitoring, mitigation, compensation and 

management. 

 

DNP7: Trees, Hedgerows and Development 

Development that would adversely affect trees, ‘special trees’, woodlands and 

hedgerows of public amenity or natural/cultural heritage value, or that provide 

important ecosystem services, will not normally be permitted. 

Development proposals on sites containing or adjacent to, trees will be required to 

assess the trees in line with BS 5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and 

construction. The assessment must include: 

1) a tree survey;  

2) an arboriculture impact assessment;  

3) an arboriculture method statement;  

4) and/or a tree protection plan.  

 

Page 371



 

202 
 
 

Where trees are to be replaced a scheme for tree replacement must be agreed prior 

to the commencement of development, including details of planting and aftercare.  

If tree works are recommended, the works must comply with BS 2998:2010 Tree 

Works. Recommendations. 

 

5.5.47 National Planning Policy provides for the protection of trees and woodlands. PPW and 

TAN 5 specifically reference how important trees and woodlands are to biodiversity and 

their significance in connecting habitats for resilient ecological networks. This is in 

addition to the wider contribution they make to landscape character, sense of place, air 

quality, recreation and local climate moderation.  

5.5.48 NRW i-tree Eco assessment provides useful information on the ecosystem services 

provided by trees and an i-Tree Eco study was carried out by Bridgend County Borough 

Council in 2015 to value their worth. This research was conducted in partnership with 

Forest Research and covered the urban areas of Bridgend, Maesteg, Porthcawl, 

Pencoed and Pyle. This study highlighted how valuable an asset Bridgend’s Urban 

Trees are to society, and their role in helping to alleviate flooding, providing health 

benefits (by absorbing pollutants), supporting wildlife and providing aesthetic value by 

making the County Borough’s settlements more attractive. In recognition of the 

importance of trees to the County Borough, DNP7 seeks to ensure that suitable trees, 

whether they are protected by legislation or not, are retained and protected on any 

development site.  

5.5.49 The i-Tree Eco study, ‘Valuing the Urban Trees in Bridgend County Borough’ identified 

that the County Borough’s urban forest: 

• had over 439,000 trees, resulting in an average urban tree density of 99 trees 

per hectare (ha); this is above existing estimates for other areas in the UK 

• had a 12% urban tree cover, equal to an area of 533 ha. The trees were 

 primarily found in parks, on residential land and on vacant land had a low 

 proportion of large trees compared to previous i-Tree Eco studies conducted in 

 the UK, and would benefit from more medium and large sized trees 

• had up to 27% of urban space available to plant trees or shrubs  

• included 60 tree and shrub species, recorded across 12 land use categories 

 had ash, hawthorn and goat willow as the most commonly encountered species 

5.5.50 The report concluded that urban trees alone in Bridgend County Borough could: 

• intercept an estimated 124 million litres of water every year, equivalent to an 

 estimated £163,790 in sewerage charges avoided 

• remove an estimated 61 tons of airborne pollutants each year, worth more than 

 £326,000 in damage costs 

• remove an estimated 2,080 tons of carbon from the atmosphere each year, this 

 amount of carbon is estimated to be worth £461,400 

• store an estimated 53,500 tons of carbon, this amount of carbon is estimated 

 to be worth £12.1 million 

• have a replacement value of £142 million 

• have an asset value of £686 million, an evaluation based on visual amenity. 

Page 372



 

203 
 
 

 Special Trees 

5.5.51 Across Bridgend there are many special trees. They may be outstanding because they 

are old, provide important habitat, are the biggest of their species, are linked with an 

important historic event or have some exceptional cultural significance. Special trees 

include: 

• Ancient or aged; 

• Veteran; 

• Heritage; 

• Champion; and 

• Notable 

 

5.5.52 An ancient tree is one that has passed beyond maturity and is old, or aged, in 

comparison with other trees of the same species. Its canopy may be small. It will 

probably have a very wide trunk relative to other trees of the same species and it is very 

likely that it will be hollow. 

 

5.5.53 Veteran is a term describing a tree with habitat features such as wounds or decay. The 

terms ancient and veteran have been used interchangeably in the past, however, it is 

important to know what the differences between them. A veteran tree is a survivor that 

has developed some of the features found on an ancient tree, not necessarily as a 

consequence of time, but of its life or environment. Ancient veterans are ancient trees, 

not all veterans are old enough to be ancient. A veteran may be a young tree with a 

relatively small girth in contrast to an ancient tree, but bearing the ‘scars’ of age such as 

decay in the trunk, branches or roots, fungal fruiting bodies, or dead wood. These 

veteran features will still provide wildlife habitat. 

 

5.5.54 A champion tree is one that is the tallest or has the largest trunk girth of its kind in the 

UK (or a given region). Champions that have a very large girth will usually be ancient 

trees. However, champions because of their height are unlikely to be ancient. The tallest 

champion trees can be mature trees, at the peak of their growth. However, they may 

also be quite young trees: a rare or introduced species of tree may be quite young for 

its species but can be the tallest or have the widest trunk when compared with others of 

the same species growing here in the UK. The Tree Register of the British Isles holds 

the details of all the largest trees of each species – the definitive record of Britain and 

Ireland's champion trees. 

 

5.5.55 A heritage tree is one that has contributed to or is connected to our history and culture. 

Relevant attributes include: 

• Historical, archaeological or cultural associations especially with important or 

 colourful events or famous people (eg the Major Oak in Sherwood Forest). 

 Alternatively they may be trees planted to commemorate a particular occasion 

 or old pollards demonstrating the importance of this system of tree 

 management down the centuries. 

 

Page 373



 

204 
 
 

• Aesthetic appearance, landscape character or architectural setting. They might 

 have strange shapes from natural growth or human intervention (eg great 

 layering trees or the Cage Pollard at Burnham Beeches). The trees may also 

 be of exceptional importance because they make a particular design statement 

 (eg the Albert and Victoria cedars at Stowe Park). They may be groups of trees 

 such as found in avenues, orchards, groves of particular exceptional 

 importance (eg the lime avenues at Hampton Court or the Meikleour beech 

 hedge in Perthshire). They can be well loved landmarks in local communities. 

 

• Rare or having great botanical interest. They could be rare native trees (eg 

 whitty pear), or first trees from seed planted by a tree collector (eg the first 

 Douglas firs planted), or special cultivars of historic interest (eg the first Bramley 

 apple tree). Heritage trees are often ancient but not necessarily so. A tree that 

 has been planted by some notable person, such as Queen Elizabeth II, or to 

 commemorate an event will have historic value but is unlikely to be ancient. 

 However, all ancient trees are heritage trees. 

 

5.5.56 Notable trees are usually magnificent mature trees which stand out in their local 

environment because they are large by comparison with other trees around them. They 

are often taller than ancient trees and they may be fatter than many veteran trees but 

do not have any obvious veteran characteristics.  

Bridgend’s Urban Forest  

5.5.57 Urban trees can help to mitigate some of the negative impacts and social consequences 

of urbanisation, and thus make urban areas more resilient to these changes. Urban trees 

and forests contribute to making cities socio-economically and environmentally more 

sustainable through a number of ways:   

1. Trees can contribute to the increase of local food and nutrition security, 

providing food such as fruits, nuts and leaves for both human consumption 

 and fodder. Their wood, in turn, can be used for cooking and heating. 

2. Trees play an important role in increasing urban biodiversity, 

 providing plants and animals with a favourable habitat, food and protection. 

3. A mature tree can absorb up to 150 kg of CO2 per year. As a result, trees 

  play an important role in climate change mitigation. Especially in cities with 

  high levels of pollution, trees can improve air quality, making cities healthier 

  places to live in. 

4. Strategic placement of trees in cities can help to cool the air between 2 and 

  8 degrees Celsius, thus reducing the urban “heat island” effect, and helping 

  urban communities to adapt to the effects of climate change. 

5. Large trees are excellent filters for urban pollutants and fine particulates. 

They absorb pollutant gases (such as carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxides, 

ozone and sulfer oxides) and filter fine particulates such as dust, dirt or 

smoke out of the air by trapping them on leaves and bark. 

Page 374



 

205 
 
 

6. Research shows that living in close proximity of urban green spaces and 

having access to them, can improve physical and mental health, for example 

by decreasing high blood pressure and stress. This, in turn, contributes to 

the well-being of urban communities. 

7. Mature trees regulate water flow and play a key role in preventing floods  

  and reducing the risk of natural disasters. A mature evergreen tree, for  

  instance, can intercept more than 15 000 litres of water per year. 

8. Trees also help to reduce carbon emissions by helping to conserve energy. 

  For example, the correct placement of trees around buildings can reduce  

  the need for air conditioning by 30 percent, and reduce winter heating bills 

  by 20-50 percent. 

9. Planning urban landscapes with trees can increase property value, by up to 

  20 percent, and attract tourism and business. 

 

Woodland Types 

5.5.58 There are a number of definitions relating to British woodlands, a number of which 

overlap.  On initial assessment it would appear that these overlapping definitions 

confuse the classification of woodland types.  However it must be stressed that at least 

from an ecological perspective, the older the woodland has been in existence, the 

greater its wildlife value.  These woodland types are outlined in Table 12. 

Table 12: Woodland Types 

Primary woodland 

This refers to a site that has been wooded sine the last ice age.  However, it also 

refers to sites that have been wooded since the 1600s, even if managed.  Primary 

woodlands tend to have uneven aged trees including a mature stand.   

Secondary woodland 

This refers to a site that has not been continually wooded since 1600s and can 

therefore be old or relatively new. 

Ancient woodland 

This denotes a woodland that has been in existence before the 1600s and are 

therefore similar to primary woodlands. 

Ancient secondary woodland 

These are old secondary woodlands, that is they have been cut down since the 

1600s, but this has been so long ago that they have similar characteristics to 

primary/ancient woodland. 

Ancient semi-natural woodland 

Once again this refers to an old woodland that could have been in existence prior to 

the 1600s, but the inclusion of the word semi indicates that it has been managed at 

some time. 

Semi-natural woodland 

This refers to a woodland that has been developed from open ground in the 100 

years or so.  

Coppice/Pasture woodlands 

Page 375



 

206 
 
 

Can have their origins based as far back as Neolithic time, but particularly in the 

case of coppice which is still employed as a management practice in many 

woodlands, this can refer to woodland more recently established. 

New native woodlands 

These are recently planted woodlands that are planted to encourage wildlife.  They 

are planted in such a way that they have a structural diversity. 

Plantations  

Such woodlands refer to timber crops, comprising regimented planting of species. 

Plantations are normally made up of non-native conifer species for the timber 

industry.   

High forest 

Unlike planted woods above, this refers to trees planted from seed.  This can include 

native and non-native species. 

  

Protecting our Trees 

5.5.59 Where appropriate, planning conditions or Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs) will be used 

to protect important trees and woodlands. The LPA will pursue appropriate enforcement 

action against unauthorised works to protected trees. 

 

5.5.60 The circumstances in which further information in support of a planning application will 

be required are outlined in DNP7. This information must be in accordance with the 

current British Standard BS5837 and have regard to the long term impact of the 

proposed development on the trees as they grow and wherever possible seek to avoid 

future conflict, such as that caused by over-hanging branches, shading and dominance. 

 

5.5.61 Planning Permission will normally only be granted where the trees on the site are fully 

protected in the long term, or appropriate replacement trees will be planted when the 

removal of a tree or trees is unavoidable. The removal of trees would only be acceptable 

where there is no other alternative location for the development; and the need for and 

benefits from the development outweighs the importance of the tree or trees. 

Replacement must will be planted in accordance with British Standard BS8545 and 

TPOs will normally be placed on the replacement trees. 

5.5.62 Planning Conditions, Article 4 Directions and/or Planning Obligations will be used to 

secure any necessary mitigation/ compensation/enhancement measures in relation to 

trees and development proposals. New tree or mitigation planting should be designed 

to achieve maturity and to ensure that there is an ongoing contribution to amenity with 

negligible negative impacts. 

DNP8: Green Infrastructure 

Development proposals will be required to integrate, protect and maintain existing 

green infrastructure assets and to enhance the extent, quality, connectivity and multi-

functionality of the green infrastructure network. Where the loss or damage of existing 

green infrastructure is unavoidable, appropriate mitigation and compensation will be 

required.  
 

Page 376



 

207 
 
 

All developments must seek to maximise, as far as practicable, the amount of green 

infrastructure on the site, as well as the interconnectedness of green infrastructure 

within and around the site to the wider green infrastructure network. Development 

must also maximise opportunities to achieve multi-functionality by bringing green 

infrastructure functions together. 

 

All major developments will be required to submit a Green Infrastructure Assessment. 

 

5.5.63 Green Infrastructure is a network of multifunctional green spaces, natural features and 

environmental management systems which help to provide a natural life support system 

for people and wildlife.  They can provide opportunities for recreation and tourism, public 

access, education, biodiversity and ecosystem resilience, water management, the 

protection and enhancement of the local landscape and mitigation of and adaption to 

climate change. 

 

5.5.64 Policy DNP8 seeks to ensure that Bridgend’s green infrastructure assets are valued, 

protected, enhanced and managed through a green infrastructure network. At the 

landscape scale green infrastructure assets can comprise entire ecosystems such as 

wetlands, woodlands, heathlands and waterways. At a local scale, it might comprise of 

parks, fields, footpaths, Public Rights of Way, cycle ways, common land, open access 

land, allotments, cemeteries, landscaped areas and gardens. At smaller scales, 

individual urban interventions such as street trees, roadside verges, and green roofs can 

all contribute to green infrastructure networks. The County supports a wealth of Green 

Infrastructure assets that together comprise the strategic network, which is set out in the 

Green Infrastructure Assessment (2021).  

 

5.5.65 When appropriately planned, designed and managed, green infrastructure has the 

potential to deliver a wider range of benefits for people and wildlife. By considering the 

multiple functions that a Green Infrastructure asset can provide simultaneously, it can 

significantly reduce costs for individuals, businesses and public bodies, whilst enhancing 

the quality of life and health of residents, workers and visitors to Bridgend.   

 

5.5.66 Development proposals will be expected to enhance existing Green Infrastructure 

assets. Such schemes will be designed to take into account the existing green 

infrastructure assets to ensure no fragmentation or loss of connectivity whilst maximising 

ecosystem resilience and ecosystem services. In some instances it may be necessary 

to create new Green Infrastructure and create connections to the existing Green 

Infrastructure network: improved connectivity through footpaths and cycle routes; space 

for nature that contributes to the local or sub-regional pattern of connected habitat, and 

imaginative recreational facilities that give educational and physical health benefits to 

local people. The Regeneration and Sustainable Growth Areas described in Policy SP1 

and Strategic sites set out in Policy SP2 provide significant opportunities in this regard 

given their strategic nature and scale. In addition, all major developments will be 

required to submit a Green Infrastructure Assessment that demonstrates: 

 

Page 377



 

208 
 
 

1. the location, quality and condition of all existing Green Infrastructure assets and 

landscape and ecological elements and features on, and adjacent to the site, 

and those subject to: 

i) potential impacts from the development, and details of how the impacts 
have been avoided and minimised through specific design and protection 
measures;  

ii) unavoidable impacts from the development, and details of how the 
impacts have been mitigated, or compensated for within the proposed 
development layout and landscape design scheme; 

2. effective design solutions which maximise opportunities to: enhance the quality 

and extent of existing; and enable the creation of new Green Infrastructure 

assets and landscape and ecological elements and features, to enhance the 

connectivity and multi-functionality of the Green Infrastructure Network. 

5.5.67 Further guidance on Green Infrastructure as part of development will be prepared as 

SPG in support of the placemaking agenda and the creation of high quality and 

biodiverse living environments.  

DNP9: Natural Resource Protection and Public Health 

Development proposals will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that they 

would not cause a new, or exacerbate an existing, unacceptable risk of harm to health, 

biodiversity and/or local amenity due to: 

1) Air pollution; 

2) Noise pollution; 

3) Light pollution; 

4) Water pollution; 

5) Contamination (including invasive species); 

6) Land instability; 

7) Sustainable development of mineral resources; 

8) Sustainable waste management; 

9) Any other identified risk to public health or safety. 

 

Development in areas currently subject to the above will need to demonstrate 

mitigation measures to reduce the risk of harm to public health, biodiversity and/or 

local amenity to an acceptable level. The use of construction phase Pollution Provision 

Plans are encouraged, where appropriate, to demonstrate how proposals can prevent 

development water run-off from causing pollution of the water environment. All 

proposals within HSE consultation zones must also demonstrate the acceptability and 

need for development.  

 

All development in flood risk areas must be supported by a Flood Consequences/Risk 

Assessment and incorporate any mitigation measures required to avoid or manage 

increased flood risk. 

 

 

5.5.68 DNP9 seeks to ensure that the County’s natural environment is protected from materially 

harmful development. This relates particularly to the effect of development on air, noise, 

Page 378



 

209 
 
 

light and water quality. DNP9 also seeks to ensure that potential risks to human health 

are fully identified and assessed. This principle extends to development in flood risk 

areas and the redevelopment or remediation of contaminated/unstable land, or 

development within the statutory consultation zones stipulated by HSE for hazardous 

installations. The acceptability of adverse effects will depend on the nature of the 

development and the location, with the most sensitive sites, such as residential areas, 

being more vulnerable. In some circumstances, adverse effects can be mitigated to 

make the development acceptable. However, in the case of flood risk, the Council will 

adopt a sustainable approach to flooding by seeking to avoid development within flood 

risk areas in-line with National Planning Policy and Guidance. 

 

5.5.69 The improvement of environmental quality as a result of development is positively 

encouraged. This can be achieved, for example, through: the remediation of 

contaminated land as part of redevelopment; the use of SuDS which can achieve 

betterment in the reduction of surface water run-off and ultimately reduce flood risk; or 

replacing existing obtrusive lighting with a low level scheme. 

 

5.5.70 The following environmental constraints are identified on the Constraints and Issues 

Map and will be regularly updated: 

• Flood Risk; 

• Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs); and 

• Noise Action Planning Priority Areas (NAPPAs) 

 

5.5.71 Pollution may cause significant risk to human health, quality of life, residential amenity, 

and the natural and historic environment. The Plan seeks to ensure that development 

that would result in significantly high levels of air, noise or light pollution are appropriately 

located away from residential areas, other sensitive developments and areas of 

landscape, natural environment and heritage importance. The Plan also seeks to ensure 

that incompatible development and land uses are not located close to existing sources 

of potential pollution. Where air and noise pollution are generated from the same source 

they should be considered and addressed together and appropriate regard should also 

be had to the Plan’s transport and Active Travel policies and other relevant Council 

strategies for reducing vehicular use. The Plan’s Green Infrastructure policies will also 

ensure that appropriate provision is made in new developments for addressing the 

cumulative impacts of air and noise pollution. 

 

5.5.72 Where possible, planning conditions will be used to minimise environmental harm and 

achieve environmental enhancement. The Council will look to the statutory 

environmental agencies to use their anti-pollution legislative powers to monitor and 

enforce against discharges, noise and other nuisances. 

 

Noise Pollution 

 

5.5.73 Where development could lead to exposure to a source of noise pollution it must be 

demonstrated that appropriate mitigation measures will be implemented, and 

incorporated into the design of the development to minimise the effects on existing and 

Page 379



 

210 
 
 

future occupants. Noise sensitive developments will not be permitted unless effective 

and appropriate mitigation is carried out to prevent exposure to existing noise generating 

uses.  

 

5.5.74 A Noise and Soundscape Action Plan (2018-2033) has been prepared for the whole of 

Wales that identifies Noise Action Planning Priority Areas (NAPPAs) where residential 

properties are experiencing high levels of environmental noise. Within these areas 

developers will be required to demonstrate that appropriate traffic management and 

mitigation measures are in place. Bridgend County Borough Council will seek to 

maximise the noise benefits to be gained from highway improvement works and local 

air quality management; and take noise maps, priority areas and tranquil urban green 

space into consideration when a noise-sensitive or noise-generating development is 

proposed. 

 

5.5.75 Where proposed development is to be located in close proximity to a source of noise 

pollution, or includes possible noise conflicts within the proposed site, proposals will be 

required to incorporate design, landscaping and other measures to minimise the effects 

on future occupants. The layout of buildings can often be designed or modified to reduce 

the effects of noise disturbance and create appropriate soundscapes. Similarly schemes 

can be designed to incorporate materials, features and landscaping which reduce the 

impact of noise on the surrounding buildings. In accordance with the ‘agent of change’ 

principle the business or person responsible for introducing a change is responsible for 

managing that change. Consideration of proposals should therefore take into account 

the nature of the soundscape which exists in an area and the characteristics of the place, 

or specific activities which have shaped it. Where there are potential noise implications, 

developers may be required to provide an assessment of noise impact, together with 

proposals for mitigation in support of planning applications. If the results of the 

assessment and proposed mitigation measures are not satisfactory there could be 

grounds to refuse planning permission. Notwithstanding the use of good design and 

materials, there will be some instances where new residential and other noise sensitive 

uses, such as hospitals and schools, will not be acceptable in close proximity to existing 

noise generating uses or activities. 

 

 Air Pollution 

5.5.76 The Bridgend Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) is currently the only AQMA within 

the County boundary and is shown on the Constraints Map. Developers are advised to 

engage in early consultation with the Council’s Pollution Control Team to confirm where 

an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) is required to support an application. This will be 

considered on a case by case basis having regard to the scale and type of the 

development. For example, residential development is likely to trigger the need for an 

AQA, as the issue of primary interest in relation to air quality in the AQMA’s relates to 

residential exposure along the roadside. Mitigation may therefore be required to be 

demonstrated through an AQA to ensure that the design avoids kerbside development. 

The scale of development which will trigger the need for an AQA will also be considered 

on a case by case basis having regard to the location of the development and how it 

interacts with its neighbouring environments. Where the need for mitigation is identified, 

Page 380



 

211 
 
 

the AQA is to demonstrate that appropriate mitigation measures will be implemented to 

ensure that the development does not cause significant risk to air quality by virtue of 

emissions from the development itself of the additional new traffic movements it would 

generate. The AQA will provide further information on the extent to which the 

development proposed would increase the number of exposed individuals in an area 

likely to fail UK air quality objectives (proposed or in regulations), either within an AQMA 

or an area that might become an AQMA if the application were to be granted. 

 Light Pollution 

5.5.77 Light pollution can have a harmful effect on the amenity of neighbouring land uses, traffic 

safety and the natural environment. However, lighting can also help prevent crime and 

the fear of crime and facilitate greater use of sport and recreational areas. A balance 

therefore needs to be struck, and, where necessary, conditions will be attached to 

planning permissions to ensure that the design and operation of lighting systems are 

satisfactory and/or to prevent light pollution. This may include measures to prevent glare, 

ensure amenity of neighbouring land uses, protection of the natural and historic 

environment and the reduction of carbon emissions associated with lighting.  

 

 Water Pollution and the Protection of Water Resources 

 

5.5.78 Development that compromises the quality of the water environment, or does not comply 

with good water resource management, will not be permitted. Development proposals 

must make efficient use of water resources and, where appropriate, contribute towards 

improvements to water quality. SuDS must be implemented wherever they would be 

effective and practicable. 

 

5.5.79 Watercourses will be safeguarded through green corridors/ riparian buffers: to protect 

water quality and water habitats and species; and to provide for flood plain capacity. 

Development proposals that would have a significant adverse impact on biodiversity, 

fisheries, public access or water related recreation use of water resources, will not be 

permitted. 

 

5.5.80 The LDP seeks to protect and restore clean water to ensure its long term sustainable 

use. Issues such as water pollution, flood risk and the protection and enhancement of 

aquatic ecosystems are major considerations for development. Full regard must be had 

to the Water Framework Directive (WFD) 2000/60/EC which sets out the requirements 

in relation to the water environment and requires good water quality status for all water 

bodies and the Urban Waste Water Treatment Regulation 91/271/EEC that protects the 

environment from the adverse effects of urban waste water discharges and Ground 

Water Protection Zones (SPZ) that provide additional protection to safeguard drinking 

water quality through constraining the proximity of an activity that may impact upon a 

drinking water abstraction. 

 

5.5.81 Water pollution and the consequent poor water quality can be from a range of sources. 

The WFD has provided the opportunity to work with partner organisations, particularly 

NRW, to recognise the need to improve the whole water environment and promote the 

sustainable use of water for the benefit of both people and wildlife.  

Page 381



 

212 
 
 

 

5.5.82 The Western Wales River Basin Management Plan (RBMP) sets out environmental 

objectives, standards and a programme of measures by which they can be achieved in 

the area. Where development proposals relate to a main river or ordinary watercourse, 

opportunities should be taken to incorporate in the development a riparian buffer of up 

to 7 metres adjoining both banks. This will allow for necessary maintenance by NRW 

and will protect and encourage local biodiversity. Development proposals that do not 

comply with the objectives and standards of the RBMP will be considered to have a 

compromising effect on water resources and will be refused. 

 

5.5.83 Water abstraction can have a detrimental impact on water quality and development will 

need to be limited to areas where adequate water resources exist or can be reasonably 

provided without adversely affecting existing water quality. Existing ground water and 

river levels must be maintained. Water quality can be improved through effective waste 

water infrastructure provision. Dwr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) is the sewerage 

undertaker for the County Borough and has a general duty to provide the sewerage 

system. On this basis DCWW is currently committed to undertake improvements in 

Waste Water Treatment Works’ (WwTW) capacities, treatment levels and discharge 

quality through actions programmed within the Western Wales RBMP and through 

funding allocations and priorities secured through their Asset Management Programme 

(AMP) process. 

 

5.5.84 Surface water does not need to be treated and no surface water drainage should 

connect to a foul drain. Building Regulations provides for a hierarchical approach to 

surface water drainage in the order of soakaway/ SuDS, then watercourse, and then if 

neither are reasonably practical the use of a sewer. Development will only be allowed 

where provision is made for the necessary waste water infrastructure to protect water 

quality. 

 

5.5.85 The Council is committed to implementing sustainable approaches to surface water 

drainage and expects development to incorporate SuDS wherever possible. SuDS 

mimic natural drainage to improve rainwater infiltration to soil and ground and can be 

implemented at all scales of development. They may include: green roofs; rainwater 

harvesting systems; soakaways/infiltration systems; permeable surfaces; rain gardens; 

detention basins and swales. SuDS can improve a development by creating habitats 

that enhance biodiversity as well as providing potential amenity and recreational 

benefits. 

 

5.5.86 Where SuDS cannot be implemented developers are required to demonstrate that they 

have examined SuDS options and provide specific details to explain why SuDS would 

not be effective as part of their particular development proposals. Where SuDS can be 

implemented their design must accord with Welsh Government’s Statutory Standards 

for Sustainable Drainage SuDS in Wales – Designing, Constructing and Maintaining 

Water Drainage Systems (2019) and be fully endorsed by the Council, as the SuDS 

Approval Body (SAB). 

 

Page 382



 

213 
 
 

5.5.87 Planning conditions and obligations will be used to ensure SuDS implementation, 

including phasing requirements, long term maintenance and the provision of off-site 

drainage. Integrating watercourses and ponds provides an opportunity for SuDS to be 

incorporated into larger scale schemes as landscape features. The use of above ground 

SuDS features will be expected in such developments, for both conveyance and 

attenuation in preference to any other proprietary system, and should be designed into 

the development landscape. The provision of Green Infrastructure, including woodland 

planting, should be considered as a measure to reduce surface water run-off. Any 

opportunities to reinstate, or create additional, natural functional floodplain through the 

development process will also be encouraged. 

 

5.5.88 In order to provide effective drainage in the long term, developers will need to make 

arrangements for the future maintenance of SuDS and water courses associated with 

the development. This will be secured through Section 106 Agreements. Proposals 

should seek wherever possible to incorporate water conservation techniques including 

rain harvesting and grey water recycling. Water quality can be affected by development 

on contaminated land. In order to prevent this, contaminated sites should be adequately 

sealed against the leakage of polluted matter and surface drainage should be directed 

away from the source of contamination and any contaminated water (ground or surface) 

must be adequately treated prior to discharge. Planning permission will not be granted 

where in the opinion of the Council, following consultation with NRW, the disturbance of 

contaminated land will significantly adversely affect the quality of surface and 

groundwaters. 

 

Conservation of the Historic Environment 

 

5.5.89 The Historic Environment and its 

Landscapes play a fundamental role in 

distinctive and natural placemaking through 

the planning system. This enables local 

authorities to meet Welsh Government 

objectives to protect, conserve, and, where 

appropriate, promote and enhance the 

historic environment as a finite and 

irreplaceable resource for the general well-

being of present and future generations. 

The impact of any development proposal on the significance and heritage values of 

individual historic assets, their setting and their contribution to local distinctiveness and 

character must be fully considered by applicants through the preparation of a heritage 

impact assessment and statement at the earliest opportunity as part of the planning 

process. 

 

 

 

 

 

Jennings Building, Porthcawl 

Page 383



 

214 
 
 

SP18: Conservation of the Historic Environment 

 
The County Borough has a rich and diverse built heritage and historic environment. 

Development proposals must protect, conserve, and, where appropriate, promote or 

enhance the significance of historic assets, including their settings. In particular, there 

is a general presumption in favour of the preservation or enhancement of the 

significance of historic assets and their settings including: 

 

1) World Heritage Sites 

2) Scheduled Monuments 

3) Archaeologically Sensitive Areas and Archaeological Remains 

4) Listed Buildings   

5) Conservation Areas 

6) Historic Parks and Gardens 

7) Historic Landscapes 

8) Historic assets of special local Interest 

 

Any application for listed building or conservation area consent will need to be 

accompanied by a Heritage Impact Statement in accordance with the Historic 

Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

  

LDP 

Objectives 

SOBJ: 4 

OBJ: 4a. 4b, 4c, 4d, 4e 

Future 

Wales 

Our Heritage, Cultural Heritage 

PPW Distinctive and Natural Places 

Recognising the Special Characteristics of Places 

Historic Environment 

WBFG Act A healthier Wales 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language  

A globally responsible Wales 

LWBP Support communities in Bridgend County to be safe and cohesive 

Healthy choices in a healthy environment 

Key 

Evidence 

List of Buildings with Special Architectural or Historic Interest 

Conservation Area Appraisals 

Local List of historic assets of special local interest 

 

5.5.90 The historic environment comprises all surviving physical elements of previous human 

activity and illustrates how past generations have shaped the world around us. The most 

important historic assets often have statutory protection or are included in formal 

registers which identify them as being of special historic interest. A number of statutorily 

and non-statutorily recorded heritage assets are located within the County Borough as 

outlined in SP18.  

5.5.91 The above components of the built heritage are protected by other Acts of Parliament 

separate from the Planning Acts, most recently The Historic Environment Wales Act 

Page 384



 

215 
 
 

2016 which is accompanied by a suite of national and best practice guidance. Bridgend 

County Borough Council strongly value these heritage assets, and any development 

proposals which affect any of the above historic assets, or the settings of any of these, 

must take full account of the relevant but separate legislation and national best practice 

guidance. Conservation areas are defined at a local level and, therefore, an additional 

Development Management Policy (DNP11) is included to support SP18. 

SP18 has also been prepared in accordance with TAN 24, which provides specific 

guidance on how the historic environment should be considered during plan preparation 

and decision making on planning and listed building applications, including locally 

specific policies for the conservation and enhancement of historic assets. The design 

and access statement and / or heritage impact assessment and statement 

accompanying any application for planning permission must, where relevant, clearly set 

out how the development is compatible with the preservation, conservation, or 

enhancement of heritage assets. 

5.5.92 The special and unique characteristics and intrinsic qualities of the natural and built 

5environment must be protected in their own right for historic, scenic, aesthetic and 

nature conservation reasons. These features give places their unique identity and 

distinctiveness, whilst providing for cultural experiences and healthy lifestyles. Care for 

the Built and Historic Environment is fundamental to the LDP Strategy and to achieving 

sustainable development. Development proposals must take account of heritage assets 

where these are directly or indirectly affected. Occasionally, historic assets will be a 

constraint, the need for preservation outweighing the benefit of development. More often 

a heritage asset will be an opportunity for the restoration and sustainable reuse of 

historic buildings using embedded and embodied energy, for the strengthening of local 

identity (respecting local design characteristics) and for the interpretation of hidden 

heritage assets to the benefit of local communities. A strategy requiring high quality 

design and carefully sited development that is both in keeping and scale with its location, 

and which is sensitive to the character of the historic built and natural environment is 

required.  

 

DNP10: Built Historic Environment and Listed Buildings 

The character of historic buildings and structures will be safeguarded and conserved 

and change managed so that their special architectural and historic or 

archaeological interest and their settings are preserved. 

1) Development proposals affecting listed buildings and their settings will only be 

permitted where: 

a) the sensitive alteration and/or extension to a listed building or its 

curtilage can be justified as being desirable or necessary and ensures 

that the special architectural character or historic interest is preserved; 

 

b) the change of use of a listed building or its curtilage involves its 

sensitive repair  conversion and  sustainable re-use without causing 

harm to its character, special architectural or historic interest or 

structural integrity; 

Page 385



 

216 
 
 

 

c) the total or substantial demolition of a listed building, is accompanied 

by the strongest justification and convincing evidence that the proposal 

is necessary and unavoidable. 

 
2) Development must protect or enhance Historic Assets of Special Local 

Interest; 

 

3) Development must preserve Scheduled Ancient Monuments and their settings 

and where appropriate the conservation of other archaeological remains, 

having regard to the intrinsic importance of the remains and the need for the 

proposed development; and 

 
4) Development must protect and conserve historic landscapes, parks and 

gardens. 

 

Listed Buildings 

5.5.93 There are 373 listed buildings and structures in the County Borough. Listed buildings 

are designated by Cadw who maintain the statutory ‘List of Buildings with Special 

Architectural or Historic Interest’. National Planning Policy and Guidance contains a 

general presumption in favour of the preservation of listed buildings. Works (internal 

and external) that would affect the character or historic fabric of a listed building and 

its curtilage must not be implemented without authorisation of a listed building consent. 

5.5.94 DNP10 seeks to ensure that, where a development proposal affects a listed building 

or its setting, special regard must be had to the desirability of preserving the building, 

or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 

possesses. This is a primary material consideration and statutory requirement. 

Applications must be fully justified by means of a Heritage Impact Assessment and 

Statement in accordance with National Planning Policy and Guidance. An application 

for the total or substantial demolition of a listed building should be made in exceptional 

circumstances and only as an option of last resort and must be accompanied by the 

strongest justification and convincing evidence that the proposal is necessary and 

unavoidable. 

Historic Assets of Special Local Interest 

5.5.95 DNP10 seeks to protect historic assets of special local interest. Heritage buildings and 

structures have a particular architectural or historic interest in the local context. While 

such assets do not meet the strict quality standard for inclusion on the statutory list, they 

still contribute to the conservation or enhancement of local character. Local planning 

authorities may choose to identify historic assets of special local interest and maintain a 

list of them and add them to the local historic environment record. Consideration will be 

given to drawing up such a list during the lifetime of the plan in conjunction with local 

communities with a view to helping to reinforce local character and promote high design 

standards. 

Page 386



 

217 
 
 

5.5.96 DNP 10 also seeks to protect all the other modest background buildings that reflect the 

continuity of local history, contribute to local identity and act as a collective community. 

This includes the history embodied in the unscheduled archaeological record.  

Scheduled Monuments & Archaeological Remains  

5.5.97 There are 60 Scheduled Ancient Monuments located within the County Borough of 

Bridgend. When considering development proposals that affect scheduled monuments 

or other nationally important archaeological remains, there should be a presumption in 

favour of their physical preservation in situ i.e. a presumption against proposals which 

would involve significant alteration or cause damage, or would have a significant 

adverse impact causing harm within the setting of the remains.  

5.5.98 DNP10 highlights the desirability of preserving a Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM) 

and its setting. It also sets out the approach to considering development proposals which 

potentially affect other ‘lesser’ archaeological remains. Scheduled Monuments consent 

is required for all proposals that would potentially damage, demolish, remove, repair, 

alter, add to, flood or cover up a SAM. Applicants are encouraged to consult with 

The Historic Environment Record and Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust at an 

early stage in considering their development proposal.   

Historic Parks and Gardens 

5.5.99 There are 6 Historic Parks and Gardens in Bridgend County Borough which have been 

included on the Statutory register of Historic Parks and Gardens in Wales: 

• Bryngarw 

• Court Coleman 

• Coytrahen 

• Glanrhyd Hospital 

• Merthyr Mawr 

• Tythegston Court 

5.5.100 The register of Historic Parks and Gardens in Wales identifies parks and gardens and 

their settings which make an important contribution to the character of the county and 

which are deemed important to preserve or enhance. DNP10 seeks to ensure that they 

are given appropriate consideration when development is proposed which affects 

these assets. It is for the applicant to show that they understand the significance of the 

registered park or garden at the earliest stage from the details included in the register 

and the impact that any development proposals will have on that significance by 

utilising current guidance, whilst also considering any other statutory designations 

relevant to the site.  

Historic Landscapes 

5.5.101 The Register of Historic Landscapes in Wales is a non-statutory advisory register 

intended to inform policy making and decision making at a strategic level about historic 

importance of the areas identified and should be taken into account in considering the 

implications of developments, which meet the criteria for Environmental Impact 

Assessment, or are of a sufficient scale to have more than a local impact on the historic 

Page 387



 

218 
 
 

landscape. The register was published in two parts and the following areas are located 

/partly located within Bridgend County Borough; 

• Part 2.1 Landscapes of Outstanding Historic Interest – Merthyr Mawr Kenfig 

and Margam Burrows 

• Part 2.2 Landscapes of Special Historic Interest – Margam Mountain 

Best Practice guidance has been developed to assist local planning authorities in 

considering planning proposals affecting areas on the Register and this and 

Landscape Characterisation studies undertaken by the Welsh Archaeological Trusts 

assist both developers and decision makers to assess development proposals.  

Landscape Character Areas 

5.5.102 The natural and built landscape of Bridgend County Borough has been assessed as 

having eighteen distinct character areas which are non - statutory designations. Using 

the designations and detailed assessments applicants can ensure development 

proposals conserve and enhance the local distinctiveness and heritage of the diverse 

landscapes and contribute to sustainable place making principles. Supplementary 

Planning guidance will be made available during the plan period to advise developers of 

the landscape considerations that need to be reflected in any proposals.     

DNP11: Conservation Areas 

Development within or adjacent to a conservation area will only be permitted if it 

would preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the conservation 

area or its setting. 

1)  New development in such locations must also be of a high standard of design, 

respond to the area’s special characteristics, and pay particular regard to: 

a) important views, vistas, street scenes, roofscapes, trees, open spaces, 

gaps and other features that contribute to the character or appearance 

of the conservation area; 

b) the retention of historically significant boundaries or other elements that 

contribute to the established form of development; 

c) the relationship to existing buildings and spaces, and pattern of 

development;  

d) scale, height and massing, architectural design and detailing, the use of 

materials, boundary treatment, and public realm materials. 

2) Proposals for total or substantial demolition of a building that makes a positive 

contribution to the character or appearance of a conservation area will 

not generally be acceptable and will be assessed against the same broad 

criteria as proposals to demolish listed buildings. 

 

 

Page 388



 

219 
 
 

5.5.103 A conservation area is an area of special architectural or historic interest, the character 

or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance. Policy DNP11 is 

intended to provide protection from developments, which can harm the character and 

appearance of a conservation area. There are 16 conservation areas in the County, all 

of which are shown on the Constraints Map: 

 

• Bridgend Town Centre • Merthyr Mawr Village 

• Coity • Nantymoel 

• Derllwyn Road • Newcastle Hill 

• Laleston • Newton 

• Llangeinor • Nottage 

• Llangynwyd • Porthcawl 

• Maesteg Town Centre • Preswylfa 

• Merthyr Mawr Road • Tythegston 

 Conservation area appraisals identify the essential architectural or historic elements to 

be protected. Appraisals help inform a judgement as to whether development 

proposals meet the aims of preservation or enhancement of the special character of 

the conservation area. Subject to resource availability, the Council will seek to prepare 

further Conservation Area Appraisals. Once appraisals have been completed, periodic 

reviews should be carried out and consideration given to preparing management / 

enhancement plans where necessary to tackle identified problems. 

5.5.104 Development in or affecting the setting of conservation areas will only be permitted if 

it preserves or enhances the character or appearance of the designated area. 

Applicants must demonstrate how development proposals within or affecting 

conservation areas will preserve or enhance the special character or appearance of 

the area. Proposals for demolition will need separate Conservation Area Consent. 

Proposals should be undertaken through a Heritage Impact Assessment and can be 

presented in a Heritage Impact Statement or, where one is required, as part of a Design 

and Access Statement. Such assessments must be proportionate both to the 

significance of the historic asset and to the degree of change proposed, and must 

include sufficient information to enable both the significance of the asset and the 

impact of change arising from the development, to be understood. In considering 

development proposals, the Council will seek to resist new development or the 

demolition of existing buildings unless it would preserve or enhance the character and 

appearance of the conservation area. There is also a special provision for trees in 

conservation areas which are not the subject of a tree preservation orders. 

 

 

Page 389



 

1 
 
 

Appendix 1: Housing Trajectory 

 
Table 1: The Timing and Phasing of Allocations (2018-2033) 

 

Settlement Tier 
/ Growth Zone 

Allocated 
Site 

Name 

Total 
Site 

Capacity 

Time lag to construction start in months Phasing of Development (2018-33) 

Time period for 
pre-application 

discussions/ 
PAC 

consultation 

Time between 
submission of 

planning 
application and 
determination 

Time taken 
from planning 

consent to 
the discharge 

of relevant 
conditions to 
enable site 
construction 

Completions U/C 
18-
19 

19-
20 

20-
21 

21-
22 

22-
23 

23-
24 

24-
25 

25-
26 

26-
27 

27-
28 

28-
29 

29-
30 

30-
31 

31-
32 

32-
33 

Units 
phased 
beyond 
the plan 
period 

Bridgend 
(Sustainable 
Growth Area) 

Land 
South of 
Bridgend  

788 

Pre-
application:  
7 weeks (per 
phase) 
 
PAC: 7 weeks 
(4 weeks 
minimum with 
a period of 3 
weeks to 
collate and 
produce a 
PAC report per 
phase) 

14 weeks 
(per phase) 

8 weeks 
(per 

application) 
    0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 68 120 120 120 120 120 120 0 

Bridgend 
(Sustainable 
Growth Area) 

Land West 
of 

Bridgend 
850 

Pre-
application:  
7 weeks (per 
phase) 
 
PAC: 7 weeks 
(4 weeks 
minimum with 
a period of 3 
weeks to 
collate and 
produce a 
PAC report per 
phase) 

14 weeks 
(per phase) 

8 weeks 
(per 

application) 
    0 0 0 0 0 0 30 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 20 

P
age 390



 

2 
 
 

Settlement Tier 
/ Growth Zone 

Allocated 
Site 

Name 

Total 
Site 

Capacity 

Time lag to construction start in months Phasing of Development (2018-33) 

Time period for 
pre-application 

discussions/ 
PAC 

consultation 

Time between 
submission of 

planning 
application and 
determination 

Time taken 
from planning 

consent to 
the discharge 

of relevant 
conditions to 
enable site 
construction 

Completions U/C 
18-
19 

19-
20 

20-
21 

21-
22 

22-
23 

23-
24 

24-
25 

25-
26 

26-
27 

27-
28 

28-
29 

29-
30 

30-
31 

31-
32 

32-
33 

Units 
phased 
beyond 
the plan 
period 

Pyle, Kenfig Hill 
and N Cornelly 
(Sustainable 
Growth Area) 

Heol Fach 255 

Pre-
application:  
6 weeks 
 
PAC: 6 weeks 
(4 weeks 
minimum with 
a period of 2 
weeks to 
collate and 
produce a 
PAC report) 

10 weeks  8 weeks      0 0 0 0 0 15 48 48 48 48 48 0 0 0 0 0 

Bridgend 
(Sustainable 
Growth Area) 

Craig y 
Parcau, 
Bridgend 

108 

Pre-
application: 6 
weeks 
 
PAC: 6 weeks 
(4 weeks 
minimum with 
a period of 2 
weeks to 
collate and 
produce a 
PAC report per 
phase) 

10 weeks 8 weeks     0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 50 48 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Porthcawl 
(Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

Porthcawl 
Waterfront 

1100 

Pre-
application:  
9 weeks (per 
phase) 
 
PAC: 8 weeks 
(4 weeks 
minimum with 
a period of 4 
weeks to 
collate and 
produce a 
PAC report per 
phase) 

16 weeks 
(per phase) 

8 weeks 
(per 

application) 
    0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 60 120 120 120 120 120 120 320 

P
age 391



 

3 
 
 

Settlement Tier 
/ Growth Zone 

Allocated 
Site 

Name 

Total 
Site 

Capacity 

Time lag to construction start in months Phasing of Development (2018-33) 

Time period for 
pre-application 

discussions/ 
PAC 

consultation 

Time between 
submission of 

planning 
application and 
determination 

Time taken 
from planning 

consent to 
the discharge 

of relevant 
conditions to 
enable site 
construction 

Completions U/C 
18-
19 

19-
20 

20-
21 

21-
22 

22-
23 

23-
24 

24-
25 

25-
26 

26-
27 

27-
28 

28-
29 

29-
30 

30-
31 

31-
32 

32-
33 

Units 
phased 
beyond 
the plan 
period 

Pencoed 
(Sustainable 
Growth Area) 

Land East 
of 

Pencoed 
804 

6 weeks (per 
phase) 
 
PAC: 7 weeks 
(4 weeks 
minimum with 
a period of 3 
weeks to 
collate and 
produce a 
PAC report per 
phase) 

14 weeks 
(per phase) 

8 weeks 
(per 

application) 
    0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 84 120 120 120 120 120 120 0 

Pyle, Kenfig Hill 
and N Cornelly 
(Sustainable 
Growth Area) 

Land East 
of Pyle 

2003 

Pre-
application:  
9 weeks (per 
phase) 
 
PAC: 8 weeks 
(4 weeks 
minimum with 
a period of 4 
weeks to 
collate and 
produce a 
PAC report per 
phase) 

16 weeks 
(per phase) 

8 weeks 
(per 

application) 
    0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 70 150 150 150 150 150 150 1033 

Pont Rhyd-y-
cyff  

(Maesteg and 
the Llynfi Valley 
Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

Land 
South 

West of 
Pont  

Rhyd-y-
cyff  

130 

Pre-
application: 6 
weeks 
 
PAC: 6 weeks 
4 weeks 
minimum with 
a period of 2 
weeks to 
collate and 
produce a 
PAC report per 
phase) 

10 weeks 8 weeks     0 0 0 0 0 0 10 45 45 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 

P
age 392



 

4 
 
 

Settlement Tier 
/ Growth Zone 

Allocated 
Site 

Name 

Total 
Site 

Capacity 

Time lag to construction start in months Phasing of Development (2018-33) 

Time period for 
pre-application 

discussions/ 
PAC 

consultation 

Time between 
submission of 

planning 
application and 
determination 

Time taken 
from planning 

consent to 
the discharge 

of relevant 
conditions to 
enable site 
construction 

Completions U/C 
18-
19 

19-
20 

20-
21 

21-
22 

22-
23 

23-
24 

24-
25 

25-
26 

26-
27 

27-
28 

28-
29 

29-
30 

30-
31 

31-
32 

32-
33 

Units 
phased 
beyond 
the plan 
period 

Pont Rhyd-y-
cyff  

(Maesteg and 
the Llynfi Valley 
Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

Land 
South 
East of  
Pont 

Rhyd-y-
cyff 

140 

Pre-
application: 6 
weeks 
 
PAC: 42 days 
(28 days 
minimum with 
a period of 14 
days to collate 
and produce a 
PAC report per 
phase) 

10 weeks 8 weeks     0 0 0 0 0 0 10 25 40 40 25 0 0 0 0 0 

Pont Rhyd-y-
cyff  

(Maesteg and 
the Llynfi Valley 
Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

Land 
South of  

Pont 
Rhyd-y-

cyff 

102 

Pre-
application: 6 
weeks 
 
PAC: 6 weeks 
(4 weeks 
minimum with 
a period of 2 
weeks to 
collate and 
produce a 
PAC report per 
phase) 

10 weeks 8 weeks     0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 25 25 37 0 0 0 0 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 393



 

5 
 
 

Table 2: The Timing and Phasing of Sites with Planning Permission (2018-2033) 

 

Settlement Tier / 
Growth Area 

Planning 
Application 

Site Name 
Total 
Site 

Capacity 

Phasing of Development (2018-33) 

Completions U/C 
18-
19 

19-
20 

20-
21 

21-
22 

22-
23 

23-
24 

24-
25 

25-
26 

26-
27 

27-
28 

28-
29 

29-
30 

30-
31 

31-
32 

32-
33 

Units phased 
beyond the plan 

period 

Valleys Gateway  
(Main Settlement) 

P/19/915/RES 
LAND OFF MAESTEG 

ROAD, TONDU 
405 0 4         60 60 60 60 60 60 45           

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/19/624/FUL 
P/19/656/RES 

PARC DERWEN, 
BRIDGEND 

1577 1506 59 157 94 19 51 71                       

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/18/145/RES 

LAND AT 
LLANGEWYDD ROAD, 

CEFN GLAS, 
BRIDGEND 

194 160 19 1 61 47 51 34                       

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/18/1006/FUL 
YSGOL BRYN 

CASTELL (PHASE 2), 
BRIDGEND 

127 13 21       13 60 54                     

Bridgend 
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/18/983/FUL 
SUNNYSIDE ROAD 

(LAND OFF), 
BRIDGEND 

59 0 19           59                     

Pen-y-fai  
(Local Settlement) 

P/17/1073/FUL 
ALL SAINTS WAY 

(LAND SOUTH OF), 
PENYFAI 

20 17 3     7 10 3                       

Cefn Cribwr  
(Local Settlement) 

P/18/286/NMA 
BEDFORD ROAD, 

CEFN CRIBWR 
10 0 10         10                       

Bettws  
(Local Settlement) 

P/19/147/FUL 
HEOL DEWI SANT 

(REAR OF), BETTWS 
23 22 1         1                       

Pencoed  
(Main Settlement,  

Sustainable 
Growth Area) 

P/09/435/OUT  
LAND SOUTH OF 
HENDRE ROAD, 

PENCOED 
205 204 0 2 2 1   1                       

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 

P/15/693/FUL 
COWBRIDGE ROAD 

(REAR OF), 
BRIDGEND 

10 0 0         5 5                     

P
age 394



 

6 
 
 

Settlement Tier / 
Growth Area 

Planning 
Application 

Site Name 
Total 
Site 

Capacity 

Phasing of Development (2018-33) 

Completions U/C 
18-
19 

19-
20 

20-
21 

21-
22 

22-
23 

23-
24 

24-
25 

25-
26 

26-
27 

27-
28 

28-
29 

29-
30 

30-
31 

31-
32 

32-
33 

Units phased 
beyond the plan 

period 

Sustainable 
Growth Area) 

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/16/610/FUL 
PARK STREET, COED 

PARC, BRIDGEND 
15 4 2     3 1 6 5                     

Porthcawl  
(Main Settlement, 

Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

P/20/263/FUL 
FORMER ST. JOHN'S 
SCHOOL, NETWON, 

PORTHCAWL 
57 0 20         57                       

Valleys Gateway  
(Main Settlement) 

P/19/182/RES 
(Phase 2) 

PARC TYN Y COED, 
BRYNCETHIN 

273 264 4         9                       

Porthcawl  
(Main Settlement,  

Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

P/19/352/RES 
P/21/60/FUL 

ST CLARES 
CONVENT, CLEVIS 
HILL, PORTHCAWL 

11 0 7         11                       

Porthcawl  
(Main Settlement,  

Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

P/16/609/FUL 

47 - 49 WOODLAND 
AVENUE (Land 

Between), 
PORTHCAWL 

10 0 10         10                       

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/14/185/FUL  
P/20/638/NMA 

WATERTON MANOR 
& LANE (LAND AT) 

WATERTON, 
BRIDGEND 

39 0 26         26 13                     

Pyle, Kenfig Hill 
and N Cornelly  

(Main Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/18/829/FUL 
LAND AT CROFT 

GOCH ROAD, KENFIG 
HILL 

21     

  

        

21 

                  

  

Pencoed  
(Main Settlement,  

Sustainable 
Growth Area) 

P/20/214/FUL 

FORMER PENCOED 
RAOB SOCIAL CLUB 

HEOL Y GROES, 
PENCOED 

24     

  

  

    

  24 

                  

  

Pencoed  
(Main Settlement,  

Sustainable 
Growth Area) 

P/20/99/FUL 
TRININITY CHAPEL, 
PENYBONT ROAD, 

PENCOED 
12     

  

  

    

12 

                    

  

Valleys Gateway  
(Main Settlement) 

P/18/1012/FUL 

THE OLD 
BAKEHOUSE, 

MAESTEG ROAD, 
TONDU 

10     

  

  

    

10 

                    

  

P
age 395



 

7 
 
 

Settlement Tier / 
Growth Area 

Planning 
Application 

Site Name 
Total 
Site 

Capacity 

Phasing of Development (2018-33) 

Completions U/C 
18-
19 

19-
20 

20-
21 

21-
22 

22-
23 

23-
24 

24-
25 

25-
26 

26-
27 

27-
28 

28-
29 

29-
30 

30-
31 

31-
32 

32-
33 

Units phased 
beyond the plan 

period 

Maesteg and the 
Llynfi Valley (Main 

Settlement,  
Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

P/14/390/FUL 
P/21/547/RLX  

LAND AT 
NANTYFYLLON RFC, 

BLOSSE STREET, 
MAESTEG 

36     

  

  

    

13 13 10 

                

  

Ogmore Valley 
(Local Settlement, 

Regeneration 
Area) 

P/04/252/FUL 
P/21/831/NMA  

CWRT TY MAWR, 
NORTH ROAD, 
OGMORE VALE 

13 6 3 

  

  

    

7     

                

  

Porthcawl  
(Main Settlement,  

Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

P/18/920/FUL 

RONNIES 
COMMERCIAL,CLOS 

YR ORSAF, 
PORTHCAWL 

10 0         10                         

Porthcawl  
(Main Settlement,  

Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

P/18/908/FUL 
MEADOW LANE 

(LAND AT), 
PORTHCAWL 

24 0         24                         

Porthcawl  
(Main Settlement,  

Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

P/17/273/RLX,  
P/19/30/RLX 

THE REST 
CONVALESCENT 

HOME, PORTHCAWL 
69 69     24 10 35                         

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/13/246/OUT, 
 P/14/464/OUT 

NORTH EAST 
BRACKLA 

REGENERATION 
AREA, BRIDGEND 

558 558   147 178 112                           

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/15/379/FUL 
JUBILEE CRESCENT, 

BRIDGEND 
48 48   48                               

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/16/985/FUL 
PARC FARM, NORTH 

EAST OF PARC 
DERWEN, BRIDGEND 

24 24   24                               

P
age 396



 

8 
 
 

Settlement Tier / 
Growth Area 

Planning 
Application 

Site Name 
Total 
Site 

Capacity 

Phasing of Development (2018-33) 

Completions U/C 
18-
19 

19-
20 

20-
21 

21-
22 

22-
23 

23-
24 

24-
25 

25-
26 

26-
27 

27-
28 

28-
29 

29-
30 

30-
31 

31-
32 

32-
33 

Units phased 
beyond the plan 

period 

Laleston 
(Local Settlement) 

P/12/476/FUL,  
P/13/354/FUL,  
P/13/357/FUL 

OYSTERCATCHER PH, 
CAR PARK AND LAND 

BEHIND, HIGH 
STREET, LALESTON 

10 10   1 1 1                           

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/16/111/FUL, 
P/18/64/FUL 

COURT ROAD 11, 
GAYLARD 

BUILDINGS, 
BRIDGEND 

17 17   17                               

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/16/606/FUL 

FORMER OCLP 
CLUBHOUSE, ELM 

CRESCENT, 
BRIDGEND 

18 18   18                               

Valleys Gateway 
(Main Settlement) 

P/15/62/FUL 

OGMORE 
COMPREHENSIVE 

SCHOOL, 
BRYNCETHIN 

117 117   53 7                             

Valleys Gateway  
(Main Settlement) 

P/16/600/FUL 

FORMER 
ARCHBISHOP 

MCGRATH SCHOOL 
(LAND AT) - SITE A, 

TONDU 

44 44   44                               

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/15/60/FUL,  
P/17/433/FUL 

RHIW / BRACKLA 
STREET SHOPPING 

CENTRE, BRIDGEND 
38 38     10                             

Maesteg and the 
Llynfi Valley (Main 

Settlement,  
Regeneration 
Growth Area) 

P/16/607/FUL 

BRIDGEND ROAD, 
FORMER SCHOOL 
PLAYING FIELD, 

MAESTEG 

37 37     37                             

Bridgend  
(Primary Key 
Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/17/393/FUL,  
P/18/410/FUL 

BRYN BRAGL, 
BRACKLA, BRIDGEND 

14 14       14                           

Pencoed  
(Main Settlement,  

Sustainable 
Growth Area) 

P/18/174/FUL 
PENCOED PRIMARY 

SCHOOL 
40 40       40                           

Heol-y-Cyw  
(Local Settlement) 

P/18/759/FUL 
HEOL Y CYW 

PRIMARY SCHOOL 
13 13       13                           

P
age 397



 

9 
 
 

Settlement Tier / 
Growth Area 

Planning 
Application 

Site Name 
Total 
Site 

Capacity 

Phasing of Development (2018-33) 

Completions U/C 
18-
19 

19-
20 

20-
21 

21-
22 

22-
23 

23-
24 

24-
25 

25-
26 

26-
27 

27-
28 

28-
29 

29-
30 

30-
31 

31-
32 

32-
33 

Units phased 
beyond the plan 

period 

Pyle, Kenfig Hill 
and N Cornelly 

(Main Settlement, 
Sustainable 

Growth Area) 

P/15/856/FUL 
AEL Y BRYN 65 - 66 

(LAND TO REAR OF), 
NORTH CORNELLY 

23 23       23                           

Valleys Gateway  
(Main Settlement) 

P/14/742/OUT 
LAND AT ABERGARW 
FARM, BRYNMENYN 

26 26   9 9 6                           

SMAL SITES 58 54 50 53                         

* Grey boxes represent completed sites / years Total Completions: 579 477 346 248 406 254 70 60 60 60 45 0 0 0 0 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 398



 

10 
 
 

Table 3: Anticipated Annual Build Rate Calculation 

 

  LDP Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 

A Year 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29 2029-30 2030-31 2031-32 2032-33 

B Remaining Years 15 14 13 12 11 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

C Total Housing Provision 8590 8590 8590 8590 8590 8590 8590 8590 8590 8590 8590 8590 8590 8590 8590 

D Total LDP Housing Requirement 7575 7575 7575 7575 7575 7575 7575 7575 7575 7575 7575 7575 7575 7575 7575 

E Actual completions on large sites during year 521 423 296 195                       

F Actual completions small sites during year 58 54 50 53                       

G 
Anticipated completions on allocated sites during 
year 

0 0 0 0 0 15 98 243 590 801 720 610 610 610 610 

H Anticipated land bank completions during year 0 0 0 0 406 254 70 60 60 60 45 0 0 0 0 

I 
Anticipated completions large windfall during 
year 

0 0 0 0 0 0 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 

J Anticipated completion small windfall during year 0 0 0 0 62 62 62 62 62 62 62 62 62 62 62 

K Total completions 579 477 346 248 468 331 274 409 756 967 871 716 716 716 716 

L 

Anticipated Annual Build Rate - Total anticipated 
annual completions (G+H+I+J) adjusted with x% 
adjustment factor to future completions. The 
adjustment factor is not applied to any actual 
completions recorded in row E & F. 

        400 283 234 349 645 826 744 611 611 611 611 

M Total projected cumulative completions 579 1056 1402 1650 2050 2332 2566 2915 3561 4386 5130 5741 6352 6964 7575 

N 
Remaining housing completions (housing 
requirement minus projected completions by 
year) 

6996 6519 6173 5925 5525 5243 5009 4660 4014 3189 2445 1834 1223 611 0 

 

 

Figures may not sum to exact total due to rounding 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 399



 

11 
 
 

Figure 1: Housing Development Trajectory 2018-2033 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29 2029-30 2030-31 2031-32 2032-33

Actual Completions Large Actual Completions Small Sites Anticipated Allocated Sites During Year

Anticipated Land Bank Completions During Year Anticipated Completions Large Windfall During Year Anticipated Completions Small Windfall During Year

Anticipated Annual Build Rate

P
age 400



 

1 
 
 

Appendix 2: Employment Land Schedule 

 

Employment Site 
Available 
Land (ha) 

Availability 

Short 
18/19-22/23 

Medium 
23/24-27/28 

Long 
28/29-32/33 

Strategic Employment Sites 

1) Brocastle, Waterton, 

Bridgend 
20.4  10.2 10.2 

2) Pencoed 

Technology Park 
5.4  5.4  

Employment Sites: Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

3) Brackla Industrial 

Estate 
7.7  3.85 3.85 

4) Bridgend Industrial 

Estate 
9.2  4.6 4.6 

5) Coychurch Yard, 

Bridgend 
0.1  0.1  

6) Crosby Yard, 

Bridgend 
0.8  0.4 0.4 

7) Parc Afon Ewenni 2.0   2.0 

8) Waterton Industrial 

Estate 
10.0  5.0 5.0 

Employment Sites: Pyle, Kenfig Hill and N Cornelly Sustainable Growth Area 

9) Land at Gibbons 

Way, North Cornelly 
0.03  0.03  

10) Village Farm 

Industrial Estate, 

Pyle 

2.6  1.3 1.3 

11) Ty Draw Farm, Pyle 2.23  2.23  

Employment Sites: Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley Regeneration Growth Area 

12) Ewenny Road, 

Maesteg 
3.5   3.5 

Employment Sites: Pencoed Sustainable Growth Area 

13) The Triangle Site, 

Bocam Park, 

Pencoed 

1.0  1.0  

Employment Sites: Other Locations 

Page 401



 

2 
 
 

14) Brynmenyn 

Industrial Estate 
2.0  1.0 1.0 

15) Land adjacent to 

Sarn Park 

Services 

2.7  2.7  

16) Land west of 

Maesteg Road, 

Tondu 

0.3  0.3  

17) Isfryn Industrial 

Estate, Blackmill 
0.4   0.4 

18) Abergarw Industrial 

Estate, Brynmenyn 
1.4  1.4  

Total 71.7 hectares 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 402



 

1 
 
 

Appendix 3: Details of the Transport Corridors identified in 

PLA6 
 

A2.1 M4 Corridor 

 

A2.1.1 This corridor includes the primary strategic highway and railway network for South 

Wales, i.e. the M4 motorway, and the main Paddington to Fishguard railway line including 

stations at Pencoed and Bridgend. Although it is the responsibility of the Welsh Government, 

the M4 motorway also serves the strategic needs of the County Borough and acts as an 

effective link from east and west. In view of its status as a Trans-European Route Network 

(TERN) and its strategic significance to the whole of South Wales, it is imperative that the 

Council and its neighbouring Authorities, continue to collaborate with the Welsh Government 

in the effective management of the M4 motorway and its junctions. 

 

A2.1.2 The Valleys Gateway has successfully been a major focus for new residential 

development, however, there are now capacity issues running north to south at Junction 36 of 

the M4. The Council will carefully assess further development proposals within the M4 Corridor 

to ensure that they do not have an adverse effect on the efficiency of the motorway, and 

particularly its junctions 35, 36 and 37. Aspirations to regenerate Porthcawl and major 

development proposals at Pyle and Llanilid, Rhondda Cynon Taf are anticipated to 

significantly increase traffic movements via junctions 35 and 37. 

 

A2.1.3 It is this corridor that provides the greatest opportunity to support development which 

generates lorry movements, as it is effectively accessed and the impact of road freight 

movement on the environment can be minimised, provided that appropriate locations and 

highway improvements are identified. 

 

A2.1.4 Any developments, which have a direct effect on the M4 motorway junctions within the 

County Borough will have to be considered very carefully. Development which will have direct 

access, or accesses, in close proximity to those junctions is likely to have an adverse effect 

on their efficiency, which can therefore have a negative impact on the whole of the County 

Borough and possible implications for the Cardiff Capital Region and South Wales. Therefore, 

such development will be resisted by the Council unless it can be demonstrated that the traffic 

impact of the proposals can be accommodated by the motorway and its or the impact suitably 

mitigated. 

 

A2.1.5 The South Wales Mainline is the responsibility of Network Rail, but is another strategic 

link within the County Borough which must be protected. Development, and future 

management measures which will encourage its use by commuters, and for the movement of 

freight will therefore be favoured by the Council in line with national policy as recommended 

in paragraph 8.13 of Planning Policy Wales, TAN 18.  

 

A2.2 Llynfi Corridor 

A2.2.1 The Llynfi Corridor centres on the A4063 strategic road which runs from the northern 

border of the County Borough through the upper Llynfi Valley settlements, including Maesteg, 

Page 403



 

2 
 
 

to join the Pyle-Aberkenfig Corridor at Aberkenfig. From here the corridor continues to follow 

the A4063 both southward to Bridgend town centre and eastward along the Sarn Link to arrive 

at Junction 36 of the M4 motorway. The corridor also includes the Maesteg to Bridgend railway 

line. 

 

A2.2.2 The nature of the A4063 varies as it travels down the Llynfi Corridor. From the north, 

passing through Caerau, Nantyffyllon, Maesteg town centre and Pont Rhyd-y-Cyff, its 

standard and specification is limited, and transportation-related environmental issues arise 

regarding development. Further south, the specification and alignment of the A4063 improves, 

especially from the Paper Mills to Coytrahen. However, through Coytrahen village and until 

the railway bridge where the A4063 meets the A4065, the road’s alignment and standard, the 

proximity of residential properties and frontage accesses, all limit the capacity of the highway. 

These raise transportation-related environmental issues which any development that 

exacerbates them would have to address. A long standing network constraint has been the 

A4065/A4063 traffic signalised junction, which is linked to another signalised junction 

immediately to the northwest which serves Pentre Felin Retail Park. There are now committed 

highway works to realign the A4063 and increase capacity at this location. However, this is 

provided as a developer-led scheme and so the new capacity will be largely absorbed by the 

associated committed development. From the railway bridge along the Sarn Link to Junction 

36 the highway has a good specification with limited transportation related environmental 

issues. From the aforesaid railway bridge to Bridgend town centre the highway is also of a 

generally good specification, however, there are some issues at its junction with Heol Tyn-Y-

Garn. 

 

A2.2.3 There are opportunities for management and improvement of this corridor in terms of 

the transportation-related environmental issues. However, capacity issues will remain related 

to highway movement, which cannot be avoided, and will therefore act as a constraint.  

 

A2.2.4 Development which will be served by the highway will be considered, not only upon 

the basis of how it will affect the local area, but also for its transportation impact on the corridor 

northwards, but more especially southwards, as vehicles travel towards the M4 Corridor. 

 

A2.2.5 The Maesteg to Bridgend railway line is a major asset to the Corridor, which can be 

used to move both commuters and freight. The South Wales Metro proposals to enhance 

services on the Maesteg line to double the current frequency will provide a great opportunity 

for development within this corridor to be served by the railway. These proposals will be 

eagerly supported and will be encouraged by the Council to maximise the potential benefits 

and promote sustainable travel. To complement the service enhancements, there are 

aspirations to develop the park and ride provision at Maesteg (Ewenny Road) to capitalise on 

the additional passenger rail capacity. 

 

A2.2.6 The Llynfi corridor lacks comprehensive active travel links between settlements to the 

north and Bridgend. This creates additional pressure on the A4063 to cater for motorised 

vehicles. Feasibility work to provide active travel improvements along this corridor are on-

going. 

 

A2.3 Garw Corridor 

Page 404



 

3 
 
 

A2.3.1 The Garw Corridor is based primarily on the principal route A4064 which runs 

southwards from the settlement of Blaengarw passing, in turn, through Pontycymmer and 

Llangeinor. Further south, the route forks, and as the A4065, passes through Brynmenyn, 

joins the Llynfi Corridor at the Aberkenfig railway bridge and joins the Ogmore Corridor at its 

junction with the A4061. 

 

A2.3.2 Although the nature of the A4064 varies as it runs along the corridor, it is generally of 

a limited standard and specification which raises transportation-related environmental issues. 

There are opportunities for management and improvement of the corridor but there is limited 

potential for increasing its capacities which will therefore act as a constraint. Two employment 

areas on this corridor which have fewer capacity constraints are, the Abergarw and 

Brynmenyn Industrial Estates. However, these two sites do generate transportation-related 

environmental issues on the Ogmore Corridor. 

 

A2.3.3 Development which will be served by the highway will be considered, not only upon 

the basis of how it will affect the local area, but also for its transportation impact on the corridor 

northwards, but more especially southwards, as vehicles travel towards the M4 Corridor. 

 

A2.4 Ogmore Corridor 

A2.4.1 The Ogmore Corridor is based primarily on the principal route A4061 which 

commences from the northern border of the County Borough with Rhondda Cynon Taff County 

Borough then runs southwards through the settlements of Nantymoel, Pricetown, Ogmore 

Vale, Lewistown, Pantyrawel, Blackmill, and Bryncethin. It then crosses the M4 motorway at 

junction 36 and along the Bridgend Northern Distributor Road through Bridgend town centre 

where it connects to the B4181 and terminates at Coychurch Roundabout on the Pencoed-

Pyle corridor. The corridor also includes the principal route A4093 which runs eastward from 

Blackmill to the border with Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough. 

 

A2.4.2 The nature of the A4061 varies as it runs along the Ogmore Corridor passing through 

urban areas with frontage accesses, residential areas, and rural areas. The standard and 

specification of the route is equally varying, changing from narrow lane to dual carriageway. 

 

A2.4.3 There are opportunities for management and improvement of the corridor on both the 

A4061 and A4093 in terms of transportation-related environmental issues. However, at 

various locations along the route the highway capacity and the transportation-related 

environmental issues which arise will act as a constraint on development. 

 

A2.4.4 Development will be considered not only on the basis of how it affects the local area 

but also for its transportation impact on the corridor northwards, but more especially 

southwards, as vehicles travel towards the M4 Corridor. 

 

A2.5 Aberkenfig – Bryncethin Corridor 

A2.5.1 The Aberkenfig-Bryncethin Corridor is based upon the classified route A4065. It 

effectively starts at the northern end of Aberkenfig at the junction of A4063 and A4065 with 

Penyfai Road and runs east along the length of the A4065 (Bryn Road, Abergarw Road and 

the Brynmenyn Industrial Link Road) to its junction with the A4061 at the traffic signal 

controlled junction, Bryncethin on the Ogmore corridor. 

Page 405



 

4 
 
 

 

A2.5.2 The route is primarily urban in nature being built up along Bryn Road and Abergarw 

Road serving housing, recreational facilities, industry and educational facilities until it reaches 

Brynmenyn Industrial Estate via a roundabout controlled access. From this point the route is 

constructed to a higher standard and specification and is known as the Brynmenyn Industrial 

Link Road. 

 

A2.5.3 Use of the western section of this corridor raises issues in relation to on street parking, 

alignment, associated forward visibility restrictions, pedestrian facilities and general 

narrowness along Bryn Road and in the vicinity of the redundant level crossing, the river bridge 

at Brynmenyn, and the Fox and Hounds Public House in the vicinity of the access to Bryngarw 

Country Park. 

 

A2.5.4 There is localised congestion along the majority of the route, particularly at peak 

periods. This is particularly prominent at the A4065/A4063 traffic signalised junction, which is 

linked to another signalised junction immediately to the northwest. Whilst there are committed 

highway works to realign the A4063 and increase capacity, this is provided as a developer-led 

scheme and so the new capacity will be largely absorbed by the associated committed 

development. Consequently, there are constraints on the ability of this corridor to support 

further development of any kind, which, accordingly, will be considered on the basis of its 

transportation impact in light of these issues. 

 

A2.6 Pyle-Aberkenfig 

A2.6.1 Pyle-Aberkenfig Corridor is based on the route B4281 from where it meets the A48 at 

Pyle Cross running eastward through Pyle, Kenfig Hill, and Cefn Cribwr until terminating at its 

junction with the A4063. 

 

A2.6.2 The standard and specification of this route is low which raises many existing 

transportation-related environmental issues including the risk of collisions especially where it 

passes through residential and retail areas. 

 

A2.6.3 There are opportunities for management and improvement of the corridor in terms of 

those issues, but no opportunity to increase the route’s capacity. Therefore, there are 

considerable constraints on the ability of this corridor to support development.  

 

A2.7 Pencoed-Pyle Corridor 

A2.7.1 This corridor starts at the point where the A473 core route enters the County Borough 

from neighbouring Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough, and runs along the Pencoed Bypass 

to junction 35 on the M4 motorway. The corridor then continues as the A473 until it joins with 

the A48 at Waterton Roundabout. From where it extends to the boundary of the County 

Borough to the west of Pyle and then enters Neath Port Talbot County Borough. 

 

A2.7.2 The route varies in standard from dual carriageway to single carriageway and the areas 

it serves are substantially urban in nature apart from the most westerly section of the route. 

This corridor provides accesses to Bridgend Industrial Estate, Bridgend Technical College, 

the South Wales Police HQ, out-of-centre retail centres and substantial residential areas, with 

Page 406



 

5 
 
 

some sections of the route having residential frontages. The corridor also provides a key route 

for residents of Rhondda Cynon Taf travelling to Junction 35 of the M4 and to Bridgend.  

 

A2.7.3 The corridor provides an important access into Bridgend town centre from the south 

which must be protected. In addition, at various locations along the route, the highway capacity 

and transportation-related environmental issues will act as constraints. Any development will 

be considered for its transportation impact in the light of these constraints. 

 

A2.7.4 Use of this corridor raises issues of constraint at the junctions of its routes, and some 

issues of transportation-related environmental concern, more particularly at its western and 

eastern extremities. Notwithstanding this, the corridor provides opportunities at certain 

sections for the location of freight generating developments where the impact of road freight 

movements on the environment can be minimised, if appropriate locations for highway 

improvements are identified. 

 

A2.7.5 As the existing highway network is constrained by the mainline railway passing through 

Pencoed, no further development to the west of the railway line will be permitted as it will 

exacerbate congestion either side of the level- crossing and at the complex over-bridge 

junction between the eastern end of the relief road and Penybont Road. Development 

proposals to the west of the railway line would not be of sufficient scale to generate the 

required level of developer-funded infrastructure required to resolve the problem. 

 

A2.7.6 The corridor has been identified as a key active travel route within the county borough 

and has been supported in recent years by significant Welsh Government investment to 

improve pedestrian and cycle links, much of which has focussed on the A473 between 

Pencoed and Bridgend. 

 

A2.8 Porthcawl-Cornelly Corridor 

A2.8.1 This corridor is based on the principal route A4106 from where it meets the A48 at 

Redhill Roundabout travelling south westward to its junction with the principal route A4229 at 

Porthcawl. The corridor then follows the A4229 northwards until its junction with the B4283 at 

which the route forks and, as the A4229, it continues through junction 37 on the M4 motorway 

and terminates at its junction with the A48 at Pyle Roundabout. As the B4283, it continues 

northwards through North Cornelly until it meets the boundary of the County Borough where 

it enters Neath Port Talbot County Borough. 

 

A2.8.2 The route varies in its nature with sections of dual carriageway and country lane but 

for the majority of the length, the route is a single lane carriageway. This corridor also provides 

access to Porthcawl town centre and its tourist facilities. 

 

A2.8.3 With regard to its ability to serve Porthcawl, the corridor has sufficient capacity to 

provide for its residential population, and on average its requirements as a tourist resort. It 

does not have the facility to cater for traffic flows at peak days within the year, such as sunny 

bank holidays or during popular events, and it would be environmentally unacceptable to 

provide for that level of network capacity. 

 

Page 407



 

6 
 
 

A2.8.4 However, there are opportunities for management and improvement of the corridor, on 

both the A4106 and A4229, in terms of transportation-related environmental issues but no 

acceptable opportunities to further increase the route’s capacity. 

 

A2.8.5 Development in this corridor, including the regeneration of Porthcawl will be considered 

for its transportation impact not only on the basis of how it affects the local area but also for 

its effect on the routes to Junction 37 of the M4 motorway and to the A48. Improvements to 

the public transport network, including links to rail services in Pyle, will be key to delivering the 

development aspirations at Porthcawl. To assist with these ambitions, there are plans to 

enhance the park and ride capacity at Pyle Railway Station and improve bus provision in 

Porthcawl with the creation of a new bus terminus.  

 

A2.8.6 The route B4283, which is included in this corridor, is limited by a low headroom bridge 

where it passes beneath the M4 motorway. This route serves the residential community of 

North Cornelly and has a substantial number of frontage properties, on street parking, shops, 

schools and pedestrian movement. The existing highway network is not appropriate to 

accommodate the additional traffic movement generated by development and it cannot be 

significantly improved. 

  

A2.8.7 There are opportunities for management and improvement of the B4283 in terms of 

transportation-related environmental issues but no opportunity to increase its capacity. 

Therefore, there are considerable constraints on the ability of this corridor to support 

development. Efforts must also be made to ensure that no additional pressure is placed by 

heavy goods vehicle movements on the B4283. 

 

Page 408



 

7 
 
 

Appendix 4: Monitoring and Review 
 

Monitoring and Review 

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act requires authorities to keep under review those 

matters that may affect the planning and development of their areas. Monitoring and review is 

an ongoing function of the plan-led system and is a vital aspect of evidence-based policy 

making. Monitoring is a continuous process and does not end once a plan is adopted. It 

represents an essential feedback loop within the cyclical process of achieving sustainable 

development. This process of monitoring constitutes the regular, continuous and systematic 

collection and analysis of information to measure and assess policy implementation, 

effectiveness and impact through the use of a monitoring framework. Welsh Government 

require that all LDP’s include a monitoring framework and this framework has therefore been 

developed in accordance with these requirements. 

 

The key legislative requirements in respect of monitoring and review are as follows:  

 

• PCPA 2004 (Section 61) states that an LPA must keep under review the matters 

which may be expected to affect the development of their area or the planning of its 

development; 

• PCPA 2004 (Section 76) and LDP Regulation 37 states that an LPA must publish and 

submit to Welsh Government an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) setting out how 

the objectives of the plan are being achieved, or not (by 31 October each year); 

• PCPA 2004 (Section 69(1)) and LDP Regulation 41(1) collectively state that an LPA 

must review its LDP no longer than 4 years from the date of adoption; 

• LDP Regulation 41 states the LPA must approve by resolution a report of a review 

prepared in accordance with Section 69(1) and before it is submitted to the Welsh 

Ministers in accordance with Section 69(2). The ‘Review Report’ (RR) should be 

submitted to Welsh Government, within six months of triggering the review process; 

and 

• Regulation 17 of the SEA Regulations require monitoring of certain plans to identify 

unforeseen adverse effects and enable appropriate remedial action to be taken.  

 

The monitoring framework will allow for an ongoing assessment of whether the underlying 

LDP objectives remain valid or whether the prevailing economic, social, environmental or 

cultural circumstances have significantly altered since the preparation of the plan. In essence, 

the monitoring framework will allow an assessment of the implementation of the Replacement 

LDP strategy, policies and proposals. The monitoring will feed into an AMR and this will also 

help inform a subsequent Plan Review, which will take place within 4 years of the Plan’s 

adoption. 

 

The AMR is fundamental to assessing the progress of the LDP in implementing the policies 

contained within the plan and will allow the Council the opportunity to assess the policies 

against the most up-to-date information available. It will also include monitoring of associated 

plans and documents identifying potential areas of change during the review period. The AMR 

can assist the Council to:- 

Page 409



 

8 
 
 

 

• Identify where certain policies are not being successful in delivering their intended 

objective; 

• Identify gaps in the evidence base, perhaps through a change in the economy, which 

need to be addressed and reflected in the LDP; 

• Identify areas of success; and 

• State the intended actions that the Council will take in rectifying any issues to ensure 

the successful implementation of the policy or any revision that needs to take place. 

 

The Council has constructed a set of targets and indicators which act as a benchmark against 

which performance can be measured. Targets may relate to the achievement of certain levels 

of development and may be set annually or at an interim point within the plan period. The 

target for the whole of the plan is to achieve the implementation of the Replacement LDP 

strategy. 

 
Monitoring Indicators 
 
The monitoring framework sets out a number of indicators which form the basis for assessing 

the Plan’s performance. These have been developed following the broad principles set out by 

Welsh Government and include a combination of mandatory, locally specific and contextual 

indicators. The framework focusses on key policies fundamental to delivering the Plan, such 

as housing delivery, affordable housing provision, employment land take-up and Gypsy and 

Traveller provision. The monitoring framework clearly sets out which plan objectives, policies 

and proposals are relevant to each of the indicators. This will enable both the broad strategy 

of the Plan and its key policies, where necessary, to be monitored.  

 
Targets  
 
All of the above Indicators have a corresponding target and this is either a numerical target or 

a particular direction of travel. In all cases, the targets have been devised so as to be specific, 

measurable and realistic. The targets are generally presented as numerical (e.g. homes to be 

provided), spatial (e.g. % growth to particular settlement tiers) or contextual (e.g. demographic 

trends). 

 
Trigger Points 
 
The indicators and targets also contain trigger points to indicate if a part of the plan is not 

achieving the desired outcome(s). If these triggers are 'activated' then the AMR will consider 

the necessary action required as a result. There are a number of outcomes which could be 

actioned by the Council in this event. These will depend on the extent to which the target 

appears not to have been met and the need to take action on a particular aspect of the Plan 

strategy, or a policy. Trigger points have been devised to be measureable and specific to 

enable concerns to be identified. In cases where trigger points are numerical it is generally 

considered necessary for them to be measured over two consecutive years to establish 

whether it is a one year ‘blip’ or a longer-term trend. Contextual information will also be used 

in the AMR to evaluate if it is actually the Plan which is not achieving the targets or if there are 

external factors (such as the economy or changes in funding sources etc.) which are outside 

of the planning system's control. 

Page 410



 

9 
 
 

Monitoring Actions  
 
If trigger points are ‘activated’ then it will be necessary to investigate the reasons why policies 
or proposals are not being implemented as intended and/or the objectives not being met. The 
process of monitoring and review will help determine what action might be necessary to take. 
The following options are available to the Council in association with each of the indicators 
and their triggers. The AMR will assess the severity of the situation associated with each 
indicator and recommend an appropriate response. Likely, indicative initial actions are 
included within the monitoring framework for ease of reference. 
 
 

Continue Monitoring 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

Training Required 

Development Plan policies are being implemented as intended and Officer or Member 
training is required.  

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Required 

Development plan policies are not being implemented as intended and further 
guidance is required, potentially preparing additional SPG.  

Further Investigation / Research Required 

Development Plan policies are not being implemented as intended and further research 
and/or investigation is required.  

Policy Review Required 

Development Plan policies are not being implemented and are failing to deliver; a review 
of the specific policy may be required.  

Plan Review 

Development Plan policies are not being implemented and the plan strategy is not being 
delivered triggering a formal review in advance of the statutory 4-year review. 

 

Page 411



 

10 
 
 

Monitoring Framework 
 

Objective: All Strategic Objectives (Strategic Framework, Regeneration and Growth Strategy) 

Key Policies / 
proposals 

Indicator Target Trigger Point Source of Information Action 

SF1: Settlement 
Hierarchy and Urban 
Management 
 
SP1: Regeneration 
and Sustainable 
Growth Strategy 

 
SP2: Regeneration 
Growth Area and 
Sustainable Growth 
Area Strategic 
Allocations 
 

1: Spatial 
distribution of 
housing 
development  
 
 

Annual housing 
completions to be in 
line with the growth 
strategy and 
settlement hierarchy 
as set out in Table 7 
(Chapter 5).  
 

Variation of 10% from 
the expected 
distribution for at least 
two consecutive 
years.   

Phasing Tranche in housing 
trajectory.  
 
AMR 
 
Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research required.  

 

Objective: Strategic Objective 1, ‘To Create High Quality, Sustainable Places (Placemaking)’ 

Key Policies / 
proposals 

Indicators Target Trigger Point Source of Information Action 

SP3: Good Design 
and Sustainable 
Place Making 
 

2: Permissions 
granted not in 
accordance with 
Policy SP3: Good 
Design and 
Sustainable Place 
Making 

No applications 
permitted contrary to 
Policy SP3. 

1 application 
permitted contrary to 
Policy SP3 within two 
consecutive years. 

Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research 
required. 
 

P
age 412



 

11 
 
 

 Training required 
 

PLA1: Porthcawl 
Waterfront 
Regeneration Area, 
Porthcawl 
Regeneration 
Growth Area 
 

3a: Number of 
dwellings 
delivered. 

 
3b: Infrastructure 
requirements and 
Placemaking 
principles 
delivered.  

Completions in line 
with the phased 
housing trajectory. 
 
Infrastructure 
requirements and 
Placemaking 
principles delivered 
in accordance with 
PLA1.   

Annual completions 
falling below 
anticipated trajectory 
for two consecutive 
years. 
 
Infrastructure not 
delivered in 
accordance with 
Policy PLA1. 

Housing Trajectory, 
S106 Agreement 
 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 

PLA2: Land South of 
Bridgend (Island 
Farm), Bridgend 
Sustainable Growth 
Area 
 

4a: Number of 
dwellings 
delivered. 

 
4b: Infrastructure 
requirements and 
Placemaking 
principles 
delivered. 

Completions in line 
with the phased 
housing trajectory. 
 
Infrastructure 
requirements and 
Placemaking 
principles delivered 
in accordance with 
PLA2.   

Annual completions 
falling below 
anticipated trajectory 
for two consecutive 
years. 
 
Infrastructure not 
delivered in 
accordance with 
Policy PLA2. 

Housing Trajectory, 
S106 Agreement 
 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 

PLA3: Land West of 
Bridgend, Bridgend 
Sustainable Growth 
Area 
 

5a: Number of 
dwellings 
delivered. 

 
5b: Infrastructure 
requirements and 
Placemaking 
principles 
delivered. 

Completions in line 
with the phased 
housing trajectory. 
 
Infrastructure 
requirements and 
Placemaking 
principles delivered 
in accordance with 
PLA3.   

Annual completions 
falling below 
anticipated trajectory 
for two consecutive 
years. 
 
Infrastructure not 
delivered in 
accordance with 
Policy PLA3. 

Housing Trajectory, 
S106 Agreement 
 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 

PLA4: Land East of 
Pencoed, Pencoed 

5a: Number of 
dwellings 
delivered. 

Completions in line 
with the phased 
housing trajectory. 

Annual completions 
falling below 
anticipated trajectory 

Housing Trajectory, 
S106 Agreement 
 

Keep monitoring 
 

P
age 413



 

12 
 
 

Sustainable Growth 
Area 
 

 
5b: Infrastructure 
requirements and 
Placemaking 
principles 
delivered. 

 
Infrastructure 
requirements and 
Placemaking 
principles delivered 
in accordance with 
PLA4.   

for two consecutive 
years. 
 
Infrastructure not 
delivered in 
accordance with 
Policy PLA4. 

Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

PLA5: Land East of 
Pyle, Pyle, Kenfig Hill 
and North Cornelly 
Sustainable Growth 
Area 
 

6a: Number of 
dwellings 
delivered. 

 
6b: Infrastructure 
requirements and 
Placemaking 
principles 
delivered. 

Completions in line 
with the phased 
housing trajectory. 
 
Infrastructure 
requirements and 
Placemaking 
principles delivered 
in accordance with 
PLA5.   

Annual completions 
falling below 
anticipated trajectory 
for two consecutive 
years. 
 
Infrastructure not 
delivered in 
accordance with 
Policy PLA5. 

Housing Trajectory, 
S106 Agreement 
 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 

SP4: Mitigating the 
Impact of Climate 
Change  
 

7: Amount of 
development 
permitted within 
C1 Floodplain 
areas that do not 
meet all TAN 15 
tests. 

No applications 
approved within C1 
Floodplain areas 
unless all TAN 15 
tests are met. 

1 or more application 
permitted for 
development in any 1 
year that does not 
meet all TAN 15 tests. 
 
 

Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 
Training required 
 

SP4: Mitigating the 
Impact of Climate 
Change  
 

8: The scale/type 
of highly 
vulnerable 
development 
permitted within 
C2 flood risk 
areas.  
 

No relevant 
applications 
approved within C2 
flood risk areas. 

1 application 
permitted for highly 
vulnerable 
development within 
C2 Floodplain in any 1 
year. 

Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 
Training required 
 

P
age 414



 

13 
 
 

SP5: Sustainable 
Transport and 
Accessibility 

9: Permissions 
granted not in 
accordance with 
Policy SP5: 
Sustainable 
Transport and 
Accessibility. 
 

No applications 
permitted contrary to 
Policy SP5. 

1 application 
permitted contrary to 
Policy SP5 in any 1 
year. 

Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 
Training required 
 

 

 

Objective: Strategic Objective 2, ‘To Create Active, Healthy, Cohesive, Inclusive and Social Communities’ 

Key Policies / 
proposals 

Indicator Target Trigger Point Source of Information Action 

SP6: Sustainable 

Housing Strategy 

 

10: The number 
of net additional 
affordable and 
market dwellings 
built in the LPA 
area.  

Total annual build 
rate of 505 dwellings 
per annum, of which 
110 are affordable 
housing units. 

Delivery below Plan’s 
annual build rate / 
target for at least two 
consecutive years. 

AMR  
 
Housing Trajectory 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 

SP6: Sustainable 

Housing Strategy 

 

11: The annual 
level of housing 
completions 
monitored against 
the Anticipated 
Annual Build Rate 
(AABR). 

Annual housing 
completions as per 
the AABR within the 
adopted housing 
trajectory.  

Delivery below the 
AABR for at least two 
successive years.  

AMR  
 
Housing Trajectory 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 

SP6: Sustainable 

Housing Strategy 

 

12: Total 
cumulative 
completions 
monitored against 
the anticipated 

Total cumulative 
completions as per 
the anticipated 
cumulative 
completion rate 

Total cumulative 
completions below the 
anticipated cumulative 
completion rate for at 

AMR  
 
Housing Trajectory 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 

P
age 415



 

14 
 
 

cumulative 
completion rate. 

within the adopted 
housing trajectory.  

least two consecutive 
years. 

research / review 
required. 

SP6: Sustainable 

Housing Strategy 

 

COM2: Affordable 

Housing 

 

 

13: The level of 
affordable 
housing 
completions 
monitored against 
the plan’s 
overarching 
target.  

Annual affordable 
housing completions 
delivered through 
the planning system 
in line with the 
target rate set out 
within SP6 and 
COM2.  

Variation of 10% from 
the expected target 
for at least two 
consecutive years, 
unless site-specific 
viability assessments 
robustly demonstrate 
a deviation was 
necessary to enable 
site delivery.   

AMR  
 
Housing Trajectory 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 

SP6: Sustainable 

Housing Strategy 

 

COM2: Affordable 

Housing 

 

 

14: The tenure of 
affordable 
housing 
completions. 
 
 

The tenure of 
annual affordable 
housing completions 
to be in line with the 
need identified in 
the most recent 
LHMA.  

Affordable housing 
completions deviate 
from the tenure split 
identified in the most 
recent LHMA for at 
least two consecutive 
years.  

AMR  
 
Housing Trajectory 
 
LHMA 

Keep monitoring. 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 
Training required. 
 

SP6: Sustainable 

Housing Strategy 

 

COM2: Affordable 

Housing 

 

COM3: On-Site 

Provision of 

Affordable Housing 

 

15: Delivery of the 
affordable 
housing policy - 
thresholds and 
percentage 
targets for each 
sub-market area. 

Annual affordable 
housing completions 
in line with the 
policy targets and 
thresholds defined 
within COM3 and 
PLA1-5. 

Variation of 10% from 
the expected target 
for at least two 
consecutive years, 
unless site-specific 
viability assessments 
robustly demonstrate 
a deviation was 
necessary to enable 
site delivery.   

AMR  
 
Housing Trajectory 

Keep monitoring. 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 

SP6: Sustainable 

Housing Strategy 

16: Viability – 
trends in house 
prices, land 

No target. No trigger point.  The Council will monitor and 
record all development 
viability variables submitted 

Keep monitoring 
 

P
age 416



 

15 
 
 

values, build 
costs. 

during any site specific 
appraisals carried out during 
the year.  

SP7: Gypsy, 

Traveller and 

Showpeople Sites  

 

COM8: Gypsy, 

Traveller and 

Showpeople 

Accommodation 

 

17: The 
completion of 
Gypsy and 
Traveller sites to 
meet identified 
need. 

Identified need from 
GTAA (2020) to be 
fully met by 2033.  

No planning 
permission on 
allocated sites where 
identified unmet need 
still exists.  

Planning Register  
 
Annual Compliance Review 

Review findings of 
Annual 
Compliance 
Reviews and 
GTAA updates. 
 
Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research 
required. 

COM8: Gypsy, 

Traveller and 

Showpeople 

Accommodation 

 

18: Meet any new 
arising need for 
Gypsy, Traveller 
and Showpeople 
sites arising 
outside of the 
GTAA. 

Meet need in 
accordance with 
COM8 and Circular 
005/2018. 

Provision not met in 
accordance with 
Policy COM8.  

Planning Register Keep monitoring. 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 
Training required. 

SP9: Social and 

Community 

Infrastructure 

 

SP10: Infrastructure 

 

19: Number of 
community 
facilities lost 
through 
development. 

No permission 
granted for 
development 
contrary to SP9 that 
has the potential to 
result in the 
unacceptable loss of 
community facilities 
in areas of need. 

1 or more planning 
permissions granted 
out of accordance with 
SP9. 
 
 

Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 
Training required. 

 

 

P
age 417



 

16 
 
 

Objective: Strategic Objective 3, ‘To Create Productive and Enterprising Places’  

Key Policies / 
proposals 

Indicator Target Trigger Point Source of Information Action 

SP11: Employment 
Land Strategy 
 
ENT1: Employment 

Allocations 

 

20: Employment 
land take-up 
against 
allocations. 

Take-up of 
employment land in 
accordance with 
SP11. 
 
 

0ha of employment 
land take-up on 
allocated employment 
sites for at least 2 
consecutive years.  

Annual Employment Land 
Survey 
 
Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring. 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

SP11: Employment 
Land Strategy 
 
ENT1: Employment 

Allocations 

 

21: Enable job 
growth. 

Deliver up to 500 
new jobs per 
annum in line with 
SP11.  

Variation of 10% from 
the expected target 
for at least 3 years 
consecutive years, 
allowing for post-
pandemic recovery.  
 

Annual Employment Land 
Survey 
 
ONS 
 
Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring. 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

SP12: Retailing, 

Commercial and 

Service Centres 

 

ENT6: Retail and 

Commercial 

Development 

 

ENT9: Retail 

Development 

Outside of Retailing 

and Commercial 

Centres 

 

22: Amount of 
major retail 
development 
(sqm) permitted 
outside 
established town 
and local centre 
boundaries. 

No major retail, 
development (sqm) 
permitted outside 
established town 
and local centre 
boundaries. 

1 or more 
applications permitted 
for major retail 
development contrary 
to Policy ENT9 in any 
1 year. 

Development Management 
Monitoring  

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 
Training required. 

P
age 418



 

17 
 
 

SP12: Retailing, 

Commercial and 

Service Centres 

 

 

23: Annual 
vacancy rates of 
commercial 
properties within 
the Town Centres 
of the County 
Borough. 

Vacancy rates of 
commercial 
properties in the 
town centres of 
Bridgend, Maesteg 
or Porthcawl 
remain below 15% 
throughout the plan 
period. 

Vacancy rates of 
commercial properties 
in the town centres of 
Bridgend, Maesteg or 
Porthcawl increase to 
more than 15%. 

Annual Retailing and 
Commercial Centre Report 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

SP12: Retailing, 

Commercial and 

Service Centres 

 
ENT7: Development 
in Commercial 
Centres 

24: Proportion of 
A1 retail uses in 
the Primary 
Shopping Areas  

60% or more of 
units within the 
Primary Shopping 
Areas are in an A1 
use. 
 

Less than 60% of 
units within the 
Primary Shopping 
Areas are in an A1 
use. 
 

Annual Retailing and 
Commercial Centre Report 
 
Planning Applications 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

SP13: 

Decarbonisation and 

Renewable Energy 

 
ENT10: Low Carbon 
Heating 
Technologies for 
New Development 
(District Heating) 
 
 

25: Number of 
major planning 
applications 
which are 
accompanied by 
an ‘Energy 
Masterplan’ in 
accordance with 
Policy ENT10. 

100% of all major 
planning 
applications are 
accompanied by an 
‘Energy 
Masterplan’ in 
accordance with 
Policy ENT10. 

1 or more major 
planning applications 
permitted without an 
Energy Masterplan in 
accordance with 
Policy ENT10 in any 1 
year. 

Development Management 
Monitoring 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

SP13: 

Decarbonisation and 

Renewable Energy 

 
 

26: Number and 
capacity (MW) of 
renewable, low 
and zero energy 
carbon 
developments 

Targets for area 
based resource use 
in accordance with 
Table 10, Chapter 
5.  

No permissions 
granted or 
implemented within 5 
years.  

Development Management 
Monitoring 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

P
age 419



 

18 
 
 

approved / 
implemented.  
 
 
 

SP14: Sustainable 

Development of 

Mineral Resources 

 
 

27: Aggregate 
landbank for 
Bridgend County 
Borough in years. 

Maintain a 
minimum 10 year 
aggregate 
resource. 

Less than a 10 year 
land bank of permitted 
aggregate reserves in 
any 1 year. 

RTS 
 
Development Management 
Monitoring 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

SP14: Sustainable 

Development of 

Mineral Resources 

 

ENT13: 

Development in 

Mineral 

Safeguarding Zones 

 

28: Amount of 
permanent 
sterilising 
development 
permitted within a 
Minerals 
Safeguarding 
Area. 

No permission 
granted for 
development within 
Minerals 
Safeguarding 
Areas contrary to 
Policy ENT13. 

1 or more applications 
permitted for 
development within a 
Minerals 
Safeguarding Area 
contrary to Policy 
ENT13 in any 1 year. 

South Wales Regional 
Aggregates Working Party 
(SWRAWP) 
 
Development Management 
Monitoring 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
review required. 

SP15: Sustainable 

Waste Management  

 

29: Capacity to 
cater for the 
County Borough’s 
waste. 

Maintain sufficient 
capacity to cater for 
the County 
Boroughs waste (to 
be confirmed at a 
regional level) in 
accordance with 
TAN 21. 

Triggers to be 
established at a 
regional level in 
accordance with TAN 
21. 

Planning register Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

SP16: Tourism 

 
 

30: Annual 
number of visitors 
to the County 
Borough. 

Year on year 
increase of visitors 
to the County 
Borough 

Decrease in visitors to 
the County Borough 
compared to the 
previous year.  

STEAM 
 
Development Management 
Monitoring 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 

P
age 420



 

19 
 
 

research / review 
required. 
 

ENT18: Protection of 

Existing Tourist 

Accommodation 

 

31: Number of 
applications 
approved that 
would result in the 
loss of tourism or 
leisure or 
recreation 
facilities. 

No permission 
granted contrary to 
Policy ENT18 that 
would result in the 
unjustified loss of 
tourism, or leisure 
or recreation 
facilities. 

1 or more applications 
permitted contrary to 
Policy ENT18 

Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

 

 

Objective: Strategic Objective 4, ‘To Protect and Enhance Distinctive and Natural Places’  

Key Policies / 
proposals 

Indicator Target Trigger Point Source of Information Action 

SP17: Conservation 

and Enhancement 

of the Natural 

Environment 

 

DNP1: Development 

in the Countryside 

 
 

32: Amount of land 
in the countryside 
(ha) lost to 
development 
which is permitted 
by way of a 
departure 
application to 
Policy DNP1. 

No land in the 
countryside lost to 
development which 
is permitted by way 
of departure 
applications to 
Policy DNP1. 

1 or more planning 
permissions granted 
out of accordance with 
Policy DNP1. 

Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 
Training required. 

DNP4: Special 

Landscape Areas 

 
 

33: Number of 
developments 
permitted with the 
potential to 
adversely affect a 
Special 
Landscape 

No permission 
granted for 
development 
contrary to Policy 
DNP4 that would 
cause 
unacceptable harm 

1 or more planning 
permissions granted 
out of accordance with 
Policy DNP4. 

Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

P
age 421



 

20 
 
 

Area. to Special 
Landscape Areas. 

Training required. 

SP17: Conservation 

and Enhancement 

of the Natural 

Environment 

 

DNP5: Local and 

Regional Nature 

Conservation Sites 

 

34: Number of 
applications 
approved that 
would cause harm 
to the overall 
conservation 
value of Sites of 
Importance for 
Nature 
Conservation 
(SINCs), 
Regionally 
Important 
Geological Sites 
(RIGS) and Local 
Nature Reserves 
(LNRs). 

No permission 
granted for 
development 
contrary to Policy 
DNP5 

1 or more planning 
permissions granted 
out of accordance with 
Policy DNP5 

Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 
Training required. 

SP17: Conservation 

and Enhancement 

of the Natural 

Environment 

 

DNP6: Habitats and 

Species  

 

35: Number of 
applications 
approved that 
would cause harm 
to legally 
protected Habitats 
or Species. 

No permission 
granted for 
development 
contrary to Policy 
DNP6 

1 or more planning 
permissions granted 
out of accordance with 
Policy DNP6 

Development Management 
Monitoring. 

Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 
Training required. 

SP18: Conservation 

of the Historic 

Environment 

 
DNP10: Built 

Historic 

36: Number of 
applications 
approved that do 
not preserve or 
enhance 
Registered 
Landscapes, 

No permission 
granted for 
development 
contrary to Policy 
DNP10 that has the 
potential to impact 
on Registered 

1 or more applications 
permitted contrary to 
Policy DNP10 within a 
1 year period.  

Planning Applications Keep monitoring 
 
Further 
investigation / 
research / review 
required. 
 

P
age 422



 

21 
 
 

Environment and 

Listed Buildings 

 

DNP11: 

Conservation Areas 

 

Parks and 
Gardens, 
Scheduled 
Ancient 
Monuments 
(SAMs), 
Conservation 
Areas or Listed 
Buildings. 

Landscapes, Parks 
and Gardens, 
Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments 
(SAMs), 
Conservation 
Areas or Listed 
Buildings ; or where 
there is an 
outstanding 
objection from the 
Council’s 
Conservation and 
Design team, 
CADW or 
Glamorgan Gwent 
Archaeological 
Trust (GGAT). 

Training required. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 423



 

1 
 
 

Linkages with the SEA/SA  

As outlined within the SA Report, whilst they relate to individual topics, the Replacement 

LDP’s four Strategic Objectives and supporting Objectives provide strong coverage of the SA 

Objectives. As such, there are clear synergies between the SA/SEA Monitoring Process and 

the LDP Monitoring Process, which have been maximised through due consideration of the 

14 SA/SEA Objectives in the development of this LDP Monitoring Framework.  

Therefore, in addition to monitoring plan delivery and effectiveness, the Monitoring Framework 

specifically includes mechanisms to monitor the likely significant effects on the environment 

of the Replacement LDP, as predicted through the SA process. This includes mechanisms to 

monitor whether the masterplan development principles (Policies PLA1 – 5) and SA policy 

level mitigation (SP1 and Schedules in Appendix 6) are subsequently properly implemented 

through: 

• The application of relevant subject policies in decision making;  

• The provision of relevant technical assessments in support of development 
proposals on allocated sites; and, 

• Where necessary, the implementation of appropriate physical mitigation by 
applicants seeking to develop these sites.  

The Monitoring Framework also includes mechanisms to assess whether key policies 

fundamental to delivering the Plan are being implemented as intended and with no unforeseen 

adverse consequences. Specifically, the 14 SA Objectives will be assessed against the 

indicators that have been identified as most relevant as detailed overleaf.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 424



 

2 
 
 

 

SA Objectives Replacement LDP Monitoring 
Framework Indicators 

1. Health and Wellbeing: Improve the 

health and wellbeing of the population, 

including with respect to physical and 

mental health, social wellbeing and 

community safety. 

• 2: Permissions granted not in 

accordance with Policy SP3: Good 

Design and Sustainable Place Making 

• 19: Number of community facilities lost 

through development. 

• 36: Number of applications approved 

that do not preserve or enhance 

Registered Landscapes, Parks and 

Gardens, Scheduled Ancient 

Monuments (SAMs), Conservation 

Areas or Listed Buildings. 

2. Equality and Social Inclusion: Reduce 

poverty and inequality, tackle social 

exclusion and promote community 

cohesion, including through enhancing 

access to community facilities. 

• 2: Permissions granted not in 

accordance with Policy SP3: Good 

Design and Sustainable Place Making 

• 14: The tenure of affordable housing 

completions. 

• 17: The completion of Gypsy and 

Traveller sites to meet identified need. 

• 18: Meet any new arising need for 

Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople 

sites arising outside of the GTAA. 

• 19: Number of community facilities lost 

through development. 

3. Employment and Skills: Increase the 

number and quality of employment 

opportunities to meet identified needs, 

whilst improving the level of educational 

attainment and skills amongst residents. 

• 20: Employment land take-up against 

allocations. 

• 21: Enable job growth. 

• 23: Annual vacancy rates of 

commercial properties within the Town 

Centres of the County Borough. 

4. Transport and Communications: 

Enhance the accessibility of public 

services, economic opportunities and 

markets through improving infrastructure 

and creating a sustainable transport 

network, whilst also ensuring access to 

• 9: Permissions granted not in 

accordance with Policy SP5: 

Sustainable Transport and 

Accessibility. 

SA Monitoring 

Page 425



 

3 
 
 

high quality communications and 

utilities.    

• 23: Annual vacancy rates of 

commercial properties within the Town 

Centres of the County Borough. 

• 24: Proportion of A1 retail uses in the 

Primary Shopping Areas 

5. Housing: Provide a sufficient quantum 

and range of good quality and affordable 

housing in sustainable locations to meet 

identified needs. 

• 1: Spatial distribution of housing 

development  

• 10: The number of net additional 

affordable and market dwellings built in 

the LPA area. 

• 11: The annual level of housing 

completions monitored against the 

Anticipated Annual Build Rate (AABR). 

• 12: Total cumulative completions 

monitored against the anticipated 

cumulative completion rate. 

• 13: The level of affordable housing 

completions monitored against the 

plan’s overarching target. 

• 14: The tenure of affordable housing 

completions. 

• 15: Delivery of the affordable housing 

policy - thresholds and percentage 

targets for each sub-market area. 

6. Economic Growth: Deliver sustainable 

economic growth and maximise the 

economic contribution of the BCBC area 

to the Cardiff Capital Region, including 

through diversifying and strengthening 

the local economic base. 

• 1: Spatial distribution of housing 

development  

• 10: The number of net additional 

affordable and market dwellings built in 

the LPA area. 

• 16: Viability – trends in house prices, 

land values, build costs. 

• 21: Enable job growth. 

7. Air Quality: Prevent and reduce 

emissions and concentrations of harmful 

atmospheric pollutants and minimise 

exposure to poor air quality. 

• 9: Permissions granted not in 

accordance with Policy SP5: 

Sustainable Transport and 

Accessibility. 

Page 426



 

4 
 
 

• 26: Number and capacity (MW) of 

renewable, low and zero energy 

carbon developments 

8. Climate Change: Adopt appropriate 

mitigation and adaption measures to 

reduce and respond to the impacts of 

climate change. 

• 7: Amount of development permitted 

within C1 Floodplain areas that do not 

meet all TAN 15 tests. 

• 8: The scale/type of highly vulnerable 

development permitted within C2 flood 

risk areas.  

• 9: Permissions granted not in 

accordance with Policy SP5: 

Sustainable Transport and 

Accessibility. 

• 25: Number of major planning 

applications which are accompanied 

by an ‘Energy Masterplan’ in 

accordance with Policy ENT10 

• 26: Number and capacity (MW) of 

renewable, low and zero energy 

carbon developments 

9. Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Soil: 

Conserve, protect and enhance 

biodiversity and geodiversity interests, 

including through safeguarding 

important sites and species, improving 

green infrastructure provision and 

safeguarding important soil resources. 

• 27: Aggregate landbank for Bridgend 

County Borough in years. 

• 28: Amount of permanent sterilising 

development permitted within a 

Minerals Safeguarding Area. 

• 32: Amount of land in the countryside 

(ha) lost to development which is 

permitted by way of a departure 

application to Policy DNP1. 

• 35: Number of applications approved 

that would cause harm to legally 

protected Habitats or Species. 

10. Water and Flood Risk: Conserve, protect 

and enhance water and coastal 

environments, water quality and water 

resources, whilst reducing the risk of 

flooding. Development must be located 

so as not to increase the risk of flooding 

and should be steered away from areas 

of greatest risk. 

• 7: Amount of development permitted 

within C1 Floodplain areas that do not 

meet all TAN 15 tests. 

• 8: The scale/type of highly vulnerable 

development permitted within C2 flood 

risk areas.  

Page 427



 

5 
 
 

11. Materials and Waste: Contribute to the 

implementation of the circular economy, 

manage waste with minimal 

environmental impacts and ensure the 

sustainable use of natural resources, 

including for energy generation and 

providing an adequate supply of 

minerals and materials for construction. 

• 27: Aggregate landbank for Bridgend 

County Borough in years. 

• 28: Amount of permanent sterilising 

development permitted within a 

Minerals Safeguarding Area. 

• 29: Capacity to cater for the County 

Borough’s waste. 

12. Sustainable Placemaking: Maximise the 

efficient use of land and infrastructure 

and enhance design quality to create 

great places for people. 

• 2: Permissions granted not in 

accordance with Policy SP3: Good 

Design and Sustainable Place Making 

• 3a-6a: Number of dwellings delivered 

on Strategic, Mixed-Use Sites 

• 3b-6b: Infrastructure requirements and 

Placemaking principles delivered on 

Strategic Mixed-Use Sites. 

• 22: Amount of major retail 

development (sqm) permitted outside 

established town and local centre 

boundaries. 

13. Cultural Heritage: Conserve, protect and 

enhance the historic environment and 

cultural assets, including the use of the 

Welsh language. 

• 30: Annual number of visitors to the 

County Borough. 

• 31: Number of applications approved 

that would result in the loss of tourism 

or leisure or recreation facilities. 

• 36: Number of applications approved 

that do not preserve or enhance 

Registered Landscapes, Parks and 

Gardens, Scheduled Ancient 

Monuments (SAMs), Conservation 

Areas or Listed Buildings. 

14. Landscape: Protect and enhance the 

landscape character, visual amenity and 

legibility of settlements in the BCBC 

area. 

• 32: Amount of land in the countryside 

(ha) lost to development which is 

permitted by way of a departure 

application to Policy DNP1. 

• 33: Number of developments permitted 

with the potential to adversely affect a 

Special Landscape Area. 

• 34: Number of applications approved 

that would cause harm to the overall 

Page 428



 

6 
 
 

conservation value of Sites of 

Importance for Nature Conservation 

(SINCs), Regionally Important 

Geological Sites (RIGS) and Local 

Nature Reserves (LNRs). 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 429



 

1 
 
 

Appendix 5: Implementation and Delivery Appendix 

The purpose of the Implementation and Delivery Appendix is to set out the key issues, 

constraints, phasing and mitigation measures which are required to deliver proposals in the 

LDP, from which monitoring indicators and triggers have been derived. It comprises a brief 

description of the key sites, together with an overview of site specific delivery and 

implementation issues, including site constraints, necessary mitigation / compensation 

measures and policy/ s106 obligations/ infrastructure requirements.  

This information will clarify the infrastructure requirements of key sites and alert potential 

developers in respect of expectations when bringing forward sites at the planning application 

stage with all relevant information known. All parties will know, in advance, what will be 

expected and consequently should be factored into the costs of bringing sites forward from 

the outset.  

 

Strategic Site Allocations 

SP2(1) / PLA1: Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area, Porthcawl Regeneration 

Growth Area  

Site Allocation Name 

/ Ref 

Site Size 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Total Units 

(Private and 

Affordable)  

Phasing 

Tranche 

SP2(1) / PLA1: 

Porthcawl Waterfront 

Regeneration Area, 

Porthcawl 

Regeneration Growth 

Area 

32 ha Strategic 

Mixed-use 

Regeneration 

Site 

1,100 
residential units 
 
330 Affordable 
units 
 

2018-2022: 0 
2023-2027: 180 
2028-2033: 600 

Site Description 

 

Porthcawl Waterfront is an underutilised, 32 hectare brownfield site occupying a prominent 

seafront position. Extending from Trecco Bay caravan site and Rhych Point in the east to 

the existing harbour and town centre to the west, it is currently occupied by a variety of land 

uses including the former Council owned Sandy Bay Caravan Site, the fairground, harbour, 

open space/recreation facilities and Salt Lake Car Park. The site is located within 6.4km (4 

miles) of junction 37 of the M4 and is connected by the A4229. The A4106 links Porthcawl 

to Bridgend (via the A48) which is approximately 11-12km (7-8 miles) to the east. The 

Trecco Bay Holiday Park is immediately adjacent to the eastern boundary of the site. 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Highways and Transport 

 

Active Travel Improvements 

 

Page 430



 

2 
 
 

The provision of active travel within the scheme is a key infrastructure requirement that 

future proposals will be expected to deliver upon, both in terms of providing sufficient land 

area and funding the costs of new active travel routes. The active travel requirements within 

the regeneration area are expected to facilitate the use of sustainable modes of transport 

across the site, both in an east to west and north to south axis. In addition to facilitating the 

use of sustainable modes of transport within the site, any forthcoming proposal will be 

expected to improve active connectivity to the existing Town Centre and the wider 

settlement of Porthcawl. Connections must be made to the existing active travel route 4084 

and new routes should be provided to accord with the proposed routes within the Council’s 

ATNM:  INM-POR-01, INM-POR-12, INM-POR-13, INM-POR-14, INM-POR-15, INM-POR-

17, INM-POR-18, INM-POR-22, INM-POR-23, INM-POR-24, INM-POR-25, INM-POR-26 

and INM-POR-28. 

 

New Access Road and Roundabout  

In order to provide sufficient capacity to support vehicular access into Sandy Bay the eastern 

area of the regeneration site will require a new roundabout at Griffin Park alongside a new 

access road. The indicative costs and alignment of this highway infrastructure have been 

informed by an initial design prepared by BCBC highway engineers, which has been used 

to inform that indicative layout of the regeneration area and inform scheme viability. It is 

expected that further detailed work will be completed in relation to the final alignment, 

specification and costing of this highway infrastructure as and when more detailed proposals 

come forward.  

 

Bus Terminus 

The Council has undertaken feasibility work to explore proposals to deliver a Metro-Link 

consisting of a bus terminus within the Porthcawl Regeneration Area. The bus terminus 

project is being brought forward in connection with the CCR Metro Plus project and is seen 

as a key element of the wider regeneration plans. The Authority has a strong desire to 

facilitate and actively encourage a modal shift towards increased use of Public Transport 

and the provision of a new bus terminus is integral to this as well as being part of the wider 

Future Wales Plan. 

 

Transport Statement 

A detailed assessment has been completed by Jacobs in support of the regeneration area 

proposals (report attached as Appendix D). This assessment was based on an upper limit 

of 1500 residential units across the regeneration area and includes comparative analysis 

between the 2007 Transport Assessment and associated survey data set out within the 

following documents:  

• Porthcawl Regeneration Transport and Access Strategy 2007; and 

• Porthcawl Waterfront Visitor Parking Strategy 2007. 

 

The comparative assessment included assumptions such as a maximum quantum of 

development consisting of 1500 dwellings, which significantly exceeds the 1240 residential 

units identified through this Land Use Framework. Despite this robust analysis, which 

overestimates the number of trips generated by the proposals, the TA concludes that there 

does not appear to be an increase in trips which would materially impact on the highway.  

Page 431



 

3 
 
 

 

With specific regard to parking, the TA recognises that car ownership per household in 

Porthcawl is generally below the level of residential parking provision required by the current 

adopted SPG17. On this basis, and given the inherently sustainable location of the 

brownfield regeneration area, it is anticipated that future proposals would seek to minimise 

car parking in response to the need generated from the development. This approach allows 

a degree of positive flexibility to be applied at design development stage and would remain 

in accord with the current emphasis at a national policy level to shift towards applying 

maximum car parking standards as opposed to minimum standards.   

 

 

Flood Risk  

The coastal setting of this site makes it particularly important to consider the impacts of 

climate change on tidal flood risk as the majority of the site is susceptible to tidal flooding. 

The draft of the forthcoming revised TAN15 acknowledges that there are some large urban 

communities already located in areas at risk of flooding and investment in flood defence 

infrastructure will be required to keep such existing populations safe. Following dialogue 

with Welsh Government, Coastal Risk Management Programme funding was secured for 

major flood defence works at Porthcawl. Phase 1 (Eastern Promenade) is designed to 

protect the Salt Lake area and existing development to the north. Phase 2 (Coney Beach) 

encompasses flood and coastal erosion measures along the Coney Beach frontage to 

safeguard and enhance the existing flood protection to the frontage provided by the existing 

ad-hoc revetment. Implementation of these works will better protect the existing community 

from flooding and the effects of flooding. However, they also have significant potential to 

achieve wider social, economic and environmental benefits to contribute towards the 

statutory well-being goals of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The 

greatest overall value can be achieved by combining these investments in flood defence 

infrastructure with other investment in active travel infrastructure, public realm 

improvements and regeneration-led development.  

 

The existing flood defences combined with completion of the new flood defence works has 

rendered the site a Defended Zone and will provide a coincidental opportunity to realise 

wider regeneration and placemaking benefits for the area through the delivery of Porthcawl 

Waterfront. On this basis, it is considered that the Porthcawl Waterfront site can be 

developed in full compliance with the requirements of the future revised TAN15. The 

defences are expected to provide a high standard of protection; significantly reducing the 

risk of flooding in areas within Zone 3 and respective areas in Zone 2. Nevertheless, all 

development in the area will necessarily be accompanied by a Flood Consequence 

Assessment to ensure the new development incorporates resilience to remain dry and safe 

as per the tolerable conditions set out in the future revised TAN15. The Replacement LDP’s 

housing trajectory has factored in appropriate timescales for the completion of coastal flood 

defence works before forecasting dwelling completions. This presents a practical example 

of how to deliver a high priority brownfield regeneration scheme in a Defended Zone in the 

context of the forthcoming revised TAN15. 

 

Land Ownership 

Page 432



 

4 
 
 

All landowners are committed to working towards ensuring a development site that can be 

delivered as a comprehensive development. Appropriate documents in the form of a 

Landowner’s agreement are being circulated and finalised between all parties. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

In order to inform this land use framework and the overall deliverability of the site a Phase 

1 habitat survey has been completed by David Clements. This survey included both a 

desktop review and detailed site walkover in order to provide a robust basis for determining 

what ecology constraints may exist within the site. Whilst the full survey report is included 

as Appendix J the following headline conclusions and recommendations were provided:    

 

• It is not considered that the proposed development would have any adverse impact 

on any designated biodiversity sites in the surrounding area. 

• Aside from the Rhych Point SINC and abandoned pleasure gardens the majority of 

the site provides habitat of low ecological value with limited areas of neutral 

maritime grassland considered to be of high local value within the site 

• Further bat surveys are recommended prior to any development / demolition of 

buildings with bat roosting potential within the site in order for appropriate mitigation 

measures to be put in place.  

• Provided adequate mitigation measures are implemented (to be informed by future 

surveys) the proposed development of the site is not unacceptably constrained by 

biodiversity and nature conservation issues.  

 

In light of the above, and the more detailed findings within the Phase 1 habitat survey, it is 

evident that the illustrative layout of the proposed regeneration area remains inherently 

deliverable from an ecological perspective. In order to ensure detailed proposals incorporate 

appropriate mitigation it is expected that suitably qualified Ecologist would be consulted an 

early stage of the design development process.  

 

Ecological constraints will be mitigated by retaining and providing suitable buffers to 

habitats, particularly the relict dunes to the rear of Sandy Bay, which are a nationally 

protected habitat for which Bridgend CBC are obliged to protect and enhance.  

 

Utilities 

The Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area is widely recognised as a significant 

opportunity to deliver upon a range of strategic housing delivery and regeneration objectives 

that will positively contribute to the town of Porthcawl. As with all large scale regeneration 

sites there are a range of key pieces of infrastructure that will need to be delivered in order 

to unlock the development potential of this brownfield site. In addition to the key 

infrastructure required to facilitate the development, the regeneration area provides an 

opportunity to co locate other strategic infrastructure that would mutually benefit both the 

proposed development and the existing town.  

 

The regeneration area will require the provision of a new foul and surface water drainage 

system to connect into the existing system, in addition to any wider network capacity work 

that may be required as development comes forward.  

Page 433



 

5 
 
 

 

Insofar as surface water drainage is concerned the regeneration area will require an 

infiltration based SUDs system across the Sandy Bay area of the site with the Coney Beach 

and Salt Lake areas to be principally drained to the sea via a new outfall pipe to replace an 

existing outfall pipe and at source SUDs attenuation to ensure compliance with relevant 

requirements.  

 

With respect to foul drainage there are a range of existing pipes that will enable connection 

to be made to the established network. As such, the foul drainage infrastructure requirement 

for the regeneration area will principally consist of the provision of new foul drainage runs 

within the site itself with this supported by any capacity upgrades that may be required by 

Welsh Water, as informed by hydraulic modelling, at the time development comes forward. 

 

A desktop feasibility study has been prepared by SMS in order to inform and support the 

Land Use Framework. This study considers both on-site and off-site elements for each utility 

as follows: 

 

• Details of the location of all statutory network apparatus in close proximity to and 

within the development boundary. 

• Assessment of existing services for disconnections and diversions. 

• Estimated costs for diversions and disconnections required. 

• Estimated costs for suitable electricity, gas, potable water and telecommunications 

to the development. 

 

In summary the feasibility study confirms that it is inherently feasible to connect electricity, 

gas, water and telecommunications to the site. The likely cost of such connections is also 

included within the study, with these indicating that the only potential abnormal costs would 

be in relation to electricity connections. In this respect, and whilst it is acknowledged that 

the inclusion of onsite renewables may reduce the amount of electricity required from the 

grid, initial indications are that the development would require 4,135 kVA. In order to deliver 

this electricity a point of connection from Nottage Primary Sub-station together with 2 high 

voltage cables from to the substation to the development would be required. The cost of this 

connection has been estimated as circa £1.1 million with this representing a key abnormal 

cost that needs to be considered as part of the viability and associated design development 

process. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology 

The site’s Land-use Framework will seek to preserve and complement Porthcawl 

Conservation Area and associated Grade II Listed Buildings, including the listed buildings 

in the harbour, immediately adjacent to the south of the site. The development will therefore 

positively integrate with the setting of this historic core of the town.  

 

 

Page 434



 

6 
 
 

Contamination  

 The wider regeneration area has been subject to a significant amount of previous site 

investigation work that has informed previous decision making, including the existing 

allocation and adopted SPG, in addition to the emerging proposals.  This previous work 

includes, but is not limited to, the following:  

 

• Phase 1 Environmental Assessment prepared by Jubb in 2007 (attached as 

Appendix H) 

• Geo Environmental & Geotechnical Assessment prepared by Earth Science 

Partnership in 2019 attached as Appendix I) 

 

In essence the site is not subject to any known contamination that would represents a barrier 

to the site coming forward for the intended use.   

 

In addition to the site investigation work outlined above, Quantum were commissioned to 

undertake further site investigation work with a particular focus on investigating the ground 

conditions within Sandy Bay and their suitability for an infiltration based drainage solution 

(report attached as Appendix G). Whilst the detailed findings are contained within the 

reports referenced above, it is pertinent to note that they have not identified any 

contaminants that would preclude the adoption of an infiltration based drainage strategy 

across the Sandy Bay part of the site. This approach, as it relates specifically to drainage 

matters, is further detailed within the site wide Drainage Strategy prepared by Capita.  

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Education  

The development will meet the needs for the additional school places it generates through 

on-site provision and financial contributions. 

 

A 2ha 1 Form Entry Welsh Medium Primary School will be provided on-site and and 4 

classroom block extension will be funded at the existing English Medium Primary School. 

Financial contributions must also be made to nursery, primary, secondary and post-16 

education provision as required by the Local Education Authority, secured through Section 

106 in accordance with the Education Facilities and Residential Development SPG. The 

school must be accessible to new and existing residents by all travel modes, enabled by the 

development. 

 

Affordable Housing  

The development must provide 30% affordable housing provision in accordance with policy 

PLA1.  

 

 

 

Page 435



 

7 
 
 

Open Space 

Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in accordance with 

Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing Development 

Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.  

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area Land Use Framework (2021) 

• Coney Beach Coastal Defence Feasibility Study Report prepared by Arup  

• Transport Assessment prepared by Jacobs  

• Landscape / Seascape and Visual Impact Assessment prepared Soltys Brewster 

Consulting  

• Topographical Survey Plan prepared by Landmark  

• Ground Contamination Investigation Report prepared by Quantum   

• Phase 1 Environmental Assessment prepared by Jubb  

• Geo Environmental & Geotechnical Assessment prepared by Earth Science 

Partnership in 2019  

• Ecology Survey prepared by David Clements Ecology  

• Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area LDP Drainage Strategy Report prepared by 

Capita Redstart   

• Utilities Report prepared by SMS  

• Sequential Test prepared by Peter Brett Associates 

• Bridgend Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment prepared by JBA 

• Porthcawl Food Store Development Brief prepared by BCBC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 436



 

8 
 
 

SP2(2) / PLA2: Land South of Bridgend (Island Farm), Bridgend Sustainable 

Growth Area 

Site Allocation Name 

/ Ref 

Site Size 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Total Units 

(Private and 

Affordable) 

Phasing 

Tranche 

SP2(2) / PLA2:  
Land South of 
Bridgend (Island 
Farm),  Bridgend 
Sustainable Growth 
Area 
 

49.95 ha Strategic 

Mixed-use 

Sustainable 

Urban 

Extension 

788 residential 
units 
158 Affordable 
units 
 

Refer to 
trajectory  
2018-2022: 0 
2023-2027: 188 
2028-2033: 600 

Site Description 

 

The site is located 1.5km (0.9 miles) to the south-west of Bridgend Town Centre, south of 

the A48, and close to the boundary with Vale of Glamorgan Council. It comprises 

approximately 49.95 hectares of tree and scrub land to the north, arable farmland to the 

south and east and grazing land to the north east. The site is bordered to the north east by 

the Bridgend Science Park, and to the east by a nursing home. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Highways and Transport 

 

Active Travel Improvements 

The site is located in a sustainable location in terms of access to facilities and amenities, 

which will be further enhanced by the mixed-use nature of the site which will reduce the 

need to travel further afield.  An Active Travel Assessment has been undertaken by Corun 

Associates Ltd, which concluded that the site is favourably positioned to contribute 

significantly towards Bridgend’s integrated transport strategy and help deliver local active 

travel in line with the Active Travel Wales 2013 Act.  

 

On-site and off-site measures to provide good quality, attractive, legible, safe and 

accessible pedestrian and cycle linkages in accordance with Active Travel design. Improved 

linkages must be provided along the A48, with Brynteg Comprehensive School, Bridgend 

Industrial Estate and Bridgend Town Centre (including the bus station and train station). 

Green infrastructure linkages must also be provided with Newbridge Fields. Connections 

must therefore be made to existing active travel routes and new routes should be provided 

to accord with the proposed routes within the Council’s ATNM:  INM-POR-15, INM-BR-45, 

INM-BR-46, INM-BR-48, INM-BR-49, INM-BR-75, INM-BR-132 and 2374. 

 

New Access Roads 

In order to provide sufficient capacity to support vehicular access into this Strategic Site, the 

proposed site accesses will be will be obtained from the A48 to the east of Merthyr Mawr 

Page 437



 

9 
 
 

Road. A separated footpath is proposed from the A48. Refer to the Strategic Transport 

Assessment and Transport Measures Priority Schedule for other off-site highway 

improvements.  

 

Transport Assessment 

A detailed assessment has been completed by Corun Associates Ltd in support of the site. 

The expected trip generation and distribution from the previously consented and revised 

Island Farm proposals have been assessed through a series of Transport Strategic 

Appraisals and Transport Assessment reports for different units of the wider site. A 

Technical Note has been prepared to combine all assessment work undertaken so far, and 

identify how the traffic from the revised Island Farm proposals is expected to be distributed 

across the surrounding assessment network, and how they compare to the flows from the 

consented Island Farm proposals.  

 

All trip generation work for the revised Island Farm proposals has been undertaken on a 

worst-case sensitivity test, allowing a more direct comparison with the original consent. The 

assessment identified that with exception of the A48 proposed site access junction, and the 

Ewenny Road Roundabout in the AM peak hour, and the B4265/Ewenny Road Junction in 

both peak hours, development will result in lower traffic flows through all junctions across 

the assessment network over the AM and PM peak hour periods, compared to the previous 

consented development proposals on the Island Farm Site. Therefore, the Transport Note 

argues that the revised proposals will have a beneficial impact over the distribution network 

compared to the consented scheme.  

 

It should also be noted that the increase in flows at the B4265 / Ewenny Road junction is 

due to the proposed access junction for the revised Tennis Centre proposals, as this junction 

was not proposed as a site access point within the consented scheme. The Tennis Centre 

proposals may be delivered in advance of the wider Island Farm site, and there is currently 

a live application with its own Transport Assessment covering the traffic impact at this 

junction. 

 

Previous assessment work on the consented scheme identified that the Broadlands 

Roundabout, Ewenny Roundabout, and Picton Close Junction all show capacity issues in 

forecast year assessment scenarios both including and excluding the consented Island 

Farm proposals traffic. Although the revised Island Farm proposals in general bring traffic 

reductions across these junctions (from what was previously consented), with consideration 

of background traffic growth alone, these junctions will still likely require mitigation to 

operate within capacity during forecast years. Such mitigation measures that were outlined 

for these junctions, as referenced within the consented scheme would enable the junctions 

to provide nil detriment or better in terms of the revised scheme. Updated survey work will 

be undertaken as part of a future Transport Assessment that would support a planning 

application for the development of the wider site.  

 

Flood Risk 

The site is entirely within Flood Zone A and therefore considered at low or no risk of flooding. 

The Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment states that PLA2: Land South of Bridgend 

(Island Farm), is identified as ‘Green’ within the RAG assessment for the SFCA. Island Farm 

Page 438



 

10 
 
 

has small areas of the site identified as at risk of surface water flooding. These areas 

correspond with topographic lows across the site and area therefore expected to be 

manageable through the use of SuDS and considerate site design. The majority of Island 

Farm has a groundwater depth of between 0.025m and 0.5m below ground level. Localised 

areas of this strategic site are shown to have groundwater within 0.025m of the ground 

surface. Groundwater levels may dictate the location and depth of SuDS assets proposed 

for any development on this site and should therefore be considered further. 

 

NRW advise that the site is located near a Source Protection Zone 1. Therefore future 

development proposals will need to ensure the protection of groundwater. 

 

A revised TAN15 is due to be implemented in June 2023. This will be supported by the new 

Flood Map for Planning, which includes climate change information to show how this will 

affect flood risk extents over the next century. It shows the potential extent of flooding 

assuming no defences are in place. A review of the new Flood Map for Planning shows the 

site to be located outside of any flood zone and is therefore considered at low or no risk of 

flooding.  

 

Land Ownership 

All landowners are committed to working towards ensuring a development site that can be 

delivered as a comprehensive development. Appropriate documents in the form of a 

Landowner’s agreement are being circulated and finalised between all parties. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

The northern woodland section forms part of a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation 

(SINC), designated for a mosaic of habitats and the presence of hazel dormice. An Ecology 

Report prepared by Ethos Environmental Planning considered the following species.  

 

Dormouse  

The site contains hedgerows and woodland were assessed to hold high value for dormice. 

The previous surveys identified the presence of dormice within the SINC located in the north 

of the site. It was therefore assessed that further surveys would be required to update the 

status of the site for this species and to inform detailed proposals for the site.  

 

Riparian mammals  

The River Ogmore was present along the eastern edge of the Craig-Y-Parcau, with records 

of both otter and water vole found south of the site. However, the previous surveys identified 

no evidence of riparian mammals within the development area. Considering the presence 

of previous records in the area and suitable habitat directly adjacent to the site, it is 

recommended surveys are undertaken for these protected species and to inform detailed 

proposals for the site.  

 

Great crested newt  

The previous surveys assessed the ponds to be unsuitable for great crested newt (GCN) 

and that GCN were absent from the site. Since then, it is understood that the previously 

surveyed ponds have been removed and new wildlife ponds created in the south-west of 

Page 439



 

11 
 
 

the main site area. The two water bodies identified during the walkover had relatively low 

water levels and limited aquatic vegetation. The current proposals indicate the retention and 

protection of the ponds. Nevertheless, they could provide suitable breeding habitat for 

amphibians and it is recommended that a Habitat Suitability Index of each of the ponds 

within 500m of the development site to inform detailed planning application.  

 

Birds  

There was a mix of permanent pasture and arable land providing suitable habitat for 

farmland birds. Also, the hedgerows and their margins within the fields was assessed to 

provide potential habitat for ground nesting birds. The woodland, hedgerows, scrub and 

scattered trees were assessed to have high potential for breeding birds. Evidence of barn 

owl was found in a stable in the south-east of the site. Further surveys for breeding birds 

have been recommended within section 5 to inform detailed proposals for the site.  

 

Bats  

The previous surveys identified roosting lesser horseshoe and brown long-eared bats within 

Hut 9 in the woodland in the SINC. Since the previous surveys were undertaken, a dedicated 

bat roost has been created in the south-west of the main site. Additionally, the built 

structures within the Craig-Y-Parcau area were in extremely poor structural condition and a 

wide range of bat roosting features were visible for the external walkover. They were 

assessed to hold high potential for roosting bats. Therefore, it was assessed that an updated 

assessment of the structures should be undertaken to assess their status for roosting bats. 

Additionally, emergence/re-entry surveys are recommended. The habitats within both sites 

contained woodland and hedgerows, offering potential commuting, foraging and roosting 

habitats for bats may provide potential commuting and foraging habitats for bats. A number 

of mature trees were also noted which could have potential roosting features for bats.  

 

Badgers  

The habitats on site were comprised of woodland, grassland and arable land which have 

potential to support badgers. However, it should be noted that the previous survey identified 

badgers to be absent from the site.  

 

Reptiles  

Much of the site was comprised of arable land and agriculturally intensified grassland 

providing negligible potential for reptiles. The key features were assessed to be the sections 

of grassland and scrub located at the woodland edges. The site was comprised of common 

and widespread habitats providing low potential habitats for invertebrates. No detailed 

surveys will be required. 

 

SINC Review – Wildlife Trust 

This document states that this SINC does not appear to have changed significantly since 

2011’s survey and therefore still qualifies as a SINC. The small section of woodland in the 

field to the south-east is worth removing from the citation as it is isolated and does not 

appear to add to the site’s value. The woodland varies in quality but appears to offer habitat 

for dormice and bats and there are numerous woodland indicator species. The grassland is 

not particularly species-rich but adds to the site as a whole. The site suffers from antisocial 

Page 440



 

12 
 
 

behaviour including fly-tipping, frequent drug use and signs of semi-permanent habitation 

that is detrimental to the biodiversity of the site. 

 

Recommendation is that dormouse tubes are replaced and monitored and that antisocial 

activities are reduced where feasible. Although the grassland areas are not very diverse 

they add to the diversity of the site and some scrub control to stop their loss is recommended 

though not a priority. 

 

The Masterplan have included a number of measures to address previously identified 

ecological constraints including the retention of the majority of the SINC and protection of 

the artificial bat roost and hedgerows. Furthermore, the masterplan for Island Farm has 

indicated the retention of SINC land within the site boundary, with the exception of the 

access road from the A48. Areas of ecological value are proposed for retention including 

existing sink holes; which offer value for a range of invertebrates, and an ecological 

enhancement area located in the south-western field; previously enhanced for ecology in 

relation to the 2008 sports village application. The masterplan also indicates retention of 

continuous green areas to ensure a continued network of green and blue infrastructure. 

 

Further work is to be undertaken from an ecological perspective in line with the 

recommendations of the report. However, there were no ‘show-stoppers’ found at this stage, 

with appropriate mitigation measures available to ensure that the development of the site is 

acceptable and any related impacts can be minimised. 

 

Utilities 

Investment in utility infrastructure will ensure that the site can accommodate the level of 

development proposed. Given the site’s location, in close proximity to existing built form, it 

is considered that appropriate water, gas and other utility connections can be made to the 

site. 

 

For electricity, the development will need to fund connections, diversions and a new WPD 

HV (11kV) ring main to serve the site with  new sub-stations as follows: 

 

• Dwellings – seven 1MVA HV / LV sub-stations.  

 

• Primary School – one 250kV HV / LV sub-station 

 

• Special Educational Needs (SEN) Facility – 500kV HV / LV sub-station 

 

Connections will also need to be made to the gas network and connections/diversions will 

need to be made to enable broadband provision.  

 

DCWW have advised that the waste water treatment plant has sufficient capacity to 

accommodate the envisaged foul flows from the proposed development, although additional 

hydraulic modelling will be required to advise on foul and water supply network capacity and 

potential connections points. Given the maximum potential size of the development, local 

infrastructure improvements to the DCWW network are likely to be required. 

Page 441



 

13 
 
 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology & Heritage 

The BCBC land is sited within the northern sector of the site immediately to the south of the 

A48 and formed part of the former Crossways Country Club and Second World War prisoner 

of war camp. A single storey building, the only surviving building from the camp (Hut 9) has 

been listed (Grade II) and is located in the northeast part of the site. The remainder of the 

BCBC owned land predominantly comprises scrub, rough grassland and treed habitat land. 

The Masterplan and Strategic Site Policy seek to ensure that Hut 9 is fully integrated with 

future development proposals.   

 

Ground Conditions  

Reflecting the site’s extensive planning history, a large amount is known about ground 

conditions of the Site having been informed by various phases of site investigations and 

survey/ monitoring works. Included at Appendix 7 is a Summary of Site Investigations 

prepared by wL2. 

 

These documents consider matters relating to ground conditions, permeability / filtration, 

and contamination which have, where appropriate and if required, been used to inform the 

masterplanning process and site layout. It concludes that, whilst as is not uncommon at this 

stage of the development process, further detailed site investigations will be necessary to 

inform the detailed design (notably the presence and risk of potential additional sink holes), 

there are no, known, significant constraints to the development of the site resulting from its 

ground conditions. 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Education  

The development will meet the needs for the additional school places it generates through 

on-site provision and financial contributions. 

 

The development must provide 1.3 hectares of land to accommodate 1 two form entry 

primary schools with co-located nursery facilities plus 0.5ha for any future expansion. 

Financial contributions must also be made to nursery, primary, secondary and post-16 

education provision as required by the Local Education Authority, secured through Section 

106 in accordance with the Education Facilities and Residential Development SPG. The 

school must be accessible to new and existing residents by all travel modes, enabled by the 

development.  

 

The development must also provide 4ha of land to facilitate the relocation of Heronsbridge 

Special Needs School. 

Page 442



 

14 
 
 

 

Affordable Housing  

The development must provide 20% affordable housing provision in accordance with policy 

PLA2.  

 

Open Space 

Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in accordance with 

Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing Development 

Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Masterplan Report Roberts Limbrick 

• Renewable Energy Strategy Troup Bywaters  

• Utility Report Troup Bywaters + Anders  

• Ecology Appraisal Ethos Ecology  

• Transport Strategic Appraisal Corun Associates April 2020 April 2020 

• Active Travel Assessment Corun Associates April 2020 April 2020  

• Island Farm Drainage Strategy wL2 April 2020 April  

• High Level Viability Assessment Savills April 2020  

• Landscape Matters Note Savills September 2020  

• ALC Supplementary Note Savills September 2020 September 

• Transport Strategic Appraisal Corun Associates June 2020 September 2020  

• Health Impact Assessment Savills September 2020 September 2020  

• Viability Assessment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 443



 

15 
 
 

SP2(3) / PLA3: Land West of Bridgend, Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation Name 

/ Ref 

Site Size 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Total Units 

(Private and 

Affordable) 

Phasing 

Tranche 

SP2(3) / PLA3:  
Land West of 
Bridgend, Bridgend 
Sustainable Growth 
Area 
 

36.86 Ha Strategic 

Mixed-use 

Sustainable 

Urban 

Extension 

850 residential 
units 
170 Affordable 
units 
 

2018-2022:0 
2023-2027: 330 
2028-2033: 500 

Site Description 

 

The site is located immediately adjoining the western boundary of Bridgend, and the built 

development at Bryntirion. The smaller settlement of Laleston is further to the west. 

Bridgend Town Centre is approximately 2.2km away. The site is bordered by the A473 to 

the south; an un-named country lane to the west; Llangewydd Road to the north; and the 

settlement edge of Bryntirion to the east. There are existing properties on the edge of 

Bryntirion, which form part of the south eastern boundary of the site and three dwellings at 

the south western boundary which are accessed via the country lane. 

 

The majority of the site comprises open farmland pasture with an area of woodland with 

enclosed marshland fields to the north east. The open farmland comprises irregular shaped, 

small to medium fields of improved grassland with vegetated field boundaries. The wooded 

part of the site to the north east is covered by the Laleston Meadows SINC, a local ecological 

designation. The site and its internal field boundaries in the open farmland include livestock 

fencing, maintained hedgerows and hedgebanks, a tree belt and a stone wall. 

 

There are a number of existing private agricultural gate entrances allowing access to the 

wider site from each boundary, as well as 2 no. pedestrian access points from the north 

east to the south western boundary. The first is a narrow and enclosed byway. The second 

is a Public Right of Way which forms part of the Bridgend Circular Walk, a Long Distance 

Walking Route, which crosses the site from approximately midway along the western edge 

of the site running northeast through the SINC before joining Llangewydd Road. 

 

The site is allocated for a comprehensive green infrastructure led residential development. 

The site will deliver circa 850 homes during the Plan period (including 20% / 170 affordable 

housing units), incorporating a new one and a half form entry Primary School, recreation 

facilities, public open space, plus appropriate community facilities all set within distinct 

character areas. 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

 

 

Page 444



 

16 
 
 

Highways and Transport  

Land at West Bridgend is a well-located sustainable site taking advantage of the numerous 

nearby facilities, many of which are located a short distance away from the site within 

Bryntirion and Broadlands, with greater numbers also located within Bridgend Town Centre. 

Furthermore, the site is accessible via a number of modes or travel and links well to the 

existing urban boundary to the east.  

 

Active Travel Improvements  

On and off-site measures will be provided to achieve good quality, attractive, legible, safe 

and accessible pedestrian and cycle linkages in accordance with Active Travel design. 

Improved linkages will be provided along the A473 to connect with Bryntirion 

Comprehensive School and Bridgend Town Centre (including the bus station and train 

station). New connections will be provided to accord with the proposed routes within the 

Council’s ATNM:  INM-BR-52, INM-BR-55, INM-BR-57, INM-BR-58, INM-BR-127 and 2120. 

 

The existing footway along the northern side of the A473 will be upgraded. To the east of 

the site access it will be upgraded to a shared footway / cycleway facility that will connect 

the site to the local Bryntirion shops as well as Active Travel route INM-BR-57. To the west 

of the site access the footway will be widened to provide a better pedestrian connection to 

the existing eastbound bus-stop located on the A473. 

 

New Access Roads 

In order to provide safe vehicular access into the site, a new 3-arm traffic signalised junction 

with the A473 will be provided at the southern boundary. This will accommodate the needs 

of all users, providing a new-shared use crossing to connect the internal cycleway/footway 

with the existing active travel route BRC9b on the southern side of the A473.  

 

The main internal spine road will be designed to accommodate two-way bus movements, 

will allow for cyclist priority over side roads, and will offer an exemplary environment for 

pedestrian movement. The spine road will have an active frontage, providing an attractive 

thorough-fare for active modes of travel and by bus. The development will incorporate the 

existing public rights of way within its internal design, optimising their attractiveness and 

allowing pedestrians to permeate into the rest of the site, and the local communities such 

as Laleston and Bryntirion. The remainder of the site will provide the necessary pedestrian 

and cycle infrastructure to encourage walking and cycling and the appropriate street cross 

sections and speed limits to support this. 

 

The emergency access in the northern part of the site will also provide a connection for 

Active Travel users to Llangewydd Road where it is proposed to prohibit motor vehicles 

between Bryntirion and where it joins the lane running north-south through the site (to the 

west). This will form a green travel corridor between the site and northern Bryntirion, only 

open to Active Travel and emergency vehicular traffic. The section of lane between the 

emergency access and Bryntirion will be upgraded in line with the Welsh Government’s 

guidance on Active Travel Design Guidance. Once in Bryntirion pedestrians would use 

existing footways and cyclists would proceed along quiet streets to connect with existing 

Active Travel Routes INM-BR-55 in the east or INM-BR-57 in the south. 

  

Page 445



 

17 
 
 

Transport Assessment 

A Transport Assessment, as well as a Mobility Strategy, have been produced by Vectos. 

The assessment confirms that the traffic effect of 850 dwellings is forecast to be in the order 

of 269 and 243 two-way movements in the AM and PM peak hours respectively, although 

this is considered worst case as attitudinal change towards travel progresses. This quantum 

of trips equates to just over 4 vehicles per minute two-way, diluted across the local highway 

network. 

 

The assessment concludes that the development provides opportunities to create a new 

western edge to Bridgend in a self-sustaining site offering community facilities suitable for 

day to-day living. In this way, the transport case for mobility provides the options necessary 

to promote sustainable travel modes before the private vehicle. The design of the 

environment, the travel planning and the locational advantages, together with the Mobility 

Strategy means there is a major benefit for existing and new residents, significantly 

improving travel choice, for commuting, leisure and social journeys and hence social 

inclusion. Working from home and from a third-place such as an on-site Workhub will be 

encouraged from the outset, in line with Welsh Government’s aspirations. 

 

Flood Risk 

JBA Consulting have prepared a high-level drainage strategy for the site which confirms 

that the site is located within DAM Zone A, which is used within TAN15 to indicate that there 

is considered to be little to no risk of fluvial or tidal flooding at such a location. This is 

reflected in comments received from NRW, and in the Strategic Flood Consequence 

Assessment which informs the LDP and flags the site as green in its RAG assessment. As 

such, all proposed land uses are permitted without need for a flood consequence 

assessment. The SFCA does highlight that a small proportion of the site (4.9%) has a low 

risk of flooding due to surface water, which corresponds with topographic depressions 

running from north to south. There are two areas most at risk of surface water flooding. The 

first corresponds with a path of surface water flowing down into the north western corner of 

the site. This area of the site is currently comprised of woodland which is to be retained as 

part of the proposals. It is therefore considered that this area of surface water flood risk will 

have little influence on development proposals. The second area is a key surface water flow 

route that runs through the centre of the site towards the A473 where a small area of high 

surface water flood risk is shown. The surface water flow routes in this part of the site will 

be retained where possible and incorporated within the surface water drainage strategy 

through the use of SUDs and green corridors. 

 

A revised TAN15 is due to be implemented in June 2023. This will be supported by the new 

Flood Map for Planning, which includes climate change information to show how this will 

affect flood risk extents over the next century. It shows the potential extent of flooding 

assuming no defences are in place. A review of the new Flood Map for Planning shows the 

site to be located outside of any flood zone and is therefore considered at low or no risk of 

flooding.  

 

Land Ownership 

Llanmoor Development Co. Ltd has complete control over the whole of the land-holding 

making up the site allocation, through individual Landowner Option Agreements together 

Page 446



 

18 
 
 

with a formal Joint Landowner Agreement that was legally exchanged and completed in 

October 2020. This ensures that the individual landowners are working together and the site 

can be delivered as a whole without any form of landownership constraint. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

An ecological desk study and Extended Phase 1 survey has been undertaken by EDP. The 

desk study has noted that within the Study Site’s zone of influence there are a number of 

statutorily and non-statutory designated sites present, most notably Laleston Meadows 

SINC which overlaps with the site itself. 

 

Given the combination of designated sites, it is concluded that any future planning 

submission will need to consider the potential for direct and indirect impacts to arise upon 

qualifying features, including the Laleston Meadows SINC. However, it is inherent within the 

emerging masterplan that the Laleston Meadows SINC and its associated designated 

features will be retained. Furthermore, such retained features will be further protected from 

potential harm, damage and disturbance through the sensitive design of built development 

away from SINC boundaries and inclusion of suitable buffers. 

 

The desk study confirms that the inclusion of Laleston Meadows SINC within the Study’s 

Site boundary will provide substantial potential for a balanced provision of areas of informal 

public open space and wildlife zones. When linked with proposed POS and play areas 

across the developable site this will provide a significant benefit to both visual and 

recreational amenity, conservation and biodiversity enhancement. In respect of the latter, 

the SINC provides a potential space to accommodate ecological mitigation and biodiversity 

enhancements and thus offset ecological impacts that may arise during the development of 

adjacent land. 

 

An Extended Phase 1 survey was undertaken in February 2020, supplemented by further 

roosting bat works in March 2020. The Phase 1 survey concluded that the site is dominated 

by agriculturally improved grassland of limited botanical interest and thus of low inherent 

ecological value. Habitats of greatest ecological importance include the native hedgerows 

delineating the northern boundary and internal field boundaries in addition to woodland 

habitat and marshy grassland associated with Laleston Meadows SINC. The roosting bats 

surveys identified several trees with low to high potential to support a bat roost whilst onsite 

ponds have been considered for their potential to support great crested newt. 

 

The results of the desk study and Extended Phase 1 survey have influenced the masterplan 

which has sought to locate development across those habitats of predominantly limited 

ecological value whilst retaining boundary habitats as far as possible. Where retained, such 

features have been accommodated within proposed informal green space and sustainable 

transport links, which ultimately enhances connectivity throughout the Site and contributes 

to the wider green infrastructure resource. 

 

Where avoidance is not possible, however, and will result in the loss of internal field 

boundaries (albeit predominantly species-poor or defunct), the site is considered to be of 

sufficient size and extent to enable future development proposals to flexibly avoid and/or 

mitigate for any significant ecological constraints and compensate where necessary. This 

Page 447



 

19 
 
 

will be in addition to the sensitive positioning of built development away from retained 

boundary features to minimise damage. 

 

The report also highlights further detailed habitat and species surveys which are 

recommended to inform a planning application and ensure proposed mitigation is 

appropriate and proportional. These include a Dormouse survey, which was raised in 

comments received from NRW.  

 

Arboriculture 

EDP have also undertaken a full BS 5837:2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and 

Construction compliant survey of trees and hedgerows on site. The survey confirms that 

overall the trees identified throughout the site are a mix of values. The Tree Survey identifies 

the presence of Ancient Semi-Natural Woodland, Restored Ancient Woodland, and 

Plantations on an Ancient Woodland within parts of the site, as well as identifying that there 

are Tree Preservation Orders (TPO) along the north and north eastern boundaries. 

 

The arboricultural constraints information provided illustrates that there are no overarching 

constraints to the development of the site, with certain trees which must be prioritised for 

retention. The baseline provided has influenced the master planning and layout works to 

provide a suitable development. 

 

Utilities 

 A Utilities Assessment Report has been prepared by Utilitas. The report confirms the 

presence and location of existing infrastructure assets that need to be maintained on site, 

or be subject to diversionary works as and where necessary. This includes 3no. spans of 

overhead electricity power lines and a medium pressure gas main within the site. The 

report also provides details of potential diversionary work at the new site entrance off the 

A473 with regards to 11kV and LV electricity mains cables, a 6 inch water main and 

Openreach fibre cables.  

 

The report also confirms the position regarding the provision of new utility infrastructure to 

serve the proposed development. In this regard, Western Power have confirmed that the 

site can be served with power from their existing primary substation to the east of the site. 

New 11kV HV cables will be laid from this location on to the site, where the necessary 

standard distribution Substations will be sympathetically located, in accordance with WPD 

requirements to serve the development. Wales & West have confirmed that their existing 

Medium Pressure main on site currently has capacity to serve the development. There may 

also be some capacity to serve an initial phase of build from the Low Pressure network in 

the A473. DCWW have confirmed that reinforcement works are required on both the clean 

and foul network to accommodate the site as a whole and a Hydraulic Modelling 

Assessment will be required to inform that such works.  They have also confirmed that there 

are no insurmountable obstacles to the delivery of the site. Finally, Openreach have 

confirmed that all premises on the site can be provided with superfast fibre broadband.  

 

Page 448



 

20 
 
 

In conclusion, the report notes that utility services are available to serve the development 

including Electricity, Water, Gas and Fibre and budget costs have been incorporated into 

the Viability Assessment supporting the site.  

 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

 

Archaeology 

An Archaeological and Heritage Assessment has been prepared by EDP. The assessment 

establishes that the site does not contain any World Heritage Sites, Scheduled Ancient 

Monuments, listed buildings, registered historic parks and gardens or historic landscapes, 

where there would be a presumption in favour of their physical preservation in-situ and 

against development. In terms of archaeological remains, the site is identified as having 

moderate to high potential to contain remains from the medieval period, particularly in its 

northern extremity, which is adjacent to the site of the former Llangewydd Church. However, 

the land is a SINC and will not be developed. 

 

While there is a small amount of evidence for late prehistoric and Roman activity in the 

surrounding 1km study area, the potential for archaeology of these periods within the site is 

deemed low. Post-medieval settlement was focused elsewhere in the locality and any 

archaeology of this period within the site is most likely to relate to agriculture. Overall, the 

baseline data indicate that the probability of significant archaeology being present is low. 

Any further archaeological investigation can reasonably be secured through an 

appropriately worded planning condition appended to a planning permission. 

 

Potential impacts upon the setting of historic assets in the locality have focused on the 1km 

study area. No significant effects arising from changes to setting have been identified for 

scheduled monuments, listed buildings and registered parks and gardens. 

In respect of the Laleston Conservation Area, there will also not be any significant changes 

to its visual setting. It is acknowledged that development in the southern part of the Site will 

remove a part of the agricultural landscape around Laleston which forms a buffer from 

Bryntirion to the east. However, agricultural land will remain on all sides around Laleston, 

which will retain its character as a discrete settlement, while landscaping measures 

associated with the development will mitigate any impression of coalescence. This is 

assessed as an impact of a minor order, with the special interest of the conservation area 

being retained. 

 

Contamination/remediation 

A geoenvironmental and geotechnical desk study of the site has been prepared by Intégral 

Géotechnique. The study confirms that the site has remained generally as undeveloped 

fields and the majority of the site is underlain by St Mary’s Well Bay Member, a band of 

Lavernock Shales within the north eastern area and Porthkerry Member beneath the 

southern area. The study notes that there should be no contaminates from the undeveloped 

site, and that there are no significant contaminates from adjacent uses. 

 

Page 449



 

21 
 
 

It is anticipated that the overall environmental risk of the site is considered to be low to 

medium and that site investigation proposals, including a geophysical survey followed by a 

trial pitting and borehole investigation to examine the shallow to medium ground conditions 

is suggested. 

 

Kernon Countryside Consultants have confirmed that in accordance with the Welsh 

Government Predictive Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) the site comprises of land of 

Subgrade 3b and Grades 4 and 5 with an area of non-agricultural land. 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access  

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Education 

The development will meet the needs for the additional school places it generates through 

on-site provision and financial contributions. 

 

The masterplan makes provision for a 1.5 form entry Primary School with nursery provision 

on site. An additional buffer of 0.45ha must be provided for future expansion. A contribution 

to Nursery, Primary and Secondary School provision will be secured through a Section 106 

Agreement and in accordance with the Education Facilities and Residential Development 

SPG. The school must be accessible to new and existing residents by all travel modes, 

enabled by the development.  

 

Affordable Housing 

The site will deliver 20% affordable housing in accordance with Policies PLA3 and COM2. 

 

Open Space  

Green Infrastructure and Recreation Facilities to be delivered in accordance with Policy 

COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing Development SPG. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Parc Llangewydd Drawing Booklet (Hammonds Architectural Ltd) 

• Parc Llangewydd Open Space Note (Hammonds Architectural Ltd) 

• Agricultural Land Classification Note (Kernon Countryside Consultants) 

• Air Quality Assessment (Air Quality Consultants) 

• Arboricultural Baseline Note (EDP) 

• Archaeological and Heritage Assessment (EDP) 

• Written Statement of Investigation - Archaeological and Heritage (EDP) 

• Drainage Strategy (JBA Consulting) 

• Ecology Briefing Note (EDP) 

• Laleston Meadows SINC: Habitat Assessment Summary Note (EDP) 

• Laleston Meadows SINC: Ecological Briefing Note (EDP) 

Page 450



 

22 
 
 

• Geoenvironmental and Geotechnical Desk Study (Intégral Géotechnique) 

• Transport Assessment (Vectos) 

• Interim Residential Travel Plan (Vectos) 

• Landscape and Visual Appraisal (EDP) 

• Renewable Energy Statement (Llanmoor Development Co. Ltd) 

• Utilities Assessment (Utilitas) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 451



 

23 
 
 

SP2(4) / PLA4: Land East of Pencoed, Pencoed Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation Name 

/ Ref 

Site Size 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Total Units 

(Private and 

Affordable)  

Phasing 

Tranche 

SP2(4) / PLA4:  
Land East of 
Pencoed, Pencoed 
Sustainable Growth 
Area 
 

44.27ha Strategic 

Mixed-use 

Sustainable 

Urban 

Extension 

804 residential 
units 
 
161 Affordable 
units 
 

2018-2022: 0 
2023-2027: 204 
2028-2033: 600 

Site Description 

 

The site is located to the north-east of Bridgend, to the north of the M4 motorway (Junction 

35), directly adjacent to the boundary with Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council, 

although within the administrative boundary of Bridgend County Borough. 

 

The main site is bound to the north and west by the A473, to the south by Felindre Road, to 

the east by the Ewenni Fach brook and to the south east by farmland. The land to the west 

of the A473 is bound by the A473 on its eastern boundary, by Felindre road to the south 

and by the Ewenny River to its west and the north. Beyond the river is residential 

development (Pencoed). 

 

The wider area comprises a mix of land uses, predominantly residential and commercial to 

the west associated with the town of Pencoed, The Sony Factory (and wider employment 

land allocation) is located to the south of the site. Land to the north and east is mostly 

farmland. There is a hotel and restaurant located to the south east of the site. 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Highways and Transport  

 

Active Travel Improvements  

The site is located within a sustainable location in terms of access to facilities and amenities, 

of which will reduce the need to travel further afield. Consideration of existing sustainable 

transport opportunities including access to bus services, trains and active travel 

infrastructure has been undertaken by WSP. It was concluded that the site is favourably 

positioned to contribute significantly towards Bridgend’s integrated transport strategy in line 

with the Active Travel Wales 2013 Act and help deliver local active improvements along the 

A473, with Pencoed Comprehensive School, Pencoed Technology Park and Pencoed Town 

Centre (including the train station and bus stops). Connections must therefore be made to 

existing active travel routes and new routes should be provided to accord with the proposed 

routes within the Council’s ATNM:  INM-PE-2, INM-PE-8, INM-PE-12, INM-PE-13, INM-PE-

20 and INM-PE-26. 

 

Page 452



 

24 
 
 

The masterplan also indicates that pedestrian access would be provided at the north-east 

corner of the site to the A473. A pedestrian access link will also be provided at the south-

west corner of the site onto the A473. A third pedestrian access would be provided at the 

A473 junction with Penybont Road at the location of the existing College Campus. All 

pedestrian and cycle links through the site would be built to standard and will be suitable to 

accommodate the needs of the development 

 

New Access Roads 

In order to provide sufficient capacity to support vehicular access into this Strategic Site, the 

proposed site accesses will be served via two new vehicular access points onto the existing 

highway network. The access points are intended to be priority junctions onto the A473 at 

the northern extent of the site and the other onto Felindre Road at the southern extent of 

the site.  

 

Transport Assessment 

A detailed transport assessment has been completed by WSP to examine the highway and 

transportation issues associated with the Strategic Site. This assessment was based on the 

site being put forward for up to 800 dwellings and a 1.5 form entry primary school situated 

off the A473 in Bridgend. 

 

The Assessment concluded, that the site would fully comply national, regional and local 

policy objectives. The proposed access arrangements have demonstrated that the planned 

junctions are appropriate for the scale of the development. There are no common trends or 

patterns in collisions on the local highway network over the most recent five-year period, 

and the proposals will not negatively impact on highway safety. Furthermore, the proposed 

site access arrangements would operate within capacity and thus the development would 

not result in a severe impact on the local highway network.  

 

The Assessment demonstrates that the development proposals are in accordance with 

national, regional and local policy. The proposals will not likely generate a significant 

number of trips and modelling demonstrates that the trips would not have a significant 

impact on the operation and safety of the local highway network.   

 

Flood Risk 

National Resources Wales have commented that the site is located partially within a C2 

Flood Zone (Ewenny fach main river) and located partially within a Source Protection Zone 

(Schwyll Spring). A drainage strategy & flood advice note was prepared by WSP, highlighted 

that land relating to the eastern boundary and southeastern boundary of the site is 

designated as TAN15 Flood Zone C2, land that is without significant flood defence 

infrastructure. Most of the land to the west of the A473 is also located within Flood Zone C2. 

Whilst more detailed assessment of flood risk and design work will be required to inform a 

formal planning application, the risks identified in this document only affect small areas of 

the site are not considered to present a significant constraint the site’s development. The 

current masterplan has considered these constraints and appropriately positioned 

development around them.  

 

Page 453



 

25 
 
 

A Flood Consequence Assessment is not considered necessary as it is not a fundamental 

constraint to the site and the designation have been ‘designed out’.  

 

A revised TAN15 is due to be implemented in June 2023. This will be supported by the new 

Flood Map for Planning, which includes climate change information to show how this will 

affect flood risk extents over the next century. It shows the potential extent of flooding 

assuming no defences are in place. A review of the new Flood Map for Planning shows the 

site to be partially located within Flood Zone 2 and 3 (Ewenny fach main river). The current 

masterplan has considered constraints and has appropriately positioned development 

around them.  

 

Land Ownership  

Future development of the 2.1ha 3G football pitch which is within the extent of the site falls 

outside of the ownership of the promoter. The land is identified on the current masterplan 

for the redevelopment at Pencoed as a potential location for a new primary school. A realistic 

and deliverable strategy is expected to ensure that the 3G pitch land can/will form part of 

the wider development site and be delivered as part of the wider masterplan for the site 

which will see this land subject to the development of a new primary school and new homes.  

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations  

Natural Resources Wales have commented that the site is adjacent to the Brynna a Wern 

Tarw Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), highlighting the need for careful assessment 

and consideration to avoid any detrimental impact on the designated site. An Ecological 

Appraisal was undertaken by Soltys Brewster, which confirmed that Brynna a Wern Tarw 

SSSI is located approximately 550m to the northeast of the site. Brynna a Wern Tarw SSSI 

is of special interest for its extensive area of mixed, species-rich lowland grassland, 

including significant areas of marshy and dry neutral grassland, and for the association of 

these habitats with others including broadleaved woodland and heath. Given the habitats 

present at the site and the physical separation from the designated sites by existing 

development and infrastructure, the SSSI is considered of little or no ecological relevance 

to any future development. 

 

Natural Resources Wales also referenced that bats may be present on the site. Soltys 

Brewster’s Ecology Appraisal survey findings did not identify any protected or notable flora 

& fauna associated with the site itself. Although records of several protected and notable 

species were identified in the surrounding area including Dormouse Muscardinus 

avellanarius, great Crested Newt Triturus cristatus, reptiles, birds and bats. The key issues 

at the site from an ecological perspective, as well as recommendations for further survey / 

mitigation work are as follows: 

 

• Given that the presence of Dormice and/or GCN is likely to affect the area available for 

development, further surveys to confirm the presence or likely absence of these species 

are recommended in order to determine the requirement for licencing from NRW. 

• Additional surveys for reptiles and bats are also recommended prior to any detailed 

planning application submission.  

Page 454



 

26 
 
 

• The site also presents opportunities for ecological enhancements which could be 

incorporated into the design at an early stage. Habitat connectivity is currently poor from 

east to west across the site and along the western and southern boundaries.  

 

The site promoter’s illustrative masterplan has included a number of measures to enhance 

and address identified ecological constraints including the retention of existing woodland 

areas where possible, whilst creating an east to west nature corridor in addition to enhancing 

the existing north to south tree belt to the east of the site.  A diverse range of habitats will 

also be provided including attenuation ponds/reed beds, rain gardens/hedgerows and 

woodland.  

 

Utilities  

Investment in utility will ensure that the site can accommodate the level of development 

proposed. OPUS Ltd has appraised the possible constraints of utilities crossing the site and 

the potential capability of connection to a range of services.  

 

In terms of water supply, there is a 200mm diameter distribution water main which runs 

along the western boundary of the site. In terms of sewerage, the site is crossed by a public 

combined sewer which runs north to south along the eastern boundary of the site before 

crossing the site towards the A474 south of the college campus. DCWW have advised that 

the waste water treatment plant (Penybont) has sufficient capacity to accommodate the 

envisaged foul flows from the proposed development, although additional hydraulic 

modelling will be required to advise on foul and water supply network capacity and potential 

connections points due to the size of the site. 

 

For electrical services, there are there are High Voltage underground cables which run 

along the western boundary of the site from the campus entrance to the roundabout 

between the A474 and Felindre Road. Along the northern boundary there are also High 

Voltage cables which run along the boundary from the north eastern corner to the campus 

site and then run along the boundary of the campus site heading south to the existing 

substation located along on the south of the development site adjacent to Felindre Road. 

The site promoter’s illustrative masterplan takes into account the required 3m easement 

either side of the apparatus. Connections will be to 11kV ring main sub-stations.  

 

For landline telephone / broadband, there is a BT Openreach junction box and cable in the 

south western corner of the site. Given the close proximity to the site boundary, diversion 

of this asset is not envisaged.  

 

For gas supply, the nearest main is located 2m from the site boundary, and is located east 

of the site. This is a 180mm PE Low Pressure main. The site is also crossed by a high 

pressure gas main which runs north to south across the site. Wales and West Utilities have 

provided details of the easements associated with this pipeline which states that no 

structure should be erected within 6.096m (20ft) either side of the pipeline. Due to the high 

pressure nature of the pipeline it is considered a hazard and therefore there are also 

development exclusion zones associated with the pipeline. The site promoter’s illustrative 

masterplan has adopted a 10m buffer zone either side of the pipeline. This area will be used 

Page 455



 

27 
 
 

to make a significant, positive contribution to the development’s green infrastructure network 

by creating a linear park that incorporates landscaping areas, nature conservation and 

pedestrian linkages to avoid unnecessary sterilisation of land. Connections not envisaged 

due to electric heating/cookers.  

 

 

Welsh Language  

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area.  

 

Archaeology  

The site is located within close proximity to two Listed Buildings within the main campus 

(Tregroes House and the bridge located on the driveway leading to the House. Glamorgan 

Gwent Archaeological Trust (GGAT) states that this site is the site of an 18th century house, 

farm, estate and managed landscape; boundaries as on Tithe Map, remnant planted 

avenues. Medieval settlement nearby, water management and milling. Pre-determination 

assessment is recommended as a first step in mitigation; this is unlikely to preclude 

development. 

 

The site promoter’s illustrative masterplan acknowledges these buildings and has 

subsequently been designed to ensure that no development will be in close proximity and 

have no adverse impact upon the listed buildings. 

 

Contamination/Remediation  

National Resources Wales states that the site could be at risk of contamination (Redroofs 

EAHLD14950). However, the site promoter does not consider the site to be at risk. Further 

investigation will carried out at the detailed planning application stage.    

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Education  

The development will meet the needs for the additional school places it generates through 

on-site provision and financial contributions.  

The development must provide 1.8ha of land to accommodate a 1.5 form entry primary 

school with a co-located nursery facility, and an additional buffer of 0.5ha for future 

expansion. Financial contributions must also be made to nursery, primary, secondary and 

post-16 education provision as required by the Local Education Authority, secured through 

Section 106 in accordance with the Education Facilities and Residential Development SPG. 

The school must be accessible to new and existing residents by all travel modes, enabled 

by the development.  

 

Affordable Housing  

The development must provide 20% affordable housing provision in accordance with policy 

PLA4.  

Page 456



 

28 
 
 

 

Open Space 

Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in accordance with 

Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing Development 

Supplementary Planning Guidance.  

 

Utilities  

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Masterplan Report Austin-Smith:Lord April 2020  

• Energy Strategy Report Savills July 2020 

• Drainage and Utilities Statement OPUS Ltd November 2018  

• Drainage Strategy & Flood Advice WSP September 2020  

• Ecological Appraisal Soltys Brewster  November 2018  

• High Level Viability Assessment Savills April 2020 

• Landscape Matters Note Savills September 2020 

• ALC Supplementary Note Savills September 2020 

• Headline Health Impact Assessment Savills September 2020 

• Transport Assessment WSP October 2020  

• 3G Pitch Strategy Note Savills February 2021 

• Viability Assessment  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 457



 

29 
 
 

SP2(5) / PLA5: Land East of Pyle, Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly 

Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation Name 

/ Ref 

Site Size 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Total Units 

(Private and 

Affordable) 

Phasing 

Tranche 

SP2(5) / PLA5:  
Land East of Pyle, 
Pyle, Kenfig Hill and 
North Cornelly 
Sustainable Growth 
Area 

99.86 ha Strategic 

Mixed-use 

Sustainable 

Urban 

Extension 

2,003 
residential units 
 
300 Affordable 
units 
 

2018-2022: 0 
units 
2023-2027: 220 
units 
2028-2033: 750 

units 

Site Description 

 

The site is located to the east of Pyle, bounded by the (Swansea to London Mainline) railway 

to the north, common land to the East, the M4 motorway to the South and the A4229 to the 

west. Village Farm Industrial Estate is also located immediately to the north, beyond the 

railway line. The site comprises nearly 100 hectares in total and is divided into 2 parcels by 

the alignment of the A48; Parcel A (to the south of the A48) consists of 60 ha and Parcel B 

(to the north of the A48), 40ha. The site rises gradually upwards away from the A48 

roundabout and is currently used as farmland. 

 

The site is allocated for a comprehensive residential-led mixed use scheme, including a 

local commercial centre, appropriate supporting infrastructure and the provision of two new 

primary schools, the latter inclusive of a land buffer to enable future expansion. The proposal 

would seek to deliver new pedestrian and active travel links from the site to Pyle/Kenfig Hill 

to improve connectivity. Particular emphasis will be placed on improving the pedestrian links 

to Pyle Railway Station and facilitating safe pedestrian and cycle passage between the site 

and Pyle through delivery of a new bridge over the railway line. 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Highways and Transport 

 

Active Travel Improvements 

The site is located in a sustainable location in terms of access to facilities and amenities, 

which will be further enhanced by the mixed-use nature of the site which will reduce the 

need to travel further afield. An Active Travel Assessment has been undertaken by Corun 

Associates Ltd, which concluded that the site is favourably positioned to contribute 

significantly towards Bridgend’s integrated transport strategy and help deliver local active 

travel improvements to Pyle, North Cornelly, Porthcawl and Bridgend in line with the Active 

Travel Wales 2013 Act. Connections and improvements must therefore be made to existing 

active travel routes and new routes should be provided to accord with the proposed routes 

within the Council’s ATNM: INM-PY-12, INM-PY-13, INM-PY-16, INM-PY-18, INM-PY-27 

and INM-PY-34. 

 

Page 458



 

30 
 
 

Pedestrian and cycle access will be provided by new 3m wide shared footway/cycleway 

which will be provided at all access points and along the full site boundary. Toucan crossings 

will also be provided to allow pedestrians and cycles to safely cross the A48 and A4229 and 

access the wider footway network. 

 

The development will also deliver a new pedestrian and cycle bridge over the existing 

railway line and along A48/Pyle Road to provide safe pedestrian and cycle linkages between 

the site and Pyle. Detailed bridged designs have been drafted by RVW Consulting and high 

level costings have been factored in the site-specific viability appraisal.  

 

Park and Ride Facility 

A feasibility study has been prepared to examine the potential for Pyle Railway Station 

(approximately 4.5 miles to the north of the site) to be redeveloped as a transport hub. This 

would entail relocating the existing railway station to the north of this site and incorporating 

extended park and ride facilities to improve links to Porthcawl as a pivotal terminus. The 

development will therefore not prejudice these plans, by reserving land to the north of the 

site for a new park and ride facility.  

 

New Access Roads 

In order to provide sufficient capacity to support vehicular access into this Strategic Site, the 

proposed site accesses will be taken via three separate junctions, one on the A4229 and 

two on the A48. 

 

The access on the A4229 will provide access to the western parcel of land. The junction will 

form a 3 arm MOVA controlled signal junction with a 7.3m access road. At the southern arm 

of the junction, an additional 3m right turn lane is proposed to allow access to the proposed 

development 

 

An additional access to the western land parcel will be provided via a new MOVA controlled 

staggered signal crossroad junction on the A48. The southern side of the junction will 

provide access to the western parcel via a 7.3m, likewise access to the eastern parcel on 

the northern side of the junction. 

 

The final access on the A48 will provide access to the eastern parcel of land. The junction 

will form a 3 arm MOVA controlled signal junction with a 7.3m access road. At the southern 

arm of the junction, an additional 3m right turn lane is proposed to allow access to the 

proposed development. 

 

Transport Assessment 

A detailed transport assessment has been completed by Corun Associates Ltd to examine 

the highway and transportation issues associated with the Strategic Site. This assessment 

was based on an upper limit of 2,320 residential units across the site’s two parcels (1,250-

1,430 dwellings on Parcel A and 780-890 dwellings on Parcel B).  

 

The Assessment concluded, following a preliminary accident investigation, that there are no 

evident clusters and therefore no obvious highway safety concerns within the vicinity of the 

proposed development. The Assessment undertook capacity analysis on 7 junctions, as 

Page 459



 

31 
 
 

agreed with the Council’s Highways Department, concluding that 5 of the 7 will not see any 

material issue with traffic flows as a result of the development quantum being introduced. 

However, two are forecast to experience queueing and delay that may warrant mitigation 

as part of the development of the site.  

 

Firstly, the quantum of development at the site is forecast to have a moderate impact on the 

operation of the A473/B4622 signals in the majority of the assessed scenarios. As the 

junction is marginally over capacity, a suitable S106 contribution will be required at the 

planning application stage either to enable the upgrade of this junction to Microprocessor 

Optimised Vehicle Actuation (MOVA) control and/or to optimise the existing signal controller 

configuration.  

 

Secondly, the A48 / Heol Mostyn Priority Junction is forecast to experience capacity issues 

in the assessment scenarios, which will likely be magnified, to some extent, by site traffic. 

The Council is investigating the signalisation of the junction which will provide significant 

capacity and safety improvements and allow queues and delay to be managed at each 

approach. However, further assessment of this junction will be required at the planning 

application stage and may require the installation of the signals as part of a S106 or S278 

agreement. The junction will also be expected to provide MOVA control to minimise delay. 

 

Flood Risk 

A preliminary flood risk and drainage overview note was prepared by JBA Consulting, which 

highlighted the northern boundary of the eastern parcel of land is located within DAM Zone 

C2. Natural Resources Wales also echoed these comments, highlighting that the site is 

partially in zone C2 Fach (Pyle) main river on northern boundary. Therefore, development 

will be located away from this area of land and confined solely to areas within DAM Zone A 

(Areas at little or no risk of flooding). Areas at high risk of flooding are to be confined to uses 

which are of low vulnerability to flooding, such as Public Open Space or SuDS. Further to 

this, it was concluded that the site has a low-to-medium risk of flooding due to surface water, 

albeit there is a negligible risk of flooding to the site from all other sources of flooding. It is 

proposed that existing surface water flow routes are retained where possible and 

incorporated into the surface water drainage strategy for the site. Therefore, there be no 

built form provided in this area, and it will be appropriately used for public open space. 

 

A Flood Consequence Assessment is not considered necessary at this time as it is not a 

fundamental constraint to the site and the designation has been ‘designed out’. 

 

A revised TAN15 is due to be implemented in June 2023. This will be supported by the new 

Flood Map for Planning, which includes climate change information to show how this will 

affect flood risk extents over the next century. It shows the potential extent of flooding 

assuming no defences are in place. A review of the new Flood Map for Planning shows the 

site to be partially located within Flood Zone 2 and 3 along the northern boundary of the 

eastern parcel of land. The current masterplan has considered constraints and has 

appropriately positioned development around them.  

 

Land Ownership 

 

Page 460



 

32 
 
 

All landowners are committed to working towards ensuring a development site that can be 

delivered as a comprehensive development. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

Natural Resources Wales have commented that the site is adjacent to Glaswelltiroedd Cefn 

Cribwr / Cefn Cribwr Grasslands SAC and Penycastell, Cefn Cribwr SSSI, highlighting the 

need for careful assessment and consideration to avoid any detrimental impact on the 

designated sites. An Ecology Report was undertaken by Wildwood Ecology, which 

confirmed there is an adjacent partial SSSI/SAC (Cefn Cribwr Grasslands –sections 9 and 

10), which is designated for its purple moor-grass meadows and marsh fritillary butterfly 

presence. This designation is separated from the site by a road and railway line to the north 

of the north-east corner. No devil’s bit scabious or purple moor-grass was found on-site 

during the field visit, with the land either grazed by sheep or cattle, or cut for hay/silage. No 

negative impacts are anticipated on this designated site, or any others within the local area 

(including Stormy Down SSSI, found to the immediate south-east of the site). Further work 

is to be undertaken from an ecological perspective in line with the recommendations of the 

report. However, there were no ‘show-stoppers’ found at this stage, with appropriate 

mitigation measures available to ensure that the development of the site is acceptable and 

any related impacts can be minimised. 

 

Natural Resources Wales also referenced that hazel dormice and bats may be present on 

the site. Wildwood Ecology’s Appraisal outlined the key issues at the site from an ecological 

perspective, as well as a number of recommendations for further survey / mitigation work, 

as follows: 

 

• The on-site buildings at Ty-Draw and Stormy, along with the pill box structure and barn 

to the south-east part of the site, and several scattered trees across the site offer 

suitable opportunities for roosting bats. 

 

• Boundary features (trees and hedgerows) are likely to be important for commuting and 

foraging priority and protected species (e.g., bats and common dormice).  

 

• The on-site pond offers some suitable habitat for amphibians. 

 

• A badger sett (outlier) was found on-site within a hedge bank, along with unidentified 

mammal paths to the south. 

 

• The hedgerows and trees/scrub offer good conditions for breeding birds to nest within. 

 

Retaining hedgerows (themselves a priority habitat) and major tree-lines will be beneficial 

in mitigating for some of the potential impacts, though further surveys will be required to 

inform lighting plans and any specific mitigation/compensation if priority species are found 

(e.g. ponds for newts; bat roosts). Further work is to be undertaken from an ecological perspective 

in line with the recommendations of the report. However, there were no ‘show-stoppers’ found 

at this stage, with appropriate mitigation measures available to ensure that the development 

of the site is acceptable and any related impacts can be minimised. 

Page 461



 

33 
 
 

 

Utilities 

Investment in utility infrastructure will ensure that the site can accommodate the level of 

development proposed. For electricity, the development will need to fund connections, 

diversions and an EHV 33/11 kV Primary Substation on-site. Connections will also need to 

be made to the gas network and connections/diversions will need to be made to enable 

broadband provision. A feasibility study has been completed, including costing estimations 

necessary to enable the development to be delivered.   

 

DCWW have advised that there are no public sewers in the immediate vicinity of the site so 

the nearest option for a foul connection (avoiding private land and crossing the railway line) 

would appear to be onto the 300mm combined sewer in Ffordd Yr Eglwys, at the junction 

with Pill Y Cynffig. An initial 200 dwelling could be accommodated at this point, although 

further modelling will be required an undertaken. DCWW advised that there were no further 

significant capacity concerns aside from this. Upsizing of the existing local network will be 

required, along with surface water removal, to offset the significant increase in foul flows. 

However, this will require more detailed hydraulic modelling, which would be conducted to 

support an outline planning application. This would also inform any reinforcement works 

necessary to serve the site with clean water.  

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

A Desk-Based Assessment of the site has been undertaken by Archaeology Wales. The 

assessment highlighting the following specific features:   

 

• A WWII pillbox to the North-Western portion of the site,  

• An existing farmstead complex to the east;  

• An area of earthworks in the NE corner related to a 19th century farmstead (but 

potentially much older); and  

• A 19th century tram-line running through the northern part of the site.  

 

The site is adjacent to Stormy Castle, a medieval settlement with monastic grange around 

it, which could possibly extend into the site. The A48 itself is also thought to follow the line 

of a Roman road, although the precise route of a Roman road through here hasn’t been 

proven. In terms of likely mitigation measures, the archaeological planning advisors (GGAT) 

have advised that a geophysical survey of the site should be undertaken. This will be 

undertaken to support the future planning application.  

 

Contamination/Remediation 

Intégral Géotechnique (Wales) Limited have undertaken a geo-environmental and 

geotechnical desk study of the site. The desk study found that the overall contamination 

potential of the site was low / medium, with the previous and current land use not likely to 

produce significant contaminants and the risk of harm to human health being low. As such, 

Page 462



 

34 
 
 

from an environmental perspective the report concludes that it is unlikely that the issue will 

arise as a liability/cost. 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Education  

The development will meet the needs for the additional school places it generates through 

on-site provision and financial contributions. 

The development must provide 4.6 hectares of land to accommodate 2 two form entry 

primary schools with co-located nursery facilities and an additional buffer of 1.1ha for future 

expansion. Financial contributions must also be made to nursery, primary, secondary and 

post-16 education provision as required by the Local Education Authority, secured through 

Section 106 in accordance with the Education Facilities and Residential Development SPG. 

Both schools must be accessible to new and existing residents by all travel modes, enabled 

by the development.  

 

Affordable Housing  

The development must provide 15% affordable housing provision in accordance with 

policy PLA5.  

 

Open Space 

Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in accordance with 

Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing Development 

Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Indicative Site Masterplan   

• Transport Assessment  

• Ecological Appraisal  

• Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment ;  

• Tree and Hedgerow Survey   

• Flood risk and drainage report  

• Desk Based Archaeology report   

• Utilities Search   

• Noise Assessment  

• Geo-environmental and geotechnical desk study 

• Agricultural Land Assessment 

• Active Travel Assessment 

• Viability Assessment 

• Energy Strategy 

• Railway Crossing Bridge Schematic Designs 

Page 463



 

35 
 
 

COM1(1): Land at Heol Fach, North Cornelly, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly 
Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation Name 
/ Ref 

Site Size 
(ha) 

Allocation 
Type 
(Housing, 
Employment, 
Mixed Use) 

Total Units 
(Private and 
Affordable) 

Phasing 
Tranche 

COM1(1): Heol Fach,                                                             
North Cornelly 
Sustainable Growth 
Area 

10.15ha Housing 
Allocation  

255 residential 
units 
 
51 Affordable 
units 
 

2018-2022: 0 
units 
2023-2027: 207 
units 
2028-2033: 48 
units 

Site Description 

The development site at Heol Fach comprises several individual paddocks, with a total site 

area of 10.15ha. The site lies to the west of North Cornelly and approximately 0.5 miles 

(0.8km) north west of the village centre. The site has the capacity to accommodate 

approximately 255 homes, including an element of affordable housing which will be provided 

in accordance with local policy and need. The proposals will include infrastructure and public 

open space and landscape areas. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Highways and Transport 

 

Active Travel Improvements 

An existing active travel route is located within 50m of the site, which is designated for 

walking and cycling. The site is also within 100m of a proposed active travel route 

designated for shared-use off-road. Connections and improvements must therefore be 

made to existing active travel routes and new routes should be provided to accord with the 

proposed routes within the Council’s ATNM: INM-PY-21 and 2212. 

 

New Access Roads 

Vehicular access will be from Heol Fach, with a new priority junction created to serve all 

parts of the site. There are several public footpaths crossing the site, these access points 

and routes will be accommodated within the proposals. 

 

Transport Assessment 

A Transport Assessment (TA) has been undertaken by Asbri Transport. The TA has 

demonstrated that there is no existing highway safety pattern or problem within the vicinity 

of the site which could be exacerbated by the proposed development. It has also 

demonstrated that sufficient multi-modal access can be achieved via an established and 

proposed network of active travel routes and existing public transport services within the 

vicinity of the site. The local highway network within the vicinity of the site also has sufficient 

spare capacity to accommodate the development within the peak periods.  

 

 

 

Page 464



 

36 
 
 

Flood Risk 

A Flood Risk and Drainage Scoping Study was conducted by BWB Consulting in November 

2020 on behalf of Bellway Homes. 

The following headline conclusions and recommendations were provided; 

• The site is shown to be at high risk of pluvial flooding, associated with a topographic 

depression located within the site boundary. Detailed mapping sows the potential 

for depths up to 1.2m. 

• Given the local sewer network and wider topography, it is expected that in the event 

of the sewer surcharging, flows may replicate the surface water flood risk mapping 

and enter the site. 

• The assessment suggests the site is at low risk of fluvial, reservoir, and groundwater 

sources. 

 

A revised TAN15 is due to be implemented in June 2023. This will be supported by the new 

Flood Map for Planning, which includes climate change information to show how this will 

affect flood risk extents over the next century. It shows the potential extent of flooding 

assuming no defences are in place. A review of the new Flood Map for Planning shows the 

site to be located outside of any flood zone and is therefore considered at low or no risk of 

flooding. 

 

Land Ownership 

The site is being brought forward by Bellway Homes, who are committed to working towards 

ensuring a development site that can be delivered as a comprehensive development. 

 

Ecological/Environmental Designations 

An Ecology Briefing Note has been prepared in relation to the site by The Environmental 

Dimension Partnership Ltd (EDP) on behalf of Bellway Homes. This briefing note provides 

an initial high-level assessment of the Study Site with respect to identifying key ecological 

constraints and opportunities, to inform a wider assessment of its potential to support future 

residential development and promotion to BCBC. 

 

A desk study has identified several statutorily designated sites present within the Study 

Site’s zone of influence. The most pertinent of which includes Kenfig SSSI adjacent to 

northern boundary of the Study Site, Kenfig SAC located within 150m of the Study Site and 

Cefn Cribwr Grasslands SAC located circa 4.4km south-east. In addition, a desk study 

identified several non-statutory sites within the zone of Influence, including north-eastern 

Dunes SINC immediately north and north-east of the Study Site, Kenfig Pool and Dunes 

LNR circa 150m west and Afon Kenfig SINC 380m north-east. 

 

An Extended Phase 1 survey completed on 10 September 2018, and updated on 27 March 

2020, found the Study Site to be dominated by agriculturally improved grassland of limited 

botanical interest and thus of low inherent ecological value. Habitats of greatest ecological 

importance include native hedgerows delineating the northern boundary of the Study Site 

and internal field boundaries in addition to offsite woodland habitat adjacent to the western 

boundary of the Study Site. Further detailed surveys of the Study Site undertaken between 

2018 and 2019 in respect of bats and common reptiles identified a low population of slow-

Page 465



 

37 
 
 

worm and common lizard onsite, whilst hedgerow boundaries were noted as being of 

importance to a foraging/commuting bat assemblage as well as a breeding bird assemblage 

more generally. 

 

In terms of protected species, Natural Resources Wales indicate that Bats which are 

considered European Protected Species (EPS) may exist or contain habitats with the 

potential to support populations on site. If such species are confirmed on site licences from 

NRW and appropriate mitigation measures would be required prior to any development and 

this is likely to result in some loss of developable area given the requirement for habitat 

retention / enhancement associated with licensing. 

 

The study considered the following species: 

 

Bats  

Over six species of bat (Myotis and Plecotus species were not always identified to species 

level) were confirmed to be foraging and/or commuting within the Study site during surveys 

undertaken between June and September 2019. The habitats present within the Study Site 

that hold value to the foraging and commuting populations are limited to the agricultural 

grazing grassland, the continuous bracken and tall herbs line and the hedgerows. However, 

these habitats are relatively common within the local area and widespread within the 

landscape. 

 

Based on the size of the Study Site, the assemblage of bats recorded, their national and 

local distribution and current conservation status, the overall bat population supported by 

the Study Site is assessed as being of Local Importance. 

 

Badger 

Four records for badger (Meles meles) were returned by South East Wales Biodiversity 

Records Centre (SEWBReC) during the desk study, all within circa 400-600m of the Study 

Site at Kenfig Dunes. No evidence of this species was recorded across the Study Site; 

however, although improved grassland is considered to provide suitable foraging 

opportunities. Boundary features are also considered to offer some level of shelter and 

refuge. No opportunities for sett building are considered to exist onsite; however, although 

offsite habitats occurring adjacent, such as the broadleaved woodland belt to the west, may 

offer up some potential habitat. 

 

Dormouse 

No records for dormouse (Muscardinus avellanarius) were returned by SEWBReC during 

the desk study. Overall, therefore the Study Site is considered to be of negligible importance 

to dormouse. 

 

Otter and Water Vole 

Several records for otter (Lutra lutra) were returned during the desk study, primarily in 

association with Kenfig Pool situated over 1.4km to the west of the Study Site. A closer 

record was returned circa 545m to the north of the Study Site. No records were returned for 

water vole (Arvicola amphibicus) during the desk study. 

 

Page 466



 

38 
 
 

No suitable habitat for either species on or adjacent to the Study Site is supported, such 

that both species are presumed absent. Overall, therefore the Study Site is considered to 

be of negligible importance to otter and water vole. 

 

Great Crested Newt  

Two records for great crested newt (Triturus cristatus) were returned, in addition to a single 

record for palmate newt (Lissotriton helveticus) and smooth newt (Lissotriton vulgaris), 

located circa 565m away at Kenfig Dunes. Records for common frog (Rana temporaria) and 

common toad (Bufo bufo) were also received for the same location. 

 

No aquatic features occur onsite or immediately adjacent, with an absence of ponds present 

within 500m of the Study Site. Terrestrial habitats onsite, comprising improved grassland 

bound by managed hedgerows and subject to grazing, are also considered to offer sub-

optimal opportunities for this species group. 

 

As such great crested newt is presumed absent from the Study Site and thus considered to 

be of negligible importance in the context of proposed development. 

 

Common Reptiles 

Numerous records for common reptile species including common lizard (Zooctoca vivpara), 

slow-worm (Anguis fragilis) and grass snake (Natrix natrix helvetia) were returned during 

the desk study. These were primarily associated with Kenfig Dunes north of the Study Site, 

with the closest records occurring circa 545m away. No records for adder (Vipera berus) 

were received. Based on the peak count of two individual slow-worm and one individual of 

common lizard, the populations of both species utilising the Study Site is confirmed as small. 

Slow-worm and common lizard are, thus, considered important at the Site level. 

 

Other Mammals  

SEWBReC returned multiple records of European hedgehog (Erinaceus europaeus) during 

the desk study, the closest of which was recorded within 50m of the Study Site during 2013. 

Additionally, records for polecat (Mustela putorius) and brown hare (Lepus europaeus) 

associated with Kenfig Dunes were also received, located circa 565m and 1.4km away 

respectively. 

 

With respect to European hedgehog, polecat and brown hare, boundary features including 

hedgerows, scrub and adjacent woodland habitat do provide some suitable limited cover 

and foraging habitat. However, such opportunities are considerably limited, given the small 

size of the Study Site and its residential surroundings. 

 

Notable Invertebrates  

A number of records for the protected marsh fritillary butterfly (Euphydryas aurinia) were 

returned, located circa 1.2km to the south-west of the Study Site. Other protected and 

notable species records received include records of lepidoptera including: white-lettered 

hairstreak (Satyrium w-album); small pearl-bordered fritillary (Boloria selene); dingy skipper 

(Erynnis tages); and dusky dart (Euxoa tritici), and records of hymenoptera including: 

brown-banded carder bee (Bombus humilis); and shrill carder bee (Bombus slyvarum). 

 

Page 467



 

39 
 
 

The Concept Masterplan has sought to locate development across those habitats of 

predominantly limited ecological value whilst retaining boundary habitats as far as possible, 

offsetting such features from the development edge, as well as Kenfig SSSI adjacent with 

the inclusion of habitat buffers. Such features have further been accommodated within 

proposed open green space, which ultimately enhances connectivity throughout the Study 

Site and contributes to the wider green infrastructure resource. 

 

Where avoidance is not possible, however, and will result in the loss of internal field 

boundaries, the Concept Masterplan has sought to minimise impacts through the provision 

of new tree and shrub planting across areas of open green space. This will be combined 

with infill tree planting of retained boundary hedgerows and trees, enhancing and 

strengthening wildlife corridors of value to a local bat, breeding bird and common reptile 

assemblage. 

 

Overall, and with respect to habitats and species identified onsite during the course of 

detailed ecological survey effort, it is considered that there are no obvious ‘in principle’ 

(significant) ecological constraints. The Concept Masterplan shows that with the inclusion 

of inherent mitigation, to include retention and protection of sensitive habitat features and 

inclusion of open green space, development could incorporate appropriate avoidance, 

mitigation and enhancement measures to ensure its implementation in accordance with 

national and local planning policy and wildlife legislation. 

 

Utilities 

 

Water and Waste Water – WwTW Provision and Improvements 

Foul drainage will be treated at its Afan Waste Water Treatment Works (WWTW). Welsh 

Water report no issues in terms of capacity. 

 

Water and Waste Water – Water Supply 

Welsh Water have indicated that a hydraulic modelling assessment will be required due to 

size of development. 

 

Water and Waste Water – Foul Network / Public Sewerage 

In respect of sewerage, Welsh Water state that a hydraulic modelling assessment will be 

required due to the size of development. An existing 225mm sewer traverses the site. Welsh 

Water also note that a foul Sewage Pumping Station (SPS) exists on site.  

 

Electricity Provision  

No electricity provision difficulties/constraints have been identified. 

 

Gas Supply 

No gas supply provision difficulties/constraints have been identified. 

 

Telecommunications  

No telecommunications provision difficulties/constraints have been identified. 

 

Welsh Language 

Page 468



 

40 
 
 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust (GGAT) state that Tilthe Maps show the hedgerows 

as current; these should be surveyed to record and retain them within the development.  

Existing hedgerows will be retained where possible.  Where hedges need to be removed; 

new planting and trees will reinforce green connections. 

 

An Archaeology and Heritage Appraisal has been prepared by The Environmental 

Dimension Partnership Ltd (EDP) on behalf of Bellway Homes. It sets out the findings of an 

assessment of the archaeological and heritage baseline for the site. The assessment has 

identified that the site does not contain any ‘designated historic assets’, and neither is it 

located (either wholly or in part) within the boundary of such an asset; to the extent that 

there are no ‘in principle’ heritage constraints to the delivery of the site for development, or 

in respect of its capacity to accommodate development. 

 

The assessment has not identified any non-designated historic assets within the site. Given 

the evidence derived from the HER, NMRW, site visit, historic maps and aerial photographs, 

it is considered that, although it is located within an AAS, as defined by the LDP, the site 

has limited potential to contain significant archaeological remains, with much of it having 

been heavily disturbed during the construction of the M4. 

 

In conclusion, on the basis of current information; the site does not possess any known 

historic environment constraints, and it is an entirely deliverable location for new housing. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

A detailed Site Investigation Report has been undertaken by Intégral Géotechnique to 

support the candidate site submission. The site promoter does not consider the site to be 

at risk.   

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Education  

The development will meet the needs for the additional school places it generates through 

planning contributions. 

 

Financial contributions must be made to nursery, primary, secondary and post-16 education 

provision as required by the Local Education Authority, secured through Section 106 in 

accordance with the Education Facilities and Residential Development SPG.  

 

 

 

Page 469



 

41 
 
 

Affordable Housing  

The development must provide 20% affordable housing provision in accordance with policy 

COM3.  

 

Open Space 

Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in accordance with 

Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing Development 

Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Air Quality Technical Note (BWB) 

• Site Promotion Document, which has been prepared in conjunction with technical input 

from Bellway Homes, Boyer, Urban Design Box, EDP, Asbri Transport and BWB. 

• Arboricultural Baseline Note (EDP) 

• Archaeological and Heritage Assessment (EDP) 

• Ecology Briefing Note (EDP) 

• Flood Risk and Drainage Scoping Study (BWB) 

• Landscape and Visual Appraisal (EDP) 

• Noise Assessment (BWB) 

• Transport Assessment (Asbri Transport). 

• Site Investigation Report (Intégral Géotechnique) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 470



 

42 
 
 

COM1(2): Craig y Parcau, Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation Name 
/ Ref 

Site Size 
(ha) 

Allocation 
Type 
(Housing, 
Employment, 
Mixed Use) 

Total Units 
(Private and 
Affordable)  

Phasing 
Tranche 

COM1(2): Craig y 
Parcau, Bridgend 
Sustainable Growth 
Area 

6.6ha Housing 
Allocation  

108 residential 
units 
 
24 Affordable 
units 
 

2018-2022: 0 
units 
2023-2027: 108 
units 
2028-2033: 0 
units 

Site Description 
Craig Y Parcau consists of a 6.6ha parcel of land bound to the north by the A48, to the east 
by River Ogmore (and a public footpath running adjacent to it), to the south by New Inn 
Road, and to the west by mature trees. The proposed development is for approximately 108 
homes across two different parcels alongside associated green and blue infrastructure. The 
proposed development at Craig Y Parcau could be accessed from the A48 roundabout with 
the B4622. 
 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 
 
Highways and Transport 
 
Active Travel Improvements 
There are a number of proposed active travel routes surrounding the site boundary. One 
proposed active route relating to the north of the site includes shared-use off-road intended 
for pedestrians and cyclists for travel between Broadlands and Bridgend Industrial Estate 
(Route: INM-BR-45).  
 
The site promoter has undertaken an Active Travel Assessment (October 2020) which 
identifies a number of deficiencies within the current site. The site promoter will mitigate 
these constraints by seeking to connect to proposed active travel routes to encourage active 
modes of travel amongst existing and future highway network users. This is evident in the 
submitted masterplan and must be addressed as part of the future planning application. 
Connections and improvements must therefore be made to existing active travel routes and 
new routes should be provided to accord with the proposed routes within the Council’s 
ATNM: INM-BR-48 and INM-BR-128.   
 
New Access Roads 
The site is bound to the north by the A48, a single lane trunk road that runs along the 
southern fringe of the settlement of Bridgend, running westwards to Pyle and towards Port 
Talbot, and eastwards to Cowbridge and towards Cardiff. Access to the site will be via the 
existing southern arm off Broadlands Roundabout, which will be upgraded to accommodate 
the development traffic. Previous capacity analysis of the junction, as part of the existing 
Island Farm planning permission, indicates that nil detriment or better can be readily 
achieved within adopted highway land. 
 
Transport Assessment 
A detailed assessment has been completed by Corun Associates Ltd in support of Island 
Farm and Craig y Parcau. Craig y Parcau is likely to come forward in tandem with Island 
Farm as indicated by the housing trajectory and as such has been collectively assessed. 
The expected trip generation and distribution from the previously consented and revised 

Page 471



 

43 
 
 

Island Farm proposals have been assessed through a series of Transport Strategic 
Appraisals and Transport Assessment reports for different units of the wider site. A 
Technical Note has been prepared to combine all assessment work undertaken so far, and 
identify how the traffic from the revised Island Farm proposals is expected to be distributed 
across the surrounding assessment network, and how they compare to the flows from the 
consented Island Farm proposals.  
 
The Technical Note indicates that with the exception of the A48 proposed site access 
junction, and the Ewenny Road Roundabout in the AM peak hour, and the B4265 / Ewenny 
Road junction in both peak hours, the revised Island Farm and Craig y Parcau proposals 
will result in lower traffic flows through all junctions across the assessment network over 
both the AM and PM peak hour periods, compared to the previous consented development 
proposals on the Island Farm Site. As the consented flows are technically already 
considered to be existing on the highway network, this revised scheme will provide traffic 
reduction improvements across the local highway network. Previous assessment work on 
the Island Farm site has identified that the Broadlands Roundabout, Ewenny Roundabout, 
and Picton Close Junction all show capacity issues in forecast year assessment scenarios 
both including and excluding the consented Island Farm proposals traffic. Although the 
revised Island Farm and Craig y Parcau proposals in general bring traffic reductions across 
these junctions (from what was previously consented), with consideration of background 
traffic growth alone, these junctions will still likely require mitigation to operate within 
capacity during future forecast years. The reduction in flows as a result of the revised Island 
Farm proposals, however, may mean that any mitigation measures implemented can 
potentially achieve greater capacity improvements at each junction. The revised proposals 
at the Island Farm and Craig y Parcau sites include three separate vehicle access points 
onto the local highway network (compared to just two within the consented scheme). All 
three site access junctions are expected to operate within capacity under the revised Island 
Farm and Craig y Parcau proposals. An updated assessment at all three identified junctions, 
and the site access junctions will be undertaken as part of a future supporting Transport 
Assessment for the revised development, which will ideally include up to date baseline traffic 
flows as the basis for the assessment.  
 
Flood Risk 
Craig Y Parcau is located within Flood Zone A (considered to be at little or no risk of fluvial 
or coastal/tidal flooding) as detailed in Natural Resources Wales’ Development Advice Maps 
and therefore the proposed form of development is considered appropriate on flooding 
grounds. Included at Appendices 7 is a Drainage strategy prepared by wL2.  
 
Surface water for the western plateau of the site will make use of a series of attenuation 
systems (such as underground tanks, reens and ponds) which discharge into the stream 
bed that runs through the site. For the eastern plateau, the intention is for surface water to 
discharge either into the stream bed itself or into the River Ogwr to the east. In all cases, 
the maximum discharge flow will be limited to the 1 in 100-year greenfield run-off for that 
part of the site. Foul water will connect the Dwr Cymru Welsh Water sewer on the southern 
side of the A48. 
 
The masterplan has been prepared with SuDS principles in mind, looking to make use of 
attenuation ponds, reens, and swales which will contribute to biodiversity and make 
attractive features that are part of the masterplan’s green and blue infrastructure network. 
These principles will be incorporated as part of the future planning application.  
 
A revised TAN15 is due to be implemented in June 2023. This will be supported by the new 
Flood Map for Planning, which includes climate change information to show how this will 
affect flood risk extents over the next century. It shows the potential extent of flooding 

Page 472



 

44 
 
 

assuming no defences are in place. A review of the new Flood Map for Planning shows the 
site to be located outside of any flood zone and is therefore considered at low or no risk of 
flooding. 
 
Land Ownership 
The Site is being promoted by the HD Ltd. Craig-Y-Parcau is under the sole ownership of 
HD Ltd. As such, there are no other landowners and no unresolved land ownership issues. 
 
Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 
An Ecology Report has been prepared by Ethos Environmental Planning of the site, of which 
provides an assessment of both the Island Farm and Craig y Parcau areas’ ecological 
opportunities and constraints and provides recommendations for further surveys.  
 
Craig-Y-Parcau area was comprised of a mosaic of grassland, scattered and dense scrub, 
woodland and hedgerows, with the River Ogmore located along the eastern site boundary. 
There were a number of mature trees across the site and at the site boundaries which had 
aesthetic and ecological value. Structures were also present – these were in very poor 
condition and were not accessed internally. 
  
The Ecological Report also considered protected species (including Dormouse, Riparian 
mammals, Great crested newt, Birds, Bats, Badgers and Reptiles).  
 
Dormouse  
The site contains hedgerows and woodland were assessed to hold high value for dormice. 
The previous surveys identified the presence of dormice within the SINC located in the north 
of the site. It was therefore assessed that further surveys would be required to update the 
status of the site for this species and to inform detailed proposals for the site.  
 
Riparian mammals  
The River Ogmore was present along the eastern edge of the Craig-Y-Parcau, with records 
of both otter and water vole found south of the site. However, the previous surveys identified 
no evidence of riparian mammals within the development area. Considering the presence 
of previous records in the area and suitable habitat directly adjacent to the site, it is 
recommended surveys are undertaken for these protected species and to inform detailed 
proposals for the site.  
 
Great crested newt  
The previous surveys assessed the ponds to be unsuitable for great crested newt (GCN) 
and that GCN were absent from the site. Since then, it is understood that the previously 
surveyed ponds have been removed and new wildlife ponds created in the south-west of 
the main site area. The two water bodies identified during the walkover had relatively low 
water levels and limited aquatic vegetation. The current proposals indicate the retention and 
protection of the ponds. Nevertheless, they could provide suitable breeding habitat for 
amphibians and it is recommended that a Habitat Suitability Index of each of the ponds 
within 500m of the development site to inform detailed planning application.  
 
Birds  
There was a mix of permanent pasture and arable land providing suitable habitat for 
farmland birds. Also, the hedgerows and their margins within the fields was assessed to 
provide potential habitat for ground nesting birds. The woodland, hedgerows, scrub and 
scattered trees were assessed to have high potential for breeding birds. Evidence of barn 
owl was found in a stable in the south-east of the site. Further surveys for breeding birds 
have been recommended within section 5 to inform detailed proposals for the site.  
 

Page 473



 

45 
 
 

Bats  
The previous surveys identified roosting lesser horseshoe and brown long-eared bats within 
Hut 9 in the woodland in the SINC. Since the previous surveys were undertaken, a dedicated 
bat roost has been created in the south-west of the main site. Additionally, the built 
structures within the Craig-Y-Parcau area were in extremely poor structural condition and a 
wide range of bat roosting features were visible for the external walkover. They were 
assessed to hold high potential for roosting bats. Therefore, it was assessed that an updated 
assessment of the structures should be undertaken to assess their status for roosting bats. 
Additionally, emergence/re-entry surveys are recommended. The habitats within both sites 
contained woodland and hedgerows, offering potential commuting, foraging and roosting 
habitats for bats may provide potential commuting and foraging habitats for bats. A number 
of mature trees were also noted which could have potential roosting features for bats.  
 
Badgers  
The habitats on site were comprised of woodland, grassland and arable land which have 
potential to support badgers. However, it should be noted that the previous survey identified 
badgers to be absent from the site.  
 
Reptiles  
Much of the site was comprised of arable land and agriculturally intensified grassland 
providing negligible potential for reptiles. The key features were assessed to be the sections 
of grassland and scrub located at the woodland edges. The site was comprised of common 
and widespread habitats providing low potential habitats for invertebrates. No detailed 
surveys will be required. 
 
Such findings have influenced the indicative masterplan proposal for the site of which 
includes the retention of vegetative habitat on site and creation of a swale and an 
attenuation pond in the east of the site. Further future surveys will be undertaken at the 
detailed planning application stage, with appropriate mitigation measures to be incorporated 
where necessary.   
 
Utilities 
Investment in utility infrastructure will ensure that the site can accommodate the level of 
development proposed. Given the site’s location, in close proximity to existing built form, it 
is considered that appropriate water, gas and other utility connections can be made to the 
site. 
 
Water and Waste Water – WwTW Provision and Improvements 
Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water indicate there should be no issue with Penybont (Merthyr Mawr) 
WwTW accommodating the foul-only flows from this development.  
 
Water and Waste Water – Water Supply 
Owing to the number of units proposed on this site, it is unlikely that the water supply 
network has sufficient capacity to serve this site without causing detriment to existing 
customers’ supply. As such, a hydraulic modelling assessment will likely be required in order 
to determine the level of reinforcement works required. 
 
Water and Waste Water – Foul Network / Public Sewerage 
There should be no issue with the public sewerage network accommodating the foul-only 
flows from this development site.  The site is traversed by a 350mm foul sewer for which 
protection measures will be required in the form of an easement width or diversion.  
 
Electricity Provision 
For electricity, the development will need to fund connections, diversions and a new WPD  

Page 474



 

46 
 
 

HV (11kV) ring main to serve the site with two 1MVA HV / LV sub-stations to serve the 
intended number of dwellings.  
 
Gas Supply 
Connections will also need to be made to the gas network. 
 
Telecommunications  
Connections/diversions will need to be made to enable broadband provision. 
 
Welsh Language 
The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 
 
Archaeology & Heritage 
There are no listed buildings on Craig-Y-Parcau, though New Inn Lodge (30m from the site) 
and New Inn Bridge to the south (circa 10m) are both listed whilst New Inn Bridge (10m 
from the site) is also a Scheduled Ancient Monument. A submitted masterplan 
acknowledges the two Grade II listed structures and Scheduled Ancient Monument and has 
been designed to ensure no development will be in close proximity in addition to no adverse 
impact upon the building. This will need to be further demonstrated as part of the future 
planning application.  
 
Contamination/Remediation 
WL Squared have been engaged by the site promoter to provide an outline drainage 
strategy for the proposed development based on the masterplan prepared by Roberts 
Limbrick Architects. The drainage strategy, prepared in April 2020, includes commentary on 
potential contamination within the site, the key points of which are shown below: 

• No intrusive site investigations have yet been undertaken on the site however a desk 
top study of local site investigation information available indicates that the site is 
likely to be underlain with relatively impervious glacial tills/clay soils containing some 
proportion of sands and gravels between circa 3 and 6.5 metres deep overlying 
Lower Lias beds overlying Carboniferous Limestone. 

• It is likely that the Lower Lias geological unit identified beneath the site is susceptible 
to natural cavity formation. To the north east of the site, at least thirteen subsidences 
were recorded in the vicinity of Nolton Street, Bridgend between 1920 and 1950 
within Lower Lias deposits which were, predominantly, overlain by Glacial Sand and 
Gravel. 

• It is thought that natural cavities within the limestone were previously at surface level 
and that these features were in-filled with superficial glacial deposits at the end of 
the ice age. Groundwater over time flows through the soils and washes out the cavity 
backfill resulting in the creation of voids which eventually reach the surface. 

• In view of these conditions the discharge of significant amounts of rainfall runoff via 
shallow filtration methods is likely to lead to ground instability. 

 
Further investigation will be carried out at the detailed planning application stage. 
 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 
in SPG where known) For example:  
 
Access 
Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 
 
 
 

Page 475



 

47 
 
 

Education  
The development will meet the needs for the additional school places it generates through 
planning obligations. Financial contributions must be made to nursery, primary, secondary 
and post-16 education provision as required by the Local Education Authority, secured 
through Section 106 in accordance with the Education Facilities and Residential 
Development SPG.  
 
Affordable Housing  
The development must provide 20% affordable housing provision in accordance with policy 
COM3.  
 
Open Space 
Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in accordance with 
Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing Development 
Supplementary Planning Guidance. 
 
Utilities 
To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 
 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Energy Strategy Report - Troup, Bywaters & Anders 

• Supporting Statement - Savills 

• Masterplan Report - Roberts Limbrick 

• Utility Report - Troup Bywaters & Anders 

• Ecology Appraisal – Ethos Ecology 

• Summary of Site Investigations – Wl2 

• Transport Strategic Appraisal - Corun Associates 

• Active Travel Assessment - Corun Associates 

• Craig-Y-Parcau Drainage Strategy - Wl2 

• High Level Viability Assessment - - Savills 

• Landscape Note – Savills 

• Transport Assessment - Corun Associates 

• Health Impact Assessment – Savills 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 476



 

48 
 
 

COM1(3): Land South East of Pont Rhyd-y-cyff, Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley 

Regeneration Growth Area 

Site Allocation Name 

/ Ref 

Site Size 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Total Units 

(Private and 

Affordable)  

Phasing 

Tranche 

COM1(3):  

Land South East of 

Pont Rhyd-y-cyff, 

Maesteg and the Llynfi 

Valley Regeneration 

Growth Area 

5.5 ha Strategic 

Mixed-use 

Sustainable 

Urban 

Extension 

140 residential 

units 

 

21 Affordable 

units 

 

2018-2022: 0 

units 

2023-2027: 115 

units 

2028-2033:  25 

units 

Site Description 

The site comprises approximately 5.5ha of agricultural land situated to the south-east of the 

existing built-up area of Pont Rhyd-y-Cyff, Llangynwyd. It consists of three large, irregularly-

shaped fields bounded by existing, mature vegetation, while the westernmost field bounds 

the public highway along Bridgend Road (A4063) and Parc-Tyn-y-Waun. There is a larger, 

wooded area in the northeast corner of the site, which abuts the Llynfi River to the east. In 

terms of topography, the site slopes gently downwards towards the east and north. There 

is an existing Public Right of Way (PRoW) that runs through the site from Bridgend Road to 

a level rail crossing in the north-east corner of the site. This site will form part of an overall 

wider strategic opportunity as one of three inter-connected sites within Pont Rhyd-y-cyff. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Highways and Transport 

 

Active Travel Improvements 

There are a number of proposed active travel routes surrounding the site boundary. 

Connections and improvements must therefore be made to existing active travel routes and 

new routes should be provided to accord with the proposed routes within the Council’s 

ATNM: INM-MA-34.   

 

New Access Roads 

It is anticipated that the site will be accessed via a simple priority junction on to the A4063 

Bridgend Road fronting the site. The access road to the site will be approximately 6m wide, 

with a 3m pedestrian refuge within the junction bell-mouth, and a 3.5m shared 

cycleway/footway on one side of the carriageway and a 2m wide footway on the other side. 

 

Transport Assessment 

A collective Transport Assessment (TA) has been undertaken by Asbri Transport. The TA 

has undertaken an analysis of the potential traffic impact on Junction 36 of the M4 in relation 

to the development of the three proposed allocations (COM1(3): Land South East of Pont 

Rhyd y Cyff, COM1(4): Land South of Pont Rhyd y Cyff & COM1(5): Land South West of 

Pont Rhyd y Cyff) in Pont Rhyd y Cyff. The three allocations would have a high degree of 

Page 477



 

49 
 
 

their forecast trip generation accessing local land uses and facilities, particularly associated 

with the localities and wide range of facilities associated with the settlements of Maesteg 

(the County Boroughs second largest settlement) and Sarn and direct connection to 

Bridgend Town Centre via the A4063 Bridgend Road, thereby reducing the proportion of the 

forecast trip generation accessing Junction 36 of the M4. The traffic impact of each site in 

Pont Rhyd y Cyff individually is negligible as detailed in the relevant Transport Assessments 

for each site. Additionally, the cumulative impact of all three sites as forecast is marginal 

having no material impact upon the operational capacity of M4 Junction 36. 

 

An individual transport appraisal of the site has also been undertaken by Lime Transport. It 

is estimated that the site could generate up to 1,059 person trips (two-way) throughout the 

day, with up to 59 vehicle trips (two-way) in the AM peak and up to 68 vehicle trips (two-

way) in the PM peak. It is estimated that the site could increase traffic along the A4063 

Bridgend Road by a maximum of 3.2% and, in accordance with TAN18, it is considered that 

candidate site is unlikely to have a material impact on the local highway network. The impact 

of any future development on the site will need to be assessed with a robust Transport 

Assessment, that will need to be discussed and agreed with the local highway authority. It 

is also considered that the impact of any future development on the site could be reduced 

through the implementation of an effective Travel Plan. Based on the likely impact of the 

site, it is considered that the candidate site will have a minimal impact on the operation of 

the local highway network. 

 

Flood Risk 

A Flood Consequences and Drainage Appraisal has been undertaken by Vectos. All 

development will be steered into the areas at minimal or no risk of fluvial flooding. Surface 

water runoff from the site will be managed using SUDS in accordance with the sustainable 

drainage hierarchy via restriction to greenfield runoff rates prior to discharge in the River 

Llynfi. Given the above, from a flood consequence and drainage perspective, Maesteg and 

Llynfi Valley Regeneration Growth Area is capable of delivering development which is 

compliant with PPW and TAN 15. 

 

A revised TAN15 is due to be implemented in June 2023. This will be supported by the new 

Flood Map for Planning, which includes climate change information to show how this will 

affect flood risk extents over the next century. It shows the potential extent of flooding 

assuming no defences are in place. A review of the new Flood Map for Planning shows that 

the majority of the site is located outside of any flood zone and at low or no risk of flooding, 

although the south-eastern section of the site is within Flood Zone 3. All development will 

be steered into the areas at minimal or no risk of fluvial flooding. 

 

Land Ownership 

The landowner is committed to working towards ensuring that the development site can be 

delivered as a comprehensive development (including COM1(4): Land South of Pont Rhyd-

y-cyff & COM1(5): Land South West of Pont Rhyd-y-cyff). A Statement of Common Ground 

has been signed between all three site promoters to this end. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

Page 478



 

50 
 
 

6.4.4 Hawkeswood Ecology carried out a Preliminary Ecological Assessment (PEA) on behalf of 

the site promoter. The assessment identified agriculturally improved grassland which is 

heavily grazed, woodland and hedgerows within the site boundary. A small section of the 

site is designated as a SINC (Llety Brongu), relating to areas of woodland on the southern 

and eastern sections of the site. It is bounded to the south and east by a river and a tributary 

stream. The grazed pasture has little biodiversity value, however the woodland and 

hedgerows contain mature trees that may support features suitable for roosting bats. In 

addition, they are also suitable habitat for dormice which has been recorded approximately 

two miles from the site. The riverside woodlands and hedgerows represent UK Biodiversity 

action Plan Priority Habitats, and although the woodlands are not designated as ancient, 

they support a tree and ground flora that suggests they are of some age. The hedgerows 

are relict and consist of rows of trees and mature shrubs. 

 

6.4.5 The masterplan for the site confines development to the agriculturally improved grassland 

areas of which is considered to be of low biodiversity significance. The grasslands are 

heavily grazed by sheep and do not offer a significant biodiversity benefit.  The high 

biodiversity wooded areas and mature trees in the relict hedgerows will be retained with the 

provision of close boarded fencing in addition to an appropriate buffer zone to prevent 

dumping of garden waste or other domestic rubbish. However, these will be required to be 

protected during construction. Given the viable network of woodland and hedgerows 

connecting the site to other localities and the suitability of habitat on site the presence of 

commuting dormouse cannot be ruled out. There is also potential for the site to support both 

breeding and foraging bats. Direct impacts on both the wooded habitats and protected 

species will be limited. However, there is potential for indirect impacts and further survey is 

required to properly assess the impacts of the development on both habitats and protected 

species in addition to invasive species. Integral bat and bird boxes are recommended for 

use in the new construction. The locations of bat and bird mitigation will be such that they 

are not vulnerable to attack from cats.  

 

6.4.6 The existing PRoW that runs through the site from Bridgend to a level rail crossing in the 

north-east corner of the site will be diverted but retained and integrated into the design of 

the development through wet grassland. However, this will need further habitat assessment 

at a more appropriate time of year when the majority of grassland flowers are visible. 

 

Utilities 

 

Water and Waste Water – WwTW Provision and Improvements 

Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that Llety Brongu WwTW has sufficient capacity to 

accommodate the site. 

 

Water and Waste Water – Foul Network / Public Sewerage 

There should be no issue with the public sewerage network accommodating the foul-only 

flows this LDP allocation.  

 

Water and Waste Water – Water Supply 

Owing to the number of units proposed on this site, it is unlikely that the water supply 

network has sufficient capacity to serve this site without causing detriment to existing 

Page 479



 

51 
 
 

customers’ supply. As such, a hydraulic modelling assessment will likely be required in order 

to determine the level of reinforcement works required. 

 

Water and Waste Water – Easements and Diversions (to protect assets crossing the site) 

A 150mm foul sewer is located in the adjacent road to the west of the site. 

 

Electricity Provision  

No electricity provision difficulties/constraints have been identified. 

 

Gas Supply 

No gas supply provision difficulties/constraints have been identified. 

 

Telecommunications  

No telecommunications provision difficulties/constraints have been identified. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

There are not considered to be heritage constraints present. The site is not located within a 

Conservation Area and there are no listed buildings on the site or within the site’s setting. 

 

In Historic Landscapes terms, the locality is considered an important industrial 

communications/settlement corridor, including the Bridgend Road and the railway. The old 

tramway on the site is part of the original Dyffryn Llynfi and Porthcawl Railway Company's 

1825 tramroad to the coast. However, there are not considered to be any heritage 

constraints on the site that would prevent development. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

A Geotechnical & Geo-environmental Desk Study has been carried out on site by Terrafirma 

which confirms the site’s suitability for development. The site is greenfield and has been 

largely unoccupied throughout history, save for a small portion of the site that was crossed 

by a tramway. The study does not find any abnormal conditions that would prevent 

development coming forward. In summary: 

• Geology - The site is primarily underlain by sandstone. 

• Mining - the site is not considered to be at risk by past underground coal mining and 

there are no known recorded coal mine entries within the site or within 20m of the 

site. 

• Radon gas – no radon protection will be required for new development. 

• Landfill gas and ground gas – low to moderate risk. 

• Contamination – low risk, no anticipated source of contamination save for tramway 

on part of the site. 

• Anticipated foundation solution – concrete strip and trench fill should be suitable. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

Page 480



 

52 
 
 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Education  

 

The development will meet the needs for the additional school places it generates through 

planning contributions. Financial contributions must be made to nursery, primary, secondary 

and post-16 education provision as required by the Local Education Authority, secured 

through Section 106 in accordance with the Education Facilities and Residential 

Development SPG.  

 

Affordable Housing  

The development must provide 15% affordable housing provision in accordance with policy 

COM3.  

 

Open Space 

Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in accordance with 

Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing Development 

Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Topological Survey – Healer Surveys 

• Constraints Plan – Spring Design 

• Framework Plan – Spring Design  

• Draft Block Plan – Spring Design 

• Contextual Masterplan – Spring Design  

• Design Principles – Spring Design  

• Street Hierarchy Plan – Spring Design 

• Massing Plan – Spring Design 

• Transport Appraisal – Lime Transport 

• Geo-environmental Desk Study - Terrafirma 

• Ecology - Hawkeswood Ecology 

• Tree Survey – Treescene  

• Tree Constraints Plan – Treescene  

• Landscape and Visual Assessment - Catherine Etchell Associates 

• Utility Plan Provision – SMS PLC 

• Flood and Drainage Appraisal - Vectos 

• Viability Appraisal – JEHU Group  

• M4 Junction 36 Traffic Impact 

• Statement of Common Ground – BPM Technlogy Coporation Ltd, Persimmon Homes 

(West Wales) Ltd and Waterstone Homes Ltd 

 

Page 481



 

53 
 
 

COM1(4): Land South of Pont Rhyd-y-cyff, Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley 

Regeneration Growth Area 

Site Allocation Name 

/ Ref 

Site Size 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Total Units 

(Private and 

Affordable)  

Phasing 

Tranche 

COM1(4):  

Land South of Pont 

Rhyd-y-cyff, Maesteg 

and the Llynfi Valley 

Regeneration Growth 

Area 

2.09 ha Strategic 

Mixed-use 

Sustainable 

Urban 

Extension 

102 residential 

units 

 

15 Affordable 

units 

 

2018-2022: 0 

units 

2023-2027: 65 

units 

2028-2033:  37 

units 

Site Description 

The site consists of a number of co-joined fields, which are bounded by a railway line to the 

East, further agricultural land to the south, Ysgol Gwyfyn Gymraeg Llangynwyd to the West 

(and A063 which abuts the western boundary of this specific site). It is a partially brownfield 

site and previously accommodated a petrol filling station, which has since been de-

commissioned. The site is bisected by the A48. It is allocated for a residential led 

development. This site will form part of an overall wider strategic opportunity as one of three 

inter-connected sites within Pont Rhyd-y-cyff. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Highways and Transport 

 

Active Travel Improvements 

The development site will be permeable to pedestrian and cyclist movement with 2m 

footways leading into the site, connecting with the existing pedestrian infrastructure along 

Bridgend Road. The development proposes to make improvements to the surface of the 

footways along the site frontage, making walking a more attractive route for residents and 

visitors to the site and improving connectivity to the wider area.It is also proposed to locate 

a pedestrian refuge island approximately 50m to the south of the proposed site access. 

Connections and improvements must therefore be made to existing active travel routes and 

new routes should be provided to accord with the proposed routes within the Council’s 

ATNM: INM-MA-34.   

 

New Access Roads 

It is intended that the existing access which previously served the site’s former use will be 

reinstated and improved to provide a simple priority junction with Bridgend Road. 

 

The proposed site access will be designed to accommodate emergency service vehicles as 

well as an 11.2m refuse collection vehicle. 

 

Transport Assessment 

Page 482



 

54 
 
 

A collective Transport Assessment (TA) has been undertaken by Asbri Transport. The TA 

has undertaken an analysis of the potential traffic impact on Junction 36 of the M4 in relation 

to the development of the three proposed allocations (COM1(3): Land South East of Pont 

Rhyd y Cyff, COM1(4): Land South of Pont Rhyd y Cyff & COM1(5): Land South West of 

Pont Rhyd y Cyff) in Pont Rhyd y Cyff. The three allocations would have a high degree of 

their forecast trip generation accessing local land uses and facilities, particularly associated 

with the localities and wide range of facilities associated with the settlements of Maesteg 

(the County Boroughs second largest settlement) and Sarn and direct connection to 

Bridgend Town Centre via the A4063 Bridgend Road, thereby reducing the proportion of the 

forecast trip generation accessing Junction 36 of the M4. The traffic impact of each site in 

Pont Rhyd y Cyff individually is negligible as detailed in the relevant Transport Assessments 

for each site. Additionally, the cumulative impact of all three sites as forecast is marginal 

having no material impact upon the operational capacity of M4 Junction 36. 

 

An individual TA of the site has also been undertaken by Asbri Transport. This TA has 

demonstrated that there is no existing highway safety pattern or problem within the vicinity 

of the site which could be exacerbated by the proposed development. It has also 

demonstrated that sufficient multi-modal access can be achieved via an established and 

proposed network of active travel routes and existing public transport services within the 

vicinity of the site and that these provide access to various local facilities and amenities 

within the immediate vicinity of the site. It should also be noted that these local facilities and 

amenities will be supplemented by the commercial uses proposed as part of the 

development. The local highway network within the vicinity of the site also has sufficient 

spare capacity to accommodate the development within the peak periods with the addition 

of development traffic having an immaterial impact on the operation of the surrounding 

arterial junctions. It is therefore considered that there are no material reasons from a 

highway and transportation perspective why the site should not be included as an allocated 

site. 

 

Flood Risk 

A revised TAN15 is due to be implemented in June 2023. This will be supported by the new 

Flood Map for Planning, which includes climate change information to show how this will 

affect flood risk extents over the next century. It shows the potential extent of flooding 

assuming no defences are in place. A review of the new Flood Map for Planning shows that 

the majority of the site is located outside of any flood zone and at low or no risk of flooding. 

 

Land Ownership 

All landowners are committed to working towards ensuring a development site that can be 

delivered as a comprehensive development (including COM1(3): Land South East of Pont 

Rhyd-y-cyff & COM1(5): Land South West of Pont Rhyd-y-cyff). A Statement of Common 

Ground has been signed between all three site promoters to this end. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

An ecological appraisal of the site has been undertaken by I&G Ecological Consulting. The 

combination of desk and field surveys undertaken at the proposed development site 

identified that the majority of the area within the planning site boundary has negligible 

ecological value (brownfield). However, the scrub and trees have higher ecological interest, 

Page 483



 

55 
 
 

supporting a more diverse range of species and are likely to provide nesting opportunities 

for birds, cover for small mammals and invertebrates and flight lines for bats. 

 

The boundary hedgerows and trees should be retained, with a fringing vegetation of scrub 

to provide connectivity to adjacent habitats, including the two adjacent SINC sites to the 

north. 

 

Loss of scrub habitat and trees should be mitigated for by suitable new planting, detailed in 

the landscape scheme and approved by the LA ecologist. Any new planting should be with 

trees and shrubs of local provenance and should seek to replicate the species mix present 

in the existing hedgerow. Landscaping should include berry bearing species such as 

guelder rose, rowan and purging/alder buckthorn, which will also attract brimstone butterfly. 

 

Protection of remaining scrub and trees is recommended; the use of Root Protection Zones 

and appropriate working methodology as well as proximity of development boundary must 

be considered. 

 

Birds 

All nesting birds are protected under Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act of 1981. 

Therefore, vegetation clearance should be planned outside the nesting bird season. 

 

Bats 

The boundary scrub and tree-lines will act as flight lines for bats and any dark corridors 

should be maintained as such. An appropriate lighting plan in relation to bats will take such 

habitat into consideration. Any mature trees which require felling or management in order 

to accommodate the development will be subject to inspection and assessment for 

suitability for use by bats, by a licenced bat surveyor following current guidelines (Bat 

Conservation Trust). 

 

Dormice 

The areas of dense bramble scrub provide suitable habitat for dormice, however, there are 

no records for dormouse in the area. A precautionary approach to site clearance should be 

taken. Enhancement opportunities may exist within the development layout which will 

improve the integrity and species diversity of the remaining scrub and woodland belts, and 

seek to increase connectivity to any adjacent suitable habitat. 

 

Reptiles & Amphibians  

A method statement and mitigation plan should be prepared in order to protect reptiles and 

amphibians during site clearance and construction. 

 

Invasive Non-native species 

A single Buddleia plant is located within tipped material fronting the concrete apron at the 

NW corner. No evidence of Himalayan balsam or Japanese knotweed were observed. 

Materials brought into the site should be clean and free from INNS. 

 

Utilities 

 

Page 484



 

56 
 
 

Water and Waste Water – WwTW Provision and Improvements  

Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that Llety Brongu WwTW has sufficient capacity to 

accommodate the site. 

 

Water and Waste Water – Foul Network / Public Sewerage 

There should be no issue with the public sewerage network accommodating the foul-only 

flows this LDP allocation.  

 

Water and Waste Water – Water Supply 

Owing to the number of units proposed on this site, it is unlikely that the water supply 

network has sufficient capacity to serve this site without causing detriment to existing 

customers’ supply. As such, a hydraulic modelling assessment will likely be required in order 

to determine the level of reinforcement works required. 

 

Water and Waste Water – Easements and Diversions (to protect assets crossing the site) 

A 225mm foul sewer is located on the adjacent road to north. 

 

Electricity Provision  

No electrical provision difficulties/constraints have been identified.  

 

Gas Supply 

No gas supply provision difficulties/constraints have been identified. Wales & West Utilities 

that the nearest main with sufficient capacity is located 12m from the site boundary and is 

located to the east of the site. This is a 180mm PE Low Pressure Main.   

 

Telecommunications  

No telecommunications provision difficulties/constraints have been identified.  

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No listed buildings or scheduled ancient monuments on the site or that would be impacted 

by any development on the site. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

The site was previously a petrol filling station and de-commissioning works were undertaken 

in 2010 to remove a tank, inceptor and associated pipework. A series of ground 

investigations were undertaken to inform the ground conditions on the site. These reports 

confirm that there is no contamination on the site which would be of concern to human 

health. 

 

Monitoring wells were also decommissioned at the time of the reports by over drilling and 

backfilling with gravel and injected bentonite grout and reinstatement of surfacing. The 

conclusions of the report state that the works had been taken out and that there was reduced 

likelihood of former groundwater monitoring wells. 

Page 485



 

57 
 
 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Education  

The development will meet the needs for the additional school places it generates through 

planning contributions. Financial contributions must be made to nursery, primary, secondary 

and post-16 education provision as required by the Local Education Authority, secured 

through Section 106 in accordance with the Education Facilities and Residential 

Development SPG.  

 

Affordable Housing  

The development must provide 15% affordable housing provision in accordance with policy 

COM3.  

 

Open Space 

Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in accordance with 

Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing Development 

Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Masterplans - MODARC 

• Transport Assessment – Asbri Transport 

• Ecology - I&G Ecology Consultants  

• Land & Visual Impact – Geraint John Planning 

• Drainage & Flood Risk 

• Ground Conditions - Shell (as part of decommissioning of PFS) 

• Air Quality Assessment 

• Utility Searches 

• Renewable Energy Strategy – Geraint John Planning  

• Viability Appraisal – Elev8 Land & Property 

• M4 Junction 36 Traffic Impact – Asbri Transport 

• Statement of Common Ground – BPM Technlogy Coporation Ltd, Persimmon Homes 

(West Wales) Ltd and Waterstone Homes Ltd 

 

 

 

 

Page 486



 

58 
 
 

COM1(5): Land South West of Pont Rhyd-y-cyff, Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley 

Regeneration Growth Area 

Site Allocation Name 
/ Ref 

Site Size 
(ha) 

Allocation 
Type 
(Housing, 
Employment, 
Mixed Use) 

Total Units 
(Private and 
Affordable) 

Phasing 
Tranche 

COM1(5):  
Land South West of 
Pont Rhyd-y-cyff, 
Maesteg and the Llynfi 
Valley Regeneration 
Growth Area 

7.33 ha Strategic 
Mixed-use 
Sustainable 
Urban 
Extension 

130 residential 
units 
 
20 Affordable 
units 
 

2018-2022: 0 
units 
2023-2027: 130 
units 
2028-2033:  0 
units 

Site Description 

The site consists of a number of co-joined fields, which are bounded by the A4063 to the 

east, further agricultural land and Ysgol Gwyfyn Gymraeg Llangynwyd, to the south and a 

farm to the west. The northern boundary is bounded by the Llangynwyd settlement 

boundary. This site will form part of an overall wider strategic opportunity as one of three 

inter-connected sites within Pont Rhyd-y-cyff. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Highways and Transport 

 

Active Travel Improvements 

The development site will be permeable to pedestrian and cyclist movement with 2m 

footways leading into the site, connecting with the existing pedestrian infrastructure along 

Bridgend Road. In addition, the existing PRoW route within the site will be upgraded and 

surfaced to accommodate walking and cycling movements that will provide a dedicated 

walking and cycling connections with footways along Bridgend Road. The development 

proposes to make improvements to the surface of the footways along the site frontage, 

making walking a more attractive route for residents and visitors to the site and improving 

connectivity to the wider area. It is also proposed to locate a pedestrian refuge island 

approximately 50m to the north of the proposed site access. Connections and improvements 

must therefore be made to existing active travel routes and new routes should be provided 

to accord with the proposed routes within the Council’s ATNM: INM-MA-34.   

 

New Access Roads 

It is intended that a priority junction with a ghost island right turn lane will be introduced to 

serve the proposed residential development. 

 

The junction has been designed to ensure consistency of access with the surrounding 

environment. it has also been positioned to allow for visibility splays of 2.4 x 120 metres to 

be achieved in line with a 40mph design speed and to ensure that 120m forward visibility 

can be achieved from both directions. 

 

Page 487



 

59 
 
 

The proposed site access has been designed to accommodate emergency service vehicles 

as well as an 11.2m refuse collection vehicle. 

 

Transport Assessment 

A collective Transport Assessment (TA) has been undertaken by Asbri Transport. The TA 

has undertaken an analysis of the potential traffic impact on Junction 36 of the M4 in relation 

to the development of the three proposed allocations (COM1(3): Land South East of Pont 

Rhyd y Cyff, COM1(4): Land South of Pont Rhyd y Cyff & COM1(5): Land South West of 

Pont Rhyd y Cyff) in Pont Rhyd y Cyff. The three allocations would have a high degree of 

their forecast trip generation accessing local land uses and facilities, particularly associated 

with the localities and wide range of facilities associated with the settlements of Maesteg 

(the County Boroughs second largest settlement) and Sarn and direct connection to 

Bridgend Town Centre via the A4063 Bridgend Road, thereby reducing the proportion of the 

forecast trip generation accessing Junction 36 of the M4. The traffic impact of each site in 

Pont Rhyd y Cyff individually is negligible as detailed in the relevant Transport Assessments 

for each site. Additionally, the cumulative impact of all three sites as forecast is marginal 

having no material impact upon the operational capacity of M4 Junction 36. 

 

An individual TA of the site has also been undertaken by Asbri Transport. The TA has 

demonstrated that there is no existing highway safety pattern or problem within the vicinity 

of the site which could be exacerbated by the proposed development. Moreover, it has also 

demonstrated that sufficient multi-modal access can be achieved via an established and 

proposed network of active travel routes and existing public transport services within the 

vicinity of the site and that these provide access to various local facilities and amenities 

within the immediate vicinity of the site. The local highway network within the vicinity of the 

site also has sufficient spare capacity to accommodate the development within the peak 

periods with the addition of development traffic having an immaterial impact on the operation 

of the surrounding arterial junctions. 

 

Flood Risk 

A revised TAN15 is due to be implemented in June 2023. This will be supported by the new 

Flood Map for Planning, which includes climate change information to show how this will 

affect flood risk extents over the next century. It shows the potential extent of flooding 

assuming no defences are in place. A review of the new Flood Map for Planning shows that 

the majority of the site is located outside of any flood zone and at low or no risk of flooding. 

 

Land Ownership 

All landowners are committed to working towards ensuring a development site that can be 

delivered as a comprehensive development (including COM1(3): Land South East of Pont 

Rhyd-y-cyff & COM1(4): Land South of Pont Rhyd-y-cyff). A Statement of Common Ground 

has been signed between all three site promoters to this end. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

I&G Ecology attended the site to undertake a phase 1 habitat survey. The combination of 

desk and field surveys undertaken at the site identified that the majority of the area within 

the planning site boundary has high ecological value. The majority of the site is notified as 

a SINC, and the size and range of habitats and their linkage to other SINC’s and habitats in 

Page 488



 

60 
 
 

the borough, provides corridors for dispersal and will support a more diverse range of 

species, provide nesting opportunities for birds, cover for mammals, reptiles, amphibians 

and invertebrates and flight lines for bats. No signs of European protected species were 

observed. 

 

Significant consideration of the SINC has been undertaken by the site promoter. The 

ecological survey identified: 

• Large areas of marshy grassland ‘are of moderate quality and the lack of appropriate 

management is leading to succession to willow and birch scrub’; 

• Trees and hedgerows that line the to the west and south west possess the greatest 

value, whereas the intensively managed hedgerow to the north – loss or damage to 

this habitat would be severe. The east is considered to be of lesser value;  

• The broadleaf woodland and stream corridors are of high ecological interest and should 

be retained for connectivity; and 

• Two blocks of poor semi-improved grassland are of low ecological interest. 

 

6.4.17 Recommendations from the ecological appraisal suggest the following: 

• In the absence of appropriate management the marshy grassland is declining in quality, 

and the low grazing pressure is leading to its succession to wet woodland. Loss of the 

habitat cannot be mitigated for on site. Should the site be developed then it is 

recommended that the drainage ditches be retained to provide habitat connectivity. 

Their incorporation into an appropriate SuDS scheme for the site, together with ponded 

areas would provide partial mitigation;  

• The western hedgerow and trees should be retained in their entirety with an appropriate 

offset from the development boundary. Protection of trees and hedgerows through the 

use of Root Protection Zones and appropriate working methodology as well as proximity 

of development boundary must be considered; 

• The broadleaf woodland and streamside corridors should be retained in their entirety, 

with an appropriate offset from any development boundaries to protect both the root 

zones and any polluting run-off from the development during both the construction and 

occupation phases; and 

• Bat and dormouse boxes should be provided throughout the development. 

 

Whilst there is a local ecological designation present on site in the form of a SINC, the 

information and detail captured from the survey work has fed into the development of the 

masterplan from the outset to create a scheme that minimises adverse environmental 

impacts on habitats and species. The supporting masterplan illustrate how the scheme will 

carefully conserve areas of higher biodiversity value, with development restricted to areas 

of lower biodiversity value in addition to a number of enhancements provided on site. As 

such, the adoption of a green infrastructure-led approach will be key to the development of 

the sites to integrate successfully with the existing environment whilst seeking to promote 

ecological resilience and achieve biodiversity net benefit. 

 

Utilities 

 

Water and Waste Water – WwTW Provision and Improvements  

Page 489



 

61 
 
 

Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that Llety Brongu WwTW has sufficient capacity to 

accommodate the site. 

 

Water and Waste Water – Foul Network / Public Sewerage 

There should be no issue with the public sewerage network accommodating the foul-only 

flows this LDP allocation.  

 

Water and Waste Water – Water Supply 

Owing to the number of units proposed on this site, it is unlikely that the water supply 

network has sufficient capacity to serve this site without causing detriment to existing 

customers’ supply. As such, a hydraulic modelling assessment will likely be required in order 

to determine the level of reinforcement works required. 

 

Water and Waste Water – Easements and Diversions (to protect assets crossing the site) 

There is a 150mm foul sewer, 225mm foul sewer, 225mm combined sewer and 375mm 

storm overflow traversing site. 

 

Electricity Provision  

No electrical provision difficulties/constraints have been identified.  

 

Gas Supply 

No gas supply provision difficulties/constraints have been identified.  

 

Telecommunications  

No telecommunications provision difficulties/constraints have been identified. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust’s (GGAT) Historic Environment Record identifies 

an early 19th railway; Listed Building adjacent. Whilst this would not preclude development, 

the future planning application may need to provide mitigation measures.  

 

An Archaeology and Heritage Assessment has been undertaken by EDP. The principal and 

over-riding conclusion of this report is that there are no archaeological or heritage reasons 

why this site area should not be allocated for residential development. The site does not 

contain any designated historic assets and so hence its development is not constrained in 

that respect. Together, a desk study and site visit have shown that only one designated 

historic asset might be ‘indirectly’ affected by the development of the site in terms of the 

contribution its setting makes to its significance. 

 

This is the Grade II listed T'yn-y-Waun farmhouse which is located just to the west of the 

site’s western boundary. It is concluded that this 17th/18th century farmhouse derives no 

more than a small amount of its significance from its relationship with the site and that, as 

a result, development of the site would have no more than a small impact on that 

Page 490



 

62 
 
 

significance. This evaluation will need to take place at the planning application stage and 

for the time being this impact does not preclude development at the site or necessarily limit 

its capacity in that respect (i.e., in terms of extent, layout, location of open space and the 

reinforcement of the trees and scrub along the western boundary with new landscape 

planting).  

 

The remainder of the designated historic assets within the surroundings of the site would 

not be adversely affected by its residential development. The site contains two GGAT HER 

entries [06517m, 07947m], both of which relate to the same curving alignment of former 

railway line in the east of the site and still preserved as a substantial earthwork. 

 

There is no suggestion that the presence of the former railway line, which is quite difficult to 

discern at the north-east end adjacent to the road, but then becomes more obvious as a 

cutting proceeding to the south-west; would either preclude or constraint the residential 

development of the site and instead it is considered more reasonable to conclude that an 

appropriately sensitive and responsive development could in fact enhance the condition of 

the former railway through improved management. 

 

There is no reason to believe or expect that known or unknown archaeology represents a 

constraint to either the deliverability or capacity of the site to accommodate residential 

development. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

The site is a greenfield site and as such, is not considered to be at risk of land contamination. 

The site has been only previously used for agricultural purposes which is not considered to 

cause ground contamination. 

 

Therefore, the site is not considered to be contaminated, although a definitive assessment 

will follow in the subsequent planning application. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Education  

The development will meet the needs for the additional school places it generates through 

planning contributions. Financial contributions must be made to nursery, primary, 

secondary and post-16 education provision as required by the Local Education Authority, 

secured through Section 106 in accordance with the Education Facilities and Residential 

Development SPG.  

 

Affordable Housing  

The development must provide 15% affordable housing provision in accordance with policy 

COM3.  

Page 491



 

63 
 
 

 

Open Space 

Green Infrastructure and Outdoor Recreation Facilities to be delivered in accordance with 

Policy COM10 and Outdoor Recreation Facilities and New Housing Development 

Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Masterplanning – EDP 

• Landscape and Visual Impacts – EDP  

• Archaeology and Heritage Assessment– EDP  

• Ecology – I&G Ecology  

• Viability – Persimmon Homes  

• Trees – Treescene  

• Renewable Energy Strategy – Geraint John Planning  

• Transport – Asbri Transport  

• M4 Junction 36 Traffic Impact – Asbri Transport 

• Statement of Common Ground – BPM Technlogy Coporation Ltd, Persimmon Homes 

(West Wales) Ltd and Waterstone Homes Ltd 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 492



 

64 
 
 

Employment Allocations 

ENT1(1): Brocastle, Waterton, Bridgend, Strategic Employment Site 

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment

, Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability  

ENT1(1): Brocastle, 

Waterton, Bridgend  

20.4 ha Strategic 

Employment 

Site 

B1,B2,

B8 

 

Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha 

August 2020: 0ha  

August 2021: 0ha  

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 20.4ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 0ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 0ha  

Site Description 

The site is located immediately adjacent to Bridgend’s focussed area of growth, closely 

linked to the Waterton Industrial Estate and south of the Former Ford Site. There is an 

opportunity for synergy with re-development of the Former Ford Site and further integration 

with Parc Afon Ewenni, which is also located within relatively close proximity and represents 

the County Borough’s most significant mixed-use development and brownfield regeneration  

Opportunity. The site is almost entirely undeveloped, measuring 46 ha in total, although the 

topography limits the developable area to 20.4ha. The site benefits from existing outline 

planning permission for the development of up to 71,441sq.m of B1, B2 and B8 employment 

floorspace, including access, car parking, diversion of public rights of way, site remediation, 

drainage, landscaping and associated engineering operations. (Ref: P/16/549/OUT). 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

This greenfield site, owned by Welsh Government, is actively being promoted as a scheme 

for 71,000 sq m of employment space. Pre-commencement works have been undertaken to 

enable the site to come forward for development early within the plan period, and several 

rows of future development terraces have been laid out, reflecting the site’s topography. The 

Economic Evidence Base Study (2019) concluded that Brocastle is expected to be the 

Borough’s main inward investment site, supported by the Welsh Government, and it 

presents a good new employment development opportunity, either as a pre-let, pre-sale or 

as a speculative development proposition. This site will be attractive to industrial occupiers, 

due to its proximity to established industrial areas and road access to the motorway. Indeed, 

it is understood that several informal approaches have already been made and discussions 

are ongoing.  

 

 

 

Page 493



 

65 
 
 

Highways and Transport 

 

Active Travel 

The proposed development at Brocastle will make several positive contributions towards the 

local pedestrian and cycle network. Within the site the public rights of way are to be retained, 

although footpath 19 is to be diverted. Its entry to the site from the A48 is repositioned in 

order for it to be situated in close proximity to the existing bus stop. All footpaths will have 

designated crossing points where they meet the highway. For pedestrians a 2m width 

pathway is provided on either side of all internal highways. The development will commit to 

upgrading the existing bus stops on the A48 adjacent to the site.  

 

New Access Roads 

Vehicle access for Brocastle is gained off the A48, approximately 4km from Junction 35 of 

the M4 motorway. A new road access (roundabout) with realignment of the A48 is now in 

place.  

 

Transport Assessment 

As part of planning application P/16/549/OUT, a submitted transport assessment 

undertaken by Ove Arup & Partners Ltd looked at the effect that the proposed development 

at Brocastle will have on the local highway network. This included carrying out capacity 

assessment at each of the junctions within the assessed network to determine whether the 

additional traffic generated by the development and other committed developments can be 

accommodated. The transport assessment concluded that the proposed development at the 

Brocastle site does not significantly affect the performance of the local highway network. 

 

Flood Risk 

A small section to the north of the site along Brocastle Brook is within the floodplain. 

However, the proposed development would be situated outside the area of flood risk and 

the site is therefore, not considered to be at risk of fluvial or tidal/coastal flooding. 

 

Land Ownership 

This site is owned by Welsh Government. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

As part of outline planning application P/16/549/OUT, Ove Arup & Partners Ltd carried out 

an ecological assessment of the site. The proposed development has the potential to affect 

ecological receptors both within the site and around its boundary during construction and 

operation. To support the application, a range of ecological surveys were undertaken, 

including habitats, hedgerow and tree surveys. Further species-specific surveys were 

undertaken for reptiles, birds, dormice, otters, water voles and bats. 

 

A number of hedgerows at the site are classed as ‘Important’ under the Hedgerow 

Regulations 1997 in terms of species diversity. The species-specific surveys confirmed that 

the site is used by a typical assemblage of breeding birds. Field signs of badger were 

recorded, though no setts were found. No water voles were recorded during surveys. 

Dormice were recorded, albeit at low levels, with the data suggesting a single dispersing 

animal. Whilst no bat roosts have been confirmed within the site, field survey results suggest 

Page 494



 

66 
 
 

a roost of pipistrelle bats is present nearby, several trees and buildings have potential to 

support roosts and the site is used by a range of foraging bats. On this basis, it is assumed 

the site is of local value for bats (with the exception of the lesser horseshoe bats associated 

with Coedymwstwr Woodlands SSSI, which are by definition part of nationally important 

site). 

 

Development of the masterplan has aimed to maintain the ecological value of the application 

site, where possible and to provide enhancement of that value through various measures, 

including habitat retention, notably hedgerows, wooded areas and stream corridors. New 

habitats would be created including extensive new hedgerow planting, provision of 

grassland areas, attenuation ponds and an extensive ecological enhancement zone along 

Brocastle Brook. Additional native planting would be undertaken throughout the site and 

invasive alien plants would be eradicated. 

 

Good practice mitigation measures would also be employed during construction to minimise 

impacts to habitats and species, including pollution prevention control, sensitive lighting 

design and careful site preparation. In addition, operational phase lighting should be 

designed to avoid impacts to bats (notably lesser horseshoes) in the vicinity of the ecological 

enhancement area. This would ensure the dark corridor within the enhancement area is 

maintained in the operational phase for bat species and other wildlife. 

 

Overall, the proposed development is not predicted to have a significant negative impact on 

ecology and the mitigation and enhancement measures would provide local benefits for 

wildlife in the operational phase. 

 

Utilities 

 

Water and Waste Water  

Records received from DCWW show no existing infrastructure within the site boundary. 

DCWW trunk mains exists along the south-western boundary of the site in the form of 90mm 

and 315mm pipes. The mains divert to supply the Brocastle Manor along the access road 

from the roundabout which will service the proposed future development. 

 

DCWW confirmed that a water supply can be made available to service the proposed 

development. DCWW propose that a connection can be made to the site from the 315mm  

diameter water main in the A48 bypass road location.  

 

Electricity Provision 

National Grid and Western Power Distribution (WPD) both have power infrastructure located 

either near or within the site boundary. National Grid plant records illustrate a high voltage 

(HV) 11kV overhead cables exist within the site boundary and dissects the north-west corner 

of the site. National Grid have confirmed that they have no objections to the proposal as the  

development is located away from the overhead line. 

 

WPD plant records illustrate a high voltage (HV) 11kV overhead cable exists within the site 

boundary and dissects the southern section of the site. The HV cable enters the site near 

the derelict Plas Newydd house and exists the site near the Brocastle Manor Care Home. 

Page 495



 

67 
 
 

An overhead low voltage (LV) cable spur connects the Oernant/Paddocks properties. LV 

cables exists adjacent to the site within the A48 and the entrance to the Care home. An LV 

underground cable connects to the existing Pumping station to the north-west of the site. 

 

WPD has also confirmed that there is sufficient capacity to serve the development at the 

time of the response. This was based on an estimated load demand which assumed gas 

heating. WPD would need to divert the existing overhead lines within the site boundary. 

WPD proposed to supply the development with a new supply (2x 185 EPR 11kV cables) that 

is connected at the Bridgend Industrial Estate and a location to the west of the former Ford 

factory. WPD estimate that two substations will be required to service the proposed 

development. WPD recommends early engagement with Network Rail to minimise potential 

delays in agreeing the service crossing along the A48. 

 

Gas Supply 

Wales & West Utilities (WWU) plant records illustrate that no existing WWU gas 

infrastructure is located within or adjacent to the site. 

 

WWU has confirmed that there is sufficient capacity to serve the development. WWU 

confirmed that the nearest main with sufficient capacity is 703m from the boundary. WWU 

confirmed that the connection is to a 90mm Intermediate Pressure main; located to the 

northwest of the site. 

 

Telecommunications 

British Telecom (BT) plant records show underground network running along the A48 road 

outside of the southern site boundary. A small spur connects to The Oernant/Paddocks 

properties from the A48. BT infrastructure runs along the access road into Brocastle Manor. 

 

No abnormal costs are envisaged in providing services to the site. It is likely that the 

proposed connection location will be provided from either the A48 or the roundabout at the 

entrance of the proposed site. 

 

Further contact will be necessary with the communication providers with regard to high-

speed communication services and to determine more details. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

As part of outline planning application P/16/549/OUT, Ove Arup & Partners Ltd carried out 

a cultural heritage assessment of the site, of which found that no designated cultural heritage 

features lie within the site. However, a number of the hedgerow’s quality as ‘Important’ with 

regard to the archaeological and historical criteria of the Hedgerow Regulations 1997. The 

setting assessment of the ES concluded that there would be no change to the setting of 

historic assets at Corntown, Treoes and Brocastle. Similarly, there would be no change to 

the setting of Scheduled Monuments at Ewenny Priory and the Corntown Causewayed 

Enclosure. 

 

Page 496



 

68 
 
 

Overall, the proposed development would result in a slight adverse effect to the historic 

landscape through the removal of short sections of the historic hedgerows and demolition of 

the non-designated and recent buildings within the site. However, retaining the majority of 

the historic hedgerows within the site would serve to preserve the significance of these 

features as part of the local grain of the historic landscape. On completion, there would be 

no direct operational effects to cultural heritage from the proposed development. No 

mitigation or enhancement measures have been identified for cultural heritage for the 

operational phase of the development. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

As part of outline planning application P/16/549/OUT, Ove Arup & Partners Ltd carried out 

an investigation into ground conditions at the site. The Brocastle site is directly underlain by 

limestone bedrock with some superficial deposits present on site extremities such as alluvial 

clays and silts along Brocastle Brook and its tributaries, and head deposits of stony clay in 

the south-east corner of the site. The limestones and alluvial deposits comprise permeable 

layers capable of supporting local water supplies and which may form base flow to rivers. 

These water resources have been classed by the regulators as Secondary A aquifers, 

however no private water supplies or water abstraction points are present within the site or 

its vicinity. 

 

Historically, the site has not been developed or used for other purposes than farms and 

agricultural land. This land use has resulted in the presence of localised areas of made 

ground associated with sheds, infilling of ponds or disposal of agricultural waste. These 

areas may constitute potential sources of contamination, which may pose minor to moderate 

risks to human health or water environment. These risks would be mitigated by undertaking 

targeted ground investigations and risk assessments allowing to identify appropriate 

remedial measures implemented as part of the detailed design, Health and Safety measures 

and Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). 

 

The site is underlined by limestone and therefore there is a potential for naturally occurring 

cavities. Development of the site has the potential to focus the release of water to the ground, 

particularly in areas around surface water and water supply infrastructure. Direct releases 

into limestone areas may result in a major significance of impact on ground stability. Future 

targeted ground investigations at the detailed design stage will enable risks to be assessed 

and appropriate mitigation measures to be incorporated into the scheme, particularly with 

respect to site drainage systems and building foundations. Such measures that could be 

used to mitigate this risks include void grouting or piled foundations sleeved through voids. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

Page 497



 

69 
 
 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021)  

• Utility Technical Statement – Ove Arup & Partners Ltd 

• Transport Assessment – Ove Arup & Partners Ltd 

• Air Quality Assessment – Ove Arup & Partners Ltd 

• Cultural Heritage Assessment – Ove Arup & Partners Ltd  

• Phase 1 Habitat Survey – Ove Arup & Partners Ltd  

• Ground Conditions – Ove Arup & Partners Ltd 

• Landscape and Visual Impacts – Ove Arup & Partners Ltd 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 498



 

70 
 
 

ENT1(2): Pencoed Technology Park, Strategic Employment Site 

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(2): 

Pencoed 

Technology Park  

5.4 ha Strategic 

Employment 

Site 

B1,B2,B8 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha 

August 2021: 0ha  

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 5.4ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 0ha 

Site Description 

The site straddles the eastern administrative boundary of Bridgend and Rhondda Cynon 

Taf. The site is located next to Junction 35 of the M4 east of Bridgend, with good proximity 

to public transport facilities, particularly at Pencoed Railway Station. A total of 5.4ha of 

employment land currently remain at the Technology Park, representing a highly attractive 

proposition for development. 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

The Economic Evidence Base Study (2019) considered this allocation to be the most 

attractive employment site in the borough, particularly for out of centre office occupiers and 

technology firms, given the existing neighbouring uses and motorway access. The site will 

also be attractive to industrial occupiers and research and development firms, due to its 

proximity to junction 35 of the M4. The existing building (Pencoed Technology Park) may 

require subdivision depending on the occupier(s) in the event that the existing configuration 

is not attractive to a single occupier. The attractiveness of this location to occupiers and 

developers is further reinforced by the technology park immediately to the south and Bocam 

Park immediately to the south of the motorway junction. It is expected that this site will 

enable a further range of technology-based uses to come forward within the plan period.  

 

Highways and Transport 

A Transport Assessment will be required to be undertaken in order to evaluate the potential 

transport impacts of future development.  

 

Flood Risk 

The site is bounded to the south east by Ewenni Fach, giving rise to potential water quality 

impacts from development. As such, an assessment of water quality impacts should be 

undertaken. 

 

Air Quality  

Page 499



 

71 
 
 

An Air Quality Assessment will be required to be undertaken to be undertaken to determine 

the potential impacts from future development on local air quality and impacts upon public 

health and/or the local environment. 

 

Land Ownership 

This site is owned by Welsh Government. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

No known issues/constraints.  

 

Utilities 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

A Heritage Assessment will be required to be undertaken in order to identify the heritage 

assets that may be affected by future development.  

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 500



 

72 
 
 

ENT1(3): Brackla Industrial Estate, Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(3): 

Brackla 

Industrial Estate, 

Bridgend 

Sustainable 

Growth Area  

7.7 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2,B8 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha 

August 2021: 0ha  

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 3.85ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 3.85ha 

Site Description 

Brackla Industrial Estate lies to the north of Bridgend Industrial Estate, east of the town 

centre. It is a large, established industrial estate, accommodating a number of moderate to 

large sized industrial units just 1 km south of J36 M4. There are a viable mix of significant 

units, more modest units and a minor quantum of non-industrial units, such as gym 

operators. The key operator is Talis Group who manufacture equipment or the water 

industry. Other occupiers include companies serving the local market, workshop, 

distribution and a number of metal manufacturing firms.  

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

Brackla Industrial Estate is situated within a well-established industrial location. The 

remaining parcels are actively being marketed, including land at Brackla West and land 

fronting the Coity Bypass. Ultimately, the remaining undeveloped land is situated on a large, 

well-established industrial estate, adjoining another well- established estate (Litchard) and 

located just 1 km south of J36 M4. This is a highly attractive and proven employment 

location base and further employment development is likely to come forward on a 

speculative basis over the plan period. The remaining parcels will be attractive to occupiers 

on a leasehold basis or equally for purchase by owner-occupiers. The estate provides a 

range of size and quality of units therefore they remain in demand. 

 

This estate has excellent access to the M4, and the land which is available for employment 

is of regular shape, unconstrained and in public ownership. The Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) considered this site to represent a good location to accommodate employment 

floorspace need over the plan period. 

 

Highways and Transport 

No known issues/constraints.  

 

Flood Risk 

Page 501



 

73 
 
 

Site is within 500m of a Main River. However, the proposed development would be situated 

outside the area of flood risk and the site is therefore, not considered to be at risk of fluvial 

or tidal/coastal flooding. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

The site includes Ancient Woodland and TPO, Important Trees or Hedgerows. As such, an 

Arboricultural/Ecological Assessment will be required in order to provide sufficient 

mitigation.   

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean 

water or connection to the public sewer. The north eastern parcel is crossed by a 150mm 

combined sewer for which protection measures will be required in the form of an easement 

or diversion. Central parcel is crossed by a 150mm combined sewer and 6” foul sewer for 

which protection measures will be required in the form of easement widths or diversions. 

This may restrict what can be delivered.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

Page 502



 

74 
 
 

ENT1(4): Bridgend Industrial Estate, Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(4): Bridgend 

Industrial Estate, 

Bridgend 

Sustainable 

Growth Area  

9.2 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2,B8 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 2.36ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha 

August 2021: 0ha  

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 1ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 3.6ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 4.6ha 

Site Description 

Bridgend Industrial Estate is located to the south of the town centre with good access to 

junction 35 of the M4. The estate is the largest industrial estate in the borough and includes 

a number of medium and small-sized warehouses and workshops as well large key 

occupiers. Part of the site comprises the former Sony television factory. Larger occupiers 

on the estate include Reflex (manufacturing) who occupy a 39,000 sq ft unit, Clarke 

Transport (logistics) who occupy a 37,000 sq ft unit and Trampires (animation) who occupy 

a 23,700 sq ft unit. The estate has also seen some non-industrial users taking space, 

especially gym operators. The site has been extensively and successfully developed for a 

variety of businesses, ranging from small local firms to large multi-nationals. The available 

land is distributed on a number of plots across the estate. 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

Bridgend Industrial Estate is the borough's largest industrial area, long established with a 

range of size and type of units. Given the prevalence of existing occupiers, the locality’s 

well-established track record of supporting employment uses and the excellent motorway 

access, this industrial opportunity remains highly attractive to occupiers. The scale and 

nature of remaining plots are expected to come forward on a speculative basis over the plan 

period and will attract occupiers on a leasehold basis or be sold to an owner-occupier. The 

Economic Evidence Base Study (2019) reaffirmed that the estate remains popular and 

highlighted that there is evidence of occupiers taking multiple units on the estate. 

 

The estate has a number of relatively small parcels of available land, that are expected to 

be taken up over the Plan period. 

 

Highways and Transport 

The site is within 500m of an identified traffic congestion pinch point (as identified by BCBC 

Highways), giving rise to potential congestion and associated air quality impacts. As such, 

a Transport Assessment will be required to be undertaken in order to evaluate the potential 

transport impacts of future development. 

Page 503



 

75 
 
 

 

Air Quality  

An Air Quality Assessment will be required to be undertaken to be undertaken to determine 

the potential impacts from future development on local air quality and impacts upon public 

health and/or the local environment. 

 

Flood Risk 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean 

water or connection to public sewer. A number of these vacant parcels have crossings for 

which protection measures will be required in the form of easement widths or diversions. 

This may restrict what can be delivered.    

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

The site includes the Royal Ordnance Factory Bridgend Dual storey Pillbox Scheduled 

Monument. As such a Heritage Assessment will be required to be undertaken in order to 

provide sufficient mitigation.  

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

Page 504



 

76 
 
 

ENT1(5): Coychurch Yard, Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation 
Name / Ref 

Available 
Land (ha) 

Allocation 
Type 
(Housing, 
Employment
, Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(5): Coychurch 

Yard, Bridgend 

Sustainable Growth 

Area  

0.1 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2

,B8 

Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0.12ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

Augst 2020: 0ha 

August 2021: 0ha  

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 0.1ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 0ha 

Site Description 

This is a smaller, yet viable employment area adjoining Bridgend Industrial Estate and close 

to Bridgend town centre. A minor area is available for future employment use. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

This small industrial estate already provides a mix and range of small units. The estate is 

well occupied and attracts a range of occupiers. The Economic Evidence Base Study 

(2019) concluded that the units are of good quality and are likely to be attractive to 

occupiers over the plan period. Whilst this represents a small element of supply, the site is 

a popular industrial estate providing a range of accommodation sizes and presents a 

floorspace expansion opportunity, which is expected to come forward over the plan period. 

Highways and Transport 

Site is 2km beyond of the Strategic Road Network but is within 500m of an identified traffic 

congestion pinch point (as identified by BCBC Highways), giving rise to potential congestion 

and associated air quality impacts. As such, a Transport Assessment will be required to be 

undertaken in order to evaluate the potential transport impacts of future development. 

 

Air Quality  

An Air Quality Assessment will be required to be undertaken to be undertaken to determine 

the potential impacts from future development on local air quality and impacts upon public 

health and/or the local environment. 

 

Flood Risk 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

No known issues/constraints. 

Page 505



 

77 
 
 

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there no issues in providing a supply of clean water 

or connection to public sewer, although some level of offsite sewers will be required.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 506



 

78 
 
 

ENT1(6): Crosby Yard, Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(6): Crosby 

Yard, Bridgend 

Sustainable 

Growth Area  

0.8 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2,B8 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha 

August 2021: 0ha  

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 0.4ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 0.4ha 

Site Description 

A small industrial area containing small industrial units, but with access constraints common 

for industrial units located within the built-up urban area. The 0.8 ha of available land is a 

narrow triangular 'wedge' bounded by railway on two sides, although with dense tree cover. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

This small yet established industrial estate provides a number of smaller units which are 

attractive to the local market. The Economic Evidence Base Study (2019) concluded that 

the units are likely to remain in demand for tenants given the site’s propensity to meet local 

need. 

 

There continues to be demand for smaller units in this area, there are few alternative 

options, and the access arrangements are not likely to be an impediment to the remaining 

employment land being taken up. The remaining land is likely to come forward over the plan 

period and would deliver a small amount of floorspace. This could represent an opportunity 

for open storage. 

 

Highways and Transport 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Flood Risk 

The site is within 500m of the Ogmore River. However, the proposed development would 

be situated outside the area of flood risk and the site is therefore, not considered to be at 

risk of fluvial or tidal/coastal flooding. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

Page 507



 

79 
 
 

The site includes Ancient Woodland and TPO, Important Trees or Hedgerows. As such, an 

Arboricultural/Ecological Assessment will be required in order to provide sufficient 

mitigation.   

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean water or 

connection to public sewer, although some level of offsite sewers and mains will be required.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 508



 

80 
 
 

ENT1(7): Parc Afon Ewenni, Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment

, Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(7): Parc Afon 

Ewenni, Bridgend 

Sustainable Growth 

Area  

2.0 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2,

B8 

Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha 

August 2021: 0ha  

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 0ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 2.0ha 

Site Description 

This industrial estate is part of the extensive south Bridgend industrial area, with the 

Bridgend industrial estate immediately north and Waterton industrial estate immediately 

south. 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

Parc Afon Ewenni is part of the wider Waterton Industrial Estate. The estate provides a 

range and size and has good access to junction 35 of the M4 via the A473. The units are 

likely to remain in demand given its location and range of units available.  

 

The employment element has not been delivered, but remains a reasonable prospect 

especially given it would attract public / private funding. 

 

Highways and Transport 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Flood Risk 

The site is within 500m of a Main River and lies within Flood Zone 2 and 3 (Flood Map for 

Planning). However, employment uses are classified as less vulnerable development of 

which could come forward for development with suitable mitigation. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Utilities 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Page 509



 

81 
 
 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 510



 

82 
 
 

ENT1(8): Waterton Industrial Estate, Bridgend Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(8): 

Waterton 

Industrial Estate, 

Bridgend 

Sustainable 

Growth Area  

10.0 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2,B8 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 2.96ha  

August 2020: 0ha 

August 2021: 0ha  

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 5.0ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 2.04ha 

Site Description 

Waterton Industrial Estate lies to the south of Bridgend Industrial Estate and also benefits 

from good access to junction 35 of the M4. It is a site of regional importance, part of the 

wider southern Bridgend industrial area, situated alongside the A473 dual carriageway and 

the A48. The site primarily comprises larger manufacturing and distribution units. Occupiers 

include Biomet, manufacturers of medical equipment, John Raymond warehousing and 

logistics and SAS International who manufacture suspended ceilings. The quality of the 

environment together with its strategic position and good access have made this estate very 

attractive to developers and occupiers. Despite the area being predominantly industrial, it 

also contains the largest number of dedicated office buildings in the Borough. The available 

employment land is situated immediately to the west of the Former Ford factory. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

Given Waterton Industrial Estate’s existing occupiers and motorway access, the Economic 

Evidence Base Study (2019) concluded that this site represents an attractive employment 

opportunity to occupiers. This is clearly evidenced by the presence of large occupiers such 

as Lidl, which has delivered a relatively new regional distribution centre, and Owens, which 

has a large distribution unit. Although the units at Waterton are more dated than in other 

parts of the borough, the site will remain an attractive proposition for the reasons outlined. 

It is likely that the proposed unit sizes will come forward on a speculative basis to attract 

occupiers on a leasehold basis or be sold to an owner occupier.  

 

The synergies between Brocastle, Parc Afon Ewenni and the Former Ford Site represent a 

more holistic development opportunity, collectively known as the Southern Bridgend 

Gateway, that will be enabled through subsequent master planning and SPG development 

to contribute to delivery of the Replacement LDP’s Regeneration and Sustainable Growth 

Strategy. 

 

 

Page 511



 

83 
 
 

Highways and Transport 

The Site is 2km beyond of the Strategic Road Network but is within 500m of an identified 

traffic congestion pinch point (as identified by BCBC Highways), giving rise to potential 

congestion and associated air quality impacts. As such, a Transport Assessment will be 

required to be undertaken in order to evaluate the potential transport impacts of future 

development. 

 

Air Quality  

An Air Quality Assessment will be required to be undertaken to be undertaken to determine 

the potential impacts from future development on local air quality and impacts upon public 

health and/or the local environment. 

 

Flood Risk 

The Ewenny River flows through the site, and lies within Flood Zone 2 and 3 (Flood Map for 

Planning). However, employment uses are classified as less vulnerable development of 

which could come forward for development with suitable mitigation. The river could also give 

rise to potential water quality impacts from development. As such an assessment of impacts 

on water quality should be carried out. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean 

water or connection to public sewer. The site is crossed by a 1650mm combined sewer for 

which protection measures will be required in the form of an easement width or diversion. 

This may restrict what can be delivered.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

Page 512



 

84 
 
 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 513



 

85 
 
 

ENT1(9): Land at Gibbons Way, Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly Sustainable 
Growth Area 

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(9): Land at 

Gibbons Way, Pyle, 

Kenfig Hill and North 

Cornelly Sustainable 

Growth Area  

0.0 ha Employment 

Site 

B1 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha 

August 2021: 0ha  

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 0ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 0.03ha 

Site Description 

This small remaining employment opportunity represents comprises land within a residential 

housing estate. The employment element will deliver local opportunities, and therefore has 

significant social value. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

This minor employment opportunity represents potential for new employment space to help 

provide new stock in an area where current availability is low. The Economic Evidence Base 

Study (2019) emphasised the site’s social value and recommended retaining the 

employment element, which is likely to be delivered through cross-funding from the housing 

element. 

 

Highways and Transport 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Flood Risk 

The site is within 500m of a Main River. However, the proposed development would be 

situated outside the area of flood risk and the site is therefore, not considered to be at risk 

of fluvial or tidal/coastal flooding. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Utilities 

Page 514



 

86 
 
 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean 

water or connection to public sewer. The site is crossed by a 250mm combined sewer for 

which protection measures will be required in the form of an easement or diversion. This 

may restrict what can be delivered.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 515



 

87 
 
 

ENT1(10): Village Farm Industrial Estate, Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly 
Sustainable Growth Area 

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land (ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment

, Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(10): Village 

Farm Industrial 

Estate, Pyle, Kenfig 

Hill and North 

Cornelly 

Sustainable Growth 

Area  

2.6 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2

,B8 

Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0.34ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0.88ha  

August 2021: 0.80ha 

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 0.69ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 0.6ha 

Site Description 

The industrial market in Pyle is focused on Village Farm Industrial Estate, which is located 

towards the south of Pyle and benefits from access to junction 37 of the M4. The estate is 

the largest industrial area in Pyle and the third largest in the borough. The estate mainly 

comprises small sub 5,000 sq ft terraced units. Occupiers on the estate are companies 

serving the local markets and include Tonic Studios (paper craft) who occupy a 7,200 sq ft 

unit and One Vision Digital (communications) who occupy a 1,500 sq ft unit. There are a 

small number of undeveloped plots across the estate. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

The Economic Evidence Base Study (2019) recognised that demand for industrial space in 

Pyle is for units at Village Farm Industrial Estate. This large, established industrial estate 

provides a range of size and age of buildings and - will remain attractive to occupiers, 

notably given with its access to Junction 37 of the M4. Demand is likely to stem from 

companies servicing the local markets who seek good links to the motorway. The remaining 

land forms part of the integrity of the wider site and the few remaining parcels are likely to 

come forward over the Plan period.  

 

Highways and Transport 

The site is within 500m of an identified traffic congestion pinch point (as identified by BCBC 

Highways), giving rise to potential congestion and associated air quality impacts. As such, 

a Transport Assessment will be required to be undertaken in order to evaluate the potential 

transport impacts of future development. 

 

Air Quality  

An Air Quality Assessment will be required to be undertaken to be undertaken to determine 

the potential impacts from future development on local air quality and impacts upon public 

health and/or the local environment. 

Page 516



 

88 
 
 

 

Flood Risk 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

The site is within 500m of Glaswelltiroedd Cefn Cribwr / Cefn Cribwr Grasslands SAC, 

although separated by built form and transport infrastructure. 

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean 

water or connection to public sewer.  

 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 517



 

89 
 
 

ENT1(11): Ty Draw Farm, Pyle, Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly Sustainable 
Growth Area 

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(11): Ty Draw 

Farm, Pyle, Kenfig 

Hill and North 

Cornelly 

Sustainable 

Growth Area  

2.23 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2,B8 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha  

August 2021: 0ha 

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 

2.23ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 0ha 

Site Description 

Located west of the A4229 within the north west quadrant of M4 J37, and approximately 1 

km to the north is Pyle across the junction with the A48. The site is bounded to the west by 

residential development and is well screened by a dense tree belt from the A4229. The large 

Village Farm industrial estate is nearby on the northern side of the A48 junction. 

 

Planning consent for a ‘hybrid’ scheme was granted in 2014, including full consent for 

residential use to the south of the site and outline consent for employment use to the north. 

An access off the main estate road was also required to be provided to enable the 

employment development to be completed. The residential element of the site was complete 

by the end of 2016/17 and 2.23ha of employment land remains. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

The site materially changed when the residential development was completed by the end 

of 2016/17 and it now represents a modest, yet accessible employment opportunity.  Whilst 

there is a large employment area close by, which has scope for regeneration and 

intensification of activity, this site will be attractive for smaller employment occupiers and 

developers because of its motorway access. It is considered that proactive investment in 

levelling works (to provide a development plateau), as per the original hybrid planning 

consent, would enable the site to come forward for the employment use intended. This 

would properly test the market and progress initial enquiries further than has been possible 

hitherto. In the context of a fifteen-year plan, only five years has passed since the site 

materially changed in nature, and two of those years were heavily influenced by the impacts 

of the global pandemic. As per the findings of the Economic Evidence Base Study (2019) 

and Update (2021), it is reasonable to give the site more time to come forward as a more 

modest, yet accessible, serviced employment opportunity. Once the commitment to 

undertake the enabling works, as required by the Section 106 Agreement, is fulfilled, the 

Page 518



 

90 
 
 

site will be properly readied for the market. It is then expected to be in a prime position to 

come forward for employment uses over the plan period.  

 

Highways and Transport 

The site is located within 500m of a traffic congestion point (as identified by BCBC 

Highways). As such, a Transport Assessment will be required to be undertaken in order to 

evaluate the potential transport impacts of future development. 

 

Air Quality  

An Air Quality Assessment will be required to be undertaken to be undertaken to determine 

the potential impacts from future development on local air quality and impacts upon public 

health and/or the local environment. 

 

Flood Risk 

The site is within 500m of a Main River. However, the proposed development would be 

situated outside the area of flood risk and the site is therefore, not considered to be at risk 

of fluvial or tidal/coastal flooding. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean 

water or connection to the public sewer.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

Page 519



 

91 
 
 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 520



 

92 
 
 

ENT1(12): Ewenny Road, Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley Regeneration Growth 
Area  

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(12): Ewenny 

Road, Maesteg and 

the Llynfi Valley 

Regeneration 

Growth Area 

3.5 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2,B8 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha  

August 2021: 0ha 

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 0ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 3.5ha 

Site Description 

The site is located within a long-established industrial area, and is currently cleared for 

development. The site is close to Maesteg town centre, 11 kms north of J36 M4 and  is 

served by Ewenny Railway Station. It must be noted that the site represents a flat 

development opportunity in an area where topographical issues are normally challenging. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

Part of the site is in Council ownership and is expected to  come forward as part of a mixed-

use development, with small units likely to be popular in this location.  

 

This site remains suitable and available for significant mixed-use development and should 

be the focus for all available cross-subsidy opportunities for Maesteg. 

 

Highways and Transport 

The site is located 2km beyond the Strategic Road Network.  

 

Air Quality  

An Air Quality Assessment will be required to be undertaken to be undertaken to determine 

the potential impacts from future development on local air quality and impacts upon public 

health and/or the local environment. 

 

Flood Risk 

Site situated immediately west of Llynfi River and within Flood Zone 2 and 3 (Flood Map for 

Planning), giving rise to potential impacts on water quality and flooding from construction 

and operational activities. As such a Flood Consequences Assessment will be required to 

be undertaken. Furthermore, for proposals discharging into the Llynfi River, an assessment 

of water quality impacts will also be required to be undertaken.  

 

Page 521



 

93 
 
 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean 

water or connection to the public sewer.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

Natural Resources Wales indicate that previous use could have caused contamination.   

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 522



 

94 
 
 

ENT1(13): The Triangle Site, Bocam Park, Pencoed Sustainable Growth Area  

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(13): The 

Triangle Site, Bocam 

Park, Pencoed 

Sustainable Growth 

Area 

1.0 ha Employment 

Site 

B1 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha  

August 2021: 0ha 

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 1.0ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 0ha 

Site Description 

A largely developed office park in a prominent gateway location at Pencoed, adjacent to M4 

J35. The Park has excellent access to the motorway via the A473 dual carriageway. It is 

located in the south-west quadrant of M4 J35, with the Pencoed Technology Park on the 

diagonally opposite quadrant to the north. The proximity to the Technology Park provides 

supply chain opportunities. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

The Economic Evidence Base Study (2019) considered the site to be a good quality office 

park with a flexible size, rand range of units with competitive rents and excellent link to M4 

J35. Given the lack of modern purpose build space in the borough this is likely to remain 

popular for occupiers. Given the site’s location and suitable surrounding uses the site is 

likely to deliver additional employment uses over the plan period and it should be noted that 

this is only one of two office park developments in the Borough.  

 

Highways and Transport 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Flood Risk 

The Ewenny River flows through the site, and lies within Flood Zone 3 (Flood Map for 

Planning). However, employment uses are classified as less vulnerable development of 

which could come forward for development with suitable mitigation. The river could also give 

rise to potential water quality impacts from development. As such an assessment of impacts 

on water quality should be carried out. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

Page 523



 

95 
 
 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean 

water or connection to the public sewer. The site is crossed by a 150mm foul sewer for 

which protection measures will be required in the form of an easement or diversion. This 

may restrict what can be delivered.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 524



 

96 
 
 

ENT1(14): Brynmenyn Industrial Estate  

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment

, Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(14): 

Brynmenyn Industrial 

Estate 

2.0 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2

,B8 

Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0.03ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0.58ha  

August 2021: 0ha 

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 1.0ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 1.0ha 

Site Description 

Brynmenyn Industrial Estate is in Abergarw, east of Tondu/north of the M4. The estate has 

good access to junction 36 of the M4. The estate is the largest industrial area in the Valleys 

Gateway. The estate comprises a mix of small and medium-sized warehouses and 

workshops. It adjoins the former Christie's site immediately to the north and is close to the 

Abergarw industrial estate. The available employment expansion land is greenfield to the 

southeast. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

Brynmenyn Industrial Estate is one of the key focusses of the industrial market in the Valleys 

Gateway. It is an established industrial estate, which provides range of size and quality of 

units. The estate is well occupied and given its links to the motorway it is likely to remain 

attractive to occupiers, perhaps most likely to be attractive to a small industrial occupier.  

 

Highways and Transport 

Site is located 2km beyond of the Strategic Road Network but is within 500m of an identified 

traffic congestion pinch point (as identified by BCBC Highways), giving rise to potential 

congestion and associated air quality impacts. As such, a Transport Assessment will be 

required to be undertaken in order to evaluate the potential transport impacts of future 

development. 

 

Air Quality  

An Air Quality Assessment will be required to be undertaken to be undertaken to determine 

the potential impacts from future development on local air quality and impacts upon public 

health and/or the local environment. 

 

Flood Risk 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Page 525



 

97 
 
 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean 

water or connection to public sewer. The eastern section of the site is crossed by a 525mm 

combined sewer and a 400mm trunk water main for which protection measures will be 

required in the form of easements or diversions. The western parcel is crossed by a 450mm 

combined sewer and a 150mm combined storm overflow for which protection measures will 

be required in the form of easements or diversions. This may restrict what can be delivered.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 526



 

98 
 
 

ENT1(15): Land adjacent to Sarn Park Services  

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(15): Land 

adjacent to Sarn Park 

Services 

2.7 ha Employment 

Site 

B1 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha  

August 2021: 0ha 

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 2.7ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 0ha 

Site Description 

Greenfield site wedged between the M4 and A4063 immediately south of Sarn village and 

adjoining Sarn Park services at M4 J36. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

The Economic Evidence Base Study (2019) concluded that this is an attractive site for 

logistics/ warehouse occupiers,and represents one of the very few in the Borough that 

should be retained to allow for market choice. The site’s location and configuration make it 

attractive to B8 occupier, and it is most likely to come forward with a pre-let in place. 

 

Highways and Transport 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Flood Risk 

The site is located within 500m of a Main River. However, the proposed development would 

be situated outside the area of flood risk and the site is therefore, not considered to be at 

risk of fluvial or tidal/coastal flooding. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there no issues in providing a supply of clean water 

or connection to the public sewer, although some level of offsite sewers and mains will be 

required. Site is crossed by 1000mm trunk water main and a 600mm trunk water main for 

which protection measures will be required in the form of easement widths or diversions. 

Page 527



 

99 
 
 

The north eastern parcel of the site is within Welsh Water’s ownership and contains a water 

pumping station (WPS). As such, this parcel cannot be developed and the WPS requires 

consideration in any future development. These elements may restrict what can be 

delivered.   

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 528



 

100 
 
 

ENT1(16): Land west of Maesteg Road, Tondu  

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(16): Land west 

of Maesteg Road, 

Tondu 

0.3 ha Employment 

Site 

B1 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha  

August 2021: 0ha 

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 0.3ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 0ha 

Site Description 

The site is located om the western edge of Tondu village 2.5 kms north of M4 J36. The core 

of site was previously developed land (NCB offices). Access is via the A4063, which to 

facilitate the full development of the whole site requires upgrade. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

The site would be suitable for small flexible workspace units and is likely to come forward 

as a cross funded development with a residential element  

The scheme currently in planning proposes only a very minor element of employment as 

part of mixed use proposal (0.25 Ha). 

 

Highways and Transport 

Site is within 500m of an identified traffic congestion pinch point (as identified by BCBC 

Highways), giving rise to potential congestion and associated air quality impacts. As such, 

a Transport Assessment will be required to be undertaken in order to evaluate the potential 

transport impacts of future development. 

 

Air Quality 

An Air Quality Assessment will be required to be undertaken to be undertaken to determine 

the potential impacts from future development on local air quality and impacts upon public 

health and/or the local environment. 

 

Flood Risk 

The site is within 500m of a Main River. However, the proposed development would be 

situated outside the area of flood risk and the site is therefore, not considered to be at risk 

of fluvial or tidal/coastal flooding. 

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

Page 529



 

101 
 
 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

The site includes Ancient Woodland and Important Trees, Hedgerows or TPOs. As such, 

an Arboricultural/Ecological Assessment will be required in order to provide sufficient 

mitigation.   

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean 

water or connection to public sewer, although some level of offsite sewers and mains will 

be required.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 530



 

102 
 
 

ENT1(17): Isfryn Industrial Estate, Blackmill   

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employment, 

Mixed Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(17): Isfryn 

Industrial Estate, 

Blackmill  

0.4 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2,B8 Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha  

August 2021: 0ha 

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 0ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 0.4ha 

Site Description 

The site is four miles north of M4 J36 and comprises an office building and three large 

industrial buildings all occupied by Coppice Alupack, a metals manufacturing firm. The 

existing employment site is fully built-out, with a relatively high floorspace density. 

 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

The site remains attractive to existing single occupier, Coppice and the Economic Evidence 

Base Study (2019) recommended that the site should remain within the employment land 

supply on this basis.  

 

Highways and Transport 

The site is located 2km beyond the Strategic Road Network but within 500m of an identified 

traffic congestion point (as identified by BCBC Highways), giving rise to potential congestion 

and associated air quality impacts. As such, a Transport Assessment will be required to be 

undertaken in order to evaluate the potential transport impacts of future development. 

 

Air Quality 

An Air Quality Assessment will be required to be undertaken to be undertaken to determine 

the potential impacts from future development on local air quality and impacts upon public 

health and/or the local environment. 

 

Flood Risk 

Ogwr Fach bounds the site to the south east and flows through the site, giving rise to 

potential impacts on water quality from development. As such, an assessment of water 

quality impacts should be undertaken.  

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Page 531



 

103 
 
 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean water or 

connection to the public sewer. The site is crossed by a 6” combined sewer for which 

protection measures will be required in the form of an easement of diversion. This may 

restrict what can be delivered.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 532



 

104 
 
 

ENT1(18): Abergarw Industrial Estate, Brynmenyn    

Site Allocation 

Name / Ref 

Available 

Land 

(ha) 

Allocation 

Type 

(Housing, 

Employmen

t, Mixed 

Use) 

Uses Availability 

ENT1(18): 

Abergarw 

Industrial Estate, 

Brynmenyn   

1.4 ha Employment 

Site 

B1,B2,

B8 

Already Delivered 

August 2018: 0.88ha 

August 2019: 0ha  

August 2020: 0ha  

August 2021: 0ha 

 

Short 18/19 – 22/23: 0ha 

Medium 23/24 – 27/28: 0ha 

Long 28/29 – 32/33: 1.4ha 

Site Description 

Located east of the A4064 at Abergarw and within 1.5 kms of J36 M4, the site is 

predominantly flat. Access is from Abergarw Road that also serves Ogmore School (a 

special needs school), which could give rise to conflict. The parcel of available land is at the 

eastern end of the estate 

Key Site Issues and Constraints 

 

Market Commentary  

Established industrial area with a mix of age and size of units. The estate is well occupied 

and is likely to remain popular given its access to the motorway. 

 

Highways and Transport 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Flood Risk 

The site is situated immediately south east of Ogmore River, giving rise to potential impacts 

on the water environment from construction and operational activities. As such, for 

proposals discharging into the Ogmore River, an assessment of water quality impacts 

should be undertaken.  

 

Land Ownership 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Protected Environmental / Ecological Species and Designations 

The site is located within 1km of Blackmill Woodlands SAC and SSSI, however development 

is not considered likely to result in an any adverse impact. 

 

Utilities 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water indicate that there are no issues in providing a supply of clean 

water or connection to the public sewer. The site is crossed by a 450mm combined sewer 

Page 533



 

105 
 
 

for which protection measures will be required in the form of an easement or diversion. This 

may restrict what can be delivered.  

 

No additional known issues/constraints. 

 

Welsh Language 

The site is not located in a Welsh language sensitive area. 

 

Archaeology  

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Contamination/Remediation 

No known issues/constraints. 

 

Key Infrastructure and Policy Requirements (including broad costs or formulae set out 

in SPG where known) For example:  

 

Access 

Refer to Highway Improvement Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 

Utilities 

To be delivered in accordance with the Infrastructure Development Plan. 

 

Key Supporting Information Requirements 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019)  

• Economic Evidence Base Update (2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 534



 

1 
 
 

Appendix 6: Sustainability Appraisal Policy Level Mitigation 

Proposed Allocations: Strategic, Stage 2 Housing & Employment, Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople & Retail Sites 

Policy Ref Site Name Candidate Site Name Site Type SA Policy Level Mitigation 

 Strategic Sites (SP2 & PLA1 – 5) 

SP2 (1) 

Porthcawl 

Waterfront 

Regeneration 

Area 

Sandy Bay (Phase 2) 

 (Phase 1) Strategic Mixed 

Use 

N/A      

Salt Lake Car Park Dock 

Street 
N/A      

COM1(R3) Maesteg Washery Maesteg Washery 

Strategic Mixed 

Use 

(Regeneration) 

PLA6 SP4, DNP9 SP3, SP6    

COM1 (R2) 

Former Cooper 

Standard Site, 

Ewenny Road 

Former Cooper Standard 

Site 

Strategic Mixed 

Use 

(Regeneration) 

PLA6 
COM3 

COM4 
SP4, DNP9 SP18   

SP2 (2) 

Land South of 

Bridgend (Island 

Farm), 

Island Farm 

Strategic 

Residential Led 

Mixed Use 

PLA2      

SP2 (3) 
Land West of 

Bridgend 

Bridgend (Land West of) - 

Llanmoor Strategic Mixed 

Use – Residential 

Led 

SP10 PLA6     

Bridgend (West of) - 

Expansion Area (only part of 

originally promoted site) 

PLA3 SP5, PLA6 DNP9 
SP17, DNP6, 

DNP7 
DNP5, DNP6 

SP3, SP18, 

DNP4 

SP2(4) 
Land East of 

Pencoed 
Pencoed Campus 

Strategic Mixed 

Use 
SP18      

SP2 (5) Land East of Pyle Land East of Pyle 
Strategic Mixed 

Use 
PLA5 SP18     

P
age 535



 

2 
 
 

Policy Ref Site Name Candidate Site Name Site Type SA Policy Level Mitigation 

SP11 (1a) SP11 – Strategic 

Employment Sites 

and ENT1 

Brocastle Strategic 

Employment 
SP5, PLA9 SP10 PLA6 SP4, DNP9   

SP11 (1b) 
Pencoed Technology Park Strategic 

Employment 
SP4, DNP9 

SP3, SP15, 

ENT16 
    

 Stage 2 Housing & Mixed Use Non-Strategic Sites 

COM1 (1) Parc Afon Ewenni Parc Afon Ewenni 

Strategic Mixed 

Use 

(Regeneration) 

SP4  DNP9     

COM1 (2) Craig y Parcau Craig y Parcau Residential SP10 PLA6 
SP17, DNP6, 

DNP7 
SP4, DNP9   

COM1(3-5) 

Land South 

East / South / 

South West of 

Pont Rhyd-y-

cyff 

COM1(3) 
Bridgend Road (Land East 

of) 

Strategic Mixed 

Use 

(Regeneration) 

SP4, DNP9 
SP3, 

DNP4 
    

COM1(4) 
Llangynwyd  Former Four 

Sevens Service Station 
SP4, DNP9      

COM1(5) Llangynwyd (South of) PLA6 SP4, DNP9     

COM1(R1)/ 

ENT2 

Coegnant 

Reclamation Site 
Coegnant Reclamation Site 

Residential / 

Employment / 

Recreation 

SP10 PLA6 SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9 SP18  

Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople Sites 

SP7(1) GTAA1 Pen-y-fai Site Area 

Gypsy, Traveller 

and Showperson 

Sites – 

permanent 

pitches 

COM8      

SP7(20) GTAA2 Bryncethin Depot Site Area Gypsy, Traveller 

and Showperson 
COM8      

P
age 536



 

3 
 
 

Policy Ref Site Name Candidate Site Name Site Type SA Policy Level Mitigation 

Sites – 

permanent 

pitches 

 Employment Sites 

ENT1/ENT2 
ENT1(15) / 

ENT2(32) 

Land adjacent to Sarn Park 

Services 
Employment SP10 SP4, DNP9     

ENT1/ENT2 
ENT1(6)/ 

ENT2(11) 
Crosby Yard, Bridgend Employment SP4, DNP9 SP3, SP19 

SP15, 

ENT16 
   

 

ENT2 ENT2(34) Georgia Pacific Employment SP10 PLA6 SP4, DNP9 SP3, SP19  DNP4 
SP15, 

ENT16 

ENT1/ENT2 
ENT1(8)/ 

ENT2(8) 
Waterton Industrial Estate Employment SP10 SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9  SP3  

SP15, 

ENT16 
 

ENT1/ ENT2 ENT1(16) 
Land West Of Maesteg 

Road, Tondu 

Contains 

REG1(21) 
SP10 SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9 SP18   

ENT1/ ENT2 ENT1(4)/ENT2(2) Bridgend Industrial Estate Employment PLA6 SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9 SP3 
SP15, 

ENT16 
SP18 

ENT1/ENT2 ENT1(18) 
Abergarw Industrial Estate, 

Brynmenyn 
Employment SP10 SP4, DNP9     

ENT2 ENT2(23) South Cornelly Industrial Employment SP10 SP4, DNP9     

ENT1/ ENT2 ENT1(17) 
Isfryn Industrial Estate, 

Blackmill 
Employment SP5, PLA9 SP10 PLA6 SP3, DNP4 SP4, DNP9 SP17 

ENT2 ENT2(14) 
Forge Industrial Estate, 

Maesteg 
Employment SP5, PLA9 PLA6 SP4, DNP9    

ENT2 ENT2(35) Green Meadow, Llangeinor Employment SP5, PLA9 SP10 PLA6 SP4, DNP9   

P
age 537



 

4 
 
 

Policy Ref Site Name Candidate Site Name Site Type SA Policy Level Mitigation 

ENT2 ENT2(22) 
Penllwyngwent, Ogmore 

Vale 
Employment SP5, PLA9 SP10 PLA6 SP4, DNP9 SP3 

SP15, 

ENT16 

ENT1/ENT2 
ENT1(14) 

/ENT2(28) 
Brynmenyn Industrial Estate Employment SP10 SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9    

ENT1 ENT1(10) 
Village Farm Industrial 

Estate, Pyle 
Employment SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9 SP17 SP17, DNP8   

ENT2 ENT2(20) Dunraven House, near Pyle Employment SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9     

ENT2 ENT2(15) Heol Ty Gwyn, Maesteg Employment SP5, PLA9 SP10 PLA6 SP4, DNP9   

ENT2 ENT2(37) Wern Tarw Employment SP5, PLA9 SP10 PLA6 SP3 SP4, DNP9 
SP15, 

ENT16 

ENT1/ ENT2 ENT1(4)/ENT2(2) Bridgend Industrial Estate Employment SP5, PLA9 PLA6 SP4, DNP9 
SP15, 

ENT16 
SP18 SP3 

ENT1/ENT2 ENT1(8)/ENT2(8) Waterton Industrial Estate Employment SP5, PLA9 SP10 PLA6 SP4, DNP9 
SP15, 

ENT16 
SP3 

ENT1/ ENT2 ENT1(5)/ENT2(4) Coychurch Yard, Bridgend Employment SP5, PLA9 PLA6 SP4, DNP9 
SP15, 

ENT16 
SP3  

ENT2 ENT2(18) Glan Road, Porthcawl Employment SP5, PLA9 PLA6 SP4, DNP9    

ENT2 ENT1(10) Trews Field, Bridgend Employment SP4, DNP9      

ENT2 ENT2(30) Enterprise Centre, Tondu Employment SP10 SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9    

ENT2 ENT2(16) 
Spelter Industrial Estate, 

Maesteg 
Employment SP5, PLA9 SP10 PLA6 SP4, DNP9   

ENT2 ENT2(33) 
Ffaldau Industrial Estate, 

Blaengarw 
Employment SP5, PLA9 SP10 PLA6 SP4, DNP9 SP3 

SP15, 

ENT16 

P
age 538



 

5 
 
 

Policy Ref Site Name Candidate Site Name Site Type SA Policy Level Mitigation 

ENT2 ENT2(7) 
Penybont Industrial Estate, 

Bridgend 
Employment SP4, DNP9      

ENT1/ENT2 
ENT1(6)/ 

ENT2(11) 
Crosby Yard, Bridgend Employment SP4, DNP9      

ENT2 ENT2(9) Bridgend Science Park Employment SP5, PLA9 PLA6 SP4, DNP9 SP3 
SP15, 

ENT16  

ENT2 ENT2(17) 

Land SW Pencoed 

Technology Park (Pencoed 

Business Park) 

Employment SP4, DNP9 
SP3, SP15, 

ENT16 
    

ENT1 ENT1(13) 
The Triangle Site, (Bocam 

Park), Pencoed 
Employment SP4, DNP9 

SP3, SP15, 

ENT16 
    

ENT1/ ENT2 ENT1(7)/ENT2(6) Parc Afon Ewenni Employment SP10 SP4, DNP9     

ENT1/ ENT2 
ENT1(15)/ 

ENT2(32) 

Land adjacent to Sarn Park 

Services 
Employment SP10 SP4, DNP9     

ENT2 ENT2(19) Pwll y Waun, Porthcawl Employment SP5, PLA9 PLA6 SP4, DNP9    

ENT2 ENT2(27) Bryncethin Depot Employment SP10 SP4, DNP9     

ENT1/ ENT2 
ENT1(12)/ 

ENT2(13) 
Ewenny Road, Maesteg Employment SP5, PLA9 PLA6 SP4, DNP9    

ENT2 ENT2(5) Litchard Industrial Estate Employment SP4, DNP9      

ENT1/ ENT2 ENT1(3)/ENT2(1) Brackla Industrial Estate Employment SP4, DNP9      

ENT2 ENT2(12) 
Coegnant Reclamation Site, 

Maesteg 

Residential / 

Employment / 

Recreation 

SP5, PLA9 SP10 PLA6 SP4, DNP9   

ENT2 ENT2(3) Coity Sidings, Bridgend Employment SP4, DNP9      

P
age 539



 

6 
 
 

Policy Ref Site Name Candidate Site Name Site Type SA Policy Level Mitigation 

ENT2 ENT2(29) Former Christie Tyler Site Employment SP10 SP4, DNP9     

ENT1/ ENT2 
ENT1(9)/ 

ENT2(21) 

Land at Gibbons Way, North 

Cornelly 
Employment SP10 SP4, DNP9     

ENT1/ENT2 

 

ENT1(11)/ 

ENT2(25) 

 

Ty Draw Farm, Pyle 

 

Employment SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9     

 Retail Sites 

ENT6 ENT6(2) 
Porthcawl Waterfront 

Regeneration Area 

Retail Provision 

within 

Regeneration 

and Mixed Use 

Development 

Scheme 

PLA1 SP5, PLA6 SP17, DNP7 SP4, DNP9 SP18 SP3, DNP4 

ENT6 ENT6(1) 

Southside, Land at The 

Brackla Centre, Cheapside, 

Police Station and Surface 

Car Park, Bridgend 

Retail and 

Commercial 

Development 

Site 

PLA6 SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9    

ENT9 

ENT9 

Waterton Retail Park 

Existing Out-of-

Centre Retail 

Development 

Site 

SP10 SP5, PLA6 SP17, DNP7 SP4, DNP9 
SP3, SP15, 

ENT16 
 

ENT9 Sainsburys, Cefn Hirgoed 

Existing Out-of-

Centre Retail 

Development 

Site 

SP10 SP5, PLA6 SP17, DNP7    

ENT9 
Tesco, Brewery Lane, 

Bridgend 
Existing Out-of-

Centre Retail 
PLA6 SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9    

P
age 540



 

7 
 
 

Policy Ref Site Name Candidate Site Name Site Type SA Policy Level Mitigation 

Development 

Site 

ENT9 
Bridgend Designer Outlet 

Village 

Bridgend 

Designer Outlet 

Village 

SP10 SP5, PLA6 SP17, DNP7 SP4, DNP9   

ENT9 Tesco, Llynfi Lane, Maesteg 

Out-of-Centre 

Retail 

Development 

Site 

PLA6 SP4, DNP9     

ENT9 Bridgend Retail Park 

Out-of-Centre 

Retail 

Development 

Site 

SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9 
SP3, SP15, 

ENT16 
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 541



 

8 
 
 

Proposed Allocations - Infrastructure Proposals SA Policy Level Mitigation 

Site Ref Proposal Name SA Policy Level Mitigation 

Transport Infrastructure 

PLA8(1) 

 

Maesteg to Bridgend Bus Corridor 
SP3, 

DNP4 
SP5, PLA6 

SP17, DNP5, DNP6, , 

DNP7 
SP4, DNP9 SP18 

PLA8(1) Blaengarw to Bridgend Bus Corridor 
SP3, 

DNP4 
SP10 SP5, PLA6 SP17, DNP7 

SP4, 

DNP9 

PLA8(1) Ogmore Vale to Bridgend bus corridor 
SP3, 

DNP4 
SP10 SP5, PLA6 

SP17, DNP6, 

DNP7 

SP4, 

DNP9 

PLA8(1) Bridgend to Talbot Green Bus Corridor SP5, PLA6 
SP17, DNP6, 

DNP7 
SP4, DNP9   

PLA8(1) Bridgend to Cowbridge Bus Corridor PLA6 SP5, PLA6 SP17, DNP6, DNP7 SP4, DNP9  

PLA8(8) Improvements at Ewenny and Broadlands Roundabout A48 PLA6 SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9   

PLA8(5) Improve / Expand Existing Park and Ride Facility Pencoed SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9 SP3, SP15, ENT16   

PLA8(11) Improvements to Penprysg Road Bridge, Pencoed SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9 SP3, SP15, ENT16   

PLA8(2) New Bus Terminus at Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Waterfront PLA6     

PLA8(4) New Railway Station with Park and Ride Facility, Brackla PLA6 
SP3, SP15, 

ENT16 
   

PLA8(6) 
Expand / Relocate Existing Railway Station Including Strategic Park & Ride 

Facilities Pyle 
SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9    

PLA8(10) Improvements to A4063 between Sarn and Maesteg 
SP3, 

DNP4 
SP5, PLA6 SP17, DNP5, DNP6 SP17, DNP7 

SP4, 

DNP9 

Allotments and Community Food Network 

COM12(1) Caerau and Brynglas Market Garden SP10 PLA6 SP4, DNP9   

P
age 542



 

9 
 
 

Site Ref Proposal Name SA Policy Level Mitigation 

COM12(2) Land to south of Llangeinor Football Club SP10 PLA6 SP17, DNP6, DNP7 SP4, DNP9  

Cemeteries 

COM13(1) Porthcawl Cemetery, Porthcawl SP10 PLA6    

COM13(2) Cornelly Cemetery, North Cornelly SP10 SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9   

COM13(3) Gelliron Cemetery, Pontycymmer SP10 PLA6 SP4, DNP9 
SP3, SP15, 

ENT16 

SP3, 

DNP4 

COM13(4) Pencoed Cemetery, Pencoed 
SP4, 

DNP9 

SP3, SP15, 

ENT16 
   

COM13(5) Sarn Cemetery, Sarn SP10 SP5, PLA6 SP4, DNP9   

Energy 

ENT12 Parc Stormy SP10     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 543



 

1 
 
 

Appendix 7: Illustrative Strategic Site Masterplans 

Concept masterplans for each strategic site are provided below for illustration purposes only. The final masterplans will be refined as part of future planning applications in accordance with the resective masterplan 

development principles detailed in Polices PLA1-5. Further consultation will also be undertaken as part of the Pre-Application Consultation process.  

 

SP2(1) Porthcawl Waterfront 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 544



 

2 
 
 

SP2(2) Land South of Bridgend 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 545



 

3 
 
 

SP2(3) Land West of Bridgend 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

P
age 546



 

4 
 
 

SP2(4) Land East of Pencoed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

P
age 547



 

5 
 
 

SP2(5) Land East of Pyle 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 548



0 

 

Bridgend County Borough  
wŜǇƭŀŎŜƳŜƴǘ Local Development Plan 2018-2033 
 

Appendix у: Proposals Map 
 

P
age 549



P
age 550



P
age 551



P
age 552



P
age 553



P
age 554



P
age 555



P
age 556



P
age 557



P
age 558



P
age 559



P
age 560



P
age 561



P
age 562



P
age 563



P
age 564



P
age 565



P
age 566



P
age 567



P
age 568



P
age 569



P
age 570



P
age 571



P
age 572



P
age 573



P
age 574



P
age 575



P
age 576



P
age 577



P
age 578



P
age 579



P
age 580



P
age 581



P
age 582



P
age 583



P
age 584



P
age 585



P
age 586



P
age 587



P
age 588



Full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) form 
 

This document is a multi-purpose tool ensuring the appropriate steps are taken to comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty Equality Impact Assessment 
legislation and to demonstrate that we have shown due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting from socio-economic disadvantage 
when taking strategic decisions under the Socio-economic Duty.  It also ensures consideration of the Welsh Language Standards.  
Click here to access more information and guidance to help you complete this EIA.  
 

• This assessment should be carried out before your policy or proposal commences but after your engagement or consultation activities.   

• Your EIA screening form should have informed your consultation or engagement activities.  

• If you are undertaking a full public consultation as part of your policy or proposal this form should be completed after the consultation has concluded.  

• The results of your consultation and engagement activities will have helped you to gain a better understanding of the needs of those who may be 

impacted by the policy or proposal.  

• All sections and all questions require a response and must not be left blank even if they are ‘not applicable’. 

 

Name of project, policy, function, service or proposal being assessed: Deposit Replacement Local Development Plan (LDP) 2018-33 

Brief description and aim of policy or proposal: The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires Bridgend County 

Borough Council (the Council) to prepare a Local Development Plan (LDP) 

setting out its objectives for the development and use of land in Bridgend 

County Borough over the plan period to 2033, and its policies to implement 

them. The existing LDP was adopted in 2013 and covers the period 2006-

2021. Whilst a Replacement LDP is therefore required for the 2018-2033 

period, it needs to and will very much build upon the first adopted Plan for 

the County Borough.   

 

The LDP will be required to: 

• deliver sustainable development; 

• build upon, and add value to the National Development Framework 

and national planning policies and guidance produced by the Welsh 

Government; 

• reflect local aspirations for the County Borough, based on a vision 

agreed by the Council and other stakeholders; 

• express in land-use terms the objectives of the Well-Being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and priorities of the Bridgend Public 

Services Board’s Well-being Plan. This will be enabled by 

demonstrating the Five Ways of Working (involvement, collaboration, 

integration, prevention and long term balancing factors) in the Plan’s 

development; 

P
age 589

https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/gwynedd.urlsand.com/?u=https*3A*2F*2Fwww.equalityhumanrights.com*2Fen*2Fadvice-and-guidance*2Fguides-psed-wales&e=c56e375b&h=e8ea3887&f=y&p=n__;JSUlJSUl!!DewiEMc5gbOXUWA!H5xGZKCcPqTCM4BO0x6nDvZM3AEZ1bSufIjfemmqs5F169cpwWThkVzIyDBeHADn-s5xzhTJ$
https://gov.wales/socio-economic-duty-overview
https://law.gov.wales/culture/welsh-language/standards/?lang=en#/culture/welsh-language/standards/?tab=overview&lang=en
https://www.bridgenders.net/humanresources/Pages/Equality-Impact-Assessments.aspx


• provide a basis for rational and consistent development 

management decisions;  

• guide growth and change, while protecting local diversity, character, 

and sensitive environments; and 

• show why, how and where change will occur over the plan period. 

 

This Strategy contains a number of key elements, notably:  

• Key Issues and drivers that the Plan seeks to contribute to 

addressing; 

• A Vision for what Bridgend will look like in 2033; 

• Strategic Objectives to address the issues and deliver the Vision; 

• Growth Strategy; 

• Spatial Strategy; and 

• Strategic policies. 

 

Who is responsible for delivery of the policy or proposal? Bridgend County Borough Council (Strategic Planning Section) 

Date EIA screening completed: 30.10.2020 

 
 

Evidence  

Record of other consultation/engagement with people from equality groups, people who represent these groups, staff who work with groups, 

including any sessions run as part of a public consultation. 

Group or persons 

consulted 

Date/venue and number of 

people 

Feedback/areas of concern raised  Action Points 

Bridgend PSB Health 

Impact Assessment 

Workshop 

 

BCBC Offices – 12/07/2019 –  

19 people attended 

representing Natural 

Resources Wales, Bridgend 

College, Valleys to Coast 

Housing, South Wales 

Police, South Wales Fire and 

Rescue, members and 

officers from Bridgend CBC, 

Bridgend Association of 

Population groups potentially impacted by 

the plan were identified as: 

• Older adults – the importance of 

recognising the needs of the ageing 

population in housing and 

development design 

• Children and young people – in 

particular recognising the 

importance of access to green 

outdoor space, active travel and 

 

P
age 590



Voluntary Organisations, the 

Local Public Health Team, 

Public Health Wales, and 

AWEN. 

healthy food environments as 

drivers in reducing obesity levels in 

children 

• Unemployed people  

• Homeless people 

• Areas in need of social and 

economic regeneration  

• People on a low income 

• Disadvantaged groups, including 

gypsies and travellers and people 

fleeing domestic abuse 

Bridgend Youth Council 

Open Day  

 

BCBC Council Chamber – 

28/10/2019 

15 people attended 

Key issues that the Deposit Plan needs to 

cover:  

 

Renewable energy - Need to reduce 

Carbon footprint / potential to increase wind 

turbines in Garw Valley / make renewable 

technology standard in house construction / 

increase number of electric car charging 

points 

 

Greater provision of active travel routes – 

Current lack of connectivity between 

existing routes 

 

 

Revitalisation of town centres – range of 

uses needs to be broadened; particular 

reference to empty units in Maesteg being 

used to accommodate current edge of 

centre uses 

 

The replacement LDP will seek to ensure that 

developments, where necessary, will be 

served by appropriate infrastructure such as 

electric vehicle charging points. 

Replacement LDP needs to ensure 

employment strategy safeguards a range of 

sites that are suitable for all types of 

employment uses of varying sizes to enable 

local companies to open premises in Bridgend. 

Strategic site policies need to ensure that 

residential development proposals provide 

active travel linkages to improve connections 

to existing routes. 

Town Centre policies in the Replacement LDP 

need sufficient flexibility to encourage a wider 

range of uses can be accommodated to 

improve vitality of retail and commercial 

centres 

Further engagement with Youth Council as 

part of Deposit Plan consultation will be held 

P
age 591



Regeneration of Porthcawl waterfront – 

broad support for this, particularly to 

encourage more leisure and hospitality 

uses. Greater range of events and facilities 

are required to improve its image as a 

tourist destination 

 

Rising levels of street litter – particular 

concern over the lack of litter bins / use of 

plastics 

 

Employment – Concern that local 

companies were given sufficient 

opportunities to open premises in Bridgend 

Growth Strategy – broad agreement with 

level and location of growth for the 15 year 

period. Importance of more interaction with 

younger age groups as future custodians 

of the decisions made today was 

encouraged. 

Planning Aid Preferred 

Strategy Consultation 

with Community and 

Town Councils 

Five events held between 

23/09/2019 and 04/11/2019 at 

Maesteg Town Hall, 

Ynysawdre Parish Room, 

Brackla Community Hall, 

High Tide Inn, Porthcawl and 

Heol y Cyw Welfare Hall – 37 

people attended 

 

Summary of main issues:  

 

Provision of necessary infrastructure – 

negative impact of traffic congestion, hit and 

miss accessibility of public transport 

 

Pressure on schools and ability to provide 

fair access to education 

 

Housing – role of towns and villages; 

Dormitory settlements; isolation; 

relationship with job provision;  

 

Affordable Housing – overwhelming need 

exceeding supply 

 

P
age 592



 

Town Centres – vacant shops; impact on 

jobs; lack of parking – particularly for 

disabled users 

Employment – scope for small-scale 

employment uses in rural areas, but is this 

being addressed? 

 

Environment and Biodiversity – loss of 

green spaces; pressure on open space; 

impact on health; forestry management; 

flooding 

 

Community Facilities – loss of public toilets 

and impact this has on minority groups 

 

Elderly population – need to accommodate 

and meet the needs of all age groups 

 

Preferred Strategy 

Consultation – public 

exhibitions 

Consultation held between 

30th September 2019 and 8th 

November 2019 

13 events were held at the 

following venues:  

• Jennings Building, 

Porthcawl 

• Pyle Library 

• Pencoed Library 

• Maesteg Town 

Council Meeting 

Rooms  

• Bridgend Civic 

Offices  

Specific issues raised of relevance to EIA:  

• Shortage in provision of smaller 

dwellings, wider recognition 

required of housing crisis and 

greater emphasis needed on 

provision of affordable housing 

 

• Need to address differences in 

economies between the valleys and 

coastal areas 

 

• Ageing population of Bridgend 

 

• Concern over upcoming loss of 

1700 jobs at Bridgend and impact 

on residents 

 

P
age 593



A total of 186 people 

attended.  

In addition, an online 

consultation was held 

during the same period, 

which was advertised on the 

BCBC website and in local 

press. 354 specific 

representors were contacted 

with details of how to 

respond. 70 representations 

were received.  

 

• Importance of new development 

being capable of providing 

sufficient social and community 

infrastructure to meet the needs of 

residents in a sustainable manner 

 

• Primary Healthcare Provision – 

existing premises felt to be at 

capacity  

 

• Need to reduce car dependency 

 

• Support for creation of walkable 

neighbouhoods and safe streets 

 

• Inadequate provision of affordable 

housing in light of identified shortfall 

 

• Gypsy and Traveller 

accommodation needs to be 

recognised in the LDP 

 

If you undertook a full public consultation please enter the 
details and a summary of the findings here: 

In accordance with the Replacement Delivery Agreement and Local Development 

Plan (LDP) Regulation 17, the Deposit Replacement LDP was published and subject 

to public consultation from 1st June 2021 to 27th July 2021. The Deposit Stage of LDP 

preparation provided an opportunity for all stakeholders to comment on both the 

policies and sites proposed. The consultation was undertaken in accordance with the 

first Replacement DA and Community Involvement Scheme (CIS), which recognised 

the need to rely more heavily on web-based, virtual and remote consultation 

methods. Indeed, as the consultation was undertaken during a period where 

pandemic-related restrictions were evolving and had the potential to change at short 

notice, it was not deemed appropriate to book public exhibition venues for public 

P
age 594



drop-in sessions. A longer consultation period (8 weeks, rather than the statutory 6-

week period) was therefore utilised to make allowances for this situation.  

 

These various means of consultation proved highly effective. The LPA received and 

responded to over 130 emails and telephone appointment requests combined during 

this period. This enabled officers to outline proposals, answer queries and provide 

bespoke planning advice to enable representors to submit more informed responses 

to the consultation. Whilst this advice was remote rather than face-to-face, this form 

of consultation was well-used by consultees and enabled detailed one-to-one 

discussions to take place. Indeed, 1,221 representations were subsequently made on 

the Deposit Plan. All individual representations have been published within a 

separate Representations Register as a factual record of the representations 

received on the Replacement Deposit LDP. In addition, the LPA’s response to each 

representation is also included in the Consultation Report, organised by the themes 

detailed on the consultation form and the type of representor.  

 

Moreover, and in accordance with the first Replacement CIS, a number of 

consultation methods were used to ensure efficient and effective consultation and 

participation:   

 

• A Legal Notice was placed within the Glamorgan Gazette on 3rd June 2021; 

 

• The package of consultation documents was made available online via Bridgend 

County Borough Council’s Website (www.bridgend.gov.uk/ldpconsultation). 

Respondents were able to complete an electronic survey or request a postal 

survey;   

 

• Printed reference copies were placed within public facing Council buildings, 

including every library in the County Borough (fixed and mobile), subject to social 

distancing guidelines. The reference copies were also available to view at the 

Council’s Civic Offices in Angel Street, Bridgend by appointment;  

 

P
age 595

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


• Every individual and organisation on the LDP Consultation Database was 

notified by letter or email (depending on their preference) to inform them of the 

availability of the Deposit Consultation. A total of 406 separate representors were 

contacted, provided with details of how to access the package of consultation 

documents and how to respond. As the consultation has progressed, additional 

representors were added to the database upon request. The representors 

included the following: 

 
➢ Bridgend and District YMCA 

➢ Bridgend Coalition of Disabled People 

➢ Bridgend Equality Forum 

➢ Bridgend Public Services Board – Bridgend County Borough Council, 

ABMU Health Board, South Wales Fire & Rescue, Natural Resources 

Wales, Public Health Wales, South Wales Police, National Probation 

Service, Community Rehabilitation Company, Bridgend Association of 

Voluntary Organisations, Valleys to Coast, Housing Welsh Government, 

South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner’s Office, Bridgend College, 

Awen, Bridgend Business Forum 

➢ Bridgend Women’s Aid 

➢ Bridgend Youth Council & Forum 

➢ Commission for Racial Equality 

➢ Disability Rights Commission 

➢ Disability Wales 

➢ Equal Opportunities Commission 

➢ Gypsy and Travellers Wales 

➢ Royal National Institute for the Deaf and Hard of Hearing People 

➢ Royal National Institute for the Blind 

➢ Wales Council for the Disabled. 

 

• Planning Aid Wales were commissioned by the Council to run remote 

engagement events for all Town and Community Councils in Bridgend County 

Borough; 

 

P
age 596



• A comprehensive social media plan was devised. A series of social media posts 

were scheduled to be released periodically, drawing attention to different 

thematic areas / parts of the County Borough throughout the consultation period; 

 

• Planning officers presented details of the consultation remotely to Members and 

established working groups, including the u and Youth Forum; 

 

• In place of face-to-face public drop-in sessions, representors were able to book 

one to one telephone appointments with planning officers to discuss any 

queries/concerns they may have; 

 

• Posters were sent to all Town and Community Councils to display within their 

public notice boards; and 

 

• Hard copies of information were disseminated to individuals on request. 

Members of the public were able request a copy of the survey by post to 

complete by hand (free of charge). Individual hard copies of the whole Deposit 

Plan and Proposals Map was made available for a fee of £25 (inclusive of 

postage and packaging). 

 
 

A summary of the main issues raised are as follows:  

 

• General support for the Key Issues, Drivers, Vision and Objectives. 

• Concerns that the Plan’s proposals for some development on greenfield sites contradicts 

SOBJ4: To Protect and Enhance Distinctive and Natural Places. 

• Concern that SOBJ4 (To Protect and Enhance Distinctive and Natural Places) is not 

prioritised.  

• Calls for a better understanding of unseen disabilities within society and the benefits 

system. 

• General support for the growth strategy and the dwelling requirement. 

• Concerns regarding ‘continual’ housing growth within Bridgend in recent years and 

proposals for the County Borough to not accommodate any more growth in the future. 

• Concern over lack of growth in the Ogmore and Garw Valleys. 

P
age 597



• Cals for the growth strategy to be balanced with environmental protection. 

• General support for the spatial strategy in terms of the scale and location of growth. 

 

• Proposals to increase the distribution of housing towards Pencoed. 

• Proposals to increase the distribution of housing towards Bridgend. 

• Proposal to re-proportion strategic growth away from the grouped settlement of ‘Pyle, 

Kenfig Hill and North Cornelly’ and increase housing numbers in Bridgend. 

• Proposals to de-allocate brownfield regeneration sites that have been ‘rolled over’ from 

the existing LDP. 

• Objections to the regeneration-led only strategy for Porthcawl as reliance on Porthcawl 

Waterfront is 'exceptionally high risk' and there are no fall-back options to allow for 

additional housing provision in Porthcawl. 

• General support for ‘Design and Sustainable Placemaking’ Policies. 

• Proposal to remove local policies on design, placemaking, climate change, transport and 

accessibility and defer to national policies. 

• Query on how Policy SP4 (mitigating the impact of climate change) will be implemented 

and measured. 

 

• Challenge PLA11 for seeking to maximise provision of car parking out of accordance with 

the transport hierarchy detailed within national policy. 

 

• Requests for enhanced clarity on the definition of ‘Good Design’ within Policy SP3. 

• Proposal for SP3 to include the need for high-speed digital infrastructure in all new 

developments and Policy COM14’s reasoned justification to make clear that broadband 

infrastructure is a requirement as set out in Future Wales. 

• Request for all new buildings, including housing, to be examples of sustainable design 

and construction. 

• Proposal to re-word Policy PLA12 to provide more support to schemes that help to enable 

the Active Travel Network and for the Replacement LDP to prioritise more brownfield 

development. 

• Support for the plan-wide and site-specific affordable housing policies detailed within 

COM3 

• Query on how economic infrastructure and renewable energy can be secured as s106 

requirements as set out in SP10. 

P
age 598



• Proposal to set a higher dwelling threshold for a Health Impact Assessment within SP8 

(change from 10 dwellings to 500 dwellings or more). 

• Concerns raised regarding the deliverability of key strategic sites, notably Porthcawl 

Waterfront, Parc Afon Ewenni, Land East of Pyle, Land East of Pencoed, Land West of 

Bridgend and Land South of Bridgend (Island Farm). 

 

• Recommendation to alter the wording of COM5 to enable the release of affordable 

housing exception sites “within or adjoining” existing settlements and to include the 

definition of ‘local need’ within the Plan in accordance with national policy.  

• Recommendation to formally agree the GTAA with the relevant MS and demonstrate the 

related allocations can be delivered in the identified timescales. 

• Concerns regarding loss of public open space. 

• Concerns regarding the affordability of homes and whether affordable housing will be truly 

affordable for local people.  

• Concerns regarding the lack of infrastructure to support proposed developments (i.e. 

schools, roads and utilities). 

• Concerns regarding the impact of development on primary healthcare facilities.  

• Concerns regarding increase in traffic. 

• Concerns regarding the lack of employment opportunities within Porthcawl. 

• Concerns that the scale of residential development proposed will generate excessive out-

commuting from Bridgend to Cardiff and Swansea for employment purposes.  

• Concerns over empty business premises and whether employers would be attracted to 

Bridgend over the Plan period. 

• Concerns regarding empty units within retail and commercial centres.  

• Concerns regarding how the Replacement LDP will maintain the vibrancy and vitality of 

Bridgend Town Centre. 

• Proposal for empty offices and shops in town centres to be converted into housing to help 

meet the housing requirement. 

 

• Support for Town Centre first approach and opposition to out-of-centre retail 

development. 

• Concerns that Town and Commercial Centres need a greater range of uses  

• Concerns regarding the financial constraints of renewable energy measures on 

development. 

P
age 599



• Concerns that new housing will increase waste and whether there is adequate provision 

of waste management facilities. 

• Recommendation to refine references to biodiversity net gain in policies SP17 and DNP6 

to be based on a net benefit approach. 

 

• Concerns regarding the absence of a green wedge policy. 

• Proposals for greater protection for green spaces and provision of allotment space 

relative to demand. 

• General support for planting and protecting native trees, wildflowers and hedgerows. 

• Concern that the preservation of historic environment should be given greater priority. 

• General support for re-allocating existing sites within Maesteg and the Llynfi Valley as 

Long-Term Regenerations sites. 

• Proposal to de-allocate Long-Term Regeneration sites within Maesteg and the Llynfi 

Valley as there are too many units allocated in this area. 

• Capacity concerns regarding the A4063, further development in the Llynfi Valley and the 

impacts on the Valleys Gateway. 

• Support for the Maesteg Sustainable Growth Area (COM1(3, 4 and 5)). 

 

• Concerns regarding impact of development on the Valleys Gateway and the capacity of 

Junction 36 of the M4 

 

• Concern that affordable housing targets are too low in the Llynfi Valley. 

• Support regeneration proposals at Porthcawl Waterfront (SP2(1)). 

• Objections to the re-allocation of Porthcawl Waterfront (SP2(1)) due to potential negative 

impacts on wellbeing, infrastructure, the street scene, the seascape/landscape, the 

environment, flooding, traffic, parking provision, tourism provision, leisure provision and 

job creation. 

• Concerns regarding second home ownership at Porthcawl Waterfront SP2(1)). 

• Support for Land East of Pyle (SP2(5)), with proposed policy modifications to PLA5 

(masterplan development principles). 

• Proposal to de-allocate Land East of Pyle (SP2(5)) from the Replacement LDP due to the 

scale of the site. 

• Concern that affordable housing is low for Land East of Pyle (SP2(5)). 

• Concerns regarding investment in the Ogmore and Garw Valleys. 

P
age 600



• General support for co-operative housing and improvements to walking and cycling 

facilities. 

• Concern in relation to traffic generated by the proposed development in Llynfi Valley  

• Concern in relation to public transport in Ogmore and Garw Valley. 

• Concerns over Land East of Pencoed (SP2(4)) due to education provision. 

• Support for Land East of Pencoed (SP2(4)) as a means of delivering the Growth Strategy. 

• Oppose the allocation of Land South of Bridgend (Island Farm, SP2(2)) due to potential 

pressure on infrastructure, air quality concerns, highway safety concerns, loss of 

landscape and visual amenity and potential detriment to history, archaeology, woodland 

and biodiversity. 

• Support for Land South of Bridgend (Island Farm, SP2(2)) as a means of delivering the 

Growth Strategy. 

• Oppose the allocation of Land West of Bridgend (SP2(3)) due to potential coalescence of 

communities, pressure on infrastructure, air quality concerns, highway safety concerns, 

loss of landscape and visual amenity and detriment to history, archaeology, woodland and 

biodiversity. 

• Support for Land West of Bridgend (SP2(3)) as a means of delivering the Growth 

Strategy. 

• Support for Parc Afon Ewenni (COM1(1)) as a means of delivering the Growth Strategy. 

• Proposals for Merthyr Mawr to be protected. 

• Consultation period too short / insufficient. 

• Recommendation to take account of the revised TAN15 on flooding and its implications 

on proposed policies and allocations before the Deposit Plan is submitted for 

examination. 

• Concerns regarding the readability of the document. 

 

Please list any existing documents, reports, evidence from 
previous engagement, previous EIAs, service user 
information etc. which have been used to inform this 
assessment.  

The preparation of the Deposit Replacement LDP has emerged from a robust approach in 
respect of evidence gathering: 
 

• Existing LDP Review Report 

• Replacement LDP Delivery Agreement 

• SA/SEA Scoping Report 

• Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) - Initial 
SA Report 

• Deposit SA Report / HRA Appropriate Assessment Report 

P
age 601



• The Full Sustainability Appraisal of the Preferred Strategy, Deposit Plan and Non-
Technical Summary 

• Habitat Reguations Assessment 

• Candidate Site Register and Assessment Report (2020) 

• Economic Evidence Base Study (2019) and update (2021) 

• Retail Study (2019) and update (2022) 

• Renewable Energy Assessment (2020) 

• Bridgend Smart Energy Plan (2019) 

• Settlement Assessment Study (2019, revised 2021) 

• Demographic Analysis and Forecasts Report (2019) 

• Demographics Update Addendum (2020) 

• Outdoor Sport and Children’s Play Space Audit (2021) 

• Green Infrastructure Assessment (2021) 

• Local Housing Market Assessment (2021) 

• Special Landscape Designations (2010) 

• Landscape Character Assessment (2013) 

• Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (2020) 

• Health Impact Assessment (2021) 

• Bridgend’s Active Travel Network Map 

• Bridgend Destination Management Plan 2018-2022 

• Bridgend Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment (2020, updated 2022) 

• LDP Viability Assessment (2021) 

• Bridgend Local Biodiversity Action Plan (2014) 

• Green Wedge Review (2021) 

• Site of Importance for Naturew Conservation Review (2020) 

• Strategic Transport Assessment (2021) 

• Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2021) 

• Settlement Boundary Review (2021) 

• Urban Capacity Study (2020) 

• Test of Soundness (2021) 

• Bridgend PSB Assessment of Local Well-being (2017) 

• Bridgend PSB Well-being Plan (2018-2023) 

• Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan (Consultation version - 2021) 

• Bridgend County Borough Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Strategy (Annual Report 2019 to 2020) 
 

 

If you have identified any data gaps then you MUST undertake more consultation/engagement/research. 

P
age 602



 

Assessment of Impact 

It is important that you record the mitigating actions you will take when developing your final policy or proposal.  Record here what measures or changes you 

will introduce to the policy or proposal in the final draft which could: 

• Reduce or remove any unlawful or negative impact or disadvantage; 

• Improve equality of opportunity; 

• Introduce positive change; 

• Reduce inequalities of outcome resulting from socio-economic disadvantage; 

• Provide opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language; 

• Ensure that the Welsh Language is treated no less favourably that the English Language.  

Protected characteristics 

Based on the data you have analysed, and the results of consultation or engagement, consider what the potential impact will be upon people with protected 

characteristics (negative or positive). Include any examples of how the policy or proposal helps to promote equality. If you do identify any adverse impact you 

must seek legal advice as to whether, based on the evidence provided, an adverse impact is or is potentially discriminatory, and identify steps to 

mitigate any adverse impact – these actions will need to be included in your action plan.   

 What are the impacts of your policy or 

proposal? 

Please place an X in the relevant box 

Why have you come to this 

decision? Please provide an 

explanation and any supporting 

evidence. 

Considerations to mitigate 

negative impact(s) and/or secure 

positive impact(s) 

Positive 

impact(s) 

Negative 

impact(s) 

No impact 

Gender   X Incidents of sexual harassment, 

assault and domestic violence 

highlight the importance of safety 

considerations in the design of public 

spaces and neighbourhoods in 

relation to their prevention. 

 

The Bridgend Wellbeing Assessment 

found that while the pay gap between 

men and women was higher in 

Bridgend than the Wales average 

Good design and placemaking is at 

the heart of the LDP. This includes 

the need to minimise opportunities 

for crime to be generated or 

increased, whilst promoting 

community safety. Secure by 

Design principles form part of the 

overall sustainable design 

considerations for development 

proposals (Policy SP3), including 

those proposals that may 

P
age 603



each year between 2011 and 2014, it 

declined sharply from £148.00 in 

2012 to £71.50 in 2015 - below the 

Wales average of £86.30. 

 

In addition to wage disparity, the 

location of development has 

potential to have a significant impact 

on the economic opportunities open 

to women. i.e. the availability of 

childcare, ability to access health, 

social & care facilities, provision of 

public transport and travel times 

between employment and schools. 

 

The LDP has been formulated to 

ensure that sufficient employment 

land is allocated, and supported by 

the required social and community 

infrastructure to ensure a mix of 

equal employment opportunities can 

be created and promoted, in both full 

and part time occupations. 

 

exacerbate existing issues. The 

Authority consults South Wales 

Police on all planning applications 

who advise on individual proposals. 

Key principles include the 

promotion of natural surveillance 

over public areas and the 

prevention of dark, unused 

corners/routes. There is however a 

need to balance security design 

features with the overall impact 

upon street character and attractive, 

inclusive public realms. All future 

development proposals will be 

assessed to ensure that they will 

make a positive contribution 

towards strengthening local identity, 

achieving sustainable communities, 

encouraging a more sustainable 

way of living, and promoting 

community cohesion and 

engagement. 

 

The LDP seeks to tackle inequalities 

between communities and support 

people to adopt healthy, culturally 

fulfilled lifestyles by improving 

access to services, cultural 

opportunities and recreation 

facilities. In order to create mixed 

and balanced communities, housing 

choice will be maximised to provide 

for a range of sizes, types and 

tenures of accommodation that can 

increase access to quality new 

P
age 604



homes, including market and 

affordable housing. The 

Sustainable Housing Strategy 

contained within Policy SP6 will 

therefore provide an appropriate 

and sustainable supply of housing 

land to deliver inter-connected, 

balanced communities that form the 

basis for individuals and families to 

prosper in all aspects of their lives. 

The delivery of affordable housing is 

a key part of the housing strategy, 

with an integrated balance of 

tenures being a crucial means of 

fostering sustainable communities. 

The LDP has been informed by a 

Local Housing Market Assessment, 

which assessed the housing needs 

of all sectors of society. The findings 

of the LHMA will also be used in 

discussions with housing 

developers to ensure that 

appropriate housing mixes are 

delivered to meet a range of locally 

identified needs. Where a bespoke 

need has been identified, and on 

appropriate sites, new development 

may also be required to provide for 

more specialist affordable housing 

provision including temporary, 

move on and sheltered 

accommodation.  

 

The LDPs Growth and Spatial 

strategy seeks to focus 

P
age 605



development in locations that 

already benefit from good 

infrastructure, have good access to 

services and facilities and are 

supported by a public transport 

network (Policy SF1 and SP1). In 

this way, development will be 

directed towards those settlements 

that are conducive to sustainable 

placemaking that facilitate a 

balance of environmentally friendly, 

economically vibrant, and socially 

inclusive characteristics, aiming to 

benefit current inhabitants and 

future generations alike. Policy 

SP12 promotes Town, District and 

Local Centres as hubs of socio-

economic activity and the focal 

points for a diverse range of 

services, which support the needs 

of the communities they serve. They 

act as the most appropriate and 

sustainable locations for new retail, 

leisure and supporting commercial 

development. The co-location of 

facilities and services at such 

locations will help support their long-

term health and vitality as 

convenient and attractive places to 

live, work, shop, socialise, study, 

access services for health and well-

being and to conduct business. This 

approach will also encourage linked 

trips, enabling all residents of the 

County Borough have greater 

P
age 606



equality of opportunity to 

employment regardless of their 

gender.  

 

The LDP also promotes the dual 

location of community facilities 

through Policy SP9. The co-

location of multiple uses in close 

proximity or in one building is 

important in providing a range of 

activities to meet the communities’ 

diverse needs. Co-location provides 

the opportunity for sustainable 

linked activities and has potential to 

create a greater sense of ownership 

and community. The Council will, 

wherever practicable, seek to 

combine social and community 

uses in one location or a single 

building. This has particular 

relevance to new school 

developments, and the grouping of 

health and childcare facilities to help 

people balance full time 

employment with parenting.  

 

The LDP’s economic strategy is 

encapsulated in Policy SP11 and 

seeks to ‘create productive and 

enterprising places’ by providing 

sufficient employment land and a 

variety of sites to support a diversity 

of employment opportunities. This 

will achieve new and better-paid 

jobs for existing and future 

generations of residents; and a 

P
age 607



better balance between the location 

of jobs and housing, which will 

reduce the need to travel and 

promote sustainable growth.  A 

sustained and enhanced labour 

force, comprising skilled, 

established households, will ensure 

that Bridgend County Borough 

continues to be a desirable prospect 

for employers to move into or 

expand within, thereby stimulating 

economic growth and enhancing 

employment opportunities for local 

people. 

Disability X   A proportion of the Borough’s 

residents have disabilities that limit 

their day-to-day activities.  Based on 

the 2011 census, 13.4% of the 

Bridgend population considered they 

had a physical, sensory or learning 

disability or long-term illness and 

there are approximately 2,650 adults 

with learning disabilities in Bridgend. 

Bridgend Social Services knows 

about 522 adults with learning 

disabilities. 

 

Disability often requires adaptations 

to be made to properties and reliance 

on unpaid care. Life choices can be 

further reduced by limiting access to 

the housing market, and the design 

of new residential development 

failing to take into account the 

specific design needs of all sectors of 

the community. The LDP seeks to 

The LDP is supported by a Local 

Housing Market Assessment which 

identifies a strong correlation 

between the need for an accessible 

property and older age. Younger 

people are more likely to require 

complex adaptations, such as a 

through floor lift. Whilst the LHMA 

identified need for social rented 

accessible accommodation is small, 

many of these households will have 

very specific needs that will be 

difficult to accommodate within the 

existing housing stock. As such, this 

element of identified need is very 

acute and will form a key part of 

design considerations in pre-

application discussions with house 

builders.  

 

The provision of appropriate levels 

and tenures of Affordable Housing 

P
age 608



ensure the provision of accessible 

affordable and market housing, 

closely integrated with accessible 

neighbourhoods and facilities.  

 

A number of barriers in 

neighbourhood and street design 

could impact on access to the 

outdoors and active travel 

opportunities for people across a 

range of disabilities. As a result, this 

can increase reliance on private car 

travel. Furthermore, in rural areas 

and some of the Valley communities 

there is limited public transport; this 

increases the need for accessible 

parking and drop off points at homes. 

 

Consultation methods and LDP 

documents need to be accessible 

and take reasonable adjustments 

into account. A need to ensure the 

views of Disabled people are 

captured and that Disabled people 

do not face barriers to participation.  

 

forms a key part of the LDP’s 

Sustainable Housing Strategy 

(Policy SP6). In addition, Policy 

COM2 of the LDP seeks provision of 

affordable housing within new 

housing developments to 

incorporate an appropriate mix of 

house types, sizes and tenures. 

Policy COM3 sets percentage 

targets for each of the housing 

market areas. The LHMA will be 

used as the primary source of 

housing need in order to inform an 

appropriate mix of affordable 

dwellings on-site, alongside any 

other relevant local information 

provided by the Council. Where 

affordable housing is provided, it 

should be integrated into the overall 

development through separate 

clusters of no more than ten 

affordable units, and should not be 

obviously segregated through 

layout, location or design. This is 

fundamental to ensure delivery of 

balanced,mixed tenure, sustainable 

communities. Irrespective of 

funding sources, the LDP will 

ensure that social rented units will 

be constructed to Development 

Quality Requirement Standards and 

intermediate units will be 

constructed to at least the same 

standard as the open market units 

on the site. A lifetime home 

P
age 609



standard is applicable to all social 

housing achieving the Development 

Quality Requirement (DQR) funded 

by WG Social Housing Grant. 

 

Where a bespoke need has been 

identified, and on appropriate sites, 

new development will be required to 

provide for more specialist 

affordable housing provision 

including accessible 

accommodation. However, it would 

not be appropriate for such 

provision to be required on every 

site as this will depend on the 

location of the site, the type of 

development, viability 

considerations and the level of 

housing need identified for that 

area. 

 

The LDP seeks to direct 

development to sustainable 

locations which are accessible by a 

range of transport means including 

public transport.  Policy SP3 

demands a high quality of design 

incorporating equality of access in 

all development proposals. Design 

and Access Statements will be used 

within the Development Control 

process and should contain 

information relating to each of the 

16 criteria (where appropriate) to 

ensure this policy is implemented 

P
age 610



effectively in terms of the 

consideration of Placemaking and 

good design. Good design is much 

more than the physical appearance 

of buildings, it is about the 

relationship between all elements of 

the natural and built environment 

and between people and places, as 

advocated by the Design 

Commission for Wales. 

Development proposals will be 

assessed for their design and 

Placemaking compatibility. Poor 

design can have adverse impacts 

on the character and appearance of 

an area, in addition to harming the 

collective street scene. Various 

elements (e.g. visual impact, loss of 

light, overlooking, traffic constraints) 

will be assessed to ensure there are 

no potential adverse impacts.  

 

Policy SP5 seeks to promote 

connectivity for all by maximising 

opportunities for active travel 

routes, including those contained 

within Existing Route Maps and 

future proposals detailed within the 

Active Travel Network Maps. Well-

connected developments will assist 

in promoting the improvement of 

health and well-being by 

encouraging people to adopt 

healthier and active lifestyles, whilst 

also contributing to the creation of a 

P
age 611



successful place. A green 

infrastructure network also provides 

important amenity value in addition 

to health and well-being benefits. 

The LDP therefore seeks to 

integrate both active travel routes 

and green infrastructure networks 

where appropriate to catalyse 

creation of a high quality 

environment, encouraging active 

lifestyles. The design and 

functionality of streets is considered 

a fundamental aspect in achieving 

sustainable Placemaking to this 

end. A sense of place is recognised 

in the policy protecting the historic 

and cultural heritage assets in the 

County Borough. 

 

Promoting pedestrian/wheelchair 

friendly environments and routes 

that link to existing services/facilities 

forms normal Development 

Management practice when 

considering the suitability of a 

proposal in terms of sustainable 

design. Consultation with 

Highways, Access and Public 

Rights of Way Officers informs this 

process for specific proposals. 

However over engineered 

environments in this respect can 

reduce the aesthetical quality and 

specific character of developments, 

P
age 612



these impacts therefore need to be 

balanced. 

 

Good design and placemaking is at 

the heart of the LDP. This includes 

the need to minimise opportunities 

for crime to be generated or 

increased, whilst promoting 

community safety. Secure by 

Design principles form part of the 

overall sustainable design 

considerations for development 

proposals (Policy SP3), including 

those proposals that may 

exacerbate existing issues. The 

Authority consults South Wales 

Police who advise on individual 

proposals. Key principles include 

the promotion of natural 

surveillance over public areas and 

the prevention of dark, unused 

corners/routes. There is however a 

need to balance security design 

features with the overall impact 

upon street character and attractive, 

inclusive public realms. All future 

development proposals will be 

assessed to ensure that they will 

make a positive contribution 

towards strengthening local identity, 

achieve sustainable communities, 

encourage a more sustainable way 

of living, and promote community 

cohesion and engagement.  

As part of the LDP consultee 

database, Bridgend Access Group,   

P
age 613



Bridgend Community Cohesion and 

Equalities Forum and other 

disability groups have been 
consulted as part of the Deposit 

Consultation. Reasonable 

adjustments and accessibility 

considerations were be taken into 

account when deciding on locations 

to hold events and deposit 

consultation documents. A 

summary version of the Deposit 

Plan wasmade available in an Easy 

Read format. 

Race X   At the time of the 2011 Census, 96% 

of people in BCBC described 

themselves as White British. The 

next most common ethnic group was 

people identifying as White Polish 

but this still only accounted for less 

than 1% of the total population. The 

north of the County Borough was the 

least ethnically diverse with 98% of 

people in the Garw Valley and Llynfi 

Valley identifying as White British. 

Bridgend and Surrounding areas had 

the largest ethnic minority population 

with 94% of people in this area 

identifying as White British. The 

largest ethnic group in this area in 

2011 was Polish accounting for just 

over 1% of the total population, 

followed by Filipino and Chinese 

groups making up around 0.5% of 

the population each. 73% of the total 

Polish population, 58% of the 

Chinese population and 81% of the 

Filipino population in the County 

The LDP seeks to tackle inequalities 

between communities and support 

people to adopt healthy, culturally 

fulfilled lifestyles by improving 

access to services, cultural 

opportunities and recreation 

facilities. In order to create mixed 

and balanced communities, housing 

choice will be maximised to provide 

for a range of sizes, types and 

tenures of accommodation that can 

increase access to quality new 

homes, including market and 

affordable housing. The 

Sustainable Housing Strategy 

contained within Policy SP6 will 

therefore provide an appropriate 

and sustainable supply of housing 

land to deliver inter-connected, 

balanced communities that form the 

basis for individuals and families to 

prosper in all aspects of their lives. 

The delivery of affordable housing is 

P
age 614



Borough live in Bridgend and the 

surrounding area. 

98% of residents use either English 

or Welsh as their main language, 

slightly more than for Wales as a 

whole (97.14%). Behind English or 

Welsh, the next most common main 

language spoken in Bridgend is 

Polish - the main language of just 

0.54 per cent of residents - followed 

by Tagalog/Filipino - the main 

language of 0.1 per cent of the 

residents. 

 

The LDP seeks to ensure that the 

cultural needs of the ethnic minority 

groups are met at a spatial level, 

particularly within the Bridgend area. 

Policies within the plan  

 

Residents and tourists may be 

targeted in cases of race hate crime. 

This may have an impact on their use 

of public transport and ability to 

access opportunities and facilities 

within Bridgend and further afield. 

Policies within the LDP seek to 

ensure that community safety 

considerations form part of good 

design and neighbourhood layouts to 

create a safe environment. This is 

seen to be particularly important in 

terms of public transport related 

facilities. 

 

a key part of the housing strategy, 

with an integrated balance of 

tenures being a crucial means of 

fostering sustainable communities. 

The LDP has been informed by a 

Local Housing Market Assessment, 

which assessed the housing needs 

of all sectors of society including 

those of ethnic minorities. The 

findings of the LHMA will also be 

used in discussions with housing 

developers to ensure that 

appropriate housing mixes are 

delivered to meet a range of locally 

identified needs.  

The LDP Strategy directs the 

majority of growth towards areas 

that already benefit from good 

infrastructure, services and 

facilities, or where additional 

capacity can be provided, in order to 

facilitate sustainable placemaking in 

accordance with the Settlement 

Hierarchy (Policy SF1). Policy SP9 

seeks to retain and enhance social 

and community facilities to ensure 

no section of the community is 

excluded from having access to 

basic services, with the overall aim 

of creating sustainable and 

inclusive communities. Proposals 

coming forward for the provision of 

new facilities can be considered in 

this context. 

P
age 615



Members of the Gypsy and Traveller 

community may experience an 

adverse impact on their health and 

education if their specific 

accommodation needs are not met. 

Access to safe and appropriate sites 

and facilities can assist in helping to 

improve outcomes in these areas. 

The LDP has been informed by a 

GTAA and policies have  been 

formulated to help meet the findings 

of this study and any unidentified 

need for sites to prevent 

unauthorised encampments in 

unsafe areas or without adequate 

facilities. 

 

Appropriate monitoring targets on 

delivery of Gypsy Traveller provision 

are required to ensure that future 

accommodation needs are 

accounted for.  

 

Good design and placemaking is at 

the heart of the LDP. This includes 

the need to minimise opportunities 

for crime to be generated or 

increased, whilst promoting 

community safety. Secure by 

Design principles form part of the 

overall sustainable design 

considerations for development 

proposals (Policy SP3), including 

those proposals that may 

exacerbate existing issues. The 

Authority consults South Wales 

Police who advise on individual 

proposals. Key principles include 

the promotion of natural 

surveillance over public areas and 

the prevention of dark, unused 

corners/routes. There is however a 

need to balance security design 

features with the overall impact 

upon street character and attractive, 

inclusive public realms. All future 

development proposals will be 

assessed to ensure that they will 

make a positive contribution 

towards strengthening local identity, 

achieve sustainable communities, 

encourage a more sustainable way 

of living, and promote community 

cohesion and engagement. 

The LDP has been informed by a 

Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation Assessment 

covering the period 2018-2033, 

P
age 616



which identifies the additional pitch 

provision needed for Gypsies, 

Travellers and Show people in the 

County Borough. For the first 5 

years of the GTAA period, a need 

for 5 additional pitches was 

identified, and for the remainder of 

the GTAA plan period, a need for 2 

additional pitches was identified. 

This equates to a total need of 7 

additional pitches over the entirety 

of the LDP period. All identified 

need was for permanent pitches 

and there was no need identified for 

local transit site provision. Since the 

GTAA was published, one 

household has now permanently 

relocated onto an existing 

authorised site in the County 

Borough and no longer assistance 

from the Council. Another 

household has received planning 

consent to reconfigure an existing 

authorised site to accommodate 

three further pitches. The remaining 

three pitch need arises from one 

family, most appropriately met 

through provision of one private 

three pitch site.. Based on this 

evidence of need, the Council has 

made site-specific provision for one 

permanent three-pitch site (Policy 

SP7), which is intended for private 

development. The identified site has 

been selected based on the 

P
age 617



guidance contained in Circular 

005/2018. The site allocation has 

been informed by close consultation 

with the respective members of the 

Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople 

community. 

The LDP contains a detailed criteria 

based policy (Policy COM8) which 

will be used to assess any Gypsy, 

Traveller or Showperson site 

proposals that may arise over the 

LDP Plan period. This provides a 

fair, reasonable, realistic and 

effective means of determining 

planning applications to enable 

delivery of appropriate sites.  

Proposals must demonstrate that 

they are of an appropriate standard 

and design to allow residents of the 

site to have access to appropriate 

facilities and live in safe, cohesive 

and sustainable communities. The 

development must not have a 

significant adverse impact on 

people’s amenity. Where business 

uses are proposed, the site will be 

required to be able to accommodate 

home-based business uses without 

detracting from the amenity, 

appearance, character and 

environment of the area or 

neighbouring occupiers. This may 

include the provision of adequate 

P
age 618



facilities and space for such 

activities. 

Proposals will be required to 

demonstrate that through the siting, 

layout and access of the site, there 

would be no detriment to pedestrian 

or highway safety. Furthermore, 

proposals must demonstrate the 

site is able to provide a sufficient 

standard of physical infrastructure 

facilities and access to utilities, 

including an adequate water supply, 

power, drainage, waste disposal 

and sewage disposal to ensure the 

development of the site will not pose 

risks to human health and well-

being of residents. The site should 

also have adequate accessibility, 

including by walking and cycling, to 

necessary social infrastructure 

including education and health. 

Consideration will be given to 

environmental factors including 

flood risk, ground stability, land 

contamination and proximity of 

hazardous installations to ensure 

the site is appropriate for 

development. 

The future requirements for, and 

take-up of, pitches will be closely 

monitored, using the Monitoring 

Framework and Annual Monitoring 

Report. In accordance with the 

Housing (Wales) Act 2014, the 

P
age 619



Council will also undertake a new 

GTAA every five years and so a new 

GTAA is expected to be published 

in 2025. Any newly arising need 

identified within refreshed GTAA will 

be assessed against COM8. 

Religion and belief   X The 2017 Wellbeing Assessment 

found that almost four in ten people 

in Bridgend have no religion. Of 

those that do, most are Christian. 

The proportion of the population of 

Bridgend who identify as Christian 

decreased by over 15% between 

2001 and 2011, from 70.2% to 

55.1%. In the same period, the 

number of people identifying as 

having no religion increased by 15%, 

from 21.3% to 36.7% of the 

population. This change is similar to 

that observed across Wales. People 

who practice a religion other than 

Christianity make up just 1.2% of the 

population of Bridgend. This is a 

smaller proportion than for Wales as 

a whole (2.7%). As in Wales, the 

second most practiced religion in 

Bridgend is Islam, though Muslims 

only account for 0.4% of the 

population. Other minority religions 

include Buddhism, Hinduism, 

Judaism and Sikhism. 

 

Trend data suggests that there will 

be a continued decline in the 

proportion of the population who 

Local social and community 

facilities are recognised for their 

important contribution they make to 

the health and well-being of local 

communities. Their existence is 

often the key determinant in 

creating viable and sustainable 

local communities if such facilities 

are in easy walking and cycling 

distance for local residents. The 

LDP recognises the need to protect 

and enhance social and community 

facilities, including cultural facilities 

and places of worship. This is 

encapsulated in Policy SP9, which 

seeks to retain such uses to ensure 

that no section of the community is 

excluded from having access to 

basic services, with the overall aim 

of creating sustainable and 

inclusive communities. The 

definition of such facilities is widely 

interpreted as any facility that is 

used by local communities for 

leisure and social purposes, and 

can be both publicly and privately 

owned. SP9 recognises that 

buildings used for these purposes 

often have a dual purpose, which is 

P
age 620



identify as having religious beliefs, 

particularly amongst Christians in 

Bridgend. This, along with other 

(wider) cultural changes, may lead to 

the fragmentation of traditional 

communities and potentially fewer 

people feeling that they ‘belong’ to 

their local area. 

 

The the LDP addresses potential 

impact on religion and belief in the 

following ways: 

 

• Maintaining physical access to 

places of worship including good 

transport links (public and private) 

• Protection of historic buildings 

and religious sites of importance 

through land use policy 

• Promotion of sustainable 

placemaking to help reduce the 

incidence and fear of crime due to 

religion or belief.  

critical for ensuring longer-term 

sustainability. Of equal importance, 

the co-location of multiple uses in 

close proximity or in one building is 

important in providing a range of 

activities to meet the communities’ 

diverse needs. Co-location provides 

the opportunity for sustainable 

linked activities and has potential to 

create a greater sense of ownership 

and community. Where proposals 

for new social and community 

facilities are promoted, the Council 

will seek to encourage dual-use 

provision.  

The LDP Strategy acknowledges 

that good access to social and 

community facilities is fundamental 

to address social inequalities within 

and between different communities 

in the County Borough, providing 

the opportunity for people to lead 

healthy, safe, and well-balanced 

lives. Where a need is identified, the 

LDP seeks to  ensure that facilities 

are delivered in an appropriate 

manner at appropriate locations 

through the relevant LDP Policies 

and associated SPGs. To this end, 

whilst it is acknowledged that the 

provision of new social and 

community facilities may often be 

limited, Policy SP10 provides the 

means for seeking and securing 

new facilities (or upgrades to 

P
age 621



existing) where they are needed 

and justified. Social infrastructure 

and services, as much as physical 

infrastructure, is needed to make 

places function efficiently and 

sustainably and is a fundamental 

part of the Replacement LDP. 

Development will only be permitted 

where there is adequate existing 

physical and social infrastructure in 

place, or where there are suitable 

proposals to increase provision to 

accommodate any additional 

demand from the proposed 

development. Any such deficiencies 

must be addressed, where 

reasonable, by those undertaking 

the development through planning 

obligations (via a S106 legal 

agreement). 

Policy SP5 of the LDP recognises 

the need to promote sustainable 

travel choices by directing new 

development to locations which are 

accessible by a range of transport 

means including public transport 

and active travel. This has been a 

fundamental criteria in the selection 

of sites that make up the housing 

allocation policies. SP5 ensures 

that development minimises the 

need to travel, reduces dependency 

on the private car and enables 

sustainable access to local services 

and community facilities. Where 

P
age 622



appropriate, the LDP will seek the 

provision of new transport 

infrastructure and improvement 

measures. In all cases, these will 

need to positively integrate into the 

places which they serve or pass 

through to ensure that all members 

of society are able to access the 

services and facilities (including 

cultural and religious) they require 

to live full and active lives.  

UK Acts of Parliament and national 

planning policy seeks to conserve 

the architectural merit of historic 

buildings and assets that are listed 

within Conservation Areas.   Care 

for the Built and Historic 

Environment is fundamental to the 

LDP Strategy and to achieving 

sustainable development. This 

includes sites of religious 

importance. Policy SP18 

recognises that the special and 

unique characteristics and intrinsic 

qualities of the natural and built 

environment must be protected in 

their own right for historic, scenic, 

aesthetic and nature conservation 

reasons. These features give 

places their unique identity and 

distinctiveness, whilst providing for 

cultural experiences and healthy 

lifestyles. 

P
age 623



Good design and placemaking is at 

the heart of the LDP. This includes 

the need to minimise opportunities 

for hate crime to be committed, 

whilst promoting community safety. 

Secure by Design principles form 

part of the overall sustainable 

design considerations for 

development proposals (Policy 

SP3), including those proposals that 

may exacerbate existing issues. 

The Authority consults South Wales 

Police who advise on individual 

proposals. Key principles include 

the promotion of natural 

surveillance over public areas and 

the prevention of dark, unused 

corners/routes. There is however a 

need to balance security design 

features with the overall impact 

upon street character and attractive, 

inclusive public realms. All future 

development proposals will be 

assessed to ensure that they will 

make a positive contribution 

towards strengthening local identity, 

achieve sustainable communities, 

encourage a more sustainable way 

of living, and promote community 

cohesion and engagement. 

Sexual Orientation   X There is no data on the number of 

people that identify as lesbian, gay or 

bisexual in Bridgend. In 2016, 95.2% 

of people in Wales identified as 

heterosexual/straight, 1.0% as 

The LDP seeks to develop a land 
use framework which ensures 
opportunities for enhanced 
inclusivity and to integrate the LDP 
with other plans and strategies that 
promoting accessibility to services. 

P
age 624



gay/lesbian, 0.7% as bisexual, and 

0.4% as other; 2.7% of people did not 

know, answer or respond to the 

question.  

 

However, residents may have to 

travel within the County Borough to 

access particular community and 

support groups.  More specialist 

support facilities and some cultural 

venues and events may require 

longer journeys across the region. To 

help facilitate this, the LDP promotes 

the creation of new and 

enhancement of existing accessible 

public and private transport links 

within Bridgend connected to wider 

regional networks.  

 

The LDP also seeks to ensure that 

public spaces are designed in a 

manner that promotes community 

safety and engenders the feeling of 

being a safe environment to 

encourage their use by all sectors of 

society. This will help reduce the 

incidence and fear of hate crimes 

committed against residents of the 

borough due to their sexual 

orientation.  

 

By having a positive impact on health 

and wellbeing outcomes, the land 

use policies of the LDP will contribute 

 

The Plan seeks to promote 

sustainable travel choices by 

locating new development in areas 

with good existing active travel and 

public transport facilities, or where 

clear linkages and new facilities can 

be provided or enhanced. This 

includes providing sustainable 

means of accessing facilities in the 

wider region, principally by 

improving access to rail 

connections. Policy SP5 seeks to 

promote connectivity for all by 

maximising opportunities for active 

travel routes, including those 

contained within Existing Route 

Maps and future proposals detailed 

within the Active Travel Network 

Maps. Well-connected 

developments will assist in 

promoting the improvement of 

health and well-being by 

encouraging people to adopt 

healthier and active lifestyles, whilst 

also contributing to the creation of a 

successful place. A green 

infrastructure network also provides 

important amenity value in addition 

to health and well-being benefits. 

 

Good design and placemaking is at 

the heart of the LDP. This includes 

the need to minimise opportunities 

for hate crime to be committed, 

P
age 625



to better mental health outcomes for 

LGBT+ people. 

whilst promoting community safety. 

Secure by Design principles form 

part of the overall sustainable 

design considerations for 

development proposals (Policy 

SP3), including those proposals that 

may exacerbate existing issues. 

The Authority consults South Wales 

Police who advise on individual 

proposals. Key principles include 

the promotion of natural 

surveillance over public areas and 

the prevention of dark, unused 

corners/routes. There is however a 

need to balance security design 

features with the overall impact 

upon street character and attractive, 

inclusive public realms. All future 

development proposals will be 

assessed to ensure that they will 

make a positive contribution 

towards strengthening local identity, 

achieve sustainable communities, 

encourage a more sustainable way 

of living, and promote community 

cohesion and engagement. 

 

Local social and community 

facilities are recognised for their 

important contribution they make to 

the health and well-being of local 

communities. Their existence is 

often the key determinant in 

creating viable and sustainable 

local communities. The LDP 

P
age 626



recognises the need to protect and 

enhance social and community 

facilities, including cultural and 

entertainment venues. This is 

encapsulated in Policy SP9, which 

seeks to retain such uses to ensure 

that no section of the community is 

excluded from having access to 

basic services, with the overall aim 

of creating sustainable and 

inclusive communities. The 

definition of such facilities is widely 

interpreted as any facility that is 

used by local communities for 

leisure and social purposes, and 

can be both publicly and privately 

owned. 

 

Similarly, Policy SP8 seeks to 

ensure that new development 

enables and supports the delivery of 

new healthcare facilities, in addition 

to other social infrastructure and 

community facilities.  

Age X   Bridgend has an ageing population, 

experiencing significant growth in the 

older age groups 65-79 and 80+, 

between 2001 and 2019. Porthcawl 

and Laleston/Merthyr Mawr in 

particular have a relatively high 

proportion of older residents and 

fewer young people.  

 

The LDPs Growth and Spatial 

strategy seeks to focus 

development in locations that 

already benefit from good 

infrastructure, have good access to 

services and facilities and are 

supported by a public transport 

network (Policy SF1). In this way, 

development will be directed 

towards those settlements that are 

conducive to sustainable 

P
age 627



The policies of the LDP have been 

formulated to address this in a 

number of ways:  

 

• To meet the housing and support 

needs of an ageing population 

through facilitating the 

development of appropriate 

housing options for older people 

in locations which are accessible, 

have good public transport links 

and good services. 

• Ensuring homes are built to 

changing Building Regulation 

standards to enable people to 

stay as their needs change 

without needing additional 

adaptations e.g. wide enough for 

wheel chairs and lifts. 

• Meeting current and future 

demand for neighbourhoods and 

communities that facilitate ageing 

in place and promote prevention 

agenda through accommodation 

and support, neighbourhood 

design and layout, access to 

health, community and other 

facilities and accessible transport. 

 

The needs of children and young 

people is also a key priority of the 

LDP and is addressed in the 

following ways:  

 

placemaking that facilitate a 

balance of environmentally friendly, 

economically vibrant, and socially 

inclusive characteristics, aiming to 

benefit current residents and future 

generations alike. 

 

Policy SP1 makes provision for 72 

hectares of employment land (to 

accommodate up to 7,500 jobs) and 

8,590 new homes across the plan 

period. This level of growth will lead 

to more established households 

(particularly around the 35-44 age 

group) both remaining within and 

moving into the County Borough, 

coupled with less outward migration 

across other economically active 

age groups. This will encourage a 

more youthful, skilled population 

base to counter-balance the ageing 

population. The projected increase 

in the working age population and 

the linked dwelling requirement 

underpinning the LDP will provide 

significant scope for residents to live 

and work in the area. The Growth 

Strategy can be succinctly 

explained by the acronym ‘CARM’, 

which summarises the Strategy’s 

intentions to Counter-balance the 

ageing population by Attracting 

skilled, economically active 

households, Retaining skilled, 

economically active households 

P
age 628



• Policies that recognise the 

changing needs of residents as 

children, young people and 

families grow – policies have 

been formulated to provide 

flexible places and to create 

spaces with a balanced approach 

not such limited specific uses. 

• In 2017/18, 24.6% of children 

aged five were overweight or 

obese in Bridgend. Children who 

play outdoors every day are more 

likely to be a healthy weight. The 

LDP seeks to enable children to 

gain access to high quality green 

and natural spaces and play 

facilities to help counter childhood 

obesity and to improve their 

mental wellbeing. 

• Access to affordable housing and 

job opportunities for young 

people in their local areas, and in 

particular for households with 

children in low income. 

 

and rendering the County Borough 

a Magnet for employers to expand 

within or move into. 

 

Meeting future and current housing 

needs is a key component of the 

sustainable housing strategy of the 

LDP as expressed in Policy SP6 

which seeks to deliver an 

appropriate and sustainable supply 

of housing land to deliver inter-

connected, balanced communities 

that form the basis for individuals 

and families to prosper in all aspects 

of their lives. With particular 

reference to meeting the needs of 

the older residents of the county 

borough, the LDP is informed by the 

findings of the LHMA. Whilst the 

assessment shows only a small 

need for accessible and older 

persons’ accommodation for social 

rent, this should not be overlooked 

as these groups can often be in 

acute housing need. Consideration 

will be given to how well the current 

supply of housing for older people 

meets the changing needs and 

aspirations of this group and there is 

undoubtedly need to continue 

diversifying the market, including 

through provision of level access 

flats, bungalows, extra care 

schemes and moderately priced 

later living schemes. Whilst there is 

P
age 629



no evidence to justify building new 

sheltered schemes at present, 

consideration will be given to 

rebranding and/or upgrading 

existing schemes as appropriate. 

This may include physical 

improvement works (i.e. updating 

bathrooms, fitting new kitchens and 

upgrading heating), publicity (i.e. 

rebranding, holding open days and 

publicising tenant testimonials) and 

diversification (i.e. converting 

schemes into community hubs, 

accommodating households with 

support needs and such like). The 

findings of the LHMA will be used to 

inform discussions with developers 

at all stages of the planning process 

to ensure the housing mix proposed 

in schemes meets the specific 

needs of the different communities 

within the county borough.  

 

Good design and sustainable 

placemaking is embedded within 

everything that the LDP sets out to 

achieve and the means to achieve 

this is set out in Policy SP3. The 

criteria contained within the policy 

provide the starting point for 

assessment of all planning 

applications received by the 

planning authority. SP3 seeks to 

promote connectivity for all by 

maximising opportunities for active 

P
age 630



travel. Well-connected 

developments will assist in 

promoting the improvement of 

health and well-being by 

encouraging people to adopt 

healthier and active lifestyles, whilst 

also contributing to the creation of 

successful places. A green 

infrastructure network also provides 

important amenity value in addition 

to health and well-being benefits. 

The LDP also seeks to conserve 

key attributes of the natural 

environment that promote healthy 

environments, promote specific 

sustainable design elements such 

as legible layouts that are 

pedestrian friendly, accessible 

buildings, natural surveillance and 

open spaces.  

 

Policy SP9 ensures that community 

facilities will be safeguarded to 

ensure no section of the community 

is excluded from having access to 

basic services, with the overall aim 

of creating sustainable and 

inclusive communities. The detailed 

policies that sit under SP9 clearly 

outline how the LDP will provide, 

protect and enhance community, 

sport, recreation and leisure 

facilities. These are seen as key to 

facilitating the well-being of children 

and adults alike, and for the social, 

P
age 631



environmental, cultural and 

economic life of the County 

Borough’s communities. 

 

With particular reference to the 

need to increase physical activity 

amongst young people and improve 

access to green and natural spaces, 

in addition to SP9, Policy COM10 

sets standards of open space 

provision that will be expected from 

all new housing developments. 

These are based on the benchmark 

standards endorsed by the Fields in 

Trust, National Society of Allotment 

and Leisure Gardeners and NRW. 

The standards are supported by 

Outdoor Sport, Playspace and 

Allotment Audits and further 

guidance will be provided in an 

Outdoor Recreation Facilities and 

New Housing Development SPG. 

The policy and audits encapsulate 

all forms of recreation facilities to 

ensure that the physical activity 

needs of people of all ages are 

catered for. This includes the 

changing needs of children as they 

grow older, from structured physical 

activity in safe equipped play areas 

for small children to more informal 

forms of exercise utilising naturally 

landscaped areas and grassy open 

spaces and then to team sport 

P
age 632



facilities that can be safely 

accessed from housing areas.  

 

The provision of open spaces within 

strategic sites is also informed by an 

Allotment Audit that recognises the 

benefit they bring by providing 

moderate exercise, relaxation and 

the ability to produce fresh fruit and 

vegetables. They also provide 

community, health and social 

benefits, encouraging interaction 

between users of all ages, providing 

the opportunity to teach and learn, 

and enhancing local biodiversity. 

 

Access to affordable housing for 

young people in their local area, 

including those with young children, 

will be facilitated by Policies COM 

2-5 which set targets for affordable 

housing delivery, enable bespoke 

RSL schemes to come forward 

responding to identified need and 

facilitates the delivery of affordable 

housing exception sites. 

Pregnancy & Maternity   X The population profile of the County 
Borough is one of an increasing older 
population and single person and 
lone parent family households. This 
is borne out by the findings of the 
Local Housing Market Assessment.  
 

In land use planning terms, the LDP 

aims to ensure the location of new 

development provides access to 

The LDP seeks to develop a land 

use framework which ensures 

opportunities for enhanced 

inclusivity. The Plan seeks to 

integrate with other plans and 

strategies to improve accessibility to 

facilities and services for the 

residents of the County Borough.  

P
age 633



health facilities, community facilities, 

greenspaces and shops. Where 

travel is required within the local area 

and wider region, the provision of 

access to a wide range of transport 

links is important to ensure pregnant 

women and new parents can attend 

health care appointments, childcare 

facilities and schools. 

Specifically, the LDP seeks to 

promote new development in 

locations (Policy SP1 and SP5) 

that are well connected to existing 

communities by a range of 

sustainable transport options to 

ensure residents have access to 

health and community facilities. 

Where the need arises, the LDP 

also facilitates the provision of new 

facilities (Policies COM1-5) within 

residential development proposals 

to ensure lack of transport does not 

prevent a barrier to residents 

accessing the facilities they need to 

lead active and healthy lifestyles. In 

the case of pregnant women and 

new parents, this includes the ability 

to attend health appointments, 

access childcare facilities and make 

short linked journeys to shops, 

community buildings and 

greenspaces.  

Policy SP9 ensures that community 

facilities will be safeguarded to 

ensure no section of the community 

is excluded from having access to 

basic services, with the overall aim 

of creating sustainable and 

inclusive communities. The detailed 

policies that sit under SP9 clearly 

outline how the LDP will provide, 

protect and enhance community, 

sport, recreation and leisure 

facilities. These are seen as key to 

P
age 634



facilitating the well-being of children 

and adults alike, and for the social, 

environmental, cultural and 

economic life of the County 

Borough’s communities. 

Similarly, Policy SP8 seeks to 

support the wider delivery of 

number of national objectives 

relating to reducing health 

inequalities, including allowing 

equality of access to the 

development of new healthcare 

facilities, in addition to other social 

infrastructure and community 

facilities. New development can 

also encourage a healthy lifestyle 

by providing access to a high quality 

natural environment, through 

maximising Active Travel 

opportunities; ensuring integrated 

green infrastructure networks, 

enhancing and maintaining open 

spaces for physical activity and 

providing space for the opportunity 

of food growing through allotments. 

Policy SP6 promotes a sustainable 

housing strategy that seeks to 

deliver a balanced portfolio of 

different housing types throughout 

the County Borough to help meet 

the needs of new and existing 

residents. This includes the 

provision of affordable housing, with 

the different tenures and types 

P
age 635



informed by the Local Housing 

Market Assessment. This 

acknowledges the likely increased 

demand for lone parent households 

over the life of the LDP period, 

which will be used to inform 

discussions with housing 

developers at the planning 

application stage. Close working 

partnerships will also be maintained 

with health authorities, registered 

social landlords and other agencies 

to tailor specific affordable housing 

solutions to help house those 

residents experiencing significant 

issues with complex needs 

(including teenage and single 

parent pregnancy). This will be 

achieved through Policy SP10, with 

further detail provided in the 

Affordable Housing SPG.  

Transgender   X There is no data on the number of 

people that identify as lesbian, gay or 

bisexual in Bridgend. In 2016, 95.2% 

of people in Wales identified as 

heterosexual/straight, 1.0% as 

gay/lesbian, 0.7% as bisexual, and 

0.4% as other; 2.7% of people did not 

know, answer or respond to the 

question.  

 

Residents may have to travel within 

BCBC to access community and 

support groups.  More specialist 

support facilities and some cultural 

The LDP seeks to develop a land 
use framework which ensures 
opportunities for enhanced 
inclusivity and to integrate the LDP 
with other plans and strategies that 
promoting accessibility to services. 
 

The Plan seeks to promote 

sustainable travel choices by 

locating new development in areas 

with good existing active travel and 

public transport facilities, or where 

clear linkages and new facilities can 

be provided or enhanced. This 

includes providing sustainable 

P
age 636



venues and events may require 

longer journeys. The LDP therefore 

seeks to promote active travel and 

accessible public and private 

transport links within Bridgend linked 

to wider regional networks.  

 

Public spaces need to be designed in 

a manner that promotes community 

safety and engenders the feeling of 

being a safe environment to 

encourage their use by all sectors of 

society. This will help to reduce the 

number of hate crimes committed 

against residents of the borough due 

to their sexual orientation. 

means of accessing facilities in the 

wider region, principally by 

improving access to rail 

connections. Policy SP5 seeks to 

promote connectivity for all by 

maximising opportunities for active 

travel routes, including those 

contained within Existing Route 

Maps and future proposals detailed 

within the Active Travel Network 

Maps. Well-connected 

developments will assist in 

promoting the improvement of 

health and well-being by 

encouraging people to adopt 

healthier and active lifestyles, whilst 

also contributing to the creation of a 

successful place. A green 

infrastructure network also provides 

important amenity value in addition 

to health and well-being benefits. 

 

Good design and placemaking is at 

the heart of the LDP. This includes 

the need to minimise opportunities 

for hate crime to be committed, 

whilst promoting community safety. 

Secure by Design principles form 

part of the overall sustainable 

design considerations for 

development proposals (Policy 

SP3), including those proposals that 

may exacerbate existing issues. 

The Authority consults South Wales 

Police who advise on individual 

P
age 637



proposals. Key principles include 

the promotion of natural 

surveillance over public areas and 

the prevention of dark, unused 

corners/routes. There is however a 

need to balance security design 

features with the overall impact 

upon street character and attractive, 

inclusive public realms. All future 

development proposals will be 

assessed to ensure that they will 

make a positive contribution 

towards strengthening local identity, 

achieve sustainable communities, 

encourage a more sustainable way 

of living, and promote community 

cohesion and engagement. 

 

Local social and community 

facilities are recognised for their 

important contribution they make to 

the health and well-being of local 

communities. Their existence is 

often the key determinant in 

creating viable and sustainable 

local communities. The LDP 

recognises the need to protect and 

enhance social and community 

facilities, including cultural and 

entertainment venues. This is 

encapsulated in Policy SP9, which 

seeks to retain such uses to ensure 

that no section of the community is 

excluded from having access to 

basic services, with the overall aim 

P
age 638



of creating sustainable and 

inclusive communities. The 

definition of such facilities is widely 

interpreted as any facility that is 

used by local communities for 

leisure and social purposes, and 

can be both publicly and privately 

owned. 

 

Similarly, Policy SP8 seeks to 

ensure that new development 

enables and supports the delivery of 

new healthcare facilities, in addition 

to other social infrastructure and 

community facilities.  

 

Marriage and Civil partnership   X People who are married and or in a 

civil partnership can experience 

discrimination in the workplace. 

 

The LDP has been formulated to 

ensure that sufficient employment 

land is allocated, and supported by 

the required social and community 

infrastructure to ensure a mix of 

equal employment opportunities can 

be created and promoted, in both full 

and part time occupations. 

 

 

The policies within the LDP are 

regarded as being generally 

positive for all and as having no 

differential impact on this group. 

The promotion of equal 

opportunities is integral to the 

integrity of the plan to support 

sustainable development. The Plan 

is inclusive of all members of the 

community and does not 

discriminate against any 

relationship status. 

One of the key functions of the LDP 

is to provide an appropriate and 

sustainable supply of housing land 

to deliver inter-connected, balanced 

communities that form the basis for 

individuals and families to prosper in 

all aspects of their lives. This is 

P
age 639



encapsulated in Policy SP6 which 

seeks to deliver a range of private 

and affordable housing by providing 

a range of house types and sizes to 

meet the needs of residents at an 

efficient and appropriate density. 

Alongside the provision of housing 

opportunities for all groups, the LDP 

aims to deliver the a range of 

economic opportunities. In 

particular, Policy SP11 seeks to 

‘create productive and enterprising 

places’ by providing sufficient 

employment land and a variety of 

sites to support a diversity of 

employment opportunities. This will 

achieve new and better-paid jobs 

for existing and future generations 

of residents; and a better balance 

between the location of jobs and 

housing, which will reduce the need 

to travel and promote sustainable 

growth.  A sustained and enhanced 

labour force, comprising skilled, 

established households, will ensure 

that Bridgend County Borough 

continues to be a desirable prospect 

for employers to move into or 

expand within, thereby stimulating 

economic growth and enhancing 

employment opportunities for local 

people. The LDP also promotes the 

dual location of community facilities 

through Policy SP9. The co-

location of multiple uses in close 

P
age 640



 

Socio-economic impact 

Does the evidence gathered suggest that your policy or proposal will have a disproportionate impact on people living in socio-economic disadvantage? This 

could include communities of place or communities of interest (i.e., where stakeholders, service users, staff, representative bodies, etc. are grouped together 

because of specific characteristics or where they live). 

proximity or in one building is 

important in providing a range of 

activities to meet the communities’ 

diverse needs. Co-location provides 

the opportunity for sustainable 

linked activities and has potential to 

create a greater sense of ownership 

and community. The Council will, 

wherever practicable, seek to 

combine social and community 

uses in one location or a single 

building. This has particular 

relevance to new school 

developments, and the grouping of 

health and childcare facilities to help 

people balance full time 

employment with parenting.  

Similarly, Policy SP8 seeks to 

ensure that new development 

enables and supports the delivery of 

new healthcare facilities, in addition 

to other social infrastructure and 

community facilities.  

 What are the impacts of your policy 

or proposal? 

Please place an X in the relevant box 

Why have you come to this 

decision? Please provide an 

Considerations to mitigate negative 

impact(s) and/or secure positive 

impact(s) 

P
age 641



 Positive 

impact(s) 

Negative 

impact(s) 

No 

impact 

explanation and any 

supporting evidence. 

Socio-economic 

disadvantage 

X   The Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation (2014) identifies 

deprivation pockets throughout 

Wales. BCBC has 88 Lower 

Super Output Areas (LSOAs), 

which equates to 4.6% of the 

1909 total LSOAs in Wales. In 

2014, of the 88 LSOAs, 9 were in 

the most deprived 10% of Wales; 

20 were in the most deprived 

20%; 37 were in the most 

deprived 30% and 50 were in the 

most deprived 50% LSOAs.  

The percentage of households 

that are workless in Bridgend is 

4.7% above that for Great Britain. 

16.1% of those in Bridgend of 

claiming government benefits; 

1.7% above that for Wales and 

5.1% above that for Great Britain. 

This is reflected through gross 

disposable household income 

(GDHI) per head, which is lower in 

Bridgend than the Wales average. 

GDHI has declined by £163 per 

household since 2010. In 2014, 

GDHI was £14,753.00.  

Some parts of the BCBC area, 

especially in the Valley 

communities, are among the most 

deprived areas of Wales, with low 

levels of economic activity and 

The LDP seeks to develop a land use 

framework which ensures opportunities for 

enhanced inclusivity. In doing so, the Deposit 

Plan has sought to integrate with various 

other cross cutting plans and strategies to 

promote equal accessibility to green spaces, 

housing, employment, education, community 

services, health facilities and transport. 

These include the Bridgend Local Wellbeing 

Plan, the Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015, Future Wales: the National 

Plan 2040 and PPW – 11th Edition (2021). 

 

Policy SP1 sets out a holistic strategy to 

underpin the LDP, focused on meeting 

identified development needs and supporting 

sustainable economic growth and 

regeneration. SP1 makes provision for 71.7 

hectares of employment land to 

accommodate up to 7,500 additional jobs and 

8,590 new homes to meet a housing 

requirement of 7,575. SP1 will provide 

housing and employment growth in suitable 

locations to meet identified needs, without 

resulting in any significant adverse effects. 

This will be achieved through a combination 

of:  

 

• Sustainable Growth Areas – those 

settlements most conductive to 

logical expansion 

• Regeneration Growth Areas -  

consisting of strategic brownfield 

P
age 642



access to facilities and services, 

particularly for children, young 

people and elderly populations. 

The LDP is part of a holistic 

strategy, designed to address 

multiple deprivation within parts of 

the BCBC area, including but not 

limited to the creation of new, high 

quality employment opportunities. 

This includes a clear employment 

land strategy to support the 

provision of new employment 

opportunities in appropriate and 

accessible locations. The LDP 

also includes a regeneration 

strategy with associated policies 

and proposals to catalyse a range 

of physical, environmental, health 

and socio-economic 

improvements within identified 

deprived communities.  

Whilst approximately 1160 

affordable dwellings have been 

provided to date over the existing 

LDP period, the estimated annual 

need for affordable housing far 

exceeds average annual rates of 

total housing completions. 

To help address this, the LDP is 

underpinned by a housing land 

strategy that allocates a sufficient 

quantum and appropriate range of 

housing sites to satisfy the 

sites in need of redevelopment and 

investment to widely benefit the 

community 

• Regeneration Areas -  specifically, the 

Ogmore and Garw Valleys, which are 

topographically constrained but 

would benefit from smaller scale 

growth relative to their form, role and 

function 

 

The focus on redeveloping key brownfield 

sites and directing growth to accessible 

locations, whilst also supporting community-

based regeneration in the Valleys, will 

provide a range of opportunities to safeguard 

and improve physical and mental health and 

wellbeing.  Simultaneously, through adopting 

a masterplanned approach, development of 

Sustainable Growth Areas and Regeneration 

Growth Areas will help to meet existing 

community needs and unlock new 

opportunities (e.g. through appropriate 

infrastructure provision and community 

facilities) whilst accommodating population 

growth. This will ensure new development is 

integrated with its surroundings, helping to 

tackle area-based deprivation and catalyse 

socio-economic renewal. SP1 will therefore 

help to reduce poverty, tackle social 

exclusion and promote community cohesion. 

 

The delivery of 71.7ha of employment land, 

delivering up to 7,500 jobs over the Plan 

period, will meet the employment needs 

identified through the Bridgend Economic 

P
age 643



identified housing land 

requirement. 

In 2017,11.3% of the working age 

population (16 to 64yr) in the 

BCBC area held no qualifications, 

which is higher than the 

percentage of the population with 

no qualifications across Wales 

(8.7%). The level of attainment 

achieved by the working age 

population with qualifications is 

also lower in Bridgend than 

across Wales: 49% in Bridgend 

are qualified to level NVQ3 or 

above compared with 54.6% 

across Wales and 31.5% are 

qualified to level NVQ4 or above 

compared with 35.1% for Wales. 

These statistics correlate with the 

findings of the Bridgend Business 

Research report, in which almost 

a third of businesses surveyed (60 

out of 202) stated that they 

needed a more skilled workforce. 

More positively, in 2016-17 the 

percentage of pupils achieving 

‘Level 2 Threshold’ qualifications 

was 67.9% in Bridgend compared 

to 67.0% across Wales. 

The LDP seeks to provide 

adequate provision of community 

and social infrastructure to meet 

existing and projected future 

population needs, including with 

Evidence Base Study and will increase the 

number, quality and range of employment 

opportunities and skills to meet identified 

needs. The delivery of 8,590 new homes in 

appropriate locations will provide a sufficient 

quantum and range of accessible, 

deliverable and good quality housing across 

the LDP period to meet identified housing 

needs in accordance with the Local Housing 

Market Assessment and national policy 

requirements. 

 

The growth highlighted in SP1 will be 

delivered by the designation of individual 

growth areas and five strategic sites through 

Policy SP2. Reliance on a relatively limited 

number of site allocations to deliver the scale 

of development required to meet identified 

need places importance on the delivery of 

adequate infrastructure to accommodate 

such proposals without generating adverse 

impacts on existing communities or failing to 

meet the needs of future residents. To ensure 

this is achieved, Policies PLA1-5 specifically 

identify the strategic infrastructure and 

environmental mitigation requirements for 

the sites which are considered to be 

fundamental to meeting identified 

development needs, together with the 

preparation of development trajectories, 

evidence base studies and a deliverability 

assessment to support the Deposit Plan.  

 

Policy SP3 and SP5 directly seek to promote 

or maximise opportunities for active travel in 

P
age 644



specific provision to new to 

education infrastructure to 

improve capacity and choice.  

In 2017, the employment rate 

within the BCBC area was 70%, 

which was lower than across 

Wales (74.1%) and Great Britain 

(76%), whilst the percentage of 

the working age population that is 

economically active was also 

lower. The official unemployment 

rate in the BCBC area stood at 

5.2% for 2017, which was higher 

than the unemployment rate 

across Wales (4.8%) and Great 

Britain (4.4%). Related to this, in 

2016 the BCBC area had a jobs 

density of 0.74 (ratio of jobs to 

resident working age population) 

compared with 0.76 across Wales 

and 0.84 for Great Britain. 

ONS Annual Population Survey 

data indicates that over the period 

since 2010 there has been a small 

shift in the industry of employment 

of residents of the BCBC area, as 

the proportion of those who work 

in manufacturing and public 

administration, education and 

health has decreased whereas 

the proportion who worked in 

distribution, hotels and 

restaurants, and transport and 

communications increased. In 

new development, with specific delivery 

mechanisms set out in SP5. This will help to 

improve physical health and wellbeing 

outcomes by supporting opportunities for 

physical exercise. SP3 requires all 

development proposals to ensure efficient 

and equality of access for all, helping to 

tackle social exclusion and promote 

community cohesion.  SP3 requires 

development proposals to use land efficiently 

and maximise the development potential of 

land, which will support the delivery of 

sustainable economic growth.  

 

Sitting beneath Policy SP3, PLA6 directs 

development to appropriate locations served 

by identified transport corridors. This aims to 

enhance access to community facilities and 

promote community cohesion. PLA8 

safeguards transportation proposals, which 

includes bus corridor improvements and park 

and ride facilities. This will improve the 

accessibility of the transport network for a 

wider range of users, for example those who 

cannot drive or do not have access to a car.  

 

Policy SP5 include provisions requiring 

sustainable access to employment sites, in 

particular through active travel networks. 

Whilst not directly contributing to the creation 

of employment opportunities, this would help 

to improve the spatial relationship between 

housing and employment, thereby providing 

enhanced access to the labour market. SP5 

requires development proposals to 

P
age 645



2017, full-time workers gross 

weekly pay in Bridgend averaged 

at £536.00, which was £37.60 

above the level Wales but below 

that from Great Britain by £16.30. 

Females in Bridgend received 

£123.30 less in their gross weekly 

pay than the total average. 

In recent years the BCBC area 

has consistently experienced a 

higher unemployment rate than 

the national averages for Wales 

and Great Britain. This indicates 

either that insufficient or 

unsuitable employment 

opportunities have been provided 

for residents of the BCBC area, 

taking account of education and 

skills levels.  

To address this, the LDP provides 

an employment land and 

economic development strategy 

to support the creation of a broad 

range of new employment 

opportunities which match the skill 

levels of the existing labour 

market, whilst also seeking to 

attract high value sectors such as 

energy, advanced manufacturing 

and logistics.    

The LDP policies have been 

informed by the Sustainability 

Appraisal and aim to: 

incorporate adequate transport 

infrastructure, provision for service vehicles 

and to cater for future innovation, which will 

help to create suitable conditions for 

economic growth. SP5 will also help to 

reduce transport related airborne pollution, 

and set out criteria to support reduced travel 

needs, sustainable modal shifts, increase 

active travel uptake and reduce car 

dependency. 

 

Policy SP6 states that, of the 7,575 homes 

required for the plan period, 1,977 number of 

homes will be affordable housing. Under the 

auspices of SP6, all new developments will 

need to make provision for affordable 

housing with their proposals. This will help to 

meet affordable housing need and reduce 

poverty.  SP6 sets out a housing land 

strategy, which prioritises brownfield land 

redevelopment and focuses housing growth 

on strategic sites, including regeneration 

sites within existing settlement boundaries 

and sustainable urban extensions. This will 

help to direct new housing development to 

accessible locations, which would enhance 

the accessibility of public services, economic 

opportunities and markets for new residents. 

The policy includes a mechanism to monitor 

housing delivery to measure its success. The 

level of growth envisioned in SP6 will 

increase the local labour supply and support 

additional employment in the BCBC area. 

Sustained levels of increased housebuilding 

P
age 646



• Deliver a sufficient quantum of 

good quality and well located 

new housing to meet a range 

of identified needs within the 

BCBC area.  

• Deliver economic growth and 

increase employment 

opportunities in the BCBC 

area, including for local 

residents. 

• Tackle deprivation, including 

areas with existing deprivation 

linked to poor accessibility to 

key services, facilities and 

economic opportunities. 

• Ensure that community 

facilities and services are 

appropriate and accessible to 

users to meet the diverse 

needs of residents and 

workers in the BCBC area. 

• Maximise socio-economic 

benefits from the 

implementation of the South 

Wales Metro and the Cardiff 

Capital Region City Deal. 

• Align with the emerging 

National Development 

Framework (NDF) for Wales 

and the preparation of a 

Strategic Development Plan 

(SDP) for the Cardiff City 

Region. 

• Improve the accessibility of 

key destinations within the 

would also increase construction related 

economic activity and employment.  

 

Sitting beneath Policy SP6, Policy COM1 

identifies sites allocated to deliver residential 

development during the plan period, with 

specific requirements for delivery of 

affordable homes. Provision of affordable 

housing in accordance with local needs will 

help to address the findings of the LHMA. 

Policies COM2 and COM3 identify the 

minimum number of affordable homes to be 

delivered, which will have a positive impact 

on the physical and mental health of those 

living in overcrowded, unsuitable or 

temporary accommodation. Provision of 

affordable housing in accordance with local 

needs will also help to create mixed and 

socially inclusive communities, designed in 

accordance with sustainable placemaking 

principles. Policy COM6 requires 

development to deliver residential 

development along public transport hubs, 

thereby providing good access to 

employment and educational facilities for all. 

This will also help increase connectivity and 

access to services and facilities and help to 

improve the spatial relationship between 

housing and employment.  

 

Policy SP8 specifically seeks to reduce 

health inequalities, including by avoiding 

significant health risks from pollution and 

ensuring appropriate provision of healthcare 

facilities and other infrastructure to meet 

P
age 647



BCBC area and to other key 

locations through enhancing 

the transport network. 

 

population needs. The policy, which has 

been strengthened through the SA process, 

requires development to contribute to active 

travel and green infrastructure networks and 

to protect and where possible enhance 

safety, security and resilience. As such, the 

policy will directly help to improve all aspects 

of health and wellbeing.  SP8 seeks to tackle 

health inequalities and support the 

achievement of local wellbeing objectives set 

out in the Bridgend Local Wellbeing Plan, 

including through requiring development 

proposals to be supported by appropriate 

social and community infrastructure. SP8 

requires new healthcare infrastructure 

proposals to be accessible by non-car modes 

and for all development proposals to help 

maintain and enhance active travel networks. 

This would help to reduce travel needs and 

deliver sustainable modal shifts.  SP8 

requires all development proposals to avoid 

significant health risks, including from air 

pollution, and to maintain and enhance active 

travel and green infrastructure networks. The 

policy also requires new healthcare 

infrastructure proposals to be accessible by 

non-car modes. As such, the policy would 

directly help to protect air quality and reduce 

car dependency. 

 

Policy SP9 requires social and community 

infrastructure including healthcare facilities to 

be retained and enhanced, with co-location of 

services promoted wherever possible. This 

will help to ensure adequate healthcare and 

P
age 648



wider social infrastructure is provided in 

accessible and appropriate locations to meet 

identified needs, thereby helping to protect 

and enhance health and wellbeing. It will also 

ensure good accessibility to public services is 

available for all members of society, helping 

to tackle deprivation and poverty. SP9 also 

requires developers to demonstrate that 

access to educational infrastructure can be 

incorporated within their development 

proposals. This will help to provide 

appropriate training and skills opportunities 

for residents and to ensure young people of 

the Borough have access to first class 

education facilities.  

 

Sitting under Policy SP9, Policy COM9 

specifically safeguards social and community 

facilities, which promotes social cohesion. 

Provision of access to cultural activities, 

amenities and public services also helps to 

address social inequalities, improve physical 

health and wellbeing outcomes and reduce 

health inequalities.    

 

Policies COM10, COM11, COM12 and 

COM13 protect and promote the provision of 

green space and enhanced access for all age 

groups. These policies set out the provisions 

for outdoor recreation space (including 

children’s play areas and playing pitches), 

allocate sites for accessible natural 

greenspace, allotments and cemeteries, 

which form part of the green infrastructure of 

the County. This will help to improve physical 

P
age 649



health and wellbeing outcomes by supporting 

opportunities for physical exercise. In 

addition to contributing to the network of 

green infrastructure that is central to the aims 

and objectives of the LDP, COM12 promotes 

the provision of allotments and community 

food networks, which will help facilitate the 

accessibility of affordable fresh produce to 

the most vulnerable communities. Taken 

together, these policies will help to reduce car 

dependency by stating that no person should 

live more than 300m from their nearest 

accessible green space. The establishment 

of community food networks can also help to 

reduce food miles and reduce the need for 

individuals to travel by providing locally 

grown and surplus food. 

 

Policy SP10 requires development 

proposals to be supported by adequate 

infrastructure, including educational facilities, 

provision for outdoor recreation, transport 

improvements and any other infrastructure 

deemed necessary to make places function 

efficiently and sustainably and to mitigate any 

adverse impacts. This will help to improve 

physical health and wider wellbeing 

outcomes, help to tackle social exclusion, 

promote community cohesion, support 

economic growth and help to improve the 

economic performance of the BCBC area. 

The policy also requires developers to 

consult infrastructure providers on relevant 

applications. 

 

P
age 650



Taken together Policies SP8, SP9 and SP10 

promote the co-location of health, social and 

community infrastructure, support green 

infrastructure provision and require 

development to be supported by adequate 

infrastructure more widely. This will help to 

direct development to locations with existing 

good infrastructure and help to maximise the 

efficient use of land. 

 

Policy SP11 sets out an employment land 

strategy to meet projected employment 

needs over the period to 2033. By directing 

employment proposals to identified 

Sustainable Growth Areas and Strategic 

Regeneration Growth Areas, the strategy will 

enhance equality of access to employment 

opportunities for both existing and new 

residents. The policy will therefore help to 

tackle poverty and promote social inclusion. 

SP11 includes a target for growth in 

employment, the designation of strategic 

sites to accommodate substantial 

employment and the identification of a 

generous supply of viable employment sites 

(which have been subject to Sustainability 

Appraisal and marketability analysis). The 

policy will help to increase employment 

provision, support growth in the working age 

population, reinvigorate the labour market 

and counter population ageing. Informed by 

the Bridgend Economic Evidence Base 

Study 2019, SP11 will also directly help to 

maximise inward investment, diversify the 

P
age 651



local economic base and achieve growth of 

existing key sectors.  

 

Sitting under Policy SP11, Policies ENT1 and 

ENT2 allocate new and protect existing 

employment sites, which will help support 

and create employment opportunities and 

generate income for individuals and is a key 

determinant of health and wellbeing. Policy 

ENT3 will help ensure that change of use of 

existing industrial development is managed 

appropriately, which in itself will help limit loss 

of employment opportunities associated with 

this industry and allow for growth in emerging 

sectors.  

 

Policy SP12 directs retail and commercial 

development proposals to accessible 

locations and requires such proposals to 

provide retail, community or commercial 

floorspace on the ground floor. This will help 

to support wellbeing and safety by ensuring 

equality of access for all too key services and 

amenities. SP12 directs retail, commercial 

and leisure development proposals to 

appropriate settlements within identified 

hierarchies and requires proposals to 

maintain or enhance the vibrancy, vitality and 

attractiveness of centres. Whilst the policy 

does not provide explicit support for new 

employment generating retail and 

commercial development proposals, it does 

provide a supportive policy framework for 

such proposals in appropriate and accessible 

locations. By directing such proposals to 

P
age 652



town centres, it also encourages increased 

uptake of public transport and active travel 

and generally provides a supportive policy 

framework for them. The policy will therefore 

help to promote business co-location, inward 

investment in town centres and economic 

growth in highly accessible areas, which will 

enhance the economic competitiveness of 

the BCBC area. 

 

Policies SP13, SP14 and SP15 set out 

criteria to protect the health, wellbeing and 

amenity of communities from impacts 

associated with energy, minerals and waste 

management developments. The policies 

place particular emphasis on protecting 

against poor air quality and pollution, which 

will help to safeguard physical health. SP13 

commits BCBC to supporting innovative low 

carbon energy proposals to stimulate the 

local economy and develop employment 

opportunities. This will directly help to provide 

new business opportunities, increase inward 

investment and support innovation.  

 

Sitting beneath Policy SP13, Policy ENT11 

requires developments to incorporate 

renewable energy technologies which can 

have positive effects on health through 

reducing the burning of fossil fuels as 

outlined above. In addition to this, this 

proposal also supports the provision of 

energy efficient dwellings which can have 

positive effects on health, including through 

reducing energy costs and fuel poverty. This 

P
age 653



will have a particularly beneficial effect on 

vulnerable groups such as the elderly, those 

who are on low incomes or unemployed 

 

Policy SP16 requires tourism development 

proposals to provide a needs and impact 

assessment to demonstrate, amongst other 

matters, that the proposal is viable, 

sustainable and can support the local 

economy. This will help to maximise local 

employment opportunities and ensure 

tourism development benefits local 

communities rather than contributing to 

inequalities. SP16 provides support for 

“appropriate sustainable tourism 

development”, recognises the strategically 

important role of the tourist economy in 

Porthcawl and identifies opportunities for 

tourism growth. This would help to strengthen 

the tourism sector of the economy within the 

BCBC area. 

 

Policy SP17 sets out criteria to protect 

designated sites (at all spatial scales) and 

areas of high environmental quality, including 

landscapes and habitats. Whilst the policy 

does not specifically refer to green 

infrastructure or to the importance of the 

natural environmental for health and 

wellbeing, the policy would indirectly help to 

protect access to nature and outdoor 

recreation in specific locations, with resultant 

physical and mental health benefits, as well 

as improving the overall quality of the 

physical environment. 

P
age 654



 

Welsh language 

Consider how your policy or proposal ensures that you are working in line with the requirements of the Welsh Language Standards (Welsh Language Measure 

(Wales) 2011), to ensure the Welsh Language is not treated less favourably than the English Language, and that every opportunity is taken to promote the 

Welsh Language (beyond providing services bilingually) and increase opportunities to use and learn the language in the community.  

 What are the impacts of your policy or proposal 
for persons to use the Welsh language and in 
treating the Welsh language less favourably than 
the English language?  
Please place an X in the relevant box 

Why have you come to 
this decision? Please 
provide an explanation 
and any supporting 
evidence.  

Record of mitigation in order to: 

• secure positive or more positive 
effects 

• avoid adverse effects or secure 
less adverse effects 

Positive 
impact(s) 

Negative 
impact(s) 

No impact 

Will the policy or 
proposal impact on  
opportunities for 
people to use the 
Welsh language 

X   The 2018 Wellbeing 

Assessment found an 

increasingly small 

proportion of people in 

Bridgend can speak 

Welsh. The age group with 

the greatest proportion of 

Welsh speakers is children 

aged between 3 and 15 - 

25.3% of this group can 

speak Welsh, but these 

speakers make up just 

3.88% of the total 

population. 

 

In 2011, a smaller 

proportion of the 

population of Bridgend 

could understand, speak, 

read or write Welsh than in 

Wales as a whole - just 

Technical Advice Note 20, Planning and the 

Welsh Language, 2017 provides advice on 

incorporating the Welsh language in LDPs 

through Sustainability Appraisals, whilst also 

outlining procedures for windfall 

development in areas where the language is 

particularly significant. TAN20 stresses the 

need to assess the potential cumulative 

effects of development across the plan area; 

specifically how the strategy and policies are 

likely to impact on use of the Welsh language 

and the sustainability of communities. The 

spatial distribution of new development and 

infrastructure can be used as a strategic 

means of supporting the language based on 

the findings of the Sustainability Appraisal.  

 

PPW also highlights the importance of 

considering the likely effects of LDPs on the 

use of the Welsh language. In order to 

achieve this, “a broad distribution and 

 

P
age 655



9.7% of the population, 

compared to 19% for 

Wales as a whole). 

 

Historic trend data 

suggests that the 

proportion of the 

population of Bridgend 

who will be able to speak 

Welsh will continue to 

decrease in future, despite 

many residents identifying 

the Welsh language as an 

important part of their 

cultural heritage and 

identity. However, the 

greatest proportion of 

Bridgend residents who 

can speak Welsh are 

young people, there is the 

potential for a growth in 

Welsh language use in 

Bridgend. 

 

The policies of the LDP 
have been formulated to 
encourage people to stay 
in Bridgend and to promote 
and safeguard the 
interests of the Welsh 
language and aspects of 
linguistic sensitivity and to 
continue to support its 
growth amongst young 
people. 

phasing of development that takes into 

account the ability of the area or community 

to accommodate development without 

adversely impacting use of the Welsh 

language” (PPW 2021, 3.26) is required. 

 

Local level data does not identify any 

particular settlement with a notable 

concentration of Welsh speakers within 

Bridgend and therefore a specific Welsh 

language policy is not deemed suitable as 

part of the LDP. Of far more benefit is the 

integration of appropriate facilities to support 

the Welsh Language into every aspect, 

policy and theme of the plan, with particular 

reference to tourism, conservation and social 

and community infrastructure. In such a way, 

the steps identified to safeguard and grow 

the use of the Welsh Language become an 

intrinsic element of the sustainable 

placemaking agenda at the heart of PPW, 

WBFG legislation and the LDP itself.  

 

This is encapsulated in Policy SP2 that 

seeks the creation of high quality, attractive, 

sustainable places that support active and 

healthy lives and ensures that new 

development positively contributes towards 

this.  

 

Building on the advice contained within 

TAN20, the LDP has sought to incorporate 

the findings of the Sustainability Appraisal by 

incorporating specific requirements for the 

provision of Welsh medium schools within 

P
age 656



the strategic site Policies PLA1-5 as an 

appropriate means of meeting Welsh 

speaking needs and promoting the use of the 

Welsh language.  

 

Additionally, Policy SP10 has been 

amended to reflect the findings of the 

Sustainability Appraisal and specifically 

references the need for development 

proposals to consider and include 

appropriate provision for the Welsh 

Language. Whilst the policy does not 

elaborate on this, in principle the policy 

would help to safeguard and increase the 

use of the Welsh Language.  

 

Will the policy or 
proposal treat the 
Welsh language no 
less favourably than 
the English language 

  X  There are no policies in the Deposit Plan that 
will treat the Welsh language any less 
favourably than the English Language. 

 

Wider impact 

Cumulative impact 

What is the cumulative impact of this policy or proposal on different protected groups when considering other key decisions affecting these 

groups made by the organisation?  (You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this proposal will 

affect certain groups more adversely because of other decisions the organisation is making, eg, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 

whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, eg, disabled people, older people, single parents (who are mainly women), etc)   

P
age 657



 

 

Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Public Sector Equality Duty consists of a general equality duty and specific duties, which help authorities to meet the general duty. 

The aim of the general equality duty is to integrate considerations of the advancement of equality into the day-to-day business of public authorities.  In 

summary, those subject to the equality duty, must in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct that is prohibited by the Act.  

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a characteristic and those who don't 

• Foster good relations between people who share a characteristic and those who don't 

How does this policy or proposal demonstrate you have given due regard to the general equality duty? 

 

 

Procurement and partnerships 

The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires all public authorities to consider the needs of protected characteristics when designing and delivering public 

services, including where this is done in partnership with other organisations or through procurement of services.  The Welsh Language Standards also 

require all public authorities to consider the effects of any policy decision, or change in service delivery, on the Welsh language, which includes any work done 

The Deposit LDP contains 75 policies and has the underlying principle to deliver sustainable placemaking to secure a better quality of life for every 

resident of the borough between 2018 and 2033. All the policies within the LDP contribute towards achieving this through providing and promoting the 

location of new homes, jobs and economic growth, conservation and enhancement of the natural environment and built heritage, improved infrastructure 

(both social and community), renewable energy, green spaces and the development of balanced communities. 

Many of the policies within the Plan will benefit the wider community across the County Borough and not specifically those with protected characteristics. 

However, some policies will have the potential for some direct or indirect impact on different groups. The Deposit Plan has been assessed for their 

potential positive, negative or neutral impact on those groups and have been formulated to address and mitigated any of the potential adverse impacts 

identified in the formative stages of preparing the LDP.  

Taking into account sustainable development and the purposes of the Well-Being Goals, the LDP policies must ensure that development takes place in 

locations that are appropriate for its scale and nature, and that development is built to ensure positive economic, social, environmental and cultural 

outcomes. Development should be delivered in such a way that it provides a safe, attractive, cohesive and inclusive environment. 

 

The LDP is also subject to a statutory Sustainability Appraisal (SA). The purpose of the SA is to appraise the environmental, social and economic 

impacts of the LDP and to find ways to mitigate these to improve the Plan’s overall sustainability. It is an on-going process carried out at various stages 

and assesses the plan’s overall strategy and individual policies and proposals to ensure that these fit in with the principles of sustainable development. 

P
age 658



in partnership or by third parties. We must also ensure we consider the Socio-economic Duty when planning major procurement and commissioning decisions 

to consider how such arrangements can reduce inequalities of outcome caused by socio-economic disadvantage. 

Will this policy or proposal be carried out wholly or partly by contractors or partners? 

 Please place an X in the relevant box: 

Yes  

No X 
 

If yes what steps will you take to comply with the General Equality Duty, Welsh Language Legislation and the Socio-Economic Duty in regard to procurement 

and/or partnerships? 

 

Record of recommendation and decision 

What is the recommendation for the policy or proposal based on assessment of impact on protected characteristics, Welsh Language and socio-economic 

impact? 

If you chose to continue with the policy or proposal in its current form even though negative impacts have been identified a full justification should be provided 

and actions should be identified with the aim to reduce negative impacts.  

 Please place an X 
in the relevant box 
 

Please explain fully the reasons for this 
judgement. 

Continue with the policy or proposal in its current form as no negative impacts 
have been identified  

X The development of the Deposit Plan policies 
have been informed by equality, health and 
sustainability assessments which have been 
undertaken at the various stages of the 
preparation of the LDP. These have thoroughly 
assessed each of the policies within the 
emerging plan and identified,where necessary, 
appropriate mitigation requirements and in 

 Steps taken to ensure compliance: 

General Equality Duty  

Welsh Language legislation   

Socio-economic duty  

P
age 659



some cases changes to the policies to help 
ensure their implementation achieves the vision 
and objectives of the LDP.  
 
As such, the EIA does not identify any negative 
impacts on any of the protected characteristics.  
 
Each of the policies will be revisited as part of 
the EIA process, following public consultation 
on the Deposit Plan.  
 

 

Continue with the policy or proposal in its current form even though negative 
impacts have been identified 

  

Do not continue with this policy or proposal as it is not possible to address the 
negative impacts.  

  

 

Monitoring action plan and review 

Equality Impact assessment Action Plan  

It is essential that you now complete the action plan. Include any considerations you have identified to mitigate negative impact(s) and/or secure positive 

impact(s) on protected characteristics, socio-economic impact and Welsh Language. Once your action plan is complete, please ensure that the actions are 

mainstreamed into the relevant Service Development Plan.  

Action Lead Person Target for completion Resources needed Service Development plan for 

this action 

Consultation methods and 

LDP documents need to 

be accessible and take 

reasonable adjustments 

into account. A need to 

ensure the views of 

Disabled people are 

captured and that 

Disabled people do not 

face barriers to 

participation 

Strategic Planning 

Manager 

As part of the Deposit Plan 

consultation to be undertaken 

in June 2021 

Staff time/resource of 

Strategic Planning and 

Communication teams  

LDP Delivery Agreement 

P
age 660



Appropriate monitoring 

targets on delivery of 

Gypsy Traveller provision 

are required to ensure 

that future 

accommodation needs 

are accounted for. 

Strategic Planning 

Manager  

Annually following adoption 

of the LDP  

Staff time and resource LDP Annual Monitoring Report 

Delivery of new housing – 

location and total annual 

completions 

Strategic Planning 

Manager  

Annually following adoption 

of the LDP  

Staff time and resource LDP Annual Monitoring Report 

LDP Housing Trajectory 

Delivery of Affordable 

Housing – Total provided, 

tenure, thresholds and 

delivery per each sub-

market area 

Strategic Planning 

Manager 

Annually following adoption 

of the LDP  

Staff time and resource LDP Annual Monitoring Report 

LDP Housing Trajectory 

Employment Land Take-

up and job growth 

Strategic Planning 

Manager 

Annually following adoption 

of the LDP  

Staff time and resource LDP Annual Monitoring Report 

Annual Employment Land Survey 

Development Management 

Monitoring 

ONS 

 

Please outline how and when this EIA will be monitored in the future and when a review will take place: 

Monitoring arrangements: Date of Review: 

The EIA will be reviewed following public consultation on the Deposit Plan, which is to take place in June 2021. The 

list of key stakeholders identified in the Delivery Agreement will be contacted and their feedback, alongside any 

relevant equality related feedback from other organisations, groups and individuals will be considered and captured 

within this assessment. 

October 2021 

 

Approval 

P
age 661



Date Full EIA completed: 19th April 2021 (updated 1st July 2022) 

Name of the person completing the 
Full EIA: 

Gareth Denning 

Position of the person completing 
the Full EIA: 

Strategic Planning Team Leader 

 

Approved by (Head of Service or 

Corporate Director): 

 

Date Full EIA approved:  
 

 

 

Publication of EIA and feedback to consultation groups 

It is important that the results of this impact assessment are published in a user friendly accessible format. 

It is also important that you feedback to your consultation groups with the actions that you are taking to address their concerns and to mitigate against any 

potential adverse impact. 

When complete, this form must be signed off and retained by the service and a copy should also be sent to equalities@bridgend.gov.uk  

Where a full EIA has been completed this should be included as an appendix with the relevant cabinet report and therefore will become available 

publically on the website. 

If you have queries in relation to the use of this toolkit please contact the Equalities Team on 01656 643664 or equalities@bridgend.gov.uk 

P
age 662

mailto:equalities@bridgend.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/johne1/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/GZKF5DZL/equalities@bridgend.gov.uk


Summary of Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board Response to 

Replacement Local Development Plan 

GP Practices  

In order to respond to the new housing pressures, CTMUHB identified the 

following developments to help meet increased demand from new residents:  

Bridgend Health and Wellbeing Centre – a £10.6million development of an 

integrated community-based centre based in Bridgend and planned for 

completion in 2021/22. This new development will provide much 

needed replacement premises for a range of primary care and community 

services currently being delivered from a number of substandard and cramped 

premises. This project facilitates changes in local health and social care models 

by providing the right services in the right place in the right way. It will house 

the merged GP practice, Bridgend Group Practice, which currently operates out 

of two surgery sites, Ashfield in Bridgend town centre and Newcastle Surgery. 

It will also be a replacement for three community 

premises, Bryntirion, Quarella Road and Bryncethin. It aligns with supporting 

people in managing their physical, mental and social health and wellbeing and 

builds upon the engagement with and response to the population of Bridgend 

town’s desire for more integrated services and care provided closer to their 

homes. It facilitates delivery of a new model of primary care, founded upon a 

multi-sector and multi-disciplinary approach to integrated service delivery. It 

supports the strategic priority of CTMUHB and national strategic drivers by 

‘shifting’ care out of hospitals and into community settings closer to people’s 

homes. It supports wellbeing initiatives, delivers on feedback from public 

engagement sessions, and strengthens community provision. When 

operational, the centre will realise multiple benefits for a wide range of 

stakeholders including, but not limited to, service users, carers, members of the 

public, partner organisations, and the multitude of professional and voluntary 

groups involved in the provision of care. It supports a wider collaborative 

working approach between a critical mass of multiple partners including 

healthcare, social care, further and higher education and the third 

sector.  Furthermore, this project will ensure greater sustainability of services 

within Bridgend and accrues a number of significant benefits, not least the 

associated economies of scale and the sharing of risks, financial costs and 

benefits. The GP practice currently has a registered population of 

approximately 15,000 and forms part of the Bridgend East Network Cluster. 

Bridgend Health and Wellbeing Centre has been planned to accommodate 

approximately 23,000 patients to meet the health needs of the forecast increase 

in population within Bridgend across the LDP period. 

North Cornelly - The GP Practice are currently progressing a self-build project 

on their existing premise. This involves an extensive refurbishment and 

Page 663



extension to accommodate future growth in North Cornelly, Pyle 

and Kenfig Hill.  It is in the early stages of planning and is practice led due to 

the decision of the practice to self-build.   

Heathbridge Surgery, Kenfig Hill – a reconfiguration of the existing premises 

to create more capacity.  

Tyn-y-coed Surgery, Bryncethin – a reconfiguration of the existing premises 

to create more capacity.  

Pencoed Health Centre and Llanharan branch surgery – CTMUHB is working 

with the practice to identify opportunities for new alternative premises to 

address growth within and in proximity to Pencoed. There is already adequate 

provision of General Medical Services within Pencoed itself due to the recent 

completion of The New Surgery development. Assessment has been 

undertaken and there is sufficient capacity within both surgeries to take the 

additional housing pressures within the first 5 years of the plan period.  

South Road Surgery now relocated into new primary development in 

Porthcawl February 2019.  

Dental and Optometry Services  

Primary Care Dentists are independent contractors to whom the CTMUHB 

contracts NHS Dental Services. Most dentists provide a mixed model of dental 

services providing a combination of NHS services and private dental services. 

Assessment indicates that there is sufficient capacity to accommodate 

additional activity. However, pressure will be felt in the Llanharan, Talbot Green 

and Pencoed areas, and as a result, CTMUHB has submitted a proposal to 

Welsh Government seeking additional funding to support the creation of an 

additional General Dental Contract to accommodate the additional population 

increase across the boundary of Llanharan and Pencoed.  

In addition to general dental services, CTMUHB directly manages Community 

Dental Services (CDS), which support children and adults with learning 

disabilities. This is currently provided from the dental surgery at Quarella Road 

which will be relocated to the new Bridgend Health and Wellbeing Centre. This 

new CDS facility, which includes additional capacity (two dental surgery rooms), 

is designed to cater for Bariatric patients and those with learning disabilities. 

CTMUHB is currently undertaking a review of CDS with the view to creating 

efficiencies and improved access.   

There are no capacity issues identified for General Optometry Services. The 

focus for the CTMUHB will be to work with Optometrists to develop and 

implement services closer to home such as Glaucoma and Cataract monitoring, 

services which traditionally have been provided within hospitals.  

Page 664



Care of the Elderly  

The 65 to 84 and 85+ age groups are projected to have the largest increase by 

2036, when an estimated one in four people in Wales will be aged 65 and over. 

These projections will have significant implications for the way in which 

CTMUHB design and provide health (and increasingly integrated health & 

social care) services. With an increasing population and especially an 

increasing older population it is even more important that people living in our 

communities are supported to live long and healthy lives, free from the limiting 

effects of multiple chronic conditions.  

Traditional hospital based and community primary care service models are no 

longer sustainable or always appropriate. Bridgend’s population wants a more 

innovative approach and better access to services. CTMUHB’s proposed 

developments are intended to facilitate a change in local health and social care 

models by providing the right services in the right place in the right way, in 

response to demographic changes within Bridgend including a growing, ageing 

and multi-morbid population by providing ‘wellness’ services that promote 

health and well-being rather than diagnosis and treatment of illness. 

An assessment around the impact of population growth has been undertaken, 

and it is felt that a small increase in the community nursing team is required, 

from the East Bridgend to Taff Ely clusters areas. This will be factored into the 

CTMUHB’s Intermediate Medium Term Plans.  

CTMUHB was successful in securing additional ‘transformation’ monies to 

support a plan called Stay Well in Your Community. This programme is 

supported and guided by the Regional Partnership Board and aims to provide 

additional capacity to support the population with high needs and improve 

health and wellbeing.  It involves a deployment of additional health and social 

care workforce to support improved signing posting to wider health and 

wellbeing assets in the community but also complex patients with co-

morbidities.  The aim is to keep patients out of hospital and supported within 

their own homes as much as possible.  The plans have been interrupted by the 

Covid Pandemic so the implementation of the teams has been suspended and 

therefore the results will not be seen until a years-time.  

 

Page 665



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

      19 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES  
 

2020 – 2023 CARRIAGEWAY RESURFACING PROGRAMME  
 

1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval to modify the contract for 

carriageway resurfacing for works to be undertaken during the financial year 
2022/23.   

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   
 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The procurement of resurfacing of the Highway Network was undertaken through 

South East Wales Highway Framework, via a mini-competition and tender process 
in March 2021. The procurement exercise was undertaken in conjunction with the 
Corporate Procurement team. The contract was awarded to Centregreat Limited 
and runs from April 2021 to March 2022 with an option to extend the contract for a 
further 12 months to March 2023 on the parties’ mutual agreement. The contract 
provides the mechanism for the resurfacing of the Carriageway Network in 
accordance with the allocated Capital and Revenue budgets for Resurfacing 
(Revenue spend related to 2021-22 only). The total value of the contract is 
estimated as £5,000,000 over the two financial years. 

 
3.2 Significant inflationary pressures in general, and in particular to the oil prices 

caused by global events, coupled with the UK government increasing National 
Insurance Contributions for employers to fund a Health and Social Care levy have 
created a significant cost increase in material, labour and plant (machinery) costs. 

 
4. Current situation / proposal 
 
4.1  The contractor for the works has approached the authority in light of exceptional 

inflationary increases and has requested an uplift to the fee rates to enable them 
to maintain the same levels of performance during the extension period. The total 
cost increase sought is being applied to the costs associated with the operations 
in 2022/23. It equates to a cost increase of 8.93% over the whole term of the 
contract.  

Page 667

Agenda Item 9



 
4.2 The contract rates for resurfacing are made up from material, labour, plant and 

sub-contractor costs (which also have elements of material, labour and plant). 
Material costs are affected by the increase in oil which is a significant proportion of 
the tarmacadam material. Labour costs have increased due to the National 
Insurance employer’s contribution element. Plant usage relieves heavily on diesel 
and hence fuel cost increases have had a significant effect. 

 
4.3  Cardiff City Council Procurement officers who oversee the South East Wales 

Highway Framework, under which framework this contract was awarded, have 
confirmed that, further to representation from contractors on the framework, 
agreement has been made for the submission of increases to the standard rates 
across the framework.  

 
 
4.4 Rule 3.3.6 of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) provides that 

procured contracts may be modified without the requirement for a new 
procurement procedure where the value of the modification is below both the 
relevant applicable financial thresholds contained in the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 and below 15% of the initial contract value for works contracts, 
provided that the modification does not alter the overall nature of the contract.  

 
4.5 The applicable threshold for works contracts contained in the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015 is £5,336,937 and 15% of the initial contract value of £5,000,000 
in this instance would be a value under £750,000. The 8.93% (£446,500) cost 
increase being sought for continuation of the contract during the extension period 
is below both thresholds. The effect on the contract rate increase will not require 
an increase in the budget requirement for the project/programme.  The approved 
capital budget of £5,000,000 remains unchanged however the increased cost will 
impact on the extent of the programme that can be delivered and works will need 
to be altered or removed to ensure the budget allocation is not exceeded. 

 
 4.6 Rule 3.6 of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules indicate that where the value 

of the modification of an existing contract exceeds £100,000, approval of the 
modification must be obtained from the appropriate body which in this case is the 
Cabinet of the Council.    

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 The recommendation of the report is in line with the Council’s Contract Procedure 

Rules.  
 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there 

would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected 
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh 
Language. It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or 
proposal.  

 
 
 

Page 668



7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template 
has been completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment 
relating to the five ways of working is outlined below in respect of the proposal: 

 Long-term 
The intention is to provide for the maintenance of the highway that will 
benefit the travelling public.  

 Prevention 
Effective maintenance of the highway mitigates risk for the travelling public 
and maximises the lifespan of the asset.   

 
 Integration 

The effective management of the highway benefits all modes of highway 
use including safety of pedestrians as well as the connectivity of cyclists, 
bus and motor vehicles that provides benefit to the wellbeing and economy 
of the community.    

 Collaboration 
As the maintenance will be delivered through a contracted service procured 
through the South East Wales Highway Framework the requirements of the 
framework requires the implementation of  socio economic benefits. 
 

 Involvement 
Decisions in relation to the maintenance of highways is derived from a 
number of sources including highway surveys as well as issues arising from 
the public and members bring concerns to the attention of the highway 
authority for consideration within the maintenance programme.    
 

8. Financial implications  
 
8.1 There is no additional finance required as the costs associated with the highway 

surfacing contract have and will be met from within the existing capital allocation 
for the financial years 2021/22 £2.34M and 2022/23 £2.66M within the Capital 
Programme.  The increased costs will impact on the extent of the programme that 
can be delivered and works will need to be altered or removed to ensure the 
budget allocation in the Capital Programme is not exceeded. 

 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

 Approves the contract modification in accordance with rules 3.3.6 and 3.6 
of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.  

  

 
Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director – Communities 
4 July 2022 
 

Page 669



Contact Officer: Kevin Mulcahy – Group Manager Highways & Green Spaces  
 
Telephone:  01656 642535 
 
E-mail:  kevin.mulcahy@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, Angel 

Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB 
 

Background documents: None 
 

Page 670



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET  
 

19 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES  
 

ALLOCATIONS UNDER TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCIL CAPITAL GRANT 
SCHEME 2022-23  

 

1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval to allocate capital funding to 

Town and Community Councils to develop projects in line with the recommendations 
contained within this report from the Town and Community Council (T&CC) Capital 
Grant scheme for 2022-23. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   

 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the county 
borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to 
ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions 
for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – taking steps 
to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council 
and its services. Supporting individuals and communities to build resilience, and 
enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and independent lives.  

 

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  
 

3. Background 
 
3.1 Since 2017-18 funding under the T&CC Capital Grant scheme has prioritised 

applications supporting projects directly linked to the Council’s Community Asset 
Transfer (CAT) programme in recognition of reducing Bridgend County Borough 
Council’s (BCBC’s) resources and the options available to T&CCs to deliver 
alternative services, and increasingly the scheme will seek to support proposals that 
align with the BCBC’s Decarbonisation, Net-Zero 2030 agenda. 

 
3.2 With the stated desire to more closely align the T&CC Capital grant scheme with the 

CAT process the approvals in 2021-22 were as follows: 
 
 

Page 671

Agenda Item 10



 

Applicant 

Project T&CC 
Capital 
Grant CAT Fund 

Brackla Essential repairs to Brackla 
Community Centre  £25,675.00 

Bridgend (1) Accessibility adaptations and 
ground works to new Bridgend 
Town Hall 

£15,000.00 

 

Bridgend (2) Flooring  at new Bridgend Town Hall £5,500.00  

Cefn Cribwr Footpath re-surfacing at lane near 
War Memorial £15,014.50  

Cornelly (1) Continued improvements to North 
Cornelly Community Centre  £7,225.00 

Cornelly (2) Fencing improvements at North 
Cornelly Playing Fields  

£5,000.00 

Coity Higher* Refurbishment of Heol Mair Play 
Area £15,002.57  

Coychurch 
Lower 

Phase 2 Refurbishments to 
Coychurch Play Area £14,910.54  

Llangynwyd 
Middle 

Contribution towards Drainage 
Improvements at Llangynwyd 
Playing Fields  £5,000.00 

Total  £65,427.61 £42,900.00 
  

*Funding application submitted by Coity Higher Community Council was subsequently withdrawn as 

the Council were not able to take a transfer of the Play Area under the CAT programme as the site is 

not owned by BCBC.  The £15,002.57 allocated was transferred back to the T&CC Capital grant 

funding increasing the balance available in 2022-23 to £65,002.57. 

4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 BCBC has £50,000 allocated for 2022-23 and subsequent years in the approved 

Capital Programme to support applications from T&CCs for capital projects. With the 
decommitment of the Coity Higher project above the budget available for 2022-23 is 
£65,002.57 

 
4.2 Town and Community Councils were made aware of the T&CC Capital Grant, 2022-

23 on 21 December 2021.  The grant closed for applications on 28 February 2022.   
 
4.3 The proposals received from T&CCs for the 2022-23 T&CC Capital Grant allocation 

are outlined at Table 1 below, along with comments from BCBC officers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 672



 

Table 1: 2022-23 T&CC Capital Grant applications 
 

Applicant 
Project 

Cost 
TCC Fund 

Contribution 
Summary of 
proposal Comments 

Cornelly 
Community 
Council £19,166 £9,583 

Continued 
refurbishment 
of community 
centre: 
aluminium 
windows 

To be supported as in line 
with Community Asset 
Transfer approach 

Coychurch 
Higher 
Community 
Council 

£8,600 - 
£10,000 

£5,000 

Creation of 
wetland area 
as first stage 
of larger, multi-
stage project 

CC is working with BCBC 
officers to take forward 
scheme and implement on-
going management plan   

Maesteg 
Town 
Council 

£17,895 £8,947.50 

New boilers 
and 
thermostatic 
valves at 
Maesteg Town 
Council Offices 

Whilst new boilers may 
improve the situation, 
BCBC’s direction of travel is 
away from fossil fuel boilers 
where possible. 
Decarbonisation 
Programme Manager to 
explore options with 
applicant.  

 
4.4 Funding of up to £65,002.57 is available for allocation under the T&CC Capital 

scheme in 2022-23.  Applications received are within the available budget.   
 
4.5 It is proposed that applications for funding from Cornelly Community Council (£9,583) 

and Coychurch Higher Community Council (£5,000) be approved and that the 
Decarbonisation Programme Manager liaise with Maesteg Town Council to support 
a review of options available with the potential to revisit an application in future years.  

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There is no effect upon the Council’s policy framework or procedure rules as a result 

of this report. 
 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications 
 
6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would 

be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on 
socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language. It is therefore not 
necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal. 

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 

 
7.1 BCBC is committed to promoting sustainable development and to discharge our 

duties under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  The required 
Assessment Template has been completed and a summary of the implications from 
the assessment relating to the five ways of working is outlined below: 

 

Page 673



 

 Long-term: The projects proposed for support are those that have been identified 
by T&CCs themselves in response to current need and therefore propose to 
implement action that meets the requirements of current generations.  A process 
of local needs identification followed by local led delivery in response to it will 
enhance the capacity of local organisations to take forward further schemes in 
the future. 

 Prevention: The projects that are proposed for support if left undelivered may 
create a worsening of conditions currently being experienced by local residents.  
In addition if the schemes were to be delivered in future years any further 
deterioration may result in increased costs.   

 Integration: The T&CC Capital grant scheme will achieve this way of working by 
recognising the projects that are proposed for support are those that have been 
identified by the T&CCs themselves as best placed to utilise available funding to 
meet local needs in a holistic way. 

 Collaboration: The proposals have been developed and will be delivered through 
a strong partnership between BCBC and those T&CCs that have applied for 
funding.    

 Involvement: The T&CC Capital grant scheme is delivered in close partnership 
with a range of local stakeholders.  Discussions and development with the T&CCs 
has taken place through BCBC’s CAT Officer and information about the funding 
opportunity was provided to all T&CCs in the County Borough. 

 

8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 Funding of up to £65,002.57 is available for allocation under the T&CC Capital 

scheme in 2022-23.  Applications received are within the available budget.   
 
8.2 Taking into account the information provided in the applications the proposed 

approvals under the T&CC Capital scheme 2022-23 are detailed at Table 2 below, 
totalling £14,583. The remaining allocation of £50,419.57 will be rolled forward in to 
future rounds of funding through the T&CC Capital scheme.  

 
Table 2: Proposed 2022-23 allocations 
 

Cornelly 
£19,166.0

0 £9,583.00 
Continued refurbishment of community 
centre: aluminium windows 

Coychurc
h Higher 

£8,600 - 
£10,000 

£5,000.00 
Creation of wetland area as first stage 
of larger, multi-stage project 

 
8.3 Funding offers will be conditional on compliance with the stated terms and 

conditions of the T&CC Capital Grant scheme and feedback will be available to the 
applicants. 

 
8.4 Within the overall T&CC funding capital allocation from previous years there are a 

number of applications that are yet to claim any funding.  In recent times delays 
have been witnessed due to the impact of Covid-19.  However, as Table 3 below 
highlights, a number of allocations pre-date the pandemic.  

Page 674



 

 
Table 3: Historic allocations 
 

 12/13 14/15 15/16 16/17 18/19 19/20 

Cefn 
Cribwr       £16,000     

Cornelly         £40,000   

Coychurch 
Lower £2,501           

Maesteg £20,000 £3,109 £5,000 £20,000     

Pencoed           £20,000 

Total £22,501 £3,109 £5,000 £36,000 £40,000 £20,000 

 
8.5 It is proposed that the Council communicates with the T&CCs listed in Table 3 and 

requests an update on proposed delivery and expenditure.  It is proposed that if 
Town and Community Councils respond indicating that projects are either no longer 
taking place or cannot be delivered within the 2022/23 financial year then funding 
offers are withdrawn for the specific applications listed above.  If this does happen 
then any funding associated will be returned to the T&CC Capital Grant Scheme 
and be available for future rounds of applications for new proposals.  

 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1      It is recommended that Cabinet: 

 
9.1.1 Approve allocation of capital funding within the existing Capital Programme of 

£14,583.00 to Town and Community Councils (T&CC) to develop projects in line with 
the specific allocations detailed at 8.2 from the Town and Community Council Capital 
Grant Scheme; 
 

9.1.2 Note that funding of £50,419.57 will be rolled forward to support projects in 2023-24, 
and;  

 

9.1.3 authorise officers to communicate with the T&CC listed in Table 3, section 8.4, and 
request an update on proposed delivery and expenditure.  It is proposed that if Town 
and Community Councils respond indicating that projects are either no longer taking 
place or cannot be delivered within the 2022-23 financial year then funding offers are 
withdrawn for the specific applications listed above.  If this does happen then any 
funding associated will be returned to the T&CC Capital Grant Scheme and be 
available for future rounds of applications for new proposals. 

 
 
Janine Nightingale  
Corporate Director Communities 
5 July 2022 

 
Contact Officer: Ieuan Sherwood  

Group Manager Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability 
 

Telephone:  (01656) 815333 
 
E-mail:  Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk  

Page 675



 

Postal Address Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB 
 
 
Background documents 
 
None 

Page 676



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

22 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES   
 

THE CONFERENCE OF PARTIES 2022 
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on work to support the Conference 

of Parties 2022 and to support Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) signing a 
Declaration to inform the Conference of Parties in 2022.   
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015: 

 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 In partnership with the United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity, the 

Scottish Government are leading on the ‘Edinburgh Process’, an online, global 
consultation with sub-national and local governments around the world on their role 
in the post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework and targets. The outputs of this 
process, including the Declaration, will inform the fifteenth meeting of the 
Conference of Parties (COP15) negotiations at the Phase 2 meeting in December 
2022.  

 
3.2  A key outcome of the Edinburgh Process is the Declaration which is intended to 

demonstrate the commitment of subnational authorities across the world to deliver 
for nature over the next decade. The Declaration has been drafted by the Scottish 
Government on behalf of regional and local authorities and their representative 
organisations. It recognises the important role that local authorities play in 
addressing the impacts of habitat loss and in supporting nature and biodiversity.  

 
3.3 Research by the Natural History Museum and RSPB Wildlife Charity, in 2021, 

identified Wales as one of the most nature depleted countries in the world, ranked 
sixteenth worst of 240 countries assessed. In 2019, the State of Nature Report 
identified an ongoing decline in biodiversity, with 17% of assessed species 
considered to be at risk of extinction from Wales.   

 
 
 

Page 677

Agenda Item 11



 

4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 A new biodiversity duty included in the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 is intended to 

support efforts to reverse the decline and secure the long-term resilience of 
biodiversity in Wales.  This enhances the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006 (NERC) duty to require all public authorities, when carrying 
out their functions in Wales, to seek to “maintain and enhance biodiversity” where it 
is within the proper exercise of their functions. In doing so, public authorities must 
also seek to “promote the resilience of ecosystems”.   

 
4.2 Welsh Government declared a Nature Emergency in April 2019 and has created a 

Biodiversity and Ecosystems Resilience Duty for all public bodies through Section 6 
of the Environment (Wales) Act, demonstrating a desire for actions addressing 
climate and nature emergencies to be considered in an integrated way.  

 
4.3  BCBC approved the Bridgend County Borough Council Biodiversity and 

Ecosystems Resilience Forward Plan, 2018-2022, in 2018. In contributing to 
Biodiversity and Ecosystem Resilience targets, Bridgend County Borough Council 
recognises its duties to protect and enhance biodiversity in several ways:  

 

 In response to the Section 6 Duty placed on all public bodies in the 
Environment (Wales) Act, the Council has a Biodiversity and Ecosystem 
Resilience Forward Plan which demonstrates a cross-Council approach to 
protect and enhance biodiversity. This Plan is currently under review and a 
new Plan will be produced which will include new and revised actions which 
further protect and enhance biodiversity across Bridgend County. The range 
of work carried out by the Council across its services in fulfilling this duty is 
collated and reported to Welsh Government every 3 years, with the next 
report due at the end of 2022. 

 A strong Planning policy and Local Development Plan which considers 
biodiversity and habitat connectivity, enabling development in the right 
locations whilst protecting and enhancing biodiversity and ecosystem 
resilience.  

 Delivering active biodiversity management and community engagement 
through protect work such as Dunes2Dunes, Local Places for Nature, and 
the Cwm Taf Nature Network.  

4.4  Welsh Government is a signatory to the Declaration and supports the Edinburgh 
Process. Welsh Government has requested that all Local Authorities in Wales 
consider signing the Declaration. Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council became 
the first local authority in Wales to sign the Declaration, soon followed by several 
other Councils in Wales. It is now proposed that Bridgend County Borough Council 
(BCBC) sign the Declaration.  

 
4.5 Further information on the ‘Edinburgh Process’ and Declaration can be found on the 

Scottish Government website: https://www.gov.scot/publications/edinburgh-
declaration-on-post-2020-biodiversity-framework/pages/how-to-sign/ .  

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There is no effect upon the Council’s policy framework or procedure rules as a 

result of this report. 

Page 678



 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there 

would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected 
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. 
It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal at this 
stage. 

 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1  This report reflects the priorities of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

and demonstrates a long term and precautionary approach, collaboration globally 
between tiers of governance and should encourage stakeholder participation. Signing 
the Declaration would directly address the resilient and globally responsible goals of 
the Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, but as biodiversity is central to a 
variety of societal benefits, it should contribute to all of the Act’s goals in the long 
term.  

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 No financial implications are anticipated arising from this report. It is voluntary, non-

binding and has no legal status.  
 

9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet support the signing of the Declaration to inform the 

Conference of Parties 2022 and authorise the Cabinet Member – Communities to 
sign the Declaration on behalf of the Council.  

 

Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director, Communities  
7 July 2022  

 
 

Contact officer:  Zak Shell  
 Head of Operations – Community Services  

 
Telephone:   (01656) 815333 
 
Email:   Zak.Shell@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal address: Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, 

Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB 
 

 
Background documents:  
None.  
 
 

Page 679



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

19 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT 
 

APPOINTMENT OF LOCAL AUTHORITY GOVERNORS 
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Cabinet for the appointment of 

local authority governors to the school governing bodies listed at paragraph 4.1. 
 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 
 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 In accordance with the Council’s ‘Guidance on the appointment of local education 

authority governors’, approved by Cabinet on 14 October 2008, officers have 
considered applications received for current vacancies for local authority governor 
positions on school governing bodies (see paragraph 4.1 and Appendix A). 

 
4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 For the seven current local authority governor vacancies at the seven schools in the 

table below, all applicants met the approved criteria for appointment as a local 
authority governor and there was no competition for these vacancies.  Therefore, the 
recommended appointments are as follows:   

 
 
 

Page 681

Agenda Item 12



 

Name of applicant School 

Mrs Dionne Bradley Abercerdin Primary School 

Ms Lissa Clayton Croesty Primary School 

Cllr Martin Hughes Garth Primary School 

Mr Michael Dixon Llangewydd Junior School 

Cllr Rhys Goode Nantymoel Primary School  

Mrs Helen Charles Coleg Cymunedol Y Dderwen 

Cllr Johanna Llewellyn-Hopkins Cynffig Comprehensive School  

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework or procedure rules. 

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there 

would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected 
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. 
It is, therefore, not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal.  

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 A Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 assessment has been 

completed.  A summary of the implications from the assessment relating to the five 
ways of working is as follows: 
 
Long-term 
 
While it is desirable for local authority governors to have previous or relevant 
experience of the role, in the short-term, the local authority may support any person 
for such an appointment who is interested in supporting schools, is not disqualified 
from being a school governor and is willing and able to dedicate the necessary time 
to the role.   
 
Prevention 
 
The local authority assesses the suitability of applicants for the local authority 
governor vacancy/vacancies applied for. The local authority, in conjunction with 
Central South Consortium, supports governors with a comprehensive programme of 
both mandatory and voluntary training and access to resources, to enable them to 
develop and maintain their knowledge and skills, and be successful in fulfilling the 
role.    
 
Integration 
 
School governing bodies have a strategic role in running schools and ensuring that 
all pupils are supported to learn and achieve so that they can access opportunities 
for further learning and employment, know how to maintain their wellbeing, can play 
active roles in their communities and can contribute positively to society as a whole.  
 
 
 

Page 682



 

Collaboration 
 
School governing bodies have a strategic role in ensuring that schools safeguard 
the health and well-being of pupils and staff. The local authority, in conjunction with 
Central South Consortium, provides training to governors to enable them to develop 
and maintain their relevant knowledge, skills and effectiveness in this respect.   
 
Involvement 
 
The local authority treats all applications for local authority governor vacancies 
fairly, to ensure equality of opportunity. School governing bodies have a strategic 
role in ensuring that schools safeguard the health and well-being of pupils and staff. 
The local authority, in conjunction with Central South Consortium, provides training 
to governors to enable them to develop and maintain their relevant knowledge, skills 
and effectiveness in this respect.   

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications regarding this report. 

 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 Cabinet is recommended to approve the appointments detailed in paragraph 4.1.  

 
 
Mr Lindsay Harvey 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR – EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT 
 
19 July 2022 

 
Contact officer:  Mandy Jones 
    Pupil Services Officer 
  
Telephone:   (01656) 642629 
 
Email:   Amanda.Jones@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal address:           Education and Family Support Directorate 

Bridgend County Borough Council 
Civic Offices 
Angel Street 
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB 

 
Background documents: 
 
None 
 
  

Page 683



 

 
Appendix A 
 
The following table represents current and future local authority governor vacancies (up to 
the end of August 2022) subject to the approval of the recommended appointments in 
paragraph 4.1. 
 

Name of school 
Number of current 
and future vacancies 

Latest date 
for 
submission 
of an 
application 

Afon y Felin Primary School 2 (vacant from 18 July 2022) 20 July 2022 

Brackla Primary School 1 (current)  20 July 2022 

Bryntirion Infant School 1 (current) 20 July 2022 

Coychurch (Llangrallo) Primary 
School 1 (current) 

20 July 2022 

Ffaldau Primary School 1 (current) 20 July 2022 

Garth Primary School 1 (current) 20 July 2022 

Litchard Primary School 
1 (current) 
1 (vacant from 18 July 2022)  

20 July 2022 
20 July 2022 

Llangewydd Junior School 1 (current) 20 July 2022 

Mynydd Cynffig Primary School 1 (current) 20 July 2022 

Newton Primary School 1 (current) 20 July 2022 

Nottage Primary School 
3 (current) 
1 (vacant from 18 July 2022) 

20 July 2022 
20 July 2022 

Pîl Primary School 2 (current) 20 July 2022 

Plasnewydd Primary School 2 (current) 20 July 2022 

St Robert’s Roman Catholic 
Primary School 2 (current) 

20 July 2022 

Tondu Primary School 1 (current)  20 July 2022 

Tremains Primary School 1 (current)  20 July 2022 

Tynyrheol Primary School 1 (current) 20 July 2022 

West Park Primary School 1 (vacant from 18 July 2022) 20 July 2022 

Ysgol Bryn Castell 1 (vacant from 18 July 2022) 20 July 2022 

Ysgol Cynwyd Sant 2 (current) 20 July 2022 

Ysgol Gymraeg Bro Ogwr 2 (current)  20 July 2022 

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Calon y 
Cymoedd 2 (current) 

20 July 2022 

Coleg Cymunedol Y Dderwen 2 (current) 20 July 2022 

Ysgol y Ferch o'r Sgêr 1 (current) 20 July 2022 

Pencoed Comprehensive School 1 (vacant from 18 July 2022) 20 July 2022 

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Llangynwyd 1 (vacant from 18 July 2022) 20 July 2022 

 

Page 684



 
 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

19 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR – SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 
 

FOSTER CARER ALLOWANCES UPLIFT 
 
1. Purpose of report  

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

 Provide Cabinet with analysis to support a proposed increase to foster carer 

allowances, linked to the significant increases to the cost of living. 

 Seek agreement from Cabinet in respect of the proposals to offer all foster 

carers two weeks paid respite per annum, and increase foster carer allowance 

for 2022/23. 

 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 

 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 

county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 

and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 

qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 

steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 

the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 

resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 

independent lives. 

 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 

ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 

possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 

can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

3. Background 

 

3.1 Foster Carers play a significant role for the Council, providing care within a family to 

children and young people who cannot live at home with their birth families. Care 

experienced children will often have experienced significant trauma and have 

additional needs requiring very skilled and experienced parenting and support. 

Page 685

Agenda Item 13



 
 

 

3.2 Wales, and other parts of the UK, experience challenges in ensuring there is a 

sufficient number of foster carers to meet needs. There are not enough foster carers 

and one of the “key themes” identified within the Placement Commissioning Strategy 

completed in April 2021 was an insufficient number of in- house foster carers. 

 

3.3 To address this area of concern Bridgend has engaged with regional colleagues to 

support recruitment of foster carers. In April 2022 BCBC entered into a Regional Front 

Door with Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr County Borough Councils to support one 

point of contact for all foster carer enquiries and initial visits. 

 

3.4 In September 2021 we saw the official launch of Maethu Cymru/Foster Wales to 

support a national approach to the recruitment of new foster carers across all 22 Local 

Authorities in Wales.  The impact of this to date has been limited, with a significant 

reduction in new carers being assessed by Bridgend Fostering Service between 

2020/21 – 2021/22. 

 

Year No of Assessments Commenced 

2019/20 22 

2020/21 21 

2021/22 27 

2022/23 (To Date) 12 

 

3.5  In 2012 the Welsh Government set out its National Minimum Allowances for Foster 

Carers in Wales to meet the day-to-day costs of looking after a child who was 

accommodated by the Local Authority, and Bridgend Fostering Service pay foster 

carers in line with the allowances set out within this document.  The amount foster 

carers receive each year has increased minimally in line with the agreed inflation 

rates during this period of time. 

 

3.6 These minimum allowances were last updated in 2020/21, for a three-year cycle, and 

means the foster carer allowances this year rise by 3%. 

 

3.7 In addition to the Basic Allowance, all of Bridgend Fostering Service’s general foster 

carers receive an additional allowance (formerly fee) recognizing the skills, 

knowledge and professional development required to fulfill their role. This is now 

available to all foster carers including Connected Persons if they meet the Eligibility 

Criteria set out in the Fostering Finances Policy adopted in March 2022. 

 

3.8 There has been no increase to this Additional Allowance since 2012.  However, in 

2019 as part of the re-modelling of Bridgend’s Fostering Services there was a change 

to the stage in a Foster Carers “career” where they would be entitled to receive an 

additional allowance in order to support foster carer recruitment and retention. 

 

Page 686



 
 

3.9 Alongside these developments, the National Fostering Framework has for many 

years sought to achieve a “harmonisation” of fostering allowances paid across Wales, 

work which, due to the complexities involved, continues at the present time under the 

banner of Maethu Cymru/Foster Wales. 

 

4. Current situation/proposal 

 

4.1 As stated above Bridgend Fostering Service need to recruit new foster carers, whilst 

retaining those we have currently, in order to ensure that we can achieve sufficiency 

of placements to safeguard children and young people. Local Authorities are required 

statutorily to ensure sufficient supply of regulated care services – a Market Stability 

Report is progressing to July Council which identifies a deficit in the number of foster 

carers in Bridgend, and the rest of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg region. 

 

4.2 Foster Carers in Bridgend have received an increase to their basic allowance this 

year of 3%, whereas the cost of living is anticipated to rise by 10% over coming 

months. 

 

4.3 The Fostering Service is committed to consulting and engaging with carers in order 

to identify key issues for them that need to be considered by the service.  In March 

2022 a questionnaire was developed collaboratively by the service and Liaison Foster 

Carers which was sent out to all foster carers. Fifty-seven responses were received 

which represents 38% of our total foster carer numbers.  The key themes identified 

within the feedback can be broken down as follows: 

 

 a) Communication 

 b) Support 

 c) Training and Development 

 d) Allowances 

 

4.4 Within all aspects of the questionnaire responses, a recurring theme was Foster 

Carer Allowances and demonstrated significant anger and anxieties regarding the 

proposed 3% increase to allowances (National Minimum Allowances) and the high 

cost of living. Some of the comments received in relation to allowances are noted 

below and it is important to note that the NFF (National Fostering Framework) have 

raised the need for a review of these allowances with Welsh Government:  

 

 It would be nice if the fostering team would push for a pay raise for us Foster Carers 

as it pays very little for a job that’s a very hard 24hr, 7 day a week job.  There is no 

incentive. 

 

 I feel lots of carers go to private agencies as there has been no rise in payments in 

around 18 years.  Who else would work for a company that doesn’t appreciate the 

hard work of fostering? 

 

Page 687



 
 

 No holiday allowance, no paid respite, no birthday allowance, no Christmas 

allowance. 

 

 Allowances and foster carer fees.  Inflation affects foster carers too.  There’s not 

enough of a rise to compensate, look at the rise of fuel, gas and electricity.  We don’t 

get a minimum wage, we don’t get holidays, we don’t get sick pay. If you value your 

carers take this seriously or you’ll end up losing them all to IFA’s. 

 

4.5 Across Wales there is again a varied approach being taken in respect of this issue 

with some Local Authorities making the decision to offer Foster Carers a one-off 

additional payment, an approach adopted by BCBC in December 2021 when all 

Foster Carers received a one-off financial payment of £500, supported by the 

Recovery Fund.  One other Local Authority within the Cwm Taf Morgannwg region 

(RCT) is exploring the option of increasing Fostering Allowances over and above the 

National Minimum Allowances, as well as Local Authorities in North Wales. 

 

4.6 The role of the foster carer takes place 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.  At the present 

time any carer who wishes to take a short break, akin to a period of annual leave 

would receive no allowances during this period. It is clear from the foster carer survey 

results this leaves carers with a sense of dissatisfaction.  

 

4.7 The proposal for consideration, therefore, is twofold. Firstly, to increase the Fostering 

Allowances by 7% (in addition to the 3% already paid) to 10% for 2022/23 only,  

pending any recommendations from Welsh Government or further review by the 

service that may be undertaken in relation to changes of circumstance. The Council 

will need to consider any continuation of this increase beyond this financial year in its 

budget setting for 2023/24 onwards. Secondly, to consider the proposal to offer all 

foster carers two weeks (14 days) paid respite per annum. 

 

4.8 Regional Partners 

 

Table 1 

 
 Weekly Child Allowances Weekly Additional Allowances Annual Additional Payments 

L

A 

0-4 5-10 11-15 16+ Lowest Fee 2 Fee 3 

 

Highest Christmas Birthday Holiday Other  

M

E

R 

£194 £177 £182 £220 £65   £160 £364 £182 £364  

R

C

T 

£194 £177 £177 £220 £181   £181    £1000 

B

C

B

C 

£194 £177 £224.37 £224.37 £74.48 £94.77 £148.88 £189.61     

 

Page 688



 
 

Table 1 illustrates that Cwm Taf Morgannwg partners pay additional payments to 

foster carers over the course of any year. This means, an additional £1000 is paid in 

RCT and an additional £910 in Merthyr by virtue of additional allowances, for which 

no equivalent is offered by Bridgend Fostering Service. In addition to this it is 

noteworthy that the highest amount of BCBC additional allowance (£189.61) is only 

received by foster carers who are ‘level 3’ and care for children aged 11+ (only 74 

payments of £189.61 being made in March 2022). Therefore, comparatively RCT pay 

their foster carers a significantly higher amount of additional weekly allowance per 

placement, paying a standard additional allowance of £181 for each placement.  

 

4.9 Nationally, BCBC is among 4 out of the 22 local authorities who offer no additional 

payments to foster carers aside from allowances. It can be a challenge to benchmark 

a local authority against fellow local authorities owing to differences in administration 

between some offering 1 rate of additional allowance, some paying above 

recommended minimum allowances and some making additional payments. As an 

attempt to provide an indication as to where BCBC sits in comparison to the 21 other 

Local Authorities in respect of the figures in table 2 below, the green column entitled 

‘Total Fig*’ are the total amounts of all allowances and additional payments added 

together, and displayed in increasing order of amounts. The right-hand column is the 

total of the highest additional allowance plus additional payments, not including 

standard allowances. In both, BCBC’s total is highlighted in yellow and demonstrates 

in both cases how BCBC is one of the 3 lowest paying of the 22 local authorities in 

Wales. 

 
Table 2 
 

LA Total Fig*  Highest+Lowest+additional 
payment 

MCC £206 £140 

BGCBC £400 £200 

BCBC £508 £264 

TCBC £634 £308 

NCC £647 £550 

VOG £720 £634 

CARMS £790 £701 

WREX £791 £709 

CER £901 £710 

GWYN £1,002 £764 

NPT £1,029 £802 

SWAN £1,041 £880 

DEB £1,085 £952 

MER £1,135 £986 

CCBC £1,155 £988 

PEM £1,197 £1,090 

CARD £1,235 £1,135 

Page 689



 
 

RCT £1,362 £1,191 

YM £1,374 £1,235 

POWYS £1,480 £1,289 

FLINT £1,546 £1,362 

CON £1,822 £1,480 

 

4.10 In addition to the above comparative analysis, all 22 Local Authorities in Wales were 

contacted regarding whether they provide payment to foster carers when they are 

receiving respite. 20 Local Authorities were able to provide this information and of 

these, Bridgend is one of 4 Local Authorities who provide no payment to a foster carer 

whilst they have respite, however 2 of the 4 provide Christmas, birthday and holiday 

allowances whilst BCBC and one remaining local authority do not.  

 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 

 

5.1 The Fostering Financial Policy dated February 2022 will need to be reviewed and 

updated should cabinet agree with the proposal contained within this report.  

 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications  

 

6.1 An initial EIA screening has identified that there would be no negative impact on those 

with one or more of the protected characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage 

or the use of the Welsh language. It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA 

on this policy or proposal.  

 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 

 

7.1 The implementation of the duties and responsibilities under the Social Services and 

Wellbeing Act (Wales) (SSWBA) 2014, in turn, supports the promotion of two of the 

seven goals of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 within the 

County Borough of Bridgend.  By promoting an environment that maximises people’s 

physical and mental well-being and by supporting children, young people, adults and 

their carers and families to fulfil their potential no matter what their circumstances, 

the wellbeing goals of a healthier and more equal Bridgend and Wales are supported. 

 

7.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 

a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 

Authority should work to deliver wellbeing outcomes for people.  The following is a 

summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have 

been considered in this report: 

 

• Long term: The fostering service continues to actively recruit new foster carers 
in order to be able to meet the needs of the current and future looked after children 
population.  The proposal within this would also serve to enable the Fostering 
Service to retain foster carers by demonstrating our commitment to provide them 
with a high level of support. 

Page 690



 
 

• Prevention and Integration – As noted within this report having a sufficient 
number of foster care placements available for children who cannot continue to 
live at home with their family is a significant challenge across Wales.  There is 
significant work taking place as part of Maethu Cymru/Foster Wales around both 
recruitment and retention in recognition of the size of the challenge.  The proposal 
in this report would support BCBC’s attempts to retain the Foster Carers we 
currently have, thereby preventing further reduction in the number of placements 
that are available, by acknowledging the resilience and dedication shown by our 
foster carers throughout the pandemic and demonstrating that they are a valued 
part of the wider social care team. The adult placement scheme provides a very 
cost effective way of supporting adults avoiding much more costly residential or 
supported living placements. The scheme is designed to enable people to live in 
a local community and participate in community life. 

 

• Collaboration and Involvement – The body of the report above demonstrates 

the commitment Bridgend Fostering Service has to collaborate with and involve 

foster carers in the preparation of the Service Development Plan, recognising 

their professionalism, skills and knowledge. 

8. Financial implications 

 

8.1 Currently the highest amount a BCBC Foster Carer receives for a single placement 

is £21,774 per annum whereas the average cost of a placement with an IFA would 

be £46,774.  Therefore, for every child we place with a BCBC Foster Carer the Local 

Authority saves approximately £25,000 a year.   

 

8.2 The proposed additional 7% to the fostering allowances, will see an increase to the 

budget of £201,000 (3% inflation uplift and additional requested 7%).  The proposal 

is for 2022/23 at this stage and any increases beyond this financial year will need to 

be considered as part of the Council’s budget setting for 2023/24 onwards, as part of 

Medium Term Financial Strategy considerations. However, this will provide the carers 

with an increase that will match the significant costs pressure they face due to the 

rise in cost of living at present. 

 

8.3 For the increased cost of foster carer allowances we are seeking agreement for this 

to be funded from the Social Care Workforce Grant which has been received annually 

for the last 5 years. In 2022/23 this grant is £2 million and is used flexibly to reflect 

pressures across volatile social care budgets. It is clear that there is a risk of attrition 

if BCBC does not address this matter, and it is also a barrier to foster carer 

recruitment.  

 

8.4 The proposal to introduce two weeks paid respite for all foster carers would cost the 

Local Authority £80,186.  It is proposed that this is funded from the in-house fostering 

allowances budget. This is affordable within the current budget. 

 

8.5 WG has allocated BCBC £44,749 this year as part of their Cost of Living package to 

support families who are caring for some of our most vulnerable children. These could 

Page 691



 
 

include both kinship and mainstream foster carers, special guardians, children placed 

with parents, and adoptive families, who are experiencing difficulties due to the cost 

of living increases and it is proposed that this money could be used to offset the 

increase in budget in 2022/23 if the proposal is agreed. 

 

9. Recommendation(s) 

 

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

 

 Approve the proposal to offer all foster carers two weeks paid respite per annum, 

financed as indicated from within existing budget. 

 Approve the proposal to increase foster carer allowances as set out in 8.2 of this 

report. 

 

 

 

Claire Marchant 

Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing 

June 2021 

 

 

Contact officer:  Steven Howell 

 Group Manager, Placements and Provider Services 

 

Telephone:   (01656) 642330 

 

Email:   steven.howell@bridgend.gov.uk 

 

Postal address:  Bridgend County Borough Council, Civic Offices, Angel Street,

 Bridgend, CF 314WR 

 

 

Background documents:  

 

None 

 

 

 

 

Page 692



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

19 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL AND REGULATORY SERVICES, HR AND 
CORPORATE POLICY 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT SECTION 65: POWER 

TO FIX FARES FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGES.  APPLICATION TO VARY THE 
HACKNEY CARRIAGES FARES TARIFF 

 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to ask Cabinet to determine an application received 
 from the Bridgend County Hackney Association to increase the current Bridgend 
 County Borough Council’s rate of hackney carriage fares. 

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015: 

 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The Council may fix or vary the rate of fares for the hire of a hackney carriage under 
 the provisions of Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
 Act, 1976. The Section requires that any variation of the fare must be advertised in 
 a local paper and that a period of notice of at least 14 days be given to enable any 
 person to make objections. 
 
3.2 The current tariff of fares has been effective since 14 January 2019 and is shown at 
 Appendix A. 
 
3.3 An application to increase the rate of hackney carriage fares was submitted to the 
 Licensing Department by the Chairman of the Bridgend County Hackney 
 Association.  A copy of the request is attached at Appendix B.   
 
3.4 The rate of fares has traditionally been set by the Council following a request from 
 the trade to vary the tariff of fares from time to time.  The effect is that, for all 
 journeys within the boundary of the County Borough of Bridgend, the driver must 
 use the taximeter fitted in the vehicle, and must not exceed the authorised fare set 
 by the Council. 
 

Page 693

Agenda Item 14



 

3.5 This element of the Council’s powers provides a means of consumer protection 
 though transparent charging for hackney carriage fares; a driver is entitled to 
 charge less than the meter fare, but must use the meter and show the meter fare so 
 that the customer is aware of any discount offered. 
 
3.6 Consideration should be given to obtaining a balance between increasing the fare 
 to compensate the increase in costs of running a hackney carriage, and ensuring 
 that the increase does not deter the public from using hackney carriages. 

 
4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 The application proposes increases across all tariffs together with the charge for 
 waiting time. 
 
4.2 The trade body has highlighted the economic impact on the taxi trade of the 
 Covid-19 pandemic together with the current cost of living crisis.  The Licensing 
 Section had also received a number of enquiries from individual licensees asking 
 whether the Council would consider a fare increase because of the cost of 
 living/fuel crisis. 
 
4.3 The following tables show the impact of the proposals on each of the current fare 
 tariffs in place.  Bridgend County Hackney Association has confirmed the proposals 
 as outlined are correct. 
 
     

 
Current Proposed % increase 

Tariff 1 
   

6.00 am to 8.00 pm 
   

    

1 £3.80  £4.60 21.05% 

2 £5.80  £6.80 17.24% 

3 £7.80  £9.00 15.38% 

4 £9.80  £11.20 14.29% 

5 £11.80  £13.40 13.56% 

10 £21.80  £24.40 11.93%     

Tariff 2 
   

8.00 pm to 6.00 am 
every day 

   

Bank Holidays 
(except Christmas 
Day) 

   

    

1 £4.70  £5.50 17.02% 

2 £6.90  £7.90 14.49% 

3 £9.10  £10.30 13.19% 

4 £11.30  £12.70 12.39% 

5 £13.50  £15.10 11.85% 

10 £24.50  £27.10 10.61% 

Page 694



 

    

Tariff 3 
   

6.00 am to 8.00 pm 
every day 

   

5 or more 
passengers 

   

    

1 £6.00  £6.80 13.33% 

2 £8.40  £9.40 11.90% 

3 £10.80  £12.00 11.11% 

4 £13.20  £14.60 10.61% 

5 £15.60  £17.20 10.26% 

10 £27.60  £30.20 9.42% 

Tariff 4 
   

8.00 pm to 6.00 am 
   

5 or more 
passengers 

   

    

1 £7.20  £8.00 11.11% 

2 £10.00  £11.00 10.00% 

3 £12.80  £14.00 9.37% 

4 £15.60  £17.00 8.97% 

5 £18.40  £20.00 8.70% 

10 £32.40  £35.00 8.02%     

Waiting Time 
   

 
Expressed at 
0.25 per minute 
= £15 per hour  

£20 per hour 
 

 
4.4 The following table is published by the Private Hire Monthly magazine which 

collects data on hackney carriage fares in the UK.  It uses a 2 mile standard 
daytime journey as the comparison point.  Bridgend is currently ranked at 230th of 
the 349 Councils setting fares.   If Cabinet are minded to approve the increase, the 
Council will move to the same price range as other Welsh Local Authorities such as 
the Vale of Glamorgan  and Carmarthenshire.  We are aware that a number of local 
Authorities are currently considering fare increases following the pandemic.  For this 
reason, a Council’s ranking will change regularly depending on when a fare rise is 
approved so the table position is given is only for indicative purposes.  Source May 
edition:   

 https://www.phtm.co.uk/newspaper/taxi-fares-league-tables 
 
4.5 At the time this report was prepared The AA Fuel Price Report for April 2022 was 
 published and showed that Unleaded prices have fallen from 163.8 p/litre last 
 month to 162.2p/litre now.  Diesel prices have increased from 173.8 p/litre to 175.9 
 p/litre. The price difference between diesel and unleaded has grown to 13.7 p/litre.  
 https://www.theaa.com/driving-advice/driving-costs/fuel-prices 
 
4.6 By comparison, the AA Fuel report for January 2019, around the time of the last 
 fare increase, showed that Unleaded prices had dropped 1.6p from 121.6 p/litre to 

Page 695

https://www.phtm.co.uk/newspaper/taxi-fares-league-tables
https://www.theaa.com/driving-advice/driving-costs/fuel-prices


 

 120.0 p/litre.  Diesel prices had fallen 2.2p from 131.1 p/litre to 128.9 p/litre. The 
 price difference between diesel and unleaded had fallen to 8.9 p/litre.  

 
4.7 The average annual rate of inflation (CPI) between March 2018 and February 2022 
 was 2%.  However, the rate of inflation in May 2022 was 9.1 % and this is forecast 
 to rise throughout 2022. 
 https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices 
 
   It should be noted that that CPI may not be truly representative of the additional 
 costs associated with the taxi trade, which include the cost of fuel and used cars. 
 The cost of used cars has increased significantly since the start of the Covid 19  
 pandemic, and fuel costs have also risen significantly above inflation and are 
 forecast to rise further in 2022.  Other trade specific costs include insurance and 
 Council licence fees, although the latter has not changed since 2019. 
 
4.8 The following table, derived from the annual statistical returns to the Department of 
 Transport, illustrates the reduction in driver and vehicle licences issued by the 
 Council through the  period of the pandemic: 
 
Bridgend 
 

Year Total Standard 
Taxis 

Total standard 
PHVs 

Total Driver 
licences issued 

Total licensed 
vehicles 

2019 380 
 

130 
 

640 
 

510 
 

2020 356 
 

126 
 

557 
 

482 
 

2021 311 
 

113 
 

530 
 

424 
 

 
The collection of data for the Department for Transport returns is retrospective. 
However, a check of the current number of licensed vehicles in Bridgend shows an 
increase to 439 with 498 drivers currently licensed.  Neither levels have returned to 
pre-pandemic numbers (as at 8 July 2022). 

 
4.9 Should Cabinet agree to vary the tariff, the variation would need to be advertised for 
 a period of at least 14 days to permit persons to make an objection.  Should there 
 be no objections, the variation would then come into effect on the date of the expiry 
 of the period of notice. However, should an objection be received the objection 
 would need to be considered again by the Cabinet before the variation is 
 implemented. 
 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 The report content has no direct effect upon the policy framework and 
 procedure rules. 

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
  
 An initial EIA screening has identified that there would be no negative impact on 
 those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on socio-economic 

Page 696

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices


 

 disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. It is therefore not necessary to 
 carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal.  
 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
 report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts 
 upon  the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 
 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from the report.  The cost of the Public 
 Notice of the application will be met from existing budget. 

 
9. Recommendations 
 
 Cabinet is requested to: 
 
9.1 Note the issues and impacts to taxi fares set out in the report. 
 
9.2 Approve the application put forward by the Bridgend County Hackney Association 
 with an implementation date of 26 September 2022 (provided that there are no 
 objections). 
 
9.3 Authorise the advertisement of the variation in a local newspaper. 
 

 
Kelly Watson  
CHIEF OFFICER - LEGAL AND REGULATORY SERVICES, HR AND CORPORATE 
POLICY 
13 July 2022 

 
 

Contact officer:  Yvonne Witchell 
 Team Manager Licensing  

 
Telephone:   (01656) 643643 
 
Email:   Yvonne.Witchell@bridgend.gov.uk  
 
Postal address:  Civic Ofices, Angel Street Bridgend CF31 4WB 

 
 
Background documents:  
 
None 
 
 
 

Page 697

mailto:Yvonne.Witchell@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Page 699



This page is intentionally left blank



Bridgend County Hackney Association  

 

Paul Pride  

 

 

 

19/05/2022 

I am writing to council as Chairman of Bridgend County Hackney Association and on behalf of the licensed taxi trade in the county. This 

association has received numerous requests from all sectors of the taxi trade to apply for an emergency increase in the maximum 

authorised fare tariff set by council under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

The last increase in fares was on the 14th January 2019, since then the trade has endured the economic devastation of the pandemic and 

now we have record increases in the cost of fuel resulting in a weekly cost of between £30-£60, and now the country is facing a cost of 

living crisis never witness in our life time. Several councils in S, Wales have already implemented emergency increases to help combat the 

financial crisis faced by taxi drivers and we ask that councils acts promptly and passes this emergency application. 

Our proposal for the increase is as follows,  

Increase of the Flag/Start of all tariffs by £0.70 

Increase of the running mile to all tariffs by £0.20 with the increments set at £0.10, ie £2.20 per mile at 10p x 22. 

Waiting to increase to £20 per hour. 

 

Yours Sincerely  

Paul F Pride  

Chairman BCHA 

 

Page 701



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

 19 JULY 2022  
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER - LEGAL AND REGULATORY SERVICES, HR AND 
CORPORATE POLICY 

 
CABINET, COUNCIL AND OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK 

PROGRAMMES 
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval for items to be included on 

the Cabinet Forward Work Programme for the period 1 July 2022 to 31 October 
2022 and for Cabinet to note the Council and Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
Forward Work Programmes for the same period. 

 
2   2.        Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 

2.1      This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being  
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:- 
 
1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 

county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 

 
3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 

ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Forward Work Programme will be 

prepared by the Monitoring Officer to cover a period of four months except when 
ordinary elections of councillors occur.  

 
3.2 The Forward Work Programme will contain matters which the Cabinet, Overview 
 and Scrutiny Committees and full Council are likely to consider. It will contain 
 information on: 
 

Page 703

Agenda Item 15



 

(a) the timetable for considering the Budget and any plans, policies or strategies 
forming part of the Policy Framework and requiring Council approval, and 
which body is to consider them; 

 
(b) the timetable for considering any plans, policies or strategies which are the 

responsibility of the Cabinet; 
 
(c) any individual matters on which the Cabinet intends to consult in advance of 

taking a decision, and the timetable for consultation and decision; 
 
(d) the work programme of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, to the extent 

that it is known. 
 

4. Current situation/proposal  
 
4.1 The proposed Forward Work Programmes are appended as follows: 
 

 Cabinet 1 July 2022 to 31 October 2022 - Appendix 1  

 Council 1 July 2022 to 31 October 2022 - Appendix 2 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committees 1 July 2022 to 31 October 2022 - 
Appendix 3 

 
4.2     The Forward Work Programme for Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 3 will 

be shared with Cabinet verbally at the meeting, following this being agreed at its 
meeting on 18 July 2022. 

 
4.3 Following consideration by Cabinet, the Forward Work Programmes will be 

 published on the Council’s website.   
 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There are no implications relating to the policy framework and procedure rules. 

 
6. Equality Impact 2010 Implications 
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

  
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
 report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts 
 upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 
 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There will be a translation cost of approximately £60 for each quarterly update of  

Page 704



 

the Forward Work programme when it is published on the Bridgend County Borough 
Council Website. These will be met from within Democratic Services existing budgets.  

 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

 Approve the Cabinet Forward Work Programme for the period 1 July 2022 to 31 
October 2022 at Appendix 1; 

 Note the Council and Overview and Scrutiny Committees Forward Work 
Programmes for the same period, as shown at Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 of 
the report, respectively.  

 
Kelly Watson 
Chief Officer Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy  
July 2022       

 
Contact Officer: Mark Anthony Galvin - 
                                Senior Democratic Services Officer - Committees 
 
Postal Address:       Democratic Services 
   Chief Executives Directorate 
   Level 4 
   Civic Offices 
   
Telephone:  (01656) 643148 
Email:   mark.galvin@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
 
Background documents:  None  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 705

mailto:mark.galvin@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPENDIX 1 
 

CABINET FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2022 TO 31 OCTOBER 2022 
 
 
 
 

Date Title of Report Contact Officer 
 

19 Jul Budget Monitoring 2022-23 – Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast Carys Lord 
Chief Officer – Finance 
Performance and Change 
Tel: 01656 643302 
Email: 
Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

19 Jul Capital Programme Outturn 2021-22 and Quarter 1 2022-23 
 
 

Carys Lord 
Chief Officer – Finance 
Performance and Change 
Tel: 01656 643302 
Email: 
Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

19 Jul  Public Space Protection Order  Carys Lord 
Chief Officer – Finance 
Performance and Change 
Tel: 01656 643302 
Email: 
Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk  
 
 
 

P
age 707

mailto:Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk


Date 
Title of Report 

 
Contact Officer 

 

19 Jul  Homelessness Funding Carys Lord 
Chief Officer – Finance 
Performance and Change 
Tel: 01656 643302 
Email: 
Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

19 Jul  Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director Communities 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.
uk 
 

19 Jul 
 
 
 
 

Land transaction at Island Farm Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director Communities 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.
uk 
 

19 Jul  Replacement Local Development Plan (LDP) Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director Communities 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.
uk 
 
 
 

P
age 708

mailto:Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk


Date 
Title of Report 

 
Contact Officer 

 

19 Jul  2020-2023 Carriageway Resurfacing Programme 
 
 
 

Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director Communities 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.
uk 
 

19 Jul Town and Community Council Fund Allocation’s Programme 2022-23 Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director Communities 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.
uk 
 

19 Jul  The Conference of Parties 2022 Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director Communities 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.
uk 
 

19 Jul Appointment of LA Governors 
 
 
 

Lindsay Harvey  
Corporate Director – Education and 
Family Support 
Tel: 01656 642612 
Email: 
Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
 
 

P
age 709

mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk


Date 
Title of Report 

 
Contact Officer 

 

19 Jul School Modernisation – Bridgend West – English Medium School 
modification opening date 
 
 
 

Lindsay Harvey  
Corporate Director – Education and 
Family Support 
Tel: 01656 642612 
Email: 
Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

19 Jul Application to Vary Hackney Carriage Fares Tariff 
 

Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer, Legal and Regulatory 
Services, HR and Corporate Policy 
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
 
 

19 Jul  Cabinet, Council and Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work 
Programmes 

Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer, Legal and Regulatory 
Services, HR and Corporate Policy 
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

19 Jul  Member Invitees on Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting and 
Cabinet Committee Equalities 
 
 
  

Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer, Legal and Regulatory 
Services, HR and Corporate Policy 
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

P
age 710

mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk


Date 
Title of Report 

 
Contact Officer 

 

 

19 Jul Foster Carers Uplift Allowance Claire Marchant 
Corporate Director Social Services 
and Wellbeing 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Claire.Marchant@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

13 Sep Ewenny Road Masterplan Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director Communities 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.
uk 
 
 

13 Sep Parc Afon Ewenny Project Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director Communities 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.
uk 
 

13 Sep Ewenny Road Housing Viability Fund Project Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director Communities 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.
uk 
 

P
age 711

mailto:Claire.Marchant@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk


Date 
Title of Report 

 
Contact Officer 

 

13 Sep Caerau Heat Scheme Project Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director Communities 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.
uk 
 

13 Sep Appropriation at Porthcawl Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director Communities 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.
uk 
 
 
 

13 Sep New Model Constitution and Constitution Guide Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer, Legal and Regulatory 
Services, HR and Corporate Policy 
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

13 Sep 
 
 
 

PSOW Annual Letter Report  Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer, Legal and Regulatory 
Services, HR and Corporate Policy 
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

P
age 712

mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk


Date 
Title of Report 

 
Contact Officer 

 

13 Sep  
 
 
 
 

School Modernisation Programme – Public Notice outcome – 
Heronsbridge School 

Lindsay Harvey  
Corporate Director – Education and 
Family Support 
Tel: 01656 642612 
Email: 
Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

13 Sep 
 
 
 
 

School Modernisation Programme – Public Notice outcome – Ysgol 
Gynradd Gymraeg Bro Ogwr School 

Lindsay Harvey  
Corporate Director – Education and 
Family Support 
Tel: 01656 642612 
Email: 
Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

13 Sep Appointment of LA Governors 
 
 
 
 

Lindsay Harvey  
Corporate Director – Education and 
Family Support 
Tel: 01656 642612 
Email: 
Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

18 Oct Appointment of LA Governors Lindsay Harvey  
Corporate Director – Education and 
Family Support 
Tel: 01656 642612 
Email: 
Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

P
age 713

mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

APPENDIX 2 
 

COUNCIL FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2022 TO 31 OCTOBER 2022 
 
 
 

Date Title of Report Contact Officer 
 

20 Jul 
 

Capital Programme Outturn 2021-22 and Quarter 1 2022-23 Carys Lord 
Chief Officer - Finance, 
Performance and Change  
Tel: 01656 643302 
EmaiI: 
Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

20 Jul  
 

Membership of the Standards Committee Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer, Legal and 
Regulatory Services, HR and 
Corporate Policy  
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 20 Jul Market Stability Report 
 
 
 

Claire Marchant 
Corporate Director Social 
Services and Wellbeing 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Claire.Marchant@bridgend.gov.uk 

P
age 715

mailto:Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.Marchant@bridgend.gov.uk


Date 
Title of Report 

 
Contact Officer 

 

 
 
 
 

14 Sep Director of Social Services Annual Report Claire Marchant 
Corporate Director Social 
Services and Wellbeing 
Tel: 01656 643241 
Email: 
Claire.Marchant@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
 

14 Sep New Model Constitution and Constitution Guide 
 
 
 
 

Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer, Legal and 
Regulatory Services, HR and 
Corporate Policy  
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

14 Sep Audited Statement of Accounts 2021-22 Carys Lord 
Chief Officer - Finance, 
Performance and Change  
Tel: 01656 643302 
EmaiI: 
Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

P
age 716

mailto:Claire.Marchant@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk


Date 
Title of Report 

 
Contact Officer 

 

 

P
age 717



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                                                                                                               APPENDIX 3 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME – 1 JULY 2022 TO 31 OCTOBER 2022 
 
 

Date Title of Report 
 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Contact Officer 

21 July - Budget Monitoring 2022-23 – Quarter 1 Revenue 
Forecast  

- Council’s Performance against its Wellbeing 
Objectives for 2021 - 22 (Year End Performance) 

 

Corporate 
Overview 

and 
Scrutiny 

Committee  

Carys Lord 
Chief Officer - Finance, 
Performance and Change  
Tel: 01656 643302 
EmaiI: 
Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

5 Sept  - Director of Social Services Annual Report 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Scrutiny Annual Report 

Corporate 
Overview 

and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

Claire Marchant  
Corporate Director Social 
Services & Wellbeing  
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Claire.marchant@bridgend.go
v.uk 
 
Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer, Legal and 
Regulatory Services, HR and 
Corporate Policy  
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.u
k 

P
age 719

mailto:Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk


Date 
Title and Description of Report 

 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
Contact Officer 

    

2 

 

27 Oct Budget Monitoring 2022-23 – Quarter 2 Revenue Forecast 
 

Corporate 
Overview 

and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

Carys Lord 
Chief Officer - Finance, 
Performance and Change  
Tel: 01656 643302 
EmaiI: 
Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

4 July - Corporate Parenting Champion Nomination report; 
- Nomination to the Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel 

report; 
- Draft Outline Forward Work Programme 

Subject 
Overview 

and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
1  

Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer, Legal and 
Regulatory Services, HR and 
Corporate Policy  
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.u
k 
 

12 Sept  Pupil Attendance, Exclusions, Health and Safeguarding Subject 
Overview 

and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
1 

Lindsay Harvey  
Corporate Director – 
Education and Family 
Support 
Tel: 01656 642612 
Email: 
Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.go
v.uk 
 

Claire Marchant  

P
age 720

mailto:Carys.Lord@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk


Date 
Title and Description of Report 

 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
Contact Officer 

    

3 

Corporate Director Social 
Services & Wellbeing  
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Claire.marchant@bridgend.go
v.uk 
 

10 Oct Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) Subject 
Overview 

and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
1 

Lindsay Harvey  
Corporate Director – 
Education and Family 
Support 
Tel: 01656 642612 
Email: 
Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.go
v.uk 

11 July  - Corporate Parenting Champion Nomination report; 
- Nomination to the Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel 

report; 
- Draft Outline Forward Work Programme 

Subject 
Overview 

and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
2 

Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer, Legal and 
Regulatory Services, HR and 
Corporate Policy  
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.u
k 
 

15 Sept  - Care Inspectorate Wales Children’s Services 
Inspection Report 

- Summary of Adult Services Inspection Reports 

Subject 
Overview 

and 

Corporate Director Social 
Services & Wellbeing  
Tel: 01656 643248 

P
age 721

mailto:Claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk


Date 
Title and Description of Report 

 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
Contact Officer 

    

4 

 Scrutiny 
Committee 

2 

Email: 
Claire.marchant@bridgend.go
v.uk 

18 July  - Corporate Parenting Champion Nomination report; 
- Nomination to the Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel 

report; 
- Draft Outline Forward Work Programme 

Subject 
Overview 

and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
3 

Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer, Legal and 
Regulatory Services, HR and 
Corporate Policy  
Tel: 01656 643248 
Email: 
Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.u
k 

 26 Sept  Awaiting Approval of Forward Work Programme on 18 
July 2022  

Subject 
Overview 

and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
3 

 

 

P
age 722

mailto:Claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk


 
 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

19 JULY 2022     
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER - LEGAL AND REGULATORY SERVICES, HR AND 
CORPORATE POLICY 

 
INVITEES ON CABINET COMMITTEE CORPORATE PARENTING AND CABINET 
COMMITTEE EQUALITIES  

 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 
 

a. confirm the process for nomination of Champions from each of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees to the Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting and 
receive these nominations. 

 
b. seek approval of the invitees to attend meetings of the Cabinet Committee 

Equalities as nominated by each of the political groups represented on the 
Council.  

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 

 
2.1      This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being  

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:- 
 
1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 

county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 

 
3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 

ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

  
 
 
 

Page 723

Agenda Item 16



 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 Both the Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting and Cabinet Committee Equalities 

comprise of the membership of the Executive, with additional nominated invitees to be 
agreed by Cabinet.  

 
4. Current situation/proposal. 
 
4.1 At a previous meeting, Cabinet established the principle of appointing one invitee from 

each of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees as Corporate Parenting Champions, 
together with the Chairperson of the Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(SO&SC) 2, which takes the lead on social services items. These Members would be 
invited to attend meetings of the Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting.  Reports are 
in the process of being presented to the first meetings of each of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees seeking the appointment of invitees to attend meetings of the 
Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting.  

 
4.2      To date the following Members have been appointed as part of the above process:- 
 
           Councillor F Bletsoe (as Chairperson of SO&SC 2) 
           Councillor Amanda Williams – Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CO&SC) 
           Councillor T Thomas – SO&SC 1 
           Councillor A Wathan - SO&SC 2 
           
4.3      The appointment of the Corporate Parenting Champion for SO&SC 3 will be agreed at 

its Committee on 18 July 2022 and reported verbally to Cabinet on 19 July 2022.      
 
4.4      Cabinet also approved previously that 10 invitees from each political group sits on the 

Cabinet Committee Corporate Equalities, to include minority Group Leaders (or their 
nominated substitute should they be unable to attend a meeting). It is proposed, as 
with other Committees, political balance rules should generally apply in respect of such 
nominations.   

 
4.5 Following discussion with Group Leaders, the following Members have been 

nominated to sit as invitees on the Cabinet Committee Equalities, on the basis of 5 
Labour, 3 Bridgend County Independents and 2 Democratic Alliance Members:    

 
 Political Group 

 
Councillors 

1 Labour Councillor M Evans 
2 Labour Councillor P Ford 
3 Labour Councillor M Lewis 
4 Labour Councillor J Llewellyn-Hopkins 
5 Labour Councillor E Winstanley  
6 Bridgend County 

Independent 
Councillor A Williams 

7 Bridgend County 
Independent 

Councillor A Berrow 

Page 724



 
 

8 Bridgend County  
Independent 

Councillor A Wathan 

9 Democratic Alliance Councillor R Penhale-Thomas 
10 Democratic Alliance Councillor D Hughes 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There will be no direct effect on the Policy Framework & Procedure Rules but, if 

approved, the report will provide a sound structure for Executive decision-making, 
improve corporate planning within the Authority and provide greater accessibility and 
understanding for the residents of the County Borough. 

 
6. Equality Impact 2010 implications 
 
6.1 There are no negative equality implications arising from this report.   
 
7. Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1    The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in Wales, with 5 

ways of working to guide how public services should work to deliver for people. The 
following is a summary to show how the 5 ways of working to achieve the well-being 
goals have been used to formulate the recommendations within this report:   

 

 Long-term - The approval of this report will assist in the long term 
planning of the business of the Council in both the short 
term and in the long-term.   

 Prevention - The proper composition of Council Committees meets 
the requirements of the Local Government and Housing 
1989 Act in achieving political balance and the allocation of 
Committee seats which supports the effective decision 
making of the Council.     

 Integration - The report supports all the well-being objectives.  

 Collaboration - Consultation has taken place with the Group Leaders  
regarding the allocation of memberships of Committees and 

other bodies and the allocation of Chairpersons also.    

 Involvement - Advance public notice of the Programme of meetings  
can ensure that the public and stakeholders can engage in 

Council and Committee meetings.  Agendas and minutes of 

all public meetings will be available in the Welsh language 

in compliance with the Welsh Language Standards.     

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications regarding this report.  

 
 
 

Page 725



 
 

9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 That the invitees for the Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting as outlined in 

paragraphs 4.2 and 4.3 be noted and approved, with the nomination for SO&SC 3 to 
be given verbally at the meeting. 

 
9.5 That Cabinet also approves the nominated invitees to the Cabinet Committee 

Equalities on the basis of 5 Labour Members, 3 Bridgend Independent Members and 2 
Democratic Alliance Members, details of which are shown in paragraph 4.5 of the 
report.  

 
K Watson 
Chief Officer - Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy 
July 2022    

 
Contact Officer: Mark Galvin 
   Senior Democratic Services Officer - Committees  
 
Telephone:  (01656) 643148  
 
Email:  cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal address: Democratic Services - Committees 
   Legal & Regulatory Services 

Level 4 Civic Offices 
Angel Street  
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB 

 
Background documents: None  

Page 726

mailto:cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 727

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Approval of Minutes
	4 Budget Monitoring 2022-23 - Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast
	220719 4 Appendix 1 - Monitoring of Prior Year Budget Reductions
	220719 4 Appendix 2 - 2022-23 MTFS Budget Reductions Risk Tracker June 2022
	220719 4 Appendix 3 Revenue Budget Monitoring end June 2022

	5 Capital Programme Outturn 2021-22 and Quarter 1 Update 2022-23
	220719 5 Appendix A Capital Monitoring Outturn 21-22
	220719 5 Appendix B Capital Monitoring Q1 22-23
	220719 5 Appendix C Capital Programme 22-23
	220719 5 Appendix D Prudential Indicators 2022-23 Q1

	6 Award of Funding for Homelessness Projects Via the Housing Support Grant
	7 The United Kingdom Shared Prosperity Fund
	220719 7 UKSPF Cabinet report

	8 Replacement Local Development Plan Submission Document
	Appendix 1 - Deposit Replacement Local Development Plan Consultation Report Summary Document
	Appendix 2 - Replacement Local Development Plan - Written Statement
	Appendix 3 - Replacement Local Development Plan - Proposals Map
	Appendix 4 - Equality Impact Assessment of the Replacement Local Development Plan
	Appendix 5 - Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board (CTMUHB) Response to the Replacement Local Development Plan

	9 2020 - 2023 Carriageway Resurfacing Programme
	10 Allocations Under Town and Community Council Capital Grant Scheme 2022-23
	11 The Conference of Parties 2022
	12 Appointment of Local Authority Governors
	13 Foster Carer Allowances Uplift
	14 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 Section 65 Power to Fix Fares For Hackney Carriages; Application to Vary the Hackney Carriage Fares Tariff
	220719 15 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 Section 65 Power to Fix Fares For Hackney Carriages Appendix A
	220719 15 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 Section 65 Power to Fix Fares For Hackney Carriages Appendix B

	15 Cabinet, Council and Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programmes
	220719 15 Cabinet Forward Work Programme.docx Appendix 1 Cabinet
	220719 15 Cabinet Forward Work Programme.docx Appendix 2 Council
	220719 15 Cabinet Forward Work Programme.docx Appendix 3

	16 Invitees on Cabinet Committee Equalities and Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting
	19 Land Transactions at Island Farm Bridgend

